Registration No. 333-219355

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 AMENDMENT NO. 1 to FORM S-4 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. (Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, New York 10022 (212) 520-2300

(Address, including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, including Area Code, of Registrant's Principal Executive Offices)

Jack L. Howard President Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, New York 10022 (212) 520-2300

(Name, Address, including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, including Area Code, of Agent for Service)

Copies to:

Leonard J. McGill	Steve Wolosky, Esq.	Douglas Woodworth	Paul Lucido, Esq.
General Counsel	Michael R. Neidell, Esq.	Senior Vice President and	David Alan Miller, Esq.
Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc.	Olshan Frome Wolosky LLP	Chief Financial Officer	Graubard Miller
590 Madison Avenue, 32 nd Floor	1325 Avenue of the Americas	Handy & Harman Ltd.	The Chrysler Building
New York, New York 10022	New York, New York 10019	590 Madison Avenue, 32 nd Floor	405 Lexington Avenue, 11 th Floor
(212) 520-2300	(212) 451-2300	New York, New York 10022	New York, New York 10174
		(212) 520-2300	(212) 818-8800

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale of the securities to the public: As soon as practicable after the effectiveness of this registration statement and the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the transactions described herein.

If the securities being registered on this Form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, check the following box:

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer \Box (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Accelerated filer \boxtimes Smaller reporting company \square Emerging growth company \square

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act.

If applicable, place an 🗵 in the box to designate the appropriate rule provision relied upon in conducting this transaction:

Exchange Act Rule 13e-4(i) (Cross-Border Issuer Tender Offer)

Exchange Act Rule 14d-1(d) (Cross-Border Third-Party Tender Offer)

13-3727655 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus/offer to exchange is not complete and may be changed. The Registrant may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus/offer to exchange is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

PRELIMINARY AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE, DATED AUGUST 25, 2017

Offer by STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. and HANDY ACQUISITION CO. to exchange each outstanding share of common stock of HANDY & HARMAN LTD. for 1.484 6.0% Series A preferred units of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.

THE OFFER AND THE WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS WILL EXPIRE AT 12:00 MIDNIGHT, NEW YORK CITY TIME, AT THE END OF [_____], 2017, UNLESS EXTENDED OR TERMINATED.

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. ("SPLP," "Parent," "we," "us," or "our") and its wholly owned subsidiary, Handy Acquisition Co. ("Merger Sub"), are offering, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/offer to exchange and in the accompanying letter of transmittal, to exchange for each outstanding share of common stock of Handy & Harman Ltd. ("HNH" or the "Company"), par value \$0.01 per share, not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities and which is validly tendered in the offer and not properly withdrawn, 1.484 (the "exchange ratio") 6.0% Series A preferred units, no par value (the "SPLP preferred units"), of SPLP, together with cash in lieu of any fractional SPLP preferred units, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes (the "transaction consideration").

The offer is being made pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 26, 2017 (the "merger agreement"), by and among SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH. A copy of the merger agreement is attached to this prospectus/offer to exchange as **Annex A**.

The SPLP preferred units (1) have a liquidation preference of \$25.00 per unit, (2) bear a cumulative distribution at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable in cash or in kind (or a combination) at the option of SPLP, (3) mature on February 7, 2026, and (4) will provide the Company's stockholders with either cash or SPLP common units upon maturity or earlier redemption at the option of SPLP. In addition, SPLP will offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, 20% of the SPLP preferred units by February 7, 2020. A complete description of the rights, powers and preferences of the SPLP preferred units is set forth in SPLP's sixth amended and restated agreement of limited partnership, which is attached to this prospectus/offer to exchange as **Annex B**.

Based on the closing price of \$[_____] of the SPLP preferred units on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") on [_____], 2017, the most recent practicable trading date prior to the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the value of the transaction consideration to be received by HNH's unaffiliated stockholders in the offer and the merger (as defined below) is \$[_____] per share of HNH common stock. Based on the value of \$23.62 ascribed to the SPLP preferred units in the analysis performed by Duff & Phelps, LLC, financial advisor to the Company special committee, which analysis takes into account, among other things, the liquidation preference and distribution rate of the SPLP preferred units, the value of the transaction consideration is \$35.05 per share. See "Special Factors – Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee." Based on the liquidation preference of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit, the value of the transaction consideration is \$37.10 per share. The \$25.00 per unit liquidation preference is the amount that HNH's unaffiliated stockholders who do not sell or otherwise dispose of the SPLP preferred units they receive in the offer and the merger will be paid (in cash and/or SPLP common units) through the optional or mandatory redemption provisions, or upon the maturity, of the SPLP preferred units.

Merger Sub's obligation to accept for exchange, and SPLP's obligation to exchange, shares of HNH's common stock for SPLP preferred units in the offer is subject to a number of conditions, including (a) a nonwaivable condition that there be validly tendered and not withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock that, when added to the shares already owned by SPLP and its subsidiaries, would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock (the "minimum tender condition"), (b) a nonwaivable condition that there be validly tendered and not withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock (the "minimum tender condition"), (b) a nonwaivable condition that there be validly tendered and not withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock that would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock not owned by SPLP or any of its affiliates (the "majority of the minority tender condition"), (c) that the SPLP preferred units issuable in the offer and the merger (as defined below) have been authorized for listing on the NYSE, (d) shares of HNH common stock held by stockholders that have properly exercised appraisal rights under Delaware law do not exceed ten percent (10%) of the shares of common stock of HNH outstanding immediately prior to the expiration of the offer, and (e) the satisfaction of other customary conditions as described in this prospectus/offer to exchange. There is no financing condition to the obligations to consummate the offer. See "Merger Agreement — Conditions to the Offer" for a description of all such conditions.

The offer is the first step in SPLP's plan to acquire all of the outstanding equity in HNH it does not already own, either directly or indirectly. Accordingly, if the offer is completed, pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of the merger agreement, as soon as practicable following the consummation of the offer, SPLP will consummate a merger of Merger Sub with and into HNH, with HNH continuing as the surviving corporation and as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP (the "merger" and together with the offer, the "transactions"). The purpose of the merger is for SPLP to acquire all shares of HNH common stock that were not acquired in the offer. In the merger, each outstanding share of HNH common stock (other than shares held by HNH or any of its subsidiaries, SPLP, Merger Sub or any other subsidiary of SPLP, or held by stockholders who are entitled to demand, and who properly demand, appraisal rights under Delaware law), will be converted into the right to receive the transaction consideration, without interest. After the merger, HNH will be an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP, and the former unaffiliated stockholders of HNH will no longer have any direct ownership interest in the surviving corporation. The merger will be governed by Section 251(h) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL"), and accordingly no stockholder vote will be required to complete the merger.

The board of directors of HNH (the "Company board") (upon the unanimous recommendation of a special committee of the Company board consisting solely of independent directors (the "Company special committee")) has unanimously (i) determined and declared that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger) are, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, advisable and in the best interests of and are fair to the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders, (ii) approved, adopted and authorized in all respects the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby (including the offer and the merger), (iii) recommended that the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company accept the offer and tender their shares of HNH common stock pursuant to the offer, and (iv) resolved that the merger be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the merger be consummated as soon as practicable following the consummation of the offer (collectively, the "Company board approval").

SPLP preferred units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SPLPPRA" and HNH common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market ("Nasdaq") under the symbol "HNH." SPLP common units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SPLP." You are encouraged to obtain current market quotations for the SPLP preferred units, SPLP common units and HNH common stock in connection with your decision whether to tender your shares in the offer.

No appraisal rights are available in the offer. However, the merger will entitle HNH stockholders to appraisal rights under Delaware law. To exercise appraisal rights, an HNH stockholder must strictly comply with all of the procedures under the DGCL. These procedures are described more fully in the section entitled "Special Factors — Dissenters' Rights."

For a discussion of certain factors that HNH stockholders should consider in connection with the offer, please read the section of this prospectus/offer to exchange entitled "Risk Factors" beginning on page 28.

These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Holders of SPLP preferred units may recognize taxable income in respect of their investment in the SPLP preferred units in excess of our cash distributions, thus giving rise to an out-of-pocket tax liability for such holders;
- Holders of the SPLP preferred units have limited voting rights;
- SPLP's limited partnership agreement contains provisions that reduce or eliminate duties (including fiduciary duties) of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., SPLP's general partner (the "General Partner"), and limit remedies available to holders of SPLP preferred units for actions that might otherwise constitute a breach of duty;
- It will be difficult for holders of SPLP preferred units to successfully challenge a resolution of a conflict of interest by the General Partner or by a majority of the disinterested directors of the General Partner's board of directors; and
- An active trading market may not develop for the SPLP preferred units, which could adversely affect the price of the SPLP preferred units in the secondary market and the ability to resell the SPLP preferred units.

You are encouraged to read this entire document and the related letter of transmittal carefully, including the annexes and information referred to or incorporated by reference in this document.

Neither SPLP nor Merger Sub has authorized any person to provide any information or to make any representation in connection with the offer other than the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange, and if any person provides any information or makes any representation of this kind, that information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by SPLP or Merger Sub.

Neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of the transactions or these securities, passed upon the merits or fairness of the transactions, or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the disclosure in this prospectus/offer to exchange. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus/offer to exchange is [____], 2017.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	v
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE OFFER	1
Who is offering to buy my HNH shares?	1
What is SPLP proposing?	1
Why is SPLP proposing the offer and the merger?	2
Does the board of directors of HNH support the offer and the merger?	2
What are the classes and amounts of HNH securities that SPLP and Merger Sub are offering to acquire?	2
What will I receive for my shares of HNH common stock?	3
Will I have to pay any fee or commission to exchange my shares of HNH common stock?	3
What are the conditions to the offer?	3
How long will it take to complete the proposed offer and the merger?	5
Until what time can I tender my shares of HNH common stock in the offer?	5
How do I tender my shares of HNH common stock?	6
Until what time can I withdraw tendered shares of HNH common stock?	7
How do I withdraw previously tendered shares of HNH common stock?	7
When and how will I receive the transaction consideration in exchange for my tendered shares of HNH common stock?	7
What happens if I do not tender my shares of HNH common stock?	7
If the offer is completed, will HNH continue as a public company?	8
Will I have the right to have my shares of HNH common stock appraised?	8
Who should I contact if I have questions about the offer?	8
SUMMARY TERM SHEET	9
<u>Purpose of the Offer and the Merger (Page [])</u>	9
<u>Transaction Consideration (Page [])</u>	9
<u>The Offer (Page [])</u>	10
<u>The Merger (Page [])</u>	10
<u>The Company and the Purchaser Group (Page [])</u>	10
Conditions to the Offer (Page [])	12
<u>Treatment of HNH Equity Awards (Page [])</u>	13
<u>Comparative Market Price and Dividend Matters (Page [])</u>	14
Comparison of Securityholders' Rights (Page [])	14
<u>Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences (Page [])</u>	14
Accounting Treatment (Page [])	15

Questions About the Offer and the Merger	15
SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA OF SPLP	16
SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA OF HNH	21
SELECTED UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA - SPLP	23
SELECTED UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA - HNH	25
UNAUDITED COMPARATIVE PER SHARE DATA	26
RISK FACTORS	28
Risks Related to the Offer and the Merger	28
Risks Related to the SPLP Preferred Units	31
Risks Related to SPLP's Business	37
Risks Related to HNH's Business	37
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	38
THE COMPANIES	40
SPLP	40
Merger Sub	40
Steel Holdings GP	40
<u>SPHG</u>	40
SPHG Holdings	41
Warren G. Lichtenstein	41
Jack L. Howard	41
Information Regarding Directors and Executive Officers of the Purchaser Group	41
HNH	41
SPECIAL FACTORS	43
<u>General</u>	43
Background of the Offer; Past Contacts or Negotiations with the Company	43
The Purchaser Group's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger	50
HNH's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger; Recommendation of the Board of Directors of HNH	52
Position of the Purchaser Group Regarding Fairness of the Offer and the Merger	60
Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee	65
Evaluation Report of the Financial Advisor to Purchaser Group	78
Certain Unaudited Projected Financial Information of HNH	89
Ownership of SPLP Preferred Units After the Offer and the Merger	92
Dissenters' Rights	92

Table of Contents

Plans for HNH	93
Regulatory Approvals	94
Interests of Certain Persons in the Offer and the Merger	95
Certain Relationships With HNH	98
Purchase of Equity Securities	101
Fees and Expenses	102
Provisions for Unaffiliated Securityholders	103
Litigation Regarding the Transaction	103
Accounting Treatment	103
Stock Exchange Listing	103
Resale of SPLP Preferred Units	103
EXCHANGE OFFER PROCEDURES	104
Distribution of Offering Materials	104
Expiration of the Offer	104
Extension, Termination and Amendment of Offer	104
Exchange of Shares	105
Withdrawal Rights	106
Procedures for Tendering	106
Grant of Proxy	109
Fees and Commissions	109
Matters Concerning Validity and Eligibility	109
Announcement of Results of the Offer	110
No Stockholder Approval of Merger	110
Applicability of Rules Regarding "Going Private" Transactions	110
Effect of the Offer on the Market for HNH Common Stock	110
Nasdaq Listing	110
Registration Under the Exchange Act	111
Margin Regulations	111
Exchange Agent Contact Information	111
MERGER AGREEMENT	112
The Offer	113
The Merger	114
Representations and Warranties	116
Material Adverse Effect	117
Conduct of Business	118

Additional Agreements	121
Conditions to the Offer	121
Conditions to the Merger	120
Termination of the Merger Agreement	129
Amendment of the Merger Agreement	123
COMPARATIVE MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDEND MATTERS	134
Market Price History	134
Dividends/Distributions	135
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT OF HNH	136
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SPLP	138
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF HNH	147
MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES	152
DESCRIPTION OF THE SPLP PREFERRED UNITS	156
Distributions	156
Ranking	157
Optional Redemption	157
Repurchase at the Option of the Holders	158
Mandatory Redemption	158
Voting Rights	158
Amount Payable in Liquidation	159
No Conversion Rights	160
Transfer Agent, Registrar and Paying Agent	160
DESCRIPTION OF THE SPLP COMMON UNITS	161
Description of Common Units	161
Material Provisions of SPLP Partnership Agreement	162
COMPARISON OF SECURITYHOLDERS' RIGHTS	175
LEGAL MATTERS	185
<u>EXPERTS</u>	185
WHERE TO OBTAIN ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	186
<u>SPLP Filings:</u>	186
HNH Filings:	187
ANNEX A: MERGER AGREEMENT	A-1
ANNEX B: SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP OF SPLP	B-1
ANNEX C: OPINION OF DUFF & PHELPS, LLC	C-1
ANNEX D: DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF STEEL HOLDINGS GP AND MERGER SUB AND TRANSACTIONS OF THE	
PURCHASER GROUP IN SECURITIES OF HNH	D-1

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

As permitted by the SEC, this document incorporates by reference important business and financial information about SPLP, HNH and their respective subsidiaries from documents filed with the SEC that have not been included in or delivered with this document.

This information is available without charge at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov, as well as from other sources.

You can obtain the documents incorporated by reference in this document, without charge, by requesting them in writing or by telephone at the following address and telephone number.

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. Attn: Leonard J. McGill, Secretary 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300 http://www.steelpartners.com

If you would like to request documents, in order to receive timely delivery prior to the expiration of the offer, please make your request at least five business days prior to the expiration date of the offer. The offer is scheduled to expire at 12:00 midnight, New York City time, at the end of [_____], 2017, unless earlier extended or terminated. **Unless the offer is extended, this means that the latest you should request documents is [_____], 2017.**

See also "Where To Obtain Additional Information."

HNH has supplied all information contained or incorporated by reference in this document relating to HNH, and SPLP has supplied all information contained or incorporated by reference in this document relating to SPLP. Both HNH and SPLP have contributed information relating to the offer and the merger.

Certain information relating to HNH appears in its Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9 dated as of the date of this document (the "Schedule 14D-9"). The Schedule 14D-9 is being filed with the SEC and mailed to HNH's stockholders.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE OFFER

Below are some of the questions that you as a holder of shares of HNH common stock may have regarding the offer and answers to those questions. You are urged to carefully read the remainder of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the related letter of transmittal, the annexes to this prospectus/offer to exchange and the other information referred to or incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange because the information contained in this section and in the "Summary Term Sheet" section is not complete. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information."

As used in this prospectus/offer to exchange, unless otherwise indicated or the context requires: "SPLP" and "Parent" refer to Steel Partners Holdings L.P., a Delaware limited partnership; "we," "us" and "our" also refer to Steel Partners Holdings L.P. and, where appropriate, the Purchaser Group (as defined below); "Merger Sub" refers to Handy Acquisition Co., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP; "HNH" and the "Company" refer to Handy & Harman Ltd., a Delaware corporation; and HNH's "unaffiliated stockholders" refer to stockholders of HNH other than SPLP and its affiliated entities.

Who is offering to buy my HNH shares?

SPLP and Merger Sub are making this offer to exchange (the "offer"), for each share of common stock of HNH not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities and which is validly tendered in the offer and not properly withdrawn, 1.484 (the "exchange ratio") 6.0% Series A preferred units, no par value (the "SPLP preferred units"), of SPLP.

SPLP is a diversified global holding company that engages in multiple businesses through consolidated subsidiaries, associated companies and other interests. It owns and operates businesses and has significant interests in leading companies in various industries, including diversified industrial products, energy, defense, supply chain management and logistics, banking and youth sports. As of the date hereof, SPLP beneficially owns, through SPH Group Holdings LLC ("SPHG Holdings"), 8,560,592 shares of HNH's common stock, representing approximately 70.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock. SPH Group LLC ("SPHG") is the sole member of SPHG Holdings and SPLP owns 99% of the membership interests of SPHG. Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc. (our "General Partner" or "Steel Holdings GP"), a wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP, is the general partner of SPLP, the managing member and owner of 1% of the membership interests of SPHG and the manager of SPHG Holdings. Warren G. Lichtenstein is the Executive Chairman of Steel Holdings GP and the Chairman of the Board of HNH. Jack L. Howard is the President and a director of Steel Holdings GP, Vice Chairman, Principal Executive Officer and a director of HNH, and President of SP General Services LLC, the manager of SPLP. As used in this prospectus/offer to exchange, unless otherwise indicated or the context requires, the term "Purchaser Group" refers to SPLP, Merger Sub, Steel Holdings GP, SPHG Holdings, SPHG, Mr. Lichtenstein and Mr. Howard. Furthermore, each member of the Purchaser Group may be deemed to be "engaged" in the transaction under the applicable U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") rules and regulations. As a result, the members of the Purchaser Group are required to make certain statements in this prospectus/offer to exchange for the purpose of complying with the requirements of Rule 13e-3 and related rules and regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act").

What is SPLP proposing?

Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, entered into by SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH on June 26, 2017 (the "merger agreement"), SPLP and Merger Sub propose to acquire all of the outstanding equity in HNH they do not already own.

The offer is the first step in SPLP's plan to acquire all of such outstanding equity of HNH, and the merger is the second step in such plan.

In the offer, if a sufficient number of shares of HNH common stock are validly tendered into the offer and not withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer such that (1) when added to the shares of HNH common stock already owned by SPLP and its subsidiaries, SPLP will own at least a majority of the then outstanding shares of HNH common stock and (2) such number of shares would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the other conditions to the offer, Merger Sub will accept for exchange, and SPLP will exchange, the shares tendered in the offer. Then, as soon as practicable thereafter, SPLP will consummate a merger of Merger Sub with and into HNH, with HNH surviving the merger as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP (the "merger"). The purpose of the merger is for SPLP to acquire all remaining shares of HNH common stock not acquired in the offer. After the merger, HNH will be an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP, and the former unaffiliated stockholders of HNH will no longer have any direct ownership interest in the surviving corporation. The merger will be governed by Section 251(h) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), and accordingly no stockholder vote will be required to consummate the merger.

Why is SPLP proposing the offer and the merger?

SPLP is proposing the offer and the merger to acquire the entire equity interest in HNH it does not already own, either directly or indirectly. The board of directors of Steel Holdings GP (the "SPLP GP Board") determined that the terms of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the offer and the merger, are advisable, fair to, and in the best interests of, SPLP and its securityholders. See "Special Factors — The Purchaser Group's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger" and "Special Factors — Position of the Purchaser Group Regarding Fairness of the Offer and the Merger" for more information.

Does the board of directors of HNH support the offer and the merger?

Yes. The board of directors of HNH (the "Company board") (upon the unanimous recommendation of a special committee of the Company board consisting solely of independent directors (the "Company special committee" or the "special committee")) resolved to recommend that HNH's unaffiliated stockholders accept the offer and tender their HNH shares to SPLP and Merger Sub pursuant to the offer and determined that the terms of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the offer and the merger, are advisable, fair to, and in the best interests of, HNH and its unaffiliated stockholders.

See "Special Factors — HNH's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger; Recommendation of the Board of Directors of HNH" for more information. A description of the reasons for this recommendation is also set forth in HNH's Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9 (such Schedule 14D-9, as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Schedule 14D-9") that is being filed with the SEC and mailed to you together with this prospectus/offer to exchange.

What are the classes and amounts of HNH securities that SPLP and Merger Sub are offering to acquire?

SPLP and Merger Sub are seeking to acquire all issued and outstanding shares of HNH common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities.



What will I receive for my shares of HNH common stock?

SPLP and Merger Sub are offering, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/offer to exchange and in the accompanying letter of transmittal, to exchange for each outstanding share of HNH common stock not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities and which is validly tendered in the offer and not properly withdrawn, 1.484 SPLP preferred units, together with cash in lieu of any fractional SPLP preferred units, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes (the "transaction consideration").

The SPLP preferred units (1) have a liquidation preference of \$25.00 per unit, (2) bear a cumulative distribution at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable in cash or in kind (or a combination) at the option of SPLP, (3) mature on February 7, 2026, and (4) will provide the Company's stockholders with either cash or SPLP common units upon maturity or earlier redemption at the option of SPLP. In addition, SPLP will offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, 20% of the SPLP preferred units by February 7, 2020. A complete description of the rights, powers and preferences of the SPLP preferred units is set forth in SPLP's sixth amended and restated agreement of limited partnership, which is attached to this prospectus/offer to exchange as **Annex B**.

Based on the closing price of \$[_____] of the SPLP preferred units on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") on [_____], 2017, the most recent practicable trading date prior to the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the value of the transaction consideration to be received by HNH's unaffiliated stockholders in the offer and the merger is \$[_____] per share of HNH common stock. Based on the value of \$23.62 ascribed to the SPLP preferred units in the analysis performed by Duff & Phelps, LLC, financial advisor to the Company special committee, which analysis takes into account, among other things, the liquidation preference and distribution rate of the SPLP preferred units, the value of the transaction consideration is \$35.05 per share. See "Special Factors – Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee." Based on the liquidation preference of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit, the value of the transaction consideration is \$37.10 per share. The \$25.00 per unit liquidation preference is the amount that HNH's unaffiliated stockholders who do not sell or otherwise dispose of the SPLP preferred units they receive in the offer and the merger will be paid (in cash and/or SPLP common units) through the optional or mandatory redemption provisions, or upon the maturity, of the SPLP preferred units.

If you do not tender your shares into the offer but the merger is completed, you will also receive the transaction consideration in exchange for your shares of HNH common stock.

Will I have to pay any fee or commission to exchange my shares of HNH common stock?

If you are the record owner of your shares of HNH common stock and you tender those shares in the offer, you will not have to pay any brokerage fees, commissions or similar expenses. If you own your shares of HNH common stock through a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee tenders your shares on your behalf, your broker or such other nominee may charge a fee for doing so. You should consult your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other any charges will apply.

What are the conditions to the offer?

SPLP and Merger Sub are not obligated to consummate the offer unless the following conditions, among others, have been satisfied:



- Minimum Tender Condition HNH stockholders having validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock which, when added to the shares of HNH common stock already owned by SPLP and its other subsidiaries, but excluding any shares tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee, represents at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock (the "minimum tender condition");
- Majority of the Minority Tender Condition HNH stockholders having validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the
 offer that number of shares of HNH common stock (but excluding any shares tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not
 yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee) which would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of
 HNH common stock not owned by SPLP or any of its affiliates ("majority of the minority tender condition");
- *Effectiveness of Form S-4* the registration statement on Form S-4 of which this prospectus/offer to exchange is a part having been declared effective by the SEC under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and no stop order having been issued or proceeding seeking a stop order having been initiated or threatened in writing by the SEC;
- *Listing of SPLP Preferred Units* the SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger having been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance;
- *Dissenting Stockholders* the shares of HNH common stock held by stockholders having properly exercised appraisal rights under Delaware law do not exceed ten percent (10%) of the shares of HNH common stock outstanding immediately prior to the expiration of the offer;
- No Legal Prohibition no governmental entity having jurisdiction over SPLP, Merger Sub or HNH having enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any law, order, decree or ruling (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect and has the effect of making the offer or the merger illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the offer or the merger;
- *No Material Adverse Effect* since the date of the merger agreement, no material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of HNH shall have occurred;
- *Accuracy of HNH's Representations* the representations and warranties of HNH contained in the merger agreement being true and correct as of the date of the merger agreement and the expiration date of the offer, subject to specified materiality standards;
- *HNH's Compliance with Covenants* HNH having complied with or performed in all material respects its obligations under the merger agreement; and
- *No Merger Agreement Termination* the merger agreement not having been terminated in accordance with its terms.

For a more complete description of the conditions to the offer, see the section entitled "Merger Agreement — Conditions to the Offer."

Since SPLP beneficially owns approximately 70.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock, the minimum tender condition would be satisfied without the tender of any additional shares. In order to satisfy the majority of the minority tender condition, SPLP and Merger Sub must receive valid tenders (that have not been properly withdrawn) of at least 1,537,822 shares from stockholders other than SPLP or any of its affiliates, assuming no change in the number of outstanding shares of HNH since [_____], 2017. SPLP and Merger Sub's obligation to consummate the offer is not conditioned upon any financing arrangements or contingencies.

How long will it take to complete the proposed offer and the merger?

The offer and the merger are currently expected to be completed in the second half of 2017, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions described in "Merger Agreement — Conditions to the Offer" and "— Conditions to the Merger."

Until what time can I tender my shares of HNH common stock in the offer?

The offer is scheduled to expire at 12:00 midnight, New York City time, at the end of [_____], 2017, unless extended or terminated. Any extension, delay, termination, waiver or amendment of the offer will be followed promptly by public announcement thereof to be made no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the previously scheduled expiration date. During any such extension, all shares previously tendered and not properly withdrawn will remain subject to the offer, subject to the rights of a tendering stockholder to withdraw such stockholder's shares. "Expiration date" means [_____], 2017, unless and until SPLP and Merger Sub have extended the period during which the offer is open, subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement or as required by applicable laws, in which event the term "expiration date" means the latest time and date at which the offer, as so extended by SPLP and Merger Sub, will expire.

If you cannot deliver everything required to make a valid tender by the scheduled expiration of the offer, you may still participate in the offer by using the guaranteed delivery procedures that are described in "Exchange Offer Procedures — Procedures for Tendering."

Subject to the provisions of the merger agreement, and unless HNH consents otherwise or the offer or the merger agreement is terminated and subject to SPLP and Merger Sub's right to waive any condition to the offer (other than the minimum tender condition and the majority of the minority tender condition), SPLP and Merger Sub will (a) extend the offer for the minimum period required by any rule, regulation, interpretation or position of the SEC or the staff thereof applicable to the offer, and (b) if, on the initial expiration date or any subsequent date as of which the offer is scheduled to expire, any condition to the offer has not been satisfied or waived, extend the offer on one or more occasions in consecutive increments of up to five (5) business days each (or such longer period as the parties may agree) until such time as each such condition has been satisfied or waived. However, (1) SPLP and Merger Sub will not be required to extend the offer except for the minimum tender condition and/or the majority of the minority tender condition have been satisfied or waived, SPLP and Merger Sub will be required to extend the offer or the minimum tender condition and/or the majority of the minority tender condition have been satisfied or waived, SPLP and Merger Sub will be required to extend the offer in consecutive increments of up to five (5) business days each but in no event more than fifteen (15) business days in the aggregate (or such other period as the parties may agree), (3) SPLP and Merger Sub will extend the offer if requested by the Company special committee, or may extend the offer at their election, in connection with their right to renegotiate the terms of the merger agreement in the event that the Company required notices to the NYSE in connection with the payment of distributions on outstanding SPLP preferred units.

If the merger agreement is terminated, SPLP and Merger Sub will promptly terminate the offer.

Other than as described above, SPLP and Merger Sub may not extend, terminate or withdraw the offer without the prior written consent of HNH.

Any decision to extend, terminate or withdraw the offer will be made public by a press release or otherwise by a public announcement.

See "Exchange Offer Procedures — Extension, Termination and Amendment of Offer."

How do I tender my shares of HNH common stock?

To validly tender shares of HNH common stock held of record, HNH stockholders must:

- if such shares are in certificated form or are held in book entry form directly with HNH via the direct registration system, deliver a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal, along with any required signature guarantees and any other required documents, and certificates, if applicable, for tendered HNH shares to American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, the exchange agent for the offer, at its address set forth elsewhere in this prospectus/offer to exchange and the letter of transmittal, all of which must be received by the exchange agent on or prior to the expiration date;
- if such shares are in electronic book-entry form, deliver an agent's message in connection with a book-entry transfer, and any other required documents, to the exchange agent at its address set forth elsewhere in this prospectus/offer to exchange and the letter of transmittal and follow the other procedures for book-entry tender set forth herein, all of which must be received by the exchange agent on or prior to the expiration date; or
- comply with the guaranteed delivery procedures.

If your shares of HNH common stock are held in "street name" (i.e., through a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee), those shares may be tendered by your nominee by book-entry transfer through The Depository Trust Company. To validly tender such shares held in street name, you should instruct such nominee to do so on or prior to the expiration date.

Tenders received by the exchange agent after the expiration date will be disregarded and of no effect. In all cases, you will receive your transaction consideration for your tendered shares only after timely receipt by the exchange agent of certificates for such shares, if any, or of a confirmation of a bookentry transfer of such shares, and a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal and any other required documents.

If you are unable to deliver everything that is required to tender your shares to the exchange agent by the expiration date, you may obtain a limited amount of additional time by having a broker, a bank or another fiduciary that is an eligible institution guarantee that the missing items will be received by the exchange agent within three business days using the enclosed notice of guaranteed delivery. To validly tender shares of HNH common stock in this manner, however, the exchange agent must receive the missing items within the time period specified in the notice.



For a more complete discussion of the procedures for tendering your shares of HNH common stock, see "Exchange Offer Procedures — Procedures for Tendering."

Until what time can I withdraw tendered shares of HNH common stock?

You may withdraw your previously tendered shares of HNH common stock at any time until the offer has expired and you may withdraw them at any time on or after that date until Merger Sub accepts shares for exchange. Once Merger Sub accepts your tendered shares for exchange, however, you will no longer be able to withdraw them. For a more complete discussion of the procedures for withdrawing your HNH shares, see "Exchange Offer Procedures — Withdrawal Rights."

How do I withdraw previously tendered shares of HNH common stock?

To withdraw previously tendered shares of HNH common stock that are held of record, you must deliver a written notice of withdrawal with the required information to the exchange agent at any time at which you have the right to withdraw shares.

To withdraw previously tendered shares of HNH common stock that are held in "street name," you must instruct your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee to arrange for the withdrawal of your shares, and such broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee must effectively withdraw such shares at any time at which you have the right to withdraw shares.

For a more complete discussion of the procedures for withdrawing your HNH shares, including the applicable deadlines for effecting withdrawals, see "Exchange Offer Procedures — Withdrawal Rights."

When and how will I receive the transaction consideration in exchange for my tendered shares of HNH common stock?

Upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions of the offer (including, if the offer is extended or amended, the terms and conditions of any extension or amendment), promptly following the expiration date, Merger Sub will accept for exchange, and SPLP will thereafter promptly exchange, all shares of HNH common stock validly tendered and not properly withdrawn on or prior to the expiration date.

SPLP will deliver the transaction consideration for your validly tendered and not properly withdrawn shares through the exchange agent, which will act as your agent for the purpose of receiving the transaction consideration from SPLP and transmitting such transaction consideration to you. In all cases, you will receive your consideration for your tendered shares only after timely receipt by the exchange agent of certificates for such HNH shares, if any, or a confirmation of a book-entry transfer of such shares, and a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal and any other required documents for such shares.

What happens if I do not tender my shares of HNH common stock?

If SPLP and Merger Sub complete the offer, subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, SPLP will complete the merger as soon as practicable following the completion of the offer. Upon consummation of the merger, each share of HNH common stock that has not been tendered and accepted for exchange in the offer, unless appraisal rights under Delaware law for such shares are properly exercised and other than shares held in treasury by HNH or shares held by SPLP or any subsidiary of SPLP, will be converted in the merger into the right to receive the transaction consideration.



If the offer is completed, will HNH continue as a public company?

No. If the merger takes place, HNH will no longer be publicly traded, and HNH will be held as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP. SPLP is required, on the terms and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, to consummate the merger as soon as practicable following Merger Sub's acceptance of shares of HNH common stock in the offer. The merger will be governed by Section 251(h) of the DGCL, and accordingly no stockholder vote will be required to consummate the merger. As such, SPLP does not expect there to be a significant period of time between the consummation of the offer and the consummation of the merger.

Will I have the right to have my shares of HNH common stock appraised?

Appraisal rights are not available in connection with the offer, and HNH stockholders who tender their shares in the offer will not have appraisal rights in connection with the merger. However, if Merger Sub accepts shares in the offer and the merger is completed, holders of shares of HNH common stock will be entitled to exercise appraisal rights in connection with the merger if they did not tender their shares in the offer and satisfy the other requirements prescribed by Delaware law.

HNH stockholders who comply with the applicable statutory procedures under the DGCL will be entitled to receive a judicial determination of the fair value of their shares of HNH common stock (exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger) and to receive payment of such fair value in cash. Any such judicial determination of the fair value of shares of HNH common stock could be based upon considerations other than, or in addition to, the price paid in the offer and the merger and the market value of shares of HNH common stock. The value so determined could be higher or lower than the value per HNH share paid by SPLP pursuant to the offer and the merger. You should be aware that opinions of investment banking firms as to the fairness from a financial point of view of the consideration payable in a sale transaction, such as the offer and the merger, are not opinions as to fair value under applicable Delaware law.

Under Section 262 of the DGCL, where a merger is approved under Section 251(h), either a constituent corporation before the effective date of the merger, or the surviving corporation within 10 days thereafter, shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such notice a copy of Section 262 of the DGCL. The Schedule 14D-9 that is being mailed to you together with this prospectus/offer to exchange constitutes the formal notice of appraisal rights under Section 262 of the DGCL.

The foregoing summary of the rights of dissenting stockholders under Delaware law does not purport to be a complete statement of the procedures to be followed by HNH stockholders desiring to exercise any available appraisal rights under Section 262 of the DGCL and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of Section 262 of the DGCL. See "Special Factors — Dissenters' Rights."

Who should I contact if I have questions about the offer?

You may contact MacKenzie Partners, Inc., the information agent, at (212) 929-5500 (collect) or (800) 322-2885 (toll free) or by email at tenderoffer@mackenziepartners.com.

SUMMARY TERM SHEET

This section summarizes material information presented in greater detail elsewhere in this prospectus/offer to exchange. However, this summary term sheet does not contain all of the information that may be important to HNH stockholders. You are urged to carefully read the remainder of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the related letter of transmittal, the annexes to this prospectus/offer to exchange and the other information referred to or incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange because the information contained in this section and in the "Questions and Answers About the Offer" section is not complete. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information."

Purpose of the Offer and the Merger (Page [__])

The purpose of the offer and the merger that have been agreed to between SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH is for SPLP to acquire the entire equity interest in HNH it does not already own, either directly or indirectly. The offer is the first step in SPLP's plan to acquire all of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock it does not already own, and the merger is the second step in such plan. If the offer is completed, tendered shares of HNH common stock will be exchanged for the transaction consideration, and if the merger is completed, any remaining shares of HNH common stock that were not tendered into the offer (other than certain dissenting shares, shares held in the treasury of HNH and shares held by SPLP or any subsidiary of SPLP, as described further in this prospectus/offer to exchange) will be converted into the right to receive the transaction consideration.

Transaction Consideration (Page [__])

The transaction consideration consists of 1.484 SPLP preferred units for each share of HNH common stock, together with cash in lieu of any fractional SPLP preferred units, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes.

HNH stockholders will not receive any fractional SPLP preferred units in the offer or the merger, and each HNH stockholder who otherwise would be entitled to receive a fraction of an SPLP preferred unit pursuant to the offer or the merger will be paid an amount in cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent) without interest, equal to the product of: (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) \$25.00, the SPLP preferred unit liquidation preference.

The SPLP preferred units (1) have a liquidation preference of \$25.00 per unit, (2) bear a cumulative distribution at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable in cash or in kind (or a combination) at the option of SPLP, (3) mature on February 7, 2026, and (4) will provide the Company's stockholders with either cash or SPLP common units upon maturity or earlier redemption at the option of SPLP. In addition, SPLP will offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, 20% of the SPLP preferred units by February 7, 2020. A complete description of the rights, powers and preferences of the SPLP preferred units is set forth in SPLP's sixth amended and restated agreement of limited partnership, which is attached to this prospectus/offer to exchange as **Annex B** and which will be amended upon the consummation of the offer to update the repurchase provision to reflect the exact number of SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger.

Based on the closing price of \$[____] of the SPLP preferred units on the NYSE on [____], 2017, the most recent practicable trading date prior to the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the value of the transaction consideration to be received by HNH's unaffiliated stockholders in the offer and the merger is \$[____] per share of HNH common stock. Based on the value of \$23.62 ascribed to the SPLP preferred units in the analysis performed by Duff & Phelps, LLC, financial advisor to the Company special committee, which analysis takes into account, among other things, the liquidation preference and distribution rate of the SPLP preferred units, the value of the transaction consideration is \$35.05 per share. See "Special Factors – Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee." Based on the liquidation preference of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit, the value of the transaction consideration is \$37.10 per share. The \$25.00 per unit liquidation preference is the amount that HNH's unaffiliated stockholders who do not sell or otherwise dispose of the SPLP preferred units they receive in the offer and the merger will be paid (in cash and/or SPLP common units) through the optional or mandatory redemption provisions, or upon the maturity, of the SPLP preferred units.

The Offer (Page [__])

SPLP and Merger Sub are offering, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus/offer to exchange and in the accompanying letter of transmittal, to exchange the transaction consideration for each outstanding share of HNH common stock that is validly tendered in the offer and not properly withdrawn.

The Merger (Page [__])

The merger will be completed as soon as practicable following Merger Sub's acceptance of shares tendered in the offer, assuming the satisfaction or waiver (except in the case of the minimum tender condition and the majority of the minority tender condition, which are not waivable) of the other conditions at such time. If the offer is completed, the merger will be subject to Section 251(h) of the DGCL, which means that no vote of HNH stockholders will be required to complete the merger.

In the merger, Merger Sub will merge with and into HNH, with HNH surviving the merger. At the effective time of the merger, each outstanding share of HNH common stock that was not acquired in the offer (other than shares held by stockholders validly exercising appraisal rights under Delaware law, shares held in treasury by HNH or shares held by SPLP or any subsidiary of SPLP) will be converted into the right to receive the transaction consideration. After the merger, HNH will be an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP, and the former unaffiliated stockholders of HNH will no longer have any direct ownership interest in the surviving corporation.

The Company and the Purchaser Group (Page [__])

SPLP

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

SPLP is a diversified global holding company that engages in multiple businesses through consolidated subsidiaries, associated companies and other interests. It owns and operates businesses and has significant interests in leading companies in various industries, including diversified industrial products, energy, defense, supply chain management and logistics, banking and youth sports.

SPLP was formed in Delaware on December 16, 2008. Its common units became listed on the NYSE under the ticker symbol "SPLP" on April 10, 2012 and the SPLP preferred units became listed on the NYSE under the ticker symbol "SPLPPRA" on February 10, 2017.

Merger Sub

Handy Acquisition Co. c/o Steel Partners Holdings L.P. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

Merger Sub is a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP. Merger Sub was incorporated on June 19, 2017 for the purpose of engaging in the offer and the merger. Merger Sub has engaged in no business activities to date and it has no material assets or liabilities of any kind, other than those incident to its formation and those incurred in connection with the merger agreement, the offer and the merger.

Steel Holdings GP

Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

Steel Holdings GP is a Delaware corporation and is a wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP. Steel Holdings GP serves as SPLP's general partner, the manager of SPHG Holdings and the managing member of SPHG. Steel Holdings GP was formed in Delaware on December 16, 2008.

SPHG

SPH Group LLC 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

SPHG is a Delaware limited liability company, the sole member of SPHG Holdings and a wholly owned subsidiary, directly and indirectly through Steel Holdings GP, of SPLP. SPHG was formed in Delaware on May 26, 2011.

SPHG Holdings

SPH Group Holdings LLC 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

SPHG Holdings is a Delaware limited liability company and is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP. SPHG Holdings was formed in Delaware on May 26, 2011. As of the date hereof, SPHG Holdings owns directly 8,560,592 shares of HNH's common stock, representing approximately 70.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock.

Warren G. Lichtenstein

Warren G. Lichtenstein c/o Steel Partners Holdings L.P. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

Warren G. Lichtenstein is the Executive Chairman of Steel Holdings GP and the Chairman of the Company board. As of the date hereof, Mr. Lichtenstein owns directly 298,624 shares of HNH common stock, representing approximately 2.4% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock.

Jack L. Howard

Jack L. Howard c/o Steel Partners Holdings L.P. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

Jack L. Howard is the President and a director of Steel Holdings GP, Vice Chairman, Principal Executive Officer and a director of HNH, and President of SP General Services LLC, the manager of SPLP. As of the date hereof, Mr. Howard owns, directly and indirectly, 248,947 shares of HNH common stock, representing approximately 2.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock.

HNH

Handy & Harman Ltd. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022 (212) 520-2300

HNH is a diversified manufacturer of engineered niche industrial products, with leading market positions in many of the markets it serves. Through its wholly owned operating subsidiaries, HNH focuses on high margin products and innovative technology and serves customers across a wide range of end markets. HNH's diverse product offerings are marketed throughout the United States and internationally.

HNH previously operated under the name WHX Corporation and was formed in Delaware on May 18, 1994. HNH's common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the ticker symbol "HNH."

Conditions to the Offer (Page [__])

Completion of the offer is subject to certain conditions, including, among others:

Minimum Tender Condition — HNH stockholders having validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock which, when added to the shares of HNH common stock already owned by SPLP and its other subsidiaries, but excluding any shares tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee, represents at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock;

- Majority of the Minority Tender Condition HNH stockholders having validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock (but excluding any shares tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee) which would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock not owned by SPLP or any of its affiliates;
- *Effectiveness of Form S-4* the registration statement on Form S-4 of which this prospectus/offer to exchange is a part having been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act, and no stop order having been issued or proceeding seeking a stop order having been initiated or threatened in writing by the SEC;
- *Listing of SPLP Preferred Units* the SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger having been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance;
- *Dissenting Stockholders* the shares of HNH common stock held by stockholders having properly exercised appraisal rights under Delaware law do not exceed ten percent (10%) of the shares of HNH common stock outstanding immediately prior to the expiration of the offer;
- No Legal Prohibition no governmental entity having jurisdiction over SPLP, Merger Sub or HNH having enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any law, order, decree or ruling (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect and has the effect of making the offer or the merger illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the offer or the merger;
- *No Material Adverse Effect* since the date of the merger agreement, no material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of HNH having occurred;
- *Accuracy of HNH's Representations* the representations and warranties of HNH contained in the merger agreement being true and correct as of the date of the merger agreement and the expiration date of the offer, subject to specified materiality standards;
- *HNH's Compliance with Covenants* HNH having complied with or performed in all material respects its obligations under the merger agreement; and
- No Merger Agreement Termination the merger agreement not having been terminated in accordance with its terms.

Treatment of HNH Equity Awards (Page [__])

Consideration for Restricted Shares

At the effective time of the merger, each restricted share of common stock of HNH that, as of immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, remains subject to any performance-vest, time-vest or other condition(s) that constitutes a "substantial risk of forfeiture" within the meaning of Section 83 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") (each, an "HNH restricted share"), which is outstanding immediately prior thereto will become fully vested as of the effective time of the merger. Each HNH restricted share will, by virtue of the merger and without any further action on part of any holder thereof, be automatically cancelled, and the holder thereof will receive, as soon as reasonably practicable following the effective time of the merger, the transaction consideration. As of the effective time, all HNH restricted shares that are outstanding immediately prior thereto, whether or not vested, will no longer be outstanding and will automatically cease to exist, and each holder of an HNH restricted share will cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the transaction consideration with respect thereto.



There are no outstanding options to purchase HNH common stock.

Comparative Market Price and Dividend Matters (Page [__])

SPLP common units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SPLP," SPLP preferred units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SPLPPRA" and HNH common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol "HNH." The following table sets forth the closing prices of SPLP common units and SPLP preferred units on the NYSE and HNH common stock on Nasdaq, as reported on June 26, 2017, the last trading day ending prior to the public announcement of the entry into the merger agreement, and on [_____], 2017, the most recent practicable trading date prior to the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange. The table also shows the implied market value of one share of HNH common stock on those dates, calculated by multiplying the exchange ratio of 1.484 by the closing price of the SPLP preferred units on those dates.

	Per-Share HNH Closing Price	Per-Common Unit SPLP Closing Price	Per-Preferred Unit SPLP Closing Price	Impli	ed Market Value
June 26, 2017	\$ 28.50	\$ 18.50	\$ 22.12	\$	32.82
[],2017	\$ []	\$ []	\$ []	\$	[]

The market value of the transaction consideration will change as the market value of the SPLP preferred units fluctuates during the offer period and thereafter. HNH stockholders should obtain current market quotations for shares of HNH common stock, SPLP preferred units and SPLP common units before deciding whether to tender their HNH shares in the offer.

Comparison of Securityholders' Rights (Page [__])

The rights of holders of SPLP preferred units are different in a number of respects from the rights of HNH stockholders. Therefore, HNH stockholders will have different rights once they become SPLP preferred unitholders.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences (Page [__])

It is expected that the exchange of HNH common stock in the offer or pursuant to the merger for SPLP preferred units should not be a taxable exchange to a stockholder under Section 721(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, except to the extent there is cash paid for fractional shares, subject to the assumptions, qualifications and limitations set forth in the section entitled "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences." Holders of HNH common stock should read the section entitled "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences." Holders of HNH common stock should read the section entitled "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences" for a more complete discussion of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the offer and the merger, and the holding of the SPLP preferred units. Tax matters can be complicated, and the tax consequences of the offer or the merger, and the holding of the SPLP units, to a particular holder will depend on such holder's particular facts and circumstances. HNH stockholders should consult their own tax advisors to determine the specific consequences to them of exchanging their shares of HNH common stock for the transaction consideration pursuant to the offer or the merger.



Accounting Treatment (Page [__])

In accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP" or "U.S. GAAP"), SPLP will account for the acquisition of shares in the offer and the merger as an equity transaction. Therefore, no gain or loss will be recognized in consolidated net income or comprehensive income. The carrying amount of our noncontrolling interests will be adjusted to reflect the change in SPLP's ownership interest in HNH. Any difference between the fair value of the consideration and the amount by which the noncontrolling interest is adjusted will be recognized in capital attributable to SPLP.

Questions About the Offer and the Merger

Questions or requests for assistance or additional copies of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the letter of transmittal and notice of guaranteed delivery may be directed to the information agent at the telephone numbers and address set forth below. Stockholders may also contact their broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee for assistance concerning the offer and the merger.



SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA OF SPLP

The following table sets forth certain selected financial information for SPLP as of the end of and for the periods indicated. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are derived from, and qualified by reference to, SPLP's audited consolidated financial statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of June 30, 2017 are derived from, and qualified by reference into this document. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of June 30, 2017 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, SPLP's unaudited consolidated financial statements included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, which is incorporated by reference into this document. The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, SPLP's audited consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, SPLP's audited consolidated financial statements, which are not incorporated by reference into this document. You should read this summary selected financial data together with SPLP's "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and SPLP's historical consolidated financial results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information."

The table below presents discontinued operations as follows:

- The year ended December 31, 2014 includes the operations of HNH's Arlon LLC ("Arlon") business through its sale date.
- The year ended December 31, 2013 includes the operations of HNH's businesses: Arlon, Continental Industries, Inc., Canfield Metal Coating Corporation and Indiana Tube de Mexico, S. De R.L. de C.V., as well as one of Steel Excel Inc.'s ("Steel Excel") sports businesses, through their respective sale dates.
- The year ended December 31, 2012 includes the aforementioned HNH operations, as well as DGT Holding Corp.'s RFI Corporation and DGT Holding Corp.'s Villa Sistemi Medicali S.p.A. through their respective sale dates.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA ^(a)	5	Six Months E	nded	l June 30,	_			Yea	r En	ded Decembe	er 31,			
(in thousands, except common unit and per common unit data)		2017		2016		2016		2015		2014		2013		2012
Revenue	\$	681,710	\$	528,195	\$	1,163,549	\$	965,059	\$	847,263	\$	719,378	\$	612,702
Net income (loss) from continuing operations	\$	12,620	\$	12,203	\$	2,571	\$	70,311	\$	(17,572)	\$	38,374	\$	43,736
Income from discontinued operations		_		_		_		86,257		10,304		6,446		20,029
Net income (loss)	_	12,620		12,203		2,571		156,568		(7,268)		44,820		63,765
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated entities		(5,449)		(1,032)		4,059		(19,833)		(287)		(25,360)		(22,747)
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders	\$	7,171	\$	11,171	\$	6,630	\$	136,735	\$	(7,555)	\$	19,460	\$	41,018
Net income (loss) per common unit - basic:					_									
Net income (loss) from continuing operations	\$	0.27	\$	0.42	\$	0.25	\$	2.97	\$	(0.48)	\$	0.51	\$	1.01
Net income from discontinued operations						_		2.03		0.21		0.14		0.37
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders	\$	0.27	\$	0.42	\$	0.25	\$	5.00	\$	(0.27)	\$	0.65	\$	1.38
Basic weighted-average common units outstanding	2	6,091,833	2	26,556,659		26,353,714	2	7,317,974		28,710,220	2	9,912,993	2	9,748,746
Net income (loss) per common unit - diluted:			-		_		-		-				-	
Net income (loss) from continuing operations	\$	0.27	\$	0.42	\$	0.25	\$	2.96	\$	(0.48)	\$	0.49	\$	1.01
Net income from discontinued operations		—		—		_		2.02		0.21		0.14		0.37
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders	\$	0.27	\$	0.42	\$	0.25	\$	4.98	\$	(0.27)	\$	0.63	\$	1.38
Diluted weighted-average common units outstanding	2	6,412,487	2	26,556,659	=	26,486,209	2	7,442,308		28,710,220	3	80,798,113	2	9,774,527

(a) Statement of operations data includes the consolidation of the results of acquired entities from their respective acquisition dates: primarily, the acquisition of Steel Excel on May 31, 2012, HNH's acquisition of Wolverine Joining Technologies, LLC in April 2013, Steel Excel's acquisition of the assets of Black Hawk Energy Services, Inc. in December 2013, HNH's acquisition of JPS Industries, Inc. ("JPS") on July 2, 2015, SPLP's acquisitions of CoSine Communications, Inc. and API Group plc ("API") on January 20, 2015 and April 17, 2015, respectively, HNH's acquisition of SL Industries, Inc. ("SLI") on June 1, 2016 and the electromagnetic enterprise division of Hamilton Sundstrand Corporation on September 30, 2016, API's acquisitions of Hazen Paper Company and Amsterdam Metallized Products B.V. on July 27, 2016 and December 1, 2016, respectively, and Steel Excel's acquisition of Basin Well Logging Wireline Services, Inc. on May 19, 2017.

BALANCE SHEET DATA		ix Months led June 30,	1,					
(in thousands, except per common unit data)	2017		 2016	2015	 2014		2013	2012
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	337,816	\$ 450,128	\$ 185,852	\$ 188,983	\$	203,980	\$ 198,027
Marketable securities		46,179	53,650	80,842	138,457		178,485	199,128
Long-term investments		139,461	120,066	167,214	311,951		295,440	199,865
Total assets		1,991,805	1,967,115	1,684,773	1,490,497		1,522,245	1,378,359
Long-term debt ^(a)		330,670	330,126	235,913	295,707		223,355	140,065
SPLP Partners' capital		595,705	548,741	558,034	494,859		616,582	527,344
SPLP Partners' capital per common unit		22.90	20.98	20.95	17.95		19.81	17.13
Dividends declared per common unit			0.15					_
Dividends declared per preferred unit		0.53	_	—	—		—	

(a) Excludes the current portion of long-term debt, which totaled \$57,158 and \$62,928 at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

Unaudited Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges – SPLP

	Six Mo Ju	onths l une 30		Year Ended December 31,								
		2017			2016		2015	2014	2013	2012		
		Pro	o Forma - All		Р	ro Forma - All						
(dollars in thousands)	Historical	Tran	isactions ^(a)	Historical	Tr	ansactions ^(b)	Historical	Historical	Historical	Historical		
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, equity method income (loss) and other investments held at fair value	\$ 23,512	\$	18,304	\$ 22,438	\$	13,390	\$ 23,369	\$ 25,273	\$ 16,525	\$ 31,962		
Fixed Charges:	+,	. .		÷,	-	,	+	<u>+,</u>	+	+,		
Interest expense	9,299		15,130	11,052		27,411	8,862	11,073	10,454	14,804		
Total fixed charges	9,299		15,130	11,052		27,411	8,862	11,073	10,454	14,804		
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity method income (loss), other investments held at fair value and fixed charges	\$ 32,811	\$	33,434	\$ 33,490	\$	40,801	\$ 32,231	\$ 36,346	\$ 26,979	\$ 46,766		
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges	3.53		2.21	3.03		1.49	3.64	3.28	2.58	3.16		

(a) Details of the pro forma ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each transaction are as follows:

		d		
(dollars in thousands)	-	teel Excel ransaction	-	osed HNH ansaction
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, equity method income (loss) and other investments				
held at fair value	\$	23,211	\$	18,605
Fixed Charges:	-			<u> </u>
Interest expense		9,685		14,744
Total fixed charges	-	9,685		14,744
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity method income (loss), other investments				
held at fair value and fixed charges	\$	32,896	\$	33,349
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		3.40		2.26



(b) Details of the pro forma ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each transaction are as follows:

	Year Ended December 31, 2016							
	SLI Steel Excel				Prop	oosed HNH		
(dollars in thousands)	I	Acquisition	Т	ransaction	Transaction			
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, equity method income (loss)								
and other investments held at fair value	\$	27,604	\$	19,115	\$	11,547		
Fixed Charges:								
Interest expense		12,710		14,862		21,943		
Total fixed charges		12,710		14,862		21,943		
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity method income								
(loss), other investments held at fair value and fixed charges	\$	40,314	\$	33,977	\$	33,490		
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		3.17		2.29		1.53		
00								
20								

SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA OF HNH

The following table sets forth certain selected financial information for HNH as of the end of and for the periods indicated. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are derived from, and qualified by reference to, HNH's audited consolidated financial statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of operations data for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of June 30, 2017 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, HNH's unaudited consolidated financial statements included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, which is incorporated by reference into this document. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, HNH's audited consolidated financial statements, which are not incorporated by reference into this document. You should read this summary selected financial data together with HNH's "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and HNH's historical consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information."

	Six Months	Ended June									
	3	30,	Year Ended December 31,								
(in thousands, except per share amounts)	2017	2016 (a)	2016 (b)	2015 (с)	2014 (d)	2013 (e)	2012				
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:											
Net sales	\$490,786	\$361,677	\$828,343	\$649,468	\$600,468	\$571,164	\$498,713				
Operating income	\$ 35,923	\$ 14,780	\$ 15,049	\$ 45,914	\$ 45,720	\$ 40,203	\$ 38,401				
Income from continuing operations before tax and equity											
investment	\$ 29,391	\$ 11,582	\$ 8,375	\$ 41,520	\$ 39,302	\$ 27,496	\$ 23,861				
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of tax	\$ 19,380	\$ (278)	\$ (10,944)	\$ 16,991	\$ 15,193	\$ 21,341	\$ 14,224				
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of tax, per											
share-basic and diluted	\$ 1.58	\$ (0.02)	\$ (0.89)	\$ 1.49	\$ 1.23	\$ 1.61	\$ 1.09				

(a) Operating income for the six months ended June 30, 2016 includes asset impairment charges totaling \$7.9 million associated with JPS' Slater, South Carolina operating facility. Loss from continuing operations, net of tax during the period includes a \$6.9 million loss from HNH's investment in ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc. ("ModusLink").

- (b) 2016 operating income includes a goodwill impairment charge of \$24.3 million related to HNH's Performance Materials segment. 2016 operating income also includes asset impairment charges totaling \$10.4 million associated with JPS' Slater, South Carolina operating facility, as well as the planned closure of Lucas-Milhaupt's Gliwice, Poland facility. 2016 loss from continuing operations, net of tax includes a \$5.4 million loss from HNH's investment in ModusLink.
- (c) 2015 operating income includes an asset impairment charge of \$1.4 million associated with certain unused, real property located in Norristown, Pennsylvania. 2015 income from continuing operations, net of tax includes a \$6.5 million loss from HNH's investment in ModusLink.
- (d) 2014 operating income includes asset impairment charges totaling \$1.2 million associated with certain equipment owned by HNH's Joining Materials segment located in Toronto, Canada and certain unused, real property owned by HNH's Kasco segment located in Atlanta, Georgia. 2014 income from continuing operations, net of tax includes a \$7.1 million loss from HNH's investment in ModusLink.
- (e) 2013 income from continuing operations before tax and equity investment includes expenses totaling \$6.5 million associated with HNH's final redemption of its remaining outstanding 10% subordinated secured notes. 2013 income from continuing operations, net of tax includes a \$6.0 million gain from HNH's investment in ModusLink.



	-	x Months led June 30,		Year	r End	ed Decembe	r 31,		
(in thousands)		2017	 2016	2015		2014		2013	2012
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data									
Total assets	\$	866,521	\$ 836,520	\$ 624,673	\$	538,759	\$	509,723	\$ 512,361
Total debt	\$	281,030	\$ 275,289	\$ 99,568	\$	203,403	\$	157,191	\$ 158,444

Unaudited Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges – HNH

(dollars in thousands)	 ix Months led June 30,			Year	End	ed Deceml	ber 3	31,		
	 2017	 2016		2015		2014		2013		2012
Income from continuing operations before tax and equity										
investment	\$ 29,391	\$ 8,375	\$	41,520	\$	39,302	\$	27,496	\$	23,861
Fixed Charges:			_				_		_	
Interest expense	5,840	7,198		4,598		7,544		13,662		16,688
Total fixed charges	 5,840	7,198	_	4,598		7,544		13,662	_	16,688
Income from continuing operations before tax, equity			_		_				_	
investment and fixed charges	\$ 35,231	\$ 15,573	\$	46,118	\$	46,846	\$	41,158	\$	40,549
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges	 6.03	 2.16		10.03	_	6.21	-	3.01	-	2.43
	22									

SELECTED UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA - SPLP

The following table sets forth SPLP's selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and the six months ended June 30, 2017. SPLP's audited consolidated financial statements, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange, do not reflect the impact of the offer and the merger. The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data is based upon the historical financial statements of SPLP after giving effect to (1) the acquisition by HNH of SL Industries, Inc. ("SLI"), which occurred on June 1, 2016, (2) the acquisition of the remaining minority interest in Steel Excel not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities, which was completed on February 6, 2017 and (3) the proposed acquisition of the remaining minority interest in HNH not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 combines the historical consolidated statements of operations of SPLP and SLI, and illustrates the effect of the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed HNH transaction as if they had each occurred on January 1, 2016. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 illustrates the effect of the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed HNH transaction as if they had each occurred on January 1, 2016. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 illustrates the effect of the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed HNH transaction as if they had each occurred on January 1, 2016. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement the effect of the proposed HNH transaction as if it had occurred June 30, 2017.

The historical financial information has been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the transactions, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations, expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results.

The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the information included under the headings "Special Factors," "Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information of SPLP," "Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data of SPLP" and "Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data of HNH", as well as SPLP's, SLI's and HNH's consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange.

Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations Data

		Pro Forma				
	Six Months Ended			Year Ended		
(in thousands)	Ju	June 30, 2017 December 31,				
Total revenue	\$	681,710	\$	1,247,170		
Net income (loss)	\$	7,412	\$	(17,551)		
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated entities		(676)		(2,305)		
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders	\$	6,736	\$	(19,856)		

Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet Data

	 Pro Forma		
(in thousands, except per common unit data)	As of June 30, 2017		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 337,816		
Marketable securities	46,179		
Long-term investments	139,461		
Total assets	1,991,805		
Long-term debt (a)	330,670		
Preferred unit liability	183,730		
SPLP Partners' capital	529,224		
SPLP Partners' capital per common unit	20.34		

(a) Excludes the current portion of long-term debt, which totaled \$57,158 at June 30, 2017.

SELECTED UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA - HNH

The following table sets forth HNH's selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. HNH's audited consolidated financial statements, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange, do not reflect a full-year impact of two acquisitions that HNH made during 2016. The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data is based upon the historical financial statements of HNH after giving effect to (1) the acquisition by HNH of SLI, which occurred on June 1, 2016, and (2) the acquisition by HNH of certain assets of the Electromagnetic Enterprise division ("EME") of Hamilton Sunstrand Corporation, which occurred on September 30, 2016, as if both such acquisitions occurred on January 1, 2016.

The historical financial information has been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data to give effect to pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to HNH's acquisitions of SLI and EME, (2) factually supportable, and (3) expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results.

The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the information included under the headings "Special Factors," "Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information of HNH," "Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data of HNH", as well as SLI's, EME's and HNH's consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange.

Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations Data

	Pro Forma
	Year Ended
(in thousands)	December 31, 2016
Net sales	\$ 960,986
Net loss	\$ (5,856)

UNAUDITED COMPARATIVE PER SHARE DATA

The following tables reflect historical information for HNH and SPLP about basic and diluted earnings per share or common unit and book value or partners' capital per share or common unit, as applicable, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and the six months ended June 30, 2017. Both SPLP and HNH are shown on a historical basis and an unaudited pro forma combined basis. The SPLP pro forma information for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 is presented after giving effect to (1) the acquisition by HNH of SLI, which occurred on June 1, 2016, (2) the acquisition of the remaining minority interest in Steel Excel not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities, which was completed on February 6, 2017 and (3) the proposed acquisition of the remaining minority interest in HNH not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities. The SPLP pro forma information for the six months ended June 30, 2017 is presented after giving effect to the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed acquisition of the remaining minority interest in HNH not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities. The pro forma data assumes the acquisition of 100% of the shares of HNH common stock not already owned by SPLP and was derived by adjusting the historical consolidated financial information of SPLP or any of its affiliated entities as described elsewhere in this prospectus/offer to exchange. The HNH pro forma information is presented after giving effect to (1) the acquisition by HNH of SLI and (2) the acquisition by HNH of EME, which occurred on September 30, 2016. For a discussion of the assumptions and adjustments made in preparing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information presented in this prospectus/offer to exchange, see "Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information of HNH."

HNH stockholders should read the information presented in the following tables together with the historical financial statements of SPLP, SLI, EME and HNH and the related notes, which are incorporated herein by reference, and the "Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information of SPLP" and "Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information of HNH" appearing elsewhere in this prospectus/offer to exchange. The pro forma data is unaudited and for illustrative purposes only. HNH stockholders should not rely on this information as being indicative of the historical results that would have been achieved during the periods presented had SPLP always owned 100% of HNH or the future results that they will achieve after the consummation of the offer and the merger. This pro forma information is subject to risks and uncertainties, including those discussed in "Risk Factors."

		Steel Partners Holdings L.P.								
		Six Months Ended June 30, 2017			Twelve Months Ended					
					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		er 31, 2016			
		Historical		Pro Forma		Historical		Pro Forma		
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders - basic and diluted	\$	0.27	\$	0.26	\$	0.25	\$	(0.75)		
Weighted average number of common units outstanding - basic		26,091,833		26,091,833		26,353,714		26,353,714		
Weighted average number of common units outstanding - diluted		26,412,487		26,412,487		26,486,209		26,353,714		
		Historical		Pro Forma						
SPLP Partners' capital per common unit as of June 30, 2017	\$	22.90	\$	20.34						
		26								

	HNH							
	Six Months Ended June 30, 2017			Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2016				
	Historical			Historical Pro F		Pro Forma		
Net income (loss) - basic and diluted	\$	1.58	\$	(0.89)	\$	(0.48)		
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic and diluted		12,228,000		12,242,000		12,242,000		
		Historical						
HNH book value per share as of June 30, 2017	\$	15.34						
27								

RISK FACTORS

HNH stockholders should carefully read this prospectus/offer to exchange and the other documents referred to or incorporated by reference into this document, including in particular the following risk factors, in deciding whether to tender shares pursuant to the offer.

Risks Related to the Offer and the Merger

The transaction consideration is fixed and will not be adjusted. Because the market price of the SPLP preferred units may fluctuate, HNH stockholders cannot be sure of the market value of the transaction consideration they will receive in exchange for their HNH shares in connection with the offer and the merger.

In connection with the offer and the merger, HNH stockholders will receive a fixed number of SPLP preferred units for each of their shares of HNH common stock (1.484 SPLP preferred units for each HNH share). Because this number of SPLP preferred units will not vary based on the market value of the SPLP preferred units, the market value of the transaction consideration that HNH stockholders will receive in the offer or the merger will vary based on the price of the SPLP preferred units at the time the transaction consideration is received. The market price of the SPLP preferred units may decline after the date of this document, after you tender your shares and/or after the offer and the merger are completed. A decline in the market price of the SPLP preferred units could result from a variety of factors beyond SPLP's control, including, among other things, the other risks discussed or incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange.

Because the offer will not be completed until certain conditions have been satisfied or waived, a significant period of time may pass between the commencement of the offer, the time you tender your shares and the time that Merger Sub accepts your shares for payment. Therefore, at the time you tender your shares of HNH common stock pursuant to the offer, you will not know the exact market value of the transaction consideration that will be issued if Merger Sub accepts your shares for payment.

See "Comparative Market Price and Dividend Matters" of this document. You are urged to obtain current market quotations for shares of HNH common stock and for the SPLP preferred units and SPLP common units.

The offer remains subject to conditions that SPLP and Merger Sub cannot control.

The offer is subject to a number of conditions, including the non-waivable minimum tender condition and majority of the minority tender condition. In addition, the offer is subject to a number of additional conditions, including that (1) the SPLP preferred units issuable in the offer and the merger have been authorized for listing on the NYSE, (2) shares held by HNH stockholders that have properly exercised appraisal rights under Delaware law do not exceed ten percent (10%) of the shares outstanding immediately prior to the expiration of the offer, and (3) the registration statement on Form S-4 of which this prospectus/offer to exchange is a part has been declared effective by the SEC, as well as the satisfaction of other customary conditions will be satisfied in this prospectus/offer to exchange. There are no assurances that all of the conditions to the offer will be satisfied or that the conditions will be satisfied in the time frame expected. If the conditions to the offer are not met, then SPLP and Merger Sub may, subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, allow the offer to expire, or amend or extend the offer. See "Merger Agreement — Conditions to the Offer" and "— Conditions to the Merger."

If the offer and the merger are completed, HNH stockholders will receive SPLP preferred units. SPLP preferred units are affected by different factors than HNH common stock, and holders of SPLP preferred units have different rights than HNH stockholders.



Upon consummation of the offer and the merger, HNH stockholders will receive SPLP preferred units. Although HNH is a consolidated subsidiary of SPLP, SPLP is a diversified global holding company that engages in multiple businesses. Accordingly, SPLP's results of operations and the trading price of the SPLP preferred units may be adversely affected by a number of factors other than those that would affect HNH's results of operations and stock price.

In addition, HNH stockholders that receive SPLP preferred units in the offer and the merger will have rights that differ from the rights they had as HNH stockholders before the offer and the merger. For a comparison of the rights of SPLP preferred unitholders to the rights of HNH stockholders, see "Comparison of Securityholders' Rights."

SPLP may fail to realize any or all of the anticipated benefits of the offer and the merger or those benefits may take longer to realize than expected.

The benefits of the offer and the merger may not be realized as expected or may not be achieved within the anticipated time frame, or at all. Failure to achieve the anticipated benefits of the offer and the merger could adversely affect SPLP's results of operations or cash flows and negatively affect the price of the SPLP preferred units and SPLP common units.

SPLP and HNH will incur direct and indirect costs as a result of the offer and the merger.

SPLP and HNH will incur substantial expenses in connection with and as a result of completing the offer and the merger. Factors beyond SPLP's and HNH's control could affect the total amount or timing of those expenses, many of which, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately. Moreover, diversion of management focus and resources from day-to-day operations to matters relating to the offer and the merger could adversely affect each company's businesses, regardless of whether the offer and the merger are completed.

SPLP's actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information included in this prospectus/offer to exchange.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information contained in this prospectus/offer to exchange is presented for illustrative purposes only and may differ materially from what SPLP's actual financial position or results of operations would have been had the offer, the merger and SPLP's recent, significant acquisitions been completed on the dates indicated. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been derived from the audited and unaudited historical financial statements of SPLP and HNH, and those of SPLP's recent, significant acquisitions, and certain adjustments and assumptions have been made regarding the combined company after giving effect to the offer, the merger and SPLP's recent, significant acquisitions.

In addition, the assumptions used in preparing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information may not prove to be accurate, and other factors may affect SPLP's financial condition or results of operations following the closing. Any potential decline in SPLP's financial condition or results of operations may cause significant variations in the price of the SPLP preferred units and SPLP common units. See "Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Data – SPLP" and "Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Data – HNH."

The merger agreement limits HNH's ability to pursue alternative transactions, and in certain instances requires payment of a termination fee and reimbursement of expenses to SPLP, which beneficially owns approximately 70.0% of HNH's outstanding shares. These factors could deter a third party from proposing an alternative transaction.

The merger agreement contains provisions that, subject to certain exceptions, limit HNH's ability to solicit, initiate, encourage or facilitate any inquiries regarding or the making of any proposal or offer that constitutes or could reasonably be expected to lead to an alternative takeover proposal. See "Merger Agreement — No Solicitation; Acquisition Proposals." In addition, under specified circumstances, HNH is required to pay to SPLP a termination fee of \$3,800,000 and potential expense reimbursement of up to \$1,000,000 if the merger agreement is terminated. See "Merger Agreement — Fees and Expenses." It is possible that these or other provisions might discourage a potential competing acquirer that might have an interest in acquiring all or a significant part of HNH from considering or proposing an acquisition or might result in a potential competing acquirer proposing to pay a lower per share price to acquire HNH than it might otherwise have proposed to pay. Furthermore, SPLP's beneficial ownership of approximately 70.0% of HNH's outstanding shares may also serve as a deterrent to potential competing acquirers of all or a significant part of HNH.

If the value of HNH's business, together with any synergies to be achieved from SPLP's acquisition of HNH, is less than the value of the transaction consideration, the trading price of the SPLP preferred units could decrease.

If investors believe that the value of the SPLP preferred units to be exchanged for HNH shares in connection with the offer and the merger, together with transaction costs, is greater than the value of HNH's business, together with any synergies expected to be achieved from SPLP's acquisition of HNH, the trading price of the SPLP preferred units and SPLP common units could be adversely affected, and the offer and the merger could have a dilutive effect on the value of the SPLP preferred units and SPLP common units.

The prices of SPLP common units, SPLP preferred units and HNH common stock may be adversely affected if the offer and the merger are not completed.

If the offer and the merger are not completed, the prices of SPLP common units, SPLP preferred units and HNH common stock may decline to the extent that their current market prices reflect a market assumption that the offer and the merger will be completed and have value.

The financial analyses and forecasts considered by HNH, SPLP, HNH's financial advisor and SPLP's financial advisor may not be realized.

While the financial projections utilized by HNH, SPLP, HNH's financial advisor and SPLP's financial advisor in connection with the offer and the merger and summarized in this prospectus/offer to exchange were prepared in good faith based on information available at the time of preparation, no assurances can be made regarding future events or that the assumptions made in preparing such projections will accurately reflect future conditions. In preparing such projections, the management of HNH made assumptions regarding, among other things, future economic, competitive, regulatory and financial market conditions and future business decisions that may not be realized and that are inherently subject to significant uncertainties and contingencies, including, among others, risks and uncertainties described or incorporated by reference in this section and the section entitled "Forward-Looking Statements," all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of HNH and SPLP and will be beyond the control of the surviving company. There can be no assurance that the underlying assumptions or projected results will be realized, and actual results will likely differ, and may differ materially, from those reflected in the unaudited financial projections, whether or not the offer and the merger are completed. As a result, the unaudited financial projections cover multiple years, the information by its nature becomes less predictive with each successive year.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of the exchange of HNH common stock pursuant to the offer or the merger for the transaction consideration is not certain.

As described in the section entitled "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences," Pepper Hamilton LLP has opined that the exchange of HNH common stock for SPLP preferred units in the offer or pursuant to the merger for the transaction consideration should not be a taxable exchange, except to the extent there is any cash paid for fractional shares. As noted in the section entitled "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences," there are some uncertainties in the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the exchange of HNH common stock for the transaction consideration. You are urged to consult your tax advisors with respect to the U.S. federal income tax consequences resulting from the exchange of HNH common stock in the offer or pursuant to the merger for the transaction consideration. Additionally, a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the offer and the merger to U.S. holders of HNH common stock who exchange shares of HNH common stock for the transaction is contained in the section entitled "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences."



Risks Related to the SPLP Preferred Units

The SPLP preferred units are equity securities and are subordinated to our existing and future indebtedness.

The SPLP preferred units are equity interests and do not constitute indebtedness. This means that the SPLP preferred units rank junior to all of our indebtedness and to other non-equity claims on us (but rank senior to our common units), including claims in any liquidation.

Further, the SPLP preferred units place no restrictions on our business or operations or on our ability to incur indebtedness or engage in any transactions, subject only to the limited voting rights referred to below under "— Holders of the SPLP preferred units have limited voting rights."

We conduct substantially all of our operations through our subsidiaries. As a result, our cash flow and our ability to pay distributions on the SPLP preferred units are dependent upon the earnings of our subsidiaries. In addition, we are dependent on the distribution of earnings or other payments by our subsidiaries to us. Some of our subsidiaries currently are, and in the future may be, restricted in their ability to make distributions to us, including under the terms of their credit facilities.

Failure to generate sufficient cash flows, or the terms of our future indebtedness, may limit our ability to make distributions on the SPLP preferred units or to redeem the SPLP preferred units.

There can be no assurances that our operations will generate sufficient cash flows to enable us to pay distributions on the SPLP preferred units or redeem the SPLP preferred units. Our financial and operating performance is subject to prevailing economic and industry conditions and to financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control.

In addition, distributions will only be paid if the distribution is not restricted or prohibited by law or the terms of any senior equity securities or indebtedness. The instruments governing the terms of future financing or the refinancing of any borrowings may contain covenants that restrict our ability to make distributions on the SPLP preferred units or redeem the SPLP preferred units. The SPLP preferred units place no restrictions on our ability to incur indebtedness with such restrictive covenants.

The market price of the SPLP preferred units could be adversely affected by various factors.

The market price for the SPLP preferred units may fluctuate based on a number of factors, including:

- the trading price of our common units;
- · additional issuances of SPLP securities, including other series or classes of preferred units;
- whether we pay or fail to pay distributions on the SPLP preferred units from time to time and our ability to make distributions under the terms of our indebtedness;
- · our creditworthiness, results of operations and financial condition;
- the credit ratings of the SPLP preferred units;

- the prevailing interest rates or rates of return being paid by other companies similar to us and the market for similar securities; and
- economic, financial, geopolitical, regulatory or judicial events that affect us or the financial markets generally.

Our performance, market conditions and prevailing interest rates have fluctuated in the past and can be expected to fluctuate in the future. Fluctuations in these factors could have an adverse effect on the price and liquidity of the SPLP preferred units. In general, as market interest rates rise, securities with fixed interest rates or fixed distribution rates, such as the SPLP preferred units, decline in value. Consequently, if market interest rates increase, the market price of the SPLP preferred units may decline. We cannot predict the future level of market interest rates.

Our ability to pay quarterly distributions on the SPLP preferred units will be subject to, among other things, general business conditions, our financial results, gains or losses recognized by us on the disposition of assets and our liquidity needs. Any reduction or discontinuation of quarterly distributions could cause the market price of the SPLP preferred units to decline significantly. Accordingly, the SPLP preferred units may trade at a discount.

An active trading market may not develop for the SPLP preferred units, which could adversely affect the price of the SPLP preferred units in the secondary market and your ability to resell the SPLP preferred units.

The SPLP preferred units are a relatively new issue of securities and there is currently a limited trading market for the SPLP preferred units. We cannot make any assurance as to:

- the development of an active trading market;
- the liquidity of any trading market that may develop;
- the ability of holders to sell their SPLP preferred units; or
- the price at which holders may be able to sell their SPLP preferred units.

If an active trading market were to develop, the future trading prices of the SPLP preferred units will depend on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, our credit ratings published by major rating agencies, the market for similar securities and our operating performance and financial condition. If an active trading market does develop, there is no assurance that it will continue. If an active public trading market for the SPLP preferred units does not develop or does not continue, the market price and liquidity of the SPLP preferred units is likely to be adversely affected.

Holders of the SPLP preferred units have limited voting rights.

Holders of the SPLP preferred units generally have no voting rights and have none of the voting rights given to holders of the SPLP common units, except that holders of the SPLP preferred units are entitled to the voting rights described in "Description of the SPLP preferred units — Voting Rights." In particular, if distributions on the SPLP preferred units have not been declared and paid for the equivalent of six or more quarterly distribution periods, whether or not consecutive (a "Nonpayment"), holders of the SPLP preferred units, together as a class with holders of any other series of parity units (as defined in "Description of the SPLP preferred units — Distributions") then outstanding, will be entitled to vote for the election of two additional directors to the SPLP GP Board, subject to the terms and to the limited extent described under "Description of the SPLP preferred units — Voting Rights." When quarterly distributions have been declared and paid on the SPLP preferred units for four consecutive quarters following the Nonpayment, the right of the holders of the SPLP preferred units and such parity units to elect these two additional directors will cease, the terms of office of these two directors will terminate and the number of directors constituting the SPLP GP Board will be reduced accordingly.

Our limited partnership agreement contains provisions that reduce or eliminate duties (including fiduciary duties) of Steel Holdings GP and limit remedies available to unitholders for actions that might otherwise constitute a breach of duty. It will be difficult for unitholders to successfully challenge a resolution of a conflict of interest by our General Partner or by a majority of the disinterested directors of the SPLP GP Board.

Our limited partnership agreement contains provisions that require holders of our units, including the SPLP preferred units, to waive or consent to conduct by our General Partner and its affiliates that might otherwise raise issues about compliance with fiduciary duties or applicable law. For example, our limited partnership agreement provides that when our General Partner is acting in its individual capacity, as opposed to in its capacity as our General Partner, it may act without any fiduciary obligations to holders of our units, whatsoever. When our General Partner, in its capacity as our general partner, is permitted or required to make a decision in its "sole discretion" or "discretion" or that it deems "necessary or appropriate" or "necessary or advisable," then, except as otherwise provided in our limited partnership agreement, our General Partner will be entitled to consider only such interests and factors as it desires and will have no duty or obligation (fiduciary or otherwise) to give any consideration to any interest of or factors affecting us or any holder of our units and will not be subject to any different standards imposed by our limited partnership agreement, the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act, which is referred to as the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, or under any other law, rule or regulation or in equity. These standards reduce the obligations to which our General Partner would otherwise be held.

The above modifications of fiduciary duties are expressly permitted by Delaware law. Hence, we and holders of our units will only have recourse and be able to seek remedies against our General Partner if our General Partner breaches its obligations pursuant to our limited partnership agreement. Unless our General Partner breaches its obligations pursuant to our limited partnership agreement, we and holders of our units will not have any recourse against our General Partner even if our General Partner were to act in a manner that was inconsistent with traditional fiduciary duties. Furthermore, even if there has been a breach of the obligations set forth in our limited partnership agreement, our limited partnership agreement provides that our General Partner and its officers and directors will not be liable to us or holders of our units for errors of judgment or for any acts or omissions unless there has been a final and nonappealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that our General Partner or its officers and directors acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct. These provisions restrict the remedies available to unitholders for actions that without such limitations might constitute breaches of duty including fiduciary duties.

Whenever a potential conflict of interest exists between us and our General Partner, our General Partner may resolve such conflict of interest. If our General Partner determines that its resolution of the conflict of interest is on terms no less favorable to us than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or is fair and reasonable to us, taking into account the totality of the relationships between us and our General Partner, then it will be presumed that, in making this determination, our General Partner acted in good faith. A holder of our units seeking to challenge this resolution of the conflict of interest would bear the burden of overcoming this presumption. This is different from the situation with Delaware corporations, where a conflict resolution by an interested party would be presumed to be unfair and the interested party would have the burden of demonstrating that the resolution was fair.

Also, if our General Partner obtains the approval of the majority of the disinterested directors of the SPLP GP Board, the resolution will be conclusively deemed to be fair and reasonable to us and not a breach by our General Partner of any duties it may owe to us or holders of our units. This is different from the situation with Delaware corporations, where a conflict resolution by a committee consisting solely of independent directors may, in certain circumstances, merely shift the burden of demonstrating unfairness to the plaintiff. If you purchase, receive or otherwise hold a unit, you will be treated as having consented to the provisions set forth in our limited partnership agreement, including provisions regarding conflicts of interest situations that, in the absence of such provisions, might be considered a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable state law. As a result, unitholders will, as a practical matter, not be able to successfully challenge an informed decision by the disinterested directors of the SPLP GP Board.

We have also agreed to indemnify our General Partner, our manager, SP General Services LLC (our "Manager") and any of their affiliates and any member, partner, tax matters partner, officer, director, employee, agent, fiduciary or trustee of SPLP, our General Partner, our Manager or any of our affiliates and certain other specified persons, to the fullest extent permitted by law, against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest, settlements or other amounts incurred by our General Partner or any of these other persons. We have agreed to provide this indemnification unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that these persons acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct. We have also agreed to provide this indemnification for criminal proceedings.

Redemption may adversely affect your return on the SPLP preferred units.

We have the right to redeem at any time at a price of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit, plus accumulated and unpaid distributions, some or all of the SPLP preferred units, as described under "Description of the SPLP preferred units — Optional Redemption." To the extent that we redeem SPLP preferred units at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low compared to rates at the time of issuance of such SPLP preferred units, you may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as the distribution rate of the SPLP preferred units.

There is no limitation on our issuance of debt securities or equity securities that rank equally with the SPLP preferred units and, under certain circumstances, we may issue equity securities that rank senior to the SPLP preferred units.

We do not currently have any outstanding equity securities that rank senior to the SPLP preferred units. We may issue additional equity securities that rank equally with the SPLP preferred units without limitation and, with the approval of the holders of the SPLP preferred units and all other series of voting preferred units, acting as a single class, as described under "Description of the SPLP preferred units — Voting Rights," any partnership interests senior to the SPLP preferred units. The issuance of securities ranking equally with or senior to the SPLP preferred units may reduce the amount available for distributions and the amount recoverable by holders of the SPLP preferred units in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up. In addition, we and our subsidiaries may incur indebtedness that will rank senior to the SPLP preferred units.

We may pay the redemption price for the SPLP preferred units in SPLP common units. As a result, holders of the SPLP preferred units may become subject to the risks associated with the SPLP common units.



Except for the requirement that we must offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, 20% of the SPLP preferred units by February 7, 2020, the terms of the SPLP preferred units enable us to pay the redemption price for the SPLP preferred units in cash, SPLP common units or a combination of both, at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board. To the extent we elect to pay the redemption price in SPLP common units, holders of the SPLP preferred units will become subject to the risks associated with the SPLP common units. See "— Risks Related to SPLP's Business."

We may need to obtain additional financing in order to repurchase or redeem the SPLP preferred units.

We may not have sufficient funds available to make any required redemptions or repurchases of the SPLP preferred units in cash. In such event, we may need to obtain additional financing, which may not be available on favorable terms or at all.

The SPLP preferred units may not be rated and, if rated, their ratings could be lowered.

Standard & Poor's Ratings Services and Fitch Ratings Inc. may assign ratings to the SPLP preferred units. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such material and information, and such of their own investigative studies and assumptions, as they deem appropriate. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the SPLP preferred units, and there is no assurance that any rating will apply for any given period of time or that a rating may not be adjusted or withdrawn. A downgrade or potential downgrade in these ratings (including as a result in any change in rating methodologies), the assignment of a new rating that is lower than existing ratings, or a downgrade or potential downgrade in ratings assigned to us, our subsidiaries or any of our other securities could adversely affect the trading price and liquidity of the SPLP preferred units. We cannot be sure that rating agencies will rate the units or maintain their ratings once issued. We do not undertake any obligation to obtain a rating, maintain the ratings once issued or to advise holders of SPLP preferred units of any change in ratings. A failure to obtain a rating or a negative change in our ratings once issued could have an adverse effect on the market price or liquidity of the SPLP preferred units.

If the income allocated to the SPLP preferred units for a year is greater than the cash distribution for such year, a holder may have an out-of-pocket tax liability. If the amount of distributions on the SPLP preferred units is greater than our gross ordinary income, the amount that a holder of SPLP preferred units would receive upon liquidation may be less than the preferred unit liquidation value.

In general, we will specially allocate to the SPLP preferred units items of our gross ordinary income in an amount equal to the distributions paid in cash in respect of the SPLP preferred units during the taxable year. If a distribution is paid in kind, we have the right to allocate gross ordinary income to the SPLP preferred units in excess of the amount of cash distributed, such that a holder may have an out-of-pocket tax liability for the year. Allocations of gross ordinary income will increase the capital account balance of the holders of the SPLP preferred units. Distributions will correspondingly reduce the capital account balance of the holders of the SPLP preferred units. So long as our gross ordinary income equals or exceeds the distributions paid to the holders of the SPLP preferred units, the capital account balance of the holders of SPLP preferred units will equal the preferred unit liquidation value, as defined below in the section entitled "Description of SPLP Preferred Units – Amount Payable in Liquidation," at the end of each taxable year. If the distributions paid in respect of the SPLP preferred units in a taxable year exceed the proportionate share of our gross ordinary income allocated in respect of the SPLP preferred units for such year, however, the capital account balance of the holders of the SPLP preferred units with respect to the SPLP preferred units will be reduced below the preferred unit liquidation value by the amount of such excess. In that event, we will allocate additional gross ordinary income in subsequent years until such excess is eliminated. If we were to have insufficient gross ordinary income to eliminate such excess, holders of SPLP preferred units would be entitled, upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, to less than the preferred unit liquidation value. In addition, to the extent that we make additional allocations of gross ordinary income in a taxable year to eliminate such excess from prior years, the gross ordinary income allocated to holders of the SPLP preferred units in such taxable year would exceed the distributions paid to the SPLP preferred units during such taxable year. In such taxable year, holders of SPLP preferred units may recognize taxable income in respect of their investment in the SPLP preferred units in excess of our cash distributions, thus giving rise to an out-ofpocket tax liability for such holders.



The IRS Schedules K-1 we provide holders of SPLP preferred units is more complicated than the IRS Forms 1099 provided by corporations to their stockholders, and holders of SPLP preferred units may be required to request an extension of time to file their tax returns.

Holders of SPLP preferred units are required to take into account their allocable share of our items of gross ordinary income for our taxable year ending within or concurrently with their taxable year. We have agreed to furnish holders of SPLP preferred units, as soon as reasonably practicable after the close of each calendar year, with tax information (including IRS Schedules K-1), which describes their allocable share of gross ordinary income for our immediately preceding taxable year. However, it may require longer than 90 days after the end of our calendar year to obtain the requisite information so that IRS Schedules K-1 may be prepared by us. Consequently, holders of SPLP preferred units who are U.S. taxpayers should anticipate the need to file annually with the IRS (and certain states) a request for an extension past April 15 or the otherwise applicable due date of their income tax return for the taxable year. In addition, each holder of SPLP preferred units is required to report for all tax purposes consistently with the information provided by us for the taxable year. Because holders will be required to report their allocable share of gross ordinary income, tax reporting for holders of the SPLP preferred units is more complicated than for stockholders of a regular corporation.

Holders of SPLP preferred units may be subject to state, local and foreign taxes and return filing requirements as a result of owning such units.

In addition to U.S. federal income taxes, holders of the SPLP preferred units may be subject to other taxes, including state, local and foreign taxes, and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various jurisdictions in which we do business or own property now or in the future, even if the holders of the SPLP preferred units do not reside in any of those jurisdictions. Holders of the SPLP preferred units may be required to file state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in some or all of these jurisdictions in the U.S. and abroad. Further, holders of the SPLP preferred units may be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. It is the responsibility of each unitholder to file all U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax returns that may be required of such unitholder. In addition, our investments in real assets, if any, may expose unitholders to additional adverse tax consequences.

The IRS may disagree with SPLP's treatment of the SPLP preferred units as a single class of equity, which could potentially require adjustments to the beginning capital account balance of the SPLP preferred units issued to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders.

The SPLP preferred units to be issued to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders in the offer and the merger have the same liquidation preference, distribution rate, redemption rights and maturity date as the currently issued and outstanding SPLP preferred units. See "Description of the SPLP Preferred Units" and SPLP's sixth amended and restated agreement of limited partnership, which is attached to this prospectus/offer to exchange as **Annex B** and sets forth the specific terms of all SPLP preferred units, including those to be issued in the offer and the merger to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders. SPLP treats all SPLP preferred units the same, and pursuant to SPLP's sixth amended and restated agreement of limited partnership, considers all SPLP preferred units as a single class of equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Any fluctuations in the price of any SPLP preferred unit is independent of the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the SPLP preferred units as a single class of equity by SPLP and is dependent on changes resulting from market forces and the other factors described herein. If the IRS were to disagree with this treatment, the beginning capital account balance of the SPLP preferred units issued to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders could potentially require adjustments.

Risks Related to SPLP's Business

You should read and consider the risk factors specific to SPLP's business that will also affect the combined company after the merger. These risks are described in Part I, Item 1A of SPLP's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, as filed with the SEC on March 14, 2017, and in other documents that are incorporated by reference into this document. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information" for the location of information incorporated by reference in this document.

Risks Related to HNH's Business

You should read and consider the risk factors specific to HNH's business that will also affect the combined company after the merger. These risks are described in Part I, Item 1A of HNH's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, as filed with the SEC on February 28, 2017, and in other documents that are incorporated by reference into this document. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information" for the location of information incorporated by reference in this document.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Information both included and incorporated by reference in this document may contain forward-looking statements, which may be identified by their use of terms such as "intend," "plan," "may," "should," "will," "anticipate," "believe," "could," "estimate," "expect," "forecast," "continue," "potential," "opportunity," "project" and similar terms. These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses that SPLP's management or HNH's management believe are appropriate under the circumstances. However, these statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should the assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ materially from those expected, estimated or projected. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and neither SPLP nor HNH undertakes any obligation to publicly update or revise any of them in light of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to SPLP, HNH or any person acting on SPLP's or HNH's behalf are qualified by the cautionary statements in this section.

Factors that could have a material adverse effect on SPLP's or HNH's operations and future prospects or the consummation of the offer and the merger, many of which are difficult to predict and beyond the control of SPLP or HNH, include, but are not limited to:

- failure to satisfy the required conditions to consummate the offer and the merger;
- the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstances that could give rise to the termination of the merger agreement;
- the failure of the offer and the merger to close in a timely manner or at all for any other reason;
- the ability of SPLP to successfully integrate HNH following completion of the acquisition;
- · realization of the expected benefits of the acquisition in a timely manner or at all;
- · the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the offer and the merger;
- effects of the pendency of the acquisition on relationships with employees, suppliers, customers and other business partners;
- SPLP acquiring, managing and integrating new operations, businesses or assets, and the associated diversion of management attention or other related costs or difficulties;
- intense competition in areas within which SPLP operates; the effect of events such as natural disasters and related disruptions on SPLP's and HNH's operations;
- · dependence on third parties for key functions;
- · changes to laws or regulations;
- unanticipated changes in SPLP's or HNH's tax obligations or net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs"), results of tax examinations or exposure to additional income tax liabilities; interpretations of complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law;
- · changes in generally accepted accounting principles;



- principal, liquidity and counterparty risks related to SPLP's or HNH's holdings in securities;
- inability to develop new products to satisfy changes in customer demand or the development by competitors of products that decrease the demand for SPLP's or HNH's products;
- regulatory matters or litigation, or any matters involving contingent liabilities or other claims;
- the uncertainty of litigation, the costs and expenses of litigation, the potential material adverse effect litigation could have on SPLP's or HNH's
 respective businesses and results of operations if an adverse determination in litigation is made, and the time and attention required of
 management to attend to litigation;
- · difficulties in determining the scope of, and procuring and maintaining, adequate insurance coverage;
- · failure of information technology systems;
- · difficulties and costs of protecting intellectual property and other proprietary rights;
- the hiring and retention of qualified personnel in a competitive labor market;
- · general political, economic and business conditions and industry conditions;
- · the inherent uncertainty associated with financial or other projections; and
- the ability to implement and achieve business strategies successfully.

These risks and uncertainties, along with the risk factors discussed under "Risk Factors" in this prospectus/offer to exchange, should be considered in evaluating any forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus/offer to exchange.

THE COMPANIES

SPLP

SPLP is a diversified global holding company that engages in multiple businesses through consolidated subsidiaries, associated companies and other interests. It owns and operates businesses and has significant interests in leading companies in various industries, including diversified industrial products, energy, defense, supply chain management and logistics, banking and youth sports.

SPLP was formed in Delaware on December 16, 2008. Its common units became listed on the NYSE under the ticker symbol "SPLP" on April 10, 2012 and the SPLP preferred units became listed on the NYSE under the ticker symbol "SPLPPRA" on February 10, 2017.

The address and telephone number of SPLP's principal executive offices is 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.

SPLP also maintains a website at http://www.steelpartners.com. SPLP's website and the information contained therein or connected thereto shall not be deemed to be incorporated herein, and you should not rely on any such information in making an investment decision.

Merger Sub

Merger Sub is a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP. Merger Sub was incorporated on June 19, 2017 for the purpose of engaging in the offer and the merger. Merger Sub has engaged in no business activities to date and it has no material assets or liabilities of any kind, other than those incident to its formation and those incurred in connection with the merger agreement, the offer and the merger.

The address and telephone number of Merger Sub's principal executive offices is c/o Steel Partners Holdings L.P., 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.

Steel Holdings GP

Steel Holdings GP is a Delaware corporation and is a wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP. Steel Holdings GP serves as SPLP's general partner, the manager of SPHG Holdings and the managing member of SPHG. Steel Holdings GP was formed in Delaware on December 16, 2008.

The address and telephone number of Steel Holdings GP's principal executive offices is Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.

SPHG

SPHG is a Delaware limited liability company, the sole member of SPHG Holdings and a wholly owned subsidiary, directly and indirectly through Steel Holdings GP, of SPLP. SPHG was formed in Delaware on May 26, 2011. The principal business of SPHG is serving as the sole member of SPHG Holdings and other affiliates.

The address and telephone number of SPHG's principal executive offices is SPH Group LLC, 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.



SPHG Holdings

SPHG Holdings is a Delaware limited liability company and is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP. SPHG Holdings was formed in Delaware on May 26, 2011. The principal business of SPHG Holdings is holding securities for the account of SPLP. As of the date hereof, SPHG Holdings owns directly 8,560,592 shares of HNH's common stock, representing approximately 70.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock.

The address and telephone number of SPHG Holdings's principal executive offices is SPH Group Holdings LLC, 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.

Warren G. Lichtenstein

Warren G. Lichtenstein is the Executive Chairman of Steel Holdings GP and the Chairman of the Company board. As of the date hereof, Mr. Lichtenstein owns directly 298,624 shares of HNH common stock, representing approximately 2.4% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock.

The address and telephone number of Mr. Lichtenstein's principal executive offices is c/o Steel Partners Holdings L.P., 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.

Jack L. Howard

Jack L. Howard is the President and a director of Steel Holdings GP, Vice Chairman, Principal Executive Officer and a director of HNH, and President of SP General Services LLC, the manager of SPLP. As of the date hereof, Mr. Howard owns, directly and indirectly, 248,947 shares of HNH common stock, representing approximately 2.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock.

The address and telephone number of Mr. Howard's principal executive offices is c/o Steel Partners Holdings L.P., 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.

Information Regarding Directors and Executive Officers of the Purchaser Group

The name, business address, current principal occupation or employment, five-year employment history and citizenship of each director and executive officer of Steel Holdings GP and Merger Sub and certain other information are set forth in **Annex D** of this prospectus/offer to exchange.

No member of the Purchaser Group or, to each member's knowledge, the persons listed in **Annex D** of this prospectus/offer to exchange have been (a) convicted in a criminal proceeding during the past five years (excluding traffic violations or similar misdemeanors) or (b) a party to any judicial or administrative proceeding (except for matters that were dismissed without sanction or settlement) during the past five years that resulted in a judgment, decree or final order enjoining that person from future violations of, or prohibiting activities subject to, federal or state securities laws or a finding of any violation of federal or state securities laws.

HNH

HNH is a diversified manufacturer of engineered niche industrial products, with leading market positions in many of the markets it serves. Through its wholly owned operating subsidiaries, HNH focuses on high margin products and innovative technology and serves customers across a wide range of end markets. HNH's diverse product offerings are marketed throughout the United States and internationally.

HNH previously operated under the name WHX Corporation and was formed in Delaware on May 18, 1994. HNH's common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the ticker symbol "HNH."

The address and telephone number of HNH's principal executive offices is 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022, (212) 520-2300.

HNH also maintains a website at http://www.handyharman.com. HNH's website and the information contained therein or connected thereto shall not be deemed to be incorporated herein, and you should not rely on any such information in making an investment decision.

General

SPLP and Merger Sub are offering to exchange the transaction consideration for each outstanding share of HNH common stock not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities and which is validly tendered in the offer and not properly withdrawn. The offer is for all of the outstanding shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of HNH not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities.

The transaction consideration consists of 1.484 SPLP preferred units, together with cash in lieu of any fractional SPLP preferred units, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes, for each share of HNH common stock.

HNH stockholders will not receive any fractional SPLP preferred units in the offer or the merger, and each HNH stockholder who otherwise would be entitled to receive a fraction of an SPLP preferred unit pursuant to the offer or the merger will be paid an amount in cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent) without interest, equal to the product of: (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) \$25.00, the SPLP preferred unit liquidation preference. See "Merger Agreement — Treatment of Restricted Shares in the Merger."

The purpose of the offer and the merger is for SPLP to acquire the entire equity interest in HNH that it does not already own, either directly or indirectly. The offer is the first step in SPLP's plan to acquire all of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock that it does not already own, and the merger is the second step in such plan. If the offer is completed, tendered shares of HNH common stock will be exchanged for the transaction consideration, and if the merger is completed, any remaining shares of HNH common stock that were not tendered into the offer (other than certain dissenting shares, shares held in the treasury of HNH and shares held by SPLP or any subsidiary of SPLP, as described further in this prospectus/offer to exchange) will be converted into the right to receive the transaction consideration.

If the offer is consummated, we intend to complete the merger as promptly as practicable. Except as set forth in this prospectus/offer to exchange and the merger agreement, we have no present plans or proposals that would relate to or result in (i) any extraordinary corporate transaction involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries (such as a merger, reorganization, liquidation, relocation of any operations or sale or other transfer of a material amount of assets), (ii) any sale or transfer of a material amount of assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (iii) any material change in the Company's capitalization or dividend policy or (iv) any other material change in the Company's corporate structure or business. We will continue to evaluate the business and operations of the Company during the pendency of the offer and after the consummation of the offer and the merger, and will take such actions as we deem appropriate under the circumstances then existing.

Background of the Offer; Past Contacts or Negotiations with the Company

The following is a description of contacts between representatives of the Purchaser Group and representatives of the Company that resulted in the execution of the merger agreement. The chronology below covers only key events leading up to the execution of the merger agreement and does not purport to catalogue every conversation between representatives of the Purchaser Group, the Company and other parties.

Affiliates of SPLP have been stockholders of the Company since 2005. Currently, (1) SPHG Holdings, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP, directly owns 8,560,592 shares of HNH common stock, representing approximately 70.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock, (2) Warren G. Lichtenstein, Executive Chairman of Steel Holdings GP and the Chairman of the Company Board, owns directly 298,624 shares of HNH common stock, representing approximately 2.4% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock, and (3) Jack L. Howard, the President and a director of Steel Holdings GP, Vice Chairman, Principal Executive Officer and a director of HNH, and President of SP General Services LLC, the manager of SPLP, owns, directly and indirectly, 248,947 shares of HNH common stock, representing approximately 2.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock. For a description of the relationships between the Purchaser Group, the Company and their respective affiliates, see "Special Factors – Certain Relationships with HNH."

The SPLP GP Board and senior management of SPLP regularly discuss the business and strategic direction of HNH, including possible ways to reduce expenses and simplify its organizational structure. These discussions included the potential acquisition of the shares of HNH not owned by SPLP and its affiliated entities in furtherance of SPLP's strategy to (1) achieve a meaningful reduction in costs and time, (2) eliminate layers of management and duplicative expenses associated with the management of HNH as a public company (including insurance and accounting and director fees, among others) and (3) enhance SPLP's capital structure and tax efficiencies, all with the goal of driving value for SPLP and its unitholders. The SPLP GP Board and senior management of SPLP determined to deliver the March 2017 Proposal (as defined below) because they believed that the HNH common stock was fairly valued at that time and that then current capital market conditions would enable SPLP to use its SPLP preferred units as the currency for the proposed transaction at an appropriate valuation, allowing SPLP to maintain adequate liquidity to finance its existing operations and potential future strategic alternatives.

On March 3, 2017, SPLP delivered a letter to the independent members of the board of directors of HNH proposing to acquire all of the outstanding shares of common stock of HNH not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries, through an appropriate acquisition entity, for a price of \$29.00 per share, or approximately \$106.7 million of value, through the receipt by the Company's stockholders (other than SPLP and its subsidiaries) of approximately \$106.7 million in total liquidation preference of the SPLP preferred units (representing approximately 4,268,000 SPLP preferred units) (the "March 2017 Proposal"). The March 2017 Proposal summarized certain principal terms of the SPLP preferred units and noted that the additional SPLP preferred units that would be issued in the proposed transaction would also be listed on the NYSE. The March 2017 Proposal was not subject to obtaining financing or due diligence.

In the March 2017 Proposal, SPLP stated that the proposed transaction would be subject to the approval of the board of directors of the Company and the negotiation and execution of mutually acceptable definitive transaction documents, and set forth SPLP's views as to certain material terms and conditions proposed to be included therein. The March 2017 Proposal also included SPLP's expectation that the board of directors of the Company would appoint a special committee of independent directors to consider the proposal and make a recommendation to the full board. SPLP expressly stated that it would not move forward with the transaction unless the transaction resulted from such a process and was approved by such a special committee. SPLP also stated that the transaction would be subject to a non-waivable condition requiring the approval of holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock not owned by SPLP or its affiliates. Further, SPLP acknowledged that the special committee would have the sole discretion to make a determination not to pursue the proposed transaction. SPLP further advised that if the special committee ultimately did not recommend or the public stockholders of the Company did not approve the proposed transaction, this determination would not adversely affect SPLP's future relationship with the Company and its current intention would be to remain as a long-term stockholder in the absence of the proposed transaction. SPLP concluded the March 2017 Proposal by encouraging the special committee to retain its own independent legal and financial advisors to assist it in its review of the proposed transaction. A copy of the March 2017 Proposal was included as an exhibit to a Schedule 13D/A filed by members of the Purchaser Group with the SEC on March 7, 2017.

In determining to structure the proposed transaction as an exchange offer followed by a second-step merger, the members of the Purchaser Group considered, among other things, the alternative of structuring the transaction as a one-step merger. The members of the Purchaser Group believe that structuring the transaction as an exchange offer followed by a second-step merger is preferable to other transaction structures because they believe that the structure is a more efficient process of completing the proposed transaction than proceeding with calling a special meeting of the Company's stockholders. In addition, the members of the Purchaser Group believe that a direct offer to HNH stockholders allows the decision regarding the proposed transaction to be made by the stockholders who actually own the shares of HNH common stock at the time of tendering, and, accordingly, have a true economic interest in the decision. In a one-step merger, a vote of stockholders is required and voting rights are limited to those who held shares of HNH common stock on a record date several weeks prior to the date of the vote and who therefore may or may not be stockholders as of the vote.

In response to the March 2017 Proposal, on March 6, 2017, the Company's board of directors formally constituted the special committee, consisting of independent directors Patrick A. DeMarco, Robert Frankfurt and Garen W. Smith, with authority to (i) establish, approve, modify, monitor and direct the process and procedures related to the review and evaluation of the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto, including the authority to determine not to proceed with any such process, procedures, review or evaluation and to reject the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto; (ii) respond on behalf of the Company to any communications, inquiries or proposals regarding the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto; (iii) review, evaluate, investigate, pursue and negotiate the terms and conditions of the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto; (iv) solicit expressions of interest or other proposals for the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto, to the extent the special committee deemed appropriate; (v) negotiate the terms of and documentations for the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto; (vi) determine whether the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto is advisable and is fair to, and in the best interests of, the Company's unaffiliated stockholders; and (vii) effectuate or recommend to the Company's board of directors the effectuation of the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto. The Company board resolutions specified that, with respect to each of its functions set forth in items (i) through (vii) above, the special committee would act for the benefit of the Company's unaffiliated stockholders and that the Company board would not authorize the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto or recommend the proposed transaction and/or any alternatives thereto for acceptance or approval by the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, without the prior favorable recommendation by the special committee. The Company board also authorized the special committee, at the expense of the Company, to engage and retain the services of independent experts and professional advisors (including financial advisors and legal counsel) as the special committee deemed necessary or desirable to advise and assist the special committee.

On March 7, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with the following representatives of HNH attending by invitation: Douglas B. Woodworth, HNH's Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President and Steel Holdings GP's Chief Financial Officer; Leonard J. McGill, HNH's Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Assistant Secretary and Steel Holdings GP's Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary; and Michael Macmanus, HNH's Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. During this meeting, Mr. Frankfurt was appointed chairman of the special committee. The meeting participants considered the steps the special committee would take to engage an independent legal counsel and an independent financial advisor to assist in the special committee's evaluation of the March 2017 Proposal and potential alternatives thereto. The special committee also discussed scheduling and the logistics of its future meetings and held additional discussions after the HNH representatives had left the meeting.

From March 7, 2017 through March 16, 2017, in consultation with the other special committee members, Mr. Frankfurt identified, interviewed and negotiated retention terms with potential independent financial advisors and legal counsel to the special committee.

On March 16, 2017, after consultation with the other special committee members, on behalf of the special committee, Mr. Frankfurt signed an engagement letter with Graubard Miller to act as the special committee's independent legal counsel.

From March 17, 2017 through March 23, 2017, in consultation with the other special committee members, Mr. Frankfurt continued to interview and negotiate retention terms with potential independent financial advisors to the special committee.

On March 23, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with a representative of Graubard Miller, during which the special committee considered: (i) the fiduciary duties of the Company's directors and the special committee members related to their review of the proposed transaction; (ii) the factors required for a properly composed and functioning special committee; (iii) the qualifications of the special committee members; (iv) the sufficiency of the special committee's mandate as established by the Company's board of directors; (v) the special committee's process for evaluating and considering the proposed transaction; (vi) the retention of an independent financial advisor and independent legal counsel by the special committee; and (vii) the next steps and actions of the special committee. At this meeting, the special committee resolved to retain Duff & Phelps, LLC ("Duff & Phelps") as its independent financial advisor and ratified the engagement of Graubard Miller as its independent legal counsel. The selection by the special committee of these independent advisors was based on a number of factors, including their experience and reputation, proposed fee structures and confirmation of the absence of potential conflicts involving SPLP and its affiliates and, with respect to Duff & Phelps, Duff & Phelps.

On March 27, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with representatives of Duff & Phelps and Graubard Miller to review the procedures, methodologies and timing related to Duff & Phelps' due diligence process and the preparation of and delivery to the special committee of its analysis and any potential opinion in connection with the special committee's consideration of the proposed transaction.

On April 4, 2017, representatives of SPLP, Corporate Fuel Securities, LLC ("CFS"), SPLP's financial advisor, and Duff & Phelps held an initial due diligence discussion, followed by a meeting with representatives of SPLP, HNH, CFS and Duff & Phelps on April 6, 2017 to discuss due diligence matters. CFS was engaged by the audit committee of the SPLP GP Board, in its capacity as the general partner of SPLP, to evaluate and prepare various analyses related to the proposed transaction. Between April 7, 2017 and May 9, 2017, Duff & Phelps conducted due diligence and a financial review of the Company and the proposed transaction.

On April 28, 2017, Olshan Frome Wolosky LLP ("Olshan"), counsel to SPLP, sent a draft of the proposed merger agreement to Graubard Miller.

On May 3 and 4, 2017, representatives of SPLP, CFS and Duff & Phelps held due diligence calls with representatives from HNH's Building Materials, Joining Materials and Electrical Products segments. Discussion topics included a business and market overview, segment financial performance, business strategy and competitive landscape.

On May 9, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with representatives of Duff & Phelps and Graubard Miller to review Duff & Phelps' preliminary financial perspectives regarding the Company and the proposed transaction. Duff & Phelps reviewed the process Duff & Phelps undertook for its work and outlined the procedures, investigations and preliminary financial analyses conducted by Duff & Phelps, which analyses were substantially similar in nature to the analyses performed by Duff & Phelps and included in its June 23, 2017 presentation to the special committee, which is described in detail in "Special Factors – Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee." Duff & Phelps' financial review and its communications with the Company and CFS during its due diligence process identified significant differences in SPLP's and Duff & Phelps' calculations of certain material valuation criteria, particularly with respect to the Company's unfunded pension liabilities under its defined benefit pension plan. Accordingly, the special committee directed Duff & Phelps to contact CFS to discuss their respective financial perspectives on the Company and the proposed transaction and, if appropriate, to update its review of the Company's business and assets and advise the special committee regarding any change in Duff & Phelps' financial perspectives.

Following the special committee's meeting on May 9, 2017, representatives of Olshan and Graubard Miller spoke by telephone. Based on this conversation, the representatives of Olshan and Graubard Miller concurred that it would be advisable for representatives of Duff & Phelps to speak with representatives of CFS to discuss their respective financial perspectives on the Company and the proposed transaction.

On May 10 and 11, 2017, representatives of CFS and Duff & Phelps had telephone conversations in which they discussed their respective financial perspectives on the Company and the proposed transaction.

On May 12, 2017, representatives of SPLP, CFS, Duff & Phelps and Willis Towers Watson, the actuary and claims administrator for HNH's pension plan, spoke by telephone regarding the unfunded pension liabilities under HNH's defined benefit pension plan, including the potential settlement of these liabilities, as well as the valuation of HNH's pension obligations for financial reporting purposes. These representatives engaged in follow-up telephone calls regarding this matter on May 16, 2017 and May 18, 2017, with the latter call including a discussion of the tax treatment of the settlement of the pension plan.

On May 15, 2017, representatives of CFS and Duff & Phelps had a telephone conversation in which they further discussed their respective financial perspectives on the Company, particularly in respect of the Company's unfunded pension liabilities, non-operating real estate and environmental liabilities, and the proposed transaction.

On May 17, 2017, representatives of Olshan and Graubard Miller spoke by telephone regarding the status of the special committee's review of the proposed transaction and certain preliminary comments that Graubard Miller had on the draft merger agreement.

Also on May 17, 2017, representatives of Duff & Phelps and SPLP spoke by telephone regarding the unfunded pension liabilities under the Company's defined benefit pension plan, including the potential settlement of these liabilities, as well as the valuation of HNH's pension obligations for financial reporting purposes. Representatives of Duff & Phelps and SPLP spoke in follow-up telephone conversations regarding this matter on May 23, 2017.

On May 23, 2017, representatives of CFS and Duff & Phelps spoke by telephone and further discussed their respective financial perspectives on the Company and the proposed transaction, focusing on the calculation of the Company's working capital.

On May 24, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with representatives of Duff & Phelps and Graubard Miller to review updates to Duff & Phelps' preliminary financial perspectives regarding the Company and the proposed transaction resulting from Duff & Phelps' additional review. The financial analyses discussed by Duff & Phelps at this meeting were substantially similar in nature to the analyses performed by Duff & Phelps and included in its June 23, 2017 presentation to the special committee, which is described in detail in "Special Factors – Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee." The special committee considered differences between Duff & Phelps' treatment of certain valuation criteria and CFS'. Based on Duff & Phelps' preliminary financial perspectives, and the inherent uncertainties of calculating unfunded pension liabilities under the Company's defined benefit pension plan, the special committee concluded that any counterproposal to the March 2017 Proposal should exceed the valuation range midpoint determined by Duff & Phelps based upon its review of the Company and the proposed transaction. The special committee determined to make a counterproposal to SPLP whereby SPLP would acquire all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries in consideration of the issuance of 6,052,341 SPLP preferred units. The special committee authorized Mr. Frankfurt to communicate the counterproposal to representatives of SPLP and, if requested by SPLP, to provide SPLP with necessary support for the special committee's counterproposal.

In a telephone conversation on May 25, 2017, Mr. Frankfurt conveyed the special committee's counterproposal to representatives of SPLP and, at SPLP's request, provided support for the counterproposal.

Also on May 25, 2017, representatives of Olshan and Graubard Miller spoke by telephone regarding the status of the special committee's review of the proposed transaction and its counterproposal to SPLP.

Also on May 25, 2017, representatives of CFS and Duff & Phelps spoke by telephone to discuss further their respective financial perspectives on the Company and the proposed transaction.

On May 30, 2017, representatives of SPLP, CFS and Duff & Phelps held additional discussions regarding HNH's net operating loss carryforwards and the tax treatment of the unfunded pension liabilities in the event of a settlement of HNH's defined benefit pension plan.

Also on May 30, 2017, representatives of SPLP spoke by telephone with Mr. Frankfurt and conveyed a revised offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries in exchange for 5,000,000 SPLP preferred units. During this conversation, the representatives of SPLP requested an opportunity to discuss with Duff & Phelps SPLP's financial perspectives on the Company, in particular with respect to the Company's environmental liabilities, non-operating real estate and pension liabilities (including the tax effect of the unfunded pension liabilities in the case of a settlement of the pension plan), it being SPLP's view that these perspectives had not been previously considered by Duff & Phelps and could affect Duff & Phelps' financial perspectives on the Company.

On May 31, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with a representative of Graubard Miller. During this meeting, the special committee considered SPLP's revised offer together with SPLP's request for an opportunity to discuss with Duff & Phelps SPLP's financial perspectives on the Company. The special committee determined that such discussions should occur and that the special committee would consider SPLP's revised offer based upon, among other things, feedback received from Duff & Phelps following these discussions.

Also on May 31, 2017, representatives of SPLP, CFS and Duff & Phelps had a telephone call regarding certain unused real property owned by HNH.

On June 2, 2017, representatives of SPLP, CFS, Duff & Phelps and Willis Towers Watson had a telephone call to discuss the potential settlement of HNH's defined benefit pension plan and the tax effect thereof.

On June 9, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with representatives of Duff & Phelps and Graubard Miller to review Duff & Phelps' updated financial perspectives and SPLP's revised offer. Duff & Phelps reviewed and discussed updates to its financial perspectives of the Company and the proposed transaction resulting from its discussions with SPLP and CFS. The financial analyses discussed by Duff & Phelps at this meeting were substantially similar in nature to the analyses performed by Duff & Phelps and included in its June 23, 2017 presentation to the special committee, which is described in detail in "Special Factors – Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee." The special committee determined that its counterproposal to SPLP would reflect the acquisition by SPLP of all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries in exchange for 5,700,000 SPLP preferred units. The special committee authorized Mr. Frankfurt to communicate the counterproposal to SPLP.

On June 9, 2017, on a telephone call, Mr. Frankfurt conveyed the special committee's latest counterproposal to a representative of SPLP.

On June 12, 2017, on a telephone call with Mr. Frankfurt, a representative of SPLP communicated SPLP's revised offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries in exchange for 5,330,000 SPLP preferred units.

On June 12, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with representatives of Duff & Phelps and Graubard Miller to address SPLP's revised offer. The special committee affirmed its objective to obtain a purchase price as close as possible to the valuation range midpoint determined by Duff & Phelps based upon its review of the Company and the proposed transaction. The special committee determined that its counterproposal to SPLP would reflect the acquisition by SPLP of all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries in exchange for 5,600,000 SPLP preferred units. The special committee authorized Mr. Frankfurt to communicate the counterproposal to SPLP. The special committee also authorized Mr. Frankfurt to further negotiate with SPLP with the objective of obtaining a purchase price of at least \$35.00 per share (based on the value ascribed to the SPLP preferred units by Duff & Phelps) represented by at least 5,432,000 SPLP preferred units, subject to the special committee's final approval.

On June 13, 2017, representatives of Olshan and Graubard Miller spoke by telephone regarding the status of the special committee's review of the proposed transaction and certain terms of the proposed merger agreement.

On June 16, 2017, Mr. Frankfurt spoke by telephone with a representative of SPLP and conveyed the special committee's latest counterproposal. After several additional telephone conversations between them during which they negotiated the proposed transaction consideration (including a revised offer from SPLP of 5,400,000 SPLP preferred units and a counterproposal by Mr. Frankfurt, on behalf of the special committee, of 5,520,000 SPLP preferred units), SPLP's representative communicated to Mr. Frankfurt that SPLP would agree to increase its offer to 5,432,000 SPLP preferred units, but that such offer was its best and final offer. SPLP's offer contemplated that holders of unvested restricted shares of HNH would also receive these SPLP preferred units instead of cash as contemplated by the then-current draft of the proposed merger agreement.

On June 17, 2017, the special committee held a telephonic meeting with representatives of Duff & Phelps and Graubard Miller to address SPLP's best and final offer. The special committee considered the negotiations that led to SPLP's best and final offer. The special committee also considered that SPLP's best and final offer satisfied the special committee's objective to obtain a purchase price close to the valuation range midpoint determined by Duff & Phelps based upon its review of the Company and the proposed transaction. The special committee further considered that the contemplated exchange of HNH restricted stock for SPLP preferred units would align the interests of the holders of the Company's restricted stock and the Company's unaffiliated stockholders. The special committee determined, subject to its review of the final merger agreement and receipt of Duff & Phelps' opinion, that SPLP's final offer was fair and reasonable to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders. On the same day, Graubard Miller provided to Olshan comments on the merger agreement, subject to the special committee's continuing review.

On June 20, 2017, Olshan delivered a revised draft of the proposed merger agreement to Graubard Miller and Graubard Miller provided to Olshan an initial draft of the disclosure schedules to the proposed merger agreement. The merger agreement and disclosure schedules were finalized on June 22, 2017.

On June 22, 2017, the audit committee of the SPLP GP Board held a meeting to consider the proposed transaction with HNH. At this meeting, the members of the audit committee discussed the terms of the proposed transaction and the merger agreement, and received a presentation from representatives of CFS to assist in their evaluation of the proposed transaction. See "Special Factors – Evaluation Report of the Financial Advisor to Purchaser Group." The audit committee unanimously resolved to recommend the proposed transaction to the SPLP GP Board. Following this meeting, the SPLP GP Board held a meeting whereby it unanimously (acting on the unanimous recommendation of the audit committee) (a) determined and declared that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger) are, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, advisable and in the best interests of SPLP and its limited partners, and (b) approved, adopted and authorized in all respects the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger).

On June 23, 2017, the special committee held a meeting at which, with the assistance of its independent legal and financial advisors, it engaged in further review and discussion regarding the proposed transaction. At the request of the special committee, Duff & Phelps reviewed and discussed its financial analyses with respect to the Company and the proposed transaction. Following discussion of Duff & Phelps' financial analyses and at the request of the special committee, Duff & Phelps verbally rendered its opinion to the special committee as to, as of such date, the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the stockholders of the Company (other than SPLP and its subsidiaries and affiliates) of the consideration to be received by such holders in the offer and the merger pursuant to the merger agreement (without giving effect to any impact of the transaction on any particular stockholder other than in its capacity as a stockholder). Duff & Phelps subsequently confirmed this opinion by delivery of its written opinion addressed to the special committee dated June 23, 2017. A representative of Graubard Miller then summarized the material terms of the merger agreement and the material terms of the SPLP preferred units. The special committee then discussed factors relevant to its review of and conclusions concerning the proposed transaction, including, among other things, the process and procedures the special committee undertook to ensure the fairness of the proposed transaction to the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders. After further discussion, the special committee unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger) were advisable and fair to and in the best interests of the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders. The special committee unanimously resolved to recommend the proposed transaction to the board and recommend that the board adopt resolutions (1) approving and declaring the advisability and fairness of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger), (2) recommending that the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company accept the offer and tender their shares pursuant to the offer, and (3) resolving that the merger be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the merger be consummated as soon as practicable following the consummation of the offer.

On June 26, 2017, the board of directors of the Company met to receive the recommendation and report of the special committee with respect to the transaction. At this meeting, the board (acting on the unanimous recommendation of the special committee) unanimously (a) determined and declared that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger) are, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, advisable and in the best interests of and are fair to the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders, (b) approved, adopted and authorized in all respects the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger), (c) recommended that the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company accept the offer and tender their shares pursuant to the offer, and (d) resolved that the merger be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the merger be consummated as soon as practicable following the consummation of the offer.

Later that same day, the parties executed the merger agreement and issued a press release announcing that they had entered into the merger agreement.

The Purchaser Group's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger

The Purchaser Group determined to enter into the merger agreement and pursue the offer at this time in light of its belief that HNH's operations and business represent an important strategic fit within SPLP's overall holdings group and a logical next step in SPLP's business simplification plan aimed at streamlining its corporate structure. In reaching its determination, the Purchaser Group considered a variety of potential benefits and factors weighing favorably towards the offer and the merger, including the factors described below (not in any relative order of importance):

Strategic and Financial Considerations

- If HNH becomes a wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP, the companies together should be able to realize cost savings and enhance operational
 efficiencies by eliminating duplication, reducing complexity and improving economies of scale, including through streamlining general and
 administrative expenses and eliminating costs associated with HNH's common stock being publicly traded;
- The tangible synergies expected to be generated with SPLP's existing businesses across certain corporate and executive functions should help to position HNH for future growth and success as part of SPLP. Expected synergies include a meaningful reduction in costs and time, as well as the elimination of layers of management and duplicative expenses associated with managing HNH as a public company, including insurance and accounting and director fees, among others. In addition, the Purchaser Group believes that the simplification of SPLP's organizational structure through the acquisition of the remaining shares of HNH should enhance SPLP's capital structure and tax efficiencies, all with the goal of driving value for SPLP and its unitholders (including HNH's unaffiliated stockholders who receive SPLP preferred units in the offer and the merger);
- Simplifying SPLP's corporate structure through the acquisition of the remaining shares of HNH should facilitate easier-to-understand financial reporting and greater transparency for equity investors; and
- SPLP's belief that the exchange of HNH common stock for SPLP preferred units should not cause an ownership change as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Market Conditions

• The Purchaser Group also took into account current financial market conditions and the market prices, liquidity and volatility of shares of HNH common stock. Although the HNH common stock had been volatile in recent periods, the Purchaser Group believed that the HNH common stock was fairly valued at the time of the March 2017 Proposal and that then current capital market conditions would enable SPLP to use its SPLP preferred units as the currency for the proposed transaction at an appropriate valuation, allowing SPLP to maintain adequate liquidity to finance its existing operations and potential future strategic alternatives to the benefit of its unitholders (including HNH's unaffiliated stockholders who receive SPLP preferred units in the offer and the merger).

Due Diligence

- The Purchaser Group further considered its due diligence review and investigations of the business operations, products, strategy, financial condition, contingent liabilities, earnings and future prospects of HNH.
- Financial Terms of the Transaction
 - The Purchaser Group reviewed the amount and form of consideration to be issued in the transaction, the fact that the transaction consideration is fixed, the terms of the SPLP preferred units and other financial terms of the offer and the merger, including with the assistance of SPLP's financial advisor.

Provisions of the Merger Agreement

- The Purchaser Group considered the structure of the offer and the merger and the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, which was
 negotiated on an arm's length basis, including the financial terms, the anticipated short time period from announcement to completion
 achievable through the exchange offer structure, the conditions to completion, the termination rights of the parties, and the obligation of HNH to
 pay a \$3.8 million termination fee and reimburse SPLP up to \$1.0 million in expenses in certain circumstances upon termination; and
- The expectation that the conditions to consummation of the offer and the merger will be satisfied on a timely basis.

The Purchaser Group also identified and considered certain risks and potentially negative factors in its deliberations to be balanced against the benefits and positive factors, including:

- the risk that the anticipated benefits of the offer and the merger will not be realized in full or in part, including the risks that expected synergies or cost savings will not be achieved or not achieved on the expected timeframe;
- the risk that the transaction may not be consummated despite the parties' efforts or that the closing of the transaction may be unduly delayed;
- the challenges in absorbing the effect of any failure to complete the transaction, including potential stockholder and market reactions;
- the costs and expenses associated with the offer and the merger;
- the risks associated with the occurrence of events which may materially adversely affect the business, operations or financial condition of HNH but which may not entitle SPLP to terminate the merger agreement;
- the risk of diverting SPLP management's focus and resources from other strategic opportunities and from operational matters while working to implement the transaction with HNH, and other potential disruption associated with combining the companies;
- the potential impact on SPLP's capital structure of the issuance in the transaction of the SPLP preferred units, which rank senior to the common units with respect to distributions and upon liquidation;



- consummation of the transaction would result in SPLP becoming jointly and severally liable for any unfunded liabilities under HNH's defined benefit pension plans; and
- the risks associated with the offer and the merger, the combined company following the offer and the merger, the SPLP preferred units, SPLP's business and HNH's business described under the sections entitled "Forward-Looking Statements" and "Risk Factors."

After consideration of these factors, the Purchaser Group determined that, overall, the potential benefits of the offer and the merger outweighed the potential risks.

This discussion of the information and factors considered by the Purchaser Group includes the material positive and negative factors considered by the Purchaser Group, but it is not intended to be exhaustive and may not include all the factors considered by the Purchaser Group. In view of the variety of factors considered and the complexity of these matters, the Purchaser Group did not consider it practicable to, and did not attempt to, quantify or assign any relative or specific weights to the various factors that it considered in reaching its determination regarding the merger agreement and the offer and the merger. Rather, the Purchaser Group viewed its position as being based on the totality of the information presented to and factors considered by it. In addition, members of the Purchaser Group may have given differing weights to different factors. It should be noted that this explanation of the reasoning of the Purchaser Group and certain information presented in this section is forward-looking in nature and, therefore, should be read in light of the factors discussed in the section entitled "Forward-Looking Statements."

HNH's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger; Recommendation of the Board of Directors of HNH

At a meeting held on June 26, 2017, acting on the unanimous recommendation of the special committee, the Company board unanimously (collectively, the "Board Determinations"):

- (i) determined and declared that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger (the "Merger Agreement Transactions")) are, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, advisable and in the best interests of and are fair to the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders;
- (ii) approved, adopted and authorized in all respects the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions;
- (iii) recommended that the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company accept the offer and tender their shares pursuant to the offer; and
- (iv) resolved that the merger shall be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the merger shall be consummated as soon as practicable following the acceptance of shares for payment pursuant to the offer.

Accordingly, for the reasons described in more detail below, the Company board recommends that the Company's stockholders tender their shares pursuant to the offer.

The Special Committee; Reasons for its Determinations

Following receipt by the independent members of the Company board of the March 2017 Proposal, the Company board determined that it was in the best interests of the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders to constitute a special committee consisting only of independent directors for the purpose of engaging with SPLP regarding a possible transaction, negotiating and evaluating the terms of a possible transaction, considering, evaluating and negotiating the terms of potential strategic alternative transactions thereto and making recommendations to the Company board with respect to any such possible transaction with SPLP and any such strategic alternative transactions. The Company board appointed Messrs. DeMarco, Frankfurt and Smith as members of the special committee.

The Company board delegated full power and authority to the special committee in connection with its evaluation of any SPLP proposal and third party alternatives, including the full power and authority to: (1) establish, approve, modify, monitor and direct the process and procedures related to the review and evaluation of a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto, including the authority to determine not to proceed with any such process, procedures, review or evaluation and to reject a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto; (2) respond on behalf of the Company to any communications, inquiries or proposals regarding a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto; (3) review, evaluate, investigate, pursue and negotiate the terms and conditions of a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto; (4) solicit expressions of interest or other proposals for a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto; (5) negotiate the terms of and documentations for any possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto; (6) determine whether a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto; (6) determine whether a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto; and (7) effectuate or recommend to the Company board the effectuation of a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto. The Company board also resolved that it would not authorize a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto. The Company board also resolved that it would not authorize a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto. The Company board also resolved that it would not authorize a possible transaction with SPLP and/or any alternatives thereto. The Company board also resolved that it would not authorize or approval by the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, without the prior favorable recommendation by the special committee.

The special committee, at a meeting held on June 23, 2017, unanimously:

- i. approved and declared advisable the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions;
- ii. determined that the merger agreement (in substantially the form presented to the special committee) and the Merger Agreement Transactions are fair to and in the best interests of the Company and the Company's unaffiliated stockholders; and
- iii. resolved that the special committee recommend the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions to the Company board and recommend that the Company board adopt resolutions:
 - A. approving the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions;
 - B. determining that the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions are advisable and in the best interests of and fair to the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders and that the Company enter into the merger agreement and consummate the Merger Agreement Transactions on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement;
 - C. recommending to the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company that they accept the offer and tender their shares pursuant to the offer; and
 - D. that the merger shall be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the merger shall be consummated as soon as practicable following the acceptance time of the offer.

In reaching its determinations, the special committee consulted with and received the advice of its financial and legal advisors and considered a number of factors that the special committee believed supported the substantive fairness of the Merger Agreement Transactions to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders and the special committee's decision to recommend the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions, including, but not limited to, the following material factors:

- the special committee's belief that the offer and the merger will provide the Company's unaffiliated stockholders with the opportunity to receive NYSE-listed securities that may provide a greater opportunity for liquidity at a price (taking into account the exchange ratio) that is likely to be higher than what may be available in the open market for the HNH shares at this time and for the foreseeable future;
- the special committee's belief that the terms of the SPLP preferred units are favorable to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders;
- the SPLP preferred units provide the Company's unaffiliated stockholders with a senior equity interest in a larger and financially stronger enterprise and allow them to participate in SPLP's future growth;
- it is expected that the exchange of HNH shares for SPLP preferred units in the offer and the merger should not be a taxable exchange to the Company's stockholders, except to the extent there is cash paid for fractional shares;
- the recent trading activity of the HNH shares, including the fact that the value of the transaction consideration represented a substantial premium over the closing price of the HNH shares on March 6, 2017 (the last trading day prior to the public announcement of the March 2017 Proposal);
- absent the Merger Agreement Transactions, it could take a considerable period of time before the present value of the trading price of the HNH shares in the future would reach and sustain at least the per share value of the transaction consideration;
- the special committee's belief that the trading history of the HNH shares may not be an indication of the Company's going concern value due to the fact that the HNH shares have a thin trading volume;
- the special committee's belief that, based upon the arms-length negotiation process led by the special committee, the transaction consideration was the highest price per share that was reasonably attainable;
- the special committee not being aware of any firm offers made during the past two years by any person other than SPLP with respect to a business combination or change in control transaction and the special committee's conclusion that, given SPLP's approximately 70% beneficial ownership of the issued and outstanding shares, such offers may be unlikely;
- because of the longstanding role of Messrs. Lichtenstein and Howard on the Company board, SPLP is intimately familiar with risks associated with the Company's business, including business, pension and environmental risks, while third parties in order to provide a firm proposal on price and assurances to the Company with respect to the likelihood of execution of a definitive agreement and a subsequent closing thereunder required extensive due diligence and a significant commitment of Company time and resources;

- the financial analysis reviewed by Duff & Phelps with the special committee as well as the oral opinion of Duff & Phelps rendered to the special committee on June 23, 2017 (which was subsequently confirmed in writing by delivery of Duff & Phelps' written opinion addressed to the special committee dated June 23, 2017), as to, as of such date, the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Company's stockholders (other than SPLP and its subsidiaries and affiliates) of the consideration to be received by such stockholders in the offer and merger pursuant to the merger agreement (without giving effect to any impact of the Merger Agreement Transactions on any particular stockholder other than in its capacity as a stockholder);
- the majority of the minority tender condition, which requires that unaffiliated stockholders holding in excess of 50% of the shares held by all unaffiliated stockholders tender their shares in the offer in order for the offer to close and the merger to proceed, which condition cannot be waived and if satisfied would demonstrate clear unaffiliated stockholder support for the offer;
- the likelihood that the transaction with SPLP would be completed based on, among other things:
- since the consideration consists solely of securities of SPLP, the offer is not conditioned on receipt of financing;
- the likelihood and anticipated timing of completing the offer in light of the scope of the conditions, including the absence of any significant required regulatory approvals and the fact that the offer conditions are otherwise limited to customary contractual conditions for a transaction of this type (and, based on the information provided by management and independent legal counsel, the special committee's belief that such conditions are expected to be satisfied);
- the Company's ability, under certain circumstances pursuant to the merger agreement, to seek specific performance of the obligations of SPLP under the merger agreement;
- SPLP's and its affiliates' overall familiarity with the business and the limited risk of any "negative surprises" for them between signing and closing; and
- SPLP's and Mr. Lichtenstein's reputation and significant experience and track record in completing acquisition transactions.

the other terms of the merger agreement, including:

the Company's ability to consider and respond to an unsolicited written acquisition proposal, to furnish confidential information to any
person making such a proposal and to engage in discussions or negotiations with the person making such a proposal, if the special
committee, prior to taking any such actions, determines in good faith that such acquisition proposal either constitutes a superior
proposal or could reasonably be expected to lead to a superior proposal;

- the ability of the Company board and the special committee, under certain circumstances, to withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify its recommendation that the unaffiliated stockholders tender their shares pursuant to the offer;
- the Company's ability, under certain circumstances, to terminate the merger agreement in order to enter into an agreement providing for a superior proposal, provided that the Company complies with its obligations relating to the entering into of any such agreement and concurrently with the termination of the merger agreement pays to SPLP a termination fee of \$3.8 million plus up to \$1 million to reimburse SPLP's expenses;
- the termination fee and expenses payable to SPLP under certain circumstances, including as described above, in connection with a termination of the merger agreement, which the special committee concluded are reasonable in the context of termination fees and expenses payable in comparable transactions and in light of the overall terms of the merger agreement, including the per share consideration;
- the Company being permitted under the terms of the merger agreement to continue to conduct its business in the ordinary course during the period between the execution of the merger agreement and the effective time of the merger, subject only to limitations and restrictions on the taking of certain prescribed actions, which management of the Company has advised the special committee's independent legal counsel are reasonable and should not adversely affect the Company's operations to any significant extent; and
- if the merger is consummated, the ability of the stockholders to exercise appraisal rights, which provide properly exercising stockholders with the opportunity to have the Delaware Court of Chancery determine the "fair value" of their shares and to receive payment based on that valuation in lieu of receiving the transaction consideration.

In the course of reaching the determinations and decisions, and making the recommendation, described above, the special committee also considered the following factors relating to the procedural safeguards that the special committee believed were present to ensure fairness of the offer and the merger, each of which the special committee believes supported its decision and provided assurance of the fairness of the offer and the merger to the unaffiliated stockholders:

- the special committee is comprised of three independent directors who are not affiliated with SPLP and its affiliates (including Messrs. Lichtenstein and Howard) and who are not employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
- other than their receipt of board and special committee fees (which are not contingent upon the consummation of the offer or the merger or the recommendation for the offer and the merger by the special committee or Company board) and their interests described in this prospectus/offer to exchange, members of the special committee do not have any interest in the offer and the merger different from, or in addition to, those of the unaffiliated stockholders;
- the determination to engage in discussions related to the transaction with SPLP and the consideration and negotiation of the transaction consideration and other terms of the transaction were conducted entirely under the oversight of the members of the special committee without the involvement in the Company's decision making process of any director who is affiliated with SPLP or is a member of the Company's management and without any limitation on the authority of the special committee to act with respect to any alternative transaction or any related matters;

- the special committee was given the express authority to reject any SPLP proposal and had the authority not to recommend the approval of the transaction or any other alternative transaction;
- the special committee's extensive arms-length negotiations with SPLP, which, among other things, resulted in an increase in the aggregate transaction consideration from approximately 4,268,000 SPLP preferred units to 5,432,000 SPLP preferred units;
 - the fact that a tender offer structure involves a direct offer to stockholders who voluntarily determine whether to sell their shares and also provides that the decision regarding the proposed transaction is made by the stockholders who actually own the shares at the time of tendering and, accordingly, have a true economic interest in the decision. This is in contrast to a one-step merger, where a vote of stockholders is required and voting rights are limited to those who held shares on a record date typically several weeks prior to the date of the vote and who therefore may or may not be stockholders as of the date of the vote;
- the fact that the special committee had engaged its own independent financial and legal advisors to provide advice to the special committee with respect to a possible transaction with SPLP or a potential alternative transaction;
- the special committee requested and received from Duff & Phelps a written opinion addressed to the special committee dated June 23, 2017, as to, as of such date, the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Company's stockholders (other than SPLP and its subsidiaries and affiliates) of the consideration to be received by such stockholders in the offer and merger pursuant to the merger agreement (without giving effect to any impact of the Merger Agreement Transactions on any particular stockholder other than in its capacity as a stockholder);
 - the terms and conditions of the merger agreement are designed to enable a superior proposal to be accepted by the special committee, including:
 - the Company's ability to consider and respond to an unsolicited written acquisition proposal, to furnish confidential information to any person making such a proposal and to engage in discussions or negotiations with the person making such a proposal, if the special committee, prior to taking any such actions, determines in good faith that such acquisition proposal either constitutes a superior proposal or could reasonably be expected to lead to a superior proposal;
 - following the Company board's or special committee's determination that a third party proposal is superior to the Merger Agreement Transactions, the special committee's right to request an extension of the offer period following commencement of a required matching period for SPLP, which right enables the special committee to preserve the ability to pursue and accept a superior proposal, either from SPLP or such third party;

- the Company's ability, under certain circumstances, to terminate the merger agreement in order to enter into an agreement providing for a superior proposal, provided that the Company complies with its obligations relating to entering any such agreement and concurrently with the termination of the merger agreement pays to SPLP a termination fee of \$3.8 million, plus up to \$1 million to reimburse SPLP's expenses; and
- a termination fee and expenses payable to SPLP under certain circumstances, including as described above, in connection with a termination of the merger agreement, which the special committee concluded were reasonable in the context of termination fees and expenses payable in comparable transactions and in light of the overall terms of the merger agreement.

In the course of its deliberations, the special committee also considered a variety of risks and other countervailing factors related to entering into the merger agreement, including:

- the offer and the merger might not be completed in a timely manner or at all by virtue of limitations or actions of SPLP;
- if the offer and the merger are not completed by virtue of a breach of the merger agreement by SPLP, the Company might have to pursue legal remedies against its largest stockholder and its affiliates, including long-time Company board members;
- the Company would be proceeding with a transaction that is subject to a non-waivable acceptance threshold by unaffiliated stockholders (the majority of the minority tender condition), which acceptance rate may not be achieved and cause the transaction not to close;
- the transaction's tender offer structure may permit the transaction to close faster than a traditional one step merger, thereby shortening the possible window of time available to third party bidders to make superior proposals;
- the possible perception that, given the longstanding ties of SPLP and Messrs. Lichtenstein and Howard to the Company, the transaction resulted from an "inside" arrangement;
- third parties may be reluctant to commit time and resources to making an alternative acquisition proposal, because of a perception that competing successfully against SPLP will be difficult due to SPLP's approximately 70% beneficial ownership position;
- the restrictions in the merger agreement on the conduct of the Company's business prior to the completion of the offer and the merger (as identified in "Merger Agreement Conduct of Business Covenants of HNH"), any of which may delay or prevent the Company from undertaking business opportunities or taking other action with respect to its operations pending completion of the offer and the merger, although such countervailing factors were mitigated by the Company's management having advised that such restrictions are reasonable and should not adversely affect the Company's operations to any significant extent;
- the risks and costs to the Company if the transaction does not close, including the diversion of management and employee time and attention from on-going operations;
- the possible adverse effect on HNH's share price if the offer and the merger were publicly announced but not consummated.

In analyzing the offer and the merger and reaching its determination as to the fairness of the Merger Agreement Transactions to the unaffiliated stockholders, the special committee considered, among other factors, the financial analyses reviewed and discussed with the special committee by Duff & Phelps as described above. The special committee considers the Company to be a viable going concern business but that the trading history of its shares may not be an indication of its going concern value, due to the fact that the shares have an extremely thin trading volume. In addition, the special committee did not consider the liquidation value of the Company relevant to a determination as to whether the offer and the merger are fair to the unaffiliated stockholders as the special committee believes the value of the Company's assets that might be realized in a liquidation would be significantly less than its going concern value. Further, the special committee did not consider net book value a material indicator of the value of the Company as a going concern but rather is reflective of historical costs and because net book value does not take into account the prospects of the Company, market conditions, trends in the industry in which the Company operates or the business risks inherent in the industry. Additionally, the amount and price of prior stock purchases of the Company's common stock by SPLP were not considered relevant by the special committee since such purchases were not made during the past two years.

The foregoing discussion of the factors considered by the special committee is not intended to be exhaustive, but rather includes the principal factors considered by the special committee. The special committee reached the conclusion to approve the Merger Agreement Transactions in light of the various factors described above and other factors that the special committee believes were appropriate. In view of the wide variety of factors (both favorable and unfavorable) considered by the special committee in connection with its evaluation of the offer and the merger and the complexity of these matters, as well as the advice of its financial and legal advisors, the special committee did not consider it practical, and did not attempt, to quantify, rank or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors it considered in reaching its decision and did not undertake to make any specific determination as to whether any particular factor, or any aspect of any particular factor, was favorable or unfavorable to the ultimate determination of the special committee. Rather, the special committee made its recommendation based on the totality of information considered, and the investigation conducted, by it. In considering the factors discussed above, individual members of the special committee may have given different weights to different factors.

Reasons for the Board Determinations

In making the Board Determinations, the Company board considered a number of factors, including the following material factors presented in the special committee's report to the Company board:

- the special committee's analysis, conclusions and unanimous determination, which the Company board adopted, that the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions are advisable and fair to and in the best interests of the Company and the unaffiliated stockholders, and the special committee's unanimous recommendation that the Company board adopt a resolution to, among other things, approve and declare the advisability and fairness of the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions and recommend that the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company accept the offer and tender their shares pursuant to the offer;
- the special committee is comprised of three independent directors who are not affiliated with SPLP and its affiliates (including Messrs. Lichtenstein and Howard) and are not employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and that, other than their receipt of board and special committee fees (which are not contingent upon the consummation of the offer and the merger or the special committee's or Company board's recommendation of the offer) and their interests described in this prospectus/offer to exchange, members of the special committee do not have an interest in the offer and the merger different from, or in addition to, that of the unaffiliated stockholders;

- the fact that the special committee had engaged its own independent financial and legal advisors to provide advice to the special committee with respect to a possible transaction with SPLP or alternatives thereto;
- the nature of the arms-length negotiations with SPLP (including the special committee's ability to improve the value of the transaction consideration for the benefit of the unaffiliated stockholders); and
 - the analysis and recommendation of the special committee and the other factors considered by the special committee as described above under this section, which analysis and recommendation were adopted by the Company board.

The foregoing discussion of the factors considered by the Company board is not intended to be exhaustive, but rather includes the principal factors considered by the Company board. The Company board reached the conclusion to approve the merger agreement and the Merger Agreement Transactions in light of the various factors described above and other factors identified by the special committee that the members of the Company board believed were appropriate. In view of the wide variety of factors (both favorable and unfavorable) considered by the Company board in connection with its evaluation of the transaction and the complexity of these matters, the Company board did not consider it practical, and did not attempt, to quantify, rank or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors it considered in reaching its decision and did not undertake to make any specific determination as to whether any particular factor, or any aspect of any particular factor, was favorable or unfavorable to the ultimate determination of the Company board. Rather, the Company board made its recommendation based on the totality of information presented to it and the investigation conducted by the special committee. In considering the factors discussed above, individual directors may have given different weights to different factors.

The Company board made its determination as to fairness, approval of the merger agreement and the merger and the recommendation of the offer solely on the basis of the report and recommendations of the special committee.

Position of the Purchaser Group Regarding Fairness of the Offer and the Merger

Position of the Purchaser Group

The rules of the SEC require the Purchaser Group to express its belief as to the fairness of the offer and the merger to the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company. The Purchaser Group is making the statements included in this section solely for the purpose of complying with the requirements of Rule 13e-3 and related rules under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). The views of the Purchaser Group should not be construed as a recommendation to any Company stockholder regarding whether to tender shares into the offer.

The Purchaser Group attempted to negotiate the terms of a transaction that would be most favorable to the Purchaser Group and, accordingly, did not negotiate the merger agreement with the goal of obtaining terms that were fair to the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company. No member of the Purchaser Group believes that it has or had any fiduciary duty to the Company or its stockholders, including with respect to the offer, the merger and their terms (other than in Mr. Lichtenstein's and Mr. Howard's capacity as directors of the Company). No member of the Purchaser Group participated in the deliberation process of the special committee and no member of the Purchaser Group participated in the conclusions of the special committee or the Company board as to the fairness of the offer and the merger to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, nor did any member of the Purchaser Group undertake any independent evaluation of the fairness of the offer or the merger to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders or engage a financial advisor for these purposes. No member of the Purchaser Group received advice from the special committee, the Company board or any of their respective legal or financial advisors as to the substantive or procedural fairness of the offer or the merger. In particular, Messrs. Lichtenstein and Howard, in their capacity as board members of HNH, did not participate in the negotiation of the offer or the merger on behalf of HNH (which was conducted solely by the special committee) or in the deliberation process of the special committee or the Company board with respect to the approval of the offer and the merger or the determination as to the fairness of the offer and the merger to the Company board with respect to the approval of the offer and the merger or the determination as to the fairness of the offer and the merger to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders. In their capacity as directors of HNH, Messrs. Lichtenstein and Howard voted in favor of the Board Determinations based solely on the rec



The Purchaser Group believes the offer and the merger are substantively fair to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders. The Purchaser Group bases its belief on, among other things, the following material factors, each of which, in the judgment of the Purchaser Group, supports its views:

- The Company's unaffiliated stockholders will receive transaction consideration in the offer and the merger having a value of (1) \$35.05 per share, based on the value ascribed to the SPLP preferred units in Duff & Phelps' analysis, and (2) \$37.10 per share, based on the liquidation preference of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit, which is the amount that holders who do not sell or otherwise dispose of their SPLP preferred units will receive (in cash and/or SPLP common units) through the optional or mandatory redemption provisions, or upon the maturity, of the SPLP preferred units.
- Receipt of the SPLP preferred units by the Company's unaffiliated stockholders in the offer and the merger will provide them with a senior equity security that will allow them to participate in the future growth of a larger, financially stronger enterprise.
- It is expected that the exchange of HNH common stock in the offer or pursuant to the merger for SPLP preferred units should not be a taxable exchange to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, except to the extent there is cash paid for fractional shares. See "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences."
- The Company's unaffiliated stockholders will not be obligated to tender shares in the offer, and if they so desire, will be able to exercise appraisal rights with respect to the merger.
- The offer is not subject to any financing condition.
- The other factors considered by, and the findings of, the special committee and the Company board with respect to the substantive fairness of the offer and the merger to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, as described in "Special Factors HNH's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger; Recommendation of the Board of Directors of HNH," which is expressly adopted by the Purchaser Group.

In addition, the Purchaser Group believes that the offer is procedurally fair to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, based on the following factors:

The Company board, based on the unanimous recommendation of the special committee, unanimously (i) determined and declared that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (including the offer and the merger) are, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, advisable and in the best interests of and are fair to the Company and its unaffiliated stockholders, (ii) approved, adopted and authorized in all respects the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger), (iii) recommended that the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company accept the offer and tender their shares pursuant to the offer and (iv) resolved that the merger shall be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the merger shall be consummated as soon as practicable following the acceptance of shares for payment pursuant to the offer.

- The interests of the Company's unaffiliated stockholders were represented by the special committee comprised of outside, non-employee directors who are not affiliated with the Purchaser Group, which had the exclusive authority to review, evaluate, negotiate and reject the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, or any potential alternative transaction, and the special committee was advised by Duff & Phelps, as financial advisor, and by Graubard Miller, as legal advisor.
- The offer is conditioned upon, among other things, there being validly tendered and not withdrawn a number of shares that satisfies the majority of the minority tender condition, a non-waivable condition the satisfaction of which would demonstrate clear unaffiliated stockholder support for the offer.
- The merger agreement permits the Company (acting through the special committee) to participate in discussions or negotiations with, and furnish information to, any third party from which the Company receives a bona fide written acquisition proposal, if the Company board and/or special committee determines in good faith, after consultation with its independent financial advisors and outside counsel, that such acquisition proposal constitutes or could reasonably be expected to result in a proposal superior to the offer and merger and that the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law.
- The fact that Parent publicly announced its proposal to pursue a business combination transaction with the Company on March 6, 2017 (approximately three and one-half months prior to the signing of the merger agreement), thereby putting third parties potentially interested in a business combination with the Company on notice.
- As provided in the merger agreement, if the Company receives an acquisition proposal from a third party that the Company board (upon the recommendation of the special committee) and/or the special committee concludes in good faith (after consultation with its independent financial advisors and outside legal counsel) constitutes a proposal superior to the offer and merger (after giving Parent the opportunity to renegotiate the terms of the merger agreement), the Company board (upon the recommendation of the special committee) and/or the special committee may (i) cause the Company to terminate the merger agreement to concurrently enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such superior proposal (in which case the Company will be required to pay Parent a termination fee and reimburse transaction expenses) and (ii) withdraw, qualify or modify their approval of the merger agreement, the offer and the merger if the Company board or the special committee determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable law.
- As provided in the merger agreement, the Company board and/or the special committee may withdraw, qualify or modify their approval of the merger agreement, the offer and the merger (after giving Parent the opportunity to renegotiate the terms of the merger agreement), if the Company board and/or the special committee determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that, in light of material facts, events or circumstances that were not known by or reasonably foreseeable to the Company board or the special committee prior to the date of the merger agreement (other than a third-party acquisition proposal), failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law, in which case Parent may terminate the merger agreement and the Company will be required to pay Parent a termination fee and reimburse transaction expenses.

- The tender offer structure allows each of the Company's unaffiliated stockholders to decide voluntarily whether to tender shares in the offer, and unaffiliated stockholders will have sufficient time to make a decision whether to tender in the offer.
- The tender offer structure is a direct offer to stockholders and allows the decision regarding the proposed transaction to be made by the stockholders who actually own the shares at the time of tendering and, accordingly, have a true economic interest in the decision. In a one-step merger, a vote of stockholders is required and voting rights are limited to those who held shares on a record date typically several weeks prior to the date of the vote and who therefore may or may not be stockholders as of the date of the vote. Moreover, the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company would likely receive the offer price in payment for their shares sooner in a tender offer than if the Purchaser Group pursued a one-step merger transaction.
- If the offer is completed, the merger will be consummated in which all remaining unaffiliated stockholders will receive the same transaction consideration as was paid in the offer, without interest and less any applicable withholding tax.
- The other factors considered by, and the findings of, the special committee and the Company board with respect to the procedural fairness of the offer and the merger to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, as described in "Special Factors HNH's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger; Recommendation of the Board of Directors of HNH," which is expressly adopted by the Purchaser Group.

The Purchaser Group also considered the following factors, each of which it considered negative in its considerations concerning the fairness of the terms of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement:

- The transaction consideration will not be paid in cash (other than cash for fractional shares), and thus does not provide immediate liquidity to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders.
 - Unaffiliated stockholders who receive SPLP preferred units in the offer and the merger and continue to hold their units would be subject to the long-term business risks of the combined companies.
 - As to the transaction consideration, the financial interests of certain members of the Purchaser Group are different than the financial interests of the Company's unaffiliated stockholders.
 - The risks and costs to the Company if the offer does not close, including the potential effect on business and customer and employee relationships.
 - The other potentially negative factors considered by the special committee and the Company board, and findings of the special committee and the Company board with respect to potentially negative factors, as described under the caption "Special Factors HNH's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger; Recommendation of the Board of Directors of HNH."

The Purchaser Group did not find it practicable to assign, nor did it assign, relative weights to the individual factors considered in reaching its conclusion as to fairness.

The table below sets forth the interests in the outstanding shares and the interests in the Company's net book value and net loss for each member of the Purchaser Group before and upon completion of the merger, based upon the Company's historical net book value of \$166,595,000 as of December 31, 2016 and the Company's historical net loss of \$10,944,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016. The interests set forth in the table below give effect to the unvested restricted shares of the Company prior to the merger.

	Ownership Prior to the Merger				Ownership Upon Completion of the Merger					
	%	у	t loss for the ear ended cember 31, 2016		t book value of December 31, 2016	%	J	t loss for the year ended ecember 31, 2016	-	t book value of December 31, 2016
					(\$ in thou	sands)				
Parent	70.0%(1)	\$	(7,661)	\$	116,617	100.0%	\$	(10,944)	\$	166,595
Merger Sub	0	\$	0	\$	0	100.0%	\$	(10,944)	\$	166,595
Steel Holdings GP	70.0%(1)	\$	(7,661)	\$	116,617	100.0%	\$	(10,944)	\$	166,595
SPHG	70.0%(1)	\$	(7,661)	\$	116,617	100.0%	\$	(10,944)	\$	166,595
SPHG Holdings	70.0%(1)	\$	(7,661)	\$	116,617	100.0%	\$	(10,944)	\$	166,595
Warren G. Lichtenstein	27.5%(2)	\$	(3,005)	\$	45,747	35.8%(2)	\$	(3,918)	\$	59,641
Jack L. Howard	12.2%(3)	\$	(1,330)	\$	20,241	14.5%(3)	\$	(1,587)	\$	24,156

(1) Based on SPHG Holdings' direct ownership of approximately 70.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock. By virtue of their relationships with SPHG Holdings, each of Parent, SPHG and Steel Holdings GP may be deemed to beneficially own the shares owned directly by SPHG Holdings.

(2) Based on Mr. Lichtenstein's beneficial ownership of approximately 2.4% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock and approximately 35.8% of the outstanding common units of Parent.

(3) Based on Mr. Howard's beneficial ownership of approximately 2.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock and 14.5% of the outstanding common units of Parent.

The Purchaser Group's consideration of the factors described above reflects its assessment of the fairness of the transaction consideration to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders in relation to the going-concern value of the Company on a stand-alone basis. In reaching the conclusion as to the fairness of the transaction consideration to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, the Purchaser Group did not consider the following: (i) historical market prices; (ii) liquidation value; (iii) net book value; (iv) purchase prices paid in previous purchases of shares; (v) any third party report, opinion or appraisal as to the fairness of the transaction consideration to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders; or (vi) any firm offers made by any unaffiliated person, other than members of the Purchaser Group, during the past two years. Neither the historical market prices nor the purchase prices paid by the Company in previous purchases of its shares in the past two years (no member of the Purchaser Group made any such purchases during such period other than SPHG Holdings' acquisition of shares pursuant to the exchange agreement described under "Certain Relationships with HNH") were considered because the Purchaser Group does not believe that the historical trading prices or previous purchase prices of the shares provide an appropriately reliable indication of the current value of the Company and therefore are not relevant factors to a determination of fairness. The liquidation value was not considered because the Company is a viable going concern and the Purchaser Group has no plans to liquidate the Company. Therefore, the Purchaser Group believes that the liquidation value of the Company is irrelevant to a determination as to whether the offer or the merger is fair to unaffiliated stockholders. The Purchaser Group did not consider net book value, which is an accounting concept, as a factor because the Company's business is not of a nature whose value is traditionally measured as a multiple of book value, as the Company's value is derived from cash flows generated by continuing operations, and the Purchaser Group believes that net book value is not a material indicator of the value of the Company as a going concern but rather is indicative of historical costs. The Purchaser Group did not receive any independent reports, opinions or appraisals from any third party related to the fairness of the transaction to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders, and thus did not consider any such reports, opinions or appraisals in determining the fairness of the offer or the merger to the unaffiliated stockholders. Although Duff & Phelps rendered an opinion to the special committee as to whether, as of June 23, 2017, the consideration to be received by the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company in the offer and the merger pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such unaffiliated stockholders, Duff & Phelps' opinion was addressed and rendered to the special committee and was not addressed to or rendered to the Purchaser Group. As a result, the Purchaser Group is not entitled to rely upon Duff & Phelps' opinion and, consequently, the Purchaser Group did not consider such opinion in reaching its determination as to the fairness of the offer and the merger to the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company. The Purchaser Group is not aware of, and thus did not consider, any firm offers made by any unaffiliated person, other than the Purchaser Group, during the past two years for (a) the merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another company, or vice versa, (b) the sale or other transfer of all or a substantial part of the assets of the Company or (c) a purchase of the Company's securities that would enable the holder to exercise control over the Company.



The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered and given weight by the Purchaser Group is not intended to be exhaustive, but is believed to include the material factors considered by the Purchaser Group. The Purchaser Group's views as to the fairness of the offer and the merger to the Company's unaffiliated stockholders should not be construed as a recommendation to any stockholder regarding whether to tender shares into the offer.

Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee

Opinion of Duff & Phelps, LLC

On March 23, 2017, the Company special committee engaged Duff & Phelps to serve as an independent financial advisor to the Company special committee (solely in their capacity as members of the Company special committee) to, among other things, provide an opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the stockholders of the Company other than SPLP and its subsidiaries and affiliates (the holders of such shares, the "Minority Holders") of the consideration to be received by such stockholders in the offer and the merger (collectively, the "Transaction") (without giving effect to any impact of the Transaction on any particular stockholder other than in its capacity as a stockholder).

HNH, SPLP and Handy Acquisition Co. entered into the merger agreement, which provides, among other things, that the Transaction will be effected pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein: (i) SPLP shall make a tender offer to purchase any and all of the outstanding shares of common stock of HNH not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities (the "Tendered Stock"), and (ii) as consideration for a stockholder's tender of its Tendered Stock, such stockholder shall receive \$37.10 per share in SPLP preferred units based upon a liquidation preference of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit. Assuming a tender by all of HNH's stockholders (other than SPLP and its affiliated entities), who collectively hold approximately 3.66 million shares, the total consideration is 5,432,000 SPLP preferred units with a total liquidation preference of \$135.8 million (the "Consideration"). The SPLP preferred units would (1) be issued at a liquidation preference of \$25.00 per unit, (2) be registered with the SEC, (3) bear a cumulative distribution at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable in cash or in kind (or a combination) at the option of SPLP, (4) mature on February 7, 2026 and (5) provide holders of the SPLP preferred units with either cash or common units of SPLP upon maturity or earlier redemption at the option of SPLP. In addition, SPLP will offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, on or prior to February 7, 2020, 20% of the SPLP preferred units.

Duff & Phelps rendered its written opinion to the Company special committee on June 23, 2017 (the "Opinion"), that, based upon and subject to the assumptions, qualifications and limiting conditions set forth in the Opinion, as of such date, the Consideration to be received by the Minority Holders of common stock of the Company (other than SPLP and its subsidiaries or affiliated entities) in the Transaction was fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders of the Company (without giving effect to any impact of the Transaction on any particular stockholder other than in its capacity as a stockholder).

The full text of the Opinion of Duff & Phelps is attached as Annex C to this prospectus/offer to exchange and is incorporated herein by reference. The full text of the Opinion should be read carefully in its entirety for a description of the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and qualifications and limitations in rendering the Opinion.

Duff & Phelps provided the Opinion for the use and benefit of the Company special committee in connection with its consideration of the Transaction. The Opinion (i) does not address the merits of the underlying business decision to enter into the Transaction versus any alternative strategy or transaction; (ii) does not address any transaction related to the Transaction; (iii) is not a recommendation as to how the Company special committee or any stockholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the Transaction, or whether to proceed with the Transaction or any related transaction; and (iv) does not indicate that the Consideration is the best possibly attainable under any circumstances. Instead, the Opinion merely states whether the Consideration in the Transaction is within a range suggested by certain financial analyses. The decision as to whether to proceed with the Transaction or any related transaction or any related transaction or any states whether the Consideration may depend on an assessment of factors unrelated to the financial analyses on which the Opinion is based.

In connection with the Opinion, Duff & Phelps made such reviews, analyses and inquiries as it deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Duff & Phelps also took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions, as well as its experience in securities and business valuation, in general, and with respect to similar transactions, in particular. Duff & Phelps' procedures, investigations, and financial analysis with respect to the preparation of the Opinion included, but were not limited to, the items summarized below:

- Reviewed the following documents:
 - HNH's annual reports and audited financial statements on Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the years ended December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2016, and HNH's unaudited interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2017;
 - Unaudited segment pro forma financial information for HNH for the years ended December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2016;
 - Other internal documents relating to the history, current operations, and probable future outlook of HNH, including financial projections provided to Duff & Phelps by management of HNH;
 - A letter dated June 23, 2017 from the management of HNH which made certain representations as to historical financial statements, financial projections and the underlying assumptions; and
 - Documents related to the Transaction, including the merger agreement;
- Discussed the information referred to above and the background and other elements of the Transaction with management of HNH;

- Reviewed the historical trading price and trading volume of HNH's common stock, the SPLP preferred units, and the publicly traded securities of certain other companies that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant;
- Performed certain valuation and comparative analyses using generally accepted valuation and analytical techniques, including a discounted cash flow analysis, an analysis of selected public companies that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant, and an analysis of selected transactions that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant, in each case as described in more detail below; and
- · Conducted such other analyses and considered such other factors as Duff & Phelps deemed appropriate.

In performing its analyses and rendering the Opinion with respect to the Transaction, Duff & Phelps, with HNH's consent:

- Relied upon the accuracy, completeness, and fair presentation of all information, data, advice, opinions and representations obtained from public sources or provided to it from private sources, including HNH's management and Willis Towers Watson, and did not independently verify such information;
- Relied upon the fact that the Company special committee and the Company was advised by counsel as to all legal matters with respect to the Transaction, including whether all procedures required by law to be taken in connection with the Transaction had been duly, validly and timely taken;
- Assumed that any estimates, evaluations, forecasts and projections furnished to Duff & Phelps were reasonably prepared and based upon the best available information and good faith judgment of Company management, and Duff & Phelps expressed no opinion with respect to such projections or the underlying assumptions;
- · Assumed that information supplied and representations made by HNH's management are accurate;
- · Assumed that the representations and warranties of HNH made in the merger agreement are accurate;
- · Assumed that the final versions of all documents reviewed by Duff & Phelps in draft form conform in all material respects to the drafts reviewed;
- Assumed that there was no material change in the assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, business, or prospects of HNH since the date of the most recent financial statements and other information made available to Duff & Phelps, and that there was no information or facts that would have made the information reviewed by Duff & Phelps incomplete or misleading as of such time;
- Assumed that all of the conditions required to implement the Transaction would be satisfied and that the Transaction would be completed in accordance with the merger agreement without any amendments thereto or any waivers of any terms or conditions thereof; and
- Assumed that all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Transaction would be obtained without any adverse effect on HNH or the contemplated benefits expected to be derived in the Transaction.

To the extent that any of the foregoing assumptions or any of the facts on which the Opinion was based prove to be untrue in any material respect, the Opinion cannot and should not be relied upon. Furthermore, in Duff & Phelps' analysis and in connection with the preparation of the Opinion, Duff & Phelps assumed the substantial continuity of industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the Transaction.

The Opinion was dated and delivered on June 23, 2017. Developments following the date of the Opinion may affect the Opinion. Duff & Phelps assumes no obligation to update, revise or reaffirm the Opinion. The Opinion was necessarily based upon market, economic, financial and other conditions as they existed on the date of the Opinion. Developments subsequent to June 23, 2017 may affect the conclusion expressed in the Opinion. Duff & Phelps disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting the Opinion which may come or be brought to the attention of Duff & Phelps after the date of the Opinion.

Duff & Phelps did not evaluate HNH's solvency or conduct an independent appraisal or physical inspection of any specific assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise). Duff & Phelps (i) has not been requested to, and did not, initiate any discussions with or solicit any indications of interest from third parties with respect to the Transaction, the assets, businesses or operations of HNH or any alternatives to the Transaction, (ii) was not requested to, and did not, negotiate the terms of the Transaction, and therefore, Duff & Phelps assumed that such terms were the most beneficial terms, from HNH's perspective, that could, under the circumstances, be negotiated among the parties to the merger agreement and the Transaction or (iii) advise the Company special committee or any other party with respect to alternatives to the Transaction.

Duff & Phelps did not express any opinion as to the market price or value of HNH's common stock (or anything else) after the announcement or the consummation of the Transaction. The Opinion should not be construed as a valuation opinion, credit rating, solvency opinion, an analysis of HNH's credit worthiness, as tax advice, or as accounting advice. Duff & Phelps did not make, and assumes no responsibility to make, any representation, or render any opinion, as to any legal, tax or accounting matter.

In rendering the Opinion, Duff & Phelps did not express any opinion with respect to the amount or nature of any compensation to any of HNH's officers, directors, or employees, or any class of such persons, relative to the Consideration to be received in the Transaction, or with respect to the fairness of any such compensation.

Summary of Financial Analyses by Duff & Phelps

Set forth below is a summary of the material analyses performed by Duff & Phelps in connection with providing the Opinion to the Company special committee. This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Opinion, attached hereto as **Annex C**. While this summary describes the analyses and factors that Duff & Phelps deemed material in its presentation to the Company special committee, it is not a comprehensive description of all analyses and factors considered by Duff & Phelps. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process that involves various determinations as to appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of these methods to the particular circumstances. Therefore, neither the Opinion nor Duff & Phelps' underlying analysis is susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. In arriving at its opinion, Duff & Phelps did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor considered by it, but rather made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factors. Accordingly, Duff & Phelps' analyses must be considered as a whole and selecting portions of its analyses and of the factors considered by it in rendering the Opinion, without considering all analyses and factors, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the evaluation process underlying the Opinion. The conclusion reached by Duff & Phelps was based on all analyses and factors taken as a whole, and also on the application of Duff & Phelps' own experience and judgment.

The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. In order for Duff & Phelps' financial analyses to be fully understood, the tables must be read together with the text of each summary. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses undertaken by Duff and Phelps. Considering the data below without considering the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of Duff & Phelps' financial analyses.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

Duff & Phelps performed a consolidated analysis for HNH by utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis of the projected unlevered free cash flows of HNH for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2021. Duff & Phelps defines "free cash flow" as the cash generated by HNH that is available either to reinvest or to distribute to stockholders. The discounted cash flow analysis was used to determine the net present value of projected unlevered free cash flows utilizing an appropriate cost of capital for the discount rate, which reflects the relative risk associated with these cash flows as well as the rates of return that stockholders could expect to realize on alternative investment opportunities with similar risk profiles to HNH. HNH's management provided Duff & Phelps financial projections for HNH for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2021.

Duff & Phelps used a discount rate of 11.00% to 13.00% for HNH to discount the projected unlevered free cash flows and terminal value. Duff & Phelps calculated HNH's projected unlevered free cash flows by taking its earnings before interest and taxes ("EBIT"), subtracting taxes, adding back depreciation, subtracting capital expenditures and the change in working capital. Duff & Phelps calculated HNH's terminal value in 2021 using a perpetuity growth formula assuming a 3.25% terminal growth rate and the discount rate. Duff & Phelps believed at the time it gave the Opinion that this range of discount rates is consistent with the rate of return that stockholders could expect to realize on alternative investment opportunities with similar risk profiles to HNH.

Based on these assumptions, Duff & Phelps' discounted cash flow analysis indicated an estimated enterprise value for HNH of \$829.0 million to \$1,046.0 million.

Selected Public Companies Analysis

Duff & Phelps performed a sum-of-the-parts analysis of HNH's business segments by comparing certain financial performance metrics of HNH's business segments to corresponding data and ratios from publicly traded companies in the industrial manufacturing industry that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant to its analysis. HNH's business segments are comprised of the following:

- · Building Materials
- · Electrical Products
- · Joining Materials
- · Tubing
- · Performance Materials
- Kasco

The companies analyzed for the Building Materials segment were:

· Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc.

- · CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd.
- · Carlisle Companies Incorporated
- · Fastenal Company
- · SFS Group AG
- · Simpson Manufacturing Co., Inc.
- Trex Company, Inc.
- · Trifast plc

The companies analyzed for the Electrical Products segment were:

- · AcBel Polytech Inc.
- · Allied Motion Technologies Inc.
- · Cosel Co., Ltd.
- · CyberPower Systems, Inc.
- · Delta Electronics, Inc.
- · Hiconics Eco-energy Technology Co., Ltd.
- Moog Inc.
- Nidec Corporation
- · Regal Beloit Corporation
- · XP Power Limited

The companies analyzed for the Joining Materials segment were:

- · Colfax Corporation
- · Global Brass and Copper Holdings, Inc.
- · Lincoln Electric Holdings, Inc.
- Materion Corporation
- · Modine Manufacturing Company
- · Taiyo Holdings Co., Ltd.

The companies analyzed for the Tubing segment were:

- · Borusan Mannesmann Boru Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Siketi
- · Daido Steel Co., Ltd.
- · Dil-Quip, Inc.
- · Iron Force Industrial Co., Ltd.
- Jindal Saw Limited
- · Nexteer Automotive Group Limited
- · Northwest Pipe Company
- · PAO TMK
- · Tenaris S.A.
- Tesco Corporation

The companies analyzed for the Performance Materials segment were:

- · Baotek Industrial Materials Ltd.
- · FMS Enterprises Migun Ltd.
- Hexcel Corporation
- · Jiangsu Changhai Composite Materials Co., Ltd.
- · Nitto Boseki Co., Ltd.
- · Park Electrochemical Corp.
- Teijin Limited
- · Toray Industries, Inc.

The companies analyzed for the Kasco segment were:

- · NKT A/S
- · Standex International Corporation
- · Tennant Company
- · The Middleby Corporation
- Welbilt, Inc.

Although none of these selected public companies is directly comparable to HNH's business segments, Duff & Phelps selected these companies for its analysis based on their relative similarity, primarily in terms of business model, industry segmentation, and primary customers, to that of HNH's business segments. For purposes of its analysis, Duff & Phelps used certain publicly available historical financial data and consensus equity analyst estimates for the selected public companies. This analysis produced valuation multiples of selected financial metrics which Duff & Phelps utilized to estimate the enterprise value of each of HNH's business segments.

The tables below summarize certain observed trading multiples and historical and projected financial performance of the selected public companies as of June 23, 2017. The revenue and EBITDA estimates for 2017 and 2018 in the tables below for the selected public companies were derived based on information for the 12-month periods ending closest to HNH's 2017 and 2018 fiscal years for which information was available.

	Revenue Growth		El	EBITDA Growth			EBITDA Margin		
	LTM	2017E	2018P	LTM	2017E	2018P	LTM	2017E	2018P
Building Materials									
Mean	4.9%	8.0%	5.8%	11.8%	11.6%	7.7%	17.5%	16.9%	17.1%
Median	4.7%	8.1%	5.9%	9.3%	10.3%	7.7%	19.4%	18.6%	19.0%
	4.770	0.170	5.570	J.J/0	10.570	/.//0	13.470	10.070	15.070
Electrical Products									
Mean	8.1%	9.8%	7.2%	12.6%	26.0%	10.0%	14.6%	15.9%	17.9%
Median	3.4%	9.1%	4.6%	6.8%	10.5%	9.2%	14.2%	14.6%	16.3%
Joining Materials									
Mean	-3.8%	6.0%	3.7%	-6.2%	8.8%	11.2%	14.0%	13.9%	14.8%
Median	-4.0%	4.6%	4.0%	-7.0%	9.0%	10.3%	12.6%	11.3%	14.0%
Mediali	-4.070	4.0%	4.070	-7.0%	9.0%	10.5%	12.070	11.370	12.070
Tubing									
Mean	-13.2%	9.6%	16.4%	-6.5%	7.4%	122.5%	14.8%	13.4%	14.6%
Median	-12.2%	11.5%	15.5%	6.6%	16.1%	19.7%	15.0%	14.8%	14.7%
Performance Materials									
Mean	2.9%	10.7%	11.7%	3.8%	20.7%	11.2%	19.8%	18.3%	14.6%
Median	0.9%	7.6%	10.1%	-1.4%	9.4%	9.2%	15.6%	19.5%	14.0%
Mediali	0.970	7.070	10.170	-1.470	9.470	9.270	13.070	19.5%	13.170
Kasco									
Mean	-8.1%	4.5%	6.9%	3.0%	10.9%	26.9	12.7%	15.5%	17.7%
Median	-5.4%	0.9%	6.3%	4.6%	8.2%	13.3	11.9%	14.8%	17.5%
HNH Business Segment Perfor	mance								
Building Materials	5.3%	3.7%	9.9%	8.0%	2.9%	11.6%	14.8%	14.5%	15.0%
Electrical Products	NA	1.6%	7.8%	0.070 NA	16.1%	11.0%	14.0%	13.8%	13.0%
	-4.1%	6.6%		-2.9%	-10.8%	18.7%	12.2%	9.3%	14.4%
Joining Materials Tubing	-4.1% 1.2%	3.4%	5.9%	-2.9% 13.0%	-10.8%		20.5%	9.3% 18.8%	
0	1.2% NA		9.9%			12.8%			19.5%
Performance Materials	NA -1.5%	-0.9% 4.2%	8.7% 7.8%	NA -21.5%	9.7% 31.2%	19.3% 12.8%	10.4% 7.5%	11.3% 9.3%	12.6%
Kasco	-1.5%	4.2%	/.0%	-21.3%	51.2%	12.0%	/.5%	9.3%	9.9%

	Enterprise Value as Multiple of						
	LTM EBITDA	2017E EBITDA	2018P EBITDA	LTM EBIT	2017E EBIT	2018P EBIT	LTM Revenue
Building Materials							
Mean	13.2x	11.8x	10.9x	17.6x	15.4x	13.9x	2.2x
Median	13.5x	11.9x	11.2x	15.8x	14.4x	12.9x	2.0x
Electrical Products							
Mean	13.3x	10.6x	10.3x	19.1x	14.4x	14.0x	2.0x
Median	10.6x	10.0x	10.2x	15.6x	14.5x	14.2x	1.4x
Joining Materials							
Mean	11.5x	9.9x	9.0x	17.3x	15.1x	12.7x	1.6x
Median	11.0x	8.8x	7.6x	17.8x	16.2x	14.1x	1.6x
Tubing							
Mean	12.3x	20.4x	9.3x	14.7x	10.1x	17.6x	1.6x
Median	9.3x	9.4x	8.0x	13.5x	10.7x	15.0x	1.1x
Performance Materials							
Mean	10.6x	9.4x	8.6x	14.4x	15.4x	12.6x	2.2x
Median	11.1x	8.1x	8.8x	14.5x	14.7x	12.8x	1.5x
Kasco							
Mean	14.3x	13.2x	11.1x	17.8x	16.8x	13.7x	2.3x
Median	14.3x	13.7x	11.8x	17.6x	17.2x	14.0x	1.8x

LTM = Latest twelve months for which financial information was available.

Enterprise Value = (Market Capitalization + Management Equity + Debt + Preferred Stock + Non-Controlling Interest) – (Cash & Equivalents + Net Non-Operating Assets).

EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization.

EBIT = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes.

Source: S&P Capital IQ, SEC Filings, Annual and Interim Reports.

Duff & Phelps used the information above, in conjunction with data from its selected M&A transactions analysis described below and other data, to reach the valuation conclusions described below.

None of the selected public companies were identical to HNH or its business segments. As a result, a complete valuation analysis cannot be limited to a quantitative review of the selected public companies, but also requires complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of such companies, as well as other factors that could affect their value relative to that of HNH and its business segments.

Selected M&A Transactions Analysis

Duff & Phelps compared each of HNH's business segments to the target companies involved in the selected merger and acquisition transactions listed in the below tables. The selection of these transactions was based, among other things, on the target company's industry, the relative size of the transaction compared to the Transaction, and the availability of public information related to the selected transaction.

The selected transactions for the Building Materials segment in the below table indicated (i) enterprise value to last twelve months' EBITDA multiples ranging from 7.8x to 9.3x, with a median of 8.4x and a mean of 8.5x, and (ii) enterprise value to last twelve months' revenue multiples ranging from 0.47x to 1.62x, with a median of 0.98x and a mean of 0.95x.

Date		
Announced	Target Name	Acquirer Name
9/15/2016	Braas Monier Building Group S.A	Standard Industries Inc.
8/27/2016	L&W Supply Corporation	ABC Supply Co., Inc.
7/27/2015	Roofing Supply Group, LLC	Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc.
6/10/2015	California Cascade Industries, Inc.	CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd.
1/26/2015	Joris Ide NV	Kingspan Group plc
5/6/2014	V.I.C. Viterie Italia CentraleSpA s.u.	Trifast plc
11/8/2013	Novik Inc.	Clearview Capital, LLC, Clearview Capital Fund III
		LP
5/2/2012	Metl-Span LLC	NCI Group, Inc.

The selected transactions for the Electrical Products segment in the table below indicated (i) enterprise value to last twelve months' EBITDA multiples ranging from 5.8x to 10.4x, with a median of 7.0x and a mean of 7.6x, and (ii) enterprise value to last twelve months' revenue multiples ranging from 0.66x to 1.75x, with a median of 0.94x and a mean of 1.08x.

Date		
Announced	Target Name	Acquirer Name
9/30/2016	ElectroMagnetic Enterprise	SL Montevideo Technology, Inc.
7/30/2016	Motors, Drives and Electric Power Generation Businesses	Nidec Corporation
7/12/2015	Remy International, Inc.	BorgWarner Inc.
6/16/2015	SL Industries	Handy & Harman Ltd.
4/1/2014	Professional Power Products, Inc.	Power Solutions International, Inc.
4/21/2013	Power-One Inc.	ABB Ltd
4/24/2012	Nidec Sankyo Corporation	Nidec Corporation
1/29/2012	Thomas & Betts Corp.	ABB Control Inc.

The selected transactions for the Joining Materials segment in the table below indicated (i) enterprise value to last twelve months' EBITDA multiples ranging from 5.0x to 9.7x, with a median of 5.8x and a mean of 6.8x, and (ii) enterprise value to last twelve months' revenue multiples ranging from 0.51x to 1.93x, with a median of 1.27x and a mean of 1.22x.

Date		
Announced	Target Name	Acquirer Name
9/6/2016	Luvata Heat Transfer Solutions Business	Modine Manufacturing Company
6/30/2016	Vulcan Steel Products Inc.	Steel Dynamics, Inc.
12/23/2015	Interplex Holdings Ltd.	Baring Private Equity
4/8/2015	Hyundai Hysco Co. Ltd.	Hyundai Steel Company
12/15/2014	Dynacast International Inc.	Kenner & Company, Inc.; Partners Group; Morgan
		Joseph TriArtisan
2/11/2013	Höganäs AB (publ)	Lindéngruppen AB; Foundation Asset Management
		AB
10/15/2012	Carolina Commercial Heat Treating, Inc.	Bodycote plc

The selected transactions for the Tubing segment in the below table indicated (i) enterprise value to last twelve months' EBITDA multiples ranging from 5.6x to 11.6x, with a median of 8.5x and a mean of 8.4x, and (ii) enterprise value to last twelve months' revenue multiples ranging from 0.16x to 0.87x, with a median of 0.51x and a mean of 0.55x.

Date		
Announced	Target Name	Acquirer Name
1/29/2016	Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited	Vallourec Tubes S.A.S
12/6/2015	Mendelson Infrastructures & Industries Ltd.	Emilia Development (O.F.G) Ltd.
4/8/2015	Hyundai Hysco Co. Ltd.	Hyundai Steel Company
8/14/2014	SeAH Changwon Integrated Special Steel Corporation	SeAH Besteel Corporation
9/25/2013	Edgen Group Inc.	Sumitomo Corporation of America (nka: Sumitomo
		Corporation of Americas)
2/7/2013	Sumikin Bussan Corp.	Nippon Steel & Sumikin Bussan Corporation
2/6/2013	Metals USA Holdings Corp.	Reliance Steel & Aluminum Co.
9/1/2012	JSW ISP AT Steel Limited	JSW Steel Limited
7/27/2012	Fives Société Anonyme	Ardian

The selected transactions for the Performance Materials segment in the table below indicated (i) enterprise value to last twelve months' EBITDA multiples ranging from 5.7x to 10.8x, with a median of 8.4x and a mean of 8.3x, and (ii) enterprise value to last twelve months' revenue multiples ranging from 0.57x to 3.15x, with a median of 0.78x and a mean of 1.13x.

Date		
Announced	Target Name	Acquirer Name
10/24/2016	International Textile Group, Inc.	Platinum Equity, LLC
8/21/2015	Taishan Fiberglass Inc.	Sinoma Science & Technology Co., Ltd
7/30/2015	AVINTIV Inc.	Berry Plastics Group, Inc.
7/20/2015	Koninklijke Ten Cate nv	Parcom Capital; Gilde Buyout Fund IV; Gilde Buy Out
		Partners BV
5/31/2015	JPS Industries	Handy & Harman Group Ltd.
8/20/2013	Fiberweb plc	Polymer Group, Inc.
4/12/2012	UMECO plc	Cytex UK Holdings Limited
4/11/2012	Guilford Mills, Inc	Lear Corporation

The selected transactions for the Kasco segment in the table below indicated (i) enterprise value to last twelve months' EBITDA multiples ranging from 9.2x to 11.8x, with a median and mean of 10.5x, and (ii) enterprise value to last twelve months' revenue multiples ranging from 0.88x to 1.72x, with a median and mean of 1.30x.

Date Announced	Target Name	Acquirer Name
2/22/2017	IP Cleaning S.p.A.	Tennant Company
1/14/2015	DMG Mori Seiki AG (nka: DMG Mori Aktiengesellschaft)	DMG MORI GmbH

Summary of Selected Public Companies / M&A Transactions Analyses

In order to estimate a range of enterprise values for HNH's business segments, Duff & Phelps applied valuation multiples to (i) Actual Adjusted EBITDA for each of HNH's business segments for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and (ii) Projected Adjusted EBITDA for each of HNH's business segments for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017, as follows:

- Building Materials:
 - 2016 Adjusted EBITDA: 8.0x to 9.0x
 - 2017 Adjusted EBITDA: 7.5x to 8.5x
- Electrical Products:
 - 2016 Adjusted EBITDA: 7.0x to 8.0x
 - 2017 Adjusted EBITDA: 6.0x to 7.0x
- Joining Materials:
 - 2016 Adjusted EBITDA: 6.0x to 7.0x
 - 2017 Adjusted EBITDA: 6.5x to 7.5x
- Tubing:
 - $\circ\quad$ 2016 Adjusted EBITDA: 6.0x to 7.0x
 - 2017 Adjusted EBITDA: 6.0x to 7.0x
- · Performance Materials:
 - 2016 Adjusted EBITDA: 6.5x to 7.5x
 - 2017 Adjusted EBITDA: 6.0x to 7.0x
- Kasco:
 - $\circ\quad$ 2016 Adjusted EBITDA: 5.5x to 6.5x
 - 2017 Adjusted EBITDA: 5.0x to 6.0x

Valuation multiples were selected, in part, by taking into consideration historical and projected financial performance metrics of HNH's business segments relative to such metrics of the selected public companies and selected transactions, including, but not limited to, the size of HNH's business segments on a revenue and EBITDA basis, historical and projected EBITDA margins compared to the selected public companies, and historical and projected revenue and EBITDA growth compared to the selected public companies. Based on these selected valuation multiples, the enterprise value indication for Building Materials ranged from \$326.0 million to \$368.0 million; the enterprise value indication for Electrical Products ranged from \$222.0 million to \$254.0 million; the enterprise value indication for Tubing ranged from \$81.5 million to \$95.0 million; the enterprise value indication for Performance Materials ranged from \$63.0 million to \$73.0 million; and the enterprise value indication for Kasco ranged from \$27.0 million to \$32.0 million. As a result of this sum-of-the-parts analysis of HNH's business segments, the aggregate enterprise value range for HNH on a consolidated basis based on the selected public companies / M&A transactions analyses was \$833.0 million to \$95.0 million.



Summary of Analyses

The range of indicated enterprise values for HNH that Duff & Phelps derived from its discounted cash flow analysis was \$829.0 million to \$1,046.0 million, and the range of enterprise values that Duff & Phelps derived from its selected public companies / M&A transactions analyses was \$833.0 million to \$956.0 million. Duff & Phelps concluded that HNH's enterprise value was within a range of \$831.0 million to \$1,001.0 million based on the analyses described above.

Based on its conclusions regarding the enterprise value of HNH, Duff & Phelps estimated the range of common equity value of HNH to be \$352.4 million to \$545.3 million by:

- Adding cash and equivalents of \$31.5 million as of March 31, 2017;
- Adding the market value of HNH's investment in ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc., adjusted for a block discount, of approximately \$11.5 million as of June 18, 2017;
- · Adding the excess working capital adjustment of HNH of approximately \$7.8 million as of March 31, 2017;
- Adding the estimated value of HNH's federal and state net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits of approximately \$10.5 million to \$10.8 million;
- Adding the estimated value of the non-operating real estate of HNH of approximately \$7.8 million as of March 31, 2017;
- Adding the present value of the tax benefit related to the pension termination contribution of HNH of approximately \$87.2 million to \$94.1 million;
- Subtracting the estimated pre-tax pension liability related to the pension termination contribution of HNH, as provided by Willis Towers Watson, of approximately \$296.0 million to \$322.0 million;
- · Subtracting the after-tax present value of the PBGC Premiums of HNH of approximately \$17.2 million to \$17.6 million;
- · Subtracting the after-tax other post-retirement benefit obligations of HNH of approximately \$2.3 million as of March 31, 2017;
- · Subtracting the after-tax environmental liability of HNH of approximately \$5.3 million as of March 31, 2017;
- · Subtracting the after-tax incremental potential environmental exposure of HNH of approximately \$2.0 million to \$5.0 million; and
- · Subtracting debt and accrued interest of \$289.6 million as of March 31, 2017.



Based on the foregoing analysis, Duff & Phelps estimated the value of each common share of HNH, on a fully diluted basis, to range from \$28.84 to \$44.62. Based on approximately 3.66 million shares of HNH held by the Minority Holders, the value of the Tendered Stock was estimated to be \$105.6 million to \$163.3 million.

SPLP Preferred Yield Analysis

Duff & Phelps determined the value of the SPLP preferred units by utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis of the projected dividend cash interest payments and principal repayment of the SPLP preferred units. As SPLP will offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, on or prior to February 7, 2020, 20% of the SPLP preferred units, Duff & Phelps performed two separate discounted cash flow analyses based on (i) a redemption on February 7, 2026, the maturity date of the SPLP preferred units. Duff & Phelps estimated a market yield for the SPLP preferred units based on the credit profile of the issuer, SPLP, and the terms of the SPLP preferred units. The market yield analysis involved (i) selecting a credit spread for the SPLP preferred units based on an analysis of SPLP's credit profile and benchmarking credit spreads of industrial bond indices, as well as indicative pricing for a senior secured revolving credit facility which may be obtained by SPLP through a comprehensive refinancing, (ii) adjusting this credit spread for appropriate differences between the SPLP preferred units and the benchmark indices and securities including seniority, PIK dividends, and a lack of call protection, and (iii) adding the adjusted selected credit spread of 2.25% to 3.25% to the 3-year U.S. Treasury yield of 1.48%, and the 9-year U.S. Treasury yield of 2.12%, based on a redemption on February 7, 2020, and Pebruary 7, 2020, and February 7, 2026, respectively. Duff & Phelps estimated the market yield to be 6.50% based on a redemption on February 7, 2020, and Duff & Phelps estimated the market yield to be 7.25% based on a redemption on February 7, 2020, and Duff & Phelps estimated the market yield to be 7.25% based on a redemption on February 7, 2020, and Duff & Phelps estimated the market yield to be 7.25% based on a redemption on February 7, 2020.

Duff & Phelps used the preceding selected market yields to discount the projected dividend cash interest payments and principal repayment of the SPLP preferred units. Duff & Phelps estimated the value of the SPLP preferred units to be \$24.82 based on a redemption on February 7, 2020, and Duff & Phelps estimated the value of the SPLP preferred units to be \$23.32 based on a redemption on February 7, 2026. As SPLP will offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, on or prior to February 7, 2020, 20% of the SPLP preferred units, a 20% weighting was applied to the per unit value based on a redemption on February 7, 2020, and an 80% weighting was applied to the per unit value based on a redemption at maturity on February 7, 2026. Based on the foregoing analysis, Duff & Phelps determined the weighted average per unit value of the SPLP preferred units to be \$23.62 and that the value of the aggregate Consideration based on 5,432,000 SPLP preferred units is \$128.3 million.

Duff & Phelps noted that the value of the Consideration to be received by the Minority Holders of HNH (other than SPLP and its affiliated entities) in the Transaction was within the range of the value of the Company common stock held by the Minority Holders as indicated by Duff & Phelps' analyses.

The Opinion and financial analyses were only one of the many factors considered by the Company special committee in its evaluation of the Transaction and should not be viewed as determinative of the views of the Company special committee.

Miscellaneous

Duff & Phelps is a premier global valuation and corporate finance advisor with expertise in complex valuation, dispute and legal management consulting, M&A, restructuring, and compliance and regulatory consulting. Since 2005, Duff & Phelps has rendered over 680 fairness opinions in transactions aggregating more than \$200 billion and is regularly engaged in the valuation of businesses and securities in the preparation of fairness opinions in connection with mergers, acquisitions and other strategic transactions.

Fees and Expenses

The aggregate amount of the fees that HNH has agreed to pay Duff & Phelps for its services in connection with the rendering of the Opinion to the Company special committee is \$450,000 due and payable as follows: \$225,000 upon execution of the engagement letter for Duff & Phelps to serve as financial advisor to the Company special committee and the remaining \$225,000 upon Duff & Phelps informing the Company special committee that it is prepared to render and deliver the Opinion. No portion of Duff & Phelps' fee is contingent upon the consummation of the Transaction or the conclusion reached in the Opinion. Furthermore, subject to certain exceptions, Duff & Phelps is entitled to be paid additional fees at Duff & Phelps' standard hourly rates for any time incurred should Duff & Phelps be called upon to support its findings (to parties other than the Company special committee) subsequent to the delivery of the Opinion. HNH has also agreed to reimburse Duff & Phelps for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and reasonable fees and expenses of counsel retained by Duff & Phelps, in each case in connection with the engagement, and not to exceed \$30,000 in the aggregate. HNH has also agreed to indemnify Duff & Phelps for certain liabilities arising out of its engagement.

The terms of the fee arrangements with Duff & Phelps, which HNH believes are customary in transactions of this nature, were negotiated at arm's length, and the Company special committee has approved these fee arrangements.

In addition to this engagement, during the two years preceding the date of the Opinion, Duff & Phelps has been engaged to provide corporate finance consulting services to affiliates of SPLP and has provided fairness opinions to affiliates of SPLP, including to the special committee of independent directors of Steel Excel in connection with the acquisition by SPLP of the minority interest in Steel Excel not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities in exchange for SPLP preferred units, which was completed on February 6, 2017, for which Duff & Phelps received a fee of \$350,000 for its services in connection with the rendering of its fairness opinion to the special committee of Steel Excel. The other affiliates of SPLP that have engaged Duff & Phelps during the two years preceding the date of the Opinion, are DGT Holdings Corp. ("DGT") and CoSine Communications, Inc. ("CoSine"). Duff & Phelps was engaged by the special committee of Independent directors of DGT to provide a valuation analysis and fairness opinion in connection with DGT's reverse stock split and subsequent fractional share stock redemption which occurred in October 2015, for which Duff & Phelps received a fee of \$150,000. In addition, Duff & Phelps was engaged by the special committee of independent directors of CoSine to provide a valuation analysis and fairness opinion in connection with WebFinancial Holding Corporation which both occurred in December 2015, and for which Duff & Phelps received a fee of \$275,000. For these prior engagements, Duff & Phelps also received customary expense reimbursement and indemnification.

Evaluation Report of the Financial Advisor to Purchaser Group

Corporate Fuel Securities, LLC ("CFS") was engaged by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the "Audit Committee") of Steel Holdings GP, in its capacity as the General Partner of SPLP, to evaluate and prepare various analyses related to a proposed transaction (the "Proposed Transaction") in which SPLP and its wholly-owned subsidiary Merger Sub would acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock ("HNH Shares") of HNH that are not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Outside Shares"). CFS issued its report (the "CFS Evaluation" or the "Evaluation Report"), entitled "Evaluation of the Proposed Handy & Harman Transaction," dated June 21, 2017, to the Audit Committee. CFS subsequently presented the Evaluation Report to the Audit Committee on June 22, 2017.

The CFS Evaluation is based on the following:

- As of June 16, 2017 (the "Evaluation Date"), SPLP or its subsidiaries owned approximately 8.56 million shares or 70% of the issued and outstanding HNH Shares, representing a market value of approximately \$245.1 million as of the Evaluation Date.
- SPLP proposes to acquire the 3.66 million shares (or 30% of the total HNH Shares) of HNH not currently owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries, or the Outside Shares, at a price of \$35.00 per Outside Share, representing a value of \$128.1 million (based on a \$23.59 intrinsic value for each SPLP preferred unit, as described below), for 5.432 million SPLP preferred units.

- If the Proposed Transaction is consummated, HNH's stockholders other than SPLP and its subsidiaries will receive 5.432 million SPLP preferred units, which currently trade on the NYSE. SPLP contemplates that the additional SPLP preferred units to be issued in the Proposed Transaction would also be listed on the NYSE. The SPLP preferred units (1) have a liquidation preference of \$25.00 per unit, (2) bear a cumulative distribution at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable in cash or in kind (or a combination) at the option of SPLP, (3) mature on February 7, 2026, and (4) will provide HNH's stockholders with either cash or SPLP common units upon maturity or earlier redemption at the option of SPLP. In addition, SPLP will offer to repurchase or redeem, for cash on a pro rata basis, on or prior to February 7, 2020, 20% of the SPLP preferred units. The SPLP preferred units to be issued in the Proposed Transaction are also referred to as the "Consideration".
- CFS' analysis is that based on an assumed intrinsic value of the Consideration of \$23.59 per SPLP preferred unit, the Proposed Transaction represents an acquisition price of \$35.00 per Outside Share. However, based on the \$25.00 per unit liquidation preference of the SPLP preferred units, the Proposed Transaction represents approximately \$135.8 million of value for the 3.66 million Outside Shares (or \$37.10 per Outside Share).

The Proposed Transaction was initially conveyed by SPLP to the independent members of the Company board in a letter on March 3, 2017, and subsequently updated during the course of negotiations between representatives of the Purchaser Group and the special committee. CFS performed its services pursuant to an engagement letter with the Audit Committee dated April 12, 2017 with respect to the Proposed Transaction.

In performing the CFS Evaluation, CFS:

- Met with the HNH management team to review the information provided to CFS by SPLP and to review the current and forecasted results for HNH's businesses;
- Reviewed certain publicly available financial statements and other business and financial information on SPLP and HNH (the "Key Parties") and comparable companies and transactions in the sectors in which HNH competes;
- Reviewed certain financial forecasts, budgets, strategic plans, and other forward looking financial information prepared by HNH, or as publicly available, on HNH and its six operating segments;
- Conducted telephonic meetings with the management teams of HNH's building materials, joining materials, and electrical components business segments;
- · Reviewed the financial terms and conditions set forth in the Proposed Transaction agreement;
- · Reviewed the respective stock and unit prices and trading histories of the Key Parties;
- Developed a valuation range for HNH based on comparable company trading multiples, comparable transactions and discounted cash flow analysis for purposes of evaluating the intrinsic value of HNH versus its current market value;
- Evaluated the actuary reports, key assumptions, GAAP value of the unfunded pension plans, and current market cost to HNH to eliminate the liability based on information provided by Willis Towers Watson in determining the current market value of unfunded pension liabilities;

- Evaluated illustrative pro-forma credit ratings, terms of the additional SPLP preferred units to be issued by SPLP in the Proposed Transaction and the trading market for the current outstanding SPLP preferred units of the same class to assess the intrinsic value of the Consideration relative to its stated par value;
- Analyzed the valuation range for HNH evaluated by CFS against the terms of the Proposed Transaction and the intrinsic value of the SPLP preferred units to be paid as Consideration for the acquisition of the Outside Shares;
- Participated in discussions and meetings among the representatives of the Audit Committee, SPLP, their legal advisors and other parties involved in the Proposed Transaction, and with the financial and legal advisors to the special committee to assist in negotiating the final terms of the Proposed Transaction, all as requested by the Audit Committee; and
- · Evaluated the overall merits of the Proposed Transaction for SPLP's unit holders.

CFS also considered the following:

- The limited trading volume of the HNH Shares. Accordingly, CFS believes that the intrinsic value of HNH is not reflected in its public market value;
- CFS valued HNH using two widely accepted valuation methodologies: the market data (public company and transaction comparables) approach and the discounted cash flow (DCF) approach to determine HNH's enterprise value (as defined below). Based on these methodologies and factoring in all adjustments to HNH's enterprise value described in the Evaluation Report, CFS determined an equity value range for HNH of \$387.1 million to \$494.2 million with a mid-point of \$440.7 million, which equates to a stock price valuation for HNH of \$31.68 \$40.44, with a mid-point of \$36.06, based on 12.22 million HNH Shares outstanding;
- CFS's view that SPLP's offer to acquire the 3.66 million Outside Shares of HNH at \$35.00 per share based on a \$23.59 per share intrinsic value of the Consideration or \$37.10 per share based on the liquidation preference of the Consideration approximates the mid-point of CFS' evaluation of the intrinsic valuation of HNH; and
- SPLP's proposed acquisition of the Outside Shares will allow HNH management to better focus on growing the business without the reporting requirements and cost of being a separate public company, and should be accretive to the earnings and enterprise value of SPLP and thereby achieve positive value results to all of SPLP's unit holders, including holders of the SPLP preferred units.

In performing its analysis, CFS assumed and relied upon, without independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of the information that was publicly available or supplied or otherwise made available to it by SPLP, HNH, or their respective representatives. With respect to financial projections, CFS assumed that they have been reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of HNH management with respect to HNH's future financial performance.

In addition, CFS:

 Assumed that any estimates, evaluations, forecasts and projections furnished to CFS were reasonably prepared and based upon the best available information at such time and good faith judgment of the person furnishing the same, and CFS did not express any opinion with respect to such projections or the underlying assumptions;

- Assumed that information supplied and representations made by SPLP's management on or prior to the delivery of the Evaluation Report were substantially accurate regarding SPLP and the Proposed Transaction;
- · Assumed that the representations and warranties made in the Proposed Transaction agreement were substantially accurate;
- · Assumed that the final versions of all documents reviewed by CFS in draft form conformed in all material respects to the drafts reviewed;
- Assumed that there was no material change in the assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, business, or prospects of the
 parties to the Proposed Transaction since the date of the most recent financial statements and other information made available to CFS at or prior
 to the delivery of the Evaluation Report, and that there was no information or facts that would have made the information reviewed by CFS
 incomplete or misleading in any material respect as of such time;
- Assumed that all of the conditions required to implement the Proposed Transaction would be satisfied and that the Proposed Transaction would be completed in accordance with the Proposed Transaction agreement without any amendments thereto or any waivers of any terms or conditions thereof;
- Assumed that all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Proposed Transaction would be obtained without any adverse effect on SPLP or the contemplated benefits expected to be derived in the Proposed Transaction; and
- Relied upon the fact that the Audit Committee was advised by counsel as to all legal matters with respect to the Proposed Transaction, including whether all procedures required by law to be taken in connection with the Proposed Transaction had been duly, validly and timely taken.

To the extent that any of the foregoing assumptions or any of the facts on which the Evaluation Report was based prove to be untrue in any material respect, the Evaluation Report cannot and should not be relied upon. Furthermore, in its analysis and in connection with its preparation of the Evaluation Report, CFS assumed the substantial continuity of industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the Proposed Transaction. Although developments following the date the Evaluation Report was delivered to the Audit Committee may affect the Evaluation Report, CFS does not assume any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm the Evaluation Report. The Evaluation Report was necessarily based upon market, economic, financial and other conditions as they existed and could be evaluated on the date of the Evaluation Report. Developments subsequent to June 21, 2017 may affect the conclusion expressed in the Evaluation Report. CFS disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting the Evaluation Report which may come or be brought to its attention after the date of the Evaluation Report.

CFS did not evaluate SPLP's solvency or conduct an independent appraisal or physical inspection of any specific assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise). CFS was not requested to, and did not, (i) initiate any discussions with, or solicit any indications of interest from, third parties with respect to the Proposed Transaction, the assets, businesses or operations of HNH, or any alternatives to the Proposed Transaction, or (ii) advise the Audit Committee or any other party with respect to alternatives to the Proposed Transaction. CFS assumed that the terms of the Proposed Transaction were the most beneficial terms, from SPLP's perspective, that could, under the circumstances, be negotiated among the parties to the Proposed Transaction agreement.

The full text of the CFS Evaluation Report is attached as Exhibit (c)(2) to the Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO filed by the Purchaser Group and is incorporated herein by reference. The full text of the Evaluation Report should be read carefully in its entirety for a description of the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and qualifications and limitations of the review undertaken in rendering the Evaluation Report. The Evaluation Report (i) does not address the merits of the underlying business decision to enter into the Proposed Transaction versus any alternative strategy or transaction; (ii) does not address any transaction related to the Proposed Transaction; (iii) is not a recommendation as to how any securityholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the Proposed Transaction, or whether to proceed with the Proposed Transaction or any related transaction; and (iv) does not indicate that the Consideration received is the best possibly attainable under any circumstances. Instead, the Evaluation Report merely states whether the Consideration in the Proposed Transaction is within a range suggested by certain financial analyses. The decision as to whether to proceed with the Proposed Transaction or any related transaction may depend on an assessment of factors unrelated to the financial analysis on which the Evaluation Report is based.

CFS was not requested to and has not provided any opinion as to the fairness of the Proposed Transaction or the Consideration proposed to be received by any party to the Proposed Transaction, including, without limitation, equity holders. CFS is not a legal, tax or regulatory advisor, nor is it a credit rating agency.

Summary of Financial Analyses by CFS

Set forth below is a summary of the material analyses performed in connection with providing the Evaluation Report to the Audit Committee. This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference the full text of the Evaluation Report. While this summary describes the analysis and factors that were deemed material, it is not a comprehensive description of all the analyses and factors that were considered.

The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. In order for the analysis to be fully understood, the tables must be read together with the text of each summary. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analysis undertaken. Considering the data below without considering the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analysis, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the financial analyses.

Since HNH is a public company with a discernable history of operating performance and current management forecasts, the market data and discounted cash flow methods were used by CFS to determine its valuation.

Market Data Analysis

CFS compared certain financial performance metrics of HNH to corresponding data and ratios from publicly traded companies in HNH's three primary industry segments: building materials, performance materials, electrical components, and overall the diversified industrials sector, respectively, that CFS deemed relevant to its analysis.



The companies reviewed in the building materials industry were:

- · Gibraltar Industries, Inc.
- · Kingspan Group PLC
- · Masco Corporation
- · NCI Building Systems, Inc.
- · Simpson Manufacturing Co., Inc.

The companies reviewed in the performance materials industry were:

- · Core Molding Technologies, Inc.
- · Culp, Inc.
- · Hexcel Corporation
- · KAP Beteiligungs-Akiengesellschaft
- · Low & Bonar PLC
- Lydall, Inc.
- · Materion Corporation
- · Morgan Advanced Materials PLC
- · PEGAS NONWOVENS S.A.
- · Schweiter Technologies AG

The companies reviewed in the electrical components industry were:

- · Allied Motion Technologies, Inc.
- · Bel Fuse, Inc.
- · Eaton Corporation PLC
- · General Cable Corporation
- · Powell Industries, Inc.

The companies reviewed for the overall diversified industrials sector were:

- · Actuant Corporation
- · Carlisle Companies Incorporated
- · Griffon Corporation



- · Harsco Corporation
- · Illinois Tool Works Inc.
- ITT Inc.
- · Park-Ohio Holdings Corp.
- · Standex International Corporation

Below is a summary highlighting for each segment the number of representative companies, the valuation multiple ranges, and the average and median multiples. CFS applied judgement and experience as an investment banking firm and adjusted the public trading comparable companies for differences based on size and liquidity. A weighted average based on EBITDA multiples was calculated for the group and resulted in average and median EBITDA multiples of 7.8x and 8.0x, respectively. This was compared to overall diversified industrial companies that reflect HNH's overall profile, which traded at an average and median EBITDA multiple of 7.5x and 8.0x, respectively.

Public Comparable Company Analysis					
Segment	# of Companies	% of 2016 EBITDA	Low - High	Average	Median
Building Materials	5	75.5%	6.6x- 8.7x	7.7x	8.0x
Performance Materials	10	16.9%	6.0x- 9.7x	8.1x	8.0x
Electrical Components	5	7.6%	5.2x- 12.9x	8.4x	7.7x
Weighted Average		100.0%		7.8x	8.0x
Diversified Industrials	8		5.2x- 10.3x	7.5x	8.0x

Based on this analysis and CFS' judgement, a valuation range of 7.5x to 8.0x for public companies is appropriate given the nature and size of HNH's operations.

CFS reviewed recent company sale transactions as the second part of the market data valuation approach. CFS again reviewed both sales of companies from the three specific industry segments previously defined over the past five years as well as for industrial companies broadly defined since the beginning of 2014. The transactions reviewed as part of the precedent transaction analysis are listed below.

The transactions reviewed in the building materials industry were:

Transaction Announce Date	Target / Issuer	Buyers / Investors
03/07/2016	Giesse Gruppo Industriale S.p.A	Schlegel Acquisition Holdings Ltd.
01/04/2016	Stormking Plastics Limited	Epwin Group PLC
10/16/2015	Nergeco SA	ASSA ABLOY Entrance Systems France SAS
08/20/2015	Robert Bowden, Inc.	Building Materials Holding Corporation (nka:BMC Stock Holdings,
		Inc.)
7/25/2014	CGI Windows & Doors, Inc.	PGT Industries, Inc.
11/18/2013	Novik Inc.	Clearview Capital, LLC; Clearview Capital Fund III LP
5/2/2012	Metl-Span LLC	NCI Group, Inc.

The transactions reviewed in the performance materials industry were:

Transaction Announce Date	Target / Issuer	Buyers / Investors
10/31/2016	ESL ElectroScience, Inc.	Ferro Corporation
02/24/2016	InterWrap, Inc.	Owens Corning
12/18/2014	Arlon, LLC	Rogers Corporation
6/2/2014	Crane Technical Materials, Inc. (nka:Neenah	Neenah Filtration, LLC
	Technical Materials, Inc.)	
01/08/2014	Material Sciences Corporation	Zink Acquisition Holdings Inc.
9/26/2013	Zoltek Companies Inc.	Toray Industries, Inc.
4/23/2013	Buckeye Technologies Inc.	Georgia-Pacific LLC
7/20/2012	Spartech Corp.	PolyOne Corporation

The transactions reviewed in the electrical components industry were:

Transaction Announce Date	Target / Issuer	Buyers / Investors				
02/22/2017	Morgan Advanced Materials plc, UK Electro-CeramTec UK Ltd.					
	Ceramics Business					
1/26/2017	Power Distribution, Inc.	Dunes Point Capital, LLC				
06/06/2016	AMK Holding GmbH & Co. KG	Zhongding Holding Europe GmbH				
07/30/2015	HellermannTyton Group PLC	Delphi Automotive PLC				
07/26/2015	Magnetek Inc.	Columbus McKinnon Corporation				
6/16/2015	SL Industries Inc.	Handy & Harman Ltd.				
9/11/2014	Vacon Oyj	Oy Danfoss AB				
4/21/2013	Power-One Inc.	ABB Ltd				
7/27/2012	Schabmüller GmbH	ZAPI S.p.A.				
5/31/2012	Watteredge, LLC	Coleman Cable, Inc.				
5/21/2012	Cooper Industries plc	Eaton Corporation (nka:Eaton Corporation plc)				

The transactions reviewed for broadly defined industrial companies were:

Transaction Announce Date	Target / Issuer	Buyers / Investors				
11/08/2016	Mesker Openings Group	dormakaba Holding AG				
09/09/2016	Wescon Controls, LLC	Suprajit USA Inc.				
07/06/2016	Nortek Inc.	Melrose Industries PLC				
11/05/2015	CanGen Holdings, Inc.	Milacron Holdings Corp.				
09/22/2015	EDAC Composites LLC	Meggitt (Rockmart), Inc.				
8/31/2015	KB Electronics, Inc.	Nidec America Corporation				
7/28/2015	Stagecoach Cartage and Distribution, LLC	Roadrunner Transportation Systems, Inc.				
12/15/2014	Dynacast International Inc.	Kenner & Company, Inc.; Partners Group (Guernsey) Limited; Kenner				
		Equity Management, LLC; Morgan Joseph TriArtisan LLC,				
		Investment Arm				

Below is a summary highlighting the number of transactions within each industry segment, valuation ranges, and the average and median valuation results. CFS applied judgement and experience as an investment banking firm and adjusted the precedent transactions for an inherent change of control premium, in order to value HNH on a going concern basis, as well as differences in size. A weighted average based on EBITDA multiples was calculated for the group and resulted in average and median EBITDA multiples of 7.2x and 6.7x, respectively. This was compared to overall diversified industrial comparable companies that reflect HNH's overall profile, which reflected an average and median EBITDA multiple of 6.9x and 6.3x, respectively.

Transaction Comp. Analysis							
Segment	# of Transactions	% of 2016 EBITDA	Low- High	Average	Median		
Building Materials	6	75.5%	5.5x- 8.8x	6.9x	6.7x		
Performance Materials	8	16.9%	5.5x- 14.7x	8.3x	6.5x		
Electrical Components	11	7.6%	4.2x- 13.0x	7.1x	6.7x		
Weighted Average		100.0%		7.2x	6.7x		
General Industrials	8		4.3x- 12.9x	6.9x	6.3x		

Based on this analysis and CFS' judgment a valuation range of 6.5x to 7.0x for precedent transactions is appropriate given the nature and size of HNH's operations.

Based on the comparable public companies and precedent transaction analysis, and using a pro-forma LTM EBITDA as of March 31, 2017 of \$120.6 million, the potential enterprise value range for HNH is between \$784.2 million and \$965.2 million.

Market Comps Valuation Analysis					
In \$ 000's	Public Trading	Transaction			
EBITDA Multiple Range	7.50x- 8.00x	6.50x- 7.00x			
LTM Pro-Forma EBITDA	120,644	120,644			
Enterprise Value	904,830- 965,152	784,186- 844,508			

LTM EBITDA was adjusted for: (1) the acquisitions of SLI and EME, adjusting as if the acquisitions occurred on April 1, 2016, (2) the divestitures of the MTF and EIFS (JPS) businesses, adjusting as if the divestitures occurred on April 1, 2016, (3) adjusting for the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) as an all cash payment instead of "non-cash" stock grants

LTM = Latest twelve months for which financial information was available

Enterprise Value = (Market Capitalization + Management Equity + Debt + Preferred Stock + Non- Controlling Interest) - (Cash & Equivalents + Net Non- Operating Assets)

EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

Source: S&P Capital IQ, SEC Filings, Annual and Interim Reports

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

The primary inputs for the analysis were: (i) projections provided by HNH; (ii) the discount rate at which the projected cash flow is discounted to a present value; and (iii) a terminal multiple based on comparable company trading value and merger and acquisition transaction multiple ranges.

Key Projection Assumptions:

- · 2017: Based on management forecasts adjusted for an expected cash LTIP payment.
- 2018 2021: Based on individual operating business financial budget presentations.
- EBITDA results were risk adjusted at the SPLP corporate level for the purposes of conservatism by \$5 million, per annum.

CFS used a discount rate of 14.75% - 15.25% for HNH to discount the projected cash flows and terminal multiple. CFS calculated HNH's projected cash flows by (1) pension adjusted EBITDA less depreciation and amortization, (2) less taxes on such amount, (3) plus depreciation and amortization, (4) less capital expenditures, and (5) less change in net working capital. CFS calculated HNH's terminal value in 2021 by using a terminal multiple range of 7.0x to 7.5x. CFS believed at the time of the Evaluation Report that this range of discount rates is consistent with the rate of return that stockholders could expect to realize on alternative investment opportunities with similar risk profiles to HNH.

Based on these assumptions, CFS's discounted cash flow analysis indicated an estimated enterprise value for HNH of \$947.8 million to \$1.0 billion.

Equity Value Determination

Based on the market data approach and DCF analysis, CFS arrived at a composite enterprise value range of \$878.9 million to \$941.2 million, with a mid-point of \$910.0 million for HNH.

CFS then adjusted the enterprise value for cash, federal NOLs and tax credits, non-operating real estate assets, other non-operating assets, debt, unfunded pension liability, related benefit obligations, and environmental liabilities to arrive at an equity value of HNH and consequently a value per share. A brief description of each of these adjustments is provided below. A full description of each is available in the Evaluation Report.

- Plus cash: \$31.5 million as of March 31, 2017
- Plus federal NOLs and tax credits: a present value of the tax benefits of \$8.8 million to \$8.9 million with a mid-point of \$8.8 million as of March 31, 2017
- Plus non-operating real estate assets: Most recent offers for non-operating real estate properties of \$7.8 million
- Plus other non-operating assets: 15.2% ownership of ModusLink Global Solutions (NasdaqGS:MLNK) of \$15.2 million as of March 31, 2017
- · Less debt and accrued interest: \$289.7 million as of March 31, 2017
- Less unfunded pension liability (after-tax): HNH has an unfunded pension liability reported on its balance sheet as of March 31, 2017 of \$263.7 million. Based on discussions with management and review of the actuarial reports provided by Willis Towers Watson and October Three Consulting for HNH's pension plans, it was concluded that the underfunded value on the balance sheet did not fairly represent the actual current market value of the liability if it were to be terminated or transferred. To arrive at a current market valuation of the unfunded pension plans, CFS relied on information provided by Willis Towers Watson with respect to the elimination of the pension plans based on current market assumptions as if terminated on March 31, 2017 with the remaining liability assumed by insurance companies. The resulting range was \$296.0 million to \$348.0 million. CFS then adjusted for the tax savings that would be generated if the plan was terminated arriving at a net value range of \$210.8 million to \$252.4 million with a mid-point of \$231.6 million.
- Less related benefit obligations (after-tax): HNH has additional employee related obligations of \$2.3 million on an after-tax basis as of March 31, 2017

 Less environmental liabilities (after-tax): HNH has multiple properties both non-operating and operating that have environmental remediation requirements. Both accrued liabilities as of March 31, 2017 and additional estimated liabilities were included. On an after-tax basis, these ranged from \$7.1 million to \$10.7 million, with a mid-point of \$9.1 million.

Factoring in all of the above adjustments to HNH's enterprise value, CFS determined an equity value range of \$387.1 million to \$494.2 million with a mid-point of \$440.7 million. By dividing by the outstanding shares of 12.22 million, this equates to a stock price range of \$31.68 to \$40.44, with a mid-point of \$36.06.

Evaluation of the SPLP Preferred Units

The Proposed Transaction provides for SPLP to issue an additional 5.432 million SPLP preferred units. The issued and outstanding SPLP preferred units currently trade on the NYSE. Currently, there are 2.54 million SPLP preferred units outstanding and as of the Evaluation Date, these SPLP preferred units had a price per unit of \$22.01, resulting in a yield of 7.9%.

As a part of its analysis CFS evaluated the intrinsic value of the SPLP preferred units proposed to be issued in the Proposed Transaction. As a part of this analysis CFS conducted the following:

- · Considered the historical trading value, resulting yield to maturity, and volume of the currently issued SPLP preferred units
- · Reviewed the terms of the SPLP preferred units being issued in the Proposed Transaction
- Evaluated SPLP's pro-forma operating and leverage metrics against key credit rating statistics and considered other non-empirical factors to arrive at an illustrative current credit profile for the SPLP preferred units
- Assessed the potential liquidity and trading market value impact of the SPLP preferred units as a class given the additional SPLP preferred units being issued in the Proposed Transaction (5.432 million units with \$135.8 million of liquidation preference versus 2.54 million units currently outstanding with a \$63.5 million liquidation preference)
- Searched and compiled public trading data on U.S. corporate bonds with similar maturities and credit profiles to separately determine the intrinsic value of the SPLP preferred units, due to limited public preferred stock issuances
- · Assessed other factors that could affect the value of the SPLP preferred units

As a part of the yield assessment, CFS created a pro-forma credit profile for SPLP to determine a prospective Senior Unsecured Credit Rating. CFS then adjusted this rating by two to three rating gradients for its subordinated status. The resulting prospective rating of the SPLP preferred units ranged from B- to B+. CFS then reviewed yield curves of B- and B+ bonds in the industrial sector as well as compiled a universe of industrial bonds with a B rating. The resulting yield of these bonds was 5.9%. CFS then adjusted this yield to account for the redemption feature of the SPLP preferred units being issued. The resulting analysis provided a yield range of 6.65% to 7.15%, which equates to a price of \$23.16 to \$23.95 per unit. Based on this analysis CFS believes that the proposed intrinsic value of \$23.59 for the SPLP preferred units is a fair representation of the intrinsic value of the SPLP preferred units being offered in the Proposed Transaction. CFS also noted that it is highly likely that the holders of the SPLP preferred units that do not sell in the market will receive the \$25.00 liquidation preference, in cash or SPLP common units, through the optional or mandatory redemption provision of the SPLP preferred units or at maturity.



The Evaluation Report was only one of the many factors considered by the Purchaser Group in its evaluation of the Proposed Transaction and should not be viewed as determinative of the views of the Purchaser Group.

Miscellaneous

CFS is a New York-based investment banking firm that provides a full range of advisory services to middle market companies. The firm advises on mergers and acquisitions, raising debt and equity capital, leadership recruiting and provides strategic and corporate finance advice. CFS concentrates on midsize enterprises with revenue between \$10 million and \$500 million. Since its founding in 2005, CFS has completed over 500 projects. CFS is a wholly owned affiliate of Corporate Fuel Advisors, LLC. CFS is a SEC-registered broker dealer and is regulated by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. as a FINRA Member Firm (www.finra.org) and SIPC (www.sipc.org). Corporate Fuel Advisors, LLC conducts all securities-related transactions through CFS.

Fees and Expenses

The aggregate amount of the fees that SPLP has agreed to pay CFS for its services in connection with the rendering of the Evaluation Report is \$500,000 due and payable as follows: \$75,000 upon the execution of the engagement letter for CFS to act as the financial advisor to the Audit Committee in connection with the Proposed Transaction, \$75,000 due upon the delivery of the Evaluation Report to the Audit Committee and \$350,000 upon the execution of a definitive merger agreement between SPLP and HNH. SPLP has also agreed to reimburse CFS for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and reasonable fees and expenses of counsel retained by CFS, in each case in connection with the engagement and not to exceed \$5,000 in the aggregate. SPLP also has agreed to indemnify CFS for certain liabilities arising out of its engagement. The terms of the fee arrangements with CFS, which SPLP believes are customary in transactions of this nature, were negotiated at arm's length, and the Audit Committee has approved these fee arrangements. Other than this engagement, during the two years preceding the date of the Evaluation Report CFS has been engaged to provide other corporate finance consulting services to SPLP in connection with (i) the acquisition by SPLP of the minority interest in Steel Excel not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities in exchange for SPLP preferred units, which was completed on February 6, 2017, for which CFS received a fee of \$200,000, and (ii) SPLP's purchase of CoSine Communications Inc. via a reverse/forward stock split and merger with its WebFinancial Holding Corporation subsidiary that was announced on December 3, 2015, for which CFS received a fee of \$212,500. For these prior engagements, CFS also received customary expense reimbursement and indemnification.

Certain Unaudited Projected Financial Information of HNH

HNH does not, as a matter of course, publicly disclose forecasts or internal projections as to future performance, earnings or financial condition. For internal planning purposes and in connection with the potential acquisition of the Company, management of the Company prepared and provided the projections to the Company board, the Company special committee and to Duff & Phelps to use and rely upon the projections for purposes of Duff & Phelps' analyses and advice to the Company special committee, as well as to CFS for purposes of its analyses and advice to the audit committee of the SPLP GP Board.

The projections were not prepared with a view toward public disclosure or toward complying with GAAP, the published guidelines of the SEC regarding projections or pro forma financial information or the guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for preparation and presentation of prospective or pro forma financial information. Neither the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, nor any independent accountants, have compiled, examined or performed any procedures with respect to the projections, nor have they expressed any opinion or any other form of assurance on such financial information or its achievability.



The projections are included solely to give the Company's stockholders access to certain financial projections that were made available to the Company board, the Company special committee, Duff & Phelps, CFS and the Purchaser Group, and are not being included in this prospectus/offer to exchange to influence an HNH stockholder's decision as to whether to tender HNH shares in the offer or for any other purpose.

The inclusion of the projections should not be regarded as an indication that the Company's management, the Company board, the Company special committee, Duff & Phelps, CFS or the Purchaser Group considered, or now considers, any of the projections to be predictive of actual future results. The projections were based upon expectations of the Company's management at the time the projected financial information was prepared. In addition, the projections did not reflect the effects of the announcement of the merger agreement. Although the projections are presented with numerical specificity, the projections necessarily were based on numerous variables and assumptions that are inherently uncertain and many of which are beyond the control of the Company's management, including general economic conditions, the ability of the Company to develop markets and sell its products, fluctuations in the cost and supply of raw materials and commodities, and the effects of competition and pricing. Because the projections cover multiple years, by their nature, they become subject to greater uncertainty with each successive year. Important factors that may affect actual results and result in the projections not being achieved include, but are not limited to, general economic conditions, changes in demand for the Company's products, product mix, the timing of orders requested by customers, the impact of competitive products and pricing, the Company's ability to achieve strategic goals, and other risk factors described or incorporated by reference herein.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the projections will be realized, and actual results may vary materially from those shown. Neither the Company, nor any of its affiliates, advisors, officers, directors or representatives, can give any assurance that actual results will not differ from the projections, and none of them undertakes any obligation to update or otherwise revise or reconcile the projections to reflect circumstances existing after the date the projections were generated or to reflect the occurrence of future events even in the event that any or all of the assumptions underlying the projections are shown to be in error. The Company does not intend to make publicly available any update or other revision to the projections, except as otherwise required by law. Neither the Company nor any of its affiliates, advisors, officers, directors or representatives has made or makes any representation to any of the Company's stockholders or other persons regarding the ultimate performance of the Company compared to the information contained in the projections or that the projections will be achieved. The Company has made no representations or warranties to SPLP or Merger Sub, in the merger agreement or otherwise, concerning the projections.

In addition, the projections do not take into account any circumstances or events occurring after the date they were prepared, including the announcement and pendency of the merger agreement. Further, the projections do not take into account any changes in the Company's operations, business, financial condition or results of operations which may result from the offer and the merger, including, without limitation, any cost savings or other benefits, nor do the projections take into account the effect of any failure to complete the offer and the merger. The inclusion of the projections herein should not be deemed an admission or representation by the Company or any other person that they were viewed as material information with respect the Company, and the Company and its management do not view the projections as material because of the inherent risks and uncertainties associated with the projections.

Certain of the projected financial information set forth herein may be considered non-GAAP financial measures. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information presented in compliance with GAAP, and non-GAAP financial measures as used by the Company may not be comparable to similarly titled amounts used by other companies.

IN LIGHT OF THE FOREGOING AND THE UNCERTAINTIES INHERENT IN THE PROJECTIONS, THE COMPANY'S STOCKHOLDERS ARE CAUTIONED NOT TO PLACE UNDUE, IF ANY, RELIANCE ON THE PROJECTIONS.

The projections are set forth below:

HNH Projected Financial Performance

(\$ in thousands)									
	Management Projections								
	 2017E		2018P		2019P		2020P		2021P
Total Net Sales	\$ 967,334	\$	1,047,767	\$	1,102,338	\$	1,163,610	\$	1,223,519
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 125,730	\$	144,535	\$	158,883	\$	172,864	\$	187,596
Capital Expenditures	\$ 35,300	\$	25,800	\$	22,189	\$	17,984	\$	18,313

The Company defines Adjusted EBITDA as net income or loss before the effects of gains or losses from investment in an associated company, realized and unrealized gains or losses on derivatives, interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization, LIFO liquidation gains or losses, and non-cash pension expense, and excludes certain non-recurring and non-cash items. The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors because it is one of the measures used by the Company board and management to evaluate its business, including in internal management reporting, budgeting, and forecasting processes, in comparing operating results across the business, as an internal profitability measure, as a component in evaluating the ability and the desirability of making capital expenditures and significant acquisitions, and as an element in determining executive compensation.

However, Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under U.S. GAAP, and the items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA are significant components in understanding and assessing financial performance. Therefore, Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered a substitute for net income or cash flows from operating, investing, or financing activities. Because Adjusted EBITDA is calculated before recurring cash charges, including realized losses on derivatives, interest expense, and taxes, and is not adjusted for capital expenditures or other recurring cash requirements of the business, it should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to invest in the growth of the business. There are a number of material limitations to the use of Adjusted EBITDA as an analytical tool, including the following:

- · Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect gains or losses from the Company's investment in an associated company;
- Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the Company's net realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivatives and any LIFO liquidations of its precious metal inventory;
- · Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the Company's interest expense;
- · Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the Company's tax provision or the cash requirements to pay its taxes;

- Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash expenses in the period recorded, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the cash requirements for such replacement;
- · Adjusted EBITDA does not include non-cash charges for pension expense and stock-based compensation;
- · Adjusted EBITDA does not include discontinued operations; and
- · Adjusted EBITDA does not include certain other non-recurring and non-cash items.

The Company compensates for these limitations by relying primarily on its U.S. GAAP financial measures and by using Adjusted EBITDA only as supplemental information. The Company believes that consideration of Adjusted EBITDA, together with a careful review of its U.S. GAAP financial measures, is the most informed method of analyzing the Company.

The Company reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to net income or loss, and that reconciliation is set forth above. Because Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP and is susceptible to varying calculations, Adjusted EBITDA, as presented, may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies. Revenues and expenses are measured in accordance with the policies and procedures described in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, which is incorporated by reference. See "Where to Obtain Additional Information."

Ownership of SPLP Preferred Units After the Offer and the Merger

Based on 3,626,172 shares of HNH common stock owned by stockholders other than SPLP and its affiliated entities as of [_____], 2017 (other than unvested restricted shares) and the exchange ratio of 1.484 SPLP preferred units for each share of HNH common stock, HNH's former unaffiliated stockholders will own in the aggregate approximately 5,380,561 SPLP preferred units immediately following the consummation of the offer and the merger, representing approximately 67.5% of the outstanding SPLP preferred units.

Dissenters' Rights

No appraisal rights are available to holders of shares of HNH common stock in connection with the offer. However, if the merger is consummated, holders of HNH common stock at the effective time of the merger who have not tendered their HNH common stock pursuant to the offer and who otherwise comply in all respects with Section 262 of the DGCL will be entitled to receive a determination by the Delaware Court of Chancery of the fair value of such holder's shares of HNH common stock (the "appraisal shares") (exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger) and to receive payment of that fair value in cash, together with interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be fair value. Unless the Delaware Court of Chancery in its discretion determines otherwise for good cause shown, interest from the effective time of the merger will be compounded quarterly and will accrue at 5% over the federal discount rate (including any surcharge) as established from time to time between the effective time of the merger and the date of payment. At any time before the entry of judgment in the proceedings, the surviving corporation may pay to each stockholder entitled to appraisal an amount in cash, in which case interest shall accrue thereafter as provided in Section 262 of the DGCL only upon the sum of (a) the difference, if any, between the amount so paid and the fair value of the shares as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery, and (b) interest theretofore accrued, unless paid at that time.

In determining the fair value of the appraisal shares, the Delaware Court of Chancery will take into account all relevant factors. As such, any determination by the Delaware Court of Chancery of the fair value of the appraisal shares could be based upon considerations other than or in addition to the amount paid in the offer and the merger and the market value of the shares of HNH common stock. HNH stockholders should recognize that the value so determined could be higher or lower than or the same as the transaction consideration. Moreover, HNH may argue in an appraisal proceeding that, for purposes of such a proceeding, the fair value of the appraisal shares is less than the transaction consideration. HNH stockholders also should note that investment banking opinions as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the consideration payable in a sale transaction, such as the offer and the merger, are not opinions as to fair value under Section 262 of the DGCL.

Under Section 262 of the DGCL, if a merger is approved under Section 251(h) of the DGCL, either a constituent corporation before the effective date of the merger, or the surviving corporation within 10 days thereafter, shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who is entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger and that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and will include in such notice a copy of Section 262 of the DGCL. The Schedule 14D-9 that is being mailed to you together with this document constitutes the formal notice of appraisal rights under Section 262 of the DGCL.

As described more fully in the Schedule 14D-9, if an HNH stockholder elects to exercise appraisal rights under Section 262 of the DGCL, such stockholder must do all of the following, among other things:

- within the later of the consummation of the offer and 20 days after the mailing of the Schedule 14D-9, deliver to HNH a written demand for appraisal of shares of HNH common stock held, which demand must reasonably inform HNH of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder is demanding appraisal;
- not tender such holder's HNH shares in the offer; and
- continuously hold of record the shares from the date on which the written demand for appraisal is made through the effective time of the merger.

The foregoing discussion is not a complete statement of law pertaining to appraisal rights under Delaware law or a statement of the procedures to be followed by HNH stockholders desiring to exercise such appraisal rights and is qualified in its entirety by reference to Section 262 of the DGCL, the full text of which is included as Annex B to the Schedule 14D-9, which stockholders are encouraged to read in its entirety. Any HNH stockholder who considers demanding appraisal is advised to consult legal counsel. The preservation and exercise of appraisal rights require strict and timely adherence to the applicable provisions of Delaware law. Failure to comply with the procedures set forth in Section 262 of the DGCL will result in the loss of appraisal rights.

Stockholders who tender shares of HNH common stock pursuant to the offer (or otherwise sell their shares prior to the merger) will not be entitled to exercise appraisal rights with respect thereto but, rather, will receive the transaction consideration in the offer or other consideration in such transaction.

Plans for HNH

In connection with the offer, SPLP has reviewed and will continue to review various possible business strategies that it might consider in the event that SPLP acquires all outstanding shares of common stock of HNH it does not already own, whether pursuant to the offer and/or the merger or otherwise. These changes could include, among other things, changes in HNH's business, operations, personnel, employee benefit plans, corporate structure and capitalization. See also "Special Factors — The Purchaser Group's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger."

Delisting and Termination of Registration

Following the consummation of the offer and the merger, shares of HNH common stock will no longer be eligible for inclusion on Nasdaq and will be withdrawn from listing. Assuming that HNH qualifies for termination of registration under the Exchange Act after the offer and the merger are consummated, SPLP intends to seek to terminate the registration of shares of HNH common stock under the Exchange Act.

Board of Directors, Management and Organizational Documents

Upon consummation of the merger, the directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the effective time of the merger will become the initial directors of the surviving corporation, and the officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the effective time of the merger will become the initial officers of the surviving corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the surviving corporation until their respective successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until the earlier of their death, resignation or removal.

At the effective time of the merger, (i) the certificate of incorporation of HNH, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time, will be amended as set forth in the merger agreement to become the certificate of incorporation of the surviving corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable law, and (ii) the bylaws of HNH, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time, will be amended in their entirety to conform to the bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the effective time and, as so amended, will become the bylaws of the surviving corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof, the certificate of incorporation of the surviving corporation and applicable law.

The merger agreement provides that the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the surviving corporation will contain provisions no less favorable with respect to indemnification than are set forth in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws, respectively, of the Company, unless any modification is required by law (and then only to the minimum extent required by law), and that these provisions may not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified for a period of six years from the effective time of the merger in any manner that would affect adversely the rights of individuals who, at or prior to the effective time, were directors or officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Regulatory Approvals

SPLP and Merger Sub are not aware of any governmental license or regulatory permit that appears to be material to HNH's business that might be adversely affected by the offer or the merger or of any approval or other action by any government or governmental administrative or regulatory authority or agency, domestic or foreign, that would be required for the acquisition or ownership of HNH shares pursuant to the offer or the merger. Should any of these approvals or other actions be required, SPLP and Merger Sub currently contemplate that these approvals or other actions will be sought. There can be no assurance that (a) any of these approvals or other actions, if needed, will be obtained (with or without substantial conditions), or (b) if these approvals were not obtained or these other actions were not taken adverse consequences would not result to SPLP's or HNH's business.

SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain any required governmental or third party consents and approvals required in connection with the offer and the merger and use their reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other parties in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective the offer and the merger as promptly as practicable.

It is a condition to completion of the offer and the merger that no governmental entity having jurisdiction over SPLP, Merger Sub or HNH has enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any law, order, decree or ruling (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect which has the effect of making the offer or the merger illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the offer or the merger.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Offer and the Merger

Certain of HNH's executive officers and directors have financial interests in the transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of HNH's stockholders generally. The Company special committee and the Company board were aware of these potentially differing interests and considered them, among other matters, in evaluating and negotiating the merger agreement and in reaching its decision to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated therein.

Treatment of Equity Awards

Certain HNH directors and executive officers hold HNH restricted shares, which will be treated as follows in connection with the merger:

HNH Restricted Shares

At the effective time of the merger, each HNH restricted share that, as of immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, remains subject to any performance-vest, time-vest or other condition(s) that constitutes a "substantial risk of forfeiture" within the meaning of Section 83 of the Code and which is outstanding immediately prior thereto will become fully vested as of the effective time of the merger. Each HNH restricted share will, by virtue of the merger and without any further action on part of any holder thereof, be automatically cancelled, and the holder thereof will receive, as soon as reasonably practicable following the effective time of the merger the transaction consideration. As of the effective time, all HNH restricted shares that are outstanding immediately prior thereto, whether or not vested, will no longer be outstanding and will automatically cease to exist, and each holder of an HNH restricted share will cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the transaction consideration with respect thereto.

There are no outstanding options to purchase HNH common stock.

HNH Restricted Shares to Be Cancelled in Exchange for Transaction Consideration Pursuant to the Merger Agreement

Mr. Woodworth is the sole named executive officer and Mr. Svoboda is the sole non-employee director of HNH who hold unvested restricted shares of HNH. Mr. Woodworth, who holds 2,429 unvested restricted shares of HNH, is expected to receive 3,605 SPLP preferred units in exchange for the cancellation of his restricted shares in the merger, and Mr. Svoboda, who holds 734 unvested restricted shares of HNH, is expected to receive 1,089 SPLP preferred units in exchange for the cancellation of his restricted shares in the merger. The amounts set forth above are estimates based on an assumed closing date of the merger of [_____], 2017. However, the actual amounts, if any, to be received by Messrs. Woodworth and Svoboda will depend on the outstanding HNH restricted shares held by them as of the actual closing date of the merger, which may differ from the amounts set forth above.

Change of Control / Golden Parachute Compensation

Pursuant to the terms of William T. Fejes, Jr.'s employment agreement with SLI that was assigned to Steel Services Ltd. ("Steel Services") effective January 1, 2017, if Mr. Fejes' employment is terminated, at his or the Company's election at any time due to his death or disability, due to the expiration or non-renewal of the employment agreement prior to his 65th birthday, or for reasons other than cause or voluntary resignation, Mr. Fejes is entitled to receive certain accrued obligations (accrued vacation, expenses, etc.) and, provided he executes a general release, severance payments and benefits equal to: (i) one (1) year of his base salary; (ii) reimbursement for the premium associated with one (1) year continuation of health insurance coverage pursuant to COBRA, (iii) immediate vesting of any options that are scheduled to vest within one year of the date of termination of employment; (iv) unpaid bonuses with respect to the fiscal year ending on or preceding the date of termination, if any, provided Mr. Fejes is employed on December 31 of that year and the bonus plan is in full force and effect; and (v) unpaid bonus through the termination or resignation date, if any, or, if the full bonus has not been earned, a pro-rata portion of such bonus, pursuant to the terms of the applicable bonus plan.

Pursuant to the terms of Douglas B. Woodworth's employment agreement with Steel Services, in the event that Mr. Woodworth's employment agreement is terminated for any reason other than cause or voluntary resignation, Steel Services will pay to Mr. Woodworth, as aggregate compensation, a lump-sum cash payment equal to six (6) months of his then current annual base salary.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The merger agreement provides that from and after the effective time, the surviving corporation will indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law (and the surviving corporation will also advance expenses as incurred to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law; provided, that the person to whom expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification), each present and former director and officer of HNH and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties") against any and all costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages and liabilities incurred in connection with any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to any action or omission or matters existing or occurring at or prior to the effective time, including the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, to the same extent as provided in the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of HNH in effect on the date of the merger agreement.

For six years from the effective time, the merger agreement provides that the surviving corporation and any of its subsidiaries, as applicable will maintain in effect for the benefit of the directors and officers of HNH or such subsidiary currently covered by the officers' and directors' liability insurance policies of HNH or such subsidiary, an insurance and indemnification policy with an insurer with a Standard & Poor's rating of at least A that provides coverage for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time (the "D&O Insurance") covering each such person on terms with respect to coverage and in amounts no less favorable in the aggregate than those of HNH's or such subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of the merger agreement. However, the surviving corporation or such subsidiary for such coverage, but if the annual premium for the D&O Insurance in excess of 200% of such annual premium, the surviving corporation or such subsidiary will obtain a policy with the greatest coverage available for a cost not exceeding such amount. Each of the surviving corporation and its subsidiaries may satisfy its obligations under the merger agreement by purchasing a "tail" policy from an insurer with a Standard & Poor's rating of at least A under HNH's or the applicable subsidiary's existing directors' and officers' insurance policy, that (i) has an effective term of six years from the effective time, (ii) covers each director and officer currently covered by HNH's or the applicable subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of the merger agreement for actions and omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time, (iii) covers each director and officer currently covered by HNH's or the applicable subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of the merger agreement for actions and omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time, and (iii) contains terms that are no less favorable in the aggregat



Pursuant to the merger agreement, the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the surviving corporation will contain provisions no less favorable with respect to indemnification than are set forth in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws, respectively, of HNH, unless any modification thereof is required by law and then such modification will be made only to the minimum extent required by such law, which provisions may not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified, except as provided in the merger agreement, for a period of six years from the effective time in any manner that would affect adversely the rights thereunder of individuals who, at or prior to the effective time, were directors or officers of HNH or any of its subsidiaries.

Nothing in the merger agreement is intended to, will be construed to or will release, waive or impair any rights to directors' and officers' insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to HNH or any of its subsidiaries or their respective officers, directors and employees. The indemnification provided for in the merger agreement is not prior to, or in substitution for, any such claims under any such policies. From and after the effective time, the surviving corporation will honor, in accordance with their terms, all indemnification agreements with HNH in effect immediately prior to the effective time that are applicable to Indemnified Parties and such agreements will not be modified without the prior written agreement of the applicable Indemnified Party.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the merger agreement, if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before, at or after the effective time) is made against any Indemnified Party or any other party covered by directors' and officers' liability insurance, on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the effective time, the foregoing indemnification provisions will continue in effect until the final disposition of such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

If the surviving corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other person and will not be the continuing or surviving entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any person, then, and in each such case, proper provision will be made so that the successors and assigns of the surviving corporation will assume the obligations set forth in the merger agreement relating to directors' and officers' indemnification.

Treatment of Employee Benefits

The merger agreement provides that for a period of at least 12 months following the closing date of the merger, each employee of HNH who continues employment with SPLP, the surviving corporation or any of their respective subsidiaries after the closing date (each, a "continuing employee") will be provided, at SPLP's election, with benefits on substantially the same terms as those provided to (i) similarly situated employees of SPLP or (ii) such continuing employee by HNH immediately prior to the effective time of the merger.

SPLP and the surviving corporation will ensure that, as of the closing date, each continuing employee receives full credit (for all purposes, including eligibility to participate, vesting, vacation entitlement and severance benefits) for service with HNH or any of its subsidiaries under each of the comparable employee benefit plans, programs and policies of SPLP, the surviving corporation or the relevant subsidiary, as applicable, in which such continuing employee becomes a participant, although no such service recognition will result in any duplication of benefits. As of the closing date, SPLP will, or will cause the surviving corporation or relevant subsidiary to, credit to each continuing employee the amount of vacation time that such employee had accrued under any applicable benefit plan of HNH as of the closing date. With respect to each health or welfare benefit plan maintained by SPLP, the surviving corporation or the relevant subsidiary for the benefit of any continuing employee, SPLP will (i) cause to be waived any eligibility waiting periods, any evidence of insurability requirements and the application of any pre-existing condition limitations under such plan, and (ii) cause each continuing employee to be given credit under such plan for all amounts paid by such continuing employee under any similar benefit plan of HNH for the plan year that includes the closing date for purposes of applying deductibles, co-payments and out-of-pocket maximums as though such amounts had been paid in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan maintained by SPLP, the surviving corporation or the relevant subsidiary, as applicable, for the plan year in which the closing date occurs.



Certain Relationships With HNH

Except pursuant to the merger agreement, or as set forth elsewhere in this prospectus/offer to exchange: (i) none of the members of the Purchaser Group nor, to the best knowledge of any member of the Purchaser Group, any of the persons listed in Annex D to this prospectus/offer to exchange beneficially owns or has a right to acquire any shares of HNH common stock or any other equity securities of HNH; (ii) none of the members of the Purchaser Group nor, to the best knowledge of any member of the Purchaser Group, any of the persons listed in Annex D to this prospectus/offer to exchange has effected any transaction with respect to the shares of HNH common stock or any other equity securities of HNH during the past two years; (iii) none of the members of the Purchaser Group nor, to the best knowledge of any member of the Purchaser Group, any of the persons listed in Annex D to this prospectus/offer to exchange, has any contract, arrangement, understanding or relationship with any other person with respect to any securities of HNH (including any contract, arrangement, understanding or relationship concerning the transfer or the voting of any such securities, joint ventures, loan or option arrangements, puts or calls, guaranties of loans, guaranties against loss or the giving or withholding of proxies, consents or authorizations); (iv) during the two years before the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange, there have been no transactions between any of the members of the Purchaser Group, their subsidiaries or, to the best knowledge of the members of the Purchaser Group, any of the persons listed in Annex D to this prospectus/offer to exchange, on the one hand, and HNH or any of its executive officers, directors or affiliates, on the other hand, that would require reporting under SEC rules and regulations; and (v) during the two years before the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange, there have been no contracts, negotiations or transactions between any of the members of the Purchaser Group, their subsidiaries or, to the best knowledge of the members of the Purchaser Group, any of the persons listed in Annex D to this prospectus/offer to exchange, on the one hand, and HNH or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, on the other hand, concerning a merger, consolidation or acquisition, a tender offer or other acquisition of securities, an election of directors or a sale or other transfer of a material amount of assets.

Management by Affiliates of SPLP

As of the date hereof, SPHG Holdings beneficially owns 8,560,592 shares of HNH's common stock, representing approximately 70.0% of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock. The power to vote and dispose of the securities held by SPHG Holdings is controlled by Steel Holdings GP. Warren G. Lichtenstein, HNH's Chairman of the Board, is also the Executive Chairman of Steel Holdings GP. Jack L. Howard, HNH's Principal Executive Officer, Vice Chairman and a director, John H. McNamara, Jr., a director, Jeffrey A. Svoboda, a director, William T. Fejes, Jr., a Senior Vice President of the Company and President and Chief Executive Officer of Handy & Harman Group Ltd. ("HNH Group"), and Douglas B. Woodworth, HNH's Chief Financial Officer and a Senior Vice President, are also affiliates of Steel Holdings GP. James F. McCabe, Jr., HNH's Chief Financial Officer and a Senior Vice President until May 2016, was also an affiliate of Steel Holdings GP until May 2016.

Management Services Agreement

On January 1, 2012, HNH entered into a management services agreement with SP Corporate Services LLC ("SP Corporate"), pursuant to which SP Corporate provided HNH with continued executive and corporate services. The management services agreement was amended and restated effective February 23, 2016 to have SPH Services, Inc. ("SPH Services") furnish the services to the Company and to make certain other changes. Effective May 11, 2016, SP Corporate merged with and into SPH Services and the name of SPH Services was changed to Steel Services Ltd. Steel Services is, and both SP Corporate and SPH Services were, affiliates of SPHG Holdings. Jack L. Howard is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Steel Services and Douglas B. Woodworth is Chief Financial Officer of Steel Services. Under the management services agreement, SP Corporate furnished and, effective as of February 23, 2016, Steel Services (f/k/a SPH Services) furnishes the services of Jack L. Howard, William T. Fejes, Jr., and Douglas B. Woodworth. The prior services of Messrs. McCabe and Svoboda as executive officers of the Company were also furnished under the management services agreement. Additionally, Steel Services has agreed to furnish to HNH personnel to perform additional services, which include, without limitation:

- legal, tax, accounting, treasury, environmental health and safety, human resources, marketing, operating group management and investor relations services;
- additional executive services;
- · international business services; and
- · preparation of reports for filing with the SEC.

Performance of services under the management services agreement by Steel Services and its personnel are subject to the oversight of HNH's audit committee, and the authority of Steel Services and its personnel to incur any obligation or enter into any transaction is subject to the prior approval of HNH's audit committee or a prior written delegation of authority of HNH's audit committee delivered to Steel Services.

Messrs. Howard, Fejes and Woodworth, as well as the persons that will render the above functions to the Company, are made available to HNH on a non-exclusive basis. However, pursuant to the terms of the management services agreement, all such persons are required to devote such time and effort as is reasonably necessary to fulfill the statutory and fiduciary duties applicable to them in performing such services.

On May 3, 2015, the management services agreement was modified to clarify the services to be provided and to adjust the annual fee in consideration of such services from \$8.9 million to \$10.6 million. Additionally, HNH reimburses Steel Services for all expenses incurred on HNH's behalf in connection with the performance of the services under the management services agreement. During 2016, HNH reimbursed Steel Services and its affiliates an aggregate of approximately \$1.6 million for business expenses incurred on its behalf pursuant to the management services agreement. The management services agreement provides that HNH is to indemnify and hold harmless Steel Services and its affiliates and employees from any claims or liabilities by a third party in connection with activities or the rendering of services under the management services agreement.

The management services agreement continues through December 31, 2017 and shall renew for successive one year periods, unless and until terminated in accordance with the terms set forth therein. Upon any such termination, a reserve fund will be established by the Company for the payment of expenses incurred by or due to Steel Services that are attributable to the services provided to the Company.

HNH's audit committee approved the entry into the management services agreement. The audit committee concluded that the engagement of Steel Services provides a cost effective solution to the Company for obtaining executive and other necessary services. The services provided under the management services agreement were formerly provided by employees of the Company. In negotiating and approving the management services agreement, HNH's audit committee, consisting of its "independent" directors as defined by the rules of the Nasdaq, considered such issues as the scope of the services to be provided by Steel Services to the Company, the pricing of any arrangement with Steel Services and the limits of authority for the outsourced personnel.

Equity Grants

During 2016, HNH awarded 38,545 restricted shares in the aggregate to persons who provided services to HNH under the management services agreement. This amount includes awards of 3,625 shares to Mr. Woodworth and 3,448 shares to Mr. McCabe. HNH's compensation committee approved these awards after taking into account the recommendation of Steel Services.

Additionally, during 2016, HNH awarded as cash awards in lieu of restricted stock grants awards of \$778,875 to Mr. Howard and \$91,733 to Mr. Svoboda for their services to HNH under the management services agreement. The awards to Messrs. Howard and Svoboda represent fifty percent (50%) of the 2016 grant, with Messrs. Howard and Svoboda having chosen to defer the other fifty percent (50%). In addition, Mr. Lichtenstein elected to defer one hundred percent (100%) of his 2016 grant. At the discretion of the Company's compensation committee, the 2017 grants for each of Messrs. Lichtenstein, Howard and Svoboda could have been increased by the amount of their deferral, or approved at such level as is deemed appropriate depending upon the Company's performance in 2016. In fact, the deferred portion of the 2016 grants were approved and awarded in March 2017 which, together with the cash awards granted in 2017, resulted in aggregate cash awards of \$3,115,500 to Mr. Lichtenstein, \$2,336,625 to Mr. Howard and \$280,704 to Mr. Svoboda. Mr. Woodworth also received a cash award in lieu of a restricted stock grant in 2017 in the amount of \$42,188 for his services to HNH under the management services agreement.

The Company's compensation committee approved these awards after taking into account the recommendation of Steel Services.

During 2015, HNH awarded 26,607 shares of restricted stock in the aggregate to persons who provided services to it under the management services agreement. This amount includes awards of 18,305, 823 and 2,156 shares of restricted stock to Messrs. Howard, McCabe and Svoboda, respectively. Mr. Lichtenstein also received an award of 18,305 shares of restricted stock in 2015 in his capacity as Chairman. HNH's compensation committee approved these awards after taking into account the recommendation of SP Corporate.

Mutual Securities

Mutual Securities, Inc. is the custodian for the majority of the Company's holdings in ModusLink common stock. Jack L. Howard, HNH's Principal Executive Officer, Vice Chairman and a director of the Company board, is a registered principal of Mutual Securities, Inc.

Exchange Agreement

On May 31, 2015, HNH entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with HNH Group, HNH Group Acquisition LLC, HNH Group Acquisition Sub LLC and JPS Industries, Inc. ("JPS"). As a result of the closing of the merger under such agreement, JPS was indirectly owned by both HNH Group and SPHG Holdings. On July 31, 2015, pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2015, by and between HNH Group and SPHG Holdings, HNH issued to HNH Group 1,429,407 shares of common stock of HNH, which, immediately following such issuance, HNH Group exchanged with SPHG Holdings for all shares of JPS common stock held by SPHG Holdings. As a result of this exchange, HNH Group owned all of the shares of JPS common stock and thereafter merged JPS with and into its wholly-owned subsidiary, HNH Acquisition LLC, which was the surviving entity in such merger.

Purchase of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth repurchases of HNH common stock by HNH in each fiscal quarter during the past two years, including pursuant to share repurchase programs approved by the Company board.

	Total Number of Shares		Weighted Average
<u>Period</u>	Repurchased	Range of Prices Paid	Price Paid per Share
Quarter ended June 30, 2017	0		
Quarter ended March 31, 2017	13,666*	\$ 26.70 - \$ 28.05	\$ 26.96
Quarter ended December 31, 2016	0		
Quarter ended September 30, 2016	10,933	\$ 26.41 - \$ 26.50	\$ 26.50
Quarter ended June 30, 2016	4,086	\$ 26.27 - \$ 26.38	\$ 26.36
Quarter ended March 31, 2016	16,320*	\$ 22.08 - \$ 24.74	\$ 24.22
Quarter ended December 31, 2015	0		
Quarter ended September 30, 2015	3,145*	\$ 28.96 - \$ 29.60	\$ 28.97
Quarter ended June 30, 2015	2,258*	\$ 35.76 - \$ 36.78	\$ 36.43

* Shares foregone for income tax obligations attributable to the vesting of restricted stock during the respective quarter.

Fees and Expenses

SPLP has retained MacKenzie Partners, Inc. as information agent in connection with the offer and the merger. The information agent may contact holders of shares by mail, email, telephone, facsimile or personal interview and may request brokers, dealers, commercial banks and trust companies and other nominees to forward material relating to the offer and the merger to beneficial owners of shares. SPLP will pay the information agent approximately \$15,000 for its services in connection with the offer, will reimburse the information agent for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and will indemnify the information agent against certain liabilities and expenses, including certain liabilities under the U.S. federal securities laws.

In addition, SPLP has retained American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC as exchange agent in connection with the offer and the merger. SPLP will pay the exchange agent approximately \$21,500 for its services in connection with the offer, will reimburse the exchange agent for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and will indemnify the exchange agent against certain liabilities and expenses, including certain liabilities under the U.S. federal securities laws.

SPLP will reimburse brokers, dealers, commercial banks and trust companies and other nominees, upon request, for customary clerical and mailing expenses incurred by them in forwarding materials related to the offer and the merger to their customers. Except as set forth above, neither SPLP nor Merger Sub will pay any fees or commissions to any broker, dealer or other person for soliciting tenders of shares pursuant to the offer.

The following table is an estimate of fees and expenses to be incurred and paid by members of the Purchaser Group in connection with the offer and the merger:

<u>Type of Fee</u>	Amount
SEC Filing Fee	\$ 13,854
Financial Advisor's Fees and Expenses	\$ []
Legal Fees and Expenses	\$ []
Accounting Fees and Expenses	\$ []
Depositary	\$ []
Information Agent	\$ []
Printing and Mailing	\$ []
Miscellaneous	\$ []
TOTAL	\$ []

Provisions for Unaffiliated Securityholders

SPLP and Merger Sub have made no arrangements in connection with the transactions to provide HNH stockholders access to their corporate files or to obtain counsel or appraisal services at their expense. For a discussion of appraisal rights, see "Special Factors — Dissenters' Rights."

Litigation Regarding the Transaction

On July 12, 2017, a purported class action captioned Susan Paskowitz v. Handy & Harman Ltd., et al., was filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The plaintiff alleges, among other things, that the proposed transaction consideration is unfair and inadequate, and that the members of the Company board and SPLP have breached their fiduciary duties to HNH's public stockholders in connection with the offer and the merger. The plaintiff seeks enjoinment of the offer and the merger or, alternatively, rescission in the event the offer and the merger are consummated. SPLP and HNH believe that plaintiff's claims are without merit and intend to defend this case vigorously.

Accounting Treatment

In accordance with GAAP, SPLP will account for the acquisition of shares in the offer and the merger as an equity transaction. Therefore, no gain or loss will be recognized in consolidated net income or comprehensive income. The carrying amount of SPLP's noncontrolling interests will be adjusted to reflect the change in SPLP's ownership interest in HNH. Any difference between the fair value of the consideration and the amount by which the noncontrolling interest is adjusted will be recognized in capital attributable to SPLP.

Stock Exchange Listing

The SPLP preferred units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SPLPPRA." SPLP intends to file a supplemental listing application to list on the NYSE the SPLP preferred units that SPLP will issue in the offer and the merger. Such listing is a condition to the completion of the offer and the merger.

Resale of SPLP Preferred Units

All SPLP preferred units received by HNH stockholders as consideration in the offer and the merger will be freely tradable for purposes of the Securities Act, except for SPLP preferred units received by any person who is deemed an "affiliate" of SPLP at the time of the closing of the merger. SPLP preferred units held by an affiliate of SPLP may be resold or otherwise transferred without registration in compliance with the volume limitations, manner of sale requirements, notice requirements and other requirements under Rule 144 or as otherwise permitted under the Securities Act. This prospectus/offer to exchange does not cover resales of SPLP preferred units received upon completion of the offer or the merger by any person, and no person is authorized to make any use of this prospectus/offer to exchange in connection with any resale.

EXCHANGE OFFER PROCEDURES

Distribution of Offering Materials

This document, the related letter of transmittal, the related notice of guaranteed delivery and other relevant materials will be delivered to record holders of shares of HNH common stock and to brokers, dealers, commercial banks, trust companies and similar persons whose names, or the names of whose nominees, appear on HNH's stockholder list or, if applicable, who are listed as participants in a clearing agency's security position listing, so that they can in turn send these materials to beneficial owners of shares.

Expiration of the Offer

The offer is scheduled to expire at 12:00 midnight, New York City time, at the end of [_____], 2017, which is the "expiration date," unless terminated or extended. "Expiration date" means [_____], 2017, unless and until SPLP and Merger Sub have extended the period during which the offer is open, subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, in which event the term "expiration date" means the latest time and date at which the offer, as so extended by SPLP and Merger Sub, will expire.

Extension, Termination and Amendment of Offer

The merger agreement provides that SPLP and Merger Sub will:

- extend the offer for the minimum period required by any rule, regulation, interpretation or position of the SEC or the staff thereof applicable to the offer; and
- if, on the expiration date or any subsequent date as of which the offer is scheduled to expire, any condition to the offer has not been satisfied or waived, extend the offer on one or more occasions in consecutive increments of up to five (5) business days each (or such longer period as the parties may agree) until such time as each such condition has been satisfied or waived.

However, (1) in no event will SPLP and Merger Sub be required to extend the offer beyond December 31, 2017 or the valid termination of the merger agreement, (2) if, at any otherwise scheduled expiration of the offer, all of the conditions to the offer, except for the minimum tender condition and/or the majority of the minority tender condition, has been satisfied or waived, SPLP and Merger Sub will in such situation be required to extend the offer in consecutive increments of up to five (5) business days each but in no event more than fifteen (15) business days in the aggregate (or such other period as the parties may agree), (3) SPLP and Merger Sub may extend the offer for up to five (5) business days in order to determine whether the condition that the shares of HNH common stock held by dissenting stockholders shall not have exceeded ten (10%) percent of the shares of HNH common stock outstanding immediately prior to the acceptance time (as defined herein) has been satisfied, (4) SPLP and Merger Sub will extend the offer if requested by the Company special committee, or may extend the offer at their election, in connection with their right to renegotiate the terms of the merger agreement in the event that the Company receives a superior third-party proposal to the offer and the merger, and (5) SPLP and Merger Sub may extend the offer for up to twenty (20) days in order to deliver any required notices to the NYSE in connection with the payment of distributions on outstanding SPLP preferred units.

Other than as described above, SPLP and Merger Sub may not extend, terminate or withdraw the offer without the prior written consent of HNH, with the approval of the Company special committee.

Any decision to extend, terminate or withdraw the offer will be made public by a press release or otherwise by a public announcement.

SPLP and Merger Sub expressly reserve the right, prior to the expiration of the offer, to waive any condition to the offer (other than the minimum tender condition and the majority of the minority tender condition, which are non-waivable) or modify the terms of the offer, except that, without the prior written consent of the Company, SPLP and Merger Sub may not (i) reduce the number of shares of HNH common stock subject to the offer, (ii) reduce the transaction consideration, (iii) add to the conditions to the offer or change, modify or waive any condition to the offer in a manner adverse to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders, (iv) extend or otherwise change the expiration date of the offer (except as described above), (v) change the form of consideration payable in the offer, or (vi) otherwise amend, modify or supplement any of the other terms of the offer in any manner adverse to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders.

In the case of any extension, SPLP and Merger Sub will make a public announcement of such extension that is issued no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day following the previously scheduled expiration date. Subject to applicable law and without limiting the manner in which SPLP and Merger Sub may choose to make any public announcement, SPLP and Merger Sub assume no obligation to publish, advertise or otherwise communicate any such public announcement of this type other than by issuing a press release or making a public announcement.

If SPLP and Merger Sub materially change the terms of the offer or the information concerning the offer, or if SPLP and Merger Sub waive a material condition of the offer, SPLP and Merger Sub will extend the offer to the extent legally required under the Exchange Act.

For purposes of the offer, a "business day" means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or a federal holiday and consists of the time period from 12:01 a.m. through 12:00 midnight, New York City time.

The parties do not anticipate making any subsequent offering period available after the offer.

Exchange of Shares

SPLP has retained American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC as the exchange agent (the "exchange agent") to handle the exchange of shares for the transaction consideration in both the offer and the merger.

Upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted) of the conditions of the offer (including, if the offer is extended or amended, the terms and conditions of any such extension or amendment), Merger Sub will accept for exchange (the time of such acceptance, the "acceptance time") promptly after the expiration date, and SPLP will thereafter promptly exchange the transaction consideration for, shares of HNH common stock validly tendered and not properly withdrawn. In all cases, an HNH stockholder will receive consideration for tendered HNH shares only after timely receipt by the exchange agent of certificates for those shares, or a confirmation of a book-entry transfer of those shares into the exchange agent's account at Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal, or an agent's message in connection with a book-entry transfer, and any other required documents.

For purposes of the offer, Merger Sub will be deemed to have accepted for exchange shares validly tendered and not properly withdrawn if and when it notifies the exchange agent of its acceptance of those shares pursuant to the offer. The exchange agent will deliver to the applicable HNH stockholders SPLP preferred units issuable in exchange for shares of HNH validly tendered and accepted pursuant to the offer promptly after receipt of such notice informing it of Merger Sub's acceptance. The exchange agent will act as the agent for tendering HNH stockholders for the purpose of receiving the SPLP preferred units from SPLP and transmitting such SPLP preferred units to the tendering HNH stockholders. HNH stockholders will not receive any interest on any cash that SPLP pays in the offer in lieu of fractional units, even if there is a delay in making the exchange. If Merger Sub does not accept any tendered HNH shares for exchange pursuant to the terms and conditions of the offer for any reason, SPLP and Merger Sub will cause to be returned certificates for such unexchanged shares without expense to the tendering stockholder or, in the case of shares tendered by book-entry transfer into the exchange agent's account at DTC, the shares to be returned will be credited to an account maintained with DTC following expiration or termination of the offer.

Withdrawal Rights

HNH stockholders may withdraw tendered shares of HNH common stock at any time until the expiration time on the expiration date and until Merger Sub accepts such shares for exchange.

For the withdrawal of shares to be effective, the exchange agent must receive a written notice of withdrawal from the HNH stockholder at its address set forth elsewhere in this document, prior to the expiration time on the expiration date. The notice must include the HNH stockholder's name, address, social security number, the certificate number(s), if any, the number of shares to be withdrawn and the name of the registered holder, if it is different from that of the person who tendered those shares, and any other information required pursuant to the offer or the procedures of DTC, if applicable.

A financial institution must guarantee all signatures on the notice of withdrawal, unless the shares to be withdrawn were tendered for the account of an eligible institution. Most banks, savings and loan associations and brokerage houses are able to provide signature guarantees. An "eligible institution" is a financial institution that is a participant in the Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program.

If shares have been tendered pursuant to the procedures for book-entry transfer, any notice of withdrawal must specify the name and number of the account at DTC to be credited with the withdrawn shares and must otherwise comply with DTC's procedures. If certificates have been delivered or otherwise identified to the exchange agent, the name of the registered holder and the serial numbers of the particular certificates evidencing the shares withdrawn must also be furnished to the exchange agent, as stated above, prior to the physical release of such certificates.

SPLP and Merger Sub will decide all questions as to the form and validity (including time of receipt) of any notice of withdrawal in their sole discretion, and their decision will be final and binding, provided that applicable securityholders may challenge any such determination in a court of competent jurisdiction. None of Merger Sub, SPLP, HNH, the exchange agent, the information agent or any other person is under any duty to give notification of any defects or irregularities in any tender or notice of withdrawal or will incur any liability for failure to give any such notification. Any shares properly withdrawn will be deemed not to have been validly tendered for purposes of the offer. However, an HNH stockholder may re-tender withdrawn shares by following the applicable procedures discussed under the section "— Procedures for Tendering" at any time on or prior to the expiration date.

Procedures for Tendering

To validly tender shares of HNH common stock held of record, HNH stockholders must:

if such shares are in certificated form or are held in book entry form directly with HNH via the direct registration system, deliver a properly
completed and duly executed letter of transmittal, along with any required signature guarantees and any other required documents, and
certificates, if applicable, for tendered HNH shares to the exchange agent for the offer, at its address set forth elsewhere in this document, all of
which must be received by the exchange agent on or prior to the expiration date;

- if such shares are in electronic book-entry form, deliver an agent's message in connection with a book-entry transfer, and any other required documents, to the exchange agent at its address set forth elsewhere in this document and follow the other procedures for book-entry tender set forth herein, all of which must be received by the exchange agent on or prior to the expiration date; or
- · comply with the guaranteed delivery procedures described below.

If shares of HNH common stock are held in "street name" (i.e., through a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee), those shares may be tendered by the nominee holding such shares by book-entry transfer through DTC. To validly tender such shares held in street name, HNH stockholders should instruct such nominee to do so prior to the expiration date.

The term "agent's message" means a message transmitted by DTC to, and received by, the exchange agent and forming a part of a book-entry confirmation, which states that DTC has received an express acknowledgment from the DTC participant tendering the shares that are the subject of such book-entry confirmation, that such participant has received and agrees to be bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal and that SPLP and Merger Sub may enforce that agreement against such participant.

The exchange agent has established an account with respect to the shares at DTC in connection with the offer, and any financial institution that is a participant in DTC may make book-entry delivery of shares by causing DTC to transfer such shares on or prior to the expiration date into the exchange agent's account in accordance with DTC's procedure for such transfer. However, although delivery of shares may be effected through book-entry transfer at DTC, the letter of transmittal with any required signature guarantees, or an agent's message, along with any other required documents, must, in any case, be received by the exchange agent at one of its addresses set forth elsewhere in this document on or prior to the expiration date. **SPLP and Merger Sub cannot assure HNH stockholders that book-entry delivery of shares will be available. If book-entry delivery is not available, HNH stockholders must tender shares by means of delivery of HNH share certificates.** Tendered shares received by the exchange agent after the expiration date will be disregarded and of no effect.

Signatures on all letters of transmittal must be guaranteed by an eligible institution (as defined below), except in cases in which shares are tendered either by a registered holder of shares who has not completed the box entitled "Special Issuance Instructions" or the box entitled "Special Delivery Instructions" on the letter of transmittal or for the account of an eligible institution.

If the certificates for shares are registered in the name of a person other than the person who signs the letter of transmittal, or if certificates for unexchanged shares are to be issued to a person other than the registered holder(s), the certificates must be endorsed or accompanied by appropriate stock powers, in either case signed exactly as the name or names of the registered owner or owners appear on the certificates, with the signature or signatures on the certificates or stock powers guaranteed by an eligible institution.

If a stockholder desires to tender shares pursuant to the offer and the share certificates evidencing such stockholder's shares are not immediately available or such stockholder cannot deliver the share certificates and all other required documents to the exchange agent on or prior to the expiration date, or such stockholder cannot complete the procedure for delivery by book-entry transfer on a timely basis, such shares may nevertheless be tendered, provided that all of the following conditions are satisfied:

- such tender is made by or through an eligible institution;
- a properly completed and duly executed notice of guaranteed delivery, substantially in the form made available by us, is received on or prior to the expiration date by the exchange agent as provided below; and
- the share certificates (or a book-entry confirmation) evidencing all tendered shares, in proper form for transfer, in each case together with the
 letter of transmittal, properly completed and duly executed, with any required signature guarantees (or, in the case of a book-entry transfer, an
 agent's message) and any other documents required by the letter of transmittal are received by the exchange agent within three business days
 after the date of execution of such notice of guaranteed delivery.

The notice of guaranteed delivery should be delivered to the exchange agent at one of its addresses set forth in this prospectus/offer to exchange and must include a guarantee by an eligible institution in the form set forth in the form of notice of guaranteed delivery made available by SPLP and Merger Sub.

The term "eligible institution" shall mean a financial institution (including most commercial banks, savings and loan associations and brokerage houses) that is a member in good standing of the Security Transfer Agents Medallion Program or any other "eligible guarantor institution," as such term is defined in Rule 17Ad-15 under the Exchange Act.

The method of delivery of HNH share certificates and all other required documents, including delivery through DTC, is at the option and risk of the tendering HNH stockholder, and delivery will be deemed made only when actually received by the exchange agent. If delivery is by mail, SPLP and Merger Sub recommend registered mail with return receipt requested and properly insured. In all cases, HNH stockholders should allow sufficient time to ensure timely delivery.

To prevent U.S. federal backup withholding, each HNH stockholder that is a U.S. person, other than a stockholder exempt from backup withholding as described elsewhere in this document, must provide the exchange agent with its correct taxpayer identification number and certify that it is not subject to backup withholding by completing the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") Form W-9 included with the letter of transmittal. Certain stockholders (including, among others, certain foreign persons) are not subject to these backup withholding requirements. In order for a foreign person to qualify as an exempt recipient for purposes of U.S. backup withholding, the stockholder must submit an IRS Form W-8BEN, or other applicable IRS Form W-8, signed under penalties of perjury, attesting to such person's exempt status. In addition, foreign persons may be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax with respect to cash received in lieu of fractional units pursuant to the offer. See "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences."

The tender of shares pursuant to any of the procedures described above will constitute a binding agreement between SPLP, Merger Sub and the tendering HNH stockholder upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction or waiver, to the extent permitted, of the conditions of the offer (including, if the offer is extended or amended, the terms and conditions of any such extension or amendment).

Grant of Proxy

By executing a letter of transmittal, an HNH stockholder will irrevocably appoint SPLP's and Merger Sub's designees as such HNH stockholder's attorneys-in-fact and proxies, each with full power of substitution, to the full extent of such stockholder's rights with respect to its shares tendered and accepted for exchange by Merger Sub and with respect to any and all other shares and other securities issued or issuable in respect of those shares on or after the expiration date. That appointment is effective, and voting rights will be effected, when and only to the extent that Merger Sub accepts tendered HNH shares for exchange pursuant to the offer and SPLP deposits with the exchange agent the transaction consideration for such shares. All such proxies will be considered coupled with an interest in the tendered shares and therefore will not be revocable. Upon the effectiveness of such appointment, all prior proxies that the HNH stockholder has given will be revoked, and such stockholder may not give any subsequent proxies (and, if given, they will not be deemed effective). SPLP's and Merger Sub's designees will, with respect to the shares for which the appointment is effective, be empowered, among other things, to exercise all of such stockholder's voting and other rights as they, in their sole discretion, deem proper at any annual, special or adjourned meeting of HNH's stockholders, by written consent or otherwise.

SPLP and Merger Sub reserve the right to require that, in order for shares to be deemed validly tendered, immediately upon the exchange of such shares, they must be able to exercise full voting rights with respect to such shares. However, prior to acceptance for exchange by Merger Sub in accordance with the terms of the offer, the appointment will not be effective, and SPLP and Merger Sub will have no voting rights as a result of the tender of shares until such acceptance.

Fees and Commissions

Tendering registered HNH stockholders who tender shares directly to the exchange agent will not be obligated to pay any charges or expenses of the exchange agent or any brokerage commissions. Tendering HNH stockholders who hold HNH shares through a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee should consult that institution as to whether or not such institution will charge the stockholder any service fees in connection with tendering shares pursuant to the offer. Except as set forth in the instructions to the letter of transmittal, transfer taxes on the exchange of shares pursuant to the offer will be paid by SPLP.

Matters Concerning Validity and Eligibility

SPLP and Merger Sub will determine questions as to the validity, form, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance for exchange of any tender of shares, in their sole discretion, and their determination will be final and binding, provided that applicable securityholders may challenge any such determination in a court of competent jurisdiction. SPLP and Merger Sub reserve the absolute right to reject any and all tenders of shares that they determine are not in the proper form or the acceptance of or exchange for which may be unlawful. SPLP and Merger Sub also reserve the absolute right, subject to applicable laws, to waive any defect or irregularity in the tender of any shares. No tender of shares will be deemed to have been validly made until all defects and irregularities in tenders of such shares have been cured or waived. None of Merger Sub, SPLP, HNH, the exchange agent, the information agent or any other person will be under any duty to give notification of any defects or irregularities in the tender of any shares or will incur any liability for failure to give any such notification. Subject to any rights of HNH under the merger agreement, SPLP's and Merger Sub's interpretation of the terms and conditions of the offer (including the letter of transmittal and instructions thereto) will be final and binding, provided that applicable securityholders may challenge any such determination in a court of competent jurisdiction.

HNH stockholders who have any questions about the procedure for tendering shares in the offer should contact the information agent, MacKenzie Partners, Inc., at (212) 929-5500 (collect) or (800) 322-2885 (toll free) or at the address set forth elsewhere in this document.

Announcement of Results of the Offer

SPLP and Merger Sub will announce the final results of the offer, including whether all of the conditions to the offer have been satisfied or, to the extent permitted, waived and whether Merger Sub will accept the tendered shares of HNH common stock for exchange, promptly following the expiration date. The announcement will be made by a press release in accordance with applicable securities laws and stock exchange requirements.

No Stockholder Approval of Merger

If the offer is consummated, SPLP is not required to and will not seek the approval of HNH's remaining public stockholders before effecting the merger. Section 251(h) of the DGCL provides that following the consummation of a successful tender offer for a public corporation, and subject to certain statutory provisions, if the acquiring corporation owns at least the amount of shares of each class of stock of the target corporation that would otherwise be required to approve a merger involving the target corporation, and the other stockholders receive the same consideration for their stock in the merger as was payable in the tender offer, the acquiring corporation can effect a merger without the action of the other stockholders of the target corporation. If the offer is completed, SPLP intends to effect the closing of the merger without a vote of the HNH stockholders in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL.

Applicability of Rules Regarding "Going Private" Transactions

The SEC has adopted Rule 13e-3 under the Exchange Act, which is applicable to certain "going private" transactions. Rule 13e-3 is applicable to the offer and the merger because SPLP is deemed to be an affiliate of HNH. Each member of the Purchaser Group may be deemed to be "engaged" in the transaction under applicable SEC rules and regulations. As a result, the members of the Purchaser Group are required to make certain statements in this prospectus/offer to exchange for the purpose of complying with the requirements of Rule 13e-3 and related rules and regulations under the Exchange Act.

Effect of the Offer on the Market for HNH Common Stock

The purchase of shares of HNH common stock by SPLP pursuant to the offer will reduce the number of holders of shares of HNH common stock and the number of shares of HNH common stock that might otherwise trade on Nasdaq and could adversely affect the liquidity and market value of the remaining shares held by the public. The extent of the public market for shares of HNH common stock after consummation of the offer and the availability of quotations for such shares will depend upon a number of factors, including the interest in maintaining a market in the shares of HNH common stock and other factors. It is anticipated that the merger will be consummated promptly after the completion of the offer pursuant to Section 251(h) of the DGCL. As a result of the merger, shares of HNH common stock will no longer qualify for inclusion on Nasdaq and will be withdrawn from listing.

Nasdaq Listing

The shares of HNH common stock are currently listed on Nasdaq. However, the rules of Nasdaq establish certain criteria that, if not met, could lead to the discontinuance of listing of the shares of HNH common stock from Nasdaq. Among such criteria are the number of stockholders, the number of shares publicly held and the aggregate market value of the shares publicly held. If, as a result of the purchase of shares of HNH common stock pursuant to the offer or otherwise, shares of HNH common stock no longer meet the requirements of Nasdaq for continued listing and the listing of shares of HNH common stock is discontinued, the market for such shares would be adversely affected.

Following the consummation of the offer, if the merger is for some reason not consummated, it is possible that shares of HNH common stock would be traded on other securities exchanges (with trades published by such exchanges), the OTC Bulletin Board or in a local or regional over-the-counter market. The extent of the public market for such shares would, however, depend upon the number of HNH stockholders and the aggregate market value of shares of HNH common stock remaining at such time, the interest in maintaining a market in such shares on the part of securities firms, the possible termination of registration of shares of HNH common stock under the Exchange Act and other factors. As a result of the merger, shares of HNH common stock will no longer qualify for inclusion on Nasdaq and will be withdrawn from listing.

Registration Under the Exchange Act

The shares of HNH common stock are currently registered under the Exchange Act. Such registration may be terminated upon application by HNH to the SEC if HNH shares are neither listed on a national securities exchange nor held by 300 or more holders of record. Termination of registration of HNH shares under the Exchange Act would substantially reduce the information required to be furnished by HNH to its stockholders and to the SEC and would make certain provisions of the Exchange Act no longer applicable to HNH, such as the short-swing profit recovery provisions of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, the requirement of furnishing a proxy statement pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act in connection with meetings of stockholders and the related requirement of furnishing an annual report to stockholders, and the requirements of Rule 13e-3 under the Exchange Act with respect to "going private" transactions. Furthermore, the ability of "affiliates" of HNH and persons holding "restricted securities" of HNH to dispose of such securities pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act may be impaired or eliminated. If registration of the shares of HNH common stock under the Exchange Act would no longer be "margin securities" or be eligible for quotation on Nasdaq. After consummation of the offer and the merger, SPLP and Merger Sub currently intend to cause the delisting of the shares of HNH common stock from Nasdaq, the termination of the registration of the shares of HNH common stock under the Exchange Act, and the suspension of HNH's obligation to file reports under Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon after consummation of the offer and the merger as the requirements for delisting, termination of registration and suspension are satisfied.

Margin Regulations

The shares of HNH common stock are currently "margin securities" under the Regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "Federal Reserve Board"), which designation has the effect, among other effects, of allowing brokers to extend credit on the collateral of such shares of HNH common stock. Depending upon factors similar to those described above regarding the market for HNH shares and stock quotations, it is possible that, following the offer, shares of HNH common stock would no longer constitute "margin securities" for the purposes of the margin regulations of the Federal Reserve Board and, therefore, could no longer be used as collateral for loans made by brokers. As a result of the merger, shares of HNH common stock will no longer constitute "margin securities."

Exchange Agent Contact Information

The Exchange Agent for the Offer is:



If delivering by mail:

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC Operations Center Attn: Reorganization Department P.O. Box 2042 New York, New York 10272-2042

> Phone: Toll-free (877) 248-6417 (718) 921-8317

If delivering by hand, express mail, courier or any other expedited service:

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC Operations Center Attn: Reorganization Department 6201 15th Avenue Brooklyn, New York 11219

MERGER AGREEMENT

This section describes the material terms of the merger agreement. The description in this section and elsewhere in this document is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the merger agreement, a copy of which is attached as **Annex A** and is incorporated by reference into this document. This summary does not purport to be complete and may not contain all of the information about the merger agreement that is important to you. We encourage you to read the merger agreement carefully and in its entirety.

Explanatory note regarding the merger agreement and the summary of the merger agreement - representations, warranties and covenants in the merger agreement are not intended to function or be relied on as public disclosures

The merger agreement and the summary of terms included in this document have been prepared to provide you with information regarding its terms and are not intended to provide any factual information about HNH, SPLP, Merger Sub or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Such information can be found elsewhere in this document or in the public filings that SPLP and HNH make with the SEC, as described in the section entitled "Where To Obtain Additional Information." The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the merger agreement have been made solely for the purposes of the merger agreement as of specific dates and solely for the benefit of parties to the merger agreement and:

- are not intended as statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk between the parties in the event the statements therein prove to be inaccurate;
- have been modified or qualified by certain confidential disclosures that were made between the parties in connection with the negotiation of the merger agreement, which disclosures are not reflected in the merger agreement itself;
- may no longer be true as of a given date;
- may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality in a way that is different from those generally applicable to you or other stockholders and reports and documents filed with the SEC; and
- may be subject in some cases to other exceptions and qualifications (including exceptions that do not result in, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a "material adverse effect").

Accordingly, you should not rely on the representations, warranties or covenants or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of SPLP, HNH, Merger Sub or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the date as of which the representations and warranties were made in the merger agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in SPLP's and HNH's public disclosures. Accordingly, the representations and warranties and other provisions of the merger agreement or any description of such provisions should not be read alone, but instead should be read together with the information provided elsewhere in this document and in the documents incorporated by reference into this document. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information."

The Offer

Principal Terms of the Offer

The merger agreement provides that, subject to the terms and conditions of the offer and the merger agreement, Merger Sub will (and SPLP will cause Merger Sub to) immediately after the offer expires, accept for payment (the time of such acceptance, the "acceptance time"), and promptly after the expiration of the offer SPLP will pay for, all shares of HNH common stock validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to the offer (excluding shares tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee). The merger agreement provides that the obligation of Merger Sub to accept for payment, and SPLP to pay for, the shares validly tendered (and not withdrawn) is subject to the satisfaction or (if permitted) waiver of the conditions of the Offer.

The merger agreement provides that SPLP and Merger Sub expressly reserve the right, prior to the expiration of the offer, to waive any of the conditions to the offer, except that SPLP and Merger Sub may not waive (a) the minimum tender condition, (b) the majority of the minority tender condition, or (c) the condition that any governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall not have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any law or order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect and has the effect of making the offer or the merger illegal or otherwise preventing or prohibiting consummation of the offer or the merger.

In addition, the merger agreement provides that SPLP and Merger Sub expressly reserve the right to modify the terms of the offer, except that, without the prior written consent of HNH, SPLP and Merger Sub will not (i) reduce the number of shares subject to the offer, (ii) reduce the transaction consideration, (iii) add to the conditions to the offer or change, modify or waive any of the conditions to the offer in a manner adverse to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders, (iv) extend or otherwise change the expiration date of the offer (except as required or permitted by the merger agreement), (v) change the form of consideration payable in the offer, or (vi) otherwise amend, modify or supplement any of the other terms of the offer in any manner adverse to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders.

Expiration and Extensions of the Offer

The initial expiration date of the offer shall be 12:00 midnight (New York City time) on the twentieth (20th) business day following the commencement of the offer (determined using Exchange Act Rule 14d-1(g)(3)).

The merger agreement provides that SPLP and Merger Sub will:

- extend the offer for the minimum period required by any rule, regulation, interpretation or position of the SEC or the staff thereof applicable to the offer; and
- if, on the expiration date, any condition to the offer has not been satisfied or waived, extend the offer on one or more occasions in consecutive
 increments of up to five (5) business days each (or such longer period as the parties may agree) until such time as each such condition has been
 satisfied or waived.

However, (1) in no event will SPLP and Merger Sub be required to extend the offer beyond December 31, 2017 or the valid termination of the merger agreement, (2) if, at any otherwise scheduled expiration of the offer, all of the conditions to the offer, except for the minimum tender condition and/or the majority of the minority tender condition, has been satisfied or waived, SPLP and Merger Sub will in such situation be required to extend the offer in consecutive increments of up to five (5) business days each but in no event more than fifteen (15) business days in the aggregate (or such other period as the parties may agree), (3) SPLP and Merger Sub may extend the offer for up to five (5) business days in order to determine whether the appraisal rights condition to the offer will have been satisfied, (4) SPLP and Merger Sub will extend the offer if requested by the Company special committee, or may extend the offer at their election, in connection with their right to renegotiate the terms of the merger agreement in the event that HNH receives a superior third-party proposal to the offer and the merger, and (5) SPLP and Merger Sub may extend the offer for up to twenty (20) days in order to deliver any required notices to the NYSE in connection with the payment of distributions on outstanding SPLP preferred units.

The offer may not be extended by SPLP and Merger Sub except as specifically provided above. The offer also may not be terminated prior to the expiration date unless the merger agreement is validly terminated in accordance with its terms.

Schedule TO

The merger agreement provides that on the date of commencement of the offer, SPLP and Merger Sub will file a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with the SEC, which will contain or incorporate by reference this prospectus/offer to exchange and related offer documents, and cause these offer documents to be disseminated to the unaffiliated holders of HNH's common stock as required by applicable law.

Schedule 14D-9 and Board Recommendation

The merger agreement provides that the Company will file with the SEC and disseminate to its unaffiliated stockholders a Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9. In accordance with the merger agreement, the Schedule 14D-9 will include, among other things, the Company board's recommendation that the unaffiliated stockholders of the Company accept the offer and tender their shares pursuant to the offer and that the merger is governed by Section 251(h) of the DGCL and will be consummated as soon as practicable following the acceptance time.

The Company also represents in the merger agreement that it has been advised by all of its directors and named executive officers who own shares that they intend to tender such shares pursuant to the offer.

Schedule 13E-3

The merger agreement provides that on the date that the offer documents are filed with the SEC, HNH, SPLP and Merger Sub will, in accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, file with the SEC a joint Rule 13e-3 Transaction Statement on Schedule 13E-3 with respect to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

The Merger

Principal Terms of the Merger

The merger agreement provides that as soon as practicable on the date of the closing of the merger, SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH will cause the merger to be consummated under the DGCL by filing a certificate of merger in such form as required by, and executed in accordance with, the DGCL (the "Certificate of Merger") with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and will make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL in connection with the merger. The merger will become effective at such date and time as the Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such subsequent date and time as SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH agree and specify in the Certificate of Merger. The merger agreement provides that, at the effective time of the merger (the "effective time"), Merger Sub will be merged with and into HNH, the separate existence of Merger Sub will cease, and HNH will continue as the surviving corporation of the merger (the "surviving corporation") as a wholly owned subsidiary of SPHG Holdings. The merger will be effected in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL without a vote of the stockholders of the Company.

The merger agreement provides that, at the effective time, each share of HNH common stock (other than shares held by the Company, any of its subsidiaries, SPLP, Merger Sub or any other subsidiary of SPLP or held by stockholders of the Company who have properly and validly perfected their statutory rights of appraisal in respect of such shares in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time will be converted into and become the right to receive the transaction consideration, without interest thereon and subject to any required tax withholding. The merger agreement further provides that each share of HNH common stock owned directly by SPHG Holdings will remain outstanding and will represent equity interests in the surviving corporation.

The parties agreed that the offer and the merger are integrated transactions and that they will treat the exchange of HNH common stock for SPLP preferred units, whether pursuant to the offer or the merger, as a transaction governed by Section 721(a) of the Code.

Adjustments to the Transaction Consideration

The merger agreement provides that if, between the date of the merger agreement and the acceptance time or the effective time, as applicable, any change in the number of issued or outstanding shares of HNH common stock or SPLP preferred units occurs as a result of a reclassification, recapitalization, share or unit split (including a reverse share or unit split), or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares or units, or any share or unit dividend or share or unit distribution (including any dividend or distribution of securities convertible into HNH common stock or SPLP preferred units, as applicable) with a record date during such period, the transaction consideration will be equitably adjusted to reflect such change.

Fractional Securities

No fraction of a SPLP preferred unit will be issued by virtue of the offer or the merger, but in lieu thereof each unaffiliated stockholder of HNH that would otherwise be entitled to a fraction of a SPLP preferred unit (after aggregating all fractional SPLP preferred units that otherwise would be received by such unaffiliated stockholder) will, in lieu of such fractional SPLP preferred unit, upon surrender of such unaffiliated stockholder's stock certificate(s) or book-entry share(s), be paid an amount of cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the product of: (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) \$25.00, the SPLP preferred unit liquidation preference.

Treatment of Restricted Shares in the Merger

The merger agreement provides that at the effective time, each unvested restricted share granted under any equity-based compensation plans of the Company will become fully vested and will as a result of the merger, without any action on the part of the holder of such restricted share, be automatically cancelled and the holder will cease to have any rights with respect thereto except the right to receive the transaction consideration with respect thereto.

There are no outstanding options to purchase HNH common stock.

Appraisal Rights

Any shares of HNH common stock that are issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time and that are held by unaffiliated stockholders who, in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL, (i) have not voted in favor of adopting the merger agreement or consented thereto in writing, (ii) shall have demanded properly in writing appraisal for such shares, (iii) have otherwise complied in all respects with Section 262 of the DGCL, and (iv) have not effectively withdrawn, lost or failed to perfect their rights to appraisal (the "dissenting stockholders"), will not be converted into the transaction consideration, but at the effective time, by virtue of the merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist and each holder of such shares (the "dissenting shares") shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, other than such rights to be paid the fair value of such dissenting shares provided under Section 262 of the DGCL. However, all shares of HNH common stock held by the stockholders of HNH who shall have failed to perfect or who effectively shall have withdrawn or lost their rights to appraisal of such shares of HNH common stock under Section 262 of the DGCL shall thereupon be deemed to have been cancelled and to have been converted, as of the effective time, into the right to receive the merger consideration relating thereto, without interest, upon surrender of the certificate or certificates that formerly evidenced such shares of HNH common stock or, in the case of book-entry shares, upon adherence to the procedures set forth in the letter of ransmittal, in each case in accordance with the merger agreement. From and after the effective time, holders of dissenting shares shall not be entitled to vote for any purpose or be entitled to the payment of dividends or other distributions with respect to HNH, the surviving corporation or SPLP (except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record of the Company prior to the effec

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation

At the effective time, (i) the certificate of incorporation of HNH, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time, shall be amended as set forth in the merger agreement and, as so amended, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the surviving corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable law, and (ii) the bylaws of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time, shall be amended in their entirety to conform to the bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the effective time and, as so amended, shall by the bylaws of the surviving corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof, the certificate of incorporation of the surviving corporation and applicable law.

Changes of Directors and Officers in Connection with the Merger

The merger agreement provides that from and after the effective time, (i) the directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the effective time will be the initial directors of the surviving corporation, and (ii) the officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the effective time will be the initial officers of the surviving corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the surviving corporation until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until the earlier of their death, resignation or removal. As of the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the officers and directors of Merger Sub are Warren G. Lichtenstein, Jack L. Howard and Douglas B. Woodworth.

Representations and Warranties

In the merger agreement, HNH has made customary representations and warranties to SPLP, including representations relating to, among other things: corporate existence and power; corporate authorization; qualification to do business; good standing; enforceability; subsidiaries; capitalization; no conflict; required filings and consents; state anti-takeover statutes; SEC reports; absence of certain changes or events; permits; compliance with applicable law and orders; financial statements; absence of certain undisclosed liabilities; absence of litigation; employee benefit plans; labor matters; real property and leases; material contracts; intellectual property; tax matters; environmental matters; brokers; and insurance.

In the merger agreement, SPLP and Merger Sub have made customary representations and warranties to HNH, including representations relating to, among other things: corporate existence and power; corporate authorization; good standing; enforceability; no conflict; required filings and consents; SEC reports; financial statements; undisclosed liabilities; capitalization; absence of certain changes or events; interim operations of Merger Sub; brokers; and absence of litigation.

Material Adverse Effect

Certain of the representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement and certain of the conditions to the offer contained in the merger agreement refer to the concept of a "material adverse effect."

The merger agreement defines a "company material adverse effect" as any change, event, circumstance, occurrence, development or effect (any such item, an "effect"), individually or when taken together with all other effects, that is, or would reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to (A) the properties, assets, liabilities, business, financial condition or results of operations of HNH and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (B) the ability of HNH to perform its obligations under the merger agreement or consummate the transactions contemplated thereby, except in each case for any such effect resulting from or arising out of the following:

- 1. any changes in interest rates;
- 2. general economic conditions in the United States of America or foreign countries or changes therein;
- 3. U.S. or foreign financial, banking or securities market conditions or changes therein;
- 4. any event or change in conditions generally affecting HNH's or any of its subsidiaries' industries;
- 5. any change in or interpretations of GAAP or any law;
- 6. changes in the market price or trading volume of HNH's stock (except that the underlying facts or occurrences giving rise or contributing to such changes will be taken into account in determining whether there has been a material adverse effect);
- 7. any failure by HNH to meet internal or published estimates of revenues, earnings or other financial projections, or projections or forecasts of any other person, of revenues, earnings or cash flow for any period ending on or after the date of the merger agreement (except that the underlying facts or occurrences giving rise or contributing to such failure will be taken into account in determining whether there has been a material adverse effect);
- 8. any pandemic, earthquake, hurricane, tornado or other natural disaster or act of God;
- 9. national or international political conditions, including any engagement in or escalation of hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any act of sabotage or military or terrorist attack;

- 10. the announcement or pendency of the merger agreement, including, to the extent arising out of or resulting therefrom, (A) the termination or potential termination (or the failure or potential failure to renew or enter into) of contracts with actual or potential customers, suppliers, distributors, resellers, licensors or other business partners, or any other negative development (or potential negative development) in the relationship of HNH or any of its subsidiaries with any of their respective customers, suppliers, distributors, resellers, licensors or other business partners or other employees of HNH or any of its subsidiaries, or (C) any decline or other degradation in HNH's or any of its subsidiaries' customer bookings; or
- 11. the taking of any action expressly provided by the merger agreement or consented to in writing by SPLP or Merger Sub.

However, in the case of items (1) through (5), (8) and (9) above, if the effect materially disproportionately affects the properties, assets, liabilities, business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of HNH and its subsidiaries relative to other for-profit industry participants, then only the extent of such disproportionate effects, if any, will be taken into account when determining whether there is, or would reasonably expected to be, a "material adverse effect".

Conduct of Business

Covenants of HNH

The merger agreement provides that, between the date of the merger agreement and the effective time, except as expressly contemplated by the merger agreement or consented to by SPLP in writing, HNH will, and will cause each of its subsidiaries to:

- · conduct its business in, and not take any action except in, the ordinary course of business; and
- use its reasonable best efforts to preserve substantially intact the business organization of HNH and its subsidiaries, to keep available the services of the current officers, employees and consultants of HNH and its subsidiaries, and to preserve, in all material respects, the current relationships of HNH and its subsidiaries with customers, licensees, suppliers and other persons with which HNH or any of its subsidiaries has business relations. The foregoing obligations will not require any expenditure of money (or commitment thereto) by HNH unless directed in writing by SPLP.

The merger agreement also provides that, except (a) as expressly contemplated by the merger agreement, (b) as directed in writing by SPLP, Merger Sub or of any affiliate thereof, or (c) as specifically approved by the Company board or a standing committee (other than the special committee) thereof (and in the case of committee approval, specifically disclosed to the Company board) prior to the date of the merger agreement, neither HNH nor any of its subsidiaries will, between the date of the merger agreement and the effective time, directly or indirectly, do or agree to do any of the following without the prior written consent of SPLP (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

make, revoke or change any tax election, change any method of tax accounting, settle, compromise or incur any liability for taxes, fail to timely
file any tax return that is due, file any amended tax return or claim for refund, surrender any right to claim a tax refund, or consent to any
extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any tax claim or assessment, in each case except as required by GAAP or
applicable law;

- change the accounting principles used by it unless required by a change in GAAP, applicable law or any governmental authority;
- except for short-term borrowings incurred in the ordinary course of business under its existing credit facility, incur or guarantee indebtedness for borrowed money or commit to borrow money, make any loans or cancel, release or assign any indebtedness to any person;
- make any individual capital expenditure in excess of \$2,000,000;
- acquire, lease or license from any person (by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise), or sell, lease, license, dispose or effect an encumbrance of (by merger, consolidation, sale of stock or assets or otherwise), any material assets other than in the ordinary course of business;
- change any compensation arrangement or contract with any present or former employee (except for increases in the base salaries of employees other than officers or senior managers in the ordinary course of business), officer, director, consultant, stockholder or other service provider of HNH or any of its subsidiaries or grant any severance or termination or change in control pay to any such present or former employee, officer, director, consultant, stockholder or other service provider or increase any benefits payable under any severance or termination or change in control pay policies or establish, amend or terminate any benefit plan or increase benefits under any benefit plan, or grant any equity awards or other awards under any stock plan, in each case other than as (a) required pursuant to the terms of any benefit plan or contract as in effect on the date of the merger agreement, (b) annual merit based raises for employees (other than officers) in an amount and on a schedule consistent with past practice or (c) required by law;
- declare, set aside or pay any dividend or make any other distribution with respect to equity interests of HNH or any of its subsidiaries, or otherwise make any payments to stockholders in their capacity as such, other than dividends or distributions payable by a directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company to the Company or to another directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;
- effect a "plant closing" or "mass layoff," as those terms are defined in the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act;
- (i) except as otherwise required pursuant to an existing contract, issue, deliver, sell, pledge, transfer, convey, dispose of or permit the imposition
 of an encumbrance on any equity interests, or any options, warrants, securities exercisable, exchangeable or convertible into any equity interest,
 or any right to acquire any equity interest or any voting debt, other than the issuance of shares upon the exercise of options outstanding as of the
 date of the merger agreement, (ii) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, or propose to redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, any of its
 outstanding equity interests or (iii) split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any equity interests;
- enter into any contract providing for the sale or license of material intellectual property (other than ordinary course software licenses);
- except as otherwise provided in the merger agreement, modify, amend or terminate, or waive, release or assign any material rights or claims with respect to, any confidentiality agreement or non-competition agreement or standstill contract that relates to a business combination involving HNH or any of its subsidiaries;



- lease, license, mortgage, hypothecate, pledge, sell, sublease, grant any material encumbrance affecting and/or transfer any interest in any owned or leased real property, or enter into any material amendment or extension, or termination, of any leasehold interest in any leased real property or create any new leasehold interest in any leased real property;
- take any action that is intended or would reasonably be expected to result in any of the conditions to the offer or the merger not being satisfied;
- make any acquisition of, capital contribution to, or investment in, any assets or stock of any person (other than any wholly owned subsidiary) (whether by way of merger, consolidation, tender offer, share exchange or other activity);
- merge or consolidate with any person (other than mergers among wholly owned subsidiaries);
- enter into, terminate, materially amend or waive any material rights under any material contract, except for those contracts which terminate or expire in accordance with their terms;
- waive, release, assign, settle or compromise any material claim or any material action, suit or proceeding;
- satisfy, discharge, waive or settle any material liabilities, other than in the ordinary course of business;
- fail to maintain in full force and effect or fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to replace or renew any insurance policies existing as of the date of the merger agreement;
- · amend its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational or governing documents; or
- enter into any contract to do any of the foregoing.

Covenants of SPLP

Except as otherwise expressly contemplated by the merger agreement, neither SPLP nor any of its subsidiaries shall, between the date of the merger agreement and the effective time, directly or indirectly, do or agree to do any of the following without the prior written consent of the Company (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

- · split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any equity interests;
- take any action that is intended or would reasonably be expected to result in any of the conditions to the offer or the merger not being satisfied;
- amend its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational or governing documents in a manner that would prohibit, or hinder, impede or delay in any material respect, the offer, the merger or the consummation of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; or
- enter into any contract to do any of the foregoing.

Additional Agreements

Access to Information

The merger agreement provides that from the date of the merger agreement to the effective time and in compliance with applicable laws, HNH will, and will cause its subsidiaries and the officers, directors, employees, auditors, investment bankers, counsel, agents and other representatives ("Representatives") of HNH and its subsidiaries to afford the Representatives of SPLP reasonable access at all reasonable times to the officers, employees, properties, offices and other facilities, books and records of HNH and each subsidiary, and will furnish SPLP with such financial, operating and other data and information as SPLP, through its Representatives, may reasonably request, subject to the terms of any pre-existing confidentiality obligation which restricts such access.

The merger agreement provides that the Company's representations and warranties shall be deemed modified to the extent Parent had actual knowledge of any inaccuracy in or breach of any such representation or warranty prior to the date of the merger agreement.

No Solicitation; Acquisition Proposals

The merger agreement provides that from the date of the merger agreement until the effective time or, if earlier, the termination of the merger agreement in accordance with its terms, none of HNH, its subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives will, directly or indirectly:

- initiate, solicit or encourage (including by way of providing information) the submission of any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute or may reasonably be expected to lead to any acquisition proposal (as defined below) or engage in any discussions or negotiations with respect thereto or otherwise cooperate with or assist or participate in, or facilitate any such inquiries, proposals, offers, discussions or negotiations; or
- approve or recommend, or propose to approve or recommend, an acquisition proposal or enter into any merger agreement, letter of intent, agreement in principle, share purchase agreement, asset purchase agreement or share exchange agreement, option agreement or other similar agreement providing for or relating to an acquisition proposal or enter into any agreement or agreement in principle requiring HNH to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or breach any of its obligations under the merger agreement or propose or agree to do any of the foregoing.

Subject to the terms of the merger agreement, HNH will immediately cease and cause to be terminated any solicitation, encouragement, discussion or negotiation with any person conducted prior to the date of the merger agreement by HNH or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives with respect to any acquisition proposal and use its (and will cause its subsidiaries and their respective Representatives to use their) reasonable best efforts to cause to be returned or destroyed all confidential information provided or made available to any such person on behalf of HNH or any of its subsidiaries.

The merger agreement provides that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if at any time following the date of the merger agreement and prior to the acceptance time, (i) HNH has received a written acquisition proposal that did not result from a breach of the no solicitation provisions from a third party that the Company special committee believes in good faith to be bona fide, (ii) the Company board and/or the special committee determines in good faith, after consultation with its independent financial advisors and outside counsel, that such acquisition provisions in all material respects, and (iv) the Company board and/or the special committee determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law, then HNH (acting through the special committee) may:



- · furnish information with respect to HNH and its subsidiaries to the person making such acquisition proposal; and
- participate in discussions or negotiations with the person making such acquisition proposal regarding such acquisition proposal; provided, that HNH will not, and will not allow any of its Representatives to, disclose any material non-public information to such person without entering into a customary confidentiality agreement with such person as provided in the merger agreement, and will promptly provide or make available to SPLP any material non-public information concerning HNH or any of its subsidiaries provided to such other person which was not previously provided or made available to SPLP.

The merger agreement provides that HNH will promptly (and in any event within two (2) business days) notify SPLP if it receives an acquisition proposal from a person or group of related persons, including the material terms and conditions thereof and the identity of the person making such acquisition proposal and will keep SPLP apprised and, at SPLP's request, will update SPLP as to the status and any material developments, discussions and negotiations concerning such acquisition proposal.

As defined in the merger agreement, "acquisition proposal" means any inquiry, offer or proposal (other than from SPLP, Merger Sub or their respective affiliates) concerning any of the following:

- direct or indirect merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving HNH or any of its subsidiaries, the assets or business of which constitutes or generates thirty percent (30%) or more of the revenues, net income or assets of HNH and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis (a "significant subsidiary");
- direct or indirect sale, lease, pledge or other disposition of assets of HNH or any of its subsidiaries (including equity interests of any subsidiary) or businesses that constitute or generate thirty percent (30%) or more of the revenues, net income or assets of HNH and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions;
- transaction or series of related transactions in which any person or group (other than SPLP, Merger Sub or their respective affiliates) acquires beneficial ownership, or the right to acquire beneficial ownership, of thirty percent (30%) or more of the outstanding equity interests of HNH or any significant subsidiary; or
- other purchase or sale of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, equity interests of HNH or any of its significant subsidiaries that, if consummated, would result in any person beneficially owning thirty percent (30%) or more of the outstanding equity interests of HNH or significant subsidiary.

As defined in the merger agreement, "superior proposal" means any bona fide written acquisition proposal (with all references therein to "thirty percent (30%)" being deemed to be references to "eighty percent (80%)"), not obtained in violation of the no solicitation provisions of the merger agreement, that the Company board and/or the special committee determines in its good faith judgment (after receiving the advice of its financial and legal advisors and after taking into account all appropriate legal (with the advice of outside legal counsel), regulatory and financial aspects, including the financing terms thereof and the conditionality and the timing and likelihood of consummation of such proposal, and the person making the proposal) is more favorable to HNH's unaffiliated stockholders from a financial point of view than the merger agreement (considering any changes to the merger agreement agreed in writing by SPLP in response thereto) and which the Company board and/or the special committee determines in good faith is reasonably likely to be consummated on the terms set forth therein.

Board Recommendation Change

The merger agreement provides that neither the Company board nor any committee thereof may directly or indirectly (x) withdraw, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to SPLP or Merger Sub, or publicly propose to withdraw, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to SPLP or Merger Sub, the Company board's approval of the offer and the merger, or (y) approve or recommend, or publicly propose to approve or recommend, any acquisition proposal (each of the foregoing, an "adverse recommendation change"). However, if at any time prior to the acceptance time, HNH receives an acquisition proposal which the Company board and/or the special committee concludes in good faith (after consultation with its independent financial advisors and outside legal counsel and, in the case of the Company board, upon recommendation thereof by the special committee) constitutes a superior proposal (after having complied with, and giving effect to all of the adjustments which may be offered by SPLP pursuant to, the merger agreement), and HNH has complied with the no solicitation provisions in all material respects and such acquisition proposal did not result from a breach of such provisions, the Company board and/or the special committee may (upon the recommendation of the special committee in the case of the Company board) (i) cause HNH to terminate the merger agreement to concurrently enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such superior proposal and (ii) effect an adverse recommendation change if the Company board or the special committee, as applicable, determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, HNH may not terminate the merger agreement pursuant to the foregoing clause (i) and any purported termination pursuant to the foregoing clause (i) will be void and of no force and effect, unless concurrently with such termination HNH pays to SPLP the termination fee as provided in the merger agreement and such acquisition proposal continues to constitute a superior proposal. In addition, HNH may not terminate the merger agreement pursuant to the foregoing clause (i), and the Company board and the special committee may not approve or recommend such acquisition proposal or effect an adverse recommendation change pursuant to the foregoing clause (ii) unless HNH has provided prior written notice to SPLP, at least five (5) business days in advance (the "notice period"), of its intention to effect an adverse recommendation change or terminate the merger agreement to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such superior proposal, which notice must include a written summary of the material terms and conditions of such superior proposal (including the identity of the party making such superior proposal), and contemporaneously provides a copy of the relevant proposed transaction agreements with the party making such superior proposal and any other material documents relating thereto. During the notice period, HNH (acting through the special committee) will, and will cause its Representatives to, negotiate with SPLP in good faith (to the extent SPLP has notified the special committee in writing of SPLP's desire to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, and the Company board and special committee will take into account any changes to the financial and other terms of the merger agreement proposed by SPLP in response to any such written notice by HNH or otherwise, with a view to providing that the acquisition proposal ceases to constitute a superior proposal. Any amendment to the financial terms or other material terms of such superior proposal will require a new written notice by HNH and a new five (5) business day period. Pursuant to the merger agreement, if the notice period (or any new five (5) business day period) ends on a date that is concurrent with, or later than, the date of the scheduled expiration of the offer, at the written request of the Company special committee, SPLP and Merger Sub will, or at their election, SPLP and Merger Sub may, extend the offer until 12:00 midnight (New York City time) on the date that is the later of (a) two (2) business days following the last day of the applicable notice period (or any new five (5) business day period) or (b) the last day of the minimum period required by applicable law, interpretation or position of the SEC or its staff or the NYSE for any such extension.

The merger agreement further provides that neither the Company board nor any committee thereof may effect an adverse recommendation change (by withdrawing, qualifying or modifying in a manner adverse to SPLP or Merger Sub, or publicly proposing to withdraw, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to SPLP or Merger Sub, the Company board's approval of the merger and the offer), except that at any time prior to the acceptance time, the Company board and/or the special committee may effect such an adverse recommendation change if the Company board and/or the special committee determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel (and upon recommendation thereof by the special committee in the case of the Company board), that, in light of material facts, events or circumstances that have arisen or occurred since the date of the merger agreement that were not known by or reasonably foreseeable to HNH or the Company board (or the special committee) prior to the date of the merger agreement, other than an acquisition proposal, or an inquiry, proposal or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an acquisition proposal, or the consequences thereof (a "Company intervening event"), the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law. The Company board and the special committee may not effect an adverse recommendation change pursuant to the foregoing unless HNH has provided prior written notice to SPLP, at least five (5) business days in advance, of its intention to effect such adverse recommendation change, which notice must describe in reasonable detail the underlying facts giving rise to the Company intervening event and the reasons for taking such action. During such five (5) business day period, HNH (acting through the special committee) will, and will cause its Representatives to, negotiate with SPLP in good faith (to the extent SPLP has notified the special committee in writing of SPLP's desire to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, and the Company board and special committee will take into account any changes to the financial and other terms of the merger agreement proposed by SPLP in response to any such written notice by HNH or otherwise, so that the need for effecting an adverse recommendation change is obviated. Any material developments relating to a Company intervening event will require a new written notice by HNH and a new five (5) business day period.

Director and Officer Indemnification

The merger agreement provides that from and after the effective time, the surviving corporation will indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law (and the surviving corporation will also advance expenses as incurred to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law; provided, that the person to whom expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification), each present and former director and officer of HNH and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties") against any and all costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages and liabilities incurred in connection with any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to any action or omission or matters existing or occurring at or prior to the effective time, including the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, to the same extent as provided in the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of HNH in effect on the date of the merger agreement.

For six years from the effective time, the merger agreement provides that the surviving corporation and any of its subsidiaries, as applicable will maintain in effect for the benefit of the directors and officers of HNH or such subsidiary currently covered by the officers' and directors' liability insurance policies of HNH or such subsidiary, an insurance and indemnification policy with an insurer with a Standard & Poor's rating of at least A that provides coverage for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time (the "D&O Insurance") covering each such person on terms with respect to coverage and in amounts no less favorable in the aggregate than those of HNH's or such subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of the merger agreement. However, the surviving corporation or such subsidiary for such coverage, but if the annual premium for the D&O Insurance in excess of 200% of the annual premium, the surviving corporation or such subsidiary will obtain a policy with the greatest coverage available for a cost not exceeding such amount. Each of the surviving corporation and its subsidiaries may satisfy its obligations under the merger agreement by purchasing a "tail" policy from an insurer with a Standard & Poor's rating of at least A under HNH's or the applicable subsidiary's existing directors' and officers' insurance policy, that (i) has an effective term of six years from the effective time, (ii) covers each director and officer currently covered by HNH's or the applicable subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of the merger agreement for actions and omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time, (iii) covers each director and officer currently covered by HNH's or the applicable subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of the merger agreement for actions and omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time, and (iiii) contains terms that are no less favorable in the aggregat

Pursuant to the merger agreement, the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the surviving corporation will contain provisions no less favorable with respect to indemnification than are set forth in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws, respectively, of HNH, unless any modification thereof is required by law and then such modification will be made only to the minimum extent required by such law, which provisions may not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified, except as provided in the merger agreement, for a period of six years from the effective time in any manner that would affect adversely the rights thereunder of individuals who, at or prior to the effective time, were directors or officers of HNH or any of its subsidiaries.

Nothing in the merger agreement is intended to, will be construed to or will release, waive or impair any rights to directors' and officers' insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to HNH or any of its subsidiaries or their respective officers, directors and employees. The indemnification provided for in the merger agreement is not prior to, or in substitution for, any such claims under any such policies. From and after the effective time, the surviving corporation will honor, in accordance with their terms, all indemnification agreements with HNH in effect immediately prior to the effective time that are applicable to Indemnified Parties, and such agreements will not be modified without the prior written agreement of the applicable Indemnified Party.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the merger agreement, if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before, at or after the effective time) is made against any Indemnified Party or any other party covered by directors' and officers' liability insurance, on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the effective time, the foregoing indemnification provisions will continue in effect until the final disposition of such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

If the surviving corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other person and will not be the continuing or surviving entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any person, then, and in each such case, proper provision will be made so that the successors and assigns of the surviving corporation will assume the obligations set forth in the merger agreement relating to directors' and officers' indemnification.

Reasonable Best Efforts; Consents and Filings

The merger agreement provides that, subject to its terms and conditions, each of SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH will use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the merger agreement, each of SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary to satisfy the conditions to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement to be satisfied by it.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the merger agreement and in accordance with applicable law, each of SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH will use reasonable best efforts to as promptly as practicable (i) obtain any consents, approvals or other authorizations from all governmental authorities and other third parties, and make any filings and notifications, required in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and (ii) make any other filings and submissions either required or reasonably deemed appropriate by SPLP or HNH in connection with the transactions of Nasdaq, and any other applicable law. SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH will cooperate and consult with each other in connection with the making of all such filings and notifications, including by providing copies of all relevant documents (except to the extent containing confidential information of such party) to the non-filing party and its advisors before filing.

HNH will, and will cause its subsidiaries to, to the extent permitted by applicable law, (i) take all actions necessary so that no "fair price," "moratorium," "control share acquisition," "business combination" or other similar antitakeover law (each, a "takeover law") becomes applicable to any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or the merger agreement and (ii) if any takeover law becomes applicable to any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or the merger agreement, take all actions necessary so that the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement may be consummated as promptly as practicable as contemplated by the merger agreement and otherwise to eliminate or minimize the effect of such takeover law on the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or the merger agreement.

Public Announcements

The merger agreement provides that SPLP and Merger Sub, on the one hand, and HNH, on the other hand, agree that no public release or announcement concerning the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement will be issued by either party without the prior consent of the other party (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except as such release or announcement may be required by law or the rules or regulations of any securities exchange, in which case the party required to make the release or announcement will use its reasonable best efforts to allow the other party reasonable time to comment on such release or announcement in advance of such issuance. However, each party may make any public statement in response to specific questions by the press, analysts, investors or those attending industry conferences or financial analyst conference calls, so long as any such statements are not inconsistent with previous public releases or announcements made in compliance with the merger agreement and do not reveal nonpublic information regarding the other party.

Advice of Changes

The merger agreement provides that each of SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH will promptly advise the other parties to the merger agreement of any effect, (i) having or that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on such party, or (ii) that constitutes a material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in the merger agreement. No such notification will affect the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements of such party (or remedies with respect thereto) or the conditions to the obligations of the parties under the merger agreement. Each party will give prompt written notice to the other parties of any notice or other communication (x) from any person and the response thereto of such party or its Representatives alleging that the consent of such person is or may be required in connection with the merger agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and (y) from any governmental authority and the response thereto of such party or its Representatives in connection with the merger agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Benefit Plans and Employee Matters

SPLP agreed that, for a period of at least one year following the closing of the merger, each employee of HNH who continues employment with SPLP, the surviving corporation or any of their respective subsidiaries after the closing (each, a "continuing employee") will be provided, at SPLP's election, with benefits on substantially the same terms as those provided to (i) similarly situated employees of SPLP or (ii) such continuing employee by HNH immediately prior to the effective time. Nothing in the merger agreement requires SPLP, the surviving corporation or any of their respective subsidiaries to continue to employ any particular employee of HNH following the closing of the merger, or will be construed to prohibit SPLP, the surviving corporation or any of their respective subsidiaries any employee benefit plan of HNH.

SPLP and the surviving corporation will ensure that, as of the closing of the merger, each continuing employee receives full credit (for all purposes, including eligibility to participate, vesting, vacation entitlement and severance benefits) for service with HNH or any of its subsidiaries under each of the comparable employee benefit plans, programs and policies of SPLP, the surviving corporation or the relevant subsidiary, as applicable, in which such continuing employee becomes a participant; provided, however, that no such service recognition will result in any duplication of benefits. As of the closing of the merger, SPLP will, or will cause the surviving corporation or relevant subsidiary to, credit to each continuing employee the amount of vacation time that such employee had accrued under any applicable employee benefit plan of HNH as of the closing. With respect to each health or welfare benefit plan maintained by SPLP, the surviving corporation or the relevant subsidiary for the benefit of any continuing employee, SPLP will (i) cause to be waived any eligibility waiting periods, any evidence of insurability requirements and the application of any pre-existing condition limitations under such plan, and (ii) cause each continuing employee to be given credit under such plan for all amounts paid by such continuing employee under any similar employee benefit plan of HNH for the plan year that includes the closing for purposes of applying deductibles, co-payments and out-of-pocket maximums as though such amounts had been paid in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan maintained by SPLP, the surviving corporation or the relevant subsidiary for the applicable plan maintained by SPLP, the surviving corporation or the relevant such amounts paid by such continuing employee under any similar employee benefit plan of HNH for the plan year that includes the closing for purposes of applying deductibles, co-payments and out-of-pocket maximums as though such amounts had been paid in accordance

Except as specifically set forth above, nothing in the foregoing, whether express or implied, confers upon any current or former director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant of the Company or any of its subsidiaries any rights or remedies, including any right to employment or continued employment for any specified period, of any nature or kind whatsoever. None of the foregoing provisions is intended to modify, amend or create any employee benefit plan of the Company, SPLP, the surviving corporation or any of their respective affiliates.

Stock De-Registration

HNH shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its common stock to no longer be listed on Nasdaq and to be de-registered under the Exchange Act as soon as practicable following the effective time.

Merger Without a Stockholders' Meeting

As promptly as practicable after the acceptance time, the parties will take all necessary and appropriate actions to cause the merger to become effective, without a meeting of the stockholders of the Company, in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL.

Parent Preferred Unit

Prior to the acceptance time, SPLP agrees to use reasonable best efforts to cause the SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger to be approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance.

Section 16b-3

Prior to the acceptance time, the Company shall (and shall be permitted to) take such steps as may be reasonably required to cause dispositions of the Company's equity securities (including derivative securities) pursuant to the offer or the merger by each individual who is a director or officer of the Company to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

Compensation Arrangements

The Company and its subsidiaries shall not, after the date of the merger agreement, enter into, establish, amend, modify or supplement any plan, program, agreement or arrangement pursuant to which compensation is paid or payable, or pursuant to which benefits are provided, in each case to any current or future director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who holds shares of HNH common stock or any equity awards unless, prior to the acceptance time and to the extent permitted by the merger agreement, the Company (acting through the compensation committee of the Company board or its independent directors, to the extent required under applicable law) shall have taken all steps that may be necessary or advisable to (a) approve as an "employment compensation, severance or other employee benefit arrangement" within the meaning of Rule 14d-10(d)(1) under the Exchange Act and (b) satisfy the requirements of the non-exclusive safe harbor set forth in Rule 14d-10(d) of the Exchange Act with respect to such plan, program, agreement or arrangement.

Conditions to the Offer

Completion of the offer is subject to certain conditions, including, among others:

- HNH stockholders having validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock which, when added to the shares of HNH common stock already owned by SPLP and its other subsidiaries, but excluding any shares tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee, represents at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock;
- HNH stockholders having validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the offer that number of shares of HNH common stock (but excluding any shares tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee) which would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of HNH common stock not owned by SPLP or any of its affiliates;
- The registration statement on Form S-4 of which this prospectus/offer to exchange is a part having been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act, and no stop order having been issued or proceeding seeking a stop order having been initiated or threatened in writing by the SEC;



- The SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger having been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance;
- The shares of HNH common stock held by stockholders having properly exercised appraisal rights under Delaware law do not exceed ten percent (10%) of the shares of HNH common stock outstanding immediately prior to the expiration of the offer;
- No governmental entity having jurisdiction over SPLP, Merger Sub or HNH having enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any law, order, decree or ruling (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect and has the effect of making the offer or the merger illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the offer or the merger;
- Since the date of the merger agreement, no material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of HNH having occurred;
- The representations and warranties of HNH contained in the merger agreement being true and correct as of the date of the merger agreement and the expiration date of the offer, subject to specified materiality standards as provided in Exhibit A to the merger agreement;
- HNH having complied with or performed in all material respects its obligations under the merger agreement; and
- · The merger agreement not having been terminated in accordance with its terms.

Conditions to the Merger

The merger agreement provides that the respective obligations of SPLP, Merger Sub and HNH to consummate the merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible), at or prior to the closing, of the following conditions:

- · Merger Sub having previously accepted for payment all shares validly tendered and not validly withdrawn pursuant to the offer; and
- no governmental authority having enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any law or order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect and has the effect of making the merger illegal or otherwise preventing or prohibiting consummation of the merger.

Termination of the Merger Agreement

Termination Prior to the Acceptance Time

The merger agreement may be terminated and the offer, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement may be abandoned at any time prior to the acceptance time as follows:

• by mutual written consent of each of SPLP and HNH, duly authorized by the SPLP GP Board and the Company board;

- by SPLP or HNH, by written notice, if the acceptance time shall not have occurred on or before December 31, 2017. The right to terminate the merger agreement under this provision shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under the merger agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the acceptance time to have occurred on or before December 31, 2017;
- by SPLP or HNH if any governmental authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any order or applicable law or taken any other action (including the failure to take an action) that is, in each case, then in effect and is final and nonappealable and has the effect of preventing or prohibiting the consummation of the offer or the merger. The right to terminate the merger agreement under this provision will not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under the merger agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, any such order or law having been enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered or any such action having been taken or omitted to be taken;
- by written notice of SPLP if any of the following actions or events occurs, whether or not they are permitted by the terms of the merger agreement (any such termination, an "HNH adverse recommendation change termination"):
 - the Company board (or any committee thereof) withdraws, qualifies, amends, modifies or changes its approval of the offer and the merger in a manner adverse to SPLP or resolves or publicly proposes to do so;
 - the Company board (or any committee thereof) approves or recommends an acquisition proposal or resolves or publicly proposes to do so or HNH enters into any letter of intent or similar document or any contract accepting any acquisition proposal;
 - HNH breaches in any material respect the no solicitation provisions of the merger agreement;
 - at any time after public announcement of an acquisition proposal, the Company board fails to reaffirm its recommendation of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement within three (3) business days of receipt of any written request to do so by SPLP; or
 - any tender or exchange offer (other than the offer) is commenced that, if successful, would result in any person or group becoming the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the outstanding shares of HNH common stock and the Company board, within ten (10) business days after the commencement thereof, has not recommended that HNH's stockholders reject such tender or exchange offer and not tender their shares into such tender or exchange offer.
 - by written notice of SPLP (if SPLP or Merger Sub is not in material breach of its obligations or its representations and warranties under the merger agreement), if there has been a breach by HNH of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in the merger agreement, or if any representation or warranty of HNH has become untrue, in either case that would reasonably be expected to result in a failure of the conditions to the offer relating to HNH's representations, warranties and covenants; provided, that if such breach is reasonably curable by HNH within twenty (20) days after the occurrence of such breach through the exercise of its reasonable best efforts and for as long as HNH continues to exercise such reasonable best efforts, SPLP may not terminate the merger agreement pursuant to the foregoing provisions until the earlier of the expiration of such twenty (20)-day period and December 31, 2017;

- by written notice of HNH (if HNH is not in material breach of its obligations or its representations and warranties under the merger agreement), if there has been a breach by SPLP or Merger Sub of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in the merger agreement, or if any representation or warranty of SPLP or Merger Sub has become untrue, in either case that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on SPLP; provided, that if such breach is reasonably curable by SPLP within twenty (20) days after the occurrence of such breach through the exercise of its reasonable best efforts and for as long as SPLP continues to exercise such reasonable best efforts, HNH may not terminate the merger agreement pursuant to the foregoing provisions until the earlier of the expiration of such twenty (20)-day period and December 31, 2017;
- by written notice of HNH in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement relating to an adverse recommendation change, if HNH concurrently enters into a definitive agreement with respect to a superior proposal; provided, that HNH will not have the right to terminate the merger agreement pursuant to the foregoing provision unless HNH has complied with the no solicitation provisions of the merger agreement and has paid, or simultaneously with the termination of the merger agreement pays, to SPLP the termination fee (as defined in "— Fees and Expenses" below);
- by SPLP or HNH, by written notice, if the offer has been terminated or has expired (and not been extended) in accordance with its terms and the terms of the merger agreement without SPLP being required to accept for payment any shares pursuant to the offer; provided, however, that the right to terminate the merger agreement pursuant to the foregoing provision will not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under the merger agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the acceptance time to have occurred by such date; or
- by the Company, by written notice, if the SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger have not been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance, as of immediately prior to the acceptance time.

Effect of Termination

The merger agreement provides that in the event of the termination of the merger agreement, as described above, the merger agreement will immediately become void, and there will be no liability on the part of any party to the merger agreement or any of their respective affiliates or the directors, officers, employees, agents or other Representatives of any of them, and all rights and obligations of each party thereto will cease, except for the provisions relating to public announcements, the effect of termination, fees and expenses and the general provisions of the merger agreement, all of which will survive the termination of the merger agreement, and except for any willful or intentional breach by a party of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in the merger agreement (which willful or intentional breach and liability therefor will not be affected by termination of the merger agreement). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the merger agreement, nothing will limit or prevent any party to the merger agreement from exercising any rights or remedies under the provisions relating to specific performance in lieu of terminating the merger agreement.

Fees and Expenses

The merger agreement provides that, except as otherwise provided below, all fees and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement will be paid by the party incurring such expenses, whether or not any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement is consummated.

The merger agreement provides that if the merger agreement is terminated:

- 1. pursuant to an HNH adverse recommendation change termination (if SPLP or Merger Sub is not then in material breach of any of its obligations, representations or warranties under the merger agreement), other than a breach by HNH of the no solicitation provisions of the merger agreement;
- 2. because HNH has concurrently entered into a definitive agreement with respect to a superior proposal;
- 3. (A) (i) because the acceptance time has not occurred on or before December 31, 2017 (if SPLP or Merger Sub is not then in material breach of any of its obligations, representations or warranties under the merger agreement) and, at any time after the date of the merger agreement but prior to December 31, 2017, an acquisition proposal has been publicly disclosed or otherwise becomes generally known to the public and is not withdrawn or terminated, (ii) because of a breach by HNH of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in the merger agreement (other than the no solicitation provisions of the merger agreement) and, at any time after the date of the merger agreement and prior to the breach giving rise to the right of SPLP to terminate the merger agreement, an acquisition proposal has been publicly disclosed or otherwise becomes generally known to the public and is not withdrawn or terminated, or (iii) because the offer has been terminated or has expired without SPLP being required to accept for payment any shares pursuant to the offer (and in such case the majority of the minority tender condition was not satisfied as of the expiration or termination of the offer) and, at any time after the date of merger agreement and prior to the public and is not withdrawn or terminated, and (B) in the case of any of the foregoing provisions, within twelve (12) months after the date of such termination, HNH enters into a definitive agreement with respect to or consummates an acquisition proposal (provided that, with respect to use of the term "acquisition proposal" in the foregoing provisions, all references in the definition thereof to "thirty percent (30%)" will be deemed to be "fifty percent (50%)"); or
- 4. because HNH breaches in any material respect any of the no solicitation provisions of the merger agreement,

then:

• HNH will pay SPLP an amount equal to \$3,800,000 (the "termination fee") and will reimburse SPLP's documented transaction costs not to exceed \$1,000,000, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, (a) within three (3) business days after the termination of the merger agreement in the case of the foregoing paragraph (1), (b) concurrently with such termination, in the case of the foregoing paragraph (2), and (c) upon the earlier of entry into the definitive agreement with respect to, or consummation of, an acquisition proposal within twelve (12) months after the date of termination, in the case of the foregoing paragraph (3); or

• HNH will reimburse SPLP's documented transaction costs not to exceed \$1,000,000, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, within three (3) business days after the termination of the merger agreement, in the case of the foregoing paragraph (4); provided, that if HNH within twelve (12) months after the date of such termination enters into a definitive agreement with respect to or consummates an acquisition proposal, HNH will also pay SPLP the termination fee by wire transfer of immediately available funds, upon the earlier of entry into the definitive agreement with respect to, or consummation of, such acquisition proposal.

In no event will payment of more than one termination fee be made by HNH pursuant to the foregoing provisions.

Any and all rights and remedies of HNH under the termination and fee and expense provisions of the merger agreement will be exercised by HNH at the direction of the Company special committee.

Amendment of the Merger Agreement

The merger agreement may be amended by the parties by action taken by or on behalf of their respective boards of directors (in the case of SPLP, the SPLP GP Board) at any time prior to the closing of the merger; provided that, after the acceptance time, no amendment may be made that would reduce the amount or change the type of consideration into which each share of HNH common stock will be converted upon consummation of the merger or that would result in the merger not being consummated as promptly as practicable after the acceptance time. The merger agreement may only be amended pursuant to a written agreement signed by each of the parties. Any amendment to the merger agreement requires the approval of the special committee.

COMPARATIVE MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDEND MATTERS

Market Price History

SPLP's common units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SPLP," SPLP's preferred units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "SPLPPRA" and HNH's common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol "HNH." The SPLP preferred units commenced trading on the NYSE on February 10, 2017. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, as based on published financial sources, the high and low sale prices of each of these securities.

	SPL	P Commo	n Units	SPL	P Preferre	d Units	s HNH Common S		
	High	Low	Distribution	High	Low	Distribution	High	Low	Dividend
2015									
First Calendar Quarter	\$19.50	\$16.30					\$48.87	\$38.01	
Second Calendar Quarter	\$19.37	\$17.07					\$42.41	\$30.54	
Third Calendar Quarter	\$17.79	\$16.05					\$34.87	\$23.20	
Fourth Calendar Quarter	\$17.96	\$16.10					\$27.49	\$18.54	
2016									
First Calendar Quarter	\$16.49	\$12.86					\$29.89	\$15.61	
Second Calendar Quarter	\$15.86	\$14.00					\$29.74	\$23.80	
Third Calendar Quarter	\$15.42	\$14.25					\$29.49	\$20.06	
Fourth Calendar Quarter	\$16.20	\$13.70					\$26.95	\$19.00	
2017									
First Calendar Quarter	\$19.95	\$15.20	\$0.15	\$24.00	\$22.08	\$0.15	\$29.85	\$21.90	
Second Calendar Quarter	\$19.39	\$18.00		\$22.74	\$21.60	\$0.375	\$33.95	\$26.25	
Third Calendar Quarter									
(through [], 2017)	\$[]	\$[]		\$[]	\$[]		\$[]	\$[]	

On June 26, 2017, the trading day prior to public announcement of the execution of the merger agreement, the closing price per share of HNH common stock on Nasdaq was \$28.50, the closing price per SPLP common unit on the NYSE was \$18.50 and the closing price per SPLP preferred unit on the NYSE was \$22.12. On [_____], 2017, the most recent practicable trading date prior to the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange, the closing price per share of HNH common stock on Nasdaq was \$[___], the closing price per SPLP common unit on the NYSE was \$[___] and the closing price per SPLP preferred unit on the NYSE was \$[___]. The table below also shows the implied market value of one share of HNH common stock on those dates, calculated by multiplying the exchange ratio of 1.484 by the closing price of the SPLP preferred units on those dates.

	Per-Share HNH Closing Price	Per	-Common Unit SPLP Closing Price	-	r-Preferred Unit LP Closing Price	Implied Market Value
June 26, 2017	\$ 28.50	\$	18.50	\$	22.12	\$ 32.82
[], 2017	\$ []	\$	[]	\$	[]	\$ []

The market value of the transaction consideration will change as the market value of the SPLP preferred units fluctuates during the offer period and thereafter. HNH stockholders should obtain current market quotations for shares of HNH common stock, SPLP preferred units and SPLP common units before deciding whether to tender their HNH shares in the offer.

Dividends/Distributions

SPLP Common Units

SPLP has not paid regular cash distributions on its common units in the last five years and has no current plans to do so. On December 22, 2016, SPLP announced that the SPLP GP Board declared a special, one-time cash distribution of \$0.15 per common unit, payable January 13, 2017, to unitholders of record as of January 3, 2017. Any future determination to declare distributions on SPLP's common units will remain at the discretion of the SPLP GP Board and will be dependent upon a number of factors, including SPLP's results of operations, cash flows, financial position and capital requirements, among others.

SPLP Preferred Units

Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, when, as and if declared by the SPLP GP Board out of funds legally available, at a rate per annum equal to 6.0% of the \$25.00 liquidation preference per unit. Distributions are payable in cash or in kind or a combination thereof at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board. Declared distributions will be payable on the relevant distribution payment date to holders of record as they appear on our register at the close of business, New York City time, on the March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1, as the case may be, immediately preceding the relevant distribution payment date. Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are cumulative and shall accumulate from the date of issuance of the applicable SPLP preferred units. Accumulated but unpaid distributions on the SPLP preferred units will accumulate as of the applicable distribution payment date on which they first become payable. Distributions on account of arrears for any past distribution periods may be declared and paid at any time, without reference to a regular distribution payment date, to holders of record of the SPLP preferred units on the record date fixed by SPLP acting through the General Partner. Accumulated and unpaid distributions will not bear interest. See "Description of the SPLP Preferred Units – Distributions."

On March 8, 2017, SPLP announced that the SPLP GP Board declared a regular quarterly cash distribution of \$0.15 per SPLP preferred unit (representing the amount of the regular quarterly distribution pro rated from the February 7, 2017 date of issuance), payable March 15, 2017, to unitholders of record as of March 1, 2017. On May 17, 2017, SPLP announced that the SPLP GP Board declared a regular quarterly cash distribution of \$0.375 per SPLP preferred unit, payable June 15, 2017, to unitholders of record as of June 1, 2017. On August 16, 2017, SPLP announced that the SPLP GP Board declared a regular quarterly cash distribution of \$0.375 per SPLP preferred unit, payable September 15, 2017, to unitholders of record as of September 1, 2017. SPLP currently intends to declare a one-time distribution on the SPLP preferred units payable to unitholders of record as of the expiration date of the offer in order to align the distribution cycle of the currently outstanding SPLP preferred units with the SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger.

HNH Common Stock

No cash dividends have been paid or declared on HNH common stock in the last five years.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT OF HNH

The following table presents certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of HNH common stock as of June 26, 2017, by (a) each beneficial owner of 5% or more of the shares of HNH outstanding common stock known to HNH, (b) each of HNH's directors, (c) each of HNH's "named executive officers" and (d) all of HNH's current directors and executive officers as a group.

The percentage of beneficial ownership for the table is based on 12,221,431 shares of HNH common stock outstanding as of June 26, 2017. To the Company's knowledge, except under community property laws or as otherwise noted, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and sole investment power over their shares of HNH common stock. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table below, each beneficial owner listed below maintains a mailing address of c/o Handy & Harman Ltd., 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, New York 10022.

The number of shares beneficially owned by each stockholder is determined under SEC rules and is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under these rules, beneficial ownership includes those shares of HNH common stock over which the stockholder has sole or shared voting or investment power and those shares of common stock that the stockholder has the right to acquire within 60 days after June 26, 2017, including through the exercise of an option or vesting of a restricted share. The "Percentage of Shares Outstanding" column treats as outstanding all shares underlying options that are exercisable or restricted stock that vest within 60 days after June 26, 2017, held by the directors and named executive officers individually and as a group, but not shares underlying equity awards that are exercisable by other stockholders.

	HNH S Beneficial	
		Percentage of
	Number of	Shares
Name of Beneficial Owner	Shares(1)	Outstanding
Directors and Named Executive Officers:		
Warren G. Lichtenstein	298,624	2.4%
Patrick A. DeMarco	12,801	*
Robert Frankfurt	23,289	*
Jack L. Howard (1)	248,947	2.0%
John H. McNamara, Jr.	36,301	*
Garen W. Smith	15,216	*
Jeffrey A. Svoboda (2)	102,148	*
Douglas B. Woodworth (3)	5,387	*
William T. Fejes, Jr.	0	0%
Directors and executive officers as a group (9 persons)	742,713	6.1%
5% Stockholders:		
SPH Group Holdings LLC (4)	8,560,592	70.0%
590 Madison Avenue		

32nd Floor New York, New York 10022

- 1) Includes 57,642 shares owned directly by EMH Howard, LLC ("EMH") which may be deemed beneficially owned by Mr. Howard by virtue of his position as the managing member of EMH. Mr. Howard disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by EMH except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
- 2) Includes 734 unvested shares of restricted stock issued as of March 26, 2015 pursuant to the Company's 2007 Incentive Stock Plan, which currently have voting rights and will vest on March 26, 2018.



^{*} Less than 1% ownership.

- 3) Includes 2,429 unvested shares of restricted stock issued as of March 9, 2016 pursuant to the Company's 2007 Incentive Stock Plan, which currently have voting rights and will vest in approximately equal installments on March 9, 2018 and 2019.
- 4) Based upon Amendment No. 33 to the Schedule 13D filed on June 27, 2017, SPHG Holdings directly owns 8,560,592 shares of HNH's common stock. SPHG is the sole member of SPHG Holdings and SPLP owns 99% of the membership interests of SPHG. Steel Holdings GP is the general partner of SPLP, the managing member of SPHG and the manager of SPHG Holdings. SPLP, SPHG and Steel Holdings GP disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares owned by SPHG Holdings except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SPLP

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based upon the historical financial statements of SPLP, after giving effect to (1) the acquisition by HNH of SLI, which occurred on June 1, 2016, (2) the acquisition of the remaining minority interest in Steel Excel not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities, which was completed on February 6, 2017 and (3) the proposed acquisition of the remaining minority interest in HNH not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities.

- The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 combines the historical consolidated statements of operations of SPLP and SLI, and illustrates the effect of the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed HNH transaction as if the SLI, Steel Excel and proposed HNH transaction had occurred on January 1, 2016.
- The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 illustrates the effect of the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed HNH transaction as if they had occurred on January 1, 2016.
- The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2017 has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the proposed HNH transaction as if it had occurred on June 30, 2017.

The historical financial information has been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the transactions, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations, expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information should be read in conjunction with the:

- separate historical financial statements of SPLP as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the related notes, which are incorporated by reference in this document;
- separate historical financial statements of HNH as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the related notes, which are incorporated by reference in this document;
- separate historical financial statements of SPLP as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and the related notes, which are incorporated by reference in this document;
- separate historical financial statements of HNH as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and the related notes, which are incorporated by reference in this document; and
- separate historical financial statements of SLI as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and the related notes, which are incorporated by
 reference in this document.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been presented for informational purposes only. The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of what SPLP's financial position or results of operations actually would have been had the transactions been completed as of the dates indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not purport to project the future financial position or operating results of SPLP.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting for the SLI acquisition under existing U.S. GAAP, which is subject to interpretation. Also, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not fully reflect the cost savings, operating synergies or revenue enhancements that SPLP may achieve as a result of HNH's acquisition of SLI, the costs to integrate the operations of SLI or the costs necessary to achieve these cost savings, operating synergies and revenue enhancements.

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

(in thousands, except common unit and per common unit data) Revenue:	SPLP Historical	Historical	SLI Pro Forma Adjustments (Note 5)		Steel Excel Transaction and Proposed HNH Transaction Pro Forma Adjustments (Note 6)		SPLP Pro Forma Combined
Diversified industrial net sales	\$ 998,556	\$ 83,621	\$ —		\$ —		\$ 1,082,177
Energy net revenue	93,995		_				93,995
Financial services revenue	70,998	_			_		70,998
Total revenue	1,163,549	83,621					1,247,170
Costs and expenses:							
Cost of goods sold	815,576	55,941	(2,084)	(a)			869,433
Selling, general and administrative expenses	282,298	25,887	(2,590)	(b)	(487)	(a)	305,108
Goodwill impairment charges	24,254	_	_				24,254
Asset impairment charges	17,259		_				17,259
Finance interest expense	2,595		—		—		2,595
Provision for loan losses	774	—	—		—		774
Interest expense	11,052	196	1,462	(C)	14,701	(b)	27,411
Realized and unrealized gain on derivatives	(148)	—	_		—		(148)
Other income, net	(12,549)	(357)	—		_		(12,906)
Total costs and expenses	1,141,111	81,667	(3,212)		14,214		1,233,780
Income (loss) before income taxes, equity method (income) loss							
and investments held at fair value	22,438	1,954	3,212		(14,214)		13,390
Income tax provision	23,952	1,751	1,245	(d)			26,948
(Income) loss of associated companies and other investments held							
at fair value, net of taxes	(4,085)		8,078	(e)			3,993
Net income (loss)	2,571	203	(6,111)		(14,214)		(17,551)
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests in							
consolidated entities	4,059				(6,364)	(c)	(2,305)
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders	\$ 6,630	\$ 203	\$ (6,111)		\$ (20,578)		\$ (19,856)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per common unit:							
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders	\$ 0.25						\$ (0.75)
Weighted average number of common units outstanding - basic	26,353,714						26,353,714
Weighted average number of common units outstanding - diluted	26,486,209						26,353,714
							-,,

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

(in thousands, except common unit and per common unit data)	 SPLP Historical	Tr Pı	Steel Excel ansaction and roposed HNH Transaction Pro Forma Adjustments (Note 6)			SPLP Pro Forma Combined
Revenue:					-	
Diversified industrial net sales	\$ 584,030	\$			\$	584,030
Energy net revenue	61,351		—			61,351
Financial services revenue	36,329					36,329
Total revenue	 681,710		—			681,710
Costs and expenses:						
Cost of goods sold	475,968					475,968
Selling, general and administrative expenses	169,051		(623)	(a)		168,428
Finance interest expense	1,941		—			1,941
Provision for loan losses	1,088		—			1,088
Interest expense	9,299		5,831	(b)		15,130
Realized and unrealized loss on derivatives	75		_			75
Other expenses, net	 776					776
Total costs and expenses	658,198		5,208			663,406
Income (loss) before income taxes, equity method income and investments held at						
fair value	23,512		(5,208)			18,304
Income tax provision	17,262		_			17,262
Income of associated companies and other investments held at fair value, net of taxes	 (6,370)					(6,370)
Net income (loss)	12,620		(5,208)			7,412
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated entities	(5,449)		4,773	(C)		(676)
Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders	\$ 7,171	\$	(435)		\$	6,736
Basic and diluted net income per common unit:						
Net income attributable to common unitholders	\$ 0.27				\$	0.26
Weighted average number of common units outstanding - basic	26,091,833					26,091,833
Weighted average number of common units outstanding - diluted	26,412,487					26,412,487

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET AS OF JUNE 30, 2017

(in thousands)	 SPLP Historical	Trans Pro I Adjus	ed HNH saction Forma tments ote 6)	 P	SPLP ro Forma
ASSETS					
Current assets:					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 337,816	\$	—	\$	337,816
Restricted cash	13,979		—		13,979
Marketable securities	46,179		—		46,179
Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$3,209	205,866		—		205,866
Receivables from related parties	464		—		464
Loans receivable, including loans held for sale of \$138,133, net	152,556		—		152,556
Inventories, net	131,284		—		131,284
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	19,982		—		19,982
Assets held for sale	2,549		—		2,549
Total current assets	 910,675		_		910,675
Long-term loans receivable, net	72,481		—		72,481
Goodwill	169,891		—		169,891
Other intangible assets, net	212,634		_		212,634
Deferred tax assets	176,296		—		176,296
Other non-current assets	45,974		—		45,974
Property, plant and equipment, net	264,393		_		264,393
Long-term investments	139,461		_		139,461
Total Assets	\$ 1,991,805	\$		\$	1,991,805

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET AS OF JUNE 30, 2017 (Continued)

(in thousands)		SPLP	The provide the provided HTML	posed HNH ransaction bro Forma stments (Note 6)			SPLP Pro Forma
LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL							
Current liabilities:							
Accounts payable	\$	104,352	\$	—		\$	104,352
Accrued liabilities		72,765		_			72,765
Financial instruments		13,979		—			13,979
Deposits		184,655		—			184,655
Payables to related parties		1,060		—			1,060
Short-term debt		1,484		—			1,484
Current portion of long-term debt		57,158		—			57,158
Other current liabilities		20,924		—			20,924
Liabilities of discontinued operations		450		—			450
Total current liabilities		456,827		_			456,827
Long-term deposits		173,733		—			173,733
Long-term debt		330,670		—			330,670
Preferred unit liability		63,683		120,047 (d)		183,730
Accrued pension liabilities		276,748		—			276,748
Deferred tax liabilities		2,867		—			2,867
Other non-current liabilities		14,853		—			14,853
Total Liabilities		1,319,381		120,047			1,439,428
Commitments and Contingencies							
Capital:							
Partners' capital		648,169		(2,081) (e)		646,088
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(52,464)		(64,400) (1	f)		(116,864)
Total Partners' Capital		595,705		(66,481) (g)		529,224
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated entities		76,719			h)		23,153
Total Capital		672,424		(120,047)			552,377
Total Liabilities and Capital	\$	1,991,805	\$			\$	1,991,805
	<u> </u>	, ,				_	, , -

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in thousands, except unit and per unit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTIONS

SLI Acquisition

On April 6, 2016, HNH entered into a definitive merger agreement with SLI, pursuant to which it commenced a cash tender offer to purchase all of the outstanding shares of SLI's common stock, at a purchase price of \$40.00 per share in cash ("Offer"). SLI designs, manufactures and markets power electronics, motion control, power protection, power quality electromagnetic equipment, and custom gears and gearboxes that are used in a variety of medical, commercial and military aerospace, computer, datacom, industrial, architectural and entertainment lighting, and telecom applications. Consummation of the Offer was subject to certain conditions, including the tender of a number of shares that constituted at least (1) a majority of SLI's outstanding shares not owned by HNH or any of its affiliates, as well as other customary conditions. SPLP beneficially owned approximately 25.1% of SLI's outstanding shares at the time of the Offer.

On June 1, 2016, the conditions noted above as well as all other conditions to the Offer were satisfied, and HNH successfully completed its tender offer through a wholly owned subsidiary. Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, the wholly owned subsidiary merged with and into SLI, with SLI being the surviving corporation ("Merger"). Upon completion of the Merger, SLI became a wholly owned subsidiary of HNH.

The total merger consideration was approximately \$161,985, excluding related transaction fees and expenses. The merger consideration represents the aggregate cash merger consideration of approximately \$122,191 paid by HNH to non-affiliates and the fair value of SPLP's previously held interest in SLI of approximately \$39,794. All of the funds necessary to consummate the Offer, the Merger and to pay related fees and expenses were financed with additional borrowings under HNH's senior secured revolving credit facility.

Steel Excel Transaction

On December 7, 2016, SPLP entered into an agreement and plan of merger, as amended on December 23, 2016, with a subsidiary of SPLP and Steel Excel pursuant to which SPLP made an offer to exchange, for each outstanding share of common stock of Steel Excel not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities, 0.712 of new 6.0% Series A preferred units, no par value. The offer commenced on January 9, 2017 and expired on February 6, 2017. As a result of the completion of the offer and subsequent merger of SPLP's subsidiary with and into Steel Excel, SPLP issued approximately 2,500,000 SPLP preferred units with a fair value and liquidation value of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit, or approximately \$63,500, to Steel Excel stockholders and paid approximately \$2,100 in cash for any remaining unvested restricted shares of Steel Excel. As a result, Steel Excel became an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP.

Proposed HNH Transaction

On June 26, 2017, SPLP signed a definitive agreement to acquire all of the remaining shares it does not own of HNH. Prior to the transaction, SPLP beneficially owns approximately 70.0% of HNH's outstanding shares. Under the agreement, SPLP and a wholly owned subsidiary will commence an exchange offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares of HNH's common stock (not owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities) for preferred units of SPLP (see Note 4 – "Issuance of SPLP Preferred Units" for additional information).

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The pro forma financial statements were prepared using the SPLP and SLI historical financial statements as of the dates and for the periods referred to in the introduction above. In addition to presenting the impacts of the SLI acquisition, these pro forma financial statements have been prepared to illustrate the effect of the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed transaction to acquire all of the remaining shares that SPLP and its affiliated entities do not own of HNH. Related to the SLI acquisition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting and was based on the historical financial statements of SLI. The presentation of certain items in the SLI historical financial statements has been conformed to the SPLP presentation for purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.



The acquisition method of accounting under existing U.S. GAAP requires, among other things, that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. In addition, the consideration transferred is measured at the closing date of the acquisition at the thencurrent market price. Accordingly, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from SLI have been recorded as of the completion of the acquisition at their respective fair values and added to those of HNH and SPLP. Financial statements and reported results of operations of SPLP issued after completion of the acquisition reflect these values, but have not been retroactively restated to reflect the historical financial position or results of operations of SLI.

Acquisition-related transaction costs (e.g., advisory, regulatory, legal, valuation, and other professional fees) and certain acquisition-related restructuring charges impacting the acquired company are not included as a component of consideration transferred but are accounted for as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred (see Note 5 – "Pro Forma Adjustments - SLI Acquisition" for additional information). The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not reflect any restructuring and integration charges which may be incurred in connection with HNH's acquisition of SLI. Any such costs will be expensed as incurred.

3. ACQUISITION OF NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") No. 810, *Consolidation*, changes in a parent's ownership interest where the parent retains a controlling financial interest in its subsidiary will be accounted for as equity transactions. Therefore, remeasurement of assets and liabilities of previously controlled and consolidated subsidiaries is not permitted. The carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted to reflect the change in SPLP's ownership interest in Steel Excel and HNH. The difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the amount by which the noncontrolling interest is adjusted has been recognized in equity attributable to SPLP.

4. ISSUANCE OF SPLP PREFERRED UNITS

Pursuant to the merger agreement, SPLP will commence an exchange offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares of HNH stock not already owned by SPLP or any of its affiliated entities for SPLP preferred units. As a result, the pro forma adjustments (see Note 6 – "Pro Forma Adjustments - Steel Excel Transaction and Proposed HNH Transaction") related to the issuance of the SPLP preferred units reflect the issuance of approximately 5,432,000 SPLP preferred units with an aggregate fair value, based on the closing price on the NYSE on August 10, 2017, of approximately \$120,047 and an aggregate liquidation value of \$135,800. The discount of \$15,753 will be amortized over the period the SPLP preferred units are expected to be outstanding.

The SPLP preferred units have a liquidation value of \$25.00 per unit (payable in cash or common units of SPLP, or a combination of both, at SPLP's discretion) and they entitle the holders to a 6.0% per annum cumulative quarterly cash or in kind (or a combination) distribution. The SPLP preferred units mature in February 2026 and are redeemable at any time at SPLP's option at the liquidation value, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions (payable in cash or common units of SPLP, or a combination of both, at SPLP's discretion). If redeemed in common units, the number of common units to be issued will be equal to the liquidation value of \$25.00 per unit divided by the volume weighted average price of the common units for 60 days prior to the redemption.

In addition, the holders can require SPLP to repurchase up to 20% of the SPLP preferred units, in cash on a pro rata basis, in February 2020, reduced by any preferred units called for redemption by SPLP, in cash on a pro rata basis, prior to that time. The SPLP preferred units have no voting rights, except that holders of the preferred units have certain voting rights in limited circumstances relating to the election of directors following the failure to pay six quarterly distributions.



The SPLP preferred units are being accounted for as a liability in accordance with ASC *No. 480*, *Distinguishing Liabilities From Equity*, because they have an unconditional obligation to be redeemed for cash or by issuing a variable number of SPLP common units for a monetary value of \$25.00 that is fixed and known at inception.

5. PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS - SLI ACQUISITION

- (a) To record the change to depreciation expense of \$160 related to the fair-value adjustment to acquired property, plant and equipment, using the straightline method and to remove the effect of non-recurring amortization of the fair-value adjustment to acquisition-date inventories of \$1,924.
- (b) To record the following adjustments:

	Yea	ır Ended		
	December 31, 201			
Eliminate HNH's advisory, legal, regulatory and valuation costs, which are non-recurring ⁽¹⁾	\$	(668)		
Eliminate SLI's acquisition-related transaction costs and non-cash stock compensation expenses, which are non-recurring $^{(1)}$		(5,533)		
Record the additional amortization expense related to the fair-value adjustment to the intangible assets acquired ⁽²⁾		3,611		
Total	\$	(2,590)		

- (1) These costs are directly attributable to HNH's acquisition of SLI and are not expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results of SPLP and SLI.
- (2) Amortization expense is computed based upon the following: customer relationships of \$59,900 using the double-declining balance method over a useful life of 15 years, trade names of \$14,700, developed technology and patents of \$10,700 using the straight-line method over useful lives ranging from 10 15 years, and customer order backlog of approximately \$6,900. The customer order backlog was amortized based on the expected period over which the orders were fulfilled, ranging from two to eight months.
- (c) To record the additional interest expense on incremental debt utilized to finance the SLI acquisition. The additional interest expense is based on additional borrowings of approximately \$158,000 under HNH's senior secured revolving credit facility, using HNH's interest rate at the time of the borrowing.
- (d) To record the tax impact of the pro forma adjustments using the applicable statutory tax rate for the period.
- (e) To eliminate SPLP's equity method income recorded on its investment in SLI.

6. PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS - STEEL EXCEL TRANSACTION AND PROPOSED HNH TRANSACTION

(a) To eliminate advisory, legal, regulatory and valuation costs which are directly attributable to SPLP's acquisition of the remaining noncontrolling interest of both Steel Excel and HNH. These costs are non-recurring and are not expected to have a continuing impact on the consolidated results of SPLP:

	Year Ended December 31, 2016	Six Months Ended June 30, 2017
Expenses related to Steel Excel transaction	\$ (487)	\$ (85)
Expenses related to proposed HNH transaction	—	(538)
	\$ (487)	\$ (623)

(b) To record interest expense for the SPLP preferred units issued in connection with the Steel Excel transaction and the proposed HNH transaction. Distributions are cumulative at a rate of 6% per year based on the liquidation value of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit (or \$1.50 annually per SPLP preferred unit):

			Interest Expense				
	SPLP Preferred Units	Annual ribution per P Preferred Unit	Year Ended December 31, 2016		Six Months Ended June 30, 2017		
Issued in connection with Steel Excel Transaction ⁽¹⁾	2,540,112	\$ 1.50	\$	3,810	\$	386	
To be issued in connection with proposed HNH transaction	5,432,000	\$ 1.50		8,148		4,074	
	7,972,112			11,958		4,460	
Accretion of discount ⁽²⁾				2,743		1,371	
Total interest expense			\$	14,701	\$	5,831	

(1) The amount for six months ended June 30, 2017 represents interest expense for the period prior to the completion of the Steel Excel transaction which occurred on February 6, 2017.

- (2) Approximately 20% of the discount of \$15,753 is being amortized over 2.5 years due to the repurchase option of the holders to redeem 20% of the SPLP preferred units in February 2020. The remainder of the discount is being amortized over 8.5 years, which represents the period from issuance to the redemption date.
- (c) To eliminate the historical net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in Steel Excel and HNH.
- (d) To reflect the issuance of SPLP preferred units for the remaining noncontrolling interest in HNH. The SPLP preferred units are recorded net of the discount of \$15,753, or \$2.90 per SPLP preferred unit, which represents the difference between the liquidation value of \$25.00 and the fair value of \$22.10 per SPLP preferred unit, based on the closing price of the SPLP preferred units on the NYSE on August 10, 2017.

SPLP preferred units to be issued	5,432,000
Fair value per SPLP preferred unit (based on closing price on NYSE on August 10, 2017)	\$ 22.10
Aggregate value of SPLP preferred units to be issued	\$ 120,047

(e) To reflect the reclass to Partners' capital of items previously recognized in Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries.

(f) To reflect the reclass to Accumulated other comprehensive loss of items previously recognized in Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries.

- (g) The adjustment to Total Partners' Capital represents the consideration paid to acquire all of the shares of HNH not already owned by SPLP in the form of preferred units, less the carrying value of the noncontrolling interest in HNH.
- (h) To eliminate the historical carrying value of the noncontrolling interest in HNH.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF HNH

On June 1, 2016, HNH completed the acquisition SLI, and as a result of the acquisition, SLI became a wholly owned subsidiary of HNH. On September 30, 2016, SL Montevideo Technology, Inc. ("SMTI"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HNH, entered into an asset purchase agreement with Hamilton Sundstrand Corporation ("Hamilton") whereby SMTI acquired certain assets of Hamilton's Electromagnetic Enterprise division ("EME").

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based upon the historical financial statements of HNH, after giving effect to (1) the acquisition of SLI, which occurred on June 1, 2016, and (2) the acquisition of EME, which occurred on September 30, 2016.

- The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 combines the historical consolidated statements of operations of HNH, SLI and EME as if the acquisitions of SLI and EME had both occurred on January 1, 2016.
- An unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 has not been presented herein because the results of operations of both acquired entities have already been reflected in the consolidated statement of operations included in HNH's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the six months ended June 30, 2017.
- The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2017 has not been presented herein because both acquired entities have already been reflected in the consolidated balance sheet included in HNH's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as of June 30, 2017.

The historical financial information has been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations to give effect to pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to HNH's acquisitions of SLI and EME, (2) factually supportable, and (3) expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information should be read in conjunction with the:

- separate historical financial statements of HNH as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the related notes, which are incorporated by reference in this document;
- separate historical financial statements of SLI as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and the related notes, which are incorporated by reference in this document; and
- separate historical financial statements of EME as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and the related notes, which are incorporated by reference in this document.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been presented for informational purposes only. The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of what HNH's financial position or results of operations actually would have been had HNH's acquisitions of SLI and EME been completed as of January 1, 2016. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not purport to project the future financial position or operating results of HNH.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting under existing U.S. GAAP, which is subject to interpretation. Also, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not fully reflect the cost savings, operating synergies or revenue enhancements that HNH may achieve as a result of its acquisitions of SLI and EME, the costs to integrate the operations of SLI and EME, or the costs necessary to achieve these cost savings, operating synergies and revenue enhancements.

HANDY & HARMAN LTD. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

(in thousands, except per share)		HNH	SLI				Е	EME				HNH	
	F	Iistorical		Historical		Pro Forma Adjustments (Note 3)		Historical		Pro Forma Adjustments (Note 4)			ro Forma Combined
Net sales	\$	828,343	\$	83,621	\$	—		\$ 49,022	\$	—		\$	960,986
Cost of goods sold		600,432		55,941		(2,084)	(a)	38,262		(9)	(a)		692,542
Gross profit		227,911		27,680		2,084		10,760		9			268,444
Selling, general and administrative													
expenses		171,479		25,887		(2,590)	(b)	2,143		2,271	(b)		199,190
Pension expense		8,139											8,139
Goodwill impairment charges		24,254											24,254
Asset impairment charges		8,990		—									8,990
Operating income (loss)		15,049		1,793		4,674		8,617		(2,262)			27,871
Other:									_				
Interest expense		7,198		196		1,462	(c)			1,466	(c)		10,322
Realized and unrealized gain on derivatives		(148)											(148)
Other income		(376)		(357)		—							(733)
Income (loss) before tax and equity													
investment		8,375		1,954		3,212		8,617		(3,728)			18,430
Tax provision (benefit)		13,893		1,751		1,245	(d)	3,415		(1,444)	(d)		18,860
Loss from associated company, net of tax		5,426		—						—			5,426
Net (loss) income	\$	(10,944)	\$	203	\$	1,967		\$ 5,202	\$	(2,284)		\$	(5,856)
Basic and diluted loss per share of			_					-	_				
common stock													
Net loss per share	\$	(0.89)										\$	(0.48)
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding		12,242											12,242

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

HANDY & HARMAN LTD. NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (in thousands, except per share data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTIONS

SLI Acquisition

On April 6, 2016, HNH entered into a definitive merger agreement with SLI, pursuant to which it commenced a cash tender offer to purchase all of the outstanding shares of SLI's common stock, at a purchase price of \$40.00 per share in cash ("Offer"). SLI designs, manufactures and markets power electronics, motion control, power protection, power quality electromagnetic equipment, and custom gears and gearboxes that are used in a variety of medical, commercial and military aerospace, computer, datacom, industrial, architectural and entertainment lighting, and telecom applications. Consummation of the Offer was subject to certain conditions, including the tender of a number of shares that constituted at least (1) a majority of SLI's outstanding shares not owned by HNH or any of its affiliates, as well as other customary conditions. SPLP beneficially owned approximately 25.1% of SLI's outstanding shares at the time of the Offer.

On June 1, 2016, the conditions noted above, as well as all other conditions to the Offer were satisfied, and HNH successfully completed its tender offer through a wholly owned subsidiary. Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, the wholly-owned subsidiary merged with and into SLI, with SLI being the surviving corporation ("Merger"). Upon completion of the Merger, SLI became a wholly owned subsidiary of HNH.

The aggregate consideration paid by HNH in the Offer and Merger was approximately \$161,985, excluding related transaction fees and expenses. All of the funds necessary to consummate the Offer, the Merger and to pay related fees and expenses were financed with additional borrowings under HNH's senior secured revolving credit facility.

EME Acquisition

On September 30, 2016, SMTI, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of HNH, entered into an asset purchase agreement ("Purchase Agreement") with Hamilton. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, on September 30, 2016, SMTI acquired from Hamilton certain assets of EME used or useful in the design, development, manufacture, marketing, service, distribution, repair and sale of electric motors, starters and generators for certain commercial applications, including for use in commercial hybrid electric vehicles and refrigeration and in the aerospace and defense sectors. SMTI purchased the acquired net assets for \$60,329 in cash and assumption of certain ordinary course business liabilities, subject to adjustments related to working capital at closing and quality of earnings of the acquired business for the period of January 1, 2016 to June 30, 2016, each as provided in the Purchase Agreement, including a reduction of \$2,200 received during the three months ended March 31, 2017. The Purchase Agreement includes a guarantee by Hamilton of a minimum level of product purchases from SMTI by an affiliate of Hamilton for calendar years 2017, 2018 and 2019, in exchange for compliance by SMTI with certain operating covenants. The transaction was financed with additional borrowings under HNH's senior secured revolving credit facility.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting and was based on the historical financial statements of HNH, SLI and EME. The presentation of certain items in the SLI and EME historical financial statements has been conformed to the HNH presentation for purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

The acquisition method of accounting under existing U.S. GAAP requires, among other things, that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. In addition, the consideration transferred is measured at the closing date of the acquisition at the thencurrent market price. Accordingly, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from SLI and EME have been recorded as of the completion of the acquisition at their respective fair values and added to those of HNH. Financial statements and reported results of operations of HNH issued after the completion of the acquisitions reflect these values, but have not been retroactively restated to reflect the historical financial position or results of operations of SLI and EME.

Acquisition-related transaction costs (e.g., advisory, legal, regulatory, valuation and other professional fees) and certain acquisition-related restructuring charges impacting the acquired company are not included as a component of consideration transferred but are accounted for as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred (see Note 3 and Note 4 for additional information). The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations does not reflect any restructuring and integration charges which may be incurred in connection with HNH's acquisitions of SLI and EME. Any such costs will be expensed as incurred.

3. SLI PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS

- (a) To record the change to depreciation expense of \$160 related to the fair-value adjustment to acquired property, plant and equipment, using the straightline method and to remove the effect of non-recurring amortization of the fair-value adjustment to acquisition-date inventories of \$1,924.
- (b) To record the following adjustments:

	Year Ended December 31, 2016	
Eliminate HNH's advisory, legal, regulatory and valuation costs, which are non-recurring $^{(1)}$	\$	(668)
Eliminate SLI's acquisition-related transaction costs and non-cash stock compensation expenses, which are non-recurring $^{(1)}$		(5,533)
Record the additional amortization expense related to the fair-value adjustment to the intangible assets acquired ⁽²⁾		3,611
Total	\$	(2,590)

- (1) These costs are directly attributable to HNH's acquisition of SLI and are not expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results of HNH and SLI.
- (2) Amortization expense is computed based upon the following: customer relationships of \$59,900 using the double-declining balance method over a useful life of 15 years, trade names of \$14,700, developed technology and patents of \$10,700 using the straight-line method over useful lives ranging from 10 15 years, and customer order backlog of approximately \$6,900. The customer order backlog was amortized based on the expected period over which the orders were fulfilled, ranging from two to eight months.
- (c) To record the additional interest expense on incremental debt utilized to finance the SLI acquisition. The additional interest expense is based on additional borrowings of approximately \$158,000 under HNH's senior secured revolving credit facility, using HNH's interest rate at the time of the borrowing.
- (d) To record the tax impact of the pro forma adjustments using the applicable statutory tax rate for the period.

4. EME PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS

(a) To record the change to depreciation expense of \$9 related to the fair-value adjustment to acquired property, plant and equipment, using the straight-line method.

	Year Ended December 31, 2016	
Eliminate HNH's advisory, legal, regulatory and valuation costs, which are non-recurring $^{(1)}$	\$	(481)
Eliminate EME's acquisition-related transaction costs, which are non-recurring $^{(1)}$		(48)
Record the additional amortization expense related to the fair-value adjustment to the intangible assets acquired ⁽²⁾		2,800
Total	\$	2,271

(1) These costs are directly attributable to HNH's acquisition of EME and are not expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results of HNH and EME.

(2) Amortization expense is computed based upon customer relationships of \$27,200 using the double-declining balance method over a useful life of 15 years and customer order backlog of approximately \$1,200. The customer order backlog was amortized based on the expected period over which the orders were fulfilled of four months.

(c) To record the additional interest expense on incremental debt utilized to finance the EME acquisition. The additional interest expense is based on additional borrowings of approximately \$60,329 under HNH's senior secured revolving credit facility, using HNH's interest rate at the time of the borrowing.

(d) To record the tax impact of the pro forma adjustments using the applicable statutory tax rate for the period.

MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

This discussion is for general information only and is not tax advice. It does not purport to address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to particular holders of the Company common stock in light of their particular facts and circumstances. The following is a general discussion of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the offer and the merger to U.S. holders of HNH common stock who exchange shares of HNH common stock for the transaction consideration pursuant to the offer or the merger. This discussion is based on current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"), the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial interpretations thereof and administrative rulings and published positions of the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"), each as in effect as of the date hereof, and all of which are subject to change or differing interpretations, possibly with retroactive effect, and any such change could affect the accuracy of the statements and conclusions set forth herein.

For purposes of this discussion, a "U.S. Holder" is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

(i) an individual citizen or resident of the United States;

(ii) a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

(iii) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

(iv) a trust which either (A) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (B) has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

This section focuses on the tax consequences to individuals who hold the HNH stock as a capital asset, and has no applicability to stockholders who are subject to specialized tax regimes, such as tax-exempt institutions, individual retirement accounts, employee benefit plans, persons who are not U.S. Holders, partnerships (including entities treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes), "S" corporations, real estate investment trusts, and mutual funds, among others.

The discussion that constitutes the opinions of Pepper Hamilton LLP below indicates the Company's expected U.S. federal income tax treatment of the offer and merger, and the impact of holding the SPLP preferred units. The opinions, which will be delivered at the time of the closing, are based on the facts and law at such time and on representations made by SPLP at that time.

Unlike a ruling from the IRS, an opinion of counsel represents the counsel's best legal judgment and does not bind the IRS or the courts. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the opinions and statements in this section will be sustained if challenged by the IRS.

We encourage each exchanging stockholder of HNH to consult their own tax advisor with regard to the federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax consequences particular to that stockholder resulting from the offer and the merger and SPLP preferred unit ownership.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Classification of SPLP

SPLP is a publicly traded partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Section 7704 of the Code provides that generally publicly traded partnerships are taxed as corporations. However, an exception, referred to as the "Qualifying Income Exception," exists with respect to publicly traded partnerships in which 90 percent or more of the gross income for every taxable year consists of "qualifying income" as defined in the Code. It is the opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP that, based on the Code, its regulations, published guidance and court decisions, and on the representations described below, that SPLP will be classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In rendering its opinion, Pepper Hamilton LLP has relied upon factual representations made by SPLP, including that (i) SPLP has not made an election to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (ii) SPLP has not and will not (prior to the exchange) be required to register as an investment company for purposes of the Investment Company Act and (iii) for each taxable year that it has been or will be a publicly traded partnership as defined by the Code, more than 90% of its gross income has been and will be "qualifying income" as defined by Section 7704(d) of the Code.

If the Qualifying Income Exception ceases to be available to us, we will be treated as having transferred all of our assets to a corporation and distributing that stock to our unitholders in liquidation. The deemed incorporation and liquidation would generally be expected to be tax free, unless our liabilities exceed our basis in our assets at that time. If we are taxed as a corporation, (i) our net income would be taxed at corporate income tax rates, which could substantially reduce our profitability, (ii) you would not be allowed to deduct your share of losses of SPLP, if any, and (iii) distributions to you, other than liquidating distributions, would constitute dividends to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, and would be taxable as such.

The current U.S. federal income tax treatment of (i) publicly traded partnerships, including us, or (ii) an investment in our units may be modified by administrative, legislative or judicial interpretation at any time, possibly on a retroactive basis. The U.S. federal income tax rules are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process, the IRS, and the United States.

The discussion that constitutes the opinions of Pepper Hamilton LLP below is based on the opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP that SPLP is and will be classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Federal Income Tax Treatment of the Offer and Merger for U.S. Holders

In the offer a stockholder will exchange its shares of HNH's common stock for SPLP preferred units, and a stockholder who does not participate in the offer will, as a result of the merger, receive SPLP preferred units in exchange for its HNH common stock. Because of the issue described in the next paragraph, it is the opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP that the exchange of HNH common stock in the offer or pursuant to the merger should not be a taxable exchange to a stockholder under Section 721(a) of the Code, except to the extent there is cash paid for fractional shares.

While Section 721(a) provides that an exchange of property with a partnership in exchange for partnership interests is generally a non-taxable event, Section 721(b) would override Section 721(a), and the exchange would be a taxable transaction to HNH stockholders in which gain or loss would be recognized depending on the basis in their shares, if SPLP is an "investment company," as defined by Section 351 of the Code.

The rules for determining if we are an investment company are dependent, among other things, on the assets we hold, our percentage ownership of our indirect corporate subsidiaries and the assets that certain of our subsidiary companies hold. It is the opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP that, based on the factual representations made by SPLP, SPLP should not be an investment company for these purposes. A partnership is an investment partnership if more than 80% of its assets are held for investments, and they constitute "stock or securities." In analyzing this test, SPLP looks through stock owned by subsidiaries that are 50% or more owned by SPLP to evaluate their assets. It is unclear whether the 50% threshold is measured by voting power or value of the subsidiaries. In addition, the term "stock or securities" includes cash. Whether cash held as working capital should be included in the term stock and securities is unclear. In preparing its opinion, Pepper Hamilton LLP requested that SPLP assume, for purposes of the factual representations as to the assets held by the subsidiaries, that all cash constituted stock or securities. Thus, while there is some unsettled law, the opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP is that SPLP should not be an investment company for purposes of Section 721(b) of the Code.

Based on Pepper Hamilton LLP's opinion that the exchange of HNH common stock for SPLP preferred units in connection with the merger and offer should not be treated as a taxable exchange to a stockholder of the Company under Section 721(a) of the Code (except to the extent there is cash paid for fractional shares, as discussed below), it is the opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP that HNH stockholders receiving SPLP preferred units should have a tax basis and holding period in those SPLP preferred units equal to that of the HNH common stock surrendered in exchange for the SPLP preferred units.

To the extent cash is paid for fractional shares, you will be treated as having sold that fractional share and will have gain or loss to the extent the cash received varies from the basis in that fractional share. Any gain resulting from such sale will be capital gain, assuming you held the shares of the Company as capital assets. Such capital gain will be subject to tax at the preferential rates applicable to long-term capital gain in the case of individual holders that held HNH common stock for more than one year at the time of the merger or offer, as applicable. If there is a loss, the use of the loss will be subject to limitations.

Tax Consequences of Owning SPLP Preferred Units

Consequences to U.S. Holders of Units- Flow Through in General

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, your allocable share of our items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit will be governed by the limited partnership agreement for our partnership if such allocations have "substantial economic effect" or are determined to be in accordance with your interest in our partnership. We believe that for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such allocations will be given effect, and we intend to prepare tax returns based on such allocations. If the IRS successfully challenges the allocations made pursuant to the limited partnership agreement, the resulting allocations for U.S. federal income tax purposes might be less favorable than the allocations set forth in the limited partnership agreement.

The characterization of an item of our income, gain, loss, deduction or credit will be determined at our (rather than at your) level. Distributions we receive from our investments will be taxable as dividend income to the extent of the paying company's current and accumulated earnings and profits and, to the extent allocable to individual holders of units, they will be eligible for a reduced rate of tax, provided that certain holding period requirements are satisfied.

We may derive taxable income from an investment that is not matched by a corresponding distribution of cash. In addition, special provisions of the Code may be applicable to certain of our investments, and may affect the timing of our income, requiring us (and, consequently, you) to recognize taxable income before we (or you) receive cash, if any, attributable to such income. Accordingly, it is possible that your allocable share of our income for a particular taxable year could exceed any cash distribution you receive for the year, thus giving rise to an out-of-pocket tax liability for you.

Basis

As described above, and opined upon by Pepper Hamilton LLP, the exchange of HNH common stock for SPLP preferred units in connection with the merger and offer should not be treated as a taxable exchange to a stockholder of the Company under Section 721(a) of the Code (except to the extent there is cash paid for fractional shares, as discussed above), and you should have an initial tax basis in your units equal to that of HNH common stock surrendered in exchange for the units. Your basis will be increased by your share of our income and by increases in your share, under partnership tax rules, of our liabilities, if any. Your basis will be decreased, but not below zero, by distributions from us, by your share of our losses and by any decrease in your share of our liabilities.

If you acquire units in separate transactions you must combine the basis of those units and maintain a single adjusted tax basis for all those units. Upon a sale or other disposition of less than all of the units, a portion of that tax basis must be allocated to the units sold. This may result in a portion of any gain realized in connection with the sale of our units being treated as short-term capital gain even if you have held some (or most) your investment in us for more than one year. As discussed below, you should consult your tax advisor regarding these rules.

Treatment of Distributions

Subject to the discussion below, under treatment of SPLP preferred units, distributions of cash by us will not be taxable to you to the extent of your adjusted tax basis (described above) in your units. Any cash distributions in excess of your adjusted tax basis will be considered to be gain from the sale or exchange of your units (described below). Under current laws, such gain would be treated as capital gain and would be long-term capital gain if your holding period for your units exceeds one year, subject to certain exceptions (described below). A reduction in your allocable share of our liabilities, and certain distributions of marketable securities by us, are treated similar to cash distributions for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Sale or Exchange of Units

You will recognize gain or loss on a sale of SPLP preferred units equal to the difference, if any, between the amount realized and your adjusted tax basis in the units sold. Your amount realized will be measured by the sum of the cash or the fair market value of other property received by you plus your share, under partnership tax rules, of our liabilities, if any, at the time of such sale or exchange.

Subject to the exceptions discussed in this paragraph, gain or loss recognized by you on the sale or exchange of a unit will be taxable as capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if all of the units you hold were held for more than one year on the date of such sale or exchange. If we hold, directly or indirectly, interests in certain non-U.S. corporations at the time of the sale, a portion of the gain on the sale could be converted into ordinary income and an interest charge may be imposed on such gain. In addition, certain gain attributable to "unrealized receivables" or "inventory items" would be characterized as ordinary income rather than capital gain. For example, if we hold debt acquired at a market discount, accrued market discount on such debt would be treated as "unrealized receivables." The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Holders who acquire units at different times and intend to sell all or a portion of the units within a year of their most recent purchase are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of certain "split holding period" rules to them and the treatment of any gain or loss as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss. Holders in publicly traded partnerships may choose to use the actual holding period for each unit sold provided certain requirements are met. You should consult your tax advisor regarding these rules.

Treatment of the SPLP Preferred Units - Allocation of Profits and Losses

In general, we will specially allocate to the SPLP preferred units items of our gross ordinary income in an amount equal to the distributions paid in respect of the SPLP preferred units during the taxable year. The gross ordinary income allocated to a holder of SPLP preferred units will generally have the same character as our gross ordinary income (e.g., interest, dividends, rents from real property, UBTI, etc.). If we elect to pay the annual 6% distribution in kind, we may allocate to you gross income in an amount of the in kind payment. As a result, you may have income allocated to you that exceeds the cash received by you. In addition, to the extent our distributions in prior years exceed the cumulative gross ordinary income allocated to the SPLP preferred units, we will allocate additional gross ordinary income to the SPLP preferred units such excess is eliminated. In such circumstance, the gross income allocated to holders of the SPLP preferred units during a taxable year would exceed the distributions to the SPLP preferred units during such taxable year.

THE PRECEDING DISCUSSION IS INTENDED ONLY AS A SUMMARY OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE OFFER AND THE MERGER. IT IS NOT A COMPLETE ANALYSIS OR DISCUSSION OF ALL POTENTIAL TAX EFFECTS THAT MAY BE IMPORTANT TO A PARTICULAR HOLDER. ALL HOLDERS OF HNH COMMON STOCK SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE SPECIFIC TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE OFFER AND THE MERGER TO THEM, INCLUDING TAX REPORTING REQUIREMENTS, AND THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF ANY FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND NON-U.S. TAX LAWS.



DESCRIPTION OF THE SPLP PREFERRED UNITS

The following description of the particular terms of the SPLP preferred units supplements the description of the general terms and provisions of the SPLP preferred units in this prospectus/offer to exchange. The following description is a summary and it does not describe every aspect of the SPLP preferred units. Our sixth amended and restated limited partnership agreement, attached to this prospectus/offer to exchange as **Annex B**, contains the full legal text of the matters described in this section. This summary is qualified by the sixth amended and restated limited partnership agreement. Therefore, you should read carefully the detailed provisions of the sixth amended and restated limited partnership agreement. As used in this section, "we," "us" and "our" mean SPLP, a Delaware limited partnership, and its successors, but not any of its subsidiaries. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in the sixth amended and restated limited partnership agreement, and those definitions are incorporated herein by reference.

The SPLP preferred units are a single series of authorized preferred units. Our limited partnership agreement permits our General Partner to authorize the issuance of an unlimited number of preferred units, in one or more classes or series without action by holders of outstanding common or, except as specified below, preferred units. We may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of holders of the SPLP preferred units, issue equity securities that rank equally with or junior to the SPLP preferred units. We may also from time to time, without notice to or consent of holders of the SPLP preferred units, issue additional SPLP preferred units. The additional SPLP preferred units may form a single series with the SPLP preferred units or may be offered as a separate series.

Distributions

Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are payable when, as and if declared by the SPLP GP Board out of funds legally available, at a rate per annum equal to 6.0% of the \$25.00 liquidation preference per unit. Distributions are payable in cash or in kind or a combination thereof at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board. The liquidation preference per unit for purposes of calculating distributions will not be adjusted for any changes to the capital account balance per unit as described below under "— Amount Payable in Liquidation."

Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year (each, a "distribution payment date"), when, as and if declared by the SPLP GP Board. If any of those dates is not a business day, then distributions will be payable on the next succeeding business day, without any increase to account for the period from the distribution payment date through the date of actual payment. A "distribution period" is the period from and including a distribution payment date to, but excluding, the next distribution payment date, except that the initial distribution period with respect to SPLP preferred units issued in connection with the offer and the merger will commence on and include the original issue date of such SPLP preferred units. The amount of distributions payable for the initial distribution period and any period shorter than a full distribution period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Declared distributions will be payable on the relevant distribution payment date to holders of record as they appear on our register at the close of business, New York City time, on the March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1, as the case may be, immediately preceding the relevant distribution payment date (each, a "record date"). These record dates will apply regardless of whether a particular record date is a business day, provided that if the record date is not a business day, the declared distributions will be payable on the relevant distributions will be payable on the business day immediately preceding such record date. A "business day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in New York City are authorized or required by law to close.

Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are cumulative and shall accumulate from the date of issuance of the applicable SPLP preferred units. Distributions on the SPLP preferred units will accumulate whether or not the terms and provisions of any agreement of SPLP, including any agreement relating to its indebtedness, at any time prohibit the current payment of distributions, whether or not SPLP has earnings, whether or not there are funds legally available for the payment of such distributions and whether or not such distributions are authorized. Accumulated but unpaid distributions on the SPLP preferred units will accumulate as of the applicable distribution payment date on which they first become payable. Distributions on account of arrears for any past distribution periods may be declared and paid at any time, without reference to a regular distribution payment date, to holders of record of the SPLP preferred units on the record date fixed by SPLP acting through the General Partner. Accumulated and unpaid distributions will not bear interest.



The SPLP preferred units rank senior to our common units with respect to the payment of distributions to the extent provided in our limited partnership agreement.

The SPLP GP Board, or a duly authorized committee thereof, may, in its discretion, choose to pay distributions on the SPLP preferred units without the payment of any distributions on our common units and any other units SPLP may issue in the future ranking, as to the payment of distributions, junior to the SPLP preferred units (collectively, "junior units"). No distributions may be declared or paid or set apart for payment on any SPLP preferred units if at the same time any arrears exist or default exists in the payment of distributions on any outstanding series of our senior units (defined below), if any are issued.

When distributions are not paid (or duly provided for) on any distribution payment date (or, in the case of parity units (as defined below) having distribution payment dates different from the distribution payment dates pertaining to the SPLP preferred units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related distribution period for the SPLP preferred units) in full upon the SPLP preferred units or any parity units, all distribution payment dates different from the distribution payment date (or, in the case of parity units having distribution payment dates different from the distribution payment dates pertaining to the SPLP preferred units, on a distribution payment dates different from the distribution payment dates pertaining to the SPLP preferred units, on a distribution shall be declared pro rata so that the respective amounts of such distributions per unit on all parity units payable on such distribution payment date (or in the case of non-cumulative party units, unpaid distributions for the then current distribution period (whether or not declared) and in the case of parity units having distribution payment dates different from the distribution payment date falling within the related distribution payment dates different from the distribution payment date falling within the related distribution payment dates different and unpaid distributions per unit on all parity units payable on such distribution payment date (or in the case of non-cumulative party units, unpaid distribution payment dates pertaining to the SPLP preferred units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related distribution payment dates different from the distribution payment dates pertaining to the SPLP preferred units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related distribution period for the SPLP preferred units) bear to each other.

Ranking

The SPLP preferred units rank senior to our junior units with respect to payment of distributions and distribution of our assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

The SPLP preferred units rank equally with any of our equity securities, including our outstanding SPLP preferred units and any preferred units that we may issue in the future, the terms of which provide that such securities will rank equally with the SPLP preferred units with respect to payment of distributions and distribution of our assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up ("parity units").

The SPLP preferred units rank junior to (i) all of our existing and future indebtedness and (ii) any of our equity securities, including preferred units, that we may issue in the future, the terms of which provide that such securities will rank senior to the SPLP preferred units with respect to payment of distributions and distribution of our assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up (such equity securities, "senior units"). We currently have no senior units outstanding. While any SPLP preferred units are outstanding, we may not authorize or create any class or series of senior units without the approval of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of outstanding SPLP preferred units and all other series of voting preferred units (defined below), acting as a single class. See "— Voting Rights" below for a discussion of the voting rights applicable if we seek to create any class or series of senior units.

Optional Redemption

At any time or from time to time we may, at our option, out of funds legally available redeem the SPLP preferred units, in whole or in part, in cash or in common units or a combination thereof, at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice, at a price of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit plus accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such SPLP preferred unit to, but excluding, the redemption date. If we choose to redeem less than all of the SPLP preferred units, the SPLP preferred units will be redeemed on a pro rata basis. Once proper notice has been given and so long as funds legally available and sufficient to pay the redemption price for all of the SPLP preferred units called for redemption have been set aside for payment, from and after the redemption date, distributions, and all rights of the holders thereof will cease other than the right to receive the redemption price, without interest. If we elect to pay the redemption price for any SPLP preferred units in common units, such common units will be valued at their volume-weighted average price for the 60 consecutive trading days immediately preceding the applicable redemption date.



Repurchase at the Option of the Holders

Holders of the SPLP preferred units have the right to require SPLP to repurchase up to 525,000 SPLP preferred units (as such amount may be reduced pursuant to the immediately following sentence, the "optional redemption amount") on February 7, 2020 (the "optional redemption date") at a redemption price of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit plus accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such SPLP preferred unit to, but excluding, the redemption date, in cash. The optional redemption amount, which represents approximately 20% of the currently outstanding SPLP preferred units, will be amended upon the consummation of the offer so that it equals 20% of the sum of the currently outstanding SPLP preferred units plus the number of SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger. The optional redemption date. The General Partner will give notice of such repurchase option to the SPLP preferred unit holders at least 30 days prior to the optional redemption date. If SPLP preferred unit holders elect to have SPLP repurchase an aggregate number of SPLP preferred units in excess of the optional redemption amount, SPLP shall repurchase such SPLP preferred units on a pro rata basis (based on the relative number of SPLP preferred units that such SPLP preferred unit holders have elected to be repurchased in such optional redemption) up to the optional redemption amount.

Mandatory Redemption

If not earlier redeemed, on February 7, 2026, SPLP shall redeem all of the SPLP preferred units at a redemption price equal to \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such SPLP preferred unit to, but excluding, the redemption date, in cash or in common units or a combination thereof, at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board.

Voting Rights

Except as indicated below, the holders of the SPLP preferred units have no voting rights.

If and whenever six quarterly distributions (whether or not consecutive) payable on the SPLP preferred units or on any series or class of parity units have not been declared and paid (a "Nonpayment"), the number of directors then constituting the SPLP GP Board will be increased by two and the holders of the SPLP preferred units, voting together as a single class with the holders of any other class or series of parity units then outstanding upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable (any such other series, the "voting preferred units"), will have the right to elect these two additional directors at a meeting of the holders of the SPLP preferred units and such other voting preferred units. When quarterly distributions have been declared and paid on the SPLP preferred units to elect these two additional directors will cease, the terms of office of these two directors will forthwith terminate and the number of directors constituting the SPLP GP Board will be reduced accordingly. However, the right of the holders of the SPLP preferred units and any other voting preferred units to elect two additional directors will again vest if and whenever six additional quarterly distributions have not been declared and paid, as described above.

The approval of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of outstanding SPLP preferred units and all other voting preferred units, acting as a single class regardless of series, either at a meeting of unitholders or by written consent, is required in order:

- (i) to amend, alter or repeal any provisions of our limited partnership agreement relating to the SPLP preferred units or other series of voting preferred units, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise, to affect materially and adversely the powers, rights or preferences of the holders of the SPLP preferred units or other series of voting preferred units, unless in connection with any such amendment, alteration or repeal, each SPLP preferred unit and any other voting preferred unit remains outstanding without the terms thereof being materially changed in any respect adverse to the holders thereof or is converted into or exchanged for preferred units of the surviving entity having rights, powers and preferences substantially similar to those of the SPLP preferred units or any other series of voting preferred units, as the case may be, or
- (ii) to authorize, create or increase the authorized amount of, any class or series of preferred units having rights senior to the SPLP preferred units with respect to the payment of distributions or distribution of amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up,

provided that in the case of clause (i) above, if such amendment affects materially and adversely the rights, preferences or powers of one or more but not all of the classes or series of voting preferred units (including the SPLP preferred units), only the consent of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding units of the classes or series so affected, voting as a class, is required in lieu of (or, if such consent is required by law, in addition to) the consent of the holders of two-thirds of the voting preferred units (including the SPLP preferred units) as a class.

We may authorize or create additional series or classes of parity units and junior units and issue additional series of parity units and junior units, or issue additional SPLP preferred units, without notice to or the consent of any holder of the SPLP preferred units.

The foregoing voting provisions will not apply if, at or prior to the time when the act with respect to which such vote would otherwise be required shall be effected, provision is made for the redemption of all of the then outstanding SPLP preferred units.

In addition, if at any time any person or group (other than our General Partner, our manager and their affiliates, or any transferee receiving the prior approval of the SPLP GP Board) acquires, in the aggregate, beneficial ownership of 10% or more of the SPLP preferred units then outstanding, that person or group will lose voting rights on all of its units in excess of 9.9% and the units may not be voted on any matter and will not be considered to be outstanding when calculating required votes or for other similar purposes.

Amount Payable in Liquidation

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our partnership ("liquidation"), each holder of the SPLP preferred units will be entitled to a payment out of our assets available for distribution to the holders of the SPLP preferred units following the satisfaction of all claims ranking senior to the SPLP preferred units. Such payment will equal the sum of the \$25.00 liquidation preference per SPLP preferred unit and accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, to, but excluding, the date of liquidation (the "preferred unit liquidation value"), to the extent that we have sufficient gross income (excluding any gross income attributable to the sale or exchange of capital assets) in the year of liquidation and in the prior years in which the SPLP preferred units have been outstanding to ensure that each holder of SPLP preferred units will have a capital account balance equal to the preferred unit liquidation value.

The capital account balance for each SPLP preferred unit will equal \$25.00 initially and will be increased each year by an allocation of gross ordinary income recognized by us (including any gross ordinary income recognized in the year of liquidation) that is allocated to the SPLP preferred units, as described above in "Material U.S Federal Income Tax Consequences." We refer to our gross income (excluding any gross income attributable to the sale or exchange of capital assets) as our "gross ordinary income." The allocations of gross ordinary income to the capital account balances for the SPLP preferred units in any year will not exceed the sum of the amount of distributions paid on the SPLP preferred units during such year and, to the extent the amount of our distributions in prior years exceeded the cumulative gross ordinary income allocated to the capital account balances for the SPLP preferred units in those years, the amount of such excess for all prior years. If the SPLP GP Board declares a distribution on the SPLP preferred units, the amount of the distribution paid on each such SPLP preferred unit will be deducted from the capital account balance for such SPLP preferred unit, whether or not such capital account balance received an allocation of gross ordinary income in respect of such distribution. The allocation of gross ordinary income to the capital account balances for the SPLP preferred units is intended to entitle the holders of the SPLP preferred units to a preference over the holders of outstanding common units upon our liquidation, to the extent required to permit each holder of a SPLP preferred unit to receive the preferred unit liquidation value in respect of such unit. If, however, we were to have insufficient gross ordinary income to achieve this result, holders of SPLP preferred units would be entitled, upon liquidation, to less than the preferred unit liquidation value and may receive less than \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit. See "Risk Factors — If the income allocated to the SPLP preferred units for a year is greater than the cash distribution for such year, a holder may have an out-of-pocket tax liability. If the amount of distributions on the SPLP preferred units is greater than our gross ordinary income, the amount that a holder of SPLP preferred units would receive upon liquidation may be less than the preferred unit liquidation value."



After each holder of SPLP preferred units receives a payment equal to the capital account balance for such holder's units (even if such payment is less than the preferred unit liquidation value of such holder's units), holders will not be entitled to any further participation in any distribution of our assets.

If upon any liquidation, the amounts payable with respect to the SPLP preferred units and any other outstanding series of parity units are not paid in full, then the holders of the SPLP preferred units and the holders of such parity units will share equally and ratably in any distribution of our assets in proportion to the full distributable amounts to which each such holder is entitled.

Neither the sale, conveyance, exchange or transfer, for cash, units of capital stock, securities or other consideration, of all or substantially all of our property or assets nor the consolidation, merger or amalgamation of our partnership with or into any other entity or the consolidation, merger or amalgamation of any other entity with or into our partnership will be deemed to be a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our partnership, notwithstanding that for other purposes, such as for tax purposes, such an event may constitute a liquidation, dissolution or winding up. In addition, no payment will be made to the holders of the SPLP preferred units pursuant to this "— Amount Payable in Liquidation" section (i) upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of any of our subsidiaries or upon any reorganization of our partnership into another limited liability entity pursuant to the provisions of our limited partnership agreement that allow us to convert, merge or convey our assets to another limited liability entity with or without limited partner approval (including a merger or conversion of our partnership into a corporation if the General Partner determines in its sole discretion that it is no longer in the interests of our partnership to continue as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) or (ii) if our partnership engages in a reorganization or other transaction in which a successor to our partnership issues equity securities to the holders of the SPLP preferred units that have rights, powers and preferences that are substantially similar to the rights, powers and preferences of the SPLP preferred units pursuant to provisions of our limited partner approval. The General Partner may, in its sole discretion, modify the terms of the SPLP preferred units to provide for any of the foregoing transactions.

No Conversion Rights

The SPLP preferred units are not convertible into common units or any other class or series of interests or any other security.

Transfer Agent, Registrar and Paying Agent

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC is the exchange agent, registrar and paying agent for the SPLP preferred units.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SPLP COMMON UNITS

Description of Common Units

Common Units

The common units represent limited partner interests in SPLP. The holders of common units are entitled to participate in our distributions and exercise the rights or privileges available to unitholders under the sixth amended and restated agreement of limited partnership of SPLP (the "Partnership Agreement"). For a description of the rights and privileges of limited partners under our Partnership Agreement, including voting rights, see "— Material Provisions of SPLP Partnership Agreement" below.

Transfer of Partnership Interests

Except as provided below, no transfer of any partnership interests shall be made if such transfer would (i) violate the then applicable U.S. federal or state securities laws or rules and regulations of the SEC, any state securities commission, or any other governmental authority with jurisdiction over such transfer, (ii) terminate the existence or qualification of us under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, (iii) cause us to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes (to the extent not already so treated or taxed) or (iv) cause us to be subjected to the provisions of the Investment Company Act.

The SPLP GP Board may impose restrictions on the transfer of partnership interests if it receives an opinion of counsel that such restrictions are necessary to avoid a significant risk of (i) us becoming taxable as a corporation or otherwise becoming taxable as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (ii) us being subjected to the provisions of the Investment Company Act. The SPLP GP Board may impose such restrictions by amending the Partnership Agreement; provided however, that any amendment that would result in the delisting or suspension of trading of any class of limited partner interests on the principal national securities exchange on which such class of limited partner interests is then traded must be approved, prior to such amendment being effected, by the approval by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of outstanding voting units (excluding voting units owned by us, our General Partner and persons we control).

Nothing contained in the Partnership Agreement precludes the settlement of any transactions involving partnership interests entered into through the facilities of any national securities exchange on which such partnership interests are listed for trading.

The Partnership Agreement contains specific provisions that are intended to comply with regulatory limitations on the ownership of our securities as a result of our ownership of WebBank. If, absent regulatory approval, at any time any person or group, other than (i) the General Partner, our Manager, and their respective affiliates, and (ii) a person or group that acquires 10% or more of any common units with the prior approval of the SPLP GP Board, acquires, in the aggregate, beneficial ownership of 10% or more of any class of common units then outstanding, that person or group will lose voting rights with respect to all of its common units in excess of 9.9%, and such common units may not be voted on any matter and will not be considered to be outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of unitholders (unless otherwise required by law), calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes. Limited partnership interests owned by us or our subsidiaries will not be considered to be outstanding.

Protection of Tax Benefits

The past operations of certain of SPLP's corporate subsidiaries and other portfolio companies (each, an "Associated Company" and together, the "Associated Companies") generated significant NOLs. In order to protect the significant potential long-term tax benefits presented by the NOLs the Partnership Agreement contains provisions designed to prevent certain transfers of SPLP's securities that could result in an ownership change with respect to an Associated Company. These provisions generally restrict any direct or indirect transfer of our limited partnership interests or any warrant, right or option to purchase a limited partnership interest if the effect would be to cause a holder to own more than 4.25% of our units (a "Prohibited Owner") or increase the percentage of units owned directly or indirectly by a Prohibited Owner.



Transfer Agent and Registrar

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company LLC serves as registrar and exchange agent for our common units. You may contact the registrar and exchange agent at the following address: P.O. Box 2042, New York, New York 10272-2042, Telephone: (877) 248-6417 (toll-free) or (718) 921-8317.

Material Provisions of SPLP Partnership Agreement

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the Partnership Agreement. We summarize the provisions of the Partnership Agreement regarding the transfer of common units above. See "— Transfer of Partnership Interests."

Issuance of Additional Securities

We may, with the approval of the SPLP GP Board, issue additional securities. Such securities may be issued in one or more classes, or one or more series of any such classes. The issuance of additional securities will be subject to the rules of any exchange upon which our securities may be listed.

Allocations

Each item of our income, gain, loss and deduction is determined on an annual basis and prorated on a monthly basis and is allocated to the General Partner and the unitholders, or together, the "Partners", as of the opening of the national securities exchange on which the common units are listed or admitted to trading on the first business day of each month; provided, however, that gain or loss on a sale or other disposition of any of our assets or any other extraordinary item of income or loss realized and recognized other than in the ordinary course of business, as determined by the SPLP GP Board, is allocated to the unitholders as of the opening of the national securities exchange on which the common units are listed or admitted to trading on the first business day of the month in which such income, gain, deduction or loss is recognized for federal income tax purposes. The SPLP GP Board may revise, alter or otherwise modify such methods of allocation to the extent permitted or required by Section 706 of the Code, and the regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder.

Distributions

The SPLP GP Board has the right to authorize distributions, in its sole discretion, which may be made in cash or in kind to the Partners pro rata according to their respective percentage interests in us.

General Partner

The General Partner, through the SPLP GP Board, manages certain of our operations, activities and assets, and has delegated certain management duties to our Manager pursuant to that certain Fifth Amended and Restated Management Agreement, by and between SPH Services, a wholly owned subsidiary of SPLP, and the Manager (the "Management Agreement"). The SPLP GP Board is authorized in general to perform all acts that it determines to be necessary or appropriate to carry out our purposes and to conduct our business.

The Partnership Agreement provides that, whenever the SPLP GP Board is permitted or required to make a decision in its sole discretion or that it deems necessary or appropriate in managing our operations and activities, except as otherwise provided in the Partnership Agreement, it will make such decisions in its sole discretion and will be entitled to consider only such interests and factors as it desires, will have no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of or factors affecting us or any of our unitholders, and will not be subject to any different standards imposed by the Partnership Agreement, the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or under any other law, rule or regulation or in equity.

The General Partner has a SPLP GP Board that is elected annually by the unitholders, as provided in the Partnership Agreement and described below. The unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business and therefore have limited ability to influence management's decisions regarding our business. The voting rights of the unitholders are limited as set forth in the Partnership Agreement and in the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

Power of Attorney

Each unitholder, and each person who acquires a limited partner interest in accordance with the Partnership Agreement, granted to the General Partner and, if appointed, a liquidator, a power of attorney to, among other things, execute and file documents required for our qualification, continuance, dissolution or termination. The power of attorney also granted the General Partner the authority to amend, and to make consents and waivers under, the Partnership Agreement and certificate of limited partnership, in each case in accordance with the Partnership Agreement.

SPLP GP Board

The number of directors that constitutes the whole SPLP GP Board is seven and the SPLP GP Board must consist of not less than five and not more than nine directors. The SPLP GP Board must consist of at least a majority of independent directors and the Manager has two representatives serving as directors (Warren G. Lichtenstein and Jack L. Howard). Subject to these requirements, the number of directors will be fixed from time to time exclusively pursuant to a resolution adopted by the SPLP GP Board, provided that no decrease in the number of directors constituting the SPLP GP Board will shorten the term of any incumbent director. The SPLP GP Board has an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, each composed solely of independent directors. The SPLP GP Board may designate such other committees as it deems appropriate or as may be required by any national securities exchange on which the common units are listed for trading, to serve at the pleasure of the SPLP GP Board.

Each director will hold office for a one-year term and until such director's successor has been duly elected and qualified, or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Any vacancy on the SPLP GP Board (including, without limitation, any vacancy caused by an increase in the number of directors on the SPLP GP Board) other than a vacancy created by the removal of a director by the unitholders, as provided below, may be filled only by a majority of the directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. A director may be removed, at any time, but only for cause, upon the affirmative vote of the unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of the outstanding limited partner interests and any vacancy on the SPLP GP Board created by such removal is to be filled by a vote of the unitholders at a meeting of the unitholders or by written consent in accordance with the Partnership Agreement.

Except as provided in the Partnership Agreement or otherwise required by the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, each director has the same fiduciary duties and obligations to us and the unitholders as a director of a Delaware corporation has to such corporation and its stockholders, as if such directors were directors of a Delaware corporation.

Meetings; Voting

The Partnership Agreement provides that an annual meeting of the unitholders for the election of directors to the SPLP GP Board will be held each year at such date and time as determined by the SPLP GP Board. Notice of the annual meeting must be given not less than 10 days nor more than 60 days prior to the date of such meeting.

The unitholders will vote together as a single class for the election of directors. The unitholders entitled to vote will elect by a plurality of the votes cast at such meeting persons to serve as directors on the SPLP GP Board who are nominated in accordance with the provisions of the Partnership Agreement. The exercise by a unitholder of the right to elect the directors and any other rights afforded to such unitholder under the Partnership Agreement will be in such unitholder's capacity as a unitholder of SPLP and are not intended to cause a unitholder to be deemed to be taking part in the management and control of our business and affairs.

Each record holder of a common unit is entitled to one vote per common unit. However, the Partnership Agreement contains specific provisions that are intended to comply with regulatory limitations on the ownership of our securities as a result of our ownership of WebBank. If, absent regulatory approval, at any time any person or group, other than (i) the General Partner, the Manager and their respective affiliates, and (ii) a person or group that acquires 10% or more of any common units with the prior approval of the SPLP GP Board, acquires, in the aggregate, beneficial ownership of 10% or more of any class of common units then outstanding, that person or group will lose voting rights with respect to all of its common units in excess of 9.9%, and such common units may not be voted on any matter and will not be considered to be outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of unitholders (unless otherwise required by law), calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes. Limited partnership interests owned by us or our subsidiaries will not be considered to be outstanding.

Any common units held for its own account by a unitholder that is a bank holding company or a financial holding company, as defined in the U.S. Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, or the "BHCA", or a non-bank subsidiary of such holding company and that received its common units as a distribution by Steel Partners II Master Fund L.P. or any of its affiliates following the acquisition by SPLP of Steel Partners II, L.P., which became effective without further condition on July 15, 2009, or a "BHC Partner", that is determined at the time of admission of such BHC Partner to be in excess of 4.99% (or such lesser or greater percentage as may be permitted under Section 4(c)(6) of the BHCA or other applicable law) of the total common units, excluding, for purposes of calculating this percentage, portions of any other common units that are deemed to be non-voting interests, shall be non-voting interests (whether or not subsequently transferred in whole or in part to any other person except if such common units are (i) sold to the public in an offering registered under the Securities Act; (ii) in a transaction pursuant to Rule 144 or Rule 144A under the Securities Act in which no person acquires more than 2% of SPLP's total common units; or (iii) in a single transaction to a third party who acquires at least a majority of SPLP's total common units without regard to the transfer of any non-voting interests. Upon the admission of any additional unitholder to the partnership or any reduction of the total outstanding common units (whether as a result of repurchases common units by us or otherwise), recalculation of the common units held by all BHC Partners shall be made, and only that portion of the total common units held by each BHC Partner (which shall include, solely for the purpose of calculating the total common units of such BHC Partner, any common units other than a non-voting interest previously transferred by such BHC Partner to a person who was a unitholder at the time of transfer) that is determined as of the date of such admission or reduction to be in excess of 4.99% (or such lesser or greater percentage as may be permitted under Section 4(c) (6) of the BHCA or other applicable law) of the total outstanding common units, excluding non-voting interests as of such date, shall be a non-voting interest. Non-voting interests are not entitled to be voted on any matter and are not considered to be outstanding when, among other things, sending notices of a meeting of unitholders to vote on any matter (unless otherwise required by law), calculating required votes, or for determining the presence of a quorum.

The Partnership Agreement provides that any action that may be taken at a meeting of the unitholders may be taken without a meeting if an approval in writing describing the action so taken is signed by holders of the number of units that would be necessary to authorize or take that action at a meeting at which all the unitholders were present and voted. The SPLP GP Board or unitholders holding 50.1% or more of the outstanding common units will be entitled to call special meetings of the unitholders. Unitholders will be entitled to vote either in person or by proxy at meetings. The unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of the outstanding limited partner interests of the class or classes for which a meeting was called (including outstanding limited partner interests deemed owned by the General Partner), represented in person or by proxy, will constitute a quorum unless any action by the unitholders requires approval by holders of a greater percentage of the voting power of such limited partner interests, in which case the quorum will be the greater percentage.

Nomination of Directors and Proposals of Other Business

The Partnership Agreement provides that nominations of persons for election to the SPLP GP Board and the proposal of other business to be considered by the unitholders may be made at an annual meeting of the unitholders only (i) pursuant to the SPLP GP Board's notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto), (ii) by or at the direction of the SPLP GP Board or any committee thereof or (iii) by any unitholder who (a) was a record holder at the time the notice provided for in the Partnership Agreement is delivered to the SPLP GP Board, (b) is entitled to vote at the meeting and (iii) complies with the notice procedures set forth in the Partnership Agreement.

For any nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a unitholder, the unitholder must give timely notice thereof in writing to the SPLP GP Board. The notice must contain certain information as specified in the Partnership Agreement. To be timely, a unitholder's notice will have to be delivered to the SPLP GP Board not later than the close of business on the 90th day, nor earlier than the close of business on the 120th day, prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting (provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 70 days after such anniversary date, notice by the unitholder must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the tenth day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by us or the SPLP GP Board). The public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting will not commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a unitholder's notice as described above.

In the event that the number of directors to be elected to the SPLP GP Board is increased effective at the annual meeting and there is no public announcement by us or the SPLP GP Board naming the nominees for the additional directorships at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting, a unitholder's notice will also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for the additional directorships, if it is delivered to the SPLP GP Board not later than the close of business on the tenth day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by us or the SPLP GP Board.

The Partnership Agreement provides that nominations of persons for election to the SPLP GP Board may also be made at a special meeting of unitholders at which directors are to be elected in accordance with the provisions of the Partnership Agreement.

Only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Partnership Agreement will be eligible to be elected at an annual or special meeting of unitholders to serve as directors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise required by law, if the unitholder (or a qualified representative of the unitholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of unitholders to present a nomination, such nomination will be disregarded notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the SPLP GP Board or us.

The Partnership Agreement provides that in addition to the provisions described in the Partnership Agreement, a unitholder must also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder; provided, however, that any references in the Partnership Agreement to the Exchange Act or the rules promulgated thereunder are not intended to and will not limit any requirements applicable to nominations pursuant to the Partnership Agreement, and compliance with the Partnership Agreement will be the exclusive means for a unitholder to make nominations.

Poison Pill and Staggered Board

The SPLP GP Board may not adopt a "poison pill" or unitholder or other similar rights plan with respect to us or provide for a classified board of directors without both the approval of the majority of independent directors of the SPLP GP Board and the approval by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of outstanding voting units (excluding voting units owned by us, the General Partner and persons they control).

Limitations on Voting Rights

The Partnership Agreement contains specific provisions that are intended to comply with regulatory limitations on the ownership of our securities as a result of our ownership of WebBank. If, absent regulatory approval, at any time any person or group, other than (i) the General Partner, the Manager and their respective affiliates, and (ii) a person or group that acquires 10% or more of any common units with the prior approval of the SPLP GP Board, acquires, in the aggregate, beneficial ownership of 10% or more of any class of common units then outstanding, that person or group will lose voting rights with respect to all of its common units in excess of 9.9%, and such common units may not be voted on any matter and will not be considered to be outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of unitholders (unless otherwise required by law), calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes. Limited partnership interests owned by us or our subsidiaries will not be considered to be outstanding.



Amendment of the Partnership Agreement

<u>General</u>

Amendments to the Partnership Agreement may not be proposed except by or with the consent of the SPLP GP Board. To adopt a proposed amendment (other than an amendment that does not require unitholder approval, as discussed below), the SPLP GP Board must seek the written approval of unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of the outstanding voting units (including voting units held by the General Partner and its affiliates), unless a greater or different percentage is required under the Partnership Agreement or Delaware law, or call a meeting of the unitholders to consider and vote upon the proposed amendment.

Prohibited Amendments

The Partnership Agreement provides that no amendment may be made that would:

(1) enlarge the obligations of any unitholder without its consent, except an amendment (other than an amendment that is permitted to be adopted solely by the SPLP GP Board or an amendment involving certain business combinations) that would have a material adverse effect on the rights or preferences of any class of partnership interests in relation to other classes of partnership interests that is approved by the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding partnership interests of the type or class of partnership interests so affected (including partnership interests held by the General Partner and its affiliates);

(2) enlarge the obligations of, restrict in any way any action by or rights of, or reduce in any way the amounts distributable, reimbursable or otherwise payable by us to the General Partner or any of its affiliates without the consent of the SPLP GP Board, which consent may be given or withheld in its sole discretion; or

(3) result in us, or the General Partner or its directors, officers, trustees or agents having a material risk of being in any manner subjected to the provisions of the Investment Company Act, the U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or "plan asset" regulations adopted under the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), regardless of whether such are substantially similar to plan asset regulations currently applied or proposed by the U.S. Department of Labor.

Except pursuant to an amendment that is permitted to be adopted solely by the SPLP GP Board, the provision of the Partnership Agreement containing the foregoing prohibitions may be amended only upon the approval of the unitholders holding at least 90% of the voting power of the outstanding voting units (including voting units held by the General Partner and its affiliates).

No Unitholder Approval

The SPLP GP Board has the right generally to make amendments to the Partnership Agreement or certificate of limited partnership without the approval of any unitholder to reflect:

- (1) a change in the name of SPLP, the location of our principal place of business, our registered agent or its registered office;
- (2) the admission, substitution, withdrawal or removal of Partners in accordance with the Partnership Agreement;

(3) a change that the SPLP GP Board determines in its sole discretion is necessary or appropriate for us to qualify or to continue our qualification as a limited partnership or a partnership in which the unitholders have limited liability under the laws of any state or other jurisdiction or to ensure that we will not be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise taxed as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

(4) a change that the SPLP GP Board determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate to address changes in U.S. federal income tax regulations, legislation or interpretation;

(5) an amendment that is necessary, in a written opinion of counsel that is acceptable to a majority of the independent directors of the SPLP GP Board, to prevent the partnership or the General Partner or its directors, officers, agents or trustees, from having a material risk of being in any manner subjected to the provisions of the Investment Company Act, the U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or "plan asset" regulations adopted under ERISA, whether or not substantially similar to plan asset regulations currently applied or proposed by the U.S. Department of Labor;

(6) an amendment that the SPLP GP Board determines is necessary for the SPLP GP Board to elect to treat us as an association or as a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal (and applicable state) income tax purposes, if the SPLP GP Board determines in its sole discretion that it is no longer in our best interests to continue as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

(7) an amendment that the SPLP GP Board determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate for the creation, authorization or issuance of any class or series of partnership securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to partnership securities;

(8) an amendment expressly permitted in the Partnership Agreement to be made by the SPLP GP Board acting alone;

(9) an amendment effected, necessitated or contemplated by an agreement of merger, consolidation or other business combination that has been approved under the terms of the Partnership Agreement;

(10) an amendment that in the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board is necessary or appropriate to reflect and account for the formation by SPLP of, or its investment in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other entity, in connection with the conduct by us of activities permitted by the Partnership Agreement;

(11) a change in our fiscal year or taxable year and related changes;

(12) a merger with or conversion or conveyance to another limited liability entity that is newly formed and has no assets, liabilities or operations at the time of the merger, conversion or conveyance other than those it receives by way of the merger, conversion or conveyance, subject to certain conditions; or

(13) any other amendments substantially similar to any of the matters described in (1) through (12) above or (1) through (5) below.

In addition, the Partnership Agreement provides that the SPLP GP Board may make amendments to the Partnership Agreement without the approval of any unitholder if those amendments, in the discretion of the SPLP GP Board:

(1) do not adversely affect the unitholders considered as a whole (including any particular class of partnership interests as compared to other classes of partnership interests) in any material respect;

(2) are necessary or appropriate to satisfy any requirements, conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion, directive, order, ruling or regulation of any federal or state or non-U.S. agency or judicial authority or contained in any federal or state or non-U.S. statute (including the Delaware Limited Partnership Act);

(3) are necessary or appropriate to facilitate the trading of limited partner interests or to comply with any rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any securities exchange on which the limited partner interests are or will be listed for trading;

(4) are necessary or appropriate for any action taken by the SPLP GP Board relating to splits or combinations of units under the provisions of the Partnership Agreement; or

(5) are required to effect the intent of the provisions of the Partnership Agreement or are otherwise contemplated by the Partnership Agreement.

Opinion of Counsel and Unitholder Approval

The SPLP GP Board will not be required to obtain an opinion of counsel that an amendment will not result in a loss of limited liability to the unitholders for amendments described above under "— No Unitholder Approval." No other amendments to the Partnership Agreement (other than an amendment pursuant to a merger, sale or other disposition of assets effected in accordance with the provisions described under "— Merger, Sale or Other Disposition of Assets") will become effective without the approval of the unitholders holding at least 90% of the voting power of the outstanding voting units (including voting units held by the General Partner and its affiliates), unless we obtain an opinion of counsel that is acceptable to a majority of the independent directors of the SPLP GP Board to the effect that the amendment will not affect the limited liability of any of the unitholders under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

In addition to the above restrictions, any amendment (other than an amendment that may be adopted solely by the SPLP GP Board or an amendment involving certain business combinations) that would have a material adverse effect on the rights or preferences of any class of partnership interests in relation to other classes of partnership interests will also require the approval of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding partnership interests of the class so affected (including partnership interests held by the General Partner and its affiliates).

In addition, any amendment that reduces the voting percentage required to take any action under the Partnership Agreement will require approval by the affirmative vote of unitholders or holders of outstanding voting units (including voting units held by the General Partner and its affiliates) whose aggregate outstanding voting units constitute not less than the voting percentage sought to be reduced.

Merger, Sale or Other Disposition of Assets

The Partnership Agreement generally prohibits the SPLP GP Board, without the prior approval by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of outstanding voting units (excluding voting units owned by us, the General Partner and persons they control), from causing us to directly or indirectly (through any other entity or person, by derivative, lease, license, joint venture or otherwise) to, among other things, sell, exchange or otherwise dispose of all or any substantial part of our assets in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, including by way of merger, consolidation or other business combination. However, the SPLP GP Board may mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in all or substantially all of our assets (including for the benefit of persons other than us or our subsidiaries) without that approval. The SPLP GP Board may also sell all or substantially all of our assets under any forced sale of any or all of our assets pursuant to the foreclosure or other realization upon those encumbrances without that approval.

The SPLP GP Board may, without unitholder approval, convert or merge SPLP or any of our subsidiaries into, or convey all of our assets to, a newly formed limited liability entity that has no assets, liabilities or operations at the time of the merger, conversion or conveyance other than those it receives by way of the merger, conversion or conveyance if (i) the SPLP GP Board receives an opinion of counsel acceptable to a majority of the independent directors that the merger or conveyance, as the case may be, would not result in the loss of the limited liability of any unitholder, (ii) the sole purpose of the conversion, merger or conveyance is to effect a mere change in our legal form into another limited liability entity, to effect a change in the jurisdiction of organization of us into a new jurisdiction of organization, including any foreign jurisdiction, or to cause us to be taxable as a corporation. The holders of the units will not be entitled to dissenters' rights of appraisal under the Partnership Agreement or the Delaware Limited Partnership Act in the event of a merger or consolidation, a sale of substantially all of our assets or any other transaction or event.

Election to be Treated as a Corporation

If the SPLP GP Board determines in its sole discretion that it is no longer in our best interests to continue as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the SPLP GP Board will be entitled to elect to treat us as an association or as a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal (and applicable state) income tax purposes or to cause us to transfer our assets, subject to our liabilities, to a corporation in exchange for stock of the corporation and to transition such stock to our Partners pursuant to the liquidation of SPLP.

Dissolution

We will dissolve upon:

(1) the election of the SPLP GP Board to dissolve us, if approved by a majority of the SPLP GP Board after December 31, 2011 or such earlier date with the consent of the Manager;

(2) the election of the SPLP GP Board to dissolve us, if approved by the unitholders holding at least 66²/₃% of the voting power of our outstanding voting units (including voting units held by the General Partner and its affiliates); provided, however that such action will not take effect until after December 31, 2011;

- (3) there being no unitholders, unless we are continued without dissolution in accordance with the Delaware Limited Partnership Act;
- (4) the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of SPLP pursuant to the Delaware Limited Partnership Act; or

(5) the withdrawal or removal of the General Partner or any other event that results in its ceasing to be the General Partner other than by reason of a transfer of its general partner interests or withdrawal or removal of the General Partner following approval and admission of a successor, in each case in accordance with the Partnership Agreement.

Upon a dissolution under clause (5) above, the holders of a majority of the voting power of our outstanding voting units will have the right to elect, within specific time limitations, to continue our business without dissolution on the same terms and conditions described in the Partnership Agreement by appointing as a successor general partner an individual or entity approved by the unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of the outstanding voting units, subject to our receipt of an opinion of counsel to the effect that:

(1) the action would not result in the loss of limited liability of any unitholder; and

(2) neither us nor any successor limited partnership would be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise be taxable as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes upon the exercise of that right to continue.

Liquidation and Distribution of Proceeds

Upon our dissolution, unless we are continued as a new limited partnership, the liquidator authorized to wind up our affairs will, subject to the Partnership Agreement and the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, liquidate our assets and apply the proceeds of the liquidation first to discharge our liabilities as provided in the Partnership Agreement and by law and thereafter to the Partners pro rata according to the percentages of their respective partnership interests as of a record date selected by the liquidator. The liquidator may defer liquidation or distribution of our assets for a reasonable period of time if it determines that an immediate sale or distribution of all or some of such assets would be impractical or would cause undue loss to the Partners. The liquidator may also distribute assets in kind, in whole or in part, if it determines that a sale would be impractical or would cause undue loss to the Partners.



Special Provisions Regarding Conflicts of Interest and Fiduciary Duties

The Partnership Agreement generally provides that resolutions of conflicts of interest between the Manager or any of its affiliates, on the one hand, and us on the other, not approved by the majority of disinterested directors of the SPLP GP Board or by a conflicts committee established by the SPLP GP Board or not approved by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the outstanding voting units (excluding voting units owned by us, the General Partner and persons they control), must be:

- on terms no less favorable to us than those generally provided to or available from unrelated third parties; or
- "fair and reasonable" to us, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be particularly favorable or advantageous to us).

Fiduciary duties owed to us and unitholders by the General Partner are prescribed by Delaware law and the Partnership Agreement. The Delaware Limited Partnership Act provides that Delaware limited partnerships may in their partnership agreements expand, restrict or eliminate the duties (including fiduciary duties) otherwise owed by a general partner to limited partners and the partnership.

The Partnership Agreement contains various provisions modifying, restricting and eliminating the duties (including fiduciary duties) that might otherwise be owed by the General Partner. The Partnership Agreement contains provisions that waive or consent to conduct by the General Partner and its affiliates that might otherwise raise issues about compliance with fiduciary duties or applicable law. For example, the Partnership Agreement provides that when the General Partner, in its capacity as the general partner, is permitted to or required to make a decision in its "sole discretion" or "discretion" or that it deems "necessary or appropriate" or "necessary or advisable" or under a grant of similar authority or latitude, except as otherwise provided in the Partnership Agreement, then the General Partner will be entitled to make such decision in its sole discretion, and to consider only such interests and factors as it desires, and will have no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of or factors affecting us or the Partners, and will not be subject to any other or different standards imposed by us or the Partners, and will not be subject to any other or different standards imposed by the Partnership Agreement, contemplated thereby, under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, or under any other law, rule or regulation or in equity.

Corporate Opportunities

The approval by the majority of disinterested directors of the SPLP GP Board or by a conflicts committee established by the SPLP GP Board is required for any pursuit by any director, the General Partner, the Manager or any of their respective affiliates, of any corporate opportunity of SPLP.

Withdrawal or Removal of the General Partner

The General Partner's voluntary withdrawal will not constitute a violation of the Partnership Agreement, if (i) the General Partner gives at least 90 days' advance notice to the unitholders of its intention to withdraw and the withdrawal is approved by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the outstanding voting units (excluding voting units owned by us, the General Partner and persons they control) and furnishes an opinion of counsel acceptable to a majority of the independent directors regarding tax and limited liability matters, or (ii) at any time that the General Partner ceases to be the General Partner due to a transfer of all of its general partner interest, or removal, each in accordance with the Partnership Agreement.



If the General Partner gives notice of voluntary withdrawal, the unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of our outstanding voting units will be entitled to select a successor to that withdrawing General Partner. If, prior to the effective date of the General Partner's voluntary withdrawal, a successor is not elected, or is elected but we do not receive an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters, we will be dissolved, wound up and liquidated, unless within 90 days after that withdrawal, the unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of our outstanding voting units elect to continue our business on the same terms and conditions set forth in the Partnership Agreement by appointing a successor general partner; provided that the right of the unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of our outstanding our business does not exist and may not be exercised unless we have received an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters. See "— Dissolution" above.

The Partnership Agreement provides that the General Partner may be removed if such removal is approved by the vote of the unitholders holding at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of the outstanding voting units (including voting units held by the General Partner and its affiliates) and we receive an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters; provided, however that such action will not take effect until after December 31, 2011. Any removal of the General Partner will be subject to the approval of a successor general partner by the vote of the unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of our outstanding voting units held by the General Partner and its affiliates).

In the event of removal of the General Partner under circumstances where cause exists, or withdrawal of the General Partner where that withdrawal violates the Partnership Agreement, a successor general partner will have the option to purchase the general partner interest of the departing general partner for a cash payment equal to its then fair market value. Under all other circumstances where a general partner withdraws or is removed by the unitholders, the departing general partner will have the option to require the successor general partner to purchase the general partner interest of the departing general partner for a cash payment equal to its then fair market value. In each case, this fair market value will be determined by agreement between the departing general partner and the successor general partner. If no agreement is reached within 30 days of the general partner's departure, an independent investment banking firm or other independent expert selected by the departing general partner and the successor general partner cannot agree upon an expert within 45 days of the general partner's departure, then an expert chosen by agreement of the experts selected by each of them will determine the fair market value.

If the option described above is not exercised by either the departing general partner or the successor general partner, the departing general partner's general partner interest will automatically convert into common units pursuant to a valuation of those interests as determined by an investment banking firm or other independent expert selected in the manner described in the preceding paragraph.

In addition, we will be required to reimburse the departing general partner for all amounts due the departing general partner, including without limitation all employee-related liabilities, including severance liabilities, incurred for the termination of any employees employed by the departing general partner or its affiliates for our benefit.

Transfer of General Partner Interests

Subject to certain conditions, we may not transfer all or any part of our interests in the General Partner, and the General Partner may not transfer all or any part of its general partner interest to a person (other than us or our subsidiary) unless such transfer (i) has been approved by the prior written consent or vote of unitholders holding at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of the outstanding voting units, or (ii) is of all, but not less than all, of its general partner interest to (a) an affiliate of the General Partner (other than an individual) or (b) subject to approval by a majority of the independent directors, another person (other than an individual) in connection with the merger or consolidation of the General Partner with or into another person (other than an individual) or the transfer by the General Partner of all, but not less than all, of its general partner interest to another person (other than an individual), or (iii) is the transfer by SPIIGP of the general partner interest to the General Partner pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Agreement. As a condition of the General Partner under the Partner of all or any part of its general partner interest to another person, the transferee must assume the rights and duties of the General Partner under the Partnership Agreement and agree to be bound by the provisions of the Partnership Agreement, and we must receive an opinion of counsel acceptable to the majority of independent directors regarding limited liability matters.



Redemption of Partnership Interests of Certain Unitholders

If at any time the SPLP GP Board obtains an opinion of counsel acceptable to the majority of independent directors to the effect that the ownership by a unitholder of a limited partner interest would cause us or the SPLP GP Board to be in violation of, or to the effect that such unitholder is in violation of, the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, the U.S. Money Laundering Act of 1986, the U.S. International Money Laundering Abatement and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act of 2001, the USA Patriot Act, or any other law or regulation to which we, the SPLP GP Board, or such unitholder's investment in us may be subject from time to time, or, if at any time the SPLP GP Board, in its sole discretion, determines that the ownership by a unitholder that is an ERISA unitholder (as such term is defined in the Partnership Agreement) would create a substantial likelihood that our assets would be deemed to be "plan assets" for purposes of ERISA or the Code, or, if at any time the General Partner, in its sole discretion, determines that the ownership by a unitholder would create a substantial likelihood that we would become subjected to the provisions of the Investment Company Act or if at any time a unitholder fails to furnish information requested within the 30-day period of such request, the SPLP GP Board, in its sole discretion, may cause us to redeem the limited partner interest of such unitholder in accordance with the terms set forth in the Partnership Agreement.

Call Right

If at any time less than 10% of the then issued and outstanding limited partner interests of any class is held by persons other than the General Partner and its affiliates, the General Partner will have the right, which it may assign and transfer in whole or in part to any of its affiliates or to us, exercisable in its sole discretion, to acquire all, but not less than all, of the remaining limited partner interests of the class held by unaffiliated persons as of a record date to be selected by the General Partner, on at least 10 but not more than 60 days' notice. The purchase price in the event of this purchase will be the greater of:

(1) the current market price as of the date three days before the date the notice is mailed; and

(2) the highest cash price paid by the General Partner or any of its affiliates for any limited partner interests of the class purchased within the 90 days preceding the date on which the General Partner first mails notice of its election to purchase those limited partner interests.

If the General Partner, any affiliate of the General Partner or we elect to exercise the right to purchase limited partner interests as set forth above, the holders of such limited partner interests will be entitled to appraisal rights.

Status as Unitholder

By transfer of common units in accordance with the Partnership Agreement, each transferee of common units will be admitted as a unitholder with respect to the common units transferred when such transfer and admission is reflected in our books and records.

Indemnification

Under the Partnership Agreement, in most circumstances we will indemnify the following persons, to the fullest extent permitted by law, from and against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest, settlements or other amounts:

- the General Partner;
- · any departing general partner;
- the Manager;
- any person who is or was an affiliate of the General Partner, any departing general partner or the Manager;

- any person who is or was a member, partner, tax matters partner, officer, director, employee, agent, fiduciary or trustee of SPLP or its subsidiaries, the General Partner, any departing general partner or the Manager or any affiliate of SPLP or its subsidiaries, the General Partner, any departing general partner or the Manager;
- any person who is or was serving at the request of the General Partner, any departing general partner or the Manager or any affiliate of the General Partner, any departing general partner or the Manager, as an officer, director, employee, member, partner, tax matters partner, agent, fiduciary or trustee of another person; or
- any person designated by the General Partner in connection with activities of such person on behalf of us, WebFinancial Corporation or our subsidiaries, including but not limited to individuals who served as directors of WebFinancial Corporation.

We will provide this indemnification unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that these persons acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence. We will also provide this indemnification for criminal proceedings. Any indemnification under these provisions will only be made out of our assets. Unless it otherwise agrees, the General Partner will not be personally liable for, or have any obligation to contribute or loan funds or assets to us to enable it to effectuate, indemnification. We will be entitled to purchase insurance against liabilities asserted against and expenses incurred by persons for our activities, regardless of whether we would have the power to indemnify the person against liabilities under the Partnership Agreement.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred by an indemnitee in appearing at, participating in or defending any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding will, from time to time, be advanced by us prior to a final and non-appealable determination that such indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified upon receipt by us of an undertaking by or on behalf of the indemnitee to repay such amount if it ultimately shall be determined that the indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified.

Reimbursement of Expenses; Management Fees; Incentive Compensation

The Partnership Agreement requires us to reimburse the General Partner for all direct and indirect expenses of SPLP and all direct and indirect expenses of the General Partner, including, without limitation, all director fees and expenses, all accounting and administrative expenses, all insurance costs and all indemnification obligations.

The Partnership Agreement also requires us to pay in a timely manner, all fees payable by it to the Manager in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of the Management Agreement, and we must reimburse the Manager for all costs and expenses provided for in the Management Agreement.

The Manager assigned its rights to receive certain incentive compensation based on SPLP's performance to SPH SPV-I LLC. On January 7, 2015, SPLP and SPH SPV-I LLC entered into that certain Incentive Unit Agreement, effective as of May 11, 2012, to restate the provisions related to the incentive units from the Management Agreement without substantive change.

Books and Reports

The SPLP GP Board will be required to keep appropriate books and records with respect to our business at our principal offices or any other place designated by the SPLP GP Board in its sole discretion. The books and records will be maintained for both tax and financial reporting purposes on an accrual basis. For tax and financial reporting purposes, our year will end on December 31 each year.



We will make available to record holders of common units, within 120 days after the close of each fiscal year, an annual report containing audited financial statements and a report on those financial statements by our independent public accountants. Except for our fourth quarter, we will also make available summary financial information within 90 days after the close of each quarter. Under the Partnership Agreement, we will be deemed to have made such annual reports and quarterly financial information available to each record holder of common units if we have either (i) filed the report or information with the SEC via its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system and such report or information is publicly available on such system or (ii) made such report or information available on any publicly available website maintained by us.

As soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each fiscal year, we will furnish to each Partner tax information (including IRS Schedule K–1), which describes on a U.S. dollar basis such Partner's share of our income, gain, loss and deduction for our preceding taxable year.

Right to Inspect Books and Records

The Partnership Agreement provides that a unitholder may, not later than five days following the demand at such unitholder's expense, have furnished to it:

- promptly after becoming available, a copy of our U.S. federal, state and local income tax returns for each year; and
- copies of the Partnership Agreement, the certificate of limited partnership of SPLP, related amendments and executed powers of attorney under which they have been executed.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no unitholder is entitled to obtain a list of the names or addresses of the unitholders; provided, however, that if a unitholder has made or intends to make or is considering making a proxy solicitation in connection with a meeting of the unitholders or action by written consent, or otherwise desires to communicate with unitholders, then upon the written request by any unitholder or record holder of common units entitled to vote at the meeting or to execute a written consent and the execution of a customary confidentiality agreement and for the limited purpose set forth therein, the SPLP GP Board is to either (i) provide the requesting unitholder or record holder with a list of the names and addresses of the unitholders or (ii) mail the requesting unitholder's materials to the unitholders in connection with such meeting of the unitholders or action by written consent.

The SPLP GP Board will have the right to keep confidential from the unitholders any information that the SPLP GP Board reasonably believes to be in the nature of trade secrets or other information the disclosure of which the SPLP GP Board believes is not in our best interests, could damage us or our business, or which we are required by law or by agreements with third parties to keep confidential (other than agreements with affiliates of SPLP the primary purpose of which is to circumvent the obligations set forth above).

COMPARISON OF SECURITYHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Upon completion of the offer and the merger, holders of HNH common stock not already owned by SPLP or any entity that is an affiliate of SPLP will receive SPLP preferred units in exchange for their shares of HNH common stock. As a result, upon completion of the offer and the merger, the rights of holders of HNH common stock who become holders of SPLP preferred units in connection with the offer and the merger will be governed by the Delaware Limited Partnership Act and the Partnership Agreement.

The following is a summary of the material differences between the rights of SPLP preferred unitholders and the current rights of HNH stockholders. Although SPLP and HNH believe that this summary covers the material differences between these rights, this summary may not contain all of the information that is important to you. This summary is not intended to be a complete discussion of the respective rights of SPLP preferred unitholders and HNH stockholders, and it is qualified in its entirety by reference to HNH's certificate of incorporation and bylaws, the Partnership Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this prospectus/offer to exchange as **Annex B**, the DGCL, the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, the rules and regulations of the SEC and the various other documents of SPLP and HNH referred to in this summary. In addition, the characterization of some of the differences in the rights of SPLP preferred unitholders as material is not intended to indicate that other differences do not exist or are not important. See "Where To Obtain Additional Information."

HNH	SPLP

Authorized Capital Stock

The certificate of incorporation of HNH, as amended (the "certificate of incorporation"), authorizes HNH to issue 185,000,000 shares of its capital stock, divided into two classes: 180,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share.

HNH preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series.

As of June 26, 2017, there were 12,221,431 shares of HNH's common stock outstanding.

Dividends/Distributions

Subject to Delaware law, holders of shares of HNH common stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by the Company board, out of funds legally available for payment, subject to the rights of holders, if any, of HNH preferred stock. Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are payable when, as and if declared by the SPLP GP Board out of funds legally available, at a rate per annum equal to 6.0% of the \$25.00 liquidation preference per unit. Distributions are payable in cash or in kind or a combination thereof at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board. Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, when, as and if declared by the SPLP GP Board. Distributions on the SPLP preferred units are cumulative and shall accumulate from the date of issuance of the applicable SPLP preferred units.

SPLP's limited partnership agreement permits the General Partner to

authorize the issuance of an unlimited number of preferred units, in one or

more classes or series without action by holders of outstanding common or,

except as specified below, preferred units. SPLP may from time to time,

without notice to or the consent of holders of the SPLP preferred units, authorize the issuance of, or issue, equity securities that rank equally with or

junior to the SPLP preferred units.

Liquidation Rights

Pursuant to Section 281 of the DGCL, subject to any preferential rights of any then outstanding preferred stock, in the event of HNH's liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of HNH's common stock are entitled to share ratably in the assets remaining after payment of liabilities and the liquidation preferences of any outstanding preferred stock. HNH's certificate of incorporation permits the Company board to designate preferred stock and in connection with such designation, fix liquidation rights. Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of SPLP, each holder of the SPLP preferred units will be entitled to a payment out of SPLP's assets available for distribution to the holders of the SPLP preferred units following the satisfaction of all claims ranking senior to the SPLP preferred units. Such payment will equal the sum of the \$25.00 liquidation preference per SPLP preferred unit and accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, to, but excluding, the date of liquidation, to the extent that SPLP has sufficient gross income (excluding any gross income attributable to the sale or exchange of capital assets) in the year of liquidation and in the prior years in which the SPLP preferred units will have a capital account balance equal to the liquidation preference per SPLP preferred unit and accumulated and unpaid distributions.

SPLP

Voting Rights

HNH's certificate of incorporation provides that each holder of capital stock is entitled to one vote for each share held. HNH's certificate of incorporation permits the Company board to designate preferred stock and in connection with such designation, fix voting rights. The holders of the SPLP preferred units have voting rights only in limited circumstances.

If and whenever there is a Nonpayment, the number of directors then constituting the SPLP GP Board will be increased by two and the holders of the SPLP preferred units, voting together as a single class with the holders of any other class of voting preferred units, will have the right to elect these two additional directors. When quarterly distributions have been declared and paid on the SPLP preferred units for four consecutive quarters following such Nonpayment, the right of the holders of the SPLP preferred units and any other voting preferred units to elect these two additional directors will cease, the terms of office of these two directors will forthwith terminate and the number of directors constituting the SPLP GP Board will be reduced accordingly. However, the right of the holders of the SPLP preferred units and any other voting preferred units to elect two additional directors will again vest if and whenever six additional quarterly distributions have not been declared and paid, as described above.

The approval of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of outstanding SPLP preferred units and all other voting preferred units, acting as a single class regardless of series, is required in order:

- (i) to amend, alter or repeal any provisions of SPLP's limited partnership agreement relating to the SPLP preferred units or other series of voting preferred units, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise, to affect materially and adversely the powers, rights or preferences of the holders of the SPLP preferred units or other series of voting preferred units, unless in connection with any such amendment, alteration or repeal, each SPLP preferred unit and any other voting preferred unit remains outstanding without the terms thereof being materially changed in any respect adverse to the holders thereof or is converted into or exchanged for preferred units of the surviving entity having rights, powers and preferences substantially similar to those of the SPLP preferred units or any other series of voting preferred units, as the case may be, or
- to authorize, create or increase the authorized amount of, any class or series of preferred units having rights senior to the SPLP preferred units with respect to the payment of distributions or distribution of amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up,

provided that in the case of clause (i) above, if such amendment affects materially and adversely the rights, preferences or powers of one or more but not all of the classes or series of voting preferred units (including the SPLP preferred units), only the consent of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding units of the classes or series so affected, voting as a class, is required in lieu of (or, if such consent is required by law, in addition to) the consent of the holders of the voting preferred units (including the SPLP preferred units) as a class.

SPLP may authorize or create additional series or classes of parity units and junior units and issue additional series of parity units and junior units, or issue additional SPLP preferred units, without notice to or the consent of any holder of the SPLP preferred units.

None.

The foregoing voting provisions will not apply if, at or prior to the time when the act with respect to which such vote would otherwise be required shall be effected, provision is made for the redemption of all of the then outstanding SPLP preferred units.

If, absent regulatory approval, at any time any person or group (other than (i) the General Partner, SPLP's Manager and their respective affiliates, or (ii) a person or group that acquires 10% or more of the SPLP preferred units with the prior approval of the SPLP GP Board) acquires, in the aggregate, beneficial ownership of 10% or more of the SPLP preferred units, that person or group will lose voting rights with respect to all of such units in excess of 9.9%, and such units may not be voted on any matter and will not be considered to be outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of limited partners (unless otherwise required by law), calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes.

Redemption/Repurchase Rights

At any time or from time to time SPLP may, at its option, out of funds legally available redeem the SPLP preferred units, in whole or in part, in cash or in common units or a combination thereof, at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board, at a price of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit plus accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such SPLP preferred unit to, but excluding, the redemption date. If SPLP elects to pay the redemption price for any SPLP preferred units in common units, such common units will be valued at their volume-weighted average price for the 60 consecutive trading days immediately preceding the applicable redemption date.

Holders of the SPLP preferred units have the right to require SPLP to repurchase up to 525,000 SPLP preferred units (as such amount may be reduced pursuant to the immediately following sentence, the "Optional Redemption Amount") on February 7, 2020 (the "Optional Redemption Date") at a redemption price of \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit plus accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such SPLP preferred unit to, but excluding, the redemption date, in cash. The Optional Redemption Amount, which represents approximately 20% of the currently outstanding SPLP preferred units, will be amended upon the consummation of the offer so that it equals 20% of the sum of the currently outstanding SPLP preferred units plus the number of SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger. The Optional Redemption Amount shall be reduced by the number of any SPLP preferred units called for redemption by SPLP (on a pro rata basis) in cash prior to the Optional Redemption Date. If SPLP preferred unit holders elect to have SPLP repurchase an aggregate number of SPLP preferred units in excess of the Optional Redemption Amount, SPLP shall repurchase such SPLP preferred units on a pro rata basis (based on the relative number of SPLP preferred units that such SPLP preferred unit holders have elected to be repurchased in such optional redemption) up to the Optional Redemption Amount.

If not earlier redeemed, on February 7, 2026, SPLP shall redeem all of the SPLP preferred units at a redemption price equal to \$25.00 per SPLP preferred unit plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such SPLP preferred unit to, but excluding, the redemption date, in cash or in common units or a combination thereof, at the sole discretion of the SPLP GP Board.

Conversion Rights

HNH's certificate of incorporation permits the Company board to designate preferred stock and in connection with such designation, fix conversion rights.

The SPLP preferred units are not convertible into common units or any other class or series of interests or any other security.

Size of Board of Directors

HNH's bylaws provide the number of directors that shall constitute the Company board shall be fixed from time to time as determined by action of the Company board taken by the affirmative vote of a majority of the whole Company board. The Company board currently consists of seven (7) directors.

The SPLP GP Board consists of seven (7) directors and the SPLP GP Board will consist of not less than five nor more than nine directors. The SPLP GP Board will consist of a majority of independent directors and SPLP's Manager will have two representatives serving as directors (Warren G. Lichtenstein and Jack L. Howard) while the Management Agreement is in effect.

SPLP

As discussed above under "Voting Rights," if and whenever there is a Nonpayment, the number of directors then constituting the SPLP GP Board will be increased by two and the holders of the SPLP preferred units, voting together as a single class with the holders of any other voting preferred units, will have the right to elect these two additional directors. When quarterly distributions have been declared and paid on the SPLP preferred units for four consecutive quarters following such Nonpayment, the right of the holders of the SPLP preferred units and any other voting preferred units to elect these two additional directors will cease, the terms of office of these two directors will forthwith terminate and the number of directors constituting the SPLP GP Board will be reduced accordingly.

Structure of Term of Board of Directors

The Company board is not classified; directors are elected annually.

Directors are elected to one-year terms expiring at the next annual meeting. The SPLP GP Board may not provide for a classified board of directors without both the approval of the majority of independent directors of the SPLP GP Board and the approval by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of outstanding voting units (excluding voting units owned by SPLP, the General Partner and persons they control).

Vacancies on Board of Directors

HNH's bylaws provide that any vacancy on the Company board will be filled by a majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and not by the stockholders. Vacancies on the SPLP GP Board shall be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director; provided, however, that any vacancy created by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of SPLP's outstanding common units for cause may only be filled by a vote of holders of a majority of SPLP's outstanding common units.

If any vacancy shall occur among the directors elected by the holders of the SPLP preferred units and voting preferred units, a successor shall be elected by the SPLP GP Board, upon the nomination of the then-remaining director elected by the holders of the SPLP preferred units and voting preferred units, or the successor of such remaining director.

Election of Directors

HNH's bylaws provide that at the annual stockholders' meeting, the stockholders shall elect the Company board by the vote of a plurality of the votes cast with respect to each director's election.

Pursuant to Section 141 of the DGCL, directors may be removed with or without cause by a vote of a majority of shares entitled to vote in the election of directors.

Directors are elected annually by a plurality of the votes cast. Cumulative voting for election of directors is not permitted.

Removal of Directors

Directors may be removed for cause upon the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the outstanding common units.

The holders of SPLP preferred units and voting preferred units, voting together as a class, may remove any director elected by them pursuant to the provisions described under "Voting Rights" above.

Stockholder/Limited Partner Action by Written Consent

HNH's certificate of incorporation permits stockholders to act by written consent.

SPLP's limited partnership agreement provides that any action that is required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the limited partners may be taken without a meeting if written approval of such action is signed by limited partners owning not less than the minimum percentage of the voting power of the outstanding units that would be necessary to authorize or take that action at a meeting.

Supermajority Provisions

Removal of a General Partner, transfer of the SPLP's interests in the General Partner and dissolution of the partnership at the election of the limited partners requires the vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting units.

Except as otherwise provided in SPLP's limited partnership agreement, amendments to the amendment provisions of the limited partnership agreement and amendments that would affect the limited liability of any limited partner under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act require the vote of at least 90% of the outstanding voting units.

In addition, see "Voting Rights" above for certain supermajority voting provisions related to the SPLP preferred units.

Special Meetings of Stockholders/Limited Partners

Pursuant to HNH's bylaws, a special meeting of stockholders may be called at any time by the Chairman of the Company board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, by the Company board pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Company board or by the Secretary at the direction of a majority of the voting power of all the then outstanding shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class, upon receipt of a written request to do so specifying the matter or matters appropriate for action at such a meeting. Pursuant to SPLP's limited partnership agreement, special meetings of the limited partners may be called by the General Partner, in its sole discretion, or by limited partners holding 50.1% or more of the common units. Limited Partners shall not vote on matters that would cause them to be deemed to be taking part in the management and control of the business and affairs of SPLP so as to jeopardize the limited partners' limited liability under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or the law of any other state in which SPLP is qualified to do business.

SPLP

If a Nonpayment shall have occurred (as discussed under "Voting Rights" above), the Secretary of the General Partner may, and upon the written request of any holder of SPLP preferred units shall, call a special meeting of the SPLP preferred unit holders and holders of any other voting preferred units then outstanding for the election of the two directors to be elected by them.

Stockholder/Limited Partner Proposals and Nominations for Candidates for Election

HNH's bylaws allow stockholders to propose business to be brought before a stockholder meeting, including nominations for the election of directors, subject to timely and proper notice of such business in accordance with the requirements set forth in HNH's bylaws.

To be timely, a stockholder's notice must be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of HNH not later than the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day nor earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than thirty (30) days before or more than sixty (60) days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such annual meeting or the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by HNH.

HNH's bylaws also require that a stockholder's notice must set forth certain information, including, among other things, information with respect to the stockholder (and, if applicable, the stockholder's nominee for the Company board), a brief description of the business to be conducted, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any material interest of such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, in such business.

Additionally, HNH's bylaws permit stockholder proposals properly brought pursuant to Rule 14a-8 promulgated under the Exchange Act to be included in HNH's proxy statement for an annual meeting of stockholders. For nominations or other business to be properly brought by a limited partner before an annual meeting of limited partners, the limited partner must notify SPLP in writing not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the previous year's annual meeting of limited partners; provided, however, that in the event the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 70 days after such anniversary date, notice of the limited partner must be delivered not earlier than 120 days prior to such annual meeting and not later than the later of 90 days prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by SPLP or the General Partner. The notice must contain customary information concerning the person to be nominated or the matters to be brought before the annual meeting as well as specific information concerning the limited partner submitting the nomination or business proposal.

SPLP

Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws/Limited Partnership Agreement

HNH's certificate of incorporation may be amended in accordance with the DGCL.

Pursuant to the bylaws, the bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed by the stockholders or by the Company board by a majority vote.

Certain amendments to the limited partnership agreement may be adopted by the SPLP GP Board without the approval of the limited partners, which do not adversely affect in any material respects the rights of the limited partners. Other amendments generally require the approval of limited partners holding a majority in voting power of SPLP's outstanding voting units. See "Description of the SPLP Common Units - Material Provisions of SPLP Partnership Agreement."

NOL Transfer Restrictions

In order to preserve net operating losses, HNH's certificate of incorporation contains provisions that generally restrict any direct or indirect transfer of HNH's common stock if the effect would be to cause a holder to own 5% or more of HNH's common stock or increase the ownership percentage of a stockholder owning or deemed to own 5% or more of HNH's common stock.

In order to preserve net operating losses, our limited partnership agreement contains provisions that generally restrict any direct or indirect transfer of our limited partnership interests or any warrant, right or option to purchase a limited partnership interest if the effect would be to cause a holder to own more than 4.25% of our units or increase the percentage of units owned directly or indirectly by a Prohibited Owner.

Business Combination Statute

Not applicable.

HNH has not opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL. This statute regulating corporate takeovers prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:

prior to the date of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

HNH

- upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding (a) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (b) shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or
- on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a business combination as defined by the DGCL includes a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An interested stockholder is defined by the DGCL as any person who, together with such person's affiliates and associates, (i) owns 15% or more of a corporation's voting securities or (ii) is an affiliate or associate of a corporation and was the owner of 15% or more of the corporation's voting securities at any time within the three-year period immediately preceding a business combination of the corporation governed by Section 203.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the SPLP preferred units offered by this prospectus/offer to exchange will be passed upon for SPLP by Olshan Frome Wolosky LLP, New York, New York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of SPLP as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016 incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of BDO USA, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated herein by reference, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The consolidated financial statements of HNH as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016 incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of BDO USA, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated herein by reference, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The consolidated financial statements, schedule, and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the Annual Report of SL Industries, Inc. on the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 and incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement have been so incorporated by reference in reliance upon the reports of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accountants, upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements of ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc. as of July 31, 2016 and 2015 and for each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2016 incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of BDO USA, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated herein by reference, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The consolidated financial statements of JPS Industries, Inc. as of November 1, 2014 and November 2, 2013 and for the years then ended incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of Elliott Davis Decosimo, LLC, an independent auditor, incorporated herein by reference, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of EME as of December 31, 2015 and for the year then ended incorporated by reference in this prospectus/offer to exchange have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of BDO USA, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated herein by reference, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

WHERE TO OBTAIN ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

SPLP and HNH file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. HNH stockholders may read and copy any reports, statements or other information that SPLP and HNH file with the SEC at the SEC's public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information regarding the public reference room. SPLP's and HNH's public filings also are available to the public from commercial document retrieval services and may be obtained without charge at the SEC's website at <u>http://www.sec.gov</u>.

SPLP has filed a registration statement on Form S-4 with the SEC to register the offer and sale of the SPLP preferred units to be issued in the offer and the merger. This prospectus/offer to exchange is a part of that registration statement. SPLP may also file amendments to such registration statement. In addition, on the date of the initial filing of the registration statement on Form S-4 of which this prospectus/offer to exchange is a part, SPLP and Merger Sub filed with the SEC a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO under the Exchange Act, together with exhibits, to furnish certain information about the offer. SPLP and Merger Sub may file amendments to the Schedule TO. As allowed by SEC rules, this prospectus/offer to exchange does not contain all of the information in the registration statement or the Schedule TO, or the exhibits to the registration statement or the Schedule TO. You may obtain copies of the Form S-4 and Schedule TO (and any amendments to those documents) by contacting the information agent as directed elsewhere in this prospectus/offer to exchange.

Because the offer and the merger is a "going private" transaction, the Purchaser Group and HNH have filed a Transaction Statement on Schedule 13E-3 with respect to the offer and the merger with the SEC. The Schedule 13E-3, including any amendments and exhibits filed or incorporated by reference as a part of it, will be available for inspection as set forth above. The Schedule 13E-3 will be amended to report promptly any material change in the information set forth in the most recent Schedule 13E-3 filed with the SEC with respect to the offer and the merger.

The SEC allows SPLP to incorporate information into this document "by reference," which means that SPLP and Merger Sub can disclose important information to HNH stockholders by referring to another document or information filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this document, except for any information amended or superseded by information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this document. This prospectus/offer to exchange incorporates by reference the documents and information set forth below that SPLP and HNH have previously filed with the SEC. These documents contain important information about SPLP and HNH and their financial condition, businesses, operations and results.

SPLP Filings:

SPLP Information Incorporated by Reference	Period Covered or Date of Filing
Annual Report on Form 10-K, which includes separate financial statements of each of SLI, JPS and ModusLink	f Fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, as filed with the SEC on March 14, 2017
The description of SPLP's common units set forth in SPLP's Registration Statement on Form 8-A	As filed with the SEC on April 4, 2012, together with all amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating such description
The description of SPLP's preferred units set forth in SPLP's Registration Statement on Form 8-A	As filed with the SEC on February 7, 2017, together with all amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating such description
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q	For the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2017 and June 30, 2017, as filed with the SEC on May 9, 2017 and August 8, 2017, respectively



Filed with the SEC on:

- August 16, 2016
- January 9, 2017
- January 31, 2017
- February 10, 2017
- March 7, 2017
- March 14, 2017
- March 17, 2017
- May 17, 2017
- May 25, 2017
- June 26, 2017

2017

• August 16, 2017

For the 2017 annual meeting of stockholders, filed with the SEC on April 25,

Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A

HNH Filings:

HNH Information Incorporated by Reference	Period Covered or Date of Filing
Annual Report on Form 10-K, which includes separate financial statements of ModusLink	Fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, as filed with the SEC on February 28, 2017
The description of HNH's common stock set forth in HNH's Registration Statement on Form 8-A	As filed with the SEC on December 4, 2008, together with all amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating such description
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q	For the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2017 and June 30, 2017, as filed with the SEC on May 2, 2017 and August 8, 2017, respectively
Current Reports on Form 8-K	Filed with the SEC on:
	• August 16, 2016
	• December 15, 2016
	• February 27, 2017
	• February 28, 2017
	• May 25, 2017
	• June 26, 2017
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A	For the 2017 annual meeting of stockholders, filed with the SEC on April 25, 2017

SPLP also hereby incorporates by reference any additional documents that either it or HNH may file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act from the date of this prospectus/offer to exchange to the termination of the offer. Nothing in this prospectus/offer to exchange shall be deemed to incorporate information furnished but not filed with the SEC or the contents of SPLP's and HNH's websites.

HNH stockholders may obtain any of these documents without charge upon request to the information agent at (212) 929-5500 (collect) or (800) 322-2885 (toll free) or from the SEC at the SEC's website at <u>http://www.sec.gov</u>.

EXECUTION VERSION

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.,

HANDY ACQUISITION CO.

and

HANDY & HARMAN LTD.

Dated as of June 26, 2017

	<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS	A-5
SECTION 1.01 Definitions	A-5
ARTICLE II THE OFFER AND THE MERGER	A-11
SECTION 2.01 The Offer	A-11
SECTION 2.02 Registration Statement; Offer Documents	A-13
SECTION 2.03 Company Actions; Schedule 13E-3	A-14
SECTION 2.04 The Merger	A-16
SECTION 2.05 Closing	A-16
SECTION 2.06 Effective Time	A-16
SECTION 2.07 Effect of the Merger	A-16
SECTION 2.08 Organizational Documents	A-16
SECTION 2.09 Directors and Officers	A-16
ARTICLE III CONVERSION OF SECURITIES; SURRENDER OF CERTIFICATES	A-17
SECTION 3.01 Conversion of Securities	A-17
SECTION 3.02 Company Equity and Equity-Based Awards	A- 18
SECTION 3.03 Appraisal Rights	A-18
SECTION 3.04 Surrender of Certificates and Book-Entry Shares	A-19
SECTION 3.05 Transfer Books; No Further Ownership Rights in Shares	A-20
SECTION 3.06 Termination of Fund; No Liability	A-20
SECTION 3.07 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates	A-20
SECTION 3.08 Withholding Taxes	A-20
ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	A-21
SECTION 4.01 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries	A-21
SECTION 4.02 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws	A-21
SECTION 4.03 Capitalization	A-22
SECTION 4.04 Authority Relative to this Agreement	A-23
SECTION 4.05 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	A-24
SECTION 4.06 Permits; Compliance	A-25
SECTION 4.07 SEC Filings; Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities	A-25
SECTION 4.08 Absence of Certain Changes or Events	A-26
SECTION 4.09 Absence of Litigation	A-26
SECTION 4.10 Employee Benefit Plans	A-27

Table of Contents (continued)

	<u>Page</u>
SECTION 4.11 Labor Matters	A-29
SECTION 4.12 No Vote Required	A-29
SECTION 4.13 Property; Leases	A-29
SECTION 4.14 Contracts	A-30
SECTION 4.15 Intellectual Property	A-32
SECTION 4.16 Taxes	A-32
SECTION 4.17 Environmental Matters	A-33
SECTION 4.18 Brokers	A-34
SECTION 4.19 Insurance	A-34
SECTION 4.20 Investigation by the Company	A-35
ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB	A-35
SECTION 5.01 Organization	A-35
SECTION 5.02 Organizational Documents	A-35
SECTION 5.03 Capitalization	A-35
SECTION 5.04 Authority Relative to This Agreement	A-36
SECTION 5.05 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	A-37
SECTION 5.06 SEC Filings; Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities	A-37
SECTION 5.07 Absence of Certain Changes or Events	A-38
SECTION 5.08 Interim Operations of Merger Sub	A-38
SECTION 5.09 Brokers	A-38
SECTION 5.10 Investigation by Parent and Merger Sub; Non-reliance	A-39
SECTION 5.11 Absence of Litigation	A-39
SECTION 5.12 Parent Preferred Units	A-39
	A 20
ARTICLE VI CONDUCT OF BUSINESS	A-39
SECTION 6.01 Conduct of Business by the Company	A-39
ARTICLE VII ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS	A-42
SECTION 7.01 Access to Information; Confidentiality SECTION 7.02 No Solicitation	A-42 A-42
SECTION 7.02 IN Solicitation SECTION 7.03 Directors' and Officers' Indemnification	
SECTION 7.03 Directors and Officers Indemnification SECTION 7.04 Further Action; Reasonable Best Efforts; Consents and Filings	A-45 A-46
SECTION 7.04 Further Action; Reasonable Best Errorts; Consents and Filings SECTION 7.05 Public Announcements	A-46 A-47
	A-47 A-47
SECTION 7.06 Advice of Changes	M-4 /



	<u>Page</u>
SECTION 7.07 Benefit Plans and Employee Matters	A-47
SECTION 7.08 Stock De-Registration	A-48
SECTION 7.09 Section 16b-3	A-48
SECTION 7.10 Compensation Arrangements	A-48
SECTION 7.11 Merger Without a Stockholders' Meeting	A-49
SECTION 7.12 Parent Preferred Units	A-49
ARTICLE VIII CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER	A-49
SECTION 8.01 Conditions to the Merger	A-49
ARTICLE IX TERMINATION, AMENDMENT and WAIVER	A-49
SECTION 9.01 Termination	A-49
SECTION 9.02 Effect of Termination	A-51
SECTION 9.03 Fees and Expenses	A-51
SECTION 9.04 Amendment	A-53
SECTION 9.05 Waiver; Approvals	A-53
SECTION 9.06 Exercise of Rights	A-53
ARTICLE X GENERAL PROVISIONS	A-53
SECTION 10.01 Non Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements	A-53
SECTION 10.02 Notices	A-53
SECTION 10.03 Severability	A-54
SECTION 10.04 Entire Agreement; Assignment	A-54
SECTION 10.05 No Third-Party Beneficiaries	A-54
SECTION 10.06 Specific Performance	A-54
SECTION 10.07 Governing Law	A-55
SECTION 10.08 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	A-55
SECTION 10.09 Interpretation	A-56
SECTION 10.10 Counterparts	A-56

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of June 26, 2017 (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), by and among STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("<u>Parent</u>"), HANDY ACQUISITION CO., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent ("<u>Merger Sub</u>"), and HANDY & HARMAN LTD., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Company</u>").

WHEREAS, each of Parent and the Company desires to effect a strategic combination of their businesses;

WHEREAS, in furtherance of such business combination, Parent and Merger Sub will commence a tender offer (as it may be amended from time to time as permitted by this Agreement, the "<u>Offer</u>") to purchase any and all of the outstanding shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share (the "<u>Common Stock</u>"), of the Company not already owned by Parent or any entity that is an Affiliate of Parent (the holders of such shares being referred to herein as the "<u>Minority Holders</u>") for 1.484 Series A preferred units, no par value (the "<u>Parent Preferred Units</u>"), of Parent for each share of Common Stock (the "<u>Per Share Amount</u>") having the preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions set forth in the Sixth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Parent (the "<u>Sixth A&R LP Agreement</u>"), subject to any required withholding of Taxes, net to the holder thereof without interest, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, as soon as practicable following acceptance for payment of the shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Offer, Merger Sub will be merged with and into the Company, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement (the "<u>Merger</u>"), with the Merger to be effected pursuant to Section 251(h) of the DGCL;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of the Company (the "<u>Company Board</u>"), upon the recommendation of a special committee of the Company Board consisting solely of independent directors (the "<u>Special Committee</u>"), at a meeting thereof duly called and held, has unanimously (a) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (collectively, the "<u>Transactions</u>"), (b) determined that it is fair to and in the best interests of the Company and the stockholders of the Company that the Company enter into this Agreement and consummate the Transactions on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (c) resolved that the Merger shall be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the Merger shall be consummated as soon as practicable following the Acceptance Time, and (d) resolved to recommend to the Minority Holders that they accept the Offer and tender their shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Offer (the "<u>Company Board Recommendation</u>");

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Merger Sub has unanimously (a) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Transactions, (b) determined that it is in the best interests of Merger Sub and its sole stockholder that Merger Sub enter into this Agreement and consummate the Transactions on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (c) directed that this Agreement be submitted to Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, for its adoption, and (d) recommended that Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, adopt this Agreement;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., the general partner of Parent (the "<u>Parent GP</u>"), has unanimously approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Transactions;

WHEREAS, the parties agree that the Offer and the Merger are integrated transactions and that the parties will treat the exchange of Common Stock for Parent Preferred Units, whether pursuant to the Offer or the Merger, as a transaction governed by Section 721(a) of the Code; and

WHEREAS, for administrative reasons, Parent shall cause any shares of Common Stock purchased pursuant to the Offer to be contributed to the Parent GP and SPH Group LLC and then to SPH Group Holdings LLC, each of which is a wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.01 <u>Definitions</u>. For purposes of this Agreement:

"<u>Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement</u>" means a confidentiality agreement between the Company and any person that contains customary confidentiality provisions (including standstill and non-solicitation provisions) in the context of an Acquisition Proposal and that shall not contain any exclusivity provision in favor of the counterparty thereto or any provision having the effect of prohibiting the Company from satisfying its obligations under this Agreement.

"Acquisition Proposal" means any inquiry, offer or proposal (other than from Parent, Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates) concerning any (A) direct or indirect merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the assets or business of which constitutes or generates thirty percent (30%) or more of the revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis (a "Significant Subsidiary"), (B) direct or indirect sale, lease, pledge or other disposition of assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including Equity Interests of any Subsidiary) or businesses that constitute or generate thirty percent (30%) or more of the revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, (C) transaction or series of related transactions in which any person or group (other than Parent, Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates) acquires beneficial ownership, or the right to acquire beneficial ownership, of thirty percent (30%) or more of the outstanding Equity Interests of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary or (D) other purchase or sale of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, Equity Interests of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary that, if consummated, would result in any person beneficially owning thirty percent (30%) or more of the outstanding Equity Interests of the Company or Significant Subsidiary.

"Action" means any action, arbitration, audit, hearing, litigation, suit or other proceeding (whether civil, criminal or administrative).

"<u>Affiliate</u>" of a specified person means a person who, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified person. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, for all purposes under this Agreement, prior to the Acceptance Time, none of Parent or Merger Sub, on the one hand, or the Company or the Company's Subsidiaries, on the other hand, shall be deemed to be Affiliates of each other.

"beneficial owner" has the meaning ascribed to such term under Rule 13d-3(a) of the Exchange Act.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means any day on which the principal offices of the SEC in Washington, D.C. are open to accept filings or, in the case of determining a date when any payment is due, any day on which banks are not required or authorized to close in New York City.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Company Material Adverse Effect" means any change, event, circumstance, occurrence, development or effect (any such item, an "Effect"), individually or when taken together with all other Effects, that is, or would reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to (A) the properties, assets, liabilities, business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (B) the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the Transactions, except in each case for any such Effect resulting from or arising out of (i) any changes in interest rates; (ii) general economic conditions in the United States of America or foreign countries or changes therein; (iii) U.S. or foreign financial, banking or securities market conditions or changes therein; (iv) any event or change in conditions generally affecting the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' industries; (v) any change in or interpretations of GAAP or any Law; (vi) changes in the market price or trading volume of the Company's stock (it being understood that the underlying facts or occurrences giving rise or contributing to such changes shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect); (vii) any failure by the Company to meet internal or published estimates of revenues, earnings or other financial projections, or projections or forecasts of any other person, of revenues, earnings or cash flow for any period ending on or after the date of this Agreement (it being understood that the underlying facts or occurrences giving rise or contributing to such failure shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect); (viii) any pandemic, earthquake, hurricane, tornado or other natural disaster or act of God; (ix) national or international political conditions, including any engagement in or escalation of hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any act of sabotage or military or terrorist attack; (x) the announcement or pendency of this Agreement, including, to the extent arising out of or resulting therefrom, (A) the termination or potential termination (or the failure or potential failure to renew or enter into) of contracts with actual or potential customers, suppliers, distributors, resellers, licensors or other business partners, or any other negative development (or potential negative development) in the relationship of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any of their respective customers, suppliers, distributors, resellers, licensors or other business partners, (B) the loss or departure of any officers or other employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (C) any decline or other degradation in the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' customer bookings, or (xi) the taking of any action expressly provided by this Agreement or consented to in writing by Parent or Merger Sub (except in the case of clauses (i) through (v), (viii) and (ix), if the Effect materially disproportionately affects the properties, assets, liabilities, business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries relative to other for-profit industry participants, in which case, only the extent of such disproportionate effects, if any, shall be taken into account when determining whether there is, or would reasonably expected to be, a "Company Material Adverse Effect").

"<u>Company Plans</u>" means all employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(3) of <u>ERISA</u>) and all bonus, stock option, stock purchase, restricted stock, incentive, deferred compensation, relocation, fringe benefit, retiree medical or life insurance (or other insurance), supplemental executive retirement plans, health, welfare, severance or other benefit plans, programs, trusts or arrangements established, maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or with respect to which any obligation to contribute has been undertaken) by the Company or any entity that would be deemed a "single employer" with the Company under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA (a "<u>Company ERISA Affiliate</u>") on behalf of any Company Employee, officer, director, consultant, stockholder or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (whether current, former or retired) or their dependents, spouses, or beneficiaries or (2) with respect to which the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Company ERISA Affiliate has any liability.

"Company Property" means any real property currently or formerly owned, leased, operated or managed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

"<u>Company Reference Balance Sheet</u>" means the audited balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2016 contained in its Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2017.

"<u>contract</u>" means any agreement, contract, lease, mortgage, power of attorney, evidence of indebtedness, letter of credit, undertaking, covenant not to compete, license, instrument, obligation, commitment, understanding, purchase or sales order or other commitment, whether oral or written, that is legally binding in each case.

"<u>control</u>" (including the terms "<u>controlled by</u>" and "<u>under common control with</u>") means the possession, directly or indirectly, or as trustee or executor, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, as trustee or executor, by contract or credit arrangement or otherwise.

"DGCL" means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

"<u>Encumbrance</u>" means any charge, claim, community property interest, condition, easement, covenant, warrant, demand, encumbrance, equitable interest, lien, mortgage, option, purchase right, pledge, security interest, right of first refusal or other right of third parties or restriction of any kind, including any restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership.

"<u>Environmental Laws</u>" means Laws relating to, or establishing standards of conduct for, human health and safety, worker health and safety, Hazardous Substances, or injury to or pollution or protection of the environment or natural resources, including air, land, soil, surface waters, ground waters, stream and river sediments and biota.

"<u>Environmental Liabilities</u>" means any claims, judgments, damages (including punitive damages), losses, penalties, fines, liabilities, Encumbrances, violations, costs, and expenses (including attorneys' and consultants' fees) that (A) are incurred as a result of (i) the existence or alleged existence of Hazardous Substances in, on, under, at or emanating from any Company Property, (ii) the off-site transportation, treatment, storage or disposal of any Hazardous Substances, or (iii) the violation of or non-compliance with or alleged violation of or non-compliance with any Environmental Law, or (B) arise under any Environmental Law.

"<u>Equity Interest</u>" means (A) with respect to a corporation, any and all classes or series of shares of capital stock, (B) with respect to a partnership, limited liability company, trust or similar person, any and all classes or series of units, interests or other partnership/limited liability company interests and (C) with respect to any other security representing any direct equity ownership or participation in such person.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"<u>Governmental Authority</u>" means any United States federal, state, provincial, supranational, county or local or any foreign government, governmental, regulatory or administrative authority, agency, self-regulatory body, instrumentality or commission, and any court, tribunal, or judicial or arbitral body and any political or other subdivision, department or branch of any of the foregoing.

"<u>Hazardous Substances</u>" means any chemicals, materials or substances, including without limitation, any petroleum, petroleum products, petroleumderived substances, radioactive materials, hazardous wastes, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead-based paint, radon, urea formaldehyde, asbestos or any materials containing asbestos, pesticides regulated under Environmental Laws or defined as or included in the definition of "hazardous substances," "hazardous wastes," "extremely hazardous substances," "hazardous materials," "hazardous constituents," "toxic substances," "pollutants," "contaminants," or any similar denomination intended to classify or regulate such chemicals, materials or substances by reason of their toxicity, carcinogenicity, ignitability, corrosivity or reactivity or other characteristics under any Environmental Law.

"Intellectual Property." means (A) United States, international, and foreign patents and patent applications, including divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part, reissues, reexaminations, and extensions thereof and counterparts claiming priority therefrom; utility models; invention disclosures; and statutory invention registrations and certificates; (B) United States and foreign registered, pending, and unregistered trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos, trade names, corporate names and other source identifiers, domain names, Internet sites and web pages; and registrations, applications for registration for, renewals and extensions of any of the foregoing, together with all of the goodwill associated therewith; (C) United States and foreign registered copyrights, and registrations for registration thereof; rights of publicity; and copyrightable works; (D) all inventions and design rights (whether patentable or unpatentable) and all categories of trade secrets as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act, including business, technical and financial information; and (E) confidential and proprietary information, including know-how.

"<u>knowledge</u>" means (A) when used with respect to the Company, the actual knowledge, after reasonable inquiry, of the individuals listed in <u>Section</u> <u>1.01(i)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter; and (B) when used with respect to Parent or Merger Sub, the actual knowledge, after reasonable inquiry, of the individuals listed in <u>Section 1.01(i)</u> of the Parent Disclosure Letter.

"Laws" means any foreign, federal, state or local statute, law (including common law), rule, ordinance, code or regulation and any Order of any Governmental Authority.

"<u>liability</u>" means any liability of any kind whatsoever (whether known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due, and whether or not reflected or required by GAAP to be reflected on the Company Reference Balance Sheet).

"<u>Made Available</u>" means, with reference to Parent or Merger Sub, that the Company delivered or made available such information, document or other material to any of Parent, Merger Sub or any Affiliate (other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) or Representative of the foregoing (whether in hard copy, by electronic mail or in other electronic form, including through access in an online data room) on or after March 1, 2017 and prior to the date of this Agreement; provided that any information, data or document that is publicly available (including pursuant to any Company SEC Reports) shall, in each case, be deemed to have been Made Available to Parent or Merger Sub, as the case may be. For the avoidance of doubt, any information required to be Made Available by the Company shall be presumed to have been Made Available absent clear and direct evidence to the contrary.

"Nasdaq" means the Nasdaq Capital Market.

"<u>NYSE</u>" means the New York Stock Exchange.

"<u>Order</u>" means any award, writ, stipulation, injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, subpoena or verdict entered, issued, made or rendered by any Governmental Authority.

"ordinary course of business" means the ordinary course of business of the Company consistent with past practice.

"Parent Common Units" means the common units, no par value, of Parent.

"Parent Material Adverse Effect" means any Effect, individually or when taken together with all other Effects, that is, or would reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to (A) the properties, assets, liabilities, business, financial condition or results of operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (B) the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the Transactions, except in each case for any such Effect resulting from or arising out of (i) any changes in interest rates; (ii) general economic conditions in the United States of America or foreign countries or changes therein; (iii) U.S. or foreign financial, banking or securities market conditions or changes therein; (iv) any event or change in conditions generally affecting Parent's or any of its Subsidiaries' industries; (v) any change in or interpretations of GAAP or any Law; (vi) changes in the market price or trading volume of the Parent Common Units or Parent Preferred Units (it being understood that the underlying facts or occurrences giving rise or contributing to such changes shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Parent Material Adverse Effect); (vii) any failure by Parent to meet internal or published estimates of revenues, earnings or other financial projections, or projections or forecasts of any other person, of revenues, earnings or cash flow for any period ending on or after the date of this Agreement (it being understood that the underlying facts or occurrences giving rise or contributing to such failure shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Parent Material Adverse Effect); (viii) any pandemic, earthquake, hurricane, tornado or other natural disaster or act of God; (ix) national or international political conditions, including any engagement in or escalation of hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any act of sabotage or military or terrorist attack; (x) the announcement or pendency of this Agreement, including, to the extent arising out of or resulting therefrom, (A) the termination or potential termination (or the failure or potential failure to renew or enter into) of contracts with actual or potential customers, suppliers, distributors, resellers, licensors or other business partners, or any other negative development (or potential negative development) in the relationship of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries with any of their respective customers, suppliers, distributors, resellers, licensors or other business partners, (B) the loss or departure of any officers or other employees of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, or (C) any decline or other degradation in Parent's or any of its Subsidiaries' customer bookings, or (xi) the taking of any action expressly provided by this Agreement or consented to in writing by the Company (except in the case of clauses (i) through (v), (viii) and (ix), if the Effect materially disproportionately affects the properties, assets, liabilities, business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of Parent and its Subsidiaries relative to other for-profit industry participants, in which case, only the extent of such disproportionate effects, if any, shall be taken into account when determining whether there is, or would reasonably expected to be, a "Parent Material Adverse Effect").

"Parent Preferred Liquidation Preference" means \$25.00.

"<u>Parent Reference Balance Sheet</u>" means the audited balance sheet of Parent as of December 31, 2016 contained in its Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 14, 2017.

"<u>Permits</u>" means all Orders and all franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, consents, certificates and approvals of any Governmental Authority.

"Permitted Encumbrances" means:

(i) statutory liens for Taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies not yet due and payable or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and are adequately reserved for in the Company Financials,



faith in appropriate proceedings,

(ii) mechanics', materialmen's or similar statutory liens for amounts not yet due or being diligently contested in good

or statutory obligations,

(iii) pledges or deposits to secure obligations under workers' compensation laws or similar legislation or to secure public

(iv) zoning, entitlement and other land use regulations by Governmental Authorities,

(v) easements, survey exceptions, leases, subleases and other occupancy contracts, reciprocal easements, restrictions and other customary encumbrances on title to real property that do not, in any such case, materially interfere with the use of such real property,

(vi) any other conditions that would be disclosed by a current, accurate survey or physical inspection which do not or would not materially impair the use or occupancy of such property or the operation of the business conducted thereon, and

(vii) as to any Company Leased Real Property, Encumbrances affecting the interest of the lessor thereof.

"<u>person</u>" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, syndicate, person (including a "person" as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), trust, association, Governmental Authority or other entity.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Subsidiary" means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust or other entity with respect to which a specified person directly or indirectly (A) owns a majority of the Equity Interests, (B) has the power to elect a majority of that person's board of directors or similar governing body, or (C) otherwise has the power, directly or indirectly, to direct the business and policies of that person. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, all references in this Agreement to Subsidiaries of Parent shall not be deemed to include the Company and its Subsidiaries prior to the Acceptance Time.

"Superior Proposal" means any bona fide written Acquisition Proposal (with all references therein to "thirty percent (30%)" being deemed to be references to "eighty percent (80%)"), not obtained in violation of Section 7.02, that the Company Board and/or the Special Committee determines in its good faith judgment (after receiving the advice of its financial and legal advisors and after taking into account all appropriate legal (with the advice of outside legal counsel), regulatory and financial aspects, including the financing terms thereof and the conditionality and the timing and likelihood of consummation of such proposal, and the person making the proposal) is more favorable to the Minority Holders from a financial point of view than this Agreement (considering any changes to this Agreement agreed in writing by Parent in response thereto) and which the Company Board and/or the Special Committee determines in good faith is reasonably likely to be consummated on the terms set forth therein.

"Taxes" means any and all taxes, fees, levies, duties, tariffs, imposts and other charges of any kind (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any Governmental Authority or other taxing authority, including: taxes or other charges on or with respect to income, franchise, windfall or other profits, gross receipts, property, sales, use, Equity Interests, payroll, employment, escheat, social security, workers' compensation, unemployment compensation or net worth; taxes or other charges in the nature of excise, withholding, ad valorem, stamp, transfer, value-added or gains taxes; license, registration and documentation fees; customers' duties, tariffs and similar charges; and any liability in respect of any of the foregoing items payable by reason of contract, assumption, successor or transferee liability, operation of Law, Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6(a) (or any predecessor or successor thereof of any analogous or similar provision under Law) or otherwise.

ARTICLE II

THE OFFER AND THE MERGER

SECTION 2.01 The Offer.

(a) <u>Commencement of the Offer</u>. Provided that this Agreement shall not have been terminated in accordance with <u>Article IX</u>, and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, as promptly as practicable but in no event later than twenty (20) Business Days after the date of this Agreement, Parent and Merger Sub shall commence (within the meaning of Rule 14d-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act) the Offer.

(b) <u>Terms and Conditions of the Offer</u>. The obligations of Merger Sub to, and of Parent to cause Merger Sub to, accept for payment, and of Parent to pay for, any shares of Common Stock tendered pursuant to the Offer are subject only to the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted under this Agreement) of the conditions set forth in <u>Exhibit A</u> (as they may be amended in accordance with this Agreement, the "<u>Offer</u> <u>Conditions</u>"). Parent and Merger Sub expressly reserve the right to waive any Offer Condition (other than the Minimum Tender Condition and the Majority of the Minority Tender Condition, which are non-waivable) or modify the terms of the Offer, except that, without the prior written consent of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall not (i) reduce the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Offer, (ii) reduce the Per Share Amount (except as provided in <u>Section 2.01(f)</u>), (iii) add to the Offer (except as required or permitted by the provisions of <u>Section 2.01(c)</u>), (v) change the form of consideration payable in the Offer, or (vi) otherwise amend, modify or supplement any of the other terms of the Offer in any manner adverse to the Minority Holders.

Expiration and Extension of the Offer. The initial expiration date of the Offer shall be 12:00 midnight (New York City time) (c) on the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the commencement of the Offer (determined using Exchange Act Rule 14d-1(g)(3)). Subject to the parties' rights to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article IX and Parent's and Merger Sub's right to waive any Offer Condition (other than the Minimum Tender Condition and the Majority of the Minority Tender Condition), Parent and Merger Sub shall (i) extend the Offer for the minimum period required by any rule, regulation, interpretation or position of the SEC or the staff thereof applicable to the Offer, and (ii) if, on the initial expiration date or any subsequent date as of which the Offer is scheduled to expire, any Offer Condition shall not have been satisfied or waived, extend the Offer on one or more occasions in consecutive increments of up to five (5) Business Days each (or such longer period as the parties hereto may agree) until such time as each such condition shall have been satisfied or waived; provided, however, that (1) in no event shall Parent and Merger Sub be required to extend the Offer beyond the Outside Date or the valid termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article IX, (2) if, at any otherwise scheduled expiration of the Offer, all of the Offer Conditions except for the Minimum Tender Condition and/or the Majority of the Minority Tender Condition shall have been satisfied or waived, Parent and Merger Sub shall in such situation be required to extend the Offer in consecutive increments of up to five (5) Business Days each but in no event more than fifteen (15) Business Days in the aggregate (or such other period as the parties hereto may agree), (3) Parent and Merger Sub may extend the Offer for up to five (5) Business Days in order to determine whether the Offer Condition set forth in clause (e) of Exhibit A has been satisfied, (4) Parent and Merger Sub shall extend the Offer if requested by the Special Committee, or may extend the Offer at their election, in accordance with the last sentence of Section 7.02(c) for the number of Business Days provided therein, and (5) Parent and Merger Sub may extend the Offer for up to twenty (20) days in order to deliver any required notices to the NYSE in connection with the payment of distributions on outstanding Parent Preferred Units. The Offer shall not be extended by Parent and Merger Sub except as specifically provided in this Section 2.01(c). The Offer may not be terminated prior to its expiration date (as such expiration date may be extended and re-extended in accordance with this Section 2.01(c)) unless this Agreement is validly terminated in accordance with Article IX. In the event that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Article IX prior to any scheduled expiration thereof, Parent and Merger Sub shall promptly (and in any event within one (1) Business Day of such termination), irrevocably and unconditionally terminate the Offer.

(d) Payment. On the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer and this Agreement, Merger Sub shall (and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to), immediately after the Offer expires, accept for payment (the time of such acceptance, the "<u>Acceptance Time</u>"), and promptly after the expiration of the Offer Parent shall pay for, all shares of Common Stock validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to the Offer. The Per Share Amount shall, subject to applicable withholding of Taxes, be net to the applicable seller, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer. If payment of the Per Share Amount is to be made to a person other than the person in whose name the surrendered certificate formerly evidencing shares of Common Stock is registered on the stock transfer books of the Company, it shall be a condition of payment that the certificate so surrendered shall be endorsed properly or otherwise be in proper form for transfer and that the person requesting such payment shall have paid all transfer and other similar Taxes required by reason of the payment of the Per Share Amount to a person other than the registered holder of the certificate surrendered, or shall have established to the reasonable satisfaction of Parent and Merger Sub that such Taxes either have been paid or are not applicable. The Company shall register (and shall instruct its transfer agent to register) in the name of Merger Sub the shares of Common Stock accepted for payment by Merger Sub immediately after the Acceptance Time.

(e) <u>Termination of the Offer</u>. If the Offer is terminated by Parent and Merger Sub, or this Agreement is terminated in accordance with <u>Article IX</u>, Parent and Merger Sub shall promptly return, and shall cause any depository acting on behalf of Parent and Merger Sub to return, all tendered shares of Common Stock to the registered holders thereof in accordance with the terms of the Offer and applicable Law.

(f) <u>Adjustments</u>. If, between the date of this Agreement and the Acceptance Time, any change in the number of issued or outstanding shares of Common Stock or Parent Preferred Units shall occur as a result of a reclassification, recapitalization, share or unit split (including a reverse share or unit split), or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares or units, or any share or unit dividend or share or unit distribution (including any dividend or distribution of securities convertible into Common Stock or Parent Preferred Units, as applicable) with a record date during such period, the Per Share Amount shall be equitably adjusted to reflect such change.

(g) <u>Fractional Securities</u>. No fraction of a Parent Preferred Unit will be issued in connection with the Offer, but in lieu thereof each Minority Holder that would otherwise be entitled to a fraction of a Parent Preferred Unit (after aggregating all fractional Parent Preferred Units that otherwise would be received by such Minority Holder) shall, in lieu of such fractional Parent Preferred Unit, be paid an amount of cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the product of: (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) the Parent Preferred Liquidation Preference.

SECTION 2.02 Registration Statement; Offer Documents.

(a) As promptly as practicable, and in any event within twenty (20) Business Days, after the date of this Agreement, Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4 to register the offer and sale of the Parent Preferred Units pursuant to the Offer and the Merger (the "<u>Registration Statement</u>"). The Registration Statement will include a preliminary prospectus containing the information required under Rule 14d-4(b) under the Exchange Act (the "<u>Preliminary Prospectus</u>"). On the date of commencement of the Offer, Parent and Merger Sub shall: (i) cause to be filed with the SEC a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with respect to the Offer, which will contain or incorporate by reference the Preliminary Prospectus and the form of the related letter of transmittal (such Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO (including the Preliminary Prospectus) and all exhibits, amendments and supplements thereto being referred to collectively in this Agreement as the "<u>Offer Documents</u>"); and (ii) cause the Offer Documents to be disseminated to the Minority Holders as and to the extent required by applicable federal securities Laws.

(b) The Company shall furnish Parent and Merger Sub all information concerning the Company required to be set forth in the Registration Statement or any of the Offer Documents or as otherwise reasonably requested by Parent or Merger Sub so as to enable Parent and Merger Sub to comply with their obligations under <u>Section 2.02(a)</u>. Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall promptly correct any information provided by it for use in the Registration Statement or any of the Offer Documents if and to the extent that such information shall have become false or misleading in any material respect, and each of Parent and Merger Sub shall take all steps necessary to amend or supplement the Registration Statement and the Offer Documents as so amended or supplemented to be filed with the SEC and disseminated to the Minority Holders, in each case as and to the extent required by applicable federal securities Laws. Prior to the public disclosure of an Adverse Recommendation Change in compliance with <u>Section 7.02</u> or at any time thereafter that such Adverse Recommendation Change is no longer in effect, Parent and Merger Sub shall be entitled to include the Company Board Recommendation in the Offer Documents any material nonpublic information concerning the Company, Parent and Merger Sub may include in the Registration Statement and the Offer Documents and the Offer Documents any material nonpublic information concerning the Company to the extent that counsel to Parent and Merger Sub advises Parent and Merger Sub that such information is required to comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act, including Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

(c) The Company shall be given a reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon the Registration Statement, the Offer Documents and any amendments and supplements thereto prior to filing such documents with the SEC or dissemination of such documents to the Minority Holders, and Parent and Merger Sub shall give reasonable and good faith consideration to any comments made by the Company. Parent and Merger Sub shall (i) provide the Company in writing any comments Parent or Merger Sub may receive from the SEC or its staff with respect to the Registration Statement or any of the Offer Documents promptly after the receipt of such comments (and shall give the Company prompt telephonic notice of any material discussions with the SEC staff), (ii) provide the Company a reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon the responses to any such comments and a copy of any proposed written responses thereto prior to the filing thereof, (iii) give reasonable and good faith consideration to any comments made by the Company on any such responses, and (iv) request confidential treatment of any such information by the SEC to the extent requested by the Company and to the extent that the parties reasonably determine such confidential treatment to be available.

(d) Parent shall use reasonable best efforts to have the Registration Statement declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as possible after its filing and to maintain its effectiveness for so long as shall be required for the issuance of the Parent Preferred Units pursuant to the Offer and the Merger. Following the time the Registration Statement is declared effective, Parent shall file the final prospectus included therein under Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act.

SECTION 2.03 Company Actions; Schedule 13E-3.

(a) <u>Approval</u>. Subject to <u>Section 7.02</u>, the Company hereby approves of and consents to the Offer, the Merger and the other Transactions. The Company has been advised by all of its directors and named executive officers (as that term is defined in Item 402 of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act) as of the date hereof who own shares of Common Stock that they intend to tender such shares pursuant to the Offer. The Company agrees that no shares of Common Stock held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than any such shares held on behalf of third parties) will be tendered pursuant to the Offer.

Schedule 14D-9. On the date the Offer Documents are filed with the SEC, the Company shall file with the SEC a (b) Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9 with respect to the Offer (such Schedule 14D-9, as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Schedule 14D-9"), including the Company Board Recommendation (subject to Section 7.02) and a description thereof and reflecting that the Merger is governed by Section 251(h) of the DGCL and shall be consummated as soon as practicable following the Acceptance Time, and shall disseminate the Schedule 14D-9 to the Minority Holders. The Schedule 14D-9 shall also contain the notice of appraisal required to be delivered by the Company under Section 262(d) of the DGCL at the time the Company first files the Schedule 14D-9 with the SEC. The Company shall set the record date for the Company's stockholders to receive such notice of appraisal as the same date as the Stockholder List Date and shall disseminate the Schedule 14D-9 including such notice of appraisal to the Company's stockholders to the extent required by Section 262(d) of the DGCL. Parent and Merger Sub shall furnish to the Company all information concerning Parent and Merger Sub required by the Exchange Act to be set forth in the Schedule 14D-9 or as otherwise reasonably requested by the Company so as to enable the Company to comply with its obligations under this Section 2.03(b). Each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall promptly correct any information provided by it for use in the Schedule 14D-9 if and to the extent that such information shall have become false or misleading in any material respect, and the Company shall take all steps necessary to amend or supplement the Schedule 14D-9 and to cause the Schedule 14D-9 as so amended or supplemented to be filed with the SEC and disseminated to the Minority Holders, in each case as and to the extent required by applicable federal securities Laws. Except with respect to any amendments filed after an Adverse Recommendation Change (and while such Adverse Recommendation Change remains in effect) or in connection with any disclosures made pursuant to and in compliance with Section 7.02(e), (i) Parent shall be given reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon the Schedule 14D-9 and any amendments and supplements thereto prior to filing such documents with the SEC or dissemination of such documents to the stockholders of the Company, and the Company shall give reasonable and good faith consideration to any comments made by Parent, and (ii) the Company shall (A) provide Parent in writing any comments the Company may receive from the SEC or its staff with respect to the Schedule 14D-9 promptly after the receipt of such comments (and shall give Parent prompt telephonic notice of any material discussions with the SEC staff), (B) provide Parent a reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon the responses to any such comments and a copy of any proposed written responses thereto prior to the filing thereof, and (C) give reasonable and good faith consideration to any comments made by Parent on any such responses.

(c) Schedule 13E-3. On the date the Offer Documents are filed with the SEC, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall, in accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, file with the SEC a joint Rule 13e-3 Transaction Statement on Schedule 13E-3 with respect to the Transactions (together with all amendments, supplements and exhibits thereto, the "Schedule 13E-3"). Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall promptly correct any information provided by it for use in the Schedule 13E-3 if and to the extent that such information shall have become false or misleading in any material respect, and the parties shall take all steps necessary to amend or supplement the Schedule 13E-3 and to cause the Schedule 13E-3 as so amended or supplemented to be filed with the SEC and disseminated to the holders of Common Stock, in each case as and to the extent required by applicable federal securities Laws. Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall (i) be given reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon the Schedule 13E-3 and any amendments and supplements thereto prior to filing such documents with the SEC or dissemination of such documents to the stockholders of the Company, and the party filing the applicable Schedule 13E-3 shall give reasonable and good faith consideration to any comments made by the other parties, and (ii) (A) provide the other parties in writing any comments such party may receive from the SEC or its staff with respect to the Schedule 13E-3 promptly after the receipt of such comments (and shall give the other parties prompt telephonic notice of any material discussions with the SEC staff), (B) provide the other parties a reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon the responses to any such comments and a copy of any proposed written responses thereto prior to the filing thereof, and (C) give reasonable and good faith consideration to any comments made by the other parties on any such responses.

(d) Information Supplied by the Company. The Company covenants and agrees that none of the Schedule 14D-9, the Schedule 13E-3 and any information supplied by or on behalf of the Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement or any of the Offer Documents shall, at the date it is first filed with the SEC or disseminated to the Minority Holders or at the Acceptance Time or at the time of any amendment or supplement thereof, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, and each of the Schedule 14D-9 and the Schedule 13E-3 will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act; provided that no representation or warranty is made by the Company with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference in the Schedule 14D-9 or the Schedule 13E-3 to the extent based on information supplied by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the preparation of the Schedule 14D-9 or the Schedule 13E-3 for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.

(e) Information Supplied by Parent and Merger Sub. Each of Parent and Merger Sub covenants and agrees that none of the Registration Statement, the Offer Documents and any information supplied by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Schedule 14D-9 or the Schedule 13E-3 shall, at the date it is first filed with the SEC or disseminated to the Minority Holders or at the Acceptance Time or at the time of any amendment or supplement thereof, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, and the Registration Statement and the Offer Documents will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as applicable; provided that no representation or warranty is made by Parent or Merger Sub with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference in any of the Registration Statement or the Offer Documents to the extent based on information supplied by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the preparation thereof for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.

(f) <u>Stockholder Lists</u>. In connection with the Offer, the Company shall cause its transfer agent to furnish Parent and Merger Sub promptly with mailing labels containing the names and addresses of the record Minority Holders as of a recent date and of those persons becoming Minority Holders of record subsequent to such date, together with copies of all lists of stockholders, security position listings and computer files and all other information in the Company's possession or control regarding the names, addresses, contact information and positions of all beneficial owners of Common Stock, and shall furnish to Parent and Merger Sub such information and assistance (including updated lists of stockholders, security position listings and computer files) as Parent or Merger Sub may reasonably request in communicating the Offer to the Minority Holders. The date of the list used to determine the persons to whom the Offer Documents, the Schedule 14D-9 and the Schedule 13E-3 are first disseminated is referred to as the "<u>Stockholder List Date</u>". Subject to the requirements of applicable Law, and except for such steps as are necessary to disseminate the Offer Documents and any other documents necessary to consummate the Transactions, Parent and Merger Sub shall hold in confidence the information contained in any such labels, listings and files, shall use such information only in connection with the Transactions and, if this Agreement shall be terminated, shall promptly return to the Company or, upon request of the Company, destroy all copies of such information then in their possession or control and promptly certify to the Company in writing that all such material shall have been returned or destroyed.

SECTION 2.04 <u>The Merger</u>. Upon the terms of this Agreement and subject to the satisfaction or, if permissible, waiver of the conditions set forth in <u>Article VIII</u>, and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time, (i) Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company, (ii) the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and (iii) the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation of the Merger (the "<u>Surviving Corporation</u>"). The Merger shall be effected in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL without a vote of the stockholders of the Company.

SECTION 2.05 <u>Closing</u>. The closing of the Merger (the "<u>Closing</u>") shall take place (a) at the offices of Olshan Frome Wolosky LLP, 1325 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10019, at 9:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the date of, and as soon as possible following, the Acceptance Time, subject to the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permissible) of all of the conditions set forth in <u>Article VIII</u> (other than any conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions), or (b) at such other place, time or date as agreed to in writing by the parties hereto. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to as the "<u>Closing Date.</u>"

SECTION 2.06 <u>Effective Time</u>. As soon as practicable on the Closing Date, the parties hereto shall cause the Merger to be consummated by filing a certificate of merger (the "<u>Certificate of Merger</u>") with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in such form as is required by, and executed and acknowledged in accordance with, the relevant provisions of the DGCL and shall make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL in connection with the Merger. The Merger shall become effective at such date and time as the Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such subsequent date and time as Parent and the Company shall agree and specify in the Certificate of Merger (such date and time at which the Merger becomes effective, the "<u>Effective Time</u>").

SECTION 2.07 <u>Effect of the Merger</u>. At the Effective Time, the effect of the Merger shall be as provided in the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective Time, all the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions, disabilities and duties of the Company and Merger Sub shall become the debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions, disabilities and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

SECTION 2.08 <u>Organizational Documents</u>. At the Effective Time, (i) the certificate of incorporation of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be amended to be in the form of <u>Exhibit B</u> and, as so amended, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable Law, and (ii) the bylaws of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be amended in their entirety to conform to the bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time and, as so amended, shall by the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof, the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation and applicable Law.

SECTION 2.09 Directors and Officers. From and after the Effective Time, (i) the directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the Surviving Corporation, and (ii) the officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the Surviving Corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until the earlier of their death, resignation or removal.

ARTICLE III

CONVERSION OF SECURITIES; SURRENDER OF CERTIFICATES

SECTION 3.01 <u>Conversion of Securities</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or the holders of any Equity Interest in the Company, Parent or Merger Sub:

(a) Each share of common stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to exist, and such shares, including any certificates therefor, shall automatically be cancelled and retired.

(b) Each share of Common Stock held in treasury or owned directly by the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub or any other Subsidiary of Parent (other than SPH Group Holdings LLC) shall cease to exist, and such shares, including any certificates therefor, shall automatically be cancelled and retired, shall not represent an Equity Interest in the Surviving Corporation, and shall not be exchanged for the Merger Consideration (as defined below); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that each share of Common Stock owned directly by SPH Group Holdings LLC shall not be exchanged for the Merger Consideration but shall remain outstanding and shall represent Equity Interests in the Surviving Corporation. Shares of Common Stock that are cancelled and retired, or that remain outstanding, pursuant to this <u>Section 3.01(b)</u> are hereinafter referred to as "<u>Excluded Shares</u>."

(c) Each share of Common Stock (other than Excluded Shares and Dissenting Shares (as defined below)) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become the right to receive the Per Share Amount, without interest and subject to any required withholding of Taxes (the "<u>Merger Consideration</u>").

(d) Effective as of the Effective Time, each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Excluded Shares and Dissenting Shares) shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each holder of (i) certificates that immediately prior to the Effective Time represented such shares (the "<u>Certificates</u>") or (ii) such shares represented by book-entry (the "<u>Book-Entry Shares</u>") shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration in accordance with <u>Section 3.04</u>.

(e) <u>Adjustments</u>. If, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, any change in the number of issued or outstanding shares of Common Stock or Parent Preferred Units shall occur as a result of a reclassification, recapitalization, share or unit split (including a reverse share or unit split), or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares or units, or any share or unit dividend or share or unit distribution (including any dividend or distribution of securities convertible into Common Stock or Parent Preferred Units, as applicable) with a record date during such period, the Merger Consideration shall be equitably adjusted to reflect such change.

(f) <u>Fractional Securities</u>. No fraction of a Parent Preferred Unit will be issued by virtue of the Merger, but in lieu thereof each Minority Holder that would otherwise be entitled to a fraction of a Parent Preferred Unit (after aggregating all fractional Parent Preferred Units that otherwise would be received by such Minority Holder) shall, in lieu of such fractional Parent Preferred Unit, upon surrender of such Minority Holder's Certificate(s) or Book-Entry Share(s), be paid an amount of cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the product of: (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) the Parent Preferred Liquidation Preferrece.

SECTION 3.02 Company Equity and Equity-Based Awards.

(a) <u>Company Restricted Shares</u>. As of the Effective Time, each restricted share of Common Stock granted under any equitybased compensation plans of the Company (the "<u>Company Stock Plans</u>") that, as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, remains subject to any performance-vest, time-vest or other condition(s) that constitutes a "substantial risk of forfeiture" within the meaning of Section 83 of the Code (each, a "<u>Company Restricted Share</u>" or "<u>Company Equity Award</u>"), which is outstanding immediately prior thereto shall become fully vested as of the Effective Time. Each Company Restricted Share shall by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any holder of any Company Restricted Shares be automatically cancelled, and the holder thereof will receive, as soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Time, the Merger Consideration with respect thereto (the "<u>RS Consideration</u>" or "<u>Equity Award Consideration</u>"). As of the Effective Time, all Company Restricted Shares that are outstanding immediately prior thereto, whether or not vested, shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically cease to exist, and each holder of a Company Restricted Share shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the RS Consideration with respect thereto.

(b) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take all actions reasonably necessary to effect the provisions of <u>Section</u> <u>3.02(a)</u>. Amounts payable pursuant to this <u>Section 3.02</u> shall be reduced by such amounts as the Exchange Agent, the Surviving Corporation, Parent or Merger Sub is required to deduct and withhold pursuant to <u>Section 3.08</u>. Delivery of the Equity Award Consideration pursuant to this <u>Section 3.02</u> may be made through the Exchange Agent or otherwise.

SECTION 3.03 Appraisal Rights.

(a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any shares of Common Stock that are issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that are held by the Minority Holders who, in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL (the "Appraisal Rights Provisions"), (i) have not voted in favor of adopting this Agreement or consented thereto in writing, (ii) shall have demanded properly in writing appraisal for such shares, (iii) have otherwise complied in all respects with the Appraisal Rights Provisions, and (iv) have not effectively withdrawn, lost or failed to perfect their rights to appraisal (the "Dissenting Stockholders"), will not be converted into the Merger Consideration, but at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist and each holder of such shares (the "Dissenting Shares") shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, other than such rights to be paid the fair value of such Dissenting Shares provided under the Appraisal Rights Provisions; provided, however, that all shares of Common Stock held by the stockholders of the Company who shall have failed to perfect or who effectively shall have withdrawn or lost their rights to appraisal of such shares of Common Stock under the Appraisal Rights Provisions shall thereupon be deemed to have been cancelled and to have been converted, as of the Effective Time, into the right to receive the Merger Consideration relating thereto, without interest, upon surrender of the Certificate or Certificates that formerly evidenced such shares of Common Stock or, in the case of Book-Entry Shares, upon adherence to the procedures set forth in the letter of transmittal, in each case in accordance with Section 3.04. From and after the Effective Time, holders of Dissenting Shares shall not be entitled to vote for any purpose or be entitled to the payment of dividends or other distributions with respect to the Company, the Surviving Corporation or Parent (except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record of the Company prior to the Effective Time).

(b) The Company shall give Parent (i) prompt notice of any demands received by the Company for the exercise of appraisal rights with respect to shares of Common Stock, withdrawals of such demands, and any other instruments served pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL and received by the Company and (ii) the opportunity to direct and control all negotiations and proceedings with respect to demands for appraisal under the DGCL. The Company shall not, except with the prior written consent of Parent, make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands for appraisal. Parent shall keep the Company (including the Special Committee) informed on a reasonably current basis as to developments regarding negotiations and proceedings with respect to demands for appraisal.

SECTION 3.04 Surrender of Certificates and Book-Entry Shares.

(a) <u>Exchange Agent</u>. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall (i) select a bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to the Company to act as the exchange agent in the Merger (the "<u>Exchange Agent</u>"), and (ii) enter into an exchange agent agreement with the Exchange Agent. Parent shall be responsible for all fees and expenses of the Exchange Agent.

(b) Exchange Fund. Promptly after the Effective Time on the Closing Date, Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent, for the benefit of the holders of Certificates and Book-Entry Shares for payment in accordance with this <u>Article III</u> through the Exchange Agent, the aggregate number of Parent Preferred Units issuable pursuant to this <u>Article III</u>. In addition, Parent shall make available to the Exchange Agent as necessary cash in an amount sufficient for payment in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to <u>Section 3.01(f)</u>. Parent shall instruct the Exchange Agent to timely deliver the Merger Consideration and other amounts payable under this <u>Article III</u> in accordance with this Agreement. Such Parent Preferred Units and cash provided to the Exchange Agent are collectively referred to as the "<u>Exchange Fund</u>."

(c) Exchange Procedures.

(i) <u>Letter of Transmittal</u>. Promptly (but in any event no later than five (5) Business Days) after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of a share of Common Stock converted pursuant to <u>Section 3.01(c)</u> (A) a letter of transmittal in customary form, specifying that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to such holder's shares of Common Stock shall pass, only upon proper delivery of Certificates to the Exchange Agent or, in the case of Book-Entry Shares, upon adherence to the procedures set forth in the letter of transmittal, and (B) instructions for surrendering such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares in exchange for the Merger Consideration.

(ii) <u>Surrender of Shares</u>. Upon surrender of a Certificate for cancellation to the Exchange Agent, together with a duly executed letter of transmittal and any other documents reasonably required by the Exchange Agent, or receipt of an "agent's message" by the Exchange Agent in respect of Book-Entry Shares, the holder of that Certificate or Book-Entry Share shall be entitled to receive, and the Exchange Agent shall deliver in exchange therefor, the Merger Consideration payable in respect of the number of shares of Common Stock formerly evidenced by that Certificate or Book-Entry Share less any required withholding of Taxes. Any Certificates and Book-Entry Shares so surrendered shall be cancelled immediately. No interest shall accrue or be paid on any amount payable upon surrender of Certificates or Book-Entry Shares.

(iii) <u>Unregistered Transferees</u>. If any Merger Consideration is to be delivered to a person other than the person in whose name the surrendered Certificate or book entry in respect of Book Entry Shares is registered, then the Merger Consideration may be paid to such a transferee so long as (A) the surrendered Certificate is accompanied by all documents reasonably required by Parent to evidence and effect that transfer and (B) the person requesting such payment (x) pays any applicable transfer Taxes or (y) establishes to the reasonable satisfaction of Parent and the Exchange Agent that any such transfer Taxes have already been paid or are not applicable.

(iv) <u>No Other Rights</u>. Until surrendered in accordance with this <u>Section 3.04</u>, each Certificate and each Book-Entry Share shall be deemed, from and after the Effective Time, to represent only the right to receive the applicable Merger Consideration. Any Merger Consideration delivered upon the surrender of any Certificate or Book-Entry Share shall be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such Certificate or Book-Entry Share and, in the case of a Certificate, the shares of Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificate.

SECTION 3.05 <u>Transfer Books; No Further Ownership Rights in Shares</u>. From and after the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed and there shall be no further registration of transfers of shares of Common Stock on the records of the Company, other than Excluded Shares that remain outstanding pursuant to <u>Section 3.01(b)</u>. After the Effective Time, the holders of Certificates and Book-Entry Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect to such shares, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration as provided herein or as otherwise provided by applicable Law. If, after the Effective Time, any Certificates or Book-Entry Shares are surrendered to the Exchange Agent, Parent or the Surviving Corporation for any reason, they shall be cancelled and exchanged as provided in this <u>Article III</u>.

SECTION 3.06 Termination of Fund; No Liability. At any time following twelve (12) months after the Effective Time, Parent shall be entitled to require the Exchange Agent to deliver to Parent such portion of the Exchange Fund held by the Exchange Agent for payment of the Merger Consideration that the Exchange Agent shall not have been obligated to deliver to holders of Certificates or Book-Entry Shares pursuant to <u>Section 3.04</u>. Thereafter, holders of Certificates or adbeckentry Shares shall be entitled to look only to Parent, which shall thereafter act as the Exchange Agent (subject to abandoned property, escheat or other similar Laws), as general creditors of Parent with respect to the delivery of the Merger Consideration upon due surrender of the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares held by such holders. None of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange Agent shall be liable to any person for any Merger Consideration delivered to a public official in good faith pursuant to any abandoned property, escheat or similar Law from and after the date that any such Law shall become applicable to the Merger Consideration.

SECTION 3.07 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. In the event that any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit attesting to that fact by the person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if requested by Parent, the delivery by such person of a bond (in such amount as Parent may reasonably direct) as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Exchange Agent, Parent or the Surviving Corporation with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent will deliver the Merger Consideration to which such holder is entitled in respect of such Certificate.

SECTION 3.08 <u>Withholding Taxes</u>. Parent or the Exchange Agent will be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Minority Holder or holder of Company Equity Awards such amounts as Parent or any of its Affiliates, or the Exchange Agent, is required to deduct and withhold and remit to the appropriate Governmental Authority with respect to the making of such payment under the Code, or any applicable provision of U.S. federal, state, local or non-U.S. Tax Law. To the extent that such amounts are properly withheld by Parent or the Exchange Agent and paid over to the appropriate Governmental Authority, such withheld amounts will be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Minority Holder or holder of Company Equity Awards in respect of whom such deduction and withholding were made by Parent or the Exchange Agent.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

As an inducement to Parent and Merger Sub to enter into this Agreement, the Company hereby represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub that, except (A) as disclosed in the disclosure letter delivered by the Company to Parent on the date of the execution of this Agreement (the "<u>Company</u> <u>Disclosure Letter</u>") (it being understood that any matter disclosed in (A) the Company Disclosure Letter shall be deemed disclosed with respect to any section of this <u>Article IV</u> to which the matter relates to the extent the relevance of such matter to such other section is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure, or (B) as disclosed in any Company SEC Report filed or furnished on or after January 1, 2016 (including any exhibit thereto) and publicly available prior to the date of this Agreement (to the extent it is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure that any such disclosure set forth in any such Company SEC Reports would qualify the representations and warranties contained herein and other than, in each case, any matters required to be disclosed for purposes of <u>Sections 4.03</u> and <u>4.07(b)</u>, which matters shall be specifically disclosed in <u>Sections 4.03</u> and <u>4.07(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, respectively, and further excluding (i) any items included therein that are incorporated by reference to any Company SEC Reports filed prior to January 1, 2016 or after the date hereof and (ii) any risk factor disclosures contained under the heading "Risk Factors," any disclosure of risks included in any "forward-looking statements" disclaimer or any other statements that are similarly predictive or forward-looking, other than specific factual information contained therein, in any Company SEC Reports):

SECTION 4.01 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries.

(a) The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware and has the requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for such failures to be so qualified or licensed and in good standing that would not be reasonably expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) <u>Section 4.01(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a true and complete list of each Subsidiary of the Company, together with the jurisdiction of incorporation or formation of each Subsidiary of the Company. The outstanding Equity Interests of each of the Company's Subsidiaries are all duly and validly authorized and issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.01(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, (i) the Company and/or one or more of its Subsidiaries is the record and beneficial owner of all of the outstanding Equity Interests and other securities of each such Subsidiary, free and clear of all Taxes and Encumbrances and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries directly or indirectly owns any Equity Interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any Equity Interests in, any other person.

SECTION 4.02 <u>Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws</u>. The Company has heretofore Made Available to Parent a complete and correct copy of the certificate of incorporation and the bylaws or equivalent organizational documents, each as amended to date, of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries. Such certificate of incorporation, bylaws and equivalent organizational documents are in full force and effect.

SECTION 4.03 Capitalization.

(a) The authorized Equity Interests of the Company consist of 180,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share ("<u>Preferred Stock</u>"). As of the date hereof,

(i) 12,221,431 shares of Common Stock were issued and outstanding, all of which were validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and were not issued in violation of any preemptive rights, and of which 34,667 are currently subject to vesting under the Company Stock Plans;

(ii) 1,385,969 shares of Common Stock were held in the treasury of the Company;

(iii) no shares of Common Stock were issuable upon exercise of options to purchase shares of Common Stock or other rights to purchase shares of Common Stock (each, a "<u>Company Option</u>") granted pursuant to the Company Stock Plans; and

(iv) no shares of Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding.

(b) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.03(a)</u> (and the outstanding Equity Interests, including Company Equity Awards, underlying the numbers of shares of Common Stock referenced therein) there are no

(i) outstanding Equity Interests in the Company or securities exercisable or exchangeable for or convertible into any Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries,

(ii) outstanding options, warrants, rights or contracts relating to the issued or unissued Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue or sell any Equity Interests in the Company or any of its Subsidiaries,

(iii) outstanding stock appreciation rights, stock awards, restricted stock, restricted stock awards, performance units, phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights with respect to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Equity Interests (collectively, "<u>Company Rights</u>") or obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue or sell any such Company Right, or

(iv) voting trusts, proxies or other contracts with respect to the voting of any Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or giving any person any preemptive rights with respect to any future issuance of securities by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(c) All shares of Common Stock subject to issuance under the Company Stock Plans, upon issuance on the terms and conditions specified in the instruments pursuant to which they are issuable, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to preemptive rights. There are no outstanding contractual obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or to provide funds to, or make any investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in, any person.

(d) The Company does not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or other similar obligations the holders of which have the right to vote (or convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for securities having the right to vote or other Equity Interests of the Company) with the stockholders of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on any matter ("<u>Company Voting Debt</u>").

(e) Section 4.03(e) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of each current or former Company Employee, officer, director, consultant or other service provider of the Company who holds a Company Equity Award under the Company Stock Plans as of the date hereof, together with the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such Company Equity Awards, the date of grant of such Company Equity Awards, the exercise price of the Company Options, the vesting schedule for such Company Equity Awards and whether or not such Company Equity Awards are intended to qualify as "incentive stock options" within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code. Each Company Option has an exercise price at least equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on a date no earlier than the date of the corporate action authorizing the grant and no Company Option has had its exercise date or grant date delayed or "backdated." All Company Equity Awards have been issued in compliance with the Securities Act and, to the Company's knowledge, any applicable state blue sky laws. The Company has Made Available to Parent true and complete copies of the Company Stock Plans and the forms of all stock award agreements evidencing the Company Equity Awards. On and after the Effective Time, no Company Employee, officer, director, consultant or other service provider of the Company shall have any right under the Company Stock Plans to purchase Common Stock, or any other Equity Interest in, the Company, Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Affiliates or Subsidiaries.

SECTION 4.04 Authority Relative to this Agreement.

(a) The Company has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the Transactions have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action (including approval of the Company Board for purposes of Article Fifth of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, of the Company) and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the Transactions (subject to the filing and recordation of appropriate merger documents as required by the DGCL). This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that enforceability thereof may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by principles of equity regarding the availability of remedies.

(b) The Company Board (upon the unanimous recommendation of the Special Committee), by resolutions duly adopted by a vote at a meeting duly called and held and not subsequently rescinded or modified in any way (the "<u>Company Board Approval</u>"), has unanimously (i) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Transactions, (ii) declared that it is fair to and in the best interests of the Company and the stockholders of the Company that the Company enter into this Agreement and consummate the Transactions on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (iii) recommended to the Minority Holders that they accept the Offer and tender their shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Offer, and (iv) resolved that the Merger shall be effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL and that the Merger shall be consummated as soon as practicable following the Acceptance Time.

(c) No "fair price," "moratorium," "control share acquisition," "business combination" or other similar antitakeover Law (each, a "<u>Takeover Law</u>") is applicable to this Agreement or any of the Transactions.

(d) The Special Committee has received the opinion of the financial advisor to the Special Committee, Duff & Phelps LLC, dated the date of the meeting of the Special Committee at which the Special Committee resolved to recommend to the Company Board that it approve this Agreement, to the effect that, as of such date and based upon and subject to the various assumptions, qualifications and other matters and limitations considered in connection with the preparation of such opinion, the Per Share Amount and Merger Consideration to be received by the holders of Common Stock (other than Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates (collectively, the "<u>Affiliated Holders</u>")) in the Offer and the Merger pursuant to this Agreement are fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Common Stock other than the Affiliated Holders.

SECTION 4.05 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company do not, and the consummation of the Transactions will not,

(i) conflict with or violate the certificate of incorporation or bylaws or equivalent organizational documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, Article Fifth of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, of the Company,

(ii) assuming that all consents, approvals, authorizations and other actions described in <u>Section 4.05(b)</u> have been obtained and all filings and notifications described in <u>Section 4.05(b)</u> have been made, conflict with or violate any Law applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or by which any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound, except where such conflict or violation of Law would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect; or

(iii) except as set forth in <u>Section 4.05(a)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, require the consent of any person under, result in any breach or violation of, constitute a default (or an event that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become a default) under, give to others any right of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of an Encumbrance on any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to, any contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets is bound, except, with respect to <u>clauses (ii)</u> and <u>(iii)</u>, for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not be reasonably expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company do not, and the performance of this Agreement by the Company will not, require any Permit of, or filing or registration with, or notification to, any Governmental Authority, except where the failure to obtain such Permits, or to make such filings, registrations or notifications, would not be reasonably expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or for

(i) compliance with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act,

(ii) any filings required under the rules and regulations of Nasdaq, and

(iii) filing and recordation of appropriate merger documents as required by the DGCL and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is qualified to do business.

SECTION 4.06 Permits; Compliance.

(a) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is in possession of all Permits necessary to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, including Permits required under Environmental Laws (the "<u>Environmental Permits</u>"), except where failure to be in possession of such Permits would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are, and have been, in compliance with the terms and conditions of such Permits, except where failure to so comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect and no suspension or cancellation of any such Permit is pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened.

(b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in conflict with, or in default, breach or violation of, (i) its certificate of incorporation or bylaws or equivalent organizational documents, (ii) to the knowledge of the Company, any Law, or (iii) any contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound, except with respect to clauses (ii) or (iii), for any such conflicts, defaults, breaches or violations that would not be reasonably expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company do not, and the consummation of the Transactions will not, result in any breach or violation of or result in the termination or cancellation of any Environmental Permit or other material Permit except where the failure for such Permits to be in effect would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any of their respective officers, directors, agents, Company Employees or other person acting on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have, directly or indirectly, taken any action which would cause them to be in violation of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any rules or regulations thereunder or any similar anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in any jurisdiction other than the United States (collectively, the "<u>Company FCPA</u>"), or, to the knowledge of the Company, used any corporate funds for unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to political activity, made, offered or authorized any unlawful payment to non-United States or United States government officials or employees, whether directly or indirectly, or made, offered or authorized any bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other similar unlawful payment, whether directly or indirectly. The Company has established reasonable internal controls and procedures intended to ensure compliance with the Company FCPA.

SECTION 4.07 SEC Filings; Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a) The Company has timely filed all forms, reports, statements and other documents (including all exhibits, supplements and amendments thereto) required to be filed by it with the SEC since January 1, 2015 (collectively, with any amendments thereto, such documents as filed with or furnished to the SEC since January 1, 2015, the "<u>Company SEC Reports</u>"). Each Company SEC Report (including any financial statements or schedules included therein) (i) as of its date and if amended prior to the date hereof as of the date of such amendment, complied (or, if filed subsequent to the date hereof, at the time of filing, will comply) as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and (ii) did not, or, if filed subsequent to the date hereof, at the time of filing will not, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No Subsidiary of the Company is or has been required to file any form, report or other document with the SEC.

(b) Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any notes and schedules thereto) included (or incorporated by reference) in the Company SEC Reports (collectively, the "<u>Company Financials</u>") (i) was prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("<u>GAAP</u>") applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, as may be permitted by the SEC on Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act), (ii) fairly presents in all material respects the consolidated financial position, results of operations, cash flows and changes in stockholders' equity of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as at the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods indicated therein except as otherwise noted therein (except that the unaudited statements may not contain footnotes and are subject to normal and recurring year end adjustments, none of which are or are expected to be material in nature or amount) and (iii) is consistent with the books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries, which books and records are correct and complete in all material respects.

(c) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities, other than (i) liabilities reflected on the Company Reference Balance Sheet, (ii) liabilities not required to be reflected in the Company Reference Balance Sheet, (iii) liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of the Company Reference Balance Sheet and (iv) liabilities incurred subsequent to the date of the Company Reference Balance Sheet, that, individually or in the aggregate, are not material to the business, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(d) The Company has been and is in compliance in all material respects with the current prevailing applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "<u>Sarbanes-Oxley Act</u>") and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and the Company has not received any notice from any Governmental Authority regarding any such non-compliance.

(e) The Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Exchange Act) designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management.

SECTION 4.08 <u>Absence of Certain Changes or Events</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.08</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter and except in connection with the Transactions, or as expressly provided in this Agreement, since December 31, 2016, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has conducted its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice. Without limiting the foregoing, since December 31, 2016, there has not, directly or indirectly, occurred any event, change, effect or circumstance, including any damage to, destruction or loss of any asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (whether or not covered by insurance), constituting or that would reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 4.09 <u>Absence of Litigation</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.09</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, (i) there is no Action pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened, against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would, if adversely determined against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries nor any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any Order that has, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect, and (iii) to the knowledge of the Company, there are no material inquiries or investigations of Governmental Authorities pending or threatened regarding any accounting practices of the Company or any malfeasance by any executive officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 4.10 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) No Company Plan is maintained outside of the jurisdiction of the United States.

(b) Each Company Plan is in writing and the Company has Made Available to Parent a true and correct copy of (i) each Company Plan (including all amendments), (ii) the 2014, 2015 and 2016 annual reports (Form 5500) filed with the Internal Revenue Service (the "<u>IRS</u>"), if any, (iii) the most recent summary plan description for each Company Plan for which a summary plan description is required by applicable Law, (iv) the three most recent actuarial reports or valuations, if any, relating to a Company Plan and (v) the most recent determination letter or opinion letter issued by the IRS with respect to any Company Plan that is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code.

(c) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.10(c)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, none of the Company ERISA Affiliates, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective predecessors has contributed to, contributes to, has been required to contribute to, or otherwise participated in or participates in or in any way has any liability, directly or indirectly, with respect to any plan subject to Section 412 of the Code, Section 302 of ERISA or Title IV of ERISA, including any "multiemployer plan" (within the meaning of Section 3037) or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA or Section 414(f) of the Code) (a "<u>Multiemployer Plan</u>") or any single employer pension plan (within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(15) of ERISA) that is subject to Sections 4063, 4064 and 4069 of ERISA.

(d) Each of the Company, each of its Subsidiaries, each Company ERISA Affiliate, each Company Plan and each "plan sponsor" (within the meaning of Section 3(16) of ERISA) of each "welfare benefit plan" (within the meaning of Section 3(1) of ERISA) has complied in all material respects with the requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and Title I, Subtitle B, Part 6 of ERISA.

(e) Each Company Plan complies in form in all material respects and has been operated in all material respects in accordance with its terms and the requirements of all applicable Laws. No Action is pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened, with respect to any Company Plan, any trustee or fiduciaries thereof, the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, any Company ERISA Affiliate, or any of the assets of any trust of any of the Company Plans (other than immaterial claims for benefits in the ordinary course).

(f) Each Company Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has timely received a favorable determination letter from the IRS upon which it may rely (or the Company and its Subsidiaries are entitled to rely on a favorable opinion or advisory letter issued by the IRS in accordance with Revenue Procedure 2005-16 with respect to the qualified status of the plan document).

(g) With respect to each Company Plan: (i) all material payments required by the Company Plan or by Law (including all contributions, insurance premiums or intercompany charges) with respect to all prior periods have been made or provided for by the Company in accordance with the provisions of each of the Company Plans, applicable Law and GAAP; (ii) no non-exempt "prohibited transaction," within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code and Section 406 of ERISA, has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur with respect to the Company Plan; (iii) no Company Plan is under, and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice of, an audit by any Governmental Authority and no such completed audit, if any, has resulted in the imposition of any material Tax or penalty; (iv) with respect to each Company Plan that is funded mostly or partially through an insurance policy, none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Company ERISA Affiliate (A) has any material liability in the nature of retroactive rate adjustment, loss sharing arrangement or other actual or contingent liability arising wholly or partially out of events occurring on or before the date of this Agreement or (B) is reasonably expected to have such material liability with respect to periods through the Effective Time; (v) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or Company ERISA Affiliates has incurred a material Tax or penalty imposed by Section 4980 of the Code or Section 502 of ERISA or any material liability under Section 4071 of ERISA; and (vi) no fiduciary of any Company Plan has any material liability for breach of fiduciary duty or any other failure to act or comply in connection with the administration or investment of the assets of any Company Plan.

(h) Except as set forth in Section 4.10(h)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter or as provided in Section 3.02, the consummation of any of the Transactions alone, or in combination with a termination of any Company Employee, officer, director, consultant or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (whether current, former or retired) or any other event, will not give rise to any material liability under any Company Plan or contract with any such Company Employee, officer, director, consultant or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including liability for severance pay, unemployment compensation, termination pay or withdrawal liability, or accelerate the time of payment or vesting or increase the amount of compensation or benefits due to any Company Employee, officer, director, consultant or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (whether current, former or retired) or any of their dependents, spouses, or beneficiaries. Except as set forth in Section 4.10(h)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter, as of each of the Acceptance Time and the Effective Time, no material amounts payable under any Company Plan or any such contract otherwise will (i) fail to be deductible for federal income tax purposes by virtue of Section 280G of the Code or (ii) result in any payment that would not be deductible under Section 162(m) of the Code. No Company Plan or any such contract provides any Company Employee, officer, director, consultant or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any amount of additional compensation if such individual is provided amounts subject to excise or additional taxes imposed under Sections 409A or 4999 of the Code.

(i) None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Company ERISA Affiliate maintains, contributes to or in any way provides for any benefits of any kind whatsoever (other than under Section 4980B of the Code, the Federal Social Security Act or a plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code) to any current or future retiree or terminee.

(j) Except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, any Company ERISA Affiliate or, to the Company's knowledge, any director, officer or Company Employee has made any binding promises or commitments to create any additional plan, or to modify or change any existing Company Plan. To the Company's knowledge, no event, condition or circumstance exists that could reasonably be expected to result in a material increase of the benefits provided under any Company Plan or the expense of maintaining any Company Plan from the level of benefits or expense incurred for the most recent fiscal year ended before the Effective Time. To the Company's knowledge, no event, condition or circumstance exists that would prevent the amendment or termination of any Company Plan.

(k) Any individual who performs or performed services for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and who is not treated as an employee for federal income tax purposes by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is not an employee under applicable Law or for any purpose, including, without limitation, for Tax withholding purposes or Company Plan purposes; none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of the Company ERISA Affiliates has any material liability by reason of an individual who performs or performed services for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in any capacity being improperly excluded from participating in a Company Plan; and each of the Company Employees has been properly classified by the Company and its Subsidiaries as "exempt" or "non-exempt" under applicable Law.

() None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Company ERISA Affiliate has any material unfunded liabilities pursuant to any Company Plan that is not intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and that is an "employee pension benefit plan" within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA, a nonqualified deferred compensation plan or an excess benefit plan.

(m) There are no loans by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any Company Employee, officer, director, consultant or other service provider or stockholder of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries outstanding, other than advances for expenses in the ordinary course of business, and there have never been any loans or extensions of credit by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in violation of Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or subject to Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as from time to time in effect and any successor to all or a portion thereof establishing margin requirements.

SECTION 4.11 Labor Matters.

(a) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.11(a)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any collective bargaining or other labor union contract.

knowledge, threatened:

(b) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.11(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, there is not pending, or, to the Company's

(i) any strike, slowdown, picketing, work stoppage, lockout or other material dispute by or with respect to any employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, "<u>Company Employees</u>"), or

(ii) any union organizing activity by any Company Employees or any recognition or bargaining by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any union or labor organization.

(c) The Company and its Subsidiaries are employing all of their respective Company Employees in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to employment and employment practices, including, without limitation, all applicable Laws related to taxation, employment standards, workers' compensation, terms and conditions of employment, occupational health and safety, disability benefits, wages and hours, termination of employment, human rights, pay equity, employment equity, and, where applicable, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act.

SECTION 4.12 <u>No Vote Required</u>. Assuming the Transactions are consummated in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL, no vote or consent of the stockholders of the Company is necessary to authorize this Agreement or consummate the Transactions.

SECTION 4.13 <u>Property; Leases</u>.

(a) <u>Section 4.13(a)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a true, correct and complete list of, and describes briefly, (i) all real property and interests in real property owned in fee by each of the Company and its Subsidiaries (collectively, the "<u>Company Owned Real Property</u>"), and (ii) all real property and interests in real property leased or subleased by each of the Company and its Subsidiaries from or to any person, which lease or sublease involves annual payments to or from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of \$100,000 or more or aggregate payments to or from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of \$250,000 or more (collectively, the "<u>Company Leased Real Property</u>" and, together with the Company Owned Real Property, the "<u>Company Real Property</u>"). The Company has Made Available to Parent, with respect to each of the Company Leased Real Properties, all existing leases, subleases, licenses and other occupancy contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound, and all amendments, modifications, extensions and supplements thereto (collectively, the "<u>Company Tenant Leases</u>"), regardless of whether the terms thereof have commenced.

(b) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has good and marketable fee simple title to all Company Owned Real Property owned by it, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except (A) those Encumbrances set forth in <u>Section 4.13(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter and (B) Permitted Encumbrances. The Company Real Property constitutes all interests in real property currently used, occupied or currently held for use in connection with the respective businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries and that are necessary for the continued operation in all material respects of the respective businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries are currently conducted. All of the Company Real Property, fixtures and improvements thereon owned or leased by the Company and its Subsidiaries are in reasonably good operating condition without material structural defects, and all mechanical and other building systems located thereon are in reasonably good operating condition and suitable, sufficient and appropriate in all material respects for their current uses.

(c) Except for any Company Tenant Lease that expires in accordance with its terms, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has, and, assuming all consents set forth in <u>Section 4.05(a)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter are obtained, after each of the Acceptance Time and the Effective Time, will continue to have, a valid and enforceable leasehold interest under each of the Company Tenant Leases to which it is a party or by which it is bound, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, and each of the Company Tenant Leases is, and after each of the Acceptance Time and the Effective Time will continue to be, in full force and effect. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in material default under any Company Tenant Lease, and to the Company's knowledge, no events have occurred that, if not remedied, whether with or without notice or the passage of time or both, would result in such a default. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice of any material default (after giving effect to any applicable notice and cure period) or event that with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material default (after giving effect to any applicable notice and cure period) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any of the Company Tenant Leases which event or default remains uncured and, to the Company's knowledge, no other party is in material default (after giving effect to any applicable notice and cure period) by the Company or any of its subsidiaries under any of the Company Tenant Leases which event or default remains uncured and, to the Company's knowledge, no other party is in material default (after giving effect to any applicable notice and cure period) by the company or any of its with respect thereto.

SECTION 4.14 Contracts.

(a) The Company has Made Available to Parent a correct and complete copy of each of the following written contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound, that are in effect as of the date hereof:

(i) any contract (or group of related contracts) involving the performance of services or the purchase of goods, materials or other assets by or to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the performance of which will involve (A) annual payments to or from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of \$100,000 or more, or (B) aggregate payments (including termination penalties) to or from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of \$500,000 or more;

(ii) any contract concerning a partnership or joint venture;

(iii) any contract (or group of related contracts) under which it has created, incurred, assumed, or guaranteed any indebtedness for borrowed money, or any capitalized lease obligation, in excess of \$500,000;

(iv) any contract concerning noncompetition that materially limits or otherwise materially restricts the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or that would, after either the Acceptance Time or the Effective Time, limit or restrict Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Affiliates, from engaging or competing in any line of business or in any geographic area, including any contract containing any "radius clause" applicable to markets in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has operations;

(v) any contract relating to collective bargaining or employee association;

(vi) any contract for the employment of any individual on a full-time, part-time, consulting, or other basis who is an officer or director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that provides for annual compensation in excess of \$200,000;

(vii) any contract under which the consequences of a default or termination would reasonably be expected to have a erse Effect;

Company Material Adverse Effect;

(viii) any contract providing for the sale or exchange of, or option to sell or exchange, any material Company Property, or for the purchase or exchange of, or option to purchase or exchange, any real estate;

(ix) any contract for the acquisition or disposition, directly or indirectly (by merger or otherwise), of assets or Equity Interests of another person for aggregate consideration in excess of \$100,000, in each case other than in the ordinary course of business;

(x) any license, royalty or other contract concerning Intellectual Property (other than shrink-wrap software and databases licensed to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under nonexclusive software licenses granted to end-user customers by third parties in the ordinary course of business of such third parties' businesses); and

(xi) each written amendment, supplement and modification in respect of any of the foregoing.

(b) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.14(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, with respect to each such contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound, of a type described in Section 4.14(a) and in effect as of the date hereof: (i) the contract is legal, valid, binding, and enforceable against the Company and/or certain of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, and, to the Company's knowledge, the other party thereto, and in full force and effect; (ii) except for any such contract that expires in accordance with its terms, the contract will continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable against the Surviving Corporation and/or certain of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, and, to the Company's knowledge, the other party thereto, and in full force and effect on identical terms following each of the Acceptance Time and the Effective Time; (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, is in material breach or default, and no event has occurred that with the passage of time or giving of notice would constitute a material breach or default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or permit termination or acceleration by the other party, under the contract; and (iv) to the Company's knowledge, no other party to the contract is in material breach or default, and no event has occurred that with the passage of time or giving of notice would constitute a material breach or default by such other party, or permit termination or acceleration by the Company or its Subsidiary, under the contract.

SECTION 4.15 Intellectual Property. The Company and its Subsidiaries have (i) all right, title and interest in and to all material Intellectual Property owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (the "Company Intellectual Property"), free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances and (ii) all necessary proprietary rights in and to all material Intellectual Property licensed, used or held for use by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the conduct of their respective businesses as currently conducted ("Company Licensed Intellectual Property"), free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances. Except as set forth in Section 4.15 of the Company Disclosure Letter, to the Company's knowledge, there are no outstanding Orders relating to the Company Intellectual Property. Since January 1, 2015, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written communication alleging that it has infringed or, by conducting its business as proposed, would infringe the Intellectual Property rights of any third person. To the Company's knowledge, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the Transactions will alter, impair or require the consent of any other person in respect of any Company Intellectual Property or Company Licensed Intellectual Property. To the Company's knowledge, since January 1, 2017, there has been no unauthorized use, infringement or misappropriation of the Company Intellectual Property or Company Licensed Intellectual Property by any third party, except as would not otherwise reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. All of the rights within the Company Intellectual Property and Company Licensed Intellectual Property are valid, enforceable and subsisting, and there is no Action that is pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened that challenges the rights of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Company Intellectual Property or Company Licensed Intellectual Property or the validity, enforceability or effectiveness thereof, which in either case would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. No person has any option with respect to Company Intellectual Property. The Company Intellectual Property and the Company Licensed Intellectual Property constitute all Intellectual Property necessary for the operation of the Company's and its Subsidiaries' respective businesses as currently conducted.

SECTION 4.16 Taxes.

(a) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has (i) filed all material federal, state, local and foreign Tax returns and reports (collectively, "<u>Tax Returns</u>") required to be filed by it, and all such Tax Returns were correct and complete in all material respects, and (ii) paid and discharged all material Taxes required to be paid or discharged. The Company Financials reflect a reserve in accordance with GAAP for all Taxes payable by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for all taxable periods or portions thereof through the date of such financial statements. Since the date of the most recent Company Financials, no Taxes have accrued with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than Taxes accrued in the ordinary course of business. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has withheld all Taxes required to be withheld by it and such withheld Taxes have been paid to the proper taxing authority.

(b) Except as described in <u>Section 4.16(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter:

(i) no contract or other document waiving or extending the statute of limitations or the period of assessment or collection of any Taxes has been filed or entered into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any taxing authority;

(ii) no taxing authority is now asserting in writing or, to the Company's knowledge, threatening to assert against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries any material deficiency or claim for additional Taxes;

- (iii) there are no pending material audits of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by any taxing authority; and
 - (iv) there are no Encumbrances for Taxes (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon any of the assets of the Company

or any of its Subsidiaries.

(c) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liability for the Taxes of another person under Treasury Regulations § 1.1502-6 (or similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), or as transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise. There are no outstanding requests by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for any Tax ruling from any taxing authority and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (i) received a Tax ruling or (ii) entered into any closing agreement or other similar contract with a taxing authority relating to Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, effective with respect to a taxable period for which the statute of limitations is still open or a taxable period ending after the date of the Closing. The Company is not, nor was it any time during the five-year period ending on the date hereof, a "United States real property holding corporation" within the meaning of Section 897(c) of the Code. Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.16(c)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, the utilization of the net operating losses and tax credits of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not subject to any limitation under Section 382 or Section 383 of the Code or the "separate return limitation year" rules of the consolidated return regulations. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has distributed the stock of another company in a transaction that was purported or intended to be governed by Section 355 or Section 361 of the Code. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any listed or other reportable transaction within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 1.6011-4(b).

(d) To the Company's knowledge, no tax authority of a jurisdiction in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries does not file Tax Returns has asserted that it may be obligated to file Tax Returns in that jurisdiction. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has been or is required to make any adjustment pursuant to Section 481(a) of the Code or any similar provision of state, local or foreign tax law by reason of any change in any accounting method, there is no application pending with any taxing authority requesting permission for any change in any accounting method for Tax purposes and no taxing authority has proposed in writing any such adjustment or change in accounting method. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include in the gross income of a taxable period ending after the Closing Date income or gain attributable to cash received, or an account receivable that arose, in a prior taxable period and that was not recognized in that prior taxable period, as a result of the installment method, the completed contract method or the cash method of accounting or any other method of accounting that defers the recognition of income.

SECTION 4.17 <u>Environmental Matters</u>. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect and, with respect to any formerly owned, leased, operated or managed Company Property, to the Company's knowledge:

(a) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.17(a)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, the operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, including any operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries at any Company Property, comply and, since January 1, 2012, have complied with all applicable Environmental Laws.

(b) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.17(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, there are no Hazardous Substances in, on, over, under, at or from any Company Property at concentrations that would violate applicable Environmental Laws or would reasonably be likely to result in the imposition of Environmental Liabilities on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(c) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.17(c)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, no Company Property or any real property at which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has disposed of Hazardous Substances is listed or proposed for listing on the National Priorities List pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42. U.S.C. § 9601 et seq., or any similar inventory of sites maintained by any state or locality. Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.17(c)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, since January 1, 2015, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice from any Governmental Authority that it is subject to any Environmental Liabilities.

(d) Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.17(d)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has contractually or by operation of law assumed or succeeded to any Environmental Liabilities of any predecessor or any other person.

(e) The representations in this <u>Section 4.17</u> and <u>Section 4.06(a)</u> are the sole and exclusive representations and warranties concerning environmental matters, environmental compliance or the environmental condition of the Company Property.

SECTION 4.18 <u>Brokers</u>. No broker, finder or investment banker, other than Duff & Phelps LLC, any fees and expenses of which will be paid by the Company, is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company.

SECTION 4.19 Insurance.

(a) True and complete copies of all material insurance policies (including policies providing property, liability, workers' compensation, and bond and surety arrangements) owned or held by or for the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or for the benefit of any of their respective directors, officers or Company Employees (the "<u>Company Policies</u>") have been Made Available to Parent. The Company Policies are of such types and in such amounts and for such risks, casualties and contingencies as is reasonable based upon the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, as currently conducted.

(b) <u>Section 4.19(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a true and complete list, to the knowledge of the Company, of all pending claims made pursuant to any of the Company Policies as of the date hereof.

(c) Each Company Policy is legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms and is in full force and effect. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in breach or default in any material respect (including any such breach or default with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notice), and no event has occurred that, with notice or the lapse of time, would constitute such a breach or default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or permit termination or modification, under any Company Policy.

(d) No written notice of cancellation or termination has been received by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Company Policy, except in the ordinary course of business as part of the renewal process of any such Company Policy.

(e) The Company Policies are sufficient for compliance in all material respects with all requirements of Law and of all contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or otherwise bound.

(f) After each of the Acceptance Time and the Effective Time, the Company and its Subsidiaries will continue to have coverage under the Company Policies with respect to events occurring prior thereto.

SECTION 4.20 <u>Investigation by the Company</u>. The Company acknowledges that, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, neither Parent nor Merger Sub makes any representation or warranty, either express or implied, with respect to Parent, Merger Sub, any of their respective Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses, operations, assets, liabilities or condition (financial or otherwise).

ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

As an inducement to the Company to enter into this Agreement, Parent and Merger Sub hereby, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Company that, except as disclosed in the disclosure letter delivered by Parent to the Company on the date of the execution of this Agreement (the "Parent Disclosure Letter") (it being understood that any matter disclosed in (A) the Parent Disclosure Letter shall be deemed disclosed with respect to any section of this <u>Article V</u> to which the matter relates to the extent the relevance of such matter to such other section is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure or (B) in any Parent SEC Report filed or furnished on or after January 1, 2016 (including any exhibit thereto) and publicly available prior to the date of this Agreement (to the extent it is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure that any such disclosure set forth in any such Parent SEC Reports would qualify the representations and warranties contained herein and other than, in each case, any matters required to be disclosed for purposes of <u>Section 5.06(b)</u>, which matters shall be specifically disclosed in <u>Section 5.06(b)</u> of the Parent Disclosure Letter, and further excluding (i) any items included therein that are incorporated by reference to any Parent SEC Reports filed prior to January 1, 2016 or after the date hereof and (ii) any risk factor disclosures contained under the heading "Risk Factors," any disclosure of risks included in any "forward-looking statements" disclaimer or any other statements that are similarly predictive or forward-looking, other than specific factual information contained therein, in any Parent SEC Reports), and except that, for the avoidance of doubt, the following representations and warranties shall not be deemed to be made with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries:

SECTION 5.01 <u>Organization</u>. Each of Parent and Merger Sub is duly organized or incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware and has the requisite limited partnership or corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted. Parent is duly qualified or licensed to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for such failures to be so qualified or licensed and in good standing that would not be reasonably expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.02 <u>Organizational Documents</u>. Parent has heretofore made available to the Company a complete and correct copy of the certificate of limited partnership and the limited partnership agreement, each as amended to date, of Parent and the certificate of incorporation and the bylaws, each as amended to date, of Merger Sub. Such organizational documents are in full force and effect.

SECTION 5.03 Capitalization.

(a) As of the date of this Agreement:

(i) 26,016,926 Parent Common Units and 2,540,112 Parent Preferred Units were issued and outstanding, all of which were validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and were not issued in violation of any preemptive rights;

(ii) 10,718,072 Parent Common Units were held in the treasury of Parent;

(iii) No Parent Preferred Units were held in the treasury of the Parent;

(iv) No Parent Preferred Units were issuable upon exercise of awards ("<u>Parent Equity Awards</u>") under equity-based compensation plans of Parent (the "<u>Parent Plans</u>").

(b) Except as set forth in <u>Section 5.03(a)</u> or as provided for in this Agreement or in the terms of the Parent Preferred Units, as of the date of this Agreement, there are no:

Preferred Units;

(i) outstanding Equity Interests in Parent or securities exercisable or exchangeable for or convertible into Parent

(ii) outstanding options, warrants, rights or contracts relating to the issued or unissued Parent Preferred Units or obligating Parent to issue or sell any Parent Preferred Units;

(iii) outstanding appreciation rights, awards, restricted units, restricted unit awards, performance units, phantom units or similar rights with respect to the Parent Preferred Units (collectively, "<u>Parent Rights</u>") or obligation of Parent to issue or sell any such Parent Right, or

(iv) contracts giving any person any preemptive rights with respect to any future issuance of Parent Preferred Units.

(c) There are no outstanding contractual obligations of Parent to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any Parent Preferred Units other than as provided by the terms of the Parent Preferred Units.

SECTION 5.04 <u>Authority Relative to This Agreement</u>.

(a) Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the Transactions have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary limited partnership or corporate action, as applicable, and no other limited partnership or corporate proceedings, as applicable, on the part of Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the Transactions (subject to the filing and recordation of appropriate merger documents as required by the DGCL). This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that enforceability thereof may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by principles of equity regarding the availability of remedies.

(b) The board of directors of each of the Parent GP and Merger Sub pursuant to duly adopted resolutions have unanimously (i) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Transactions and (ii) determined that it is in the best interests of Parent or Merger Sub, as applicable, and the stockholders of Parent or Merger Sub, as applicable, that Parent or Merger Sub, as applicable, enter into this Agreement and consummate the Transactions on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 5.05 <u>No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents</u>.

(a)

The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub do not, and the consummation of the Transactions

will not,

(i) conflict with or violate the certificate of limited partnership or the limited partnership agreement, each as amended to date, of Parent or the certificate of incorporation or the bylaws, each as amended to date, of Merger Sub,

(ii) assuming that all consents, approvals, authorizations and other actions described in subsection (b) have been obtained and all filings and notifications described in subsection (b) have been made, conflict with or violate any Law applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or by which any property or asset of either of them is bound, or

(iii) require the consent of any person under, result in any breach or violation of, constitute a default (or an event that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become a default) under, give to others any right of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of an Encumbrance on any property or asset of Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to, any contract to which Parent or Merger Sub is a party or by which Parent or Merger Sub or any property or asset of either of them is bound except, with respect to <u>clauses (ii)</u> and <u>(iii)</u>, for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not be reasonably expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub do not, and the performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub will not, require any Permit of, or filing or registration with, or notification to, any Governmental Authority, except where the failure to obtain such Permits, or to make such filings, registrations or notifications, would not be reasonably expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or for:

- (i) compliance with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act,
- (ii) any filings required under the rules and regulations of the NYSE, and
- (iii) filing and recordation of appropriate merger documents as required by the DGCL.

SECTION 5.06 SEC Filings; Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a) Parent has timely filed all forms, reports, statements and other documents (including all exhibits, supplements and amendments thereto) required to be filed by it with the SEC since January 1, 2015 (collectively, with any amendments thereto, such documents as filed with or furnished to the SEC since January 1, 2015, the "<u>Parent SEC Reports</u>"). Each Parent SEC Report (including any financial statements or schedules included therein) (i) as of its date and if amended prior to the date hereof as of the date of such amendment, complied (or, if filed subsequent to the date hereof, at the time of filing, will comply) as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and (ii) did not, or, if filed subsequent to the date hereof, at the time of filing will not, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.



(b) Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any notes and schedules thereto) included (or incorporated by reference) in the Parent SEC Reports (i) was prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, as may be permitted by the SEC on Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act), (ii) fairly presents in all material respects the consolidated financial position, results of operations, cash flows and changes in capital of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries as at the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods indicated therein except as otherwise noted therein (except that the unaudited statements may not contain footnotes and are subject to normal and recurring year end adjustments, none of which are or are expected to be material in nature or amount) and (iii) is consistent with the books and records of Parent and its Subsidiaries, which books and records are correct and complete in all material respects.

(c) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities, other than (i) liabilities reflected on the Parent Reference Balance Sheet, (ii) liabilities not required to be reflected in the Parent Reference Balance Sheet, (iii) liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of the Parent Reference Balance Sheet, (iv) related to the outstanding Parent Preferred Units, which were issued subsequent to the date of the Parent Reference Balance Sheet, and (v) liabilities incurred subsequent to the date of the Parent Reference Balance Sheet, that, individually or in the aggregate, are not material to the business, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(d) Parent has been and is in compliance in all material respects with the current prevailing applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and the Parent has not received any notice from any Governmental Authority regarding any such non-compliance.

(e) Parent has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Exchange Act) designed to ensure that material information relating to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is accumulated and communicated to Parent's management.

SECTION 5.07 <u>Absence of Certain Changes or Events</u>. Since December 31, 2016, there has not, directly or indirectly, occurred any event, change, effect or circumstance, including any damage to, destruction or loss of any asset of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (whether or not covered by insurance), constituting or that would reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.08 Interim Operations of Merger Sub. Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the Transactions and has not engaged in any business activities or conducted any operations other than in connection with the Transactions. Parent directly owns, of record, all the outstanding shares of capital stock of Merger Sub.

SECTION 5.09 <u>Brokers</u>. No broker, finder or investment banker, other than Corporate Fuel, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Parent, is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub.

Investigation by Parent and Merger Sub; Non-reliance. Each of Parent and Merger Sub acknowledges that except as expressly SECTION 5.10 set forth, or represented or warranted to by the Company, in this Agreement (including any representations and warranties that are subject to the Company Disclosure Letter and/or the Company SEC Reports), or except in the case of fraud, (i) the Company does not make any representation or warranty, either express or implied, with respect to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses, operations, assets, liabilities or condition (financial or otherwise) and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives will have or be subject to any liability or other obligation of any kind or nature to Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, resulting from the delivery, dissemination or any other distribution to Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, or the use by Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, of any information provided or Made Available to any of them by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, including any information, documents, estimates, projections, forecasts or other forward-looking information, business plans or other material provided or Made Available to Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, in "data rooms" or management discussions in anticipation or contemplation of the Offer, the Merger or any other Transactions or as part of the Company's sale process. Parent and Merger Sub hereby acknowledge and agree that: (i) there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking statements, as well as in such business plans, with which Parent and Merger Sub are familiar; and (ii) Parent and Merger Sub are taking full responsibility for making their own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of all estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking information, as well as such business plans, so furnished to them (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections, forecasts, forward-looking information or business plans).

SECTION 5.11 <u>Absence of Litigation</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 5.11</u> of the Parent Disclosure Letter, (i) there is no Action pending or, to Parent's knowledge, threatened, against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any property or asset of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries that would, if adversely determined against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, (ii) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any property or asset of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any Order that has, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect, and (iii) to the knowledge of Parent, there are no inquiries or investigations of Governmental Authorities pending or threatened regarding any accounting practices of Parent or any malfeasance by any executive officer of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 5.12 <u>Parent Preferred Units</u>. Each Parent Preferred Unit issued pursuant to this Agreement will, when issued in accordance with the terms hereof, be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

ARTICLE VI

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

SECTION 6.01 Conduct of Business by the Company.

(a) Between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, except as set forth in <u>Section 6.01(a)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter or as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement or consented to by Parent in writing, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, (i) conduct its business in, and not take any action except in, the ordinary course of business; and (ii) use its reasonable best efforts to preserve substantially intact the business organization of the Company and its Subsidiaries, to keep available the services of the current officers, Company Employees and consultants of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and to preserve, in all material respects, the current relationships of the Company and the Subsidiaries with customers, licensees, suppliers and other persons with which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has business relations; provided that the foregoing obligations set forth in clause (ii) shall not require any expenditure of money (or commitment thereto) by the Company unless directed in writing by Parent.



(b) Without limiting the foregoing, except (w) as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement, (x) as disclosed in <u>Section 6.01(a)</u> or <u>Section 6.01(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, (y) as directed in writing by Parent, Merger Sub or any Affiliate thereof or (z) as specifically approved by the Company Board or a standing committee (other than the Special Committee) thereof (and in the case of committee approval, specifically disclosed to the Company Board) prior to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, directly or indirectly, do or agree to do any of the following without the prior written consent of Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

(i) make, revoke or change any Tax election, change any method of Tax accounting, settle, compromise or incur any liability for Taxes, fail to timely file any Tax Return that is due, file any amended Tax Return or claim for refund, surrender any right to claim a Tax refund, or consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment, in each case except as required by GAAP or applicable Law;

Governmental Authority;

(ii) change the accounting principles used by it unless required by a change in GAAP, applicable Law or any

(iii) except for short-term borrowings incurred in the ordinary course of business under its existing credit facility, incur or guarantee indebtedness for borrowed money or commit to borrow money, make any loans or cancel, release or assign any indebtedness to any person;

(iv) make any individual capital expenditure in excess of \$2,000,000;

(v) acquire, lease or license from any person (by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise), or sell, lease, license, dispose or effect an Encumbrance of (by merger, consolidation, sale of stock or assets or otherwise), any material assets other than in the ordinary course of business;

(vi) change any compensation arrangement or contract with any present or former Company Employee (except for increases in the base salaries of Company Employees other than officers or senior managers in the ordinary course of business), officer, director, consultant, stockholder or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or grant any severance or termination or change in control pay to any such present or former Company Employee, officer, director, consultant, stockholder or other service provider or increase any benefits payable under any severance or termination or change in control pay policies or establish, amend or terminate any Company Plan or increase benefits under any Company Plan, or grant any Company Equity Awards or other awards under any Company Stock Plan, in each case other than as (A) required pursuant to the terms of any Company Plan or contract as in effect on the date of this Agreement, (B) annual merit based raises for Company Employees (other than officers) in an amount and on a schedule consistent with past practice or (c) required by Law;

(vii) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or make any other distribution with respect to Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or otherwise make any payments to stockholders in their capacity as such, other than dividends or distributions payable by a directly or indirectly wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or to another directly or indirectly wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company;

Notification Act;

(viii) effect a "plant closing" or "mass layoff," as those terms are defined in the Worker Adjustment and Retraining

(ix) (i) except as otherwise required pursuant to an existing contract set forth on <u>Section 4.03</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter, issue, deliver, sell, pledge, transfer, convey, dispose of or permit the imposition of an Encumbrance on any Equity Interests, or any options, warrants, securities exercisable, exchangeable or convertible into any Equity Interest, or any Company Right or Company Voting Debt, other than the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of Company Options outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, (ii) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, or propose to redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, any of its outstanding Equity Interests or (iii) split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any Equity Interests;

software licenses);

(x) enter into any contract providing for the sale or license of material Intellectual Property (other than ordinary course

(xi) subject to <u>Section 7.02</u> and except pursuant to the terms thereof, modify, amend or terminate, or waive, release or assign any material rights or claims with respect to, any confidentiality agreement or non-competition agreement or standstill contract that relates to a business combination involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(xii) lease, license, mortgage, hypothecate, pledge, sell, sublease, grant any material Encumbrance affecting and/or transfer any interest in any Company Owned Real Property or Company Leased Real Property, or enter into any material amendment or extension, or termination, of any leasehold interest in any Company Leased Real Property or create any new leasehold interest in any Company Leased Real Property;

Merger not being satisfied;

(xiii) take any action that is intended or would reasonably be expected to result in any of the conditions to the Offer or the

(xiv) make any acquisition of, capital contribution to, or investment in, any assets or stock of any person (other than any wholly owned Subsidiary) (whether by way of merger, consolidation, tender offer, share exchange or other activity);

(xv merge or consolidate with any person (other than mergers among wholly owned Subsidiaries);

(xvi) enter into, terminate, materially amend or waive any material rights under any contract of a type described in <u>Section 4.14(a)</u>, except for those contracts which terminate or expire in accordance with their terms;

(xvii) waive, release, assign, settle or compromise any material claim or any material Action;

(xviii) satisfy, discharge, waive or settle any material liabilities, other than in the ordinary course of business;

(xix) fail to maintain in full force and effect or fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to replace or renew any Company Policies existing as of the date of this Agreement;

- (xx) amend its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational or governing documents; or
- (xxi) enter into any contract to do any of the foregoing.

(c) Except as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries shall, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, directly or indirectly, do or agree to do any of the following without the prior written consent of the Company (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

- (i) split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any Equity Interests;
- (ii) take any action that is intended or would reasonably be expected to result in any of the conditions to the Offer or

the Merger not being satisfied;

(iii) amend its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational or governing documents in a manner that would prohibit, or hinder, impede or delay in any material respect, the Offer, the Merger or the consummation of the other Transactions; or

(iv) enter into any contract to do any of the foregoing.

ARTICLE VII

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

SECTION 7.01 Access to Information; Confidentiality.

(a) From the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time and in compliance with applicable Laws, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and the officers, directors, employees, auditors, investment bankers, counsel, agents and other representatives ("<u>Representatives</u>") of the Company and its Subsidiaries to afford the representatives of Parent reasonable access at all reasonable times to the officers, employees, properties, offices and other facilities, books and records of the Company and each Subsidiary, and shall furnish Parent with such financial, operating and other data and information as Parent, through its Representatives, may reasonably request, subject to the terms of any pre-existing confidentiality obligation which restricts such access.

(b) The representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement shall be deemed modified and related disclosures in the Company Disclosure Letter shall be supplemented to the extent Parent had actual knowledge (arising from an investigation pursuant to this <u>Section 7.01</u> or otherwise) of any inaccuracy in or breach of any such representation or warranty prior to the date of this Agreement.

SECTION 7.02 <u>No Solicitation</u>.

(a) Subject to Section 7.02(b), from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time or, if earlier, the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article IX, none of the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives shall, directly or indirectly, (i) initiate, solicit or encourage (including by way of providing information) the submission of any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute or may reasonably be expected to lead to any Acquisition Proposal or engage in any discussions or negotiations with respect thereto or otherwise cooperate with or assist or participate in, or facilitate any such inquiries, proposals, offers, discussions or negotiations, or (ii) approve or recommend, or propose to approve or recommend, an Acquisition Proposal or enter into any merger agreement, letter of intent, agreement in principle, share purchase agreement, asset purchase agreement or share exchange agreement, option agreement or other similar agreement providing for or relating to an Acquisition Proposal or enter into any agreement or spropes or agree to do any of the foregoing. Subject to Section 7.02(b)(i), the Company shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any solicitation, encouragement, discussion or negotiation with any person conducted prior to the date of this Agreement by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives with respect to any Acquisition Proposal and use its (and will cause its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives to use their) reasonable best efforts to cause to be returned or destroyed all confidential information provided or made available to any such person on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(b)

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 7.02(a), if at any time following the date of this Agreement and prior to the Acceptance Time, (w) the Company has received a written Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a breach of this Section 7.02 from a third party that the Special Committee believes in good faith to be bona fide, (x) the Company Board and/or the Special Committee determines in good faith, after consultation with its independent financial advisors and outside counsel, that such Acquisition Proposal constitutes or could reasonably be expected to result in a Superior Proposal, (y) the Company has complied with the terms of this Section 7.02 in all material respects, and (z) the Company Board and/or the Special Committee determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law, then the Company (acting through the Special Committee) may (A) furnish information with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries to the person making such Acquisition Proposal and (B) participate in discussions or negotiations with the person making such Acquisition Proposal (B) participate in discussions or negotiations with the person making such Acquisition Proposal; <u>provided</u>, that the Company (x) shall not, and shall not allow any of its Representatives to, disclose any material non-public information concerning the Company or any of its Subsidiaries provided to such other person which was not previously provided or Made Available to Parent.

(ii) The Company shall promptly (and in any event within two (2) Business Days) notify Parent if it receives an Acquisition Proposal from a person or group of related persons, including the material terms and conditions thereof and the identity of the person making such Acquisition Proposal and shall keep Parent apprised and, at Parent's request, shall update Parent as to the status and any material developments, discussions and negotiations concerning such Acquisition Proposal.

Neither the Company Board nor any committee thereof shall directly or indirectly (i) withdraw, qualify or modify in a (c) manner adverse to Parent or Merger Sub, or publicly propose to withdraw, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Parent or Merger Sub, the Company Board Approval, or (ii) approve or recommend, or publicly propose to approve or recommend, any Acquisition Proposal (each of the foregoing, an "Adverse <u>Recommendation Change</u>"); provided, that at any time prior to the Acceptance Time, if (x) the Company receives an Acquisition Proposal which the Company Board and/or the Special Committee concludes in good faith (after consultation with its independent financial advisors and outside legal counsel and, in the case of the Company Board, upon recommendation thereof by the Special Committee) constitutes a Superior Proposal (after having complied with, and giving effect to all of the adjustments which may be offered by Parent pursuant to, this Section 7.02(c)), and (y) the Company has complied with the terms of this Section 7.02 in all material respects and such Acquisition Proposal did not result from a breach of this Section 7.02, the Company Board and/or the Special Committee may (upon the recommendation of the Special Committee in the case of the Company Board) (i) cause the Company to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(g) to concurrently enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such Superior Proposal and (ii) effect an Adverse Recommendation Change if the Company Board or the Special Committee, as applicable, determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Law; provided, however, that the Company shall not terminate this Agreement pursuant to the foregoing clause (i) and any purported termination pursuant to the foregoing clause (i) shall be void and of no force and effect, unless concurrently with such termination the Company pays the Termination Fee payable pursuant to Section 9.03 and such Acquisition Proposal continues to constitute a Superior Proposal; and provided, further, that the Company may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to the foregoing clause (i), and the Company Board and the Special Committee may not approve or recommend such Acquisition Proposal or effect an Adverse Recommendation Change pursuant to the foregoing clause (ii) unless the Company shall have provided prior written notice to Parent, at least five (5) Business Days in advance (the "Notice Period"), of its intention to effect an Adverse Recommendation Change or terminate this Agreement to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such Superior Proposal, which notice shall include a written summary of the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal (including the identity of the party making such Superior Proposal), and shall have contemporaneously provided a copy of the relevant proposed transaction agreements with the party making such Superior Proposal and any other material documents relating thereto. During the Notice Period, the Company (acting through the Special Committee) shall, and shall cause its Representatives to, negotiate with Parent in good faith (to the extent Parent has notified the Special Committee in writing of Parent's desire to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and the Company Board and Special Committee shall take into account any changes to the financial and other terms of this Agreement proposed by Parent in response to any such written notice by the Company or otherwise, with a view to providing that the Acquisition Proposal ceases to constitute a Superior Proposal (it being understood and agreed that any amendment to the financial terms or other material terms of such Superior Proposal shall require a new written notice by the Company and a new five (5) Business Day period). The parties agree that if the Notice Period (or any new five (5) Business Day period) ends on a date that is concurrent with, or later than, the date of the scheduled expiration of the Offer, at the written request of the Special Committee, Parent and Merger Sub shall, or at their election Parent and Merger Sub may, extend the Offer until 12:00 midnight (New York City time) on the date that is the later of (a) two (2) Business Days following the last day of the applicable Notice Period (or any new five (5) Business Day period) or (b) the last day of the minimum period required by applicable Law, interpretation or position of the SEC or its staff or the NYSE or its staff for any such extension.

In addition to <u>Section 7.02(c)</u>, neither the Company Board nor any committee thereof shall effect an Adverse (d) Recommendation Change (for purposes of this Section 7.02(d), solely under clause (i) of the definition thereof), provided, that at any time prior to the Acceptance Time, the Company Board and/or the Special Committee may effect an Adverse Recommendation Change if the Company Board and/or the Special Committee determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel (and upon recommendation thereof by the Special Committee in the case of the Company Board), that, in light of material facts, events or circumstances that have arisen or occurred since the date of this Agreement that were not known by or reasonably foreseeable to the Company or the Company Board (or the Special Committee) prior to the date hereof, other than an Acquisition Proposal, or an inquiry, proposal or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, or the consequences thereof (a "Company Intervening Event"), the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law; provided, further, that the Company Board and the Special Committee may not effect an Adverse Recommendation Change pursuant to the foregoing unless the Company shall have provided prior written notice to Parent, at least five (5) Business Days in advance (the "Company Intervening Event Notice Period"), of its intention to effect such Adverse Recommendation Change, which notice shall describe in reasonable detail the underlying facts giving rise to the Company Intervening Event and the reasons for taking such action. During the Company Intervening Event Notice Period, the Company (acting through the Special Committee) shall, and shall cause its Representatives to, negotiate with Parent in good faith (to the extent Parent has notified the Special Committee in writing of Parent's desire to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and the Company Board and Special Committee shall take into account any changes to the financial and other terms of this Agreement proposed by Parent in response to any such written notice by the Company or otherwise, so that the need for effecting an Adverse Recommendation Change is obviated (it being understood and agreed that any material developments relating to a Company Intervening Event shall require a new written notice by the Company and a new five (5) Business Day period).

(e) Nothing contained in this <u>Section 7.02</u> or elsewhere in this Agreement shall prohibit the Company from complying with Rule 14d-9 and 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that this <u>Section 7.02(e)</u> shall not be deemed to permit the Company, the Company Board or any committee thereof to effect an Adverse Recommendation Change except in accordance with <u>Section 7.02(c)</u> or (<u>d</u>).

SECTION 7.03 Directors' and Officers' Indemnification.

(a) From and after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law (and the Surviving Corporation shall also advance expenses as incurred to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law; <u>provided</u>, that the person to whom expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification), each present and former director and officer of the Company and its Subsidiaries (collectively, the "<u>Indemnified Parties</u>") against any and all costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages and liabilities incurred in connection with any Action, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to any action or omission or matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, including the Transactions, to the same extent as provided in the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the Company in effect on the date hereof.

(b) For six years from the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation and any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, shall maintain in effect for the benefit of the directors and officers of the Company or such Subsidiary currently covered by the officers' and directors' liability insurance policies of the Company or such Subsidiary an insurance and indemnification policy with an insurer with a Standard & Poor's rating of at least A that provides coverage for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (the "<u>D&O Insurance</u>") covering each such person on terms with respect to coverage and in amounts no less favorable in the aggregate than those of the Company's or such Subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Surviving Corporation or its Subsidiary for such coverage; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that if the annual premiums for such insurance coverage exceed 200% of such annual premium, the Surviving Corporation or its Subsidiary shall obtain a policy with the greatest coverage available for a cost not exceeding such amount. Each of the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries may satisfy its obligations under this <u>Section 7.03(b)</u> by purchasing a "tail" policy from an insurer with a Standard & Poor's rating of at least A under the Company's or the applicable Subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy, that (i) has an effective term of six years from the Effective Time, (ii) covers each director and officer currently covered by the Company's or the applicable Subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of this Agreement for actions and omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, and (iii) contains terms that are no less favorable in the aggregate than those of the Company's or the applicable Subsidiary's directors' and officers' insurance policy in effect on the date of this Agreement.

(c) The certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall contain provisions no less favorable with respect to indemnification than are set forth in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws, respectively, of the Company, unless any modification thereof shall be required by Law and then such modification shall be made only to the minimum extent required by such Law, which provisions shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified, except as provided in this <u>Section 7.03(c)</u>, for a period of six years from the Effective Time in any manner that would affect adversely the rights thereunder of individuals who, at or prior to the Effective Time, were directors or officers of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(d) The provisions of this <u>Section 7.03</u> are intended to be for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each Indemnified Party, his or her heirs and his or her representatives and are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or contribution that any such person may have by contract or otherwise. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, shall be construed to or shall release, waive or impair any rights to directors' and officers' insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective officers, directors and employees, it being understood and agreed that the indemnification provided for in this <u>Section 7.03</u> is not prior to, or in substitution for, any such claims under any such policies. From and after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall honor, in accordance with their terms, all indemnification agreements with the Company in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time that are applicable to Indemnified Parties, and such agreements shall not be modified without the prior written agreement of the applicable Indemnified Party.

(e) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) is made against any Indemnified Party or any other party covered by directors' and officers' liability insurance, on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the Effective Time, the provisions of this <u>Section 7.03</u> shall continue in effect until the final disposition of such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

(f) If the Surviving Corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other person and shall not be the continuing or surviving entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any person, then, and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation shall assume the obligations set forth in this <u>Section 7.03</u>.

SECTION 7.04 Further Action; Reasonable Best Efforts; Consents and Filings.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, each party agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the Transactions. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, each party agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary to satisfy the conditions to the consummation of the Transactions to be satisfied by it.

(b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and in accordance with applicable Law, each of the parties shall use reasonable best efforts to as promptly as practicable (i) obtain any consents, approvals or other authorizations from all Governmental Authorities and other third parties, and make any filings and notifications, required in connection with the Transactions, and (ii) make any other filings and submissions either required or reasonably deemed appropriate by Parent or the Company in connection with the Transactions under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the DGCL, the rules and regulations of the NYSE, the rules and regulations of Nasdaq and any other applicable Law. The parties shall cooperate and consult with each other in connection with the making of all such filings and notifications, including by providing copies of all relevant documents (except to the extent containing confidential information of such party) to the non-filing party and its advisors before filing.

(c) The Company shall, and the Company shall cause its Subsidiaries to, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, (i) take all actions necessary so that no Takeover Law becomes applicable to any of the Transactions or this Agreement and (ii) if any such Takeover Law becomes applicable to any of the Transactions may be consummated as promptly as practicable as contemplated by this Agreement and otherwise to eliminate or minimize the effect of such Takeover Law on the Transactions and this Agreement.

SECTION 7.05 <u>Public Announcements</u>. Parent and Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, agree that no public release or announcement concerning the Transactions shall be issued by either party without the prior consent of the other party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except as such release or announcement may be required by Law or the rules or regulations of any securities exchange, in which case the party required to make the release or announcement shall use its reasonable best efforts to allow the other party reasonable time to comment on such release or announcement in advance of such issuance; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that each party may make any public statement in response to specific questions by the press, analysts, investors or those attending industry conferences or financial analyst conference calls, so long as any such statements are not inconsistent with previous public releases or announcements made in compliance with this <u>Section 7.05</u> and do not reveal non-public information regarding the other party.

SECTION 7.06 <u>Advice of Changes</u>. Each party to this Agreement shall promptly advise the other parties of any Effect (A) in the case of the Company, having or that would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or, in the case of Parent, having or that would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, or (B) that constitutes a material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, that no such notification shall affect the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements of such party (or remedies with respect thereto) or the conditions to the obligations of the parties under this Agreement. Such party shall give prompt written notice to the other parties of any notice or other communication (x) from any person and the response thereto of such party or its Representatives alleging that the consent of such party or its Representatives in connection with this Agreement or any of the Transactions.

SECTION 7.07 Benefit Plans and Employee Matters.

(a) Parent agrees that, for a period of at least one year following the Closing Date, each Company Employee who continues employment with Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Subsidiaries after the Closing Date (each, a "<u>Continuing Employee</u>") shall be provided, at Parent's election, with benefits on substantially the same terms as those provided to (i) similarly situated employees of Parent or (ii) such Continuing Employee by the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time. Nothing in this Agreement shall require Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Subsidiaries to continue to employ any particular Company Employee following the Closing Date, or shall be construed to prohibit Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Subsidiaries from amending or terminating any Company Plan.

(b) Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall ensure that, as of the Closing Date, each Continuing Employee receives full credit (for all purposes, including eligibility to participate, vesting, vacation entitlement and severance benefits) for service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under each of the comparable employee benefit plans, programs and policies of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the relevant Subsidiary, as applicable, in which such Continuing Employee becomes a participant; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no such service recognition shall result in any duplication of benefits. As of the Closing Date, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation or relevant Subsidiary to, credit to each Continuing Employee the amount of vacation time that such employee had accrued under any applicable Company Plan as of the Closing Date. With respect to each health or welfare benefit plan maintained by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the relevant Subsidiary for the benefit of any Continuing Employee, Parent shall (i) cause to be waived any eligibility waiting periods, any evidence of insurability requirements and the application of any pre-existing condition limitations under such plan, and (ii) cause each Continuing Employee to be given credit under such plan for all amounts paid by such Continuing Employee under any similar Company Plan for the plan year that includes the Closing Date for purposes of applying deductibles, co-payments and out-of-pocket maximums as though such amounts had been paid in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan maintained by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the relevant Subsidiary, as applicable, for the plan year in which the Closing Date occurs.

(c) From and after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall honor, in accordance with their terms, all employment and severance agreements listed in <u>Section 7.07(c)</u> of the Company Disclosure Letter in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time that are applicable to any current or former Company Employees or directors of the Company.

(d) Except as specifically set forth herein, nothing in this <u>Section 7.07</u>, whether express or implied, shall confer upon any current or former director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries any rights or remedies, including any right to employment or continued employment for any specified period, of any nature or kind whatsoever. No provision of this <u>Section 7.07</u> is intended to modify, amend or create any employee benefit plan of the Company, Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Affiliates.

SECTION 7.08 <u>Stock De-Registration</u>. The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Common Stock to no longer be listed on Nasdaq and to be de-registered under the Exchange Act as soon as practicable following the Effective Time.

SECTION 7.09 <u>Section 16b-3</u>. Prior to the Acceptance Time, the Company shall (and shall be permitted to) take such steps as may be reasonably required to cause dispositions of the Company's equity securities (including derivative securities) pursuant to the Transactions by each individual who is a director or officer of the Company to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

SECTION 7.10 <u>Compensation Arrangements</u>. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall not, after the date of this Agreement, enter into, establish, amend, modify or supplement any plan, program, agreement or arrangement pursuant to which compensation is paid or payable, or pursuant to which benefits are provided, in each case to any current or future director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries who holds shares of Common Stock or Company Equity Awards unless, prior to the Acceptance Time, the Company (acting through the Compensation Committee of the Company Board or its independent directors, to the extent required under applicable Law) shall have taken all steps that may be necessary or advisable to (a) approve as an "employment compensation, severance or other employee benefit arrangement" within the meaning of Rule 14d-10(d)(1) under the Exchange Act and (b) satisfy the requirements of the non-exclusive safe harbor set forth in Rule 14d-10(d) of the Exchange Act with respect to such plan, program, agreement or arrangement. The Company shall deliver to Parent copies of all resolutions and consents prepared in connection with the actions required under this <u>Section 7.10</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not be permitted to take any action that would result in a breach of <u>Section 6.01(b)(vi)</u>.

SECTION 7.11 <u>Merger Without a Stockholders' Meeting</u>. As promptly as practicable following the Acceptance Time, the parties shall take all necessary and appropriate actions to cause the Merger to become effective, without a meeting of the stockholders of the Company, in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL.

SECTION 7.12 <u>Parent Preferred Units</u>. Prior to the Acceptance Time, Parent agrees to use reasonable best efforts to cause the Parent Preferred Units to be issued in the Offer and the Merger to be approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance.

ARTICLE VIII

CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

SECTION 8.01 <u>Conditions to the Merger</u>. The obligations of each party to consummate the Merger shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible), at or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions:

(a) <u>Completion of Offer</u>. Merger Sub shall have previously accepted for payment all shares of Common Stock validly tendered and not validly withdrawn pursuant to the Offer.

(b) <u>No Order</u>. No Governmental Authority in the United States shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law or Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect and has the effect of making the Merger illegal or otherwise preventing or prohibiting consummation of the Merger.

ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

SECTION 9.01 <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated and the Offer, the Merger and the other Transactions may be abandoned at any time prior to the Acceptance Time (the date of any such termination, the "<u>Termination Date</u>") as follows:

and the Company; or

(a) By mutual written consent of each of Parent and the Company duly authorized by the Boards of Directors of the Parent GP

(b) By Parent or the Company, by written notice, if the Acceptance Time shall not have occurred on or before December 31, 2017 (the "<u>Outside Date</u>"); provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 9.01(b)</u> shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Acceptance Time to have occurred on or before the Outside Date; or

(c) By Parent or the Company if any Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Order or applicable Law or taken any other action (including the failure to take an action) that is, in each case, then in effect and is final and nonappealable and has the effect of preventing or prohibiting the consummation of the Offer or the Merger; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 9.01(c)</u> shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, any such Order or Law to have been enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered or any such action to have been taken or omitted to be taken; or

hereof:

(d) By written notice of Parent if any of the following actions or events occurs, whether or not they are permitted by the terms

(i) the Company Board (or any committee thereof) withdraws, qualifies, amends, modifies or changes the Company Board Approval in a manner adverse to Parent or shall have resolved or publicly proposed to do so;

(ii) the Company Board (or any committee thereof) shall have approved or recommended an Acquisition Proposal or shall have resolved or publicly proposed to do so or the Company shall have entered into any letter of intent or similar document or any contract accepting any Acquisition Proposal;

(iii) the Company breaches in any material respect any provision of <u>Section 7.02</u>;

(iv) at any time after public announcement of an Acquisition Proposal, the Company Board shall have failed to reaffirm its recommendation of this Agreement and the Transactions within three (3) Business Days of receipt of any written request to do so by Parent; or

(v) any tender or exchange offer (other than the Offer) is commenced that, if successful, would result in any person or group becoming the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and the Company Board, within ten (10) Business Days after the commencement thereof, shall not have recommended that the Company's stockholders reject such tender or exchange offer and not tender their shares into such tender or exchange offer.

(e) By written notice of Parent (if Parent or Merger Sub is not in material breach of its obligations or its representations and warranties under this Agreement), if there has been a breach by the Company of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of the Company shall have become untrue, in either case that would reasonably be expected to result in a failure of an Offer Condition set forth in clause (f)(iii) or (iv) of Exhibit A (a "Terminating Company Breach"); provided, that if such Terminating Company Breach is reasonably curable by the Company within twenty (20) days after the occurrence of such Terminating Company Breach through the exercise of its reasonable best efforts and for as long as the Company continues to exercise such reasonable best efforts, Parent may not terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.01(e) until the earlier of the expiration of such twenty (20)-day period and the Outside Date;

(f) By written notice of the Company (if the Company is not in material breach of its obligations or its representations and warranties under this Agreement), if there has been a breach by Parent or Merger Sub of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of Parent or Merger Sub shall have become untrue, in either case that would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (a "<u>Terminating Parent Breach</u>"); provided, that if such Terminating Parent Breach is reasonably curable by Parent within twenty (20) days after the occurrence of such Terminating Parent Breach through the exercise of its reasonable best efforts and for as long as Parent continues to exercise such reasonable best efforts, the Company may not terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 9.01(f)</u> until the earlier of the expiration of such twenty (20)-day period and the Outside Date;

(g) By written notice of the Company in accordance with <u>Section 7.02(c)</u>, if the Company shall have concurrently entered into a definitive agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal; <u>provided</u>, that the Company shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 9.01(g)</u> unless the Company has complied with <u>Section 7.02</u> and has paid, or simultaneously with the termination of this Agreement pays, the Termination Fee in accordance with <u>Section 9.03(b)</u>;

(h) By Parent or the Company, by written notice, if the Offer shall have been terminated or shall have expired (and not been extended) in accordance with its terms and the terms of this Agreement without Merger Sub being required to accept for payment any shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Offer; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.01(h) shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Acceptance Time to have occurred by such date; or

(i) By the Company, by written notice, if the Parent Preferred Units to be issued in the Offer and the Merger have not been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance, as of immediately prior to the Acceptance Time.

SECTION 9.02 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 9.01</u>, this Agreement shall forthwith become void, and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto or any of their respective Affiliates or the directors, officers, employees, agents or other Representatives of any of them, and all rights and obligations of each party hereto shall cease, except for <u>Section 7.05</u>, this <u>Section 9.02</u>, <u>Section 9.03</u> and <u>Article X</u>, all of which shall survive the termination of this Agreement, and except for any willful or intentional breach by a party of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement (which willful or intentional breach and liability therefor shall not be affected by termination of this Agreement). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, nothing shall limit or prevent any party from exercising any rights or remedies it may have under <u>Section 10.06</u> hereof in lieu of terminating this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 9.01</u>.

SECTION 9.03 Fees and Expenses.

(a) Except as otherwise set forth in this <u>Section 9.03</u>, all Transaction Costs incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring such expenses, whether or not any of the Transactions is consummated. As used in this Agreement, "<u>Transaction Costs</u>" shall include all out-of-pocket expenses (including all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, investment bankers, experts and consultants to a party hereto and its Affiliates) incurred by a party or on its behalf in connection with or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement, the preparation, printing, filing or mailing of any of the Offer Documents, the Registration Statement, the Schedule 14D-9 or the Schedule 13E-3 and all other matters related to the consummation of any of the Transactions.

(b) The Company and Parent agree that if this Agreement shall be terminated

(i) pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(d)</u> (if Parent or Merger Sub is not then in material breach of any of its obligations, representations or warranties under this Agreement), other than <u>Section 9.01(d)(iii)</u>, or

(ii) pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(g)</u>,

(iii) (A) (x) pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(b)</u> (if Parent or Merger Sub is not then in material breach of any of its obligations, representations or warranties under this Agreement) and, at any time after the date of this Agreement but prior to the Outside Date, an Acquisition Proposal shall have been publicly disclosed or otherwise becomes generally known to the public and is not withdrawn or terminated, or (y) pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(e)</u> (other than as a result of a breach of <u>Section 7.02</u>) and, at any time after the date of this Agreement and prior to the breach giving rise to the right of Parent to terminate this Agreement, an Acquisition Proposal shall have been publicly disclosed or otherwise becomes generally known to the public and is not withdrawn or terminated or (z) pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(h)</u> (and in such case the Majority of the Minority Condition was not satisfied as of the expiration or termination of the Offer) and, at any time after the date of this Agreement and prior to the expiration or terminated, and (B) in any of cases (x), (y) and (z), within twelve (12) months after the date of such termination, the Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to or consummates an Acquisition Proposal (provided that, with respect to use of the term "Acquisition Proposal" in this Section 9.03(b), all references in the definition thereof to "thirty percent (30%)" shall be deemed to be "fifty percent (50%)"), or

(iv) pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(d)(iii)</u>.

then, (1) the Company shall pay Parent the Termination Fee and shall reimburse Parent's documented Transaction Costs not to exceed \$1,000,000, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, (x) within three (3) Business Days after the Termination Date, in the case of <u>clause (i)</u>, (y) concurrently with such termination, in the case of <u>clause (ii)</u>, and (z) upon the earlier of entry into the definitive agreement with respect to, or consummation of, an Acquisition Proposal within twelve (12) months after the date of termination, in the case of <u>clause (ii)</u>, or (2) the Company shall reimburse Parent's documented Transaction Costs not to exceed \$1,000,000, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, within three (3) Business Days after the Termination Date, in the case of <u>clause (iv)</u>; <u>provided</u>, that, in the case of this <u>clause (2)</u>, if the Company within twelve (12) months after the date of such termination enters into a definitive agreement with respect to or consummates an Acquisition Proposal, the Company shall also pay Parent the Termination Fee by wire transfer of immediately available funds, upon the earlier of entry into the definitive agreement with respect to, or consummates an Acquisition Proposal, the Company shall also pay Parent the Termination Fee by wire transfer of immediately available funds, upon the earlier of entry into the definitive agreement with respect to, or consummation of, such Acquisition Proposal. In no event shall payment of more than one Termination Fee be made by the Company under this <u>Section 9.03(b)</u>. "<u>Termination Fee</u>" means \$3,800,000.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, Parent's acceptance of payment from the Company of the Termination Fee and reimbursement of Parent's documented Transaction Costs pursuant to <u>Section 9.03(b)</u> shall constitute the sole and exclusive remedy of Parent and Merger Sub against the Company and its Subsidiaries and any of their respective former, current or future general or limited partners, stockholders, members, managers, directors, officers, employees, agents, Affiliates or assignees (collectively, the "<u>Company Related Parties</u>") for all losses and damages suffered as a result of the failure of the Transactions to be consummated or for a breach or failure to perform hereunder, and upon payment of such amounts, none of the Company Related Parties shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the Transactions.

(d) The parties acknowledge that the agreements contained in this <u>Section 9.03</u> are an integral part of the Transactions and that without these agreements, the parties would not enter into this Agreement. If the Company shall fail to pay the Termination Fee or reimburse Transaction Costs when due pursuant to <u>Section 9.03(b)</u>, the Company shall reimburse Parent for all costs and expenses actually incurred or accrued by it (including reasonable fees and expenses of counsel) in connection with the collection under and enforcement of <u>Section 9.03(b)</u>.

SECTION 9.04 <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto by action taken by or on behalf of their respective Boards of Directors (in the case of Parent, the Board of Directors of the Parent GP) at any time prior to the Closing Date; <u>provided</u>, that, after the Acceptance Time, no amendment may be made that would reduce the amount or change the type of consideration into which each share of Common Stock shall be converted upon consummation of the Merger or that would result in the Merger not being consummated as promptly as practicable after the Acceptance Time. This Agreement may only be amended pursuant to a written agreement signed by each of the parties hereto; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, any such agreement by the Company shall only be effective with the approval of the Special Committee.

SECTION 9.05 <u>Waiver; Approvals</u>. At any time prior to the Closing Date, any party hereto may, subject to applicable Law, (i) extend the time for the performance of any obligation or other act of any other party hereto, (ii) waive any inaccuracy in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) subject to applicable Law and except as otherwise provided herein, waive compliance with any agreement or condition contained herein; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, any waiver or consent by the Company (including under <u>Section 2.01</u>) shall only be effective with the approval of the Special Committee. Any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby.

SECTION 9.06 <u>Exercise of Rights</u>. Subject to any requirements of <u>Section 7.02</u>, the parties to this Agreement agree that any and all rights and remedies of the Company under <u>Section 9.01</u>, <u>Section 9.02</u> (including any claim based on willful or intentional breach of this Agreement) and <u>Section 9.03</u> of this Agreement shall be exercised by the Company if so directed by the Special Committee.

ARTICLE X

GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 10.01 <u>Non Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements</u>. None of the representations and warranties in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time. This <u>Section 10.01</u> shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the parties which by its terms contemplates performance after the Effective Time.

SECTION 10.02 <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by delivery in person, by e-mail, by a recognized overnight courier service or by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this <u>Section 10.02</u>):

if to Parent or Merger Sub:

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, New York 10022 Attention: General Counsel email: lmcgill@steelpartners.com

with a copy to:

Olshan Frome Wolosky LLP 1325 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10019 Attention: Steve Wolosky, Esq. Email: swolosky@olshanlaw.com Handy & Harman Ltd. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, New York 10022 Attention: General Counsel email: mmacmanus@steelpartners.com

with a copy to:

Graubard Miller The Chrysler Building 405 Lexington Avenue - 11th Floor New York, New York 10174-1101 Attention: Paul Lucido, Esq. and David Alan Miller, Esq. Email: plucido@graubard.com and dmiller@graubard.com

SECTION 10.03 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of Law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the Transactions is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the Transactions be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

SECTION 10.04 <u>Entire Agreement; Assignment</u>. This Agreement (including the exhibits hereto), the Company Disclosure Letter and the Parent Disclosure Letter constitute the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement shall not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise without the prior written consent of the other parties, and any assignment without such consent shall be null and void, except that Parent and Merger Sub may assign all or any of their rights and obligations hereunder to any direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> no such assignment shall relieve the assigning party of its obligations hereunder.

SECTION 10.05 <u>No Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each party hereto, and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other person any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement, other than (a) as provided in <u>Section 7.03</u> (which is intended to be for the benefit of the persons covered thereby and may be enforced by such persons) and (b) after the Effective Time, the rights of Minority Holders to receive the Merger Consideration as provided in <u>Article III</u>.

SECTION 10.06 Specific Performance.

(a) The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any provision of this Agreement were not performed (including failing to take such actions as are required of it hereunder in order to consummate this Agreement) in accordance with the terms hereof, and that money damages or other legal remedies would not be an adequate remedy for any such damages. It is accordingly agreed that prior to the earlier of the Closing or the valid termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>Article IX</u>, in the event of any breach or threatened breach by the Company, Parent or Merger Sub of any of their respective covenants or obligations set forth in this Agreement, the Company (acting through the Special Committee), on the one hand, and Parent, on the other hand, shall be entitled to seek (i) an injunction or injunctions to prevent or restrain breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement by the other (as applicable) and to (ii) a decree or order of specific performance to enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of, or to enforce compliance with, the covenants and obligations of the other under this Agreement and other equitable relief.

A-54

(b) Any party seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction. The parties hereto further agree that (x) by seeking the remedies provided for in this <u>Section 10.06</u>, a party shall not in any respect waive its right to seek any other form of relief that may be available to a party under this Agreement (including monetary damages) in the event that the remedies provided for in this <u>Section 10.06</u> are not available or otherwise are not granted, and (y) nothing set forth in this <u>Section 10.06</u> shall require any party hereto to institute any Action for (or limit any party's right to institute any Action for) specific performance under this <u>Section 10.06</u> prior or as a condition to exercising any termination right under <u>Article IX</u>, nor shall the commencement of any Action pursuant to this <u>Section 10.06</u> or anything set forth in this <u>Section 10.06</u> restrict or limit any party's right to terminate this Agreement in accordance with the terms of <u>Article IX</u>, or pursue any other remedies under this Agreement that may be available then or thereafter.

(c) Each party further agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief as provided herein on the basis that any other party has an adequate remedy under Law.

SECTION 10.07 <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance with, the Laws of the State of Delaware without regard to the conflict of laws principles thereof. All Actions arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be heard and determined exclusively in any Delaware state or federal court. The parties hereto hereby (A) submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of any Delaware state or federal court for the purpose of any Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement brought by any party hereto, and (B) irrevocably waive, and agree not to assert by way of motion, defense, or otherwise, in any such Action, any claim that it is not subject personally to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts, that its property is exempt or immune from attachment or execution, that the Action is brought in an inconvenient forum, that the venue of the Action is improper, or that this Agreement or the Transactions may not be enforced in or by any of the above-named courts; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that such consent to jurisdiction is solely for the purpose referred to in this <u>Section 10.07</u> and shall not be deemed to be a general submission to the jurisdiction of such court or in the State of Delaware other than for such purposes.

SECTION 10.08 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY WAIVES TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF ANY ACTION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THAT FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS, AS APPLICABLE, BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 10.08.

SECTION 10.09 Interpretation.

(a) When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, a Section or Exhibit, such reference shall be to an Article of, a Section of, or an Exhibit to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated.

(b) The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

(c) Whenever the words "include", "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation."

(d) The words "hereof," "herein," "hereby" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

(e) All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein.

(f) The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term.

SECTION 10.10 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed and delivered (including by facsimile or .pdf transmission) in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

[Signature page follows]

A-56

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.

By: STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS GP INC. General Partner

By:	/s/ Jack L. Howard		
	Name:	Jack L. Howard	
	Title:	President	

HANDY ACQUISITION CO.

By: /s/ Jack L. Howard Name: Jack L. Howard Title: President

HANDY & HARMAN LTD.

- By: /s/ Douglas B. Woodworth
 - Name:Douglas B. WoodworthTitle:Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

EXHIBIT A

OFFER CONDITIONS

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Offer or this Agreement, but subject to applicable rules and regulations of the SEC, including Rule 14e-1(c) under the Exchange Act, Merger Sub shall not be required to accept for payment, and Parent shall not be required to pay for, any shares of Common Stock if:

(a) there shall not have been validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the Offer that number of shares of Common Stock which, when added to the shares of Common Stock, if any, already owned by Parent and its Subsidiaries, but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any shares of Common Stock tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee, would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of Common Stock (the "<u>Minimum Tender Condition</u>");

(b) there shall not have been validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the Offer that number of shares of Common Stock which (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any shares of Common Stock tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered in settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee) would represent at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of Common Stock not owned by Parent or any of its Affiliates (the "<u>Majority of the Minority Tender Condition</u>");

(c) the Registration Statement shall not have been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act, a stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued by the SEC or a proceeding for that purpose shall have been initiated or threatened in writing by the SEC;

(d) the Parent Preferred Units issuable in the Offer and the Merger shall have not been authorized for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance;

(e) the shares of Common Stock held by Dissenting Stockholders shall have exceeded ten percent (10%) of the shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Acceptance Time;

prior to such payment:

(f) any of the following conditions have occurred and shall be continuing at the time of expiration of the Offer or immediately

(i) any Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law or Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is then in effect and has the effect of making the Offer or the Merger illegal or otherwise preventing or prohibiting consummation of the Offer or the Merger;

(ii) since the date of this Agreement, there shall have occurred a Company Material Adverse Effect;

(iii) the representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement (other than the representations and warranties in Sections 4.01(a), 4.03(a), 4.04, 4.05 and 4.18) shall not be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to materiality or Company Material Adverse Effect set forth therein) as of time of expiration of the Offer as though made at and as of such time (except for the representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date, in which case as of such date), except where the failure of all such representations and warranties to be so true and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the representations and warranties of the Company in Sections 4.01(a), 4.03(a), 4.04, 4.05 and 4.18 shall not be true and correct as of time of expiration of the Offer as though made at and as of such time (except for the representations and warranties that address matters only as of such time (except for the representations and warranties that address matters only as of such time (except for the representations and warranties of the Company in Sections 4.01(a), 4.03(a), 4.04, 4.05 and 4.18 shall not be true and correct as of time of expiration of the Offer as though made at and as of such time (except for the representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date, in which case as of such date);

A-58

(iv) the Company shall have failed to perform or comply with, in any material respect, its obligations required to be performed or complied with by it under the Agreement at or before such time;

(v) the Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance with its terms; or

(vi) Parent shall have failed to receive from the Company a certificate, signed by an executive officer of the Company, certifying that none of the conditions set forth in clauses (ii), (iii) or (iv) of this paragraph (f) shall be continuing as of the expiration of the Offer.

The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of Parent and Merger Sub and may be waived by Parent or Merger Sub in whole or in part at any time and from time to time and in the sole discretion of Parent or Merger Sub (except for the Minimum Tender Condition and the Majority of the Minority Tender Condition, which are non-waivable), subject in each case to the terms of the Agreement and applicable Law. Any reference in this <u>Exhibit A</u> or in the Agreement to a condition or requirement being satisfied shall be deemed met if such condition or requirement is so waived. The foregoing conditions shall be in addition to, and not a limitation of, the rights of Parent and Merger Sub to extend, terminate and/or modify the Offer pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Agreement. The failure by Parent, Merger Sub or any other Affiliate of Parent at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights shall not be deemed a waiver of any such right with respect to particular facts and circumstances shall not be deemed a waiver with respect to any other facts and circumstances and each such right shall be deemed an ongoing right that may be asserted at any time and from time to time.

Capitalized terms used in this Exhibit A but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement to which it is attached.

A-59

ANNEX B

SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED

AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

OF

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	DEFINITIONS	B-1
SECTION 1.1.	Definitions.	B-1
SECTION 1.2.	Construction.	B-11
ARTICLE II	ORGANIZATION	B-11
SECTION 2.1.	Formation.	B-11
SECTION 2.2.	Name.	B-11
SECTION 2.3.	Registered Office; Registered Agent; Principal Office; Other Offices.	B-12
SECTION 2.4.	Purpose and Business.	B-12
SECTION 2.5.	Powers.	B-12
SECTION 2.6.	Power of Attorney.	B-12
SECTION 2.7.	Term.	B-14
SECTION 2.8.	Title to Partnership Assets.	B-14
SECTION 2.9.	Certain Undertakings Relating to the Separateness of the Partnership.	B-15
ARTICLE III	RIGHTS OF LIMITED PARTNERS	B-15
SECTION 3.1.	Limitation of Liability.	B-15
SECTION 3.2.	Management of Business.	B-15
SECTION 3.3.	Outside Activities of the Limited Partners.	B-15
SECTION 3.4.	Rights of Limited Partners.	B-16
SECTION 3.5.	Non-Voting Interests of BHC Partners.	B-16
ARTICLE IV	CERTIFICATES; RECORD HOLDERS; TRANSFER OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS	B-18
SECTION 4.1.	Certificates.	B-18
SECTION 4.2.	Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Certificates.	B-18
SECTION 4.3.	Record Holders.	B-19
SECTION 4.4.	Transfer Generally.	B-19
SECTION 4.5.	Registration and Transfer of Limited Partner Interests.	B-20
SECTION 4.6.	Transfer of the General Partner's General Partner Interest.	B-21
SECTION 4.7.	Restrictions on Transfers.	B-21
SECTION 4.8.	Redemption of Partnership Interests of Certain Limited Partners.	B-23
SECTION 4.9.	Protection of Tax Benefits.	B-24
ARTICLE V	CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND ISSUANCE OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS	B-33
SECTION 5.1.	Organizational Contributions and Issuances of Common Units.	B-33
SECTION 5.2.	Contributions by the General Partner and its Affiliates.	B-34

B-i

SECTION 5.3.	Interest and Withdrawal.	B-34
SECTION 5.4.	Establishment of Class B Common Units	B-34
SECTION 5.5.	Issuances of Additional Partnership Securities.	B-35
SECTION 5.6.	Preemptive Rights.	B-36
SECTION 5.7.	Splits and Combinations.	B-36
SECTION 5.8.	Fully Paid and Non-Assessable Nature of Limited Partner Interests.	B-37
ARTICLE VI	ALLOCATIONS AND DISTRIBUTIONS	B-38
SECTION 6.1.	Maintenance of Capital Accounts.	B-38
SECTION 6.2.	Allocations.	B-38
SECTION 6.3.	Requirement and Characterization of Distributions; Distributions to Record Holders.	B-40
ARTICLE VII	MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION OF BUSINESS	B-40
SECTION 7.1.	Management.	B-40
SECTION 7.2.	Certificate of Limited Partnership.	B-43
SECTION 7.3.	Restrictions on General Partner's Authority.	B-44
SECTION 7.4.	Expenses; Reimbursement of the General Partner; Management Fees and Expenses.	B-44
SECTION 7.5.	Outside Activities.	B-45
SECTION 7.6.	Loans from the General Partner; Loans or Contributions from the Partnership; Contracts with Affiliates; Certain	
	Restrictions on the General Partner.	B-46
SECTION 7.7.	Indemnification.	B-48
SECTION 7.8.	Liability of Indemnitees.	B-49
SECTION 7.9.	Resolution of Conflicts of Interest; Standards of Conduct and Modification of Duties.	B-50
SECTION 7.10.	Other Matters Concerning the General Partner.	B-52
SECTION 7.11.	Purchase or Sale of Partnership Securities.	B-52
SECTION 7.12.	Reliance by Third Parties.	B-53
ARTICLE VIII	BOOKS, RECORDS, ACCOUNTING AND REPORTS	B-53
SECTION 8.1.	Records and Accounting.	B-53
SECTION 8.2.	Fiscal Year.	B-54
SECTION 8.3.	Reports.	B-54
ARTICLE IX	TAX MATTERS	B-54
SECTION 9.1.	Tax Returns and Information.	B-54
SECTION 9.2.	Tax Elections.	B-55
SECTION 9.3.	Tax Controversies.	B-55
SECTION 9.4.	Withholding.	B-55
SECTION 9.5.	Election to be Treated as a Corporation.	B-55

B-ii

ARTICLE X	ADMISSION OF PARTNERS	B-56
SECTION 10.1.	Admission of Initial Limited Partner.	B-56
SECTION 10.2.	Admission of Additional Limited Partners.	B-56
SECTION 10.3.	Admission of Successor General Partner.	B-57
SECTION 10.4.	Amendment of Agreement and Certificate of Limited Partnership to Reflect the Admission of Partners.	B-57
ARTICLE XI	WITHDRAWAL OR REMOVAL OF PARTNERS	B-57
SECTION 11.1.	Withdrawal of the General Partner.	B-57
SECTION 11.2.	Removal of the General Partner.	B-59
SECTION 11.3.	Interest of Departing General Partner and Successor General Partner.	B-59
SECTION 11.4.	Withdrawal of Limited Partners.	B-60
ARTICLE XII	DISSOLUTION AND LIQUIDATION	B-61
SECTION 12.1.	Dissolution.	B-61
SECTION 12.2.	Continuation of the Business of the Partnership After Event of Withdrawal.	B-61
SECTION 12.3.	Liquidator.	B-62
SECTION 12.4.	Liquidation.	B-63
SECTION 12.5.	Cancellation of Certificate of Limited Partnership.	B-63
SECTION 12.6.	Return of Contributions.	B-63
SECTION 12.7.	Waiver of Partition.	B-64
SECTION 12.8.	Capital Account Restoration.	B-64
ARTICLE XIII	AMENDMENT OF PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT; MEETINGS; RECORD DATE	B-64
SECTION 13.1.	Amendments to be Adopted Solely by the General Partner.	B-64
SECTION 13.2.	Amendment Procedures.	B-66
SECTION 13.3.	Amendment Requirements.	B-66
SECTION 13.4.	Meetings.	B-67
SECTION 13.5.	Notice of a Meeting.	B-72
SECTION 13.6.	Record Date.	B-72
SECTION 13.7.	Adjournment.	B-72
SECTION 13.8.	Waiver of Notice; Approval of Meeting; Approval of Minutes.	B-7 2
SECTION 13.9.	Quorum.	B-73
SECTION 13.10.	Conduct of a Meeting.	B-7 3
SECTION 13.11.	Action Without a Meeting.	B-7 4
SECTION 13.12.	Voting and Other Rights.	B-7 4
SECTION 13.13.	Preferred Units.	B-75
ARTICLE XIV	MERGER	B-75
SECTION 14.1.	Authority.	B-75



SECTION 14.2.	Procedure for Merger, Consolidation or Other Business Combination.	B-75
SECTION 14.3.	Approval by Limited Partners of Merger, Consolidation or Other Business Combination.	B-76
SECTION 14.4.	Certificate of Merger or Consolidation.	B-77
SECTION 14.5.	Amendment of Partnership Agreement.	B-77
SECTION 14.6.	Effect of Merger.	B-77
SECTION 14.7.	Preferred Units.	B-78
ARTICLE XV	RIGHT TO ACQUIRE LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS	B-78
SECTION 15.1.	Right to Acquire Limited Partner Interests.	B-78
ARTICLE XVI	TERMS, RIGHTS, POWERS, PREFERENCES AND DUTIES OF PREFERRED UNITS	B-80
SECTION 16.1.	Designation.	B-80
SECTION 16.2.	Definitions.	B-80
SECTION 16.3.	Distributions.	B-82
SECTION 16.4.	Rank.	B-83
SECTION 16.5.	Redemption.	B-84
SECTION 16.6.	Allocations.	B-85
SECTION 16.7.	Voting.	В-86
SECTION 16.8.	Liquidation Rights.	B-88
SECTION 16.9.	No Duties to Series A Holders.	B-89
ARTICLE XVII	GENERAL PROVISIONS	В-90
SECTION 17.1.	Addresses and Notices.	B-90
SECTION 17.2.	Further Action.	B-90
SECTION 17.3.	Binding Effect.	B-91
SECTION 17.4.	Integration.	B-91
SECTION 17.5.	Creditors.	B-91
SECTION 17.6.	Waiver.	B-91
SECTION 17.7.	Counterparts.	B-91
SECTION 17.8.	Applicable Law.	B-91
SECTION 17.9.	Invalidity of Provisions.	B-91
SECTION 17.10.	Consent of Partners.	B-91
SECTION 17.11.	Facsimile Signatures.	B-92
SECTION 17.12.	Incorporation of Sections 2(a), 2(b) and 2(c) of the Incentive Unit Agreement into this Agreement.	B-92

B-iv

SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.

THIS SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. dated as of February 7, 2017, is entered into by and among Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., a Delaware corporation, as the General Partner and as the lawful agent and attorney-in-fact for the Limited Partners, together with any other Persons who become Partners in the Partnership or parties hereto as provided herein.

WHEREAS, the General Partner and the other parties thereto entered into that certain Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership dated as of December 31, 2008 and subsequently entered into that certain Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership, Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership, Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership and Fifth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership, each dated as of July 14, 2009 (collectively, the "Original Agreement");

WHEREAS, the General Partner desires to amend and restate the Original Agreement in its entirety to reflect various changes to the Original Agreement; and

WHEREAS, Section 13.1(i) of the Original Agreement permits the General Partner, without the approval of any Partner, any Unitholder or any other Person, to amend the Original Agreement in connection with the creation, authorization or issuance of any class or series of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities pursuant to Section 5.5 of the Original Agreement; and

WHEREAS, on May 26, 2016, Unitholders approved, by a majority of the voting power of the outstanding units entitled to vote (excluding units held by the Company or its subsidiaries), the adoption of an amendment to the Original Limited Partnership to add a provision designed to protect the tax benefits of the net operating loss carryforwards of our subsidiaries and portfolio companies;

NOW, THEREFORE, the General Partner, pursuant to its authority under Sections 13.1(i) and 13.2 and the exercise of its discretion, does hereby amend and restate the Original Agreement to provide, in its entirety, as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.1. Definitions.

The following definitions shall be for all purposes, unless otherwise clearly indicated to the contrary, applied to the terms used in this Agreement.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, the Person in question. As used herein, the term "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

"Agreement" means this Sixth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Steel Partners Holdings L.P., as it may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.

"Associate" means, when used to indicate a relationship with any Person, (a) any corporation or organization of which such Person is a director, officer or partner or is, directly or indirectly, the owner of 20% or more of any class of voting stock or other voting interest; (b) any trust or other estate in which such Person has at least a 20% beneficial interest or as to which such Person serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity; and (c) any relative or spouse of such Person, or any relative of such spouse, who has the same principal residence as such Person.

"Beneficial Owner" has the meaning assigned to such term in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act (and "Beneficially Own" shall have a correlative meaning).

"BHCA" means the U.S. Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time and any successor to such statute.

"BHC Partner" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.5.

"Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of the General Partner.

"Business Day" means each day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are authorized or required by law to close.

"Capital Account" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.1.

"Capital Account Alignment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.4(c).

"Capital Contribution" means any cash or cash equivalents or the fair market value of any other property that a Partner contributes to the Partnership pursuant to this Agreement.

"Carrying Value" means, with respect to any Partnership asset, the asset's adjusted basis for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except that the initial carrying value of assets contributed to the Partnership shall be their respective gross fair market values on the date of contribution as determined by the General Partner, and the Carrying Values of all Partnership assets shall be adjusted to equal their respective fair market values, in accordance with the rules set forth in United States Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f), except as otherwise provided herein, as of: (a) the date of the acquisition of any additional Partnership Interest by any new or existing Partner in exchange for more than a de minimis Capital Contribution; (b) the date of the distribution of more than a de minimis amount of Partnership assets to a Partner; (c) the date a Partnership Interest (other than a de minimis interest) is issued as consideration for the provision of services to or for the benefit of the Partnership by an existing Partner acting in a partner capacity, or by a new Partner acting in a partner capacity or in anticipation of being a Partner; or (e) any other date specified in the United States Treasury Regulations; provided however that adjustments pursuant to clauses (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) above shall be made only if such adjustments are deemed necessary or appropriate by the General Partner to reflect the relative economic interests of the Partners. In the case of any asset that has a Carrying Value that differs from its adjusted tax basis, Carrying Value shall be adjusted by the amount of depreciation calculated for purposes of the definitions of "Net Income" and "Net Loss" rather than the amount of depreciation determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and depreciation shall be calculated by reference to Carrying Value rather than tax basis once Carrying Value differs from tax basis.

"Cause" means a court of competent jurisdiction has entered a final, non-appealable judgment finding the General Partner liable for gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct in its capacity as a general partner of the Partnership.

"Certificate" means (a) a certificate (i) substantially in the form of Exhibit A to this Agreement, (ii) issued in global form in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Depositary or (iii) in such other form as may be adopted from time to time by the General Partner, issued by the Partnership evidencing ownership of one or more Common Units or Preferred Units or (c) a certificate, in such form as may be adopted from time to time by the General Partner, issued by the General Partner, issued by the Partnership evidencing ownership of one or more other Partnership Securities.

"Certificate of Limited Partnership" means the Certificate of Limited Partnership of the Partnership filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, as such Certificate of Limited Partnership may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.

"Class B Common Unit" means one of that certain class of Common Units with those special rights and obligations specified in this Agreement as being appurtenant to a "Class B Common Unit".

"Class C Common Unit" means one of that certain class of Common Units with those special rights and obligations specified in this Agreement and in Section 2 of the Incentive Unit Agreement as being appurtenant to a "Class C Common Unit".

"Closing Price" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(a).

"Code" means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect from time to time. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Code shall be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of any successor law.

"Combined Interest" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.3(a).

"Commission" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor thereto.

"Common Unit" means a Partnership Interest representing a fractional part of the Partnership Interests of all Limited Partners having the rights and obligations specified with respect to Common Units in this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the reference herein to "Common Units" includes Class B Common Units and Class C Common Units, but does not include the portion of Incentive Units not classified as Class C Common Units and/or regular Common Units, and the reference herein to "regular Common Units" includes all Common Units that are not Class B Common Units and are not Class C Common Units.

"Current Market Price" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(a).

"Delaware Limited Partnership Act, 6 Del. C. § 17-101, et seq., as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, and any successor to such statute.

"Departing General Partner" means a former General Partner from and after the effective date of any withdrawal or removal of such former General Partner pursuant to Sections 11.1 or 11.2.

"Depositary" means, with respect to any Units issued in global form, The Depository Trust Company and its successors and permitted assigns.

"DGCL" means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, and any successor to such statute.

"Director" means a member of the Board of Directors.

"Dissolution Event" means an event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership in accordance with Section 12.1.

"ERISA" means the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"ERISA Limited Partner" shall mean a Limited Partner that is (i) a plan subject to the provisions of Title I of ERISA, (ii) a plan that is not subject to Title I of ERISA but is subject to the prohibited transaction provisions of Section 4975 of the Code (e.g., IRAs and Keogh plans), (iii) a group trust, common or collective trust fund or insurance company separate or general account subject to ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, and (iv) a passive or private investment fund whose underlying assets include "plan assets" (such as where plans described in (i) or (ii) above own 25% or more of a class of the investment fund's equity interests determined pursuant to Section 3(42) of ERISA and any applicable regulations at 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101(f)).

"Event of Withdrawal" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.1(a).

"Exchange" means the acquisition by the Partnership of SP II in connection with which SP II Master Fund was issued Units and the Partnership acquired a 100% limited partner interest in SP II, pursuant to and in accordance with the Exchange Agreement.

"Exchange Agreement" means the Exchange Agreement, dated as of the Exchange Closing Date, between the Partnership and SP II Master Fund, as the same may be amended or modified.

"Exchange Closing Date" means the closing date of the Exchange, which occurred on January 1, 2009.

"Fiscal Year" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 8.2.

"*General Partner*" means Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its successors and permitted assigns that are admitted to the Partnership as general partner of the Partnership, in its capacity as a general partner of the Partnership (except as the context otherwise requires).

"*General Partner Interest*" means the management interest of the General Partner in the Partnership, which includes any and all benefits to which a General Partner is entitled as provided in this Agreement, together with all obligations of a General Partner to comply with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. The General Partner Interest does not have any rights to ownership or profit, or any rights to receive distributions from operations or the liquidation of the Partnership (other than with respect to any Limited Partner Interest held by it).

"Group" means a Person that with or through any of its Affiliates or Associates has any contract, arrangement, understanding or relationship for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting, exercising investment power with respect to, or disposing of any Partnership Securities with any other Person that Beneficially Owns, or whose Affiliates or Associates Beneficially Own, directly or indirectly, Partnership Interests.

"Group Member" means a Person included in the Partnership Group.

"*Incentive Unit Agreement*" means the Incentive Unit Agreement, entered into effective as of May 11, 2012, by and between the Partnership and SPH SPV-I LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"Incentive Units" means those Partnership Interests described in Section 2 of the Incentive Unit Agreement.

"Indemnitee" means (a) the General Partner, (b) any Departing General Partner, (c) the Manager, (d) any Person who is or was an Affiliate of the General Partner, any Departing General Partner or the Manager, (e) any Person who is or was a member, partner, Tax Matters Partner (as defined in the Code), officer, director, employee, agent, fiduciary or trustee of any Group Member, the General Partner, any Departing General Partner or the Manager or any Affiliate of the General Partner, any Departing General Partner or the Manager or any Affiliate of the General Partner, any Departing General Partner or the Manager or any Affiliate of the General Partner, any Departing General Partner or the Manager as an officer, director, employee, member, partner, Tax Matters Partner (as defined in the Code), agent, fiduciary or trustee of another Person; provided that a Person shall not be an Indemnitee by reason of providing, on a fee-for-services basis, trustee, fiduciary or custodial services and (g) any Person the General Partner in its sole discretion designates as an "Indemnitee" for purposes of this Agreement in connection with activities of such Person on behalf of the Partnership, its predecessor or the Partnership Group, including but not limited to individuals who served as directors of WebFinancial.

"*Independent Director*" means a Director who meets the independence standards required to serve on an audit committee of a board of directors, as established by the Securities Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder and by any National Securities Exchange on which the Common Units are listed for trading.

"Initial Limited Partner" means the Organizational Limited Partner or its designee, in each case upon being admitted to the Partnership in accordance with Section 10.1.

"Limited Partner" means, unless the context otherwise requires, the Initial Limited Partner, each additional Person that becomes a Limited Partner pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and any Departing General Partner upon the change of its status from General Partner to Limited Partner pursuant to Section 11.3, in each case, in such Person's capacity as a limited partner of the Partnership. For purposes of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, the Limited Partners shall constitute a single class or group of limited partners; provided, however, that when the term "Limited Partner" is used herein in the context of any vote or other approval, including without limitation Articles XIII and XIV, such term shall not, solely for such purpose, include any Non-Voting Interest except as may otherwise be required by law.

"Limited Partner Interest" means the ownership interest of a Limited Partner in the Partnership, which may be evidenced by Common Units, Preferred Units, Non-Voting Interests, Incentive Units or other Partnership Securities or a combination thereof or interest therein, and includes any and all benefits to which such Limited Partner is entitled as provided in this Agreement, including voting rights, together with all obligations of such Limited Partner to comply with the terms and provisions of this Agreement; provided, however, that when the term "Limited Partner Interest" is used herein in the context of any vote or other approval, including without limitation Articles XIII and XIV, such term shall not, solely for such purpose, include any Non-Voting Interest except as may otherwise be required by law.

"Liquidation Date" means (a) in the case of an event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership of the type described in clauses (a) and (b) of the first sentence of Section 12.2, the date on which the applicable time period during which the holders of Outstanding Units have the right to elect to continue the business of the Partnership has expired without such an election being made, and (b) in the case of any other event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership, the date on which such event occurs.

"Liquidation Preference" means, in respect of any Preferred Units, the "Liquidation Preference" per Preferred Unit specified for such Preferred Units.

"Liquidator" means one or more Persons selected by the General Partner to perform the functions described in Section 12.3 as liquidating trustee of the Partnership within the meaning of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

"Manager" means SP General Services LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as successor by assignment from Steel Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"Management Agreement" means the Sixth Amended and Restated Management Agreement, entered into effective as of January 1, 2015, by and among SP Corporate Services LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and the Manager.

"Merger" means the merger of WebFinancial with and into the Partnership pursuant to the Agreement of Merger, dated as of the Merger Closing Date, between WebFinancial and the Partnership, as the same may be amended or modified.

"Merger Closing Date" means the closing date of the Merger, which occurred on December 31, 2008.

"Merger Agreement" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 14.1.

"National Securities Exchange" means an exchange registered with the Commission under Section 6(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, any successor thereto and any other securities exchange (whether or not registered with the Commission under Section 6(a) of the Securities Exchange Act) or a Designated Offshore Securities Market (as such term is defined pursuant to Rule 902(b) as promulgated under the Securities Act) that the General Partner in its sole discretion shall designate as a National Securities Exchange for purposes of this Agreement.

"Net Income" and "Net Loss" for any taxable period means the taxable income or loss of the Partnership for such period as determined in accordance with the accounting method used by the Partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes with the following adjustments (without duplication): (i) any income of the Partnership that is exempt from U.S. federal income taxation and not otherwise taken into account in computing Net Income or Net Loss shall be added to such taxable income or loss; (ii) if the Carrying Value of any asset differs from its adjusted tax basis for U.S. federal income tax purposes, any depreciation, amortization or gain or loss resulting from a disposition of such asset shall be calculated with reference to such Carrying Value; (iii) upon an adjustment to the Carrying Value of any asset, pursuant to the definition of Carrying Value, the amount of the adjustment shall be included as gain or loss in computing such taxable income or loss; (iv) any expenditures of the Partnership not deductible in computing taxable income or loss, not properly capitalizable and not otherwise taken into account in computing Net Income or Net Loss pursuant to this definition shall be treated as deductible items; and (v) any item of income, gain, loss or deduction that is specially allocated for Section 704(b) book purposes pursuant to Section 5.4(e), Section 6.2(b) or Article XVI shall not be taken into account in computing Net Income or Net Loss.

"Non-Voting Interest" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.5(a).

"Notice of Election to Purchase" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(b).

"Opinion of Counsel" means a written opinion of counsel (who may be regular counsel to the Partnership or the General Partner or any of its Affiliates) with Special Director Approval.

"Organizational Limited Partner" means WebFinancial.

"Original Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

"Outstanding" means, with respect to Limited Partner Interests, all Limited Partner Interests that are issued by the Partnership and reflected as outstanding on the Partnership's books and records as of the date of determination; provided however that if at any time any Person or Group (other than the General Partner, the Manager or their respective Affiliates) Beneficially Owns 10% or more of any class of Outstanding Units, all such Units owned by such Person or Group in excess of 9.9% shall not be entitled to be voted on any matter and shall not be considered to be Outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of Limited Partners to vote on any matter (unless otherwise required by law), calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes under this Agreement (such Units shall not, however, be treated as a separate class of Partnership Securities for purposes of this Agreement); provided further that the foregoing limitation shall not apply to any Person or Group that acquired 10% or more of any Units issued by the Partnership with the prior approval of the Board of Directors. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Limited Partnership Interests owned by the Partnership or its Subsidiaries shall not be entitled to be voted on any matter hereunder where a vote of Limited Partner Interests is required and shall be disregarded for purposes of calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes under this Agreement.

"Partners" means the General Partner and the Limited Partners.

- "Partnership" means Steel Partners Holdings L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.
- "Partnership Group" means the Partnership and its Subsidiaries treated as a single consolidated entity.
- "Partnership Interest" means an interest in the Partnership, which shall include the General Partner Interest and Limited Partner Interests.

"Partnership Security" means any equity interest in the Partnership (but excluding any options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to an equity interest in the Partnership), including without limitation, Common Units, Preferred Units and Non-Voting Interests.

"Percentage Interest" means, as of any date of determination, (i) as to any holder of Common Units or Non-Voting Interests in its capacity as such, the product obtained by multiplying (a) 100% less the percentage applicable to the Units referred to in clause (ii) by (b) the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the number of Common Units or Non-Voting Interests held by such holder by (y) the total number of all Outstanding Common Units and Non-Voting Interests, and (ii) as to any holder of other Units in its capacity as such with respect to such Units, the percentage established for such Units by the General Partner as a part of the issuance of such Units. The Percentage Interest for any Preferred Units is as set forth in Article XVI.

"*Person*" means an individual or a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organization, association (including any group, organization, co-tenancy, plan, board, council or committee), government (including a country, state, county, or any other governmental or political subdivision, agency or instrumentality thereof) or other entity (or series thereof).

"Preferred Unit" means a Unit designated as a "Preferred Unit," which entitles the holder thereof to a preference with respect to the payment of distributions over Common Units as set forth in Article XVI.

"Pro Rata" means (a) when modifying Units or any class thereof, apportioned equally among all designated Units and (b) when modifying Partners or Record Holders, apportioned among all Partners or Record Holders, as the case may be, in accordance with their relative Percentage Interests.

"Purchase Date" means the date determined by the General Partner as the date for purchase of all Outstanding Units of a certain class (other than Units owned by the General Partner and its Affiliates) pursuant to Article XV.

"*Quarter*" means, unless the context requires otherwise, a fiscal quarter of the Partnership, or with respect to the first fiscal quarter of the Partnership after the Merger Closing Date or the final fiscal quarter prior to the termination of the Partnership, the portion of such fiscal quarter after the Merger Closing Date or prior to the date of termination, as applicable.

"Record Date" means the date established by the General Partner in its sole discretion for determining (a) the identity of the Record Holders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, any meeting of Limited Partners or entitled to vote by ballot or give approval of Partnership action in writing without a meeting or entitled to exercise rights in respect of any lawful action of Limited Partners or (b) the identity of Record Holders entitled to receive any report or distribution or to participate in any offer. The Record Date for distributions on any Preferred Units is as set forth in Article XVI.

"Record Holder" means the Person in whose name a Partnership Interest is registered on the books of the Transfer Agent as of the opening of business on a particular Business Day, or with respect to other Partnership Interests, the Person in whose name any such other Partnership Interest is registered on the books which the General Partner has caused to be kept as of the opening of business on such Business Day.

"Redeemable Interests" means any Partnership Interests for which a redemption notice has been given, and has not been withdrawn, pursuant to Section 4.8.

"Securities Act" means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time and any successor to such statute.

"Securities Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time and any successor to such statute.

"Special Director Approval" means approval by a majority of the Independent Directors.

"Special LP Approval" means approval by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units (excluding Voting Units owned by the Partnership, the General Partner and Persons they control).

"SP II" means Steel Partners II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

"SP II Master Fund" means Steel Partners II Master Fund L.P., a Cayman Islands limited partnership.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, (a) a corporation of which more than 50% of the voting power of shares entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors or other governing body of such corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, by such Person, by one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof, (b) a partnership (whether general or limited) in which such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person is, at the date of determination, a general or limited partner of such partnership, but only if more than 50% of the partnership interests of such partnership (or interests entitling the holder to receive more than 50% of the profits and losses of such partnership) (considering all of the partnership interests of the partnership as a single class) is owned, directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, by one or more Subsidiaries of such Person, or a combination thereof, (c) any other Person (other than a corporation or a partnership) in which such Person, or a combination thereof, directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, has (i) at least a majority ownership interest or (ii) the power to elect or direct the election of a majority of the directors or other governing body of such Person or (d) any other Person the financial information of which is consolidated by such Person for financial reporting purposes under U.S. GAAP.

"Surviving Business Entity" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 14.2(b).

"Trading Day" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(a).

"transfer" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.4(a).

"Transfer Agent" means such bank, trust company or other Person (including the General Partner or one of its Affiliates) as shall be appointed from time to time by the Partnership to act as registrar and transfer agent for the Common Units, the Preferred Units or any other Partnership Securities that may hereinafter be issued; provided that if no Transfer Agent is specifically appointed for any other Partnership Securities, the General Partner shall act in such capacity.

"Unit" means a Partnership Security that is designated as a "Unit" and shall include Common Units and Preferred Units but shall not include (i) a General Partner Interest or (ii) Non-Voting Interests.

"Unitholders" means the holders of Units.

"U.S. GAAP" means U.S. generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied or any successor accounting principles that shall be generally applicable to the Partnership or its Subsidiaries.

"Voting Unit" means a Common Unit and any other Partnership Interest that is designated as a "Voting Unit" from time to time.

"WebFinancial" means WebFinancial Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

"WebFinancial Investor" means a Person who was a shareholder of WebFinancial immediately prior to the Merger (other than any Person with respect to whose shares of WebFinancial common stock appraisal rights have been (i) properly perfected (and not withdrawn) pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL or (ii) otherwise granted by the Partnership).

"Withdrawal Opinion of Counsel" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.1(b).

SECTION 1.2. Construction.

Unless the context requires otherwise: (a) any pronoun used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the singular form of nouns, pronouns and verbs shall include the plural and vice versa; (b) references to Articles and Sections refer to Articles and Sections of this Agreement; (c) the terms "include," "includes," "including" or words of like import shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation"; and (d) the terms "hereof," "herein" or "hereunder" refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only, and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

ARTICLE II

ORGANIZATION

SECTION 2.1. Formation.

The General Partner and the Organizational Limited Partner have previously formed the Partnership as a limited partnership pursuant to the provisions of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act. Except as expressly provided to the contrary in this Agreement, the rights, duties (including fiduciary duties), liabilities and obligations of the Partners and the administration, dissolution and termination of the Partnership shall be governed by the Delaware Limited Partnership Act. All Partnership Interests shall constitute personal property of the owner thereof for all purposes and a Partner has no interest in specific Partnership property.

SECTION 2.2. Name.

The name of the Partnership shall be "Steel Partners Holdings L.P." The Partnership's business may be conducted under any other name or names as determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion, including the name of the General Partner. The words "Limited Partnership," "LP," "L.P.," "Ltd." or similar words or letters shall be included in the Partnership's name where necessary for the purpose of complying with the laws of any jurisdiction that so requires. The General Partner may change the name of the Partnership at any time and from time to time by filing an amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership (and upon any such filing this Agreement shall be deemed automatically amended to change the name of the Partnership) and shall notify the Limited Partners of such change in the regular communication to the Limited Partners next following such filing.

SECTION 2.3. Registered Office; Registered Agent; Principal Office; Other Offices.

Unless and until changed by the General Partner by filing an amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership (and upon any such filing this Agreement shall be deemed automatically amended to change the registered office and the registered agent of the Partnership), the registered office of the Partnership in the State of Delaware is located at 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, and the registered agent for service of process on the Partnership in the State of Delaware at such registered office is The Corporation Trust Company. The principal office of the Partnership is located at 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, NY 10022 or such other place as the General Partner in its sole discretion may from time to time designate by notice to the Limited Partners. The Partnership may maintain offices at such other place or places within or outside the State of Delaware as the General Partner deems necessary or appropriate. The address of the General Partner is 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, NY 10022 or such other place as the General Partner may from time to time designate by notice to the Limited Partners.

SECTION 2.4. Purpose and Business.

The purpose and nature of the business to be conducted by the Partnership shall be to (a) act as a diversified holding company and engage directly in, or enter into or form any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other arrangement to engage indirectly in, any business activity that is approved by the General Partner in its sole discretion and that lawfully may be conducted by a limited partnership organized pursuant to the Delaware Limited Partnership Act and, in connection therewith, to exercise all of the rights and powers conferred upon the Partnership pursuant to the agreements relating to such business activity; and (b) do anything necessary or appropriate to the foregoing, including the making of capital contributions or loans to a Group Member. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the General Partner shall have no duty or obligation to the Partnership or any Limited Partner or Record Holder to propose or approve, and in its discretion may decline to propose or approve, the conduct by the Partnership of any business.

SECTION 2.5. Powers.

The Partnership shall be empowered to do any and all acts and things necessary, appropriate, proper, advisable, incidental to or convenient for the furtherance and accomplishment of the purposes and business described in Section 2.4 and for the protection and benefit of the Partnership.

SECTION 2.6. Power of Attorney.

(a) Each Limited Partner and Record Holder hereby constitutes and appoints the General Partner and, if a Liquidator (other than the General Partner) shall have been selected pursuant to Section 12.3, the Liquidator, severally (and any successor to the Liquidator by merger, transfer, assignment, election or otherwise) and each of their authorized managers and officers and attorneys-in-fact, as the case may be, with full power of substitution, as his true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact, with full power and authority in his name, place and stead, to:

(i) execute, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, file and record in the appropriate public offices (A) all certificates, documents and other instruments (including this Agreement and the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all amendments or restatements hereof or thereof) that the General Partner or the Liquidator determines to be necessary or appropriate to form, qualify or continue the existence or qualification of the Partnership as a limited partnership (or a partnership in which the limited partners have limited liability) in the State of Delaware and in all other jurisdictions in which the Partnership may conduct business or own property; (B) all certificates, documents and other instruments that the General Partner or the Liquidator determines to be necessary or appropriate to reflect, in accordance with its terms, any amendment, change, modification or restatement of this Agreement authorized in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; (C) all certificates, documents and other instruments (including conveyances and a certificate of cancellation) that the General Partner or the Liquidator determines to be necessary or appropriate to reflect the dissolution and termination of the Partnership pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; (D) all certificates, documents and other instruments (including this Agreement and the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all amendments or restatements hereof or thereof) relating to the admission, withdrawal, removal or substitution of any Partner pursuant to, or other events described in, this Agreement; (E) all certificates, documents and other instruments relating to the determination of the rights, preferences and privileges of any class or series of Partnership Securities issued pursuant to Section 5.5; and (F) all certificates, documents and other instruments (including agreements and a certificate of merger or consolidation or similar certificate) relating to a merger, consolidation, combination or conversion of the Partnership pursuant to Article XIV; and

(ii) execute, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, file and record all ballots, consents, approvals, waivers, certificates, documents and other instruments that the General Partner or the Liquidator determines to be necessary or appropriate to (A) make, evidence, give, confirm or ratify any vote, consent, approval, agreement or other action that is made or given by the Partners hereunder or is consistent with the terms of this Agreement or (B) to effectuate the terms or intent of this Agreement; provided that when required by Section 13.3 or any other provision of this Agreement that establishes a certain percentage of the Limited Partners or of the Limited Partners of any class or series required to take any action, the General Partner and the Liquidator may exercise the power of attorney made in this Section 2.6(a)(ii) only after the necessary vote, consent or approval of such percentage of the Limited Partners or such class or series, as applicable.

Nothing contained in this Section 2.6(a) shall be construed as authorizing the General Partner to amend this Agreement except in accordance with Article XIII or as may be otherwise expressly provided for in this Agreement.

(b) The foregoing power of attorney is hereby declared to be irrevocable and a power coupled with an interest, and it shall survive and, to the maximum extent permitted by law, shall not be affected by the subsequent death, incompetency, disability, incapacity, dissolution, bankruptcy or termination of any Limited Partner or Record Holder and the transfer of all or any portion of such Limited Partner's or Record Holder's Partnership Interest and shall extend to such Limited Partner's or Record Holder's heirs, successors, assigns, transferees and personal representatives. Each such Limited Partner or Record Holder, to the maximum extent permitted by law, hereby waives any and all defenses that may be available to contest, negate or disaffirm the action of the General Partner or the Liquidator taken in good faith under such power of attorney. Each Limited Partner and Record Holder shall execute and deliver to the General Partner or the Liquidator may request in order to effectuate this Agreement and the purposes of the Partnership.

SECTION 2.7. Term.

The term of the Partnership commenced upon the filing of the Certificate of Limited Partnership in accordance with the Delaware Limited Partnership Act and shall continue until the dissolution of the Partnership in accordance with the provisions of Article XII. The existence of the Partnership as a separate legal entity shall continue until the cancellation of the Certificate of Limited Partnership as provided in the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

SECTION 2.8. Title to Partnership Assets.

Title to Partnership assets, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible, shall be deemed to be owned by the Partnership as an entity, and no Partner, individually or collectively, shall have any ownership interest in such Partnership assets or any portion thereof. Title to any or all of the Partnership assets may be held in the name of the Partnership, the General Partner, one or more of its Affiliates, or with Special Director Approval, one or more nominees, as the General Partner may determine. The General Partner hereby declares and warrants that any Partnership assets for which record title is held in the name of the General Partner or one or more of its Affiliates or one or more nominees shall be held by the General Partner or such Affiliate or nominee for the sole and exclusive use and benefit of the Partnership in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; provided however, that the General Partner shall use reasonable efforts to cause record title to such assets (other than those assets in respect of which the General Partner in its sole discretion determines that the expense and difficulty of conveyancing makes transfer of record title to the Partnership impracticable) to be vested in the Partnership as soon as reasonably practicable; provided further that prior to the withdrawal or removal of the General Partner or as soon thereafter as practicable, the General Partner shall use reasonable efforts to effect the transfer of record title to the Partnership and, prior to any such transfer, will provide for the use of such assets in a manner satisfactory to the General Partner. All Partnership assets shall be recorded as the property of the Partnership in its books and records, irrespective of the name in which record title to such Partnership assets is held.

SECTION 2.9. Certain Undertakings Relating to the Separateness of the Partnership.

(a) *Separateness Generally.* The Partnership shall conduct its business and operations separate and apart from those of any other Person (other than the General Partner) in accordance with this Section 2.9.

(b) *Separate Records*. The Partnership shall maintain (i) its books and records, (ii) its accounts, and (iii) its financial statements separate from those of any other Person except its consolidated Subsidiaries.

(c) *No Effect*. Failure by the General Partner or the Partnership to comply with any of the obligations set forth above shall not affect the status of the Partnership as a separate legal entity, with its separate assets and separate liabilities.

ARTICLE III

RIGHTS OF LIMITED PARTNERS

SECTION 3.1. Limitation of Liability.

The Limited Partners shall have no liability under this Agreement except as expressly provided in this Agreement or the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

SECTION 3.2. Management of Business.

No Limited Partner, in its capacity as such, shall by virtue of its rights, powers or authority under this Agreement, be deemed to participate in the operation, management or control (within the meaning of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act) of the Partnership's business, transact any business in the Partnership's name or have the power to sign documents for or otherwise bind the Partnership. Any action taken by any Affiliate of the General Partner or any Limited Partner or any officer, director, employee, manager, member, general partner, agent or trustee of the General Partner, any Limited Partner or any off their respective Affiliates, or any officer, director, employee, manager, member, general partner, agent or trustee of a Group Member, in its capacity as such, shall not be deemed to be participation in the control of the business of the Partnership by a limited partner of the Partnership (within the meaning of Section 17-303(a) of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act) and shall not affect, impair or eliminate the limitations on the liability of the Limited Partners under this Agreement.

SECTION 3.3. Outside Activities of the Limited Partners.

Any Limited Partner, directly or indirectly, through Affiliates or otherwise, shall be entitled to and may have business interests and engage in business activities in addition to those relating to the Partnership, including business interests and activities in direct competition with the Partnership Group. Neither the Partnership nor any of the other Partners shall have any rights by virtue of this Agreement or otherwise in any business ventures, direct or indirect, of any kind or character, of any Limited Partner, its Affiliates or otherwise.

SECTION 3.4. Rights of Limited Partners.

(a) In addition to other rights provided by this Agreement or by applicable law, and except as limited by Sections 3.4(b) and (c), each Limited Partner shall have the right, upon written demand, and for not later than five days following such demand, at such Limited Partner's expense:

(i) promptly after its becoming available, to obtain a copy of the Partnership's U.S. federal, state and local income tax returns for each year; and

(ii) to obtain a copy of this Agreement and the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all amendments thereto, together with a copy of the executed copies of all powers of attorney pursuant to which this Agreement, the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all amendments thereto have been executed.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Limited Partner shall be entitled to obtain a list of the names or addresses of the Limited Partners; provided, however, that if a Limited Partner has made or intends to make or is considering making a proxy solicitation in connection with a meeting of the Limited Partners or action by written consent, or otherwise desires to communicate with Limited Partners, then upon the written request by any Limited Partner or Record Holder of Units entitled to vote at the meeting or to execute a written consent, and upon the execution of a customary confidentiality agreement, and for the limited Partners or flore therein, the General Partner shall either (i) provide the requesting Limited Partner or Record Holder with a list of the names and addresses of the Limited Partners or (ii) mail the requesting Limited Partner's or Record Holder's materials to the Limited Partners in connection with such meeting of the Limited Partners or action by written consent.

(c) The General Partner may keep confidential from the Limited Partners, for such period of time as the General Partner determines in its sole discretion, (i) any information that the General Partner reasonably believes to be in the nature of trade secrets or (ii) other information the disclosure of which the General Partner believes (A) is not in the best interests of the Partnership Group, (B) could damage the Partnership Group or its business or (C) that any Group Member is required by law or by agreement with any third party to keep confidential (other than agreements with Affiliates of the Partnership the primary purpose of which is to circumvent the obligations set forth in this Section 3.4).

SECTION 3.5. Non-Voting Interests of BHC Partners.

(a) Any Limited Partner Interest held for its own account by a BHC Partner that is determined at the time of admission of such BHC Partner to be in excess of 4.99% (or such lesser or greater percentage as may be permitted under Section 4(c)(6) of the BHCA or other applicable law) of the total Limited Partner Interests, excluding, for purposes of calculating this percentage, portions of any other Limited Partner Interests that are non-voting interests pursuant to this Section 3.5 (collectively, the "*Non-Voting Interests*"), shall be a Non-Voting Interest (whether or not subsequently transferred in whole or in part to any other Person except as provided in Section 3.5(d)). Upon the admission of any additional Limited Partner to the Partnership or any reduction of the total Limited Partner Interests (whether as a result of repurchases of Limited Partner Interests by the Partnership or otherwise), recalculation of the Limited Partner Interests held by all BHC Partner shall be made, and only that portion of the total Limited Partner Interests held by each BHC Partner (which shall include, solely for the purpose of calculating the total Limited Partner Interest of such BHC Partner, any Limited Partner Interest other than a Non-Voting Interest previously transferred by such BHC Partner to a Person who was a Limited Partner at the time of transfer) that is determined as of the date of such admission or reduction to be in excess of 4.99% (or such lesser or greater percentage as may be permitted under Section 4(c)(6) of the BHCA or other applicable law) of the total Limited Partner Interests, excluding Non-Voting Interests as of such date, shall be a Non-Voting Interest. Non-Voting Interests shall not be ensidered to be Outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of Limited Partners to vote on any matter (unless otherwise required by law), calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes under this Agreement.



(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the term "*BHC Partner*" shall mean any Limited Partner that is a bank holding company or a financial holding company, as defined in the BHCA or a non-bank subsidiary of such holding company and that receives its Limited Partner Interest as a distribution by SP II Master Fund or any of its Affiliates following the Exchange. For the avoidance of doubt, the term "BHC Partner" shall not include any Limited Partner that does not receive its Limited Partner Interest as a distribution by SP II Master Fund or any of its Affiliates following the Exchange, regardless of whether it is a bank holding company or a financial holding company under the BHCA.

(c) Upon the request of any BHC Partner owning any Non-Voting Interests, the Partnership shall issue to such BHC Partner one or more certificates evidencing such Non-Voting Interests with such restrictive legends, including legends regarding the voting restrictions of the Non-Voting Interests, as the General Partner shall determine in its sole discretion.

(d) A Non-Voting Interest shall cease to be a Non-Voting Interest and shall be entitled to the full voting and approval rights of Common Units or Preferred Units, as applicable, in the event that such Non-Voting Interest is transferred: (i) to the public in an offering registered under the Securities Act; (ii) in a transaction pursuant to Rule 144 or Rule 144A under the Securities Act in which no person acquires more than 2% of the Partnership's total Limited Partner Interests; or (iii) in a single transaction to a third party who acquires at least a majority of the Partnership's total Limited Partner Interests without regard to the transfer of any Non-Voting Interests.

(e) Except as provided in this Section 3.5 and elsewhere in this Agreement, a Limited Partner Interest evidenced by a Non-Voting Interest shall be identical in all regards to a Limited Partner Interest evidenced by Common Units or Preferred Units, as applicable.

ARTICLE IV

CERTIFICATES; RECORD HOLDERS; TRANSFER OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

SECTION 4.1. Certificates.

Upon the Partnership's issuance of Common Units or Preferred Units to any Person, the Partnership shall issue, upon the request of such Person, one or more Certificates in the name of such Person evidencing the number of such Common Units or Preferred Units, as applicable, being so issued. In addition, (a) upon the General Partner's request, the Partnership shall issue to it one or more Certificates in the name of the General Partner evidencing its General Partner Interest and (b) upon the request of any Person owning any Partnership Securities other than Common Units or Preferred Units, the Partnership shall issue to such Person one or more certificates evidencing such Partnership Securities other than Common Units or Preferred Units. Certificates shall be executed on behalf of the Partnership by the General Partner (and by any appropriate officer of the General Partner on behalf of the General Partner).

No Certificate evidencing Common Units or Preferred Units shall be valid for any purpose until it has been countersigned by the Transfer Agent, which the Partnership shall cause to occur as promptly as possible; provided however that if the General Partner elects to issue Common Units or Preferred Units in global form, the Certificates evidencing Common Units or Preferred Units, as applicable, shall be valid upon receipt of a certificate from the Transfer Agent certifying that the Certificates evidencing Common Units or Preferred Units, as applicable, have been duly registered in accordance with the directions of the Partnership.

SECTION 4.2. Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Certificates.

(a) If any mutilated Certificate evidencing Units is surrendered to the Transfer Agent or any mutilated Certificate evidencing other Partnership Securities is surrendered to the General Partner, the appropriate officers of the General Partner on behalf of the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership shall execute, and, if applicable, the Transfer Agent shall countersign and deliver in exchange therefor, a new Certificate evidencing the same number and type of Partnership Securities as the Certificate so surrendered.

(b) The appropriate officers of the General Partner on behalf of the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership shall execute and deliver, and, if applicable, the Transfer Agent shall countersign a new Certificate in place of any Certificate previously issued if the Record Holder of the Certificate:

(i) makes proof by affidavit, in form and substance satisfactory to the General Partner, that a previously issued Certificate has been lost, destroyed or stolen;

(ii) requests the issuance of a new Certificate before the General Partner has notice that the Certificate has been acquired by a purchaser for value in good faith and without notice of an adverse claim;

(iii) if requested by the General Partner, delivers to the General Partner a bond, in form and substance satisfactory to the General Partner, with surety or sureties and with fixed or open penalty as the General Partner, in its sole discretion, may direct to indemnify the Partnership, the Partners, the General Partner and, if applicable, the Transfer Agent against any claim that may be made on account of the alleged loss, destruction or theft of the Certificate; and

(iv) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the General Partner.

If a Record Holder fails to notify the General Partner within a reasonable period of time after he has notice of the loss, destruction or theft of a Certificate, and a transfer of the Limited Partner Interests represented by the Certificate is registered before the Partnership, the General Partner or the Transfer Agent receives such notification, the Record Holder shall be precluded from making any claim against the Partnership, the General Partner or the Transfer Agent for such transfer or for a new Certificate.

(c) As a condition to the issuance of any new Certificate under this Section 4.2, the General Partner may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Transfer Agent or counsel to the Partnership, if applicable) reasonably connected therewith.

SECTION 4.3. Record Holders.

The Partnership shall be entitled to recognize the Record Holder as the owner with respect to any Partnership Interest and, accordingly, shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such Partnership Interest on the part of any other Person, regardless of whether the Partnership shall have actual or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by law or any applicable rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which such Partnership Interests are listed for trading. Without limiting the foregoing, when a Person (such as a broker, dealer, bank, trust company or clearing corporation or an agent of any of the foregoing) is acting as nominee, agent or in some other representative capacity for another Person in acquiring and/or holding Partnership Interests, as between the Partnership on the one hand, and such other Persons on the other, such representative Person shall be the Record Holder of such Partnership Interest.

SECTION 4.4. Transfer Generally.

(a) The term "transfer," when used in this Agreement with respect to a Partnership Interest, shall be deemed to refer to a transaction (i) by which the General Partner assigns its General Partner Interest to another Person who becomes the General Partner, and includes a sale, assignment, gift, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, mortgage, exchange, or any other disposition by law or otherwise or (ii) by which the holder of a Limited Partner Interest to another Person, and includes a sale, assignment, gift, exchange or any other disposition by law or otherwise, including any transfer upon foreclosure of any pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation or mortgage (but does not include any indirect transfers, such as due to a transfer of any interest in a Limited Partner).

(b) No Partnership Interest shall be transferred, in whole or in part, except in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Article IV and, if applicable, Section 5.4(d) or Section 2(a)(ix) of the Incentive Unit Agreement. Any transfer or purported transfer of a Partnership Interest not made in accordance with this Article IV and, if applicable, Section 5.4(d) or Section 5.4(d) or Section 2(a)(ix) of the Incentive Unit Agreement. Any transfer or purported transfer of a Partnership Interest not made in accordance with this Article IV and, if applicable, Section 5.4(d) or Section 2(a)(ix) of the Incentive Unit Agreement shall be null and void.

(c) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent a disposition by any member of the General Partner of any or all of the issued and outstanding limited liability company or other interests in the General Partner.

SECTION 4.5. Registration and Transfer of Limited Partner Interests.

(a) The General Partner shall keep or cause to be kept on behalf of the Partnership a register in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe and subject to the provisions of Section 4.5(b), the Partnership will provide for the registration and transfer of Limited Partner Interests. The Transfer Agent is hereby appointed registrar and transfer agent for the purpose of registering Common Units and Preferred Units and transfers of such Units as herein provided. The Partnership shall not recognize transfers of Certificates evidencing Limited Partner Interests unless such transfers are effected in the manner described in this Section 4.5. Upon surrender of a Certificate for registration of transfer of any Limited Partner Interests evidenced by a Certificate, and subject to the provisions of Section 4.5(b), the appropriate officers of the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership shall execute and deliver, and in the case of Common Units and Preferred Units, the Transfer Agent shall countersign and deliver, in the name of the holder or the designated transferee or transferees, as required pursuant to the holder's instructions, one or more new Certificates evidencing the same aggregate number and type of Limited Partner Interests as was evidenced by the Certificate so surrendered.

(b) The Partnership shall not recognize any transfer of Limited Partner Interests evidenced by Certificates until the Certificates evidencing such Limited Partner Interests are surrendered for registration of transfer. No charge shall be imposed by the General Partner for such transfer; provided that as a condition to the issuance of any new Certificate under this Section 4.5, the General Partner may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed with respect thereto.

(c) Subject to (i) the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.5, (ii) Section 4.3, (iii) Section 4.7, (iv) with respect to any series of Limited Partner Interests, the provisions of any statement of designations or amendment to this Agreement establishing such series, (v) any contractual provisions binding on any Limited Partner and (vi) provisions of applicable law including the Securities Act, Limited Partnership Interests shall be freely transferable. Partnership Interests may also be subject to any transfer restrictions contained in any employee related policies or equity benefit plans, programs or practices adopted on behalf of the Partnership pursuant to Section 7.4(e) and under which such interests were issued.

SECTION 4.6. Transfer of the General Partner's General Partner Interest.

(a) Subject to Section 4.6(c) below, the Partnership shall not transfer all or any part of its interests in the General Partner, and the General Partner shall not transfer all or any part of its General Partner Interest to a Person (other than the Partnership or a Subsidiary of the Partnership) unless such transfer (i) has been approved by the prior written consent or vote of Limited Partners holding at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner or its Affiliates), (ii) is of all, but not less than all, of its General Partner Interest to (A) an Affiliate of the General Partner (other than an individual) or (B) subject to Special Director Approval, another Person (other than an individual) in connection with the merger or consolidation of the General Partner with or into another Person (other than an individual) or the transfer by the General Partner of all, but not less than all, of its General Partner Interest to another Person (other than an individual) or the transfer by the General Partner of all, but not less than all, of its General Partner Interest to another Person (other than an individual) or the transfer by the General Partner of all, but not less than all, of its General Partner Interest to another Person (other than an individual) or (iii) the transfer by Steel Partners II GP LLC of the General Partnership Interest to Steel Partners Holdings GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Partnership pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Agreement. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Limited Partnership Interests issued to the General Partner pursuant to Section 5.1(d), shall be freely transferable by Steel Partners II GP LLC to any successor General Partner.

(b) Subject to Section 4.6(c) below, in the event the Management Agreement is terminated, the General Partner may transfer all or any part of its General Partner Interest without Unitholder approval.

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no transfer by the General Partner of all or any part of its General Partner Interest to another Person shall be permitted unless (i) the transferee agrees to assume the rights and duties of the General Partner under this Agreement and to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement and (ii) the Partnership receives an Opinion of Counsel that such transfer would not result in the loss of limited liability of any Limited Partner. In the case of a transfer pursuant to and in compliance with this Section 4.6, the transferee or successor (as the case may be) shall, subject to compliance with the terms of Section 10.3, be admitted to the Partnership as the General Partner effective immediately prior to the transfer of such General Partner Interest, and the business of the Partnership shall continue without dissolution.

SECTION 4.7. Restrictions on Transfers.

(a) Except as provided in Section 4.7(c) below, but notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article IV, no transfer of any Partnership Interests shall be made if such transfer would (i) violate the then applicable U.S. federal or state securities laws or rules and regulations of the Commission, any state securities commission or any other governmental authority with jurisdiction over such transfer, (ii) terminate the existence or qualification of the Partnership under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, (iii) cause the Partnership to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes (to the extent not already so treated or taxed), or (iv) cause the Partnership to be subjected to the provisions of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

(b) The General Partner may impose restrictions on the transfer of Partnership Interests if it receives an Opinion of Counsel that such restrictions are necessary to avoid a significant risk of (i) the Partnership becoming taxable as a corporation or otherwise becoming taxable as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (ii) the Partnership being subjected to the provisions of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. The General Partner may impose such restrictions by amending this Agreement; provided however, that any amendment that would result in the delisting or suspension of trading of any class of Limited Partner Interests on the principal National Securities Exchange on which such class of Limited Partner Interests is then traded must have, prior to such amendment being effected, Special LP Approval.

(c) Nothing contained in this Article IV, or elsewhere in this Agreement, shall preclude the settlement of any transactions involving Partnership Interests entered into through the facilities of any National Securities Exchange on which such Partnership Interests are listed for trading.

(d) Each Certificate evidencing Partnership Interests shall bear a conspicuous legend in substantially the following form or such other form as the General Partner shall determine in its sole discretion:

THE HOLDER OF THIS SECURITY ACKNOWLEDGES FOR THE BENEFIT OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. THAT THIS SECURITY MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IF SUCH TRANSFER WOULD (A) VIOLATE THE THEN APPLICABLE FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER SUCH TRANSFER, (B) TERMINATE THE EXISTENCE OR QUALIFICATION OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, C) CAUSE STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. TO BE TREATED AS AN ASSOCIATION TAXABLE AS A CORPORATION OR OTHERWISE TO BE TAXED AS AN ENTITY FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES (TO THE EXTENT NOT ALREADY SO TREATED OR TAXED), OR (D) CAUSE STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. TO BE SUBJECTED TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE U.S. INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AS AMENDED. STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS GP INC., THE GENERAL PARTNER OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P., MAY IMPOSE ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS ON THE TRANSFER OF THIS SECURITY IF IT RECEIVES AN OPINION OF COUNSEL THAT SUCH RESTRICTIONS ARE NECESSARY TO AVOID A SIGNIFICANT RISK OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. BECOMING TAXABLE AS A CORPORATION OR OTHERWISE BECOMING TAXABLE AS AN ENTITY FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES OR CAUSING STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. TO BE SUBJECTED TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE U.S. INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AS AMENDED. THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH ABOVE SHALL NOT PRECLUDE THE SETTLEMENT OF ANY TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THIS SECURITY ENTERED INTO THROUGH THE FACILITIES OF ANY NATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE ON WHICH THIS SECURITY IS TRADED.

SECTION 4.8. Redemption of Partnership Interests of Certain Limited Partners.

(a) If at any time the General Partner shall obtain an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the ownership by a Limited Partner of a Limited Partner Interest would cause the Partnership or the General Partner to be in violation of, or to the effect that such Limited Partner is in violation of, the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, the U.S. Money Laundering Act of 1986, the U.S. International Money Laundering Abatement and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act of 2001, the USA Patriot Act, or any other law or regulation to which the Partnership, the General Partner, or such Limited Partner's investment in the Partnership may be subject from time to time, or, if at any time the General Partner, in its sole discretion, determines that the ownership by a Limited Partner that is an ERISA Limited Partner would create a substantial likelihood that the assets of the Partnership would be deemed to be "plan assets" for purposes of ERISA or the Code, or, if at any time the General Partner, in its sole discretion, determines that the ownership by a Limited Partner would create a substantial likelihood that the assets of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or if at any time a Limited Partner fails to furnish information requested within the 30-day period specified in Section 4.8(b), the General Partner, in its sole discretion, may cause the Partnership to redeem the Limited Partner Interest of such Limited Partner as follows:

(i) The General Partner shall, not later than the 30th day before the date fixed for redemption, give notice of redemption to the Limited Partner, at its last address designated on the records of the Partnership or the Transfer Agent, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid. The notice shall be deemed to have been given when so mailed. The notice shall specify the Redeemable Interests, the date fixed for redemption, the place of payment, that payment of the redemption price will be made upon the redemption of the Redeemable Interests (or, if later in the case of Redeemable Interests evidenced by Certificates, upon surrender of the Certificates evidencing such Redeemable Interests) and that on and after the date fixed for redemption no further allocations or distributions to which the Limited Partner would otherwise be entitled in respect of the Redeemable Interests will accrue or be made.

(ii) The aggregate redemption price for Redeemable Interests shall be an amount equal to the Current Market Price (the date of determination of which shall be the date fixed for redemption) of Limited Partner Interests of the class to be so redeemed multiplied by the number of Limited Partner Interests of each such class included among the Redeemable Interests. The redemption price shall be paid as determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion, in cash or by delivery of a promissory note of the Partnership in the principal amount of the redemption price, bearing interest annually at the midterm applicable federal rate for the month of the redemption as defined in Section 1274(d) of the Code and payable in five equal annual installments of principal together with accrued interest, commencing one year after the redemption date.

(iii) The Limited Partner or its duly authorized representative shall be entitled to receive the payment for Redeemable Interests at the place of payment specified in the notice of redemption on the redemption date (or, if later in the case of Redeemable Interests evidenced by Certificates, upon surrender by or on behalf of the Limited Partner, at the place specified in the notice of redemption, of the Certificates, evidencing the Redeemable Interests, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by an assignment duly executed in blank).

(iv) After the redemption date, Redeemable Interests shall no longer constitute issued and Outstanding Limited Partner Interests.

(b) Each Limited Partner shall, upon written request from the General Partner, promptly furnish to the General Partner such information as the General Partner may reasonably request from time to time in order to make a determination pursuant to this Section 4.8, but in no event later than 30 days after such request.

(c) The provisions of this Section 4.8 shall also be applicable to Limited Partner Interests held by a Limited Partner as nominee of a Person.

SECTION 4.9. Protection of Tax Benefits.

(a) The following capitalized terms have the following meanings when used in this Section 4.9 with initial capital letters (and any references to any portions of Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T shall include any successor provisions):

- (i) "Agent" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.9(e).
- (ii) "Effective Date" means the date this Agreement is amended and restated to include this Section 4.9.

(iii) "Excess Security" means any Partnership Instrument that, in whole or in part and/or together with one or more other Partnership Instruments, gives rise to or is otherwise the subject of (or, but for the application of this Section 4.9, would give rise to or otherwise would be the subject of) a Prohibited Transfer. If a Partnership Instrument becomes an Excess Security, in whole or in part, as a result of a Person's Percentage Subsidiary Ownership in a Subsidiary, such Partnership Instrument shall remain and continue to be treated as an Excess Security, without regard to any concurrent or subsequent reduction in such Person's Percentage Subsidiary Ownership of the Subsidiary.

(iv) "Expiration Date" means the earliest of (A) the close of business on the date that is the day after the third anniversary of the Effective Date, (B) the repeal of Section 382 of the Code or any successor statute if the Board of Directors determines that this Section 4.9 is no longer necessary or desirable for the preservation of any Tax Benefits, (C) the close of business on the first day of a taxable year of the Partnership as to which the Board of Directors determines that no Tax Benefits may be carried forward or (D) such date as the Board of Directors shall fix in accordance with Section 4.9(m).

(v) "Ownership Limit" means, as determined with respect to a Person from time to time, (A) in the case of a Subsidiary, 4.25 percent of all interests that are treated as a direct or indirect ownership interest pursuant to Treas. Regs. § 1.382-2T(f)(8) or (15) and (B) in the case of SPH Corporation, 4.25 percent, or, if and for so long as such Person has any Percentage Subsidiary Ownership (as determined from time to time) in any Subsidiary, such lesser percentage such that, after taking into account such Person's Percentage Subsidiary Ownership of any Subsidiary, such Person would not be a Prohibited Subsidiary Owner with respect to any Subsidiary.

(vi) "Partnership Instrument" means each of (A) any Limited Partner Interest and (B) any warrant, right, or option (including, but not limited to, any option within the meaning Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(h)(4)(v) or Treas. Reg. § 1.382-4(d)(9)) to purchase a Limited Partner Interest.

(vii) "Percentage Ownership" means, as determined with respect to SPH Corporation from time to time, the Stock Ownership of any Person in SPH Corporation, as determined to yield the maximum percentage under Section 382 of the Code and Treasury Regulations issued thereunder (including, but not limited to, Treas. Regs. § 1.382-2T(g), (h), (j) and (k) and Treas. Reg. § 1.382-4) and any other applicable administrative or judicial authority, all as may be amended from time to time.

(viii) "Percentage Subsidiary Ownership" means, as determined with respect to any Subsidiary from time to time, the Stock Ownership of any Person in the Subsidiary, as determined to yield the maximum percentage under Section 382 of the Code and Treasury Regulations issued thereunder (including, but not limited to, Treas. Regs. § 1.382-2T(g), (h), (j) and (k) and Treas. Reg. § 1.382-4) and any other applicable administrative or judicial authority, all as may be amended from time to time.

(ix) "Person" means any individual, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, firm, corporation, unincorporated association or organization, trust, any group of any of the foregoing having a formal or informal understanding among themselves to make a "coordinated acquisition" of Partnership Instruments, Stock of a Subsidiary or Stock of SPH Corporation within the meaning of Treas. Reg. § 1.382-3(a)(1) or who are otherwise treated as an "entity" within the meaning of Treas. Reg. § 1.382-3(a)(1), and any successor (by merger or otherwise) of any such entity or group.

(x) "Prohibited Distributions" means any and all distributions paid by the Partnership pursuant to Section 6.3 of this Agreement with respect to any Excess Securities received by a Purported Transferee.

(xi) "Prohibited Owner" means, in the case of SPH Corporation, a Person that, as a result of any Transfer, is or, but for the application of this Section 4.9, would be a "5-percent shareholder" of SPH Corporation pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(g). For purposes of applying the preceding sentence to a Person, Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(g) shall be applied by replacing "5-percent" and "five percent" with the Ownership Limit applicable to SPH Corporation in the case of such Person.

(xii) "Prohibited Subsidiary Owner" means, in the case of any Subsidiary, a Person that is or, but for the application of this Section 4.9, would be a "5-percent shareholder" of the Subsidiary pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(g). For purposes of applying the preceding sentence to a Person, Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(g) shall be applied by replacing "5-percent" and "five percent" with the Ownership Limit applicable to the Subsidiary in the case of such Person.

(xiii) "Prohibited Transfer" means any Transfer or purported Transfer of Partnership Instruments to the extent that such Transfer is or would be prohibited and/or void under this Section 4.9.

(xiv) "Public Group" has the meaning set forth in Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(f)(13).

- (xv) "Purported Transferee" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.9(d).
- (xvi) "Remedial Holder" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.9(g).

(xvii) "SPH Corporation" means the Partnership treated as if it were a corporation solely for purposes of Section 382 of the administration of this Section 4.9.

(xviii) "Stock" and/or "Ownership Interest" means (A) in the case of any Subsidiary, any interest that would be treated as "stock" of a Subsidiary pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(f)(18) and any interest that would be treated as a direct or indirect ownership interest pursuant to Treas. Regs. § 1.382-2T(f)(8) or (15) and (B) in the case of SPH Corporation, any Partnership Instrument or other interest in the Partnership that would be treated as "stock" of SPH Corporation pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.382-2T(f)(18) and any interest that would be treated as a direct or indirect ownership interest pursuant to Treas. Regs. § 1.382-2T(f)(8) or (15) had such Partnership Instrument or other interest been originally issued by SPH Corporation.

(xix) "Stock Ownership" and "Ownership Interest" means any direct or indirect ownership of Stock of SPH Corporation or of any Subsidiary, including any ownership by virtue of application of constructive ownership rules, with such direct, indirect and constructive ownership determined under the provisions of Section 382 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any ownership whereby a Person owns Stock pursuant to a "coordinated acquisition" treated as a single "entity" as defined in Treas. Reg. § 1.382-3(a)(1), or such Stock is otherwise aggregated with Stock owned by such Person pursuant to the provisions of Section 382 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.

(xx) "Subsidiary" means, as determined from time to time, a corporation or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes in which the Partnership has any Stock Ownership, regardless of whether such corporation or other entity has Tax Benefits.

(xxi) "Tax Benefits" means, as may be determined with respect to any Subsidiary from time to time, the net operating loss carryforwards, capital loss carryforwards, general business credit carryforwards, alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards and foreign tax credit carryforwards, as well as any loss or deduction attributable to a "net unrealized built-in loss" of such Subsidiary, within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code.

(xxii) "Transfer" means (A) whether direct or indirect, any transfer, sale, assignment, issuance, redemption, gift, bequest, pledge, lien, mortgage or other encumbrance or disposition (irrespective of whether any of the foregoing is effected voluntarily, by operation of law or otherwise, or whether inter vivos or upon death) of a Partnership Instrument (including, but not limited to, a Partnership Interest that is an Excess Security), or (B) any other event, occurrence, action or circumstance taken or caused by a Person (other than the Partnership or a Subsidiary) that alters the Percentage Ownership or Percentage Subsidiary Ownership of any Person. A Transfer also shall include the creation or grant of an option (including an option within the meaning of Treas. Reg. § 1.382-4(d)). For the avoidance of doubt, a Transfer shall not include the creation or grant of an option by the Partnership, nor shall a Transfer include the issuance of Partnership Instruments by the Partnership (unless such creation or grant of an option by the Partnership is treated as the issuance of an Ownership Interest pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.382-4(d)).

(xxiii) "Transferee" means any transferee in the Transfer of Partnership Instrument.

(xxiv) "Treasury Regulations" or "Treas. Reg." means the regulations, including temporary regulations or any successor regulations, promulgated under the Code, as amended from time to time.

(b) From and after the Effective Date of this Section 4.9, any Transfer or attempted Transfer with respect to a Partnership Instrument prior to the Expiration Date and any Transfer or attempted Transfer with respect to a Partnership Instrument pursuant to an agreement entered into prior to the Expiration Date shall be prohibited and shall be void ab initio if and to the extent that, as a result of such Transfer or attempted Transfer (or any series of related Transfers or attempted Transfers), either (i) any Person would become a Prohibited Owner or (ii) the Percentage Ownership (as determined immediately prior to any such Transfer or attempted Transfer (or to the start of any series of related Transfers or attempted Transfer) of any Prohibited Owner would be increased. The prior sentence is not intended to prevent Partnership Instruments from being DTC-eligible and shall not preclude the settlement of any transaction in Partnership Instruments entered into through the facilities of a national securities exchange; provided, however, that the Partnership Instruments and parties involved in such transaction shall remain subject to the provisions of this Section 4.9 in respect of such transaction.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the restrictions set forth in Section 4.9(b) shall not apply to an attempted Transfer that would otherwise be a Prohibited Transfer if the transferor or the Transferee obtains the written approval of the Board of Directors or a duly authorized committee thereof.

As a condition to granting its approval pursuant to this Section 4.9(c), the Board of Directors may, in its discretion, require (at the expense of the transferor and/or Transferee) an opinion of counsel selected by the Board of Directors that the Transfer shall not result in a limitation on the use of any Tax Benefits as a result of the application of Section 382 of the Code; *provided* that the Board of Directors may grant such approval notwithstanding the effect of such approval on such Tax Benefits if it determines that the approval is in the best interests of the Partnership. The Board of Directors may grant its approval in whole or in part with respect to such Transfer and may impose any conditions that it deems reasonable and appropriate in connection with such approval, including, without limitation, restrictions on the ability of any Transfere to Transfer Partnership Instruments acquired through a Transfer. Approvals of the Board of Directors hereunder may be given prospectively or retroactively. The Board of Directors, to the fullest extent permitted by law, may exercise the authority granted by this Section 4.9 through duly authorized officers or agents of the General Partner. Nothing in this Section 4.9(c) shall be construed to limit or restrict the Board of Directors in the exercise of its fiduciary duties under applicable law.

(d) No employee or agent of the Partnership shall record any Prohibited Transfer, and the purported transferee of such a Prohibited Transfer (the "Purported Transferee") shall not be recognized for any purpose as the owner of any Excess Security or as a Limited Partner of the Partnership for any purpose in respect of any Excess Security. The Purported Transferee shall not be entitled, with respect to any Excess Security, to any rights of a Limited Partner of the Partnership, including, without limitation, the right to vote such Excess Security and to receive allocations of Net Income or Net Loss pursuant to Section 6.2 or distributions pursuant to Section 6.3, whether liquidating or otherwise, in respect thereof, if any, and ownership of the Excess Security shall be deemed to remain with the transferor unless and until the Excess Security is transferred to the Agent pursuant to Section 4.9(e) or until an approval is obtained under Section 4.9(c). After a Partnership Instrument that is an Excess Security shall have been acquired in a Transfer that is not a Prohibited Transfer, the Partnership Instrument shall cease to be an Excess Security. For this purpose, any Transfer of an Excess Security not in accordance with the provisions of this Section 4.9(d) or Section 4.9(e) shall also be a Prohibited Transfer.

If the Board of Directors determines that a transaction involving any Partnership Instrument constitutes a Prohibited Transfer (or would, but (e) for the application of this Section 4.9 constitute a Prohibited Transfer), then, upon written demand by the Partnership, the Purported Transferee shall transfer or cause to be transferred any certificate or other evidence of ownership of any and all Excess Securities within the Purported Transferee's possession or control, together with any Prohibited Distributions, to an agent designated by the Board of Directors (the "Agent"). The Agent shall thereupon sell to a buyer or buyers, which may include the Partnership, the Excess Securities transferred to it in one or more arm's-length transactions (on the public securities market on which such Excess Securities are traded, if possible, or otherwise privately); provided, however, that any such sale must not constitute a Prohibited Transfer and provided, further, that the Agent shall effect such sale or sales in an orderly fashion and shall not be required to effect any such sale within any specific time frame if, in the Agent's discretion, such sale or sales would disrupt the market for the Partnership Instruments or otherwise would adversely affect the value of the Partnership Instruments. If a Purported Transferee has resold any Excess Security before receiving the Partnership's demand to surrender the Excess Security to the Agent, the Purported Transferee shall be deemed to have sold the Excess Security for the Agent, and shall be required to transfer to the Agent any Prohibited Distributions and proceeds of such sale, except to the extent that the Partnership grants written permission to the Purported Transferee to retain a portion of such sale proceeds not exceeding the amount that the Purported Transferee would have received from the Agent pursuant to Section 4.9(f) if the Agent rather than the Purported Transferee had resold the Excess Security. Any Partnership Instrument purchased by the Partnership pursuant to this Section 4.9(e) shall no longer constitute an issued and Outstanding Limited Partner Interest, unless and until such Partnership Instrument is reissued by the Partnership.

(f) The Agent shall apply any proceeds of a sale by it of Excess Securities and, if the Purported Transferee has previously resold the Excess Securities, any amounts received by it from a Purported Transferee, together, in either case, with any Prohibited Distributions, as follows: (i) first, such amounts shall be paid to the Agent to the extent necessary to cover its costs and expenses incurred in connection with its duties hereunder; (ii) second, any remaining amounts shall be paid to the Purported Transferee, up to the amount paid by the Purported Transferee for the Excess Securities (or the fair market value at the time of the Transfer, in the event the purported Transfer of the Excess Securities was, in whole or in part, a gift, inheritance or similar Transfer) which amount (or fair market value) shall be determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors; and (iii) third, any remaining amounts shall be paid to one or more organizations selected by the Board of Directors which is described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code (or any comparable successor provision) and contributions to which are eligible for deduction under each of Sections 170(b)(1)(A), 2055 and 2522 of the Code. The Purported Transferee of Excess Securities shall have no claim, cause of action or any other recourse whatsoever against any transferor of Excess Securities. The Purported Transferee's sole right with respect to such Excess Securities shall be limited to the amount payable to the Purported Transferee pursuant to this Section 4.9(f). In no event shall the proceeds of any sale of Excess Securities pursuant to this Section 4.9(f) inure to the benefit of the Partnership or the Agent, except to the extent used to cover costs and expenses incurred by Agent in performing its duties hereunder.

In the event of any Transfer that does not involve a Transfer of a Partnership Instrument within the meaning of Delaware law but that would (g) cause a Person to violate this Section 4.9 (including, but not limited to, the acquisition of Stock of any Subsidiary or any other transaction that increases the Percentage Ownership or Percentage Subsidiary Ownership of any Person), the application of Section 4.9(e) and Section 4.9(f) shall be modified as described in this Section 4.9(g). In such case, such Person (such Person, together with any other Person whose Stock Ownership is attributed to such Person, a "Remedial Holder") shall be deemed to have disposed (simultaneously with the Transfer giving rise to the application of this Section 4.9(g)) of and shall be required to dispose of sufficient Partnership Instruments (which Partnership Instruments shall be disposed of in the inverse order in which they were acquired) to cause such Person, following such disposition, not to be in violation of this Section 4.9 and such Partnership Instruments shall be treated as Excess Securities. Any Partnership Instrument treated as an Excess Security under this Section 4.9(g) shall be disposed of through the Agent as provided in Section 4.9(e) and Section 4.9(f), except that the maximum aggregate amount payable to a Remedial Holder in connection with such sale shall be the fair market value of such Excess Securities at the time of the purported Transfer. A Remedial Holder shall not be entitled, with respect to any such Excess Security, to any rights of a Limited Partner, including, without limitation, the right to vote such Excess Security and to receive allocations of Net Income or Net Loss pursuant to Section 6.2 or distributions pursuant to Section 6.3, whether liquidating or otherwise, in respect thereof, if any, following the time of the purported Transfer. All expenses incurred by the Agent in disposing of such Excess Security shall be paid out of any amounts due such Person or such other Person. The purpose of this Section 4.9(g) is to extend the restrictions in Section 4.9(b) and Section 4.9(e) to situations in which a Prohibited Transaction would have otherwise occurred if there had been a direct Transfer of Partnership Instruments, and this Section 4.9(g), along with the other provisions of this Section 4.9, shall be interpreted to produce the same results, with differences as the context requires, as a direct Transfer of Partnership Instruments.

(h) If the Purported Transferee fails to surrender the Excess Securities or the proceeds of a sale thereof to the Agent within thirty days from the date on which the Partnership makes a written demand pursuant to Section 4.9(e), then the Partnership may take such actions as it deems appropriate to enforce the provisions hereof, including the institution of legal proceedings to compel the surrender. Nothing in this Section 4.9(h) shall (i) be deemed inconsistent with any Transfer of the Excess Securities provided in this Section 4.9 being void ab initio, (ii) preclude the Partnership in its discretion from immediately bringing legal proceedings without a prior demand or (iii) cause any failure of the Partnership to act to constitute a waiver or loss of any right of the Partnership under this Section 4.9. The Board of Directors may authorize such additional actions as it deems advisable to give effect to the provisions of this Section 4.9.

(i) To the fullest extent permitted by law, any Limited Partner subject to the provisions of this Section 4.9 who knowingly violates the provisions of this Section 4.9 and any Persons controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Limited Partner shall be jointly and severally liable to the Partnership for, and shall indemnify and hold the Partnership harmless against, any and all damages suffered as a result of such violation, including but not limited to damages resulting from a reduction in, or elimination of, a Subsidiary's ability to utilize its Tax Benefits, and attorneys' and auditors' fees incurred in connection with such violation.

(j) In addition to any other condition that may be imposed under this Agreement with respect to the validity, effectiveness, registration and/or recognition of the ownership of or a Transfer (other than a Prohibited Transfer) with respect to any Partnership Instrument (including, but not limited to, the right to exercise any voting or other right under or receive distributions with respect to any Partnership Instrument), the Partnership may require each Limited Partner, any proposed Transferee of a Partnership Instrument, any Person who is a beneficial, legal or record holder of a Partnership Instrument and any Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with any of the foregoing, to provide information relating to the direct or indirect ownership interest of any Partnership Instrument, compliance with this Section 4.9 and/or the status of the Tax Benefits of any Subsidiary. The Partnership may make such arrangements or issue such instructions to its transfer agent as may be determined by the Board of Directors to be necessary or advisable to implement this Section 4.9, including, without limitation, authorizing such transfer agent to require an affidavit from a proposed Transferee regarding such Person's actual and constructive ownership of Partnership Instruments and other evidence that a Transfer will not be prohibited by this Section 4.9 as a condition to registering any transfer.

(k) The Board of Directors may require that any certificates issued by the Partnership evidencing ownership of Limited Partner Interests that are subject to the restrictions on transfer and ownership contained in this Section 4.9 bear the following legend:

"THE SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. (THE "AGREEMENT") CONTAINS RESTRICTIONS PROHIBITING THE TRANSFER (AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT) OF LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS (AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT) WITHOUT THE PRIOR AUTHORIZATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE GENERAL PARTNER OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. (THE "BOARD OF DIRECTORS") IF SUCH TRANSFER AFFECTS THE PERCENTAGE OWNERSHIP OF STOCK (WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 382 OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE") AND THE TREASURY REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER) OF A CORPORATION (AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT) THAT IS TREATED AS OWNED BY A PROHIBITED OWNER (AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT). IF THE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS ARE VIOLATED, THEN THE TRANSFER WILL BE VOID AB INITIO AND THE PURPORTED TRANSFEREE OF THE LIMITED PARTNER INTEREST WILL BE REQUIRED TO TRANSFER EXCESS SECURITIES (AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT) TO STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.'S AGENT. IN THE EVENT OF A TRANSFER WHICH DOES NOT INVOLVE LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. BUT WHICH WOULD VIOLATE THE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS, THE PURPORTED TRANSFEREE (OR THE RECORD OWNER) OF THE LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS THAT VIOLATE THE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS WILL BE REQUIRED TO TRANSFER SUFFICIENT LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS PURSUANT TO THE TERMS PROVIDED FOR IN THE AGREEMENT TO CAUSE THE PROHIBITED OWNER TO NO LONGER BE IN VIOLATION OF THE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS. STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. WILL FURNISH WITHOUT CHARGE TO THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS CERTIFICATE A COPY OF THE AGREEMENT CONTAINING THE ABOVE-REFERENCED TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. AT ITS PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS."

The Board of Directors may also require that any certificates issued by the Partnership evidencing ownership of Partnership Instruments that are subject to conditions imposed by the Board of Directors under Section 4.9(c) also bear a conspicuous legend referencing the applicable restrictions.

(1) The Board of Directors shall have the power to determine all matters necessary for assessing compliance with this Section 4.9, including, without limitation, (i) the identification of Prohibited Owners, (ii) whether a Transfer is or would constitute a Prohibited Transfer, (iii) the Percentage Ownership in SPH Corporation or another Subsidiary of any Prohibited Owner, (iv) whether an instrument constitutes a Partnership Instrument, (v) the amount (or fair market value) due to a Purported Transfere pursuant to Section 4.9(f), (vi) any other matters which the Board of Directors determines to be relevant, and (vii) the determination of the Ownership Limit of a Person or group of Persons; and the good faith determination of the Board of Directors on such matters shall be conclusive and binding for all the purposes of this Section 4.9. In addition, the Board of Directors may, to the extent permitted by law, from time to time amend, modify, or supplement this Agreement in a manner not inconsistent with the provisions of this Section 4.9 for purposes of determining whether any Transfer of Partnership Instruments would jeopardize or endanger a Subsidiary's ability to preserve and use any Tax Benefits and for the orderly application, administration and implementation of this Section 4.9.

(m) Nothing contained in this Section 4.9 shall limit the authority of the Board of Directors to take such other action to the extent permitted by law as it deems necessary or advisable to enable a Subsidiary, the Partnership and the Limited Partners to preserve any Tax Benefits. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event of a change in law making one or more of the following actions necessary or desirable, the Board of Directors may, by adopting a written resolution, (i) accelerate the Expiration Date, (ii) modify the Ownership Limit or any Person covered by this Section 4.9, (iii) modify the definitions of any terms set forth in this Section 4.9 or (iv) modify the terms of this Section 4.9 as appropriate, in each case, in order to prevent an ownership change with respect to SPH Corporation or any other Subsidiary for purposes of Section 382 of the Code as a result of any changes in applicable Treasury Regulations or otherwise; provided, however, that the Board of Directors shall not cause there to be such acceleration or modification unless it determines, by adopting a written resolution, that such action is reasonably necessary or advisable to preserve the Tax Benefits or that the continuation of these restrictions is no longer reasonably necessary for the preservation of the Tax Benefits. Limited Partners of shall be notified of such determination through a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission or such other method of notice as the General Partner shall deem appropriate.

(n) In the case of an ambiguity in the application of any of the provisions of this Section 4.9, including any definition used herein, the Board of Directors shall have the power to determine the application of such provisions with respect to any situation based on its reasonable belief, understanding or knowledge of the circumstances. In the event this Section 4.9 requires an action by the Board of Directors but fails to provide specific guidance with respect to such action, the Board of Directors shall have the power to determine the action to be taken so long as such action is not contrary to the provisions of this Section 4.9. All such actions, calculations, interpretations and determinations which are done or made by the Board of Directors in good faith shall be conclusive and binding on the Partnership, the Agent, and all other parties for all other purposes of this Section 4.9. The Board of Directors may delegate all or any portion of its duties and powers under this Section 4.9 to a committee of the Board of Directors as it deems necessary or advisable and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, may exercise the authority granted by this Section 4.9 through duly authorized officers or agents of the General Partner. Nothing in this Section 4.9 shall be construed to limit or restrict the Board of Directors in its exercise of its fiduciary duties under applicable law.

(o) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Partnership, the General Partner and the members of the Board of Directors shall be fully protected in relying in good faith upon the information, opinions, reports or statements of the officers or agents of the Partnership and the General Partner and the Partnership's legal counsel, independent auditors, transfer agent, investment bankers or other employees and agents in making the determinations and findings contemplated by this Section 4.9. The members of the Board of Directors shall not be responsible for any good faith errors made in connection therewith. For purposes of determining the existence and identity of, and the amount of any Partnership Instruments owned by, any Limited Partner, the Partnership is entitled to rely on the existence and absence of filings of Schedule 13D or 13G under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (or similar filings), as of any date, subject to its actual knowledge of the ownership of Partnership Instruments.

(p) Nothing in this Section 4.9 shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Partnership or the Agent any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this Section 4.9. This Section 4.9 shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Partnership and the Agent.

ARTICLE V

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND ISSUANCE OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

SECTION 5.1. Organizational Contributions and Issuances of Common Units.

(a) In connection with the formation of the Partnership under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, the Organizational Limited Partner made an initial Capital Contribution to the Partnership in the amount of \$100.00 for a 100% Limited Partner Interest in the Partnership and has been admitted as a Limited Partner of the Partnership. On the Merger Closing Date, the Capital Contribution of the Organizational Limited Partner was returned, without interest, the Organizational Limited Partner withdrew from the Partnership, and the Organizational Limited Partner, as such, ceased to have any further rights, claims or interests as a Partner in and to the Partnership.

(b) On the Merger Closing Date, in connection with the closing of the Merger, each WebFinancial Investor was issued one (1) regular Common Unit for each share of common stock of WebFinancial owned by such WebFinancial Investor. The aggregate number of regular Common Units issued to WebFinancial Investors in connection with the closing of the Merger was 2,183,366.

(c) On the Exchange Closing Date, in connection with the closing of the Exchange, SP II Master Fund contributed to the Partnership its 100% limited partnership interest in SP II and in exchange, SP II Master Fund initially received 61,056,571 regular Common Units, of which 59,186,007 regular Common Units are subject to adjustments pursuant to the Exchange Agreement.

(d) On the Exchange Closing Date, the General Partner made a Capital Contribution to the Partnership in the amount of \$10,000.00 and was issued 497 regular Common Units in its capacity as a Limited Partner in consideration for such Capital Contribution.

(e) No Limited Partner shall be obligated to make any additional Capital Contributions to the Partnership.

SECTION 5.2. Contributions by the General Partner and its Affiliates.

The General Partner shall not be obligated to make any additional Capital Contributions to the Partnership.

SECTION 5.3. Interest and Withdrawal.

No interest on Capital Contributions shall be paid by the Partnership. No Partner shall be entitled to the withdrawal or return of its Capital Contribution, except to the extent, if any, that distributions made pursuant to this Agreement or upon dissolution of the Partnership may be considered as such by law and then only to the extent provided for in this Agreement. Except to the extent expressly provided in this Agreement, no Partner shall have priority over any other Partner either as to the return of Capital Contributions or as to profits, losses or distributions. Any such return shall be a compromise to which all Partners agree within the meaning of Section 17-502(b) of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

SECTION 5.4. Establishment of Class B Common Units

(a) Pursuant to Section 5.5, the General Partner hereby designates and creates a class of Units to be designated as "Class B Common Units" and fixes the designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, powers and duties of holders of the Class B Common Units as set forth in this Section 5.4 and elsewhere in this Agreement. The General Partner shall be authorized to issue one or more series of Class B Common Units and the terms of this Section 5.4 shall govern each series of Class B Common Units. The reference in this Agreement to Class B Common Units shall include each series of Class B Common Units.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each Class B Common Unit shall be identical to a regular Common Unit, and the holder of a Class B Common Unit shall have the rights of a holder of a regular Common Unit with respect to, without limitation, Partnership distributions and allocations of income, gain, loss or deductions.

(c) Each series of Class B Common Units held by a holder shall automatically convert into regular Common Units (with no further action required by such holder) when the amount of the Capital Account allocable to each Class B Common Unit within a series of Class B Common Units held by such holder is equal to the amount of the Capital Account allocable to each regular Common Unit ("Capital Account Alignment"), determined by treating such Class B Common Unit and regular Common Unit as separate partnership interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The General Partner shall promptly notify each holder of Class B Common Units at such time that Capital Account Alignment has been achieved by such holder for such Class B Common Units.

(d) Prior to their conversion into regular Common Units, Class B Common Units may only be transferred in private transactions that allow the Partnership to track the transfer of such Class B Common Units. The holder of Class B Common Units shall notify the General Partner prior to any transfer of Class B Common Units.

(e) Without limiting the application of Section 6.2(b), the Partnership shall promote Capital Account Alignment through the special allocation of unrealized gains existing at the time of certain "mark-to-market events" to the holders of Class B Common Units and the holders of Class C Common Units. If Class B Common Units and/or Class C Common Units have not converted into regular Common Units prior to the liquidation of the Partnership, the Partnership shall also allocate specially items of gross taxable income and gain derived in connection with such liquidation to the holders of Class B Common Units and Class C Common Units until Capital Account Alignment has been achieved. For the avoidance of doubt, no unrealized loss or Net Loss shall be allocated with respect to a Class B Common Unit or a Class C Common Unit prior to the conversion of such Class B Common Unit or Class C Common Units into a regular Common Unit.

(f) If Capital Account Alignment is not reached at such time the Partnership makes liquidating distributions to its Partners, notwithstanding Section 12.4(c), a holder of Class B Common Units or Class C Common Units shall not be entitled to receive liquidating distributions in excess of the amount of its Capital Account allocable to such Common Units.

SECTION 5.5. Issuances of Additional Partnership Securities.

(a) The Partnership may, with the approval of the Board of Directors, issue additional Partnership Securities and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities for any Partnership purpose at any time and from time to time to such Persons for such consideration and on such terms and conditions as the General Partner shall determine in its sole discretion, all without the approval of any Limited Partners, including pursuant to Section 7.4(e), except as may be required by Article XVI; provided, however, that any issuance of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities to the General Partner, the Manager or any of their respective Affiliates (other than issuances to the Independent Directors) shall be subject to Section 7.9. Pursuant to the authority granted to the Partnership under this paragraph, the Partnership has issued the Incentive Units, a portion of which may be classified as Class C Common Units from time to time, as described in Section 2 of the Incentive Unit Agreement.

(b) Each additional Partnership Interest authorized to be issued by the Partnership pursuant to Section 5.5(a) or Section 7.4(e) may be issued in one or more classes, or one or more series of any such classes, with such designations, preferences, rights, powers and duties (which may be senior to existing classes and series of Partnership Securities), as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors, including (i) the right to share in the Partnership's Net Income and Net Loss or items thereof; (ii) the right to share in Partnership distributions; (iii) the rights upon dissolution and liquidation of the Partnership; (iv) whether, and the terms and conditions upon which, the Partnership may or shall be required to redeem the Partnership Security (including sinking fund provisions); (v) whether such Partnership Interest is issued with the privilege of conversion or exchange and, if so, the terms and conditions of such conversion or exchange; (vi) the terms and conditions upon which each Partnership Interest will be issued, evidenced by certificates and assigned or transferred; (vii) the method for determining the Percentage Interest as to such Partnership Security; and (viii) the right, if any, of the holder of each such Partnership Interest.

(c) The General Partner is hereby authorized to take all actions that it determines to be necessary or appropriate in connection with (i) each issuance of Partnership Securities and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities pursuant to this Section 5.5 or Section 7.4(e), including the admission of additional Limited Partners in connection therewith and any related amendment of this Agreement, (ii) each issuance of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities pursuant to any incentive plan or program (iii) all additional issuances of Partnership Securities and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities. The General Partner shall determine, in its sole discretion, the relative rights, powers and duties of the holders of the Units or other Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Interest to be issued to the General Partner, the Manager or any of their respective Affiliates (other than Partnership Interests to be issued to Independent Directors) shall be subject to Special Director Approval. The General Partner is authorized to do all things that it determines to be necessary or appropriate in connection with any future issuance of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation or guideline of any governmental agency or any National Securities Exchange on which the Units or other Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating

SECTION 5.6. Preemptive Rights.

No Person shall have any preemptive, preferential or other similar right with respect to the issuance of any Partnership Security, whether unissued, held in the treasury or hereafter created.

SECTION 5.7. Splits and Combinations.

(a) Subject to Section 5.7(d), the General Partner may cause the Partnership to make a Pro Rata distribution of Partnership Securities to all Record Holders or may effect a subdivision or combination of Partnership Securities so long as, after any such event, each Partner shall have the same Percentage Interest in the Partnership as before such event, and any amounts calculated on a per Unit basis or stated as a number of Units are proportionately adjusted retroactive to the beginning of the Partnership.

(b) Whenever such a distribution, subdivision or combination of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities is declared, the General Partner shall select a Record Date as of which the distribution, subdivision or combination shall be effective and shall send notice thereof at least 20 days prior to such Record Date to each Record Holder as of a date not less than 10 days prior to the date of such notice. The General Partner also may cause a firm of independent public accountants selected by it to calculate the number of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities to be held by each Record Holder after giving effect to such distribution, subdivision or combination. The General Partner shall be entitled to rely on any certificate provided by such firm as conclusive evidence of the accuracy of such calculation.

(c) Promptly following any such distribution, subdivision or combination, the Partnership may issue Certificates to the Record Holders of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities as of the applicable Record Date representing the new number of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities held by such Record Holders, or the General Partner may adopt such other procedures that it determines to be necessary or appropriate to reflect such changes. If any such combination results in a smaller total number of Partnership Securities Outstanding or outstanding options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership shall require, as a condition to the delivery to a Record Holder of any such new Certificate, the surrender of any Certificate held by such Record Holder immediately prior to such Record Date.

(d) The Partnership shall not be required to issue fractional Units upon any distribution, subdivision or combination of Units. If a distribution, subdivision or combination of Units would result in the issuance of fractional Units but for the provisions of this Section 5.7(d), the General Partner in its sole discretion may determine that each fractional Unit shall be rounded to the nearest whole Unit (and a 0.5 Unit shall be rounded to the next higher Unit).

SECTION 5.8. Fully Paid and Non-Assessable Nature of Limited Partner Interests.

All Limited Partner Interests issued pursuant to, and in accordance with the requirements of, this Article V shall be fully paid and non-assessable Limited Partner Interests in the Partnership, except as such non-assessability may be affected by Sections 17-607 or 17-804 of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or this Agreement.

ARTICLE VI

ALLOCATIONS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

SECTION 6.1. Maintenance of Capital Accounts.

There shall be established for each Partner on the books of the Partnership as of the date such Partner becomes a Partner a capital account (each being a "Capital Account"). Each Capital Contribution by any Partner, if any, shall be credited to the Capital Account of such Partner on the date such Capital Contribution is made to the Partnership. In addition, each Partner's Capital Account shall be (a) credited with (i) such Partner's allocable share of Net Income of the Partnership and any item of income or gain (including unrealized gain to the extent allowable) that is specially allocated for Section 704(b) book purposes to such Partner pursuant to Section 5.4(e) or Section 6.2(b), and (ii) the amount of any Partnership liabilities that are assumed by the Partner or secured by any Partnership property distributed to the Partner, (b) debited with (i) the amount of distributions (and deemed distributions) to such Partner of cash or the fair market value of other property so distributed, (ii) such Partner's allocable share of Net Loss of the Partnership and any item of deduction or loss (including unrealized loss to the extent allowable) that is specially allocated for Section 704(b) book purposes to such Partner pursuant to Section 6.2(b), and (iii) the amount of any liabilities of the Partner assumed by the Partnership or which are secured by any property contributed by the Partner to the Partnership and (c) otherwise maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Code and the United States Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder. Any other item which is required to be reflected in a Partner's Capital Account under Section 704(b) of the Code and the United States Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder or otherwise under this Agreement shall be so reflected. The General Partner shall make such adjustments to Capital Accounts as it determines in its sole discretion to be appropriate to ensure allocations are made in accordance with a Partner's interest in the Partnership. Interest shall not be payable on Capital Account balances. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the General Partner shall maintain the Capital Accounts of the Partners in accordance with the principles and requirements set forth in Section 704(b) of the Code and the United States Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, provided, however, for purposes of this Agreement, (i) each holder of a series of Class B Common Units that is also a holder of regular Common Units, another series of Class B Common and/or a series of Class C Common Units and (ii) each holder of a series of Class C Common Units that is also a holder of regular Common Units, another series of Class C Common Units and/or a series of Class B Common Units shall, in each case under clause (i) or clause (ii), be deemed to have a separate Capital Account for each series of Class B Common Units, for each series of Class C Common Units and for the regular Common Units held by such holder. The Capital Account balance of a Partner with respect to each Preferred Unit held by such Partner shall equal the Liquidation Preference per Preferred Unit as of the date such Preferred Unit is initially issued and shall be increased as set forth in Article XVI.

SECTION 6.2. Allocations.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 5.4(e), Section 6.2(b) or Article XVI, Net Income, Net Loss and all items of income, gain, loss and deduction taken into account in computing Net Income or Net Loss shall be determined on an annual basis and prorated on a monthly basis and shall be allocated to the Limited Partners that hold Common Units as of the opening of the National Securities Exchange on which the regular Common Units are listed or admitted to trading on the first Business Day of each month, which allocations shall be made Pro Rata in accordance with the Partners' respective Percentage Interests with respect to such Partner's Common Units; provided, however, that gain or loss on a sale or other disposition of any assets of the Partnership or any other extraordinary item of income or loss realized and recognized other than in the ordinary course of business, as determined by the General Partner, shall be allocated to the Limited Partners with respect to such Partner's Common Units are listed or admitted to trading on the first Business Day of the month in which such income, gain, deduction or loss is recognized for federal income tax purposes, which allocations shall be made Pro Rata in accordance with the Partners' respective Percentage Interests with respect to such Partner's Common Units. The General Partner may revise, alter or otherwise modify such methods of allocation to the extent permitted or required by Section 706 of the Code and the regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder. Until the regular Common Units are traded on a National Securities Exchange, this section shall be applied on the basis of the Limited Partners identified in the Partnership's register as of the first Business Day of each month.



All items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit of the Partnership shall be allocated among the Partners for U.S. federal, state and local (h)income tax purposes consistent with the manner in which the corresponding constituent items of Net Income or Net Loss were allocated among the Partners pursuant to this Agreement, except as may otherwise be provided herein or by the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the General Partner in its sole discretion shall make such allocations for tax purposes as may be needed to ensure that allocations are in accordance with the interests of the Partners in the Partnership, within the meaning of the Code and United States Treasury Regulations. The General Partner shall determine all matters concerning allocations for tax purposes not expressly provided for herein in its sole discretion. For the proper administration of the Partnership and for the preservation of uniformity of Partnership Interests (or any portion or class or classes thereof), the General Partner may (i) make special allocations of income, gain, loss or deduction, and, to the extent allowable, unrealized gain or unrealized loss, (ii) amend the provisions of this Agreement as appropriate (x) to reflect the proposal or promulgation of United States Treasury Regulations under Section 704(b) or Section 704(c) of the Code or (y) otherwise to preserve or achieve uniformity of Partnership Interests (or any portion or class or classes thereof), and (iii) adopt and employ or modify such conventions and methods as the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be appropriate for (A) the determination for tax purposes of items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit and the allocation of such items among Partners and between transferors and transferees under this Agreement and pursuant to the Code and the United States Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, (B) the determination of the identities and tax classification of Partners, (C) the valuation of Partnership assets and the determination of tax basis, (D) the allocation of asset values and tax basis, (E) the adoption and maintenance of accounting methods and (F) taking into account differences between the Carrying Values of Partnership assets and such assets' adjusted tax basis pursuant to Section 704(c) of the Code and the United States Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

(c) In the event that a Partner partially or completely withdraws from the Partnership, the General Partner may, in its sole discretion, specially allocate items of Partnership gain or loss as applicable to the Partner's Capital Account for tax purposes to reduce the amount, if any, by which the amount distributable upon the withdrawal differs from that Partner's tax basis for its withdrawn interest in the Partnership.

(d) Allocations that would otherwise be made to a Partner under the provisions of this Article VI shall instead be made to the Beneficial Owner of Partnership Interests held by a nominee in any case in which the nominee has furnished the identity of such Beneficial Owner to the Partnership in accordance with Section 6031(c) of the Code or any other method determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion.

SECTION 6.3. Requirement and Characterization of Distributions; Distributions to Record Holders.

(a) Subject to Article XVI, The General Partner, in its sole discretion, may authorize distributions in cash or in kind by the Partnership to the Partners, which distributions shall be made in accordance with Article XVI and, in respect of any series of Units, Pro Rata in accordance with the Partners' respective Percentage Interests.

(b) The General Partner may treat taxes paid by the Partnership on behalf of, or amounts withheld with respect to, all or less than all of the Partners, as a distribution of cash to such Partners.

(c) Notwithstanding Section 6.3(a), in the event of the dissolution of the Partnership, all receipts received during or after the Quarter in which the Liquidation Date occurs shall be applied and distributed solely in accordance with, and subject to the terms and conditions of, Section 12.4.

(d) Each distribution in respect of a Partnership Interest shall be paid by the Partnership, directly or through the Transfer Agent or through any other Person or agent, only to the Record Holder of such Partnership Interest as of the Record Date set for such distribution. Such payment shall constitute full payment and satisfaction of the Partnership's liability in respect of such payment, regardless of any claim of any Person who may have an interest in such payment by reason of an assignment or otherwise.

(e) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Partnership, and the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership, shall not be required to make a distribution to a Partner or a Record Holder if such distribution would violate the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or other applicable law.

ARTICLE VII

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION OF BUSINESS

SECTION 7.1. Management.

(a) The General Partner shall conduct and direct all activities of the Partnership and shall manage the affairs of the Partnership for the benefit of all Partners. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, all management powers over the business and affairs of the Partnership shall be exclusively vested in the General Partner, and no Limited Partner shall have any management power over the business and affairs of the Partnership. In addition to the powers now or hereafter granted a general partner of a limited partnership under applicable law or that are granted to the General Partner under any other provision of this Agreement, the General Partner, subject to Section 7.3 and the other express terms of this Agreement and of applicable law, shall have full power and authority to do all things and on such terms as it determines, in its sole discretion, to be necessary or appropriate to conduct the business of the Partnership, to exercise all powers set forth in Section 2.5 and to effectuate the purposes set forth in Section 2.4, including without limitation the following subject, however, to any prior approval that may be required by the terms of this Agreement:

(i) the making of any expenditures, the lending or borrowing of money, the assumption or guarantee of, or other contracting for, indebtedness and other liabilities, the issuance of evidences of indebtedness, including indebtedness that is convertible or exchangeable into Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities, and the incurring of any other obligations;

(ii) the making of tax, regulatory and other filings, or rendering of periodic or other reports to governmental or other agencies having jurisdiction over the business or assets of the Partnership;

(iii) the acquisition, disposition, mortgage, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation or exchange of any or all of the assets of the Partnership or the merger or other combination of the Partnership with or into another Person

(iv) the use of the assets of the Partnership (including cash on hand) for any purpose consistent with the terms of this Agreement, including the financing of the conduct of the operations of the Partnership Group; subject to Section 7.6(a), the lending of funds to other Persons; the repayment or guarantee of obligations of any Group Member and the making of capital contributions to any Group Member;

(v) the delegation of any of its duties hereunder to manage the operations and assets of the Partnership to the Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement, or any other Person, whether or not an Affiliate of the General Partner or the Partnership, and in furtherance of such delegation, to appoint, employ or contract with any such Person as the General Partner may, in its sole discretion, deem necessary or desirable and to fix such Person's compensation, <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that except as specifically provided in the Management Agreement, all of the Partnership's major policy, management and investment decisions shall be made by the General Partner, and if any such delegation is made to an Affiliate (including the Manager), such delegation shall be made on an arm's length basis;

(vi) the negotiation, execution and performance of any contracts, conveyances or other instruments (including instruments that limit the liability of the Partnership under contractual arrangements to all or particular assets of the Partnership, with the other party to the contract to have no recourse against the General Partner or its assets other than its interest in the Partnership, even if same results in the terms of the transaction being less favorable to the Partnership than would otherwise be the case);

(vii) the distribution of Partnership cash;

(viii) the selection and dismissal of employees (including employees having titles such as "president," "vice president," "secretary," "treasurer" or any other titles the General Partner in its sole discretion may determine) and agents, outside attorneys, accountants, consultants and contractors and the determination of their compensation and other terms of employment or hiring;

(ix) the maintenance of insurance for the benefit of the Partnership Group, the Partners and Indemnitees;

(x) the formation of, or acquisition of an interest in, and the contribution of property and the making of loans to, any further limited or general partnerships, joint ventures, limited liability companies, corporations or other relationships (including the acquisition of interests in, and the contributions of property to, the Partnership's Subsidiaries from time to time) subject to the restrictions set forth in Section 2.4;

(xi) the control of any matters affecting the rights and obligations of the Partnership, including the bringing and defending of actions at law or in equity and otherwise engaging in the conduct of litigation, arbitration or mediation and the incurring of legal expense and the settlement of claims and litigation;

(xii) the indemnification of any Person against liabilities and contingencies to the extent permitted by law;

(xiii) the entering into of listing agreements with any National Securities Exchange and the delisting of some or all of the Limited Partner Interests from, or requesting that trading be suspended on, any such exchange (subject to any prior approval that may be required under Section 4.7);

(xiv) the purchase, sale or other acquisition or disposition of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities, including, but not limited to, buybacks of Partnership Securities through private transactions, open market purchases or tender offers in accordance with the Exchange Act or otherwise;

(xv) the undertaking of any action in connection with the Partnership's participation in the management of the Partnership Group through its directors, officers or employees or the Partnership's direct or indirect ownership of the Group Members; and

(xvi) the causing to be registered for resale under the Securities Act and applicable state or non-U.S. securities laws, any securities of, or any securities convertible or exchangeable into securities of, the Partnership held by any Person, including the General Partner or any Affiliate of the General Partner.

(b) In exercising its authority under this Agreement, the General Partner may, but shall be under no obligation to, take into account the tax consequences to any Partner (including the General Partner) of any action taken (or not taken) by it. The General Partner and the Partnership shall not have any liability to a Limited Partner for monetary damages or otherwise for losses sustained, liabilities incurred or benefits not derived by such Limited Partner in connection with such decisions so long as the General Partner has acted pursuant to its authority under this Agreement.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or any applicable law, rule or regulation, each of the Partners and each other Person who may acquire an interest in Partnership Securities hereby (i) approves, ratifies and confirms the execution, delivery and performance by the parties thereto of this Agreement, the Management Agreement, the Incentive Unit Agreement, the Exchange Agreement and all agreements, notices, consent forms and other documents or instruments in connection with, or contemplated by, the Merger and the Exchange; (ii) agrees that the General Partner (on its own or through any officer of the Partnership) is authorized to execute, deliver and perform the agreements referred to in clause (i) of this sentence on behalf of the Partnership without any further act, approval or vote of the Partners or the other Persons who may acquire an interest in Partnership Securities; and (iii) agrees that the execution, delivery or performance by the General Partner, any Group Member or any Affiliate of any of them, of this Agreement or any agreement authorized or permitted under this Agreement (including the exercise by the General Partner or any Affiliate of the General Partner of the rights accorded pursuant to Article XV), shall not constitute a breach by the General Partner of any duty that the General Partner may owe the Partnership or the Limited Partners or any other Persons under this Agreement (or any other agreements) or of any duty existing at law, in equity or otherwise.

SECTION 7.2. Certificate of Limited Partnership.

The General Partner has caused the Certificate of Limited Partnership to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as required by the Delaware Limited Partnership Act and the General Partner has caused an Amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as required by the Delaware Limited Partnership Act for purposes of stating the name and address of the General Partner. The General Partner shall use all reasonable efforts to cause to be filed such other certificates or documents that the General Partner determines to be necessary or appropriate for the formation, continuation, qualification and operation of a limited partnership (or a partnership in which the limited partners have limited liability) in the State of Delaware or any other state in which the Partnership may elect to do business or own property. To the extent the General Partner determines such action to be necessary or appropriate, the General Partner shall file amendments to and restatements of the Certificate of Limited Partnership and do all things to maintain the Partnership as a limited partnership (or a partnership or other entity in which the limited partners have limited liability) under the laws of the State of Delaware or of any other state in which the Partnership may elect to do business or own property. Subject to the terms of Section 3.4(a), the General Partner shall not be required, before or after filing, to deliver or mail a copy of the Certificate of Limited Partnership, any qualification document or any amendment thereto to any Limited Partner.

In the event that the General Partner determines the Partnership should seek relief pursuant to Section 7704(e) of the Code to preserve the status of the Partnership as a partnership for U.S. federal (and applicable state) income tax purposes, the Partnership and each Partner shall agree to adjustments required by the tax authorities, and the Partnership shall pay such amounts as required by the tax authorities, to preserve the status of the Partnership as a partnership.

SECTION 7.3. Restrictions on General Partner's Authority.

Except as provided in Articles XII and XIV, the General Partner may not, directly or indirectly (through any other entity or person, by derivative, lease license, joint venture or otherwise), sell, exchange or otherwise dispose of all or any substantial part of the Partnership Group's assets, taken as a whole, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions without Special LP Approval; provided however that this provision shall not preclude or limit the General Partner's ability to mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership Group (including for the benefit of Persons other than members of the Partnership Group, including Affiliates of the General Partner) and shall not apply to any forced sale of any or all of the assets of the Partnership Group pursuant to the foreclosure of, or other realization upon, any such encumbrance. Without Special LP Approval, the General Partner shall not, on behalf of the Partnership, except as permitted under Sections 4.6, 11.1 and 11.2, elect or cause the Partnership to elect a successor general partner of the Partnership.

SECTION 7.4. Expenses; Reimbursement of the General Partner; Management Fees and Expenses.

(a) Except as provided in this Section 7.4 and elsewhere in this Agreement, the General Partner shall not be compensated for its services as general partner or managing member of any Group Member.

(b) The Partnership shall bear all of its costs and expenses and all costs and expenses of the General Partner incurred in connection with acting in its capacity as General Partner and the performance of its duties as the General Partner, including all director fees and expenses, all accounting and administrative expenses, all insurance costs and all indemnification obligations.

(c) The General Partner shall be reimbursed on a monthly basis, or such other reasonable basis as the General Partner may determine, in its sole discretion, for all direct and indirect expenses it incurs or payments it makes for itself in connection with acting in its capacity as General Partner and the performance of its duties as the General Partner, and all direct and indirect expenses it incurs or payments it makes on behalf of the Partnership Group. Reimbursements pursuant to this Section 7.4 shall be in addition to any reimbursement to the General Partner as a result of indemnification pursuant to Section 7.7.

(d) The Partnership shall be responsible for, and shall pay in a timely manner, all fees payable by it to the Manager in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of the Management Agreement, and the Partnership shall reimburse the Manager for all costs and expenses provided for in the Management Agreement.

The General Partner may, without the approval of the Limited Partners (who shall have no right to vote in respect thereof), propose and adopt (e) on behalf of the Partnership Group equity benefit plans, programs and practices (including plans, programs and practices involving the issuance of or reservation of issuance of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities), or cause the Partnership to issue or to reserve for issuance Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities in connection with, or pursuant to, any such equity benefit plan, program or practice or any equity benefit plan, program or practice maintained or sponsored by the General Partner or any of its Affiliates in respect of services performed directly or indirectly for the benefit of the Partnership Group; provided, however, that the adoption of any equity benefit plans, programs and practices for the benefit of the General Partner, the Manager or any of their respective Affiliates and any issuance of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities to the General Partner, the Manager or any of their respective Affiliates (other than the adoption of an incentive plan or program solely for the benefit of Independent Directors and any issuances of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities pursuant thereto) shall be subject to Section 7.9. The Partnership agrees to issue and sell to the General Partner or any of its Affiliates any Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities that the General Partner or such Affiliates are obligated to provide pursuant to any equity benefit plans, programs or practices maintained or sponsored by them in accordance with the preceding sentence. Expenses incurred by the General Partner in connection with any such plans, programs and practices (including the net cost to the General Partner or such Affiliates of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities purchased by the General Partner or such Affiliates from the Partnership to fulfill options or awards under such plans, programs and practices) shall be reimbursed in accordance with Sections 7.4(b) and (c). Any and all obligations of the General Partner under any equity benefit plans, programs or practices adopted by the General Partner as permitted by this Section 7.4(e) shall constitute obligations of the General Partner hereunder and shall be assumed by any successor General Partner approved pursuant to Section 11.1 or 11.2 or the transferee of or successor to all of the General Partner's General Partner Interest pursuant to Section 4.6.

SECTION 7.5. Outside Activities.

(a) The General Partner, for so long as it is a General Partner of the Partnership (i) agrees that its sole business will be to act as a general partner or managing member of the Partnership and any other partnership or limited liability company of which the Partnership is, directly or indirectly, a partner or member and to undertake activities that are ancillary or related thereto (including being a limited partner in the Partnership) and (ii) shall not engage in any business or activity or incur any debts or liabilities except in connection with or incidental to (A) its performance as general partner or managing member of one or more Group Members or (B) the acquiring, owning or disposing of debt or equity securities in any Group Member; provided, however, that the General Partner shall be permitted to continue to undertake any existing activities as of the date hereof.

(b) Except as specifically restricted by Section 7.5(a), each Indemnitee (other than the General Partner) shall have the right to engage in businesses of every type and description and other activities for profit and to engage in and possess an interest in other business ventures of any and every type or description, whether in businesses engaged in or anticipated to be engaged in by any Group Member, independently or with others, including business interests and activities in direct competition with the business and activities of any Group Member, and none of the same shall constitute a breach of this Agreement or any duty otherwise existing at law, in equity or otherwise to any Group Member or any Partner or Record Holder. None of any Group Member, any Limited Partner or any other Person shall have any rights by virtue of this Agreement or the partnership relationship established hereby in any business ventures of any Indemnitee.

(c) Subject to the terms of Section 7.5(a) and Section 7.5(b), but otherwise notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, (i) the engaging in competitive activities by any Indemnitees (other than the General Partner) in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7.5 is hereby approved by the Partnership and all Partners, (ii) it shall be deemed not to be a breach of the General Partner's or any other Indemnitee's duties or any other obligation of any type whatsoever of the General Partner or any other Indemnitee for the Indemnitee (other than the General Partner) to engage in such business interests and activities in preference to or to the exclusion of any Group Member, (iii) the Indemnitees (other than the General Partner) shall have no obligation to present business opportunities to any Group Member.

(d) The General Partner and any of its Affiliates may acquire Units or other Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities and, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, shall be entitled to exercise all rights of a General Partner or Limited Partner, as applicable, relating to such Units or Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities.

SECTION 7.6. Loans from the General Partner; Loans or Contributions from the Partnership; Contracts with Affiliates; Certain Restrictions on the General Partner.

(a) The General Partner or any of its Affiliates may, but shall be under no obligation to, lend to any Group Member, and any Group Member may borrow from the General Partner or any of its Affiliates, funds needed or desired by the Group Member for such periods of time and in such amounts as the General Partner may determine, in each case on terms that are fair and reasonable to the Partnership; provided however that the requirements of this Section 7.6(a) conclusively shall be deemed satisfied and not a breach of any duty hereunder or existing at law, in equity or otherwise as to any transaction (i) approved by Special Director Approval, (ii) the terms of which are no less favorable to the Partnership than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or (iii) that is fair and reasonable to the Partnership, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be or have been particularly favorable or advantageous to the Partnership).

(b) Any Group Member (including the Partnership) may lend or contribute to any other Group Member, and any Group Member may borrow from any other Group Member (including the Partnership), funds on terms and conditions determined by the General Partner. The foregoing authority shall be exercised by the General Partner in its sole discretion and shall not create any right or benefit in favor of any Group Member or any other Person.

(c) The General Partner may itself, or may enter into an agreement with any of its Affiliates to, render services to a Group Member or to the General Partner in the discharge of its duties as general partner of the Partnership. Any services rendered to a Group Member by the General Partner or any of its Affiliates shall be on terms that are fair and reasonable to the Partnership; provided however that the requirements of this Section 7.6(c) conclusively shall be deemed satisfied and not a breach of any duty hereunder or existing at law, in equity or otherwise as to any transaction (i) approved by Special Director Approval, (ii) the terms of which are no less favorable to the Partnership than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or (iii) that is fair and reasonable to the Partnership, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be or have been particularly favorable or advantageous to the Partnership). The provisions of Section 7.4 shall apply to the rendering of services described in this Section 7.6(c).

(d) The Partnership may transfer assets to joint ventures, other partnerships, corporations, limited liability companies or other business entities in which it is or thereby becomes a participant upon such terms and subject to such conditions as are consistent with this Agreement and applicable law.

(e) The General Partner or any of its Affiliates may sell, transfer or convey any property to, or purchase any property from, the Partnership, directly or indirectly, pursuant to transactions that are fair and reasonable to the Partnership; provided however that the requirements of this Section 7.6(e) conclusively shall be deemed to be satisfied and not a breach of any duty hereunder or existing at law, in equity or otherwise as to (i) the transactions effected pursuant to Section 5.1, (ii) any transaction approved by Special Director Approval, (iii) any transaction, the terms of which are no less favorable to the Partnership than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties, or (iv) any transaction that is fair and reasonable to the Partnership, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be or have been particularly favorable or advantageous to the Partnership). With respect to any contribution of assets to the Partnership in exchange for Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities, the Board of Directors, in determining whether the appropriate number of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities are being issued, may take into account, among other things, the fair market value of the assets, the liquidated and contingent liabilities assumed, the tax basis in the assets, the extent to which tax-only allocations to the transferor will protect the existing partners of the Partnership against a low tax basis, and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant under the circumstances.

(f) The General Partner and its Affiliates will have no obligation to permit any Group Member to use any facilities or assets of the General Partner and its Affiliates, except as may be provided in contracts entered into from time to time specifically dealing with such use, nor shall there be any obligation on the part of the General Partner or its Affiliates to enter into such contracts.

SECTION 7.7. Indemnification.

(a) To the fullest extent permitted by law but subject to the limitations expressly provided in this Agreement, all Indemnitees shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Partnership from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest, settlements or other amounts arising from any and all threatened, pending or completed claims, demands, actions, suits or proceedings, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, and whether formal or informal and including appeals, in which any Indemnitee may be involved, or is threatened to be involved, as a party or otherwise, by reason of its status as an Indemnitee whether arising from acts or omissions to act occurring before or after the date of this Agreement; provided that the Indemnitee shall not be indemnified and held harmless if there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that, in respect of the matter for which the Indemnitee is seeking indemnification pursuant to this Section 7.7, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.

(b) To the fullest extent permitted by law, expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred by an Indemnitee who is indemnified pursuant to Section 7.7(a) in appearing at, participating in or defending any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding shall, from time to time, be advanced by the Partnership prior to a final and non-appealable determination that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified upon receipt by the Partnership of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnitee to repay such amount if it ultimately shall be determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this Section 7.7.

(c) The indemnification provided by this Section 7.7 shall be in addition to any other rights to which an Indemnitee may be entitled under any agreement, pursuant to any vote of the holders of Outstanding Voting Units entitled to vote on such matter, as a matter of law, in equity or otherwise, both as to actions in the Indemnitee's capacity as an Indemnitee and as to actions in any other capacity, and shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to serve in such capacity.

(d) The Partnership may purchase and maintain (or reimburse the General Partner or its Affiliates for the cost of) insurance, on behalf of the Partnership and its Subsidiaries, the General Partner, its Affiliates, the Indemnitees and such other Persons as the General Partner shall determine in its sole discretion, against any liability that may be asserted against, or expense that may be incurred by, such Person in connection with the Partnership's activities or such Person's activities on behalf of the Partnership, regardless of whether the Partnership would have the power to indemnify such Person against such liability under the provisions of this Agreement.

(e) For purposes of this Section 7.7, (i) the Partnership shall be deemed to have requested an Indemnitee to serve as fiduciary of an employee benefit plan whenever the performance by it of its duties to the Partnership also imposes duties on, or otherwise involves services by, it to the plan or participants or beneficiaries of the plan; (ii) excise taxes assessed on an Indemnitee with respect to an employee benefit plan pursuant to applicable law shall constitute "fines" within the meaning of Section 7.7(a); and (iii) any action taken or omitted by an Indemnitee with respect to any employee benefit plan in the performance of its duties for a purpose reasonably believed by it to be in the best interest of the participants and beneficiaries of the plan shall be deemed to be for a purpose that is in the best interests of the Partnership.

(f) Any indemnification pursuant to this Section 7.7 shall be made only out of the assets of the Partnership, it being agreed that the General Partner shall not be personally liable for such indemnification and shall have no obligation to contribute or loan any monies or property to the Partnership to enable it to effectuate such indemnification. In no event may an Indemnitee subject the Limited Partners to personal liability by reason of the indemnification provisions set forth in this Agreement.

(g) An Indemnitee shall not be denied indemnification in whole or in part under this Section 7.7 because the Indemnitee had an interest in the transaction with respect to which the indemnification applies if the transaction was otherwise permitted by the terms of this Agreement.

(h) The provisions of this Section 7.7 are for the benefit of the Indemnitees and their heirs, successors, assigns, executors and administrators and shall not be deemed to create any rights for the benefit of any other Persons.

(i) No amendment, modification or repeal of this Section 7.7 or any provision hereof shall in any manner terminate, reduce or impair the right of any past, present or future Indemnitee to be indemnified by the Partnership, nor the obligations of the Partnership to indemnify any such Indemnitee under and in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7.7 as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification or repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or-in part, prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted.

(j) If a claim for indemnification (following the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding for which indemnification is being sought) or advancement of expenses under this Section 7.7 is not paid in full within thirty (30) days after a written claim therefor by any Indemnitee has been received by the Partnership, such Indemnitee may file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be paid the expenses of prosecuting such claim, including reasonable attorneys' fees. In any such action the Partnership shall have the burden of proving that such Indemnitee is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law.

(k) This Section 7.7 shall not limit the right of the Partnership, to the extent and in the manner permitted by law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to, and purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of, Persons other than Indemnitees.

SECTION 7.8. Liability of Indemnitees.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, no Indemnitee shall be liable to the Partnership, the Limited Partners or any other Persons who have acquired interests in the Partnership Securities, for any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest, settlements or other amounts arising as a result of any act or omission of an Indemnitee, or for any breach of contract (including breach of this Agreement) or any breach of duties (including breach of fiduciary duties) whether arising hereunder, at law, in equity or otherwise, unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that, in respect of the matter in question, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.

(b) The General Partner may exercise any of the powers granted to it by this Agreement and perform any of the duties imposed upon it hereunder either directly or by or through its agents, and the General Partner shall not be responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the part of any such agent appointed by the General Partner in good faith.

(c) To the extent that, at law or in equity, an Indemnitee has duties (including fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating thereto to the Partnership or to the Partners, the General Partner and any other Indemnitee acting in connection with the Partnership's business or affairs shall not be liable to the Partnership or to any Partner for its good faith reliance on the provisions of this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement, to the extent that they restrict or otherwise modify the duties and liabilities of an Indemnitee otherwise existing at law or in equity, are agreed by the Partners to replace such other duties and liabilities of such Indemnitee.

(d) Any amendment, modification or repeal of this Section 7.8 or any provision hereof shall be prospective only and shall not in any way affect the limitations on the liability of the Indemnitees under this Section 7.8 as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification or repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted, and provided such Person became an Indemnitee hereunder prior to such amendment, modification or repeal.

SECTION 7.9. Resolution of Conflicts of Interest; Standards of Conduct and Modification of Duties.

Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, whenever a potential conflict of interest exists or arises between the Manager or any (a) of its Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Partnership, on the other, any resolution or course of action by the General Partner or its Affiliates in respect of such conflict of interest shall be permitted and deemed approved by all Partners, and shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement, or any agreement contemplated herein or therein, or of any duty hereunder or existing at law, in equity or otherwise, if the resolution or course of action in respect of such conflict of interest is (i) approved by the majority of disinterested directors of the Board of Directors or by a conflicts committee established by the Board of Directors, (ii) has Special LP Approval, (iii) on terms no less favorable to the Partnership than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or (iv) fair and reasonable to the Partnership, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be or have been particularly favorable or advantageous to the Partnership). The General Partner shall be authorized but not required in connection with its resolution of such conflict of interest to seek Special Director Approval or Special LP Approval of such resolution, and the General Partner may also adopt a resolution or course of action that has not received Special Director Approval or Special LP Approval. Failure to seek Special Director Approval or Special LP Approval shall not be deemed to indicate that a conflict of interest exists or that Special Director Approval or Special LP Approval could not have been obtained. If Special Director Approval or Special LP Approval is not sought and the Board of Directors determines that the resolution or course of action taken with respect to a conflict of interest satisfies either of the standards set forth in clauses (iii) or (iv) above, then it shall be presumed that, in making its decision, the Board of Directors acted in good faith, and in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of any Limited Partner, the Partnership or any other Person bound by this Agreement challenging such approval, the Person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding shall have the burden of overcoming such presumption. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any duty otherwise existing at law or equity, and without limitation of Section 7.6, the existence of the conflicts of interest described in or contemplated by this Agreement, the Management Agreement, the Incentive Unit Agreement, the Exchange Agreement and all agreements, documents and instruments related to the Merger or the Exchange are hereby approved, and all such conflicts of interest are waived, by all Partners and shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 7.9(a) or any other provision of this Agreement, approval by the majority of disinterested directors of the Board of Directors or by a conflicts committee established by the Board of Directors shall be required for any pursuit by any Director, the General Partner, the Manager or any of their respective Affiliates, of any corporate opportunity of the Partnership.

(c) Whenever in this Agreement or any other agreement contemplated hereby or otherwise the General Partner, in its capacity as the general partner of the Partnership, is permitted to or required to make a decision in its "sole discretion" or "discretion" or that it deems "necessary or appropriate" or "necessary or advisable" or under a grant of similar authority or latitude, except as otherwise provided herein, the General Partner, or such Affiliates causing it to do so, may make such decision in its sole discretion (regardless of whether there is a reference to "sole discretion" or "discretion") unless another express standard is provided for, and shall be entitled to consider only such interests and factors as it desires and shall have no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of or factors affecting the Partnership or the Partners, and shall not be subject to any other or different standards imposed by this Agreement, any other agreement contemplated hereby or otherwise the General Partner is permitted to or required to make a decision in its "good faith" then for purposes of this Agreement, the General Partner, or any of its Affiliates that cause it to make any such decision, shall be conclusively presumed to be acting in good faith if such Person or Persons subjectively believe(s) that the decision made or not made is in the best interests of the Partnership.

(d) Whenever the General Partner makes a determination or takes or declines to take any other action, or any of its Affiliates causes it to do so, in its individual capacity as opposed to in its capacity as a general partner of the Partnership, whether under this Agreement or any other agreement contemplated hereby or otherwise, then the General Partner, or such Affiliates causing it to do so, are entitled, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to make such determination or to take or decline to take such other action free of any duty (including any fiduciary duty) or obligation, whatsoever to the Partnership, any Limited Partner, any Record Holder or any other Person bound by this Agreement, and the General Partner, or such Affiliates causing it to do so, shall not, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be required to act pursuant to any other standard imposed by this Agreement, any other agreement contemplated hereby or under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or any other law, rule or regulation or at equity.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the General Partner and its Affiliates shall have no duty or obligation, express or implied, to (i) sell or otherwise dispose of any asset of the Partnership Group other than in the ordinary course of business or (ii) permit any Group Member to use any facilities or assets of the General Partner and its Affiliates, except as may be provided in contracts entered into from time to time specifically dealing with such use. Any determination by the General Partner or any of its Affiliates to enter into such contracts shall be in its sole discretion.

(f) The Limited Partners, hereby authorize the General Partner, on behalf of the Partnership as a partner or member of a Group Member, to approve of actions by the general partner or managing member of such Group Member similar to those actions permitted to be taken by the General Partner pursuant to this Section 7.9.

SECTION 7.10. Other Matters Concerning the General Partner.

(a) The General Partner may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond, debenture or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

(b) The General Partner may consult with legal counsel, accountants, appraisers, management consultants, investment bankers and other consultants and advisers selected by it, and any act taken or omitted to be taken in reliance upon the advice or opinion (including an Opinion of Counsel) of such Persons as to matters that the General Partner reasonably believes to be within such Person's professional or expert competence shall be conclusively presumed to have been done or omitted in good faith and in accordance with such advice or opinion.

(c) The General Partner shall have the right, in respect of any of its powers or obligations hereunder, to act through any of its duly authorized officers or any duly appointed attorney or attorneys-in-fact. Each such attorney shall, to the extent provided by the General Partner in the power of attorney, have full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and duty that is permitted or required to be done by the General Partner hereunder.

SECTION 7.11. Purchase or Sale of Partnership Securities.

The General Partner may cause the Partnership or any other Group Member to purchase or otherwise acquire Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities. The General Partner or any of its Affiliates may also purchase or otherwise acquire and sell or otherwise dispose of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities for their own account, subject to the provisions of Articles IV and X.

SECTION 7.12. Reliance by Third Parties.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any Person dealing with the Partnership shall be entitled to assume that the General Partner and any officer of the General Partner authorized by the General Partner to act on behalf of and in the name of the Partnership has full power and authority to encumber, sell or otherwise use in any manner any and all assets of the Partnership and to enter into any authorized contracts on behalf of the Partnership, and such Person shall be entitled to deal with the General Partner or any such officer as if it were the Partnership's sole party in interest, both legally and beneficially. Each Limited Partner hereby waives any and all defenses or other remedies that may be available against such Person to contest, negate or disaffirm any action of the General Partner or any such officer in connection with any such dealing. In no event shall any Person dealing with the General Partner or any such officer or its representatives be obligated to ascertain that the terms of this Agreement have been complied with or to inquire into the necessity or expedience of any act or action of the General Partner or any such officer or its representatives. Each and every certificate, document or other instrument executed on behalf of the Partnership by the General Partner or its representatives shall be conclusive evidence in favor of any and every Person relying thereon or claiming thereunder that (a) at the time of the execution and delivery of such certificate, document or instrument, this Agreement was in full force and effect, (b) the Person executing and delivering such certificate, document or instrument was duly authorized and empowered to do so for and on behalf of the Partnership and (c) such certificate, document or instrument was duly executed and delivered in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and is binding upon the Partnership.

ARTICLE VIII

BOOKS, RECORDS, ACCOUNTING AND REPORTS

SECTION 8.1. Records and Accounting.

The General Partner shall keep or cause to be kept at the principal office of the Partnership or any other place designated by the General Partner in its sole discretion appropriate books and records with respect to the Partnership's business, including all books and records necessary to provide to the Limited Partners any information required to be provided pursuant to Section 3.4(a). Any books and records maintained by or on behalf of the Partnership in the regular course of its business, including the record of the Record Holders of Units or other Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities, books of account and records of Partnership proceedings, may be kept on, or be in the form of, computer disks, hard drives, magnetic tape, photographs, micrographics or any other information storage device; provided that the books and records so maintained are convertible into clearly legible written form within a reasonable period of time. The books of the Partnership shall be maintained, for financial reporting purposes, on an accrual basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

SECTION 8.2. Fiscal Year.

The fiscal year of the Partnership (each, a "*Fiscal Year*") shall be a year ending December 31. The General Partner in its sole discretion may change the Fiscal Year of the Partnership at any time and from time to time in each case as may be required or permitted under the Code or applicable United States Treasury Regulations and shall notify the Limited Partners of such change in the regular communication to the Limited Partners next following such change.

SECTION 8.3. Reports.

(a) As soon as practicable, but in no event later than 120 days after the close of each Fiscal Year, the General Partner shall cause to be made available to each Record Holder of a Unit as of a date selected by the General Partner in its sole discretion, an annual report containing financial statements of the Partnership for such Fiscal Year, presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, including a balance sheet and statements of operations, Partnership equity and cash flows, such statements to be audited by a firm of independent public accountants selected by the General Partner in its sole discretion.

(b) As soon as practicable, but in no event later than 90 days after the close of each Quarter except the last Quarter of each Fiscal Year, the General Partner shall cause to be made available to each Record Holder of a Unit, as of a date selected by the General Partner in its sole discretion, a report containing unaudited financial statements of the Partnership and such other information as may be required by applicable law, regulation or rule of any National Securities Exchange on which the Units are listed for trading, or as the General Partner determines to be necessary or appropriate.

(c) The General Partner shall be deemed to have made a report available to each Record Holder as required by this Section 8.3 if it has either (i) filed such report with the Commission via its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system and such report is publicly available on such system or (ii) made such report available on any publicly available website maintained by the Partnership.

ARTICLE IX

TAX MATTERS

SECTION 9.1. Tax Returns and Information.

As soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each Fiscal Year, the Partnership shall send to each Partner a copy of United States Internal Revenue Service Schedule K-1, and any comparable statements required by applicable U.S. state or local income tax law, with respect to such Fiscal Year. The Partnership also shall provide the Partners with such other information as may be reasonably requested for purposes of allowing the Partners to prepare and file their own U.S. federal, state and local tax returns. Each Partner shall be required to report for all tax purposes consistently with such information provided by the Partnership. The classification, realization and recognition of income, gain, losses and deductions and other items shall be on the accrual method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

SECTION 9.2. Tax Elections.

The General Partner shall determine whether to make or refrain from making the election provided for in Section 754 of the Code, and any and all other elections permitted by the tax laws of the United States, the several states and other relevant jurisdictions, in its sole discretion.

SECTION 9.3. Tax Controversies.

Subject to the provisions hereof, the General Partner shall designate from time to time a Partner to serve as the Tax Matters Partner (as defined in the Code) to represent, at the General Partner's direction, the Partnership (at the Partnership's expense) in connection with all examinations of the Partnership's affairs by tax authorities, including resulting administrative and judicial proceedings, and to expend Partnership funds for professional services and costs associated therewith. Each Partner agrees to cooperate with the Tax Matters Partner and to do or refrain from doing any or all things reasonably required by the General Partner and the Tax Matters Partner to conduct such proceedings.

SECTION 9.4. Withholding.

The General Partner may treat taxes paid by the Partnership on behalf of all or less than all of the Partners either as a distribution of cash to such Partners or as a general expense of the Partnership, as determined appropriate under the circumstances by the General Partner. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the General Partner is authorized to take any action that may be required to cause the Partnership or any other Group Member to comply with any withholding requirements established under the Code or any other U.S. federal, state, local or non-U.S. law including, without limitation, pursuant to Sections 1441, 1442, 1445 and 1446 of the Code. To the extent that the Partnership is required or elects to withhold and pay over to any taxing authority any amount resulting from the allocation of income or from a distribution to any Partner (including, without limitation, by reason of Section 1446 of the Code), the General Partner may treat the amount withheld as a distribution of cash pursuant to Section 6.3 or Article XVI, as applicable, in the amount of such withholding from such Partner.

SECTION 9.5. Election to be Treated as a Corporation.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if the General Partner determines in its sole discretion that it is no longer in the best interests of the Partnership to continue as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the General Partner may elect to treat the Partnership as an association or as a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal (and applicable state) income tax purposes or to cause the Partnership to transfer its assets, subject to its liabilities, to a corporation in exchange for stock of the corporation and to transfer such stock to its Partners pursuant to the liquidation of the Partnership.

ARTICLE X

ADMISSION OF PARTNERS

SECTION 10.1. Admission of Initial Limited Partner.

Upon the issuance by the Partnership of regular Common Units to the Organizational Limited Partner as described in Section 5.1, the General Partner admitted such Person to the Partnership as the Initial Limited Partner in respect of the regular Common Units issued to it.

SECTION 10.2. Admission of Additional Limited Partners.

(a) By acceptance of the transfer of any Limited Partner Interests in accordance with this Section 10.2 or the issuance of any Limited Partner Interests in accordance with Section 5.1 in connection with the Merger or the Exchange or in accordance with any other provision hereof (including in a merger, consolidation or other business combination pursuant to Article XIV), each transferee or other recipient of a Limited Partner Interest (including any nominee holder or an agent or representative acquiring such Limited Partner Interests for the account of another Person) (i) shall be admitted to the Partnership as a Limited Partner with respect to the Limited Partner Interests so transferred or issued to such Person when any such transfer or issuance is reflected in the books and records of the Partnership, with or without execution of this Agreement (which the Partnership shall cause to occur not later than five days following submission of such transfer to the Transfer Agent), (ii) shall become bound by the terms of, and shall be deemed to have agreed to be bound by, this Agreement, (iii) shall become the Record Holder of the Limited Partner Interests so transferred or issued, (iv) represents that the transferee or other recipient has the capacity, power and authority to enter into this Agreement, (v) grants the powers of attorney set forth in this Agreement and (vi) makes the consents, acknowledgments and waivers contained in this Agreement. The transfer of any Limited Partner Interests and/or the admission of any new Limited Partner shall not constitute an amendment to this Agreement. A Person may become a Record Holder without the consent or approval of any of the Partners. A Person may not become a Limited Partner without acquiring a Limited Partner Interest.

(b) The name and mailing address of each Limited Partner shall be listed on the books and records of the Partnership maintained for such purpose by the Partnership or the Transfer Agent. The General Partner shall update the books and records of the Partnership from time to time as necessary to reflect accurately the information therein (or shall cause the Transfer Agent to do so, as applicable). A Limited Partner Interest may be represented by a Certificate, as provided in Section 4.1.

(c) Any transfer of a Limited Partner Interest shall not entitle the transferee to share in the profits and losses, to receive distributions, to receive allocations of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit or any similar item or to any other rights to which the transferor was entitled until the transferee becomes a Limited Partner pursuant to Section 10.2(a).

SECTION 10.3. Admission of Successor General Partner.

A successor General Partner approved pursuant to Section 11.1 or 11.2 or the transferee of or successor to all of the General Partner Interest pursuant to Section 4.6 who is proposed to be admitted as a successor General Partner shall be admitted to the Partnership as the General Partner effective immediately prior to the withdrawal or removal of the predecessor or transferring General Partner pursuant to Sections 11.1 or 11.2 or the transfer of such General Partner's General Partner Interest pursuant to Section 4.6; provided however, that no such successor shall be admitted to the Partnership until compliance with the terms of Section 4.6 has occurred and such successor has executed and delivered such other documents or instruments as may be required to effect such admission. Any such successor is hereby authorized to and shall, subject to the terms hereof, carry on the business of the Partnership without dissolution.

SECTION 10.4. Amendment of Agreement and Certificate of Limited Partnership to Reflect the Admission of Partners.

To effect the admission to the Partnership of any Partner, the General Partner shall take all steps necessary under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act to amend the records of the Partnership to reflect such admission and, if necessary, to prepare as soon as practicable an amendment to this Agreement and, if required by law, the General Partner shall prepare and file an amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership, and the General Partner may for this purpose, among others, exercise the power of attorney granted pursuant to Section 2.6.

ARTICLE XI

WITHDRAWAL OR REMOVAL OF PARTNERS

SECTION 11.1. Withdrawal of the General Partner.

(a) The General Partner shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the Partnership upon the occurrence of any one of the following events (each such event herein referred to as an *"Event of Withdrawal"*):

- (i) The General Partner voluntarily withdraws from the Partnership by giving written notice to the other Partners;
- (ii) The General Partner transfers all of its General Partner Interest pursuant to Section 4.6;
- (iii) The General Partner is removed pursuant to Section 11.2;

(iv) The General Partner (A) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (B) files a voluntary bankruptcy petition for relief under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, or any successor statute; (C) files a petition or answer seeking for itself a liquidation, dissolution or similar relief (but not a reorganization) under any law; (D) files an answer or other pleading admitting or failing to contest the material allegations of a petition filed against the General Partner in a proceeding of the type described in clauses (A)-(C) of this Section 11.1(a)(iv); or (E) seeks, consents to or acquiesces in the appointment of a trustee (but not a debtor-in-possession), receiver or liquidator of the General Partner or of all or any substantial part of its properties;

(v) A final and non-appealable order of relief under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, or any successor statute, is entered by a court with appropriate jurisdiction pursuant to a voluntary or involuntary petition by or against the General Partner; or

(vi) (A) in the event the General Partner is a corporation, a certificate of dissolution or its equivalent is filed for the General Partner, or 90 days expire after the date of notice to the General Partner of revocation of its charter without a reinstatement of its charter, under the laws of its state of incorporation; (B) in the event the General Partner is a partnership or a limited liability company, the dissolution and commencement of winding up of the General Partner; (C) in the event the General Partner is acting in such capacity by virtue of being a trustee of a trust, the termination of the trust; (D) in the event the General Partner is a natural person, his death or adjudication of incompetency; and (E) otherwise in the event of the termination of the General Partner.

If an Event of Withdrawal specified in Section 11.1(a)(iv), (v) or (vi)(A), (B), (C) or (E) occurs, the withdrawing General Partner shall give notice to the Limited Partners within 30 days after such occurrence. The Partners hereby agree that only the Events of Withdrawal described in this Section 11.1 shall result in the withdrawal of the General Partner from the Partnership.

Withdrawal of the General Partner from the Partnership upon the occurrence of an Event of Withdrawal shall not constitute a breach of this (b) Agreement under the following circumstances: (i) the General Partner voluntarily withdraws by giving at least 90 days' advance notice of its intention to withdraw to the Limited Partners; provided that prior to the effective date of such withdrawal, the withdrawal has Special LP Approval and the General Partner delivers to the Partnership an Opinion of Counsel ("Withdrawal Opinion of Counsel") that such withdrawal (following the selection of the successor General Partner) would not result in the loss of the limited liability of any Limited Partner or cause the Partnership or any Group Member to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes (to the extent not previously treated as such); or (ii) at any time that the General Partner ceases to be the General Partner pursuant to Section 11.1(a)(ii) or is removed pursuant to Section 11.2. The withdrawal of the General Partner from the Partnership upon the occurrence of an Event of Withdrawal shall also constitute the withdrawal of the General Partner as general partner or managing member, to the extent applicable, of the other Group Members. If the General Partner gives a notice of withdrawal pursuant to Section 11.1(a)(i), the Limited Partners holding a majority of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units, may, prior to the effective date of such withdrawal, elect a successor General Partner. The Person so elected as successor General Partner shall automatically become the successor general partner or managing member, to the extent applicable, of the other Group Members of which the General Partner is a general partner or a managing member, and is hereby authorized to, and shall, continue the business of the Partnership and, to the extent applicable, the other Group Members without dissolution. If, prior to the effective date of the General Partner's withdrawal pursuant to Section 11.1(a)(i), a successor is not selected by the Unitholders as provided herein or the Partnership does not receive a Withdrawal Opinion of Counsel, the Partnership shall be dissolved in accordance with and subject to Section 12.1. Any successor General Partner elected in accordance with the terms of this Section 11.1 shall be subject to the provisions of Section 10.3.

SECTION 11.2. Removal of the General Partner.

The General Partner may be removed if such removal is approved by the Unitholders holding at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates). Any such action by such Unitholders for removal of the General Partner must also provide for the election of a successor General Partner by the Unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates). Such removal shall be effective immediately following the admission of a successor General Partner pursuant to Section 10.3. The removal of the General Partner shall also automatically constitute the removal of the General Partner as general partner or managing member, to the extent applicable, of the other Group Members of which the General Partner is a general partner or a managing member. If a Person is elected as a successor General Partner in accordance with the terms of this Section 11.2, such Person shall, upon admission pursuant to Section 10.3, automatically become a successor general partner or managing member, to the extent applicable, of the other Group Members of the Other Group Members of the Partnership and the other Group Members without dissolution. The right of the Unitholders to remove the General Partner shall not exist or be exercised unless the Partnership has received an opinion opining as to the matters covered by a Withdrawal Opinion of Counsel. Any successor General Partner elected in accordance with the terms of this Section 11.2 shall be subject to the provisions of Section 10.3.

SECTION 11.3. Interest of Departing General Partner and Successor General Partner.

(a) In the event of (i) the withdrawal of a General Partner under circumstances where such withdrawal does not violate this Agreement or (ii) the removal of the General Partner by the Unitholders under circumstances where Cause does not exist, if a successor General Partner is elected in accordance with the terms of Sections 11.1 or 11.2, the Departing General Partner shall have the option exercisable prior to the effective date of the withdrawal or removal of such Departing General Partner to require its successor to purchase (x) its General Partner Interest and (y) its general partner interest (or equivalent interest), if any, in the other Group Members ((x) and (y) collectively, the "*Combined Interest*") in exchange for an amount in cash equal to the fair market value of such Combined Interest, such amount to be determined and payable as of the effective date of its withdrawal or removal. If the General Partner is removed by the Unitholders under circumstances where Cause exists or if the General Partner withdraws under circumstances where such withdrawal violates this Agreement, and if a successor General Partner is elected in accordance with the terms of Section 11.1 or 11.2 (or if the business of the Partnership is continued pursuant to Section 12.2 and the successor General Partner is not the former General Partner), such successor shall have the option, exercisable prior to the effective date of the withdrawal or removal of such Departing General Partner. In either event, the Departing General Partner shall be entitled to receive all reimbursements due such Departing General Partner pursuant to Section 7.4, including any employee-related liabilities (including severance liabilities), incurred in connection with the termination of any employees employed by the Departing General Partner or its Affiliates (excluding any Group Member) for the benefit of the Partnership or the orther Group Members.

For purposes of this Section 11.3(a), the fair market value of a Departing General Partner's Combined Interest shall be determined by agreement between the Departing General Partner and its successor or, failing agreement within 30 days after the effective date of such Departing General Partner's departure, by an independent investment banking firm or other independent expert selected by the Departing General Partner and its successor, which, in turn, may rely on other experts, and the determination of which shall be conclusive as to such matter, the cost of such independent expert shall be the responsibility of the Partnership. If such parties cannot agree upon one independent investment banking firm or other independent expert, which 45 days after the effective date of such departure, then the Departing General Partner shall designate an independent investment banking firm or other independent expert, the Departing General Partner's successor shall designate an independent investment banking firm or other independent expert, and such firms or experts shall mutually select a third independent investment banking firm or independent expert, which third independent investment banking firm or other independent expert shall determine the fair market value of the Combined Interest of the Departing General Partner. In making its determination, such third independent investment banking firm or other independent expert may consider the then current trading price of Units on any National Securities Exchange on which Units are then listed, the value of the Partnership's assets, the rights and obligations of the Departing General Partner and other factors it may deem relevant.

(b) If the Combined Interest of the Departing General Partner is not purchased in the manner set forth in Section 11.3(a), the Departing General Partner (or its transferee) shall become a Limited Partner and its Combined Interest shall be converted into regular Common Units pursuant to a valuation made by an investment banking firm or other independent expert selected pursuant to Section 11.3(a), the cost of such independent expert shall be the responsibility of the Partnership.

Any successor General Partner shall indemnify the Departing General Partner (or its transferee) as to all debts and liabilities of the Partnership arising on or after the date on which the Departing General Partner (or its transferee) becomes a Limited Partner. For purposes of this Agreement, conversion of the Combined Interest of the Departing General Partner to regular Common Units will be characterized as if the Departing General Partner (or its transferee) contributed its Combined Interest to the Partnership in exchange for the newly-issued regular Common Units.

SECTION 11.4. Withdrawal of Limited Partners.

No Limited Partner shall have any right to withdraw from the Partnership; provided however that when a transferee of a Limited Partner's Limited Partner Interest becomes a Record Holder of the Limited Partner Interest so transferred, such transferring Limited Partner shall cease to be a Limited Partner with respect to the Limited Partner Interest so transferred.

ARTICLE XII

DISSOLUTION AND LIQUIDATION

SECTION 12.1. Dissolution.

The Partnership shall not be dissolved by the admission of additional Limited Partners or by the admission of a successor General Partner in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Upon the removal or withdrawal of the General Partner, if a successor General Partner is elected pursuant to Sections 10.3, 11.1, 11.2 or 12.2, the Partnership shall not be dissolved and such successor General Partner is hereby authorized to, and shall, continue the business of the Partnership. Subject to Section 12.2, the Partnership shall dissolve, and its affairs shall be wound up:

(a) upon an Event of Withdrawal of the General Partner as provided in Section 11.1(a) (other than Section 11.1(a)(ii)), unless a successor is elected and such successor is admitted to the Partnership pursuant to this Agreement;

(b) upon an election to dissolve the Partnership by the Board of Directors that is approved by a majority of the Directors after December 31, 2011 or such earlier date with the consent of the Manager;

(c) upon an election to dissolve the Partnership by the General Partner that is approved by the Unitholders holding 66 2/3% of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates);

(d) upon the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of the Partnership pursuant to the provisions of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act; or

(e) at any time there are no Limited Partners, unless the Partnership is continued without dissolution in accordance with the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

SECTION 12.2. Continuation of the Business of the Partnership After Event of Withdrawal.

Upon an Event of Withdrawal caused by (a) the withdrawal or removal of the General Partner as provided in Sections 11.1(a)(i) or (iii) and the failure of the Partners to select a successor to such Departing General Partner pursuant to Sections 11.1 or 11.2, then within 90 days thereafter, or (b) an event constituting an Event of Withdrawal as defined in Sections 11.1(a)(iv), (v) or (vi), then, to the maximum extent permitted by law, within 180 days thereafter, the Unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units may elect to continue the business of the Partnership on the same terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement by appointing as the successor General Partner a Person approved by the Unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units. Unless such an election is made within the applicable time period as set forth above, the Partnership shall dissolve and conduct only activities necessary to wind up its affairs. If such an election is so made, then:

(i) the Partnership shall continue without dissolution unless earlier dissolved in accordance with this Article XII;

(ii) if the successor General Partner is not the former General Partner, then the interest of the former General Partner shall be treated in the manner provided in Section 11.3; and

(iii) the successor General Partner shall be admitted to the Partnership as General Partner, effective as of the Event of Withdrawal, by agreeing in writing to be bound by this Agreement;

provided that the right of the Unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units to approve a successor General Partner and to continue the business of the Partnership shall not exist and may not be exercised unless the Partnership has received an Opinion of Counsel (x) that the exercise of the right would not result in the loss of limited liability of any Limited Partner and (y) neither the Partnership nor any successor limited partnership would be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise be taxable as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes upon the exercise of such right to continue (to the extent not so treated or taxed).

SECTION 12.3. Liquidator.

Upon dissolution of the Partnership, unless the Partnership is continued pursuant to Section 12.2, the General Partner shall select in its sole discretion one or more Persons (which may be the General Partner or any of its Affiliates) to act as Liquidator. If other than the General Partner, the Liquidator (1) shall be entitled to receive such compensation for its services as may be approved by Unitholders holding at least a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units voting as a single class (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates), (2) shall agree not to resign at any time without 15 days' prior notice and (3) may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by notice of removal approved by Unitholders holding at least a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units voting as a single class (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates). Upon dissolution, removal or resignation of the Liquidator, a successor and substitute Liquidator (who shall have and succeed to all rights, powers and duties of the original Liquidator) shall within 30 days thereafter be approved by holders of at least a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units voting as a single class (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates). The right to approve a successor or substitute Liquidator in the manner provided herein shall be deemed to refer also to any such successor or substitute Liquidator approved in the manner herein provided. Except as expressly provided in this Article XII, the Liquidator approved in the manner provided herein shall have and may exercise, without further authorization or consent of any of the parties hereto, all of the powers conferred upon the General Partner under the terms of this Agreement (but subject to all of the applicable limitations, contractual and otherwise, upon the exercise of such powers, other than the limitation on sale set forth in Section 7.3) necessary or appropria

SECTION 12.4. Liquidation.

The Liquidator shall proceed to dispose of the assets of the Partnership, discharge its liabilities, and otherwise wind up its affairs in such manner and over such period as the Liquidator determines to be in the best interest of the Partners, subject to Section 17-804 of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act and the following:

(a) Disposition of Assets. The assets may be disposed of by public or private sale or by distribution in kind to one or more Partners on such terms as the Liquidator and such Partner or Partners may agree. If any property is distributed in kind, the Partner receiving the property shall be deemed for purposes of Section 12.4(c) to have received cash equal to its fair market value; and contemporaneously therewith, appropriate cash distributions must be made to the other Partners. The Liquidator may defer liquidation or distribution of the Partnership's assets for a reasonable time if it determines that an immediate sale or distribution of all or some of the Partnership's assets would be impractical or would cause undue loss to the Partners. The Liquidator may distribute the Partnership's assets, in whole or in part, in kind if it determines that a sale would be impractical or would cause undue loss to the Partners.

(b) *Discharge of Liabilities*. Liabilities of the Partnership include amounts owed to the Liquidator as compensation for serving in such capacity (subject to the terms of Section 12.3) and amounts to Partners otherwise than in respect of their distribution rights under Article VI. With respect to any liability that is contingent, conditional or unmatured or is otherwise not yet due and payable, the Liquidator shall either settle such claim for such amount as it thinks appropriate or establish a reserve of cash or other assets to provide for its payment.

(c) *Liquidation Distributions*. All property (valued at fair market value, as determined by the General Partner) and all cash in excess of that amount required to discharge liabilities as provided in Section 12.4(b) shall, subject to Article XVI, be distributed to the Partners in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests as of a Record Date selected by the Liquidator, except as provide in Section 5.4(f) and in Section 2(a)(viii) of the Incentive Unit Agreement.

SECTION 12.5. Cancellation of Certificate of Limited Partnership.

Upon the completion of the distribution of Partnership cash and property as provided in Section 12.4 in connection with the liquidation of the Partnership, the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all qualifications of the Partnership as a foreign limited partnership in jurisdictions other than the State of Delaware shall be canceled and such other actions as may be necessary to terminate the Partnership shall be taken.

SECTION 12.6. Return of Contributions.

The General Partner shall not be personally liable for, and shall have no obligation to contribute or loan any monies or property to the Partnership to enable it to effectuate, the return of the Capital Contributions of the Limited Partners or Unitholders, or any portion thereof, it being expressly understood that any such return shall be made solely from Partnership assets.

SECTION 12.7. Waiver of Partition.

To the maximum extent permitted by law, each Partner hereby waives any right to partition of the Partnership property.

SECTION 12.8. Capital Account Restoration.

No Partner shall have any obligation to restore any negative balance in its Capital Account upon liquidation of the Partnership.

ARTICLE XIII

AMENDMENT OF PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT; MEETINGS; RECORD DATE

SECTION 13.1. Amendments to be Adopted Solely by the General Partner.

Each Partner agrees that the General Partner, without the approval of any Partner, any Unitholder or any other Person, may amend any provision of this Agreement and execute, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, file and record whatever documents may be required in connection therewith, to reflect:

(a) a change in the name of the Partnership, the location of the principal place of business of the Partnership, the registered agent of the Partnership or the registered office of the Partnership;

(b) the admission, substitution, withdrawal or removal of Partners in accordance with this Agreement;

(c) a change that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate to qualify or continue the qualification of the Partnership as a limited partnership or a partnership in which the Limited Partners have limited liability under the laws of any state or other jurisdiction or to ensure that the Group Members will not be treated as associations taxable as corporations or otherwise taxed as entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

(d) a change that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate to address changes in U.S. federal income tax regulations, legislation or interpretation;

(e) a change that the General Partner determines (i) does not adversely affect the Limited Partners considered as a whole (including any particular class of Partnership Interests as compared to other classes of Partnership Interests, treating the Common Units as a separate class for this purpose) in any material respect, (ii) to be necessary or appropriate to (A) satisfy any requirements, conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion, directive, order, ruling or regulation of any U.S. federal or state or non-U.S. agency or judicial authority or contained in any U.S. federal or state or non-U.S. statute (including the Delaware Limited Partnership Act) or (B) facilitate the trading of the Limited Partner Interests (including the division of any class or classes of Outstanding Limited Partner Interests into different classes to facilitate uniformity of tax consequences within such classes of Limited Partner Interests) or comply with any rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which the Limited Partner Interests are or will be listed, (iii) to be necessary or appropriate in connection with action taken by the General Partner pursuant to Section 5.7 or (iv) is required to effect the intent of the provisions of this Agreement or is otherwise contemplated by this Agreement;

(f) a change in the Fiscal Year or taxable year of the Partnership and any other changes that the General Partner determines to be necessary or appropriate as a result of a change in the Fiscal Year or taxable year of the Partnership including, if the General Partner shall so determine in its sole discretion, a change in the definition of "*Quarter*" and, subject to Article XVI, the dates on which distributions are to be made by the Partnership;

(g) an amendment that is necessary, in the Opinion of Counsel, to prevent the Partnership, or the General Partner or its directors, officers, trustees or agents from having a material risk of being in any manner subjected to the provisions of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, the U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or "plan asset" regulations adopted under the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, regardless of whether such are substantially similar to plan asset regulations currently applied or proposed by the United States Department of Labor;

(h) an amendment that the General Partner determines is necessary for the General Partner to elect to treat the Partnership as an association or as a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal (and applicable state) income tax purposes, if the General Partner determines in its sole discretion that it is no longer in the best interests of the Partnership to continue as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

(i) an amendment that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate in connection with the creation, authorization or issuance of any class or series of Partnership Securities or options, rights, warrants or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities pursuant to Section 5.5;

(j) any amendment expressly permitted in this Agreement to be made by the General Partner acting alone;

(k) an amendment that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate in order to consummate any of the transactions contemplated by the Exchange Agreement;

(l) an amendment effected, necessitated or contemplated by a Merger Agreement approved in accordance with Section 14.3;

(m) an amendment that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate to reflect and account for the formation by the Partnership of, or investment by the Partnership in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other entity, in connection with the conduct by the Partnership of activities permitted by the terms of Sections 2.4 or 7.1(a);

(n) a merger, conversion or conveyance pursuant to Section 14.3(d), including any amendment permitted pursuant to Section 14.5; or

(o) any other amendments substantially similar to the foregoing.

SECTION 13.2. Amendment Procedures.

Except as provided in Sections 5.4, 13.1, 13.3 and 14.5 and Article XVI, all amendments to this Agreement shall be made in accordance with the following requirements. Amendments to this Agreement may be proposed only by or with the consent of the General Partner which consent may be given or withheld in its sole discretion. A proposed amendment shall be effective upon its approval by the Unitholders holding a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates), unless a greater or different percentage is required under this Agreement or by Delaware law. Each proposed amendment that requires the approval of the holders of a specified percentage of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units shall be set forth in a writing that contains the text of the proposed amendment. If such an amendment is proposed, the General Partner shall seek the written approval of the requisite percentage of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units or call a meeting of the Unitholders to consider and vote on such proposed amendment, in each case in accordance with the other provisions of this Article XIII and Article XVI. The General Partner shall notify all Record Holders upon final adoption of any such proposed amendments.

SECTION 13.3. Amendment Requirements.

(a) Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 13.1 and 13.2, no provision of this Agreement that requires the vote or consent of Unitholders holding, or holders of, a percentage of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units deemed owned by the General Partner and its Affiliates) required to take any action shall be amended, altered, changed, repealed or rescinded in any respect that would have the effect of reducing such voting percentage unless such amendment is approved by the written consent or the affirmative vote of Unitholders or holders of Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates) whose aggregate Outstanding Voting Units constitute not less than the voting or consent requirement sought to be reduced.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 13.1 and 13.2, no amendment to this Agreement may (i) enlarge the obligations of any Limited Partner without its consent, unless such shall be deemed to have occurred as a result of an amendment approved pursuant to Section 13.3(c), (ii) enlarge the obligations of, restrict in any way any action by or rights of, or reduce in any way the amounts distributable, reimbursable or otherwise payable to the General Partner or any of its Affiliates without the General Partner's consent, which consent may be given or withheld in its sole discretion, or (iii) result in the Partnership, or the General Partner or its directors, officers, trustees or agents having a material risk of being in any manner subjected to the provisions of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, the U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or "plan asset" regulations adopted under the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, regardless of whether such are substantially similar to plan asset regulations currently applied or proposed by the United States Department of Labor.

(c) Except as provided in Sections 13.1 and 14.3 and Article XVI, any amendment that would have a material adverse effect on the rights or preferences of any class of Partnership Interests in relation to other classes of Partnership Interests (treating the Common Units as a separate class for this purpose) must be approved by the holders of not less than a majority of the Outstanding Partnership Interests of the class affected (including Partnership Interests held by the General Partner and its Affiliates).

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, except for amendments pursuant to Section 13.1 and except as otherwise provided by Section 14.3(b), no amendments shall become effective without the approval of Unitholders holding at least 90% of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates) unless the Partnership obtains an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that such amendment will not affect the limited liability of any Limited Partner under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

(e) Except as provided in Section 13.1, this Section 13.3 shall only be amended with the approval of the Unitholders holding of at least 90% of the voting power of the Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates).

SECTION 13.4. Meetings.

(a) All acts of Limited Partners to be taken pursuant to this Agreement shall be taken in the manner provided in this Article XIII.

(b) Special meetings of the Limited Partners may be called by the General Partner, in its sole discretion, or by Limited Partners holding 50.1% or more of the Common Units or as otherwise provided in Article XVI. The General Partner shall send a notice of the meeting to the Limited Partners either directly or indirectly through the Transfer Agent. A meeting shall be held at a time and place determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion on a date not less than 10 days nor more than 60 days after the mailing of notice of the meeting. Limited Partners shall not vote on matters that would cause the Limited Partners to be deemed to be taking part in the management and control of the business and affairs of the Partnership so as to jeopardize the Limited Partners' limited liability under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or the law of any other state in which the Partnership is qualified to do business.

(c) (i) An annual meeting of the Limited Partners holding Units for the election of Directors to the Board of Directors and such other matters as the General Partner shall submit to a vote of the Limited Partners holding Units shall be held in June of each year beginning in 2010 at such other date and time as may be fixed from time to time by the General Partner at such place within or without the State of Delaware as may be fixed from time to time by the General Partner at such place within or without the State of Delaware as may be fixed from time to time by the General Partner and all as stated in the notice of the meeting. Notice of the annual meeting shall be given in accordance with Section 13.5 not less than 10 days nor more than 60 days prior to the date of such meeting.

(ii) The Limited Partners holding Units shall vote together as a single class for the election of Directors to the Board of Directors. The Limited Partners entitled to vote shall elect by a plurality of the votes cast at such meeting persons to serve on the Board of Directors who are nominated in accordance with the provisions of this Section 13.4(c). The exercise by a Limited Partner of the right to elect the Directors and any other rights afforded to such Limited Partner under this Section 13.4(c) shall be in such Limited Partner's capacity as a limited partner of the Partnership and shall not cause a Limited Partner to be deemed to be taking part in the management and control of the business and affairs of the Partnership so as to jeopardize such Limited Partner's limited liability under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or the law of any other state in which the Partnership is qualified to do business.

(iii) The initial number of Directors that shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be seven (7) and the Board of Directors shall consist of not less than five (5) and not more than nine (9) Directors. The Board of Directors shall consist of at least a majority of Independent Directors and the Manager shall have two (2) representatives serving as directors. Subject to this Section 13.4(c)(iii), the number of Directors shall be fixed from time to time exclusively pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors, provided that no decrease in the number of Directors constituting the Board of Directors shall shorten the term of any incumbent Director. The Board of Directors shall appoint from among its members an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, each to be composed solely of Independent Directors, and such other committees as the Board of Directors may deem appropriate or as may be required by any National Securities Exchange on which the Common Units are listed for trading, to serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.

(iv) Each Director shall hold office for a one-year term and until such Director's successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until such Director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Any vacancy on the Board of Directors (including, without limitation, any vacancy caused by an increase in the number of Directors on the Board of Directors) other than a vacancy created by the removal of a Director by the Limited Partners pursuant to the succeeding sentence, may only be filled by a majority of the Directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining Director. A Director may be removed, at any time, but only for cause, upon the affirmative vote of the Limited Partners holding of a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests and any vacancy on the Board of Directors created by such removal shall be filled by a vote of the Limited Partners at a meeting of the Limited Partners or by written consent in accordance with Section 13.11.

(v) (A) (1) Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors and the proposal of other business to be considered by the Limited Partners may be made at an annual meeting of the Limited Partners only (a) pursuant to the General Partner's notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto), (b) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof or (c) by any Limited Partner who was a Record Holder at the time the notice provided for in this Section 13.4(c)(v) is delivered to the General Partner, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 13.4(c)(v).

(2) For any nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a Limited Partner pursuant to clause (c) of paragraph (A)(1) of this Section 13.4(c)(v), the Limited Partner must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the General Partner. To be timely, a Limited Partner's notice shall be delivered to the General Partner not later than the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day, nor earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day, prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting (provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than thirty (30) days before or more than seventy (70) days after such anniversary date, notice by the Limited Partner must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such annual meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by the Partnership or the General Partner). For purposes of the 2010 annual meeting, the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting shall be deemed to be June 30, 2009. In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a Limited Partner's notice as described above. Such Limited Partner's notice shall set forth: (a) as to each person whom the Limited Partner proposes to nominate for election as a Director (i) the name, age, business address and residence address of such person, (ii) the principal occupation or employment of such person and a brief description of the person's business experience during the past five years, including any other public company directorships, (iii) the class or series and number of any Partnership Securities which are beneficially owned by such person, (iv) a brief description of any arrangement or understanding with any other Person (including the identity of such other Person) by which such person was selected for nomination as a Director and (v) such person's written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a Director if elected; (b) as to any other business that the Limited Partner proposes to bring before the meeting, a description of such business, the reasons for proposing such business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such Limited Partner and any of its Affiliates or Associates, individually or in the aggregate, including any anticipated benefit to the Limited Partner and any of its Affiliates or Associates therefrom; and (c) as to the Limited Partner giving the notice and the Beneficial Owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made (i) the name and address of such Limited Partner, as they appear on the Partnership's books and records, and of such Beneficial Owner, (ii) the class or series and number of Units which are owned beneficially and of record by such Limited Partner and such Beneficial Owner, and (iii) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to the nomination between or among such Limited Partner and such Beneficial Owner, any of their respective Affiliates or Associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing. The Board of Directors or any committee thereof may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as the Board of Directors or such committee may reasonably require to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a Director of the General Partner.

(3) Notwithstanding anything in the second sentence of paragraph (A)(2) of this Section 13.4(c)(v) to the contrary, in the event that the number of Directors to be elected to the Board of Directors is increased effective at the annual meeting and there is no public announcement by the Partnership or the General Partner naming the nominees for the additional directorships at least one hundred (100) days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting, a Limited Partner's notice required by this Section 13.4(c)(v) shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for the additional directorships, if it shall be delivered to the General Partner not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the Partnership or the General Partner.

(B) Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made at a special meeting of Limited Partners at which Directors are to be elected pursuant to the General Partner's notice of meeting (1) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof or (2) provided that the Board of Directors or the Limited Partners pursuant to Section 13.4(a) has determined that Directors shall be elected at such meeting, by any Limited Partner who is a Record Holder at the time the notice provided for in this Section 13.4(c)(v) is delivered to the General Partner, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and upon such election and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 13.4(c)(v). In the event the General Partner calls a special meeting of Limited Partners for the purpose of electing one or more Directors to the Board of Directors, any such Limited Partner entitled to vote in such election of Directors may nominate a person or persons (as the case may be) for election to such position(s) as specified in the General Partner not earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the announcement of an adjournment or postponement of a special meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a Limited Partner's notice as described above.

(C) (1) Only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13.4(c)(v) shall be eligible to be elected at an annual or special meeting of Limited Partners to serve as Directors. Except as otherwise provided by law, the chairman designated by the General Partner pursuant to Section 13.10 shall have the power and duty (a) to determine whether a nomination was made in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13.4(c)(v) (including whether the Limited Partner or Beneficial Owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such Limited Partner's nominee in compliance with such Limited Partner's representation as required by clause (A)(2)(b)(vi) of this Section 13.4(c)(v) and (b) if any proposed nomination was not made in compliance with this Section 13.4(c)(v), to declare that such nomination shall be disregarded. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 13.4(c)(v), unless otherwise required by law, if the Limited Partner (or a qualified representative of the Limited Partner) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of Limited Partners to present a nomination, such nomination shall be disregarded notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the General Partner or the Partnership. For purposes of this Section 13.4(c)(v), to be considered a qualified representative of the Limited Partner or an electronic transmission delivered by such Limited Partner or must be authorized by a writing executed by such Limited Partner or an electronic transmission delivered by such Limited Partner to act for such Limited Partner as proxy at the meeting of Limited Partners and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the meeting of Limited Partners.

(2) For purposes of this Section 13.4(c)(v), "public announcement" shall include disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or other national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Partnership or the General Partner with the Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act.

(3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 13.4(c)(v), a Limited Partner shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Securities Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 13.4(c) (v); provided however, that any references in this Agreement to the Securities Exchange Act or the rules promulgated thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit any requirements applicable to nominations pursuant to this Section 13.4(c)(v) (including paragraphs A(1)(c) and B hereof), and compliance with paragraphs A(1)(c) and B of this Section 13.4(c)(v) shall be the exclusive means for a Limited Partner to make nominations.

(vi) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 13.4(c) or elsewhere in this Agreement, the Board of Directors may not adopt a "poison pill" or unitholder or other similar rights plan with respect to the Partnership without Special Director Approval and Special LP Approval.

(vii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 13.4(c) or elsewhere in this Agreement, the General Partner may not amend this Section 13.4(c) or any other provision of this Agreement to provide for a classified Board of Directors without Special Director Approval and Special LP Approval.

(viii) The Partnership and the General Partner shall use their commercially reasonable best efforts to take such action as shall be necessary or appropriate to give effect to and implement the provisions of this Section 13.4(c), including, without limitation, amending the organizational documents of the General Partner such that at all times the organizational documents of the General Partner shall provide (i) that the Directors shall be elected in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and (ii) terms consistent with this Section 13.4(c)

(ix) Except as provided in this Agreement or otherwise required by the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, each Director shall have the same fiduciary duties and obligations to the Partnership and the Limited Partners as a director of a corporation incorporated under the DGCL has to such corporation and its stockholders, as if such Directors of the Company were directors of a corporation incorporated under the DGCL.

SECTION 13.5. Notice of a Meeting.

Notice of a meeting called pursuant to Section 13.4 shall be given to the Record Holders of the class or classes of Limited Partner Interests for which a meeting is proposed in writing by mail or other means of written communication in accordance with Section 17.1. The notice shall be deemed to have been given at the time when deposited in the mail or sent by other means of written communication.

SECTION 13.6. Record Date.

For purposes of determining the Limited Partners entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the Limited Partners or to give approvals without a meeting as provided in Section 13.11 the General Partner may set a Record Date, which shall not be less than 10 nor more than 60 days before (a) the date of the meeting (unless such requirement conflicts with any rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which the Limited Partner Interests are listed for trading, in which case the rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of such National Securities Exchange shall govern) or (b) in the event that approvals are sought without a meeting, the date by which Limited Partners are requested in writing by the General Partner to give such approvals. If the General Partner does not set a Record Date, then (a) the Record Date for determining the Limited Partners entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the Limited Partners shall be the close of business on the day immediately preceding the day on which notice is given, and (b) the Record Date for determining the Limited Partners entitled to give approvals without a meeting shall be the date the first written approval is deposited with the Partnership in care of the General Partner in accordance with Section 13.11.

SECTION 13.7. Adjournment.

When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting and a new Record Date need not be fixed, if the time and place thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken, unless such adjournment shall be for more than 45 days. At the adjourned meeting, the Partnership may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment is for more than 45 days or if a new Record Date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in accordance with this Article XIII.

SECTION 13.8. Waiver of Notice; Approval of Meeting; Approval of Minutes.

The transactions of any meeting of Limited Partners, however called and noticed, and whenever held, shall be as valid as if it had occurred at a meeting duly held after regular call and notice if a quorum is present either in person or by proxy. Attendance of a Limited Partner at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of the meeting, except (i) when the Limited Partner attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business at such meeting because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened, and (ii) that attendance at a meeting is not a waiver of any right to disapprove the consideration of matters required to be included in the notice of the meeting, but not so included, if the disapproval is expressly made at the meeting.

SECTION 13.9. Quorum.

Subject to Section 13.4 (b), the Limited Partners holding a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests of the class or classes for which a meeting has been called (including Limited Partner Interests deemed owned by the General Partner) represented in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of Limited Partners of such class or classes unless any such action by the Limited Partners requires approval by Limited Partners holding a greater percentage of the voting power of such Limited Partner Interests, in which case the quorum shall be such greater percentage. At any meeting of the Limited Partners duly called and held in accordance with this Agreement at which a quorum is present, the act of Limited Partners holding Outstanding Limited Partner Interests that in the aggregate represent a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests entitled to vote and be present in person or by proxy at such meeting shall be deemed to constitute the act of all Limited Partners, unless a greater or different percentage is required with respect to such action under this Agreement, in which case the act of the Limited Partners holding Outstanding Limited Partners present at least such greater or different percentage of the voting power shall be required. The Limited Partners present at a duly called or held meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Limited Partner Interests specified in this Agreement (including Outstanding Limited Partner Interests deemed owned by the General Partner). In the absence of a quorum any meeting of Limited Partners may be adjourned from time to time by the affirmative vote of Limited Partners holding a least a majority of the voting power of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests deemed owned by the General Partner) represented either in person or by proxy, but no other business may be transacted, except as provided in Section 13.7.

SECTION 13.10. Conduct of a Meeting.

The General Partner shall have full power and authority concerning the manner of conducting any meeting of the Limited Partners or solicitation of approvals in writing, including the determination of Persons entitled to vote, the existence of a quorum, the satisfaction of the requirements of Section 13.4, the conduct of voting, the validity and effect of any proxies and the determination of any controversies, votes or challenges arising in connection with or during the meeting or voting. The General Partner shall designate a Person to serve as chairman of any meeting and shall further designate a Person to take the minutes of any meeting. All minutes shall be kept with the records of the Partnership maintained by the General Partner. The General Partner may make such other regulations consistent with applicable law and this Agreement as it may deem necessary or advisable concerning the conduct of any meeting of the Limited Partners or solicitation of approvals in writing, including regulations in regard to the appointment of proxies, the appointment and duties of inspectors of votes and approvals, the submission and examination of proxies and other evidence of the right to vote, and the revocation of approvals, proxies and votes in writing.

SECTION 13.11. Action Without a Meeting.

Any action that may be taken at a meeting of the Limited Partners may be taken without a meeting, without a vote and without prior notice, if an approval in writing setting forth the action so taken is signed by Limited Partners owning not less than the minimum percentage of the voting power of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests (including Limited Partner Interests deemed owned by the General Partner) that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all the Limited Partners were present and voted (unless such provision conflicts with any rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which the Limited Partner Interests or a class thereof are listed for trading, in which case the rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of such exchange shall govern). Prompt notice of the taking of action without a meeting shall be given to the Limited Partners who have not approved in writing. The General Partner may specify that any written ballot, if any, submitted to Limited Partners for the purpose of taking any action without a meeting shall be returned to the Partnership within the time period, which shall be not less than 20 days, specified by the General Partner in its sole discretion. If a ballot returned to the Partnership does not vote all of the Limited Partner Interests held by the Limited Partners, the Partnership shall be deemed to have failed to receive a ballot for the Limited Partner Interests that were not voted. If approval of the taking of any action by the Limited Partners is solicited by any Person other than by or on behalf of the General Partner, the written approvals shall have no force and effect unless and until (a) they are deposited with the Partnership in care of the General Partner, (b) approvals sufficient to take the action proposed are dated as of a date not more than 90 days prior to the date sufficient approvals are deposited with the Partnership and (c) an Opinion of Counsel is delivered to the General Partner to the effect that the exercise of such right and the action proposed to be taken with respect to any particular matter (i) will not cause the Limited Partners to be deemed to be taking part in the management and control of the business and affairs of the Partnership so as to jeopardize the Limited Partners' limited liability, and (ii) is otherwise permissible under the state statutes then governing the rights, duties and liabilities of the Partnership and the Partners. Nothing contained in this Section 13.11 shall be deemed to require the General Partner to solicit all Limited Partners in connection with a matter approved by the requisite percentage of the voting power of Limited Partners or other holders of Outstanding Voting Units acting by written consent without a meeting.

SECTION 13.12. Voting and Other Rights.

(a) Only those Record Holders of Outstanding Limited Partner Interests on the Record Date set pursuant to Section 13.6 (and also subject to the limitations contained in the definition of "*Outstanding*" and the limitations set forth in Section 3.5) shall be entitled to notice of, and to vote at, a meeting of Limited Partners or to act with respect to matters as to which the holders of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests have the right to vote or to act. All references in this Agreement to votes of, or other acts that may be taken by, the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests shall be deemed to be references to the votes or acts of the Record Holders of such Outstanding Limited Partner Interests. Each Common Unit shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote for each Common Unit held of record by such holder as of the relevant Record Date.

(b) With respect to Limited Partner Interests that are held for a Person's account by another Person (such as a broker, dealer, bank, trust company or clearing corporation, or an agent of any of the foregoing), in whose name such Limited Partner Interests are registered, such other Person shall, in exercising the voting rights in respect of such Limited Partner Interests on any matter, and unless the arrangement between such Persons provides otherwise, vote such Limited Partner Interests in favor of, and at the direction of, the Person who is the Beneficial Owner, and the Partnership shall be entitled to assume it is so acting without further inquiry. The provisions of this Section 13.12(b) (as well as all other provisions of this Agreement) are subject to the provisions of Section 4.3.

SECTION 13.13. Preferred Units.

Holders of Preferred Units shall have no voting, approval or consent rights under this Article XIII. Voting, approval and consent rights of holders of Preferred Units shall be solely as provided for and set forth in Article XVI.

ARTICLE XIV

MERGER

SECTION 14.1. Authority.

The Partnership may merge or consolidate or otherwise combine with or into one or more corporations, limited liability companies, statutory trusts or associations, real estate investment trusts, common law trusts or unincorporated businesses, including a partnership (whether general or limited (including a limited liability partnership or a limited liability limited partnership)), formed under the laws of the State of Delaware or any other domestic or foreign jurisdiction, pursuant to a written agreement of merger, consolidation or other business combination ("*Merger Agreement*") in accordance with this Article XIV.

SECTION 14.2. Procedure for Merger, Consolidation or Other Business Combination.

Merger, consolidation or other business combination of the Partnership pursuant to this Article XIV requires the prior approval of the General Partner. If the General Partner shall determine, in the exercise of its discretion, to consent to the merger, consolidation or other business combination, the General Partner shall approve the Merger Agreement, which shall set forth:

(a) The names and jurisdictions of formation or organization of each of the business entities proposing to merge, consolidate or combine;

(b) The name and jurisdiction of formation or organization of the business entity that is to survive the proposed merger, consolidation or other business combination (the "*Surviving Business Entity*");

(c) The terms and conditions of the proposed merger, consolidation or other business combination;

(d) The manner and basis of converting or exchanging the equity securities of each constituent business entity for, or into, cash, property or interests, rights, securities or obligations of the Surviving Business Entity; and (i) if any general or limited partner interests, securities or rights of any constituent business entity are not to be converted or exchanged solely for, or into, cash, property or general or limited partner interests, rights, securities or obligations of the Surviving Business Entity, the cash, property or interests, rights, securities or obligations of any general or limited partner interests, rights, securities or obligations of the Surviving Business Entity, the cash, property or interests, rights, securities or obligations of any general or limited partnership, corporation, trust, limited liability company, unincorporated business or other entity (other than the Surviving Business Entity) which the holders of such general or limited partner interests, securities or rights are to receive upon conversion of, or in exchange for, their interests, securities or rights, and (ii) in the case of securities represented by certificates, upon the surrender of such certificates, which cash, property or general or limited partner interests, rights, securities or obligations of the Surviving Business Entity or any general or limited partnership, corporation, trust, limited liability company, unincorporated business or other entity (other than the Surviving Business Entity) or evidences thereof, are to be delivered;

(e) A statement of any changes in the constituent documents or the adoption of new constituent documents (the articles or certificate of incorporation, articles of trust, declaration of trust, certificate or agreement of limited partnership, operating agreement or other similar charter or governing document) of the Surviving Business Entity to be effected by such merger, consolidation or other business combination;

(f) The effective time of the merger, consolidation or other business combination which may be the date of the filing of the certificate of merger or consolidation or similar certificate pursuant to Section 14.4 or a later date specified in or determinable in accordance with the Merger Agreement (provided that if the effective time of such transaction is to be later than the date of the filing of such certificate, the effective time shall be fixed at a date or time certain at or prior to the time of the filing of such certificate and stated therein); and

(g) Such other provisions with respect to the proposed merger, consolidation or other business combination that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be necessary or appropriate.

SECTION 14.3. Approval by Limited Partners of Merger, Consolidation or Other Business Combination.

(a) Except as provided in Section 14.3(d) and subject to Article XVI, the General Partner, upon its approval of the Merger Agreement, shall direct that the Merger Agreement and the merger, consolidation or other business combination contemplated thereby be submitted to a vote of holders of Voting Units, whether at a special meeting or by written consent, in either case in accordance with the requirements of Article XIII. A copy or a summary of the Merger Agreement shall be included in or enclosed with the notice of a special meeting or the written consent.

(b) Except as provided in Section 14.3(d), the Merger Agreement and the merger, consolidation or other business combination contemplated thereby shall be approved upon receiving the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of a majority of the voting power of Outstanding Voting Units (including Voting Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates).

(c) Except as provided in Section 14.3(d), after such approval by vote or consent of the holders of Voting Units, and at any time prior to the filing of the certificate of merger or consolidation or similar certificate pursuant to Section 14.4, the merger, consolidation or other business combination may be abandoned pursuant to provisions therefor, if any, set forth in the Merger Agreement.

(d) Notwithstanding anything else contained in this Article XIV or in this Agreement, the General Partner is permitted, without Limited Partner approval, to (i) effect the Merger, the Exchange and all transactions contemplated by the Exchange Agreement and (ii) convert the Partnership or any Group Member into a new limited liability entity, including a corporation, to merge the Partnership or any Group Member into, or convey all of the Partnership's assets to, another limited liability entity, including a corporation and including a limited liability entity in a foreign jurisdiction, which shall be newly formed and shall have no assets, liabilities or operations at the time of such conversion, merger or conveyance other than those it receives from the Partnership or other Group Member; provided that, with respect to any conversion, merger or conveyance pursuant to clause (ii) above, (A) the General Partner has received an Opinion of Counsel that the merger or conveyance, as the case may be, would not result in the loss of the limited liability of any Limited Partner, (B) the sole purpose of such conversion, merger or conveyance is to effect a mere change in the legal form of the Partnership into another limited liability entity or the jurisdiction of organization of the Partnership into a new jurisdiction of organization, including any foreign jurisdiction or to cause the Partnership to be taxable as a corporation and (C) the governing instruments of the new entity provide the Limited Partners and the General Partner with substantially the same rights and obligations as are herein contained.

SECTION 14.4. Certificate of Merger or Consolidation.

Upon the required approval by the General Partner and the holders of Voting Units of a Merger Agreement and the merger, consolidation or business combination contemplated thereby, a certificate of merger or consolidation or similar certificate shall be executed and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in conformity with the requirements of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

SECTION 14.5. Amendment of Partnership Agreement.

Pursuant to Section 17-211(g) of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, an agreement of merger, consolidation or other business combination approved in accordance with this Article XIV may (a) effect any amendment to this Agreement or (b) effect the adoption of a new partnership agreement for a limited partnership if it is the Surviving Business Entity. Any such amendment or adoption made pursuant to this Section 14.5 shall be effective at the effective time or date of the merger, consolidation or other business combination.

SECTION 14.6. Effect of Merger.

(a) At the effective time of the certificate of merger or consolidation or similar certificate:

(i) all of the rights, privileges and powers of each of the business entities that has merged, consolidated or otherwise combined, and all property, real, personal and mixed, and all debts due to any of those business entities and all other things and causes of action belonging to each of those business entities, shall be vested in the Surviving Business Entity and after the merger, consolidation or other business combination shall be the property of the Surviving Business Entity to the extent they were of each constituent business entity;

(ii) the title to any real property vested by deed or otherwise in any of those constituent business entities shall not revert and is not in any way impaired because of the merger, consolidation or other business combination;

(iii) all rights of creditors and all liens on or security interests in property of any of those constituent business entities shall be preserved unimpaired; and

(iv) all debts, liabilities and duties of those constituent business entities shall attach to the Surviving Business Entity and may be enforced against it to the same extent as if the debts, liabilities and duties had been incurred or contracted by it.

(b) A merger, consolidation or other business combination effected pursuant to this Article shall not be deemed to result in a transfer or assignment of assets or liabilities from one entity to another.

(c) Limited Partners shall not be entitled to dissenters' rights of appraisal as a result of a merger, consolidation or other business combination effected pursuant to this Article.

SECTION 14.7. Preferred Units.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the provisions of Section 14.3 are not applicable to Preferred Units or the holders of Preferred Units. Holders of Preferred Units shall have no voting, approval or consent rights under this Article XIV. Voting, approval and consent rights of holders of Preferred Units shall be solely as provided for and set forth in Article XVI.

ARTICLE XV

RIGHT TO ACQUIRE LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS

SECTION 15.1. Right to Acquire Limited Partner Interests.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if at any time less than 10% of the total Limited Partner Interests of any class then (a) Outstanding (other than Preferred Units) is held by Persons other than the General Partner and its Affiliates, the General Partner shall then have the right, which right it may assign and transfer in whole or in part to the Partnership or any Affiliate of the General Partner, exercisable in its sole discretion, to purchase all, but not less than all, of such Limited Partner Interests of such class then Outstanding held by Persons other than the General Partner and its Affiliates, at the greater of (x) the Current Market Price as of the date three days prior to the date that the notice described in Section 15.1(b) is mailed and (y) the highest price paid by the General Partner or any of its Affiliates for any such Limited Partner Interest of such class purchased during the 90-day period preceding the date that the notice described in Section 15.1(b) is mailed. As used in this Agreement, (i) "Current Market Price" as of any date of any class of Limited Partner Interests means the average of the daily Closing Prices per Limited Partner Interest of such class for the 20 consecutive Trading Days immediately prior to such date; (ii) "Closing Price" for any day means the last sale price on such day, regular way, or in case no such sale takes place on such day, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on such day, regular way, in either case as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to securities listed or admitted for trading on the principal National Securities Exchange on which such Limited Partner Interests of such class are listed or admitted to trading or, if such Limited Partner Interests of such class are not listed or admitted to trading on any National Securities Exchange, the last quoted price on such day or, if not so quoted, the average of the high bid and low asked prices on such day in the over-the-counter market, as reported by the primary reporting system then in use in relation to such Limited Partner Interest of such class, or, if on any such day such Limited Partner Interests of such class are not quoted by any such organization, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on such day as furnished by a professional market maker making a market in such Limited Partner Interests of such class selected by the General Partner in its sole discretion, or if on any such day no market maker is making a market in such Limited Partner Interests of such class, the fair value of such Limited Partner Interests on such day as determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion; and (iii) "Trading Day" means a day on which the principal National Securities Exchange on which such Limited Partner Interests of any class are listed or admitted to trading is open for the transaction of business or, if Limited Partner Interests of a class are not listed or admitted to trading on any National Securities Exchange, a Business Day.

If the General Partner, any Affiliate of the General Partner or the Partnership elects to exercise the right to purchase Limited Partner Interests (b) granted pursuant to Section 15.1(a), the General Partner shall deliver to the Transfer Agent notice of such election to purchase (the "Notice of Election to Purchase") and shall cause the Transfer Agent to mail a copy of such Notice of Election to Purchase to the Record Holders of Limited Partner Interests of such class (as of a Record Date selected by the General Partner) at least 10, but not more than 60, days prior to the Purchase Date. Such Notice of Election to Purchase shall also be published for a period of at least three consecutive days in at least two daily newspapers of general circulation printed in the English language and circulated in the Borough of Manhattan, New York. The Notice of Election to Purchase shall specify the Purchase Date and the price (determined in accordance with Section 15.1(a)) at which Limited Partner Interests will be purchased and state that the General Partner, its Affiliate or the Partnership, as the case may be, elects to purchase such Limited Partner Interests (in the case of Limited Partner Interests evidenced by Certificates, upon surrender of Certificates representing such Limited Partner Interests) in exchange for payment at such office or offices of the Transfer Agent as the Transfer Agent may specify or as may be required by any National Securities Exchange on which such Limited Partner Interests are listed or admitted to trading. Any such Notice of Election to Purchase mailed to a Record Holder of Limited Partner Interests at his address as reflected in the records of the Transfer Agent shall be conclusively presumed to have been given regardless of whether the owner receives such notice. On or prior to the Purchase Date, the General Partner, its Affiliate or the Partnership, as the case may be, shall deposit with the Transfer Agent cash in an amount sufficient to pay the aggregate purchase price of all of such Limited Partner Interests to be purchased in accordance with this Section 15.1. If the Notice of Election to Purchase shall have been duly given as aforesaid at least 10 days prior to the Purchase Date, and if on or prior to the Purchase Date the deposit described in the preceding sentence has been made for the benefit of the holders of Limited Partner Interests subject to purchase as provided herein, then from and after the Purchase Date, notwithstanding that any Certificate shall not have been surrendered for purchase, all rights of the holders of such Limited Partner Interests (including any rights pursuant to Articles IV, V, VI, and XII) shall thereupon cease, except the right to receive the purchase price (determined in accordance with Section 15.1(a)) for Limited Partner Interests therefor, without interest (in the case of Limited Partner Interests evidenced by Certificates, upon surrender to the Transfer Agent of the Certificates representing such Limited Partner Interests) and such Limited Partner Interests shall thereupon be deemed to be transferred to the General Partner, its Affiliate or the Partnership, as the case may be, on the record books of the Transfer Agent and the Partnership, and the General Partner or any Affiliate of the General Partner, or the Partnership, as the case may be, shall be deemed to be the owner of all such Limited Partner Interests from and after the Purchase Date and shall have all rights as the owner of such Limited Partner Interests (including all rights as owner of such Limited Partner Interests pursuant to Articles IV, V, VI and XII).

(c) If the General Partner, any Affiliate of the General Partner or the Partnership elects to exercise the right to purchase Limited Partner Interests granted pursuant to Section 15.1(a), the holders of such Limited Partner Interests shall be entitled to appraisal rights.

ARTICLE XVI

TERMS, RIGHTS, POWERS, PREFERENCES AND DUTIES OF PREFERRED UNITS

SECTION 16.1. Designation.

The Series A Preferred Units are hereby designated and created as a series of Preferred Units. Each Series A Preferred Unit shall be identical in all respects to every other Series A Preferred Unit. The Series A Preferred Units are not "Voting Units" for purposes of this Agreement. As of any date of determination, the Percentage Interest as to any Series A Holder in its capacity as such with respect to Series A Preferred Units shall be 0% as such term applies to all Limited Partners; provided, however, that when such term is used to only apply to Series A Holders, "Percentage Interest" shall mean, with respect to any holder of Series A Preferred Units in its capacity as such as of any date, the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of the number of Series A Preferred Units held by such holder on such date relative to the aggregate number of Series A Preferred Units then Outstanding as of such date.

SECTION 16.2. Definitions.

The following terms apply only to this Article XVI.

"Distribution Payment Date" means March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing March 15, 2017.

"Distribution Period" means the period from and including a Distribution Payment Date to, but excluding, the next Distribution Payment Date, except that the initial Distribution Period commences on and includes February 7, 2017.

"Gross Ordinary Income" has the meaning set forth in Section 16.6.

"Junior Units" means Common Units and any other equity securities that the Partnership may issue in the future ranking, as to the payment of distributions, junior to the Series A Preferred Units.

"Nonpayment" has the meaning set forth in Section 16.7(a).

"Optional Redemption Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 16.5(f).

"Optional Redemption Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 16.5(f).

"Parity Units" means any Partnership Securities, including Preferred Units, that the Partnership may authorize or issue, the terms of which provide that such securities shall rank equally with the Series A Preferred Units with respect to payment of distributions and distribution of assets upon a Dissolution Event.

"Person" means, with respect to Article XVI only, an individual, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company, an association, a trust, or any other entity including government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.

"Series A Distribution Rate" means 6.0%.

"Series A Holder" means a holder of Series A Preferred Units.

"Series A Liquidation Preference" means \$25.00 per Series A Preferred Unit. The Series A Liquidation Preference shall be the *"Liquidation Preference"* with respect to the Series A Preferred Units.

"Series A Liquidation Value" means the sum of the Series A Liquidation Preference and accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, to, but excluding, the date of the Dissolution Event on the Series A Preferred Units.

"Series A Preferred Unit" means a 6.0% Series A Preferred Unit having the designations, rights, powers and preferences set forth in Article XVI.

"Series A Record Date" means, with respect to any Distribution Payment Date, the March 1, June 1, September 1 or December 1, as the case may be, immediately preceding the relevant March 15, June 15, September 15 or December 15 Distribution Payment Date, respectively. These Series A Record Dates shall apply regardless of whether a particular Series A Record Date is a Business Day. The Series A Record Dates shall constitute Record Dates with respect to the Series A Preferred Units for the purpose of distributions on the Series A Preferred Units.

"Voting Preferred Units" has the meaning set forth in Section 16.7(a).

"VWAP" means the volume-weighted average price per share for any given trading day, as displayed under the heading "Bloomberg VWAP" on Bloomberg page V <equity> VWAP (or any equivalent successor page) in respect of the period from 9:30 am EST to 4:00 pm EST, or if such volumeweighted average price is unavailable, Reuters volume weighted average price shall be used as displayed under their "Time Series Data" for the Partnership (/V.N) using the "Vol x Prc1" field; or if such volume-weighted average price is unavailable, the market value per share of the Common Units on such trading day as calculated by the Partnership using a volume weighted average that uses the price and volume of each trade of Common Units on the New York Stock Exchange from 9:30 am EST to 4:00 pm EST for that trading day.



SECTION 16.3. Distributions.

(a) The Series A Holders shall be entitled to receive with respect to each Series A Preferred Unit owned by such holder, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, or a duly authorized committee thereof, in its sole discretion out of funds legally available therefor, cumulative quarterly distributions, payable in cash or in kind or a combination thereof at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors, on the applicable Distribution Payment Date that corresponds to the Record Date for which the Board of Directors has declared a distribution, if any, at a rate per annum equal to the Series A Distribution Rate of the Series A Liquidation Preference. Such distributions shall be cumulative and shall accrue from the date of issuance of the applicable Series A Preferred Units. If a Distribution Payment Date is not a Business Day, the related distribution (if declared) shall be paid on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as though paid on such Distribution Payment Date, without any increase to account for the period from such Distribution Period shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months and the actual number of days elapsed in such period. Declared distributions will be payable on the relevant Distribution Payment Date to Series A Holders as they appear on the Partnership's register at the close of business, New York City time, on a Series A Record Date, provided that if the Series A Record Date is not a Business Day, the declared distributions will be payable on the relevant Distribution Payment Date to Series A Holders as they appear on the Partnership's register at the close of business, New York City time, on a Series A Holders as they appear on the Partnership's register at the close of business, New York City time on the Business Day immediately preceding such Series A Record Date.

(b) The Board of Directors, or a duly authorized committee thereof, may, in its sole discretion, choose to pay distributions on the Series A Preferred Units without the payment of any distributions on any Junior Units.

(c) Distributions on the Series A Preferred Units will accrue whether or not the terms and provisions of any agreement of the Partnership, including any agreement relating to its indebtedness, at any time prohibit the current payment of distributions, whether or not the Partnership has earnings, whether or not there are funds legally available for the payment of such distributions and whether or not such distributions are authorized. Accumulated but unpaid distributions on the Series A Preferred Units will accumulate as of the applicable Distribution Payment Date on which they first become payable. Distributions on account of arrears for any past distribution periods may be declared and paid at any time, without reference to a regular Distribution Payment Date, to holders of record of the Series A Preferred Units on the record date fixed by the Partnership acting through the General Partner. Accumulated and unpaid distributions will not bear interest.

(d) When distributions are not declared and paid (or duly provided for) on any Distribution Payment Date (or, in the case of Parity Units having distribution payment dates different from the Distribution Payment Dates pertaining to the Series A Preferred Units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related Distribution Period) in full upon the Series A Preferred Units or any Parity Units, all distributions declared upon the Series A Preferred Units and all such Parity Units payable on such Distribution Payment Date (or, in the case of Parity Units having distribution payment dates different from the Distribution Payment Date (all ing within the related Distribution Payment Dates, on a distribution payment date falling within the related Distribution Period) shall be declared pro rata so that the respective amounts of such distributions shall bear the same ratio to each other as all accumulated and unpaid distributions per Unit on the Series A Preferred Units, unpaid distributions for the then-current Distribution Period (whether or not declared) and in the case of Parity Units having distribution payment dates different from the Distribution Payment Dates pertaining to the Series A Preferred Units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related Distribution Payment Date (or in the case of non-cumulative Parity Units, unpaid distributions for the then-current Distribution Period (whether or not declared) and in the case of Parity Units having distribution payment dates different from the Distribution Payment Dates pertaining to the Series A Preferred Units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related Distribution Payment date falling within the related Distribution Payment date falling within the related Distribution Payment Dates pertaining to the Series A Preferred Units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related Distribution Payment Dates pertaining to the Series A Preferred Units, on a distribution payment date falling within the related Distribution Payme

(e) No distributions may be declared or paid or set apart for payment on any Series A Preferred Units if at the same time any arrears exist or default exists in the payment of distributions on any Outstanding Units ranking, as to the payment of distributions and distribution of assets upon a Dissolution Event, senior to the Series A Preferred Units, subject to any applicable terms of such Outstanding Units.

(f) Series A Holders shall not be entitled to any distributions, whether payable in cash or property, other than as provided in this Agreement and shall not be entitled to interest, or any sum in lieu of interest, in respect of any distribution payment, including any such payment which is delayed or foregone.

(g) The Partners intend that no portion of the distributions paid to the Series A Holders pursuant to this Section 16.3 shall be treated as a "guaranteed payment" within the meaning of Section 707(c) of the Code, and no Partner shall take any position inconsistent to such intention, except if there is a change in applicable law or final determination by the Internal Revenue Service that is inconsistent with such intention.

SECTION 16.4. Rank.

The Series A Preferred Units shall rank, with respect to payment of distributions and distribution of assets upon a Dissolution Event:

(a) junior to all of the Partnership's existing and future indebtedness and any equity securities, including Preferred Units, that the Partnership may authorize or issue, the terms of which provide that such securities shall rank senior to the Series A Preferred Units with respect to payment of distributions and distribution of assets upon a Dissolution Event;

- (b) equally to any Parity Units; and
- (c) senior to any Junior Units.

SECTION 16.5. Redemption.

(a) Subject to any limitations that may be imposed by law, the Partnership may, at any time, in the General Partner's sole discretion, redeem the Series A Preferred Units, in whole or in part, in cash or in Common Units or a combination thereof, at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors, at a redemption price equal to the Liquidation Preference per Series A Preferred Unit plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such Series A Preferred Unit to, but excluding, the redemption date. If less than all of the Outstanding Series A Preferred Units not previously called for redemption pro rata (as nearly as possible).

(b) In the event the Partnership shall redeem any or all of the Series A Preferred Units as aforesaid in Section 16.5(a) or in Sections 16.5(f) or (g) of this Agreement, the Partnership shall give notice of any such redemption to the Series A Holders not more than 60 nor less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for such redemption. Failure to give notice to any Series A Holder shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any Series A Preferred Units being redeemed.

(c) Notice having been given as herein provided and so long as funds sufficient to pay the redemption price for all of the Series A Preferred Units called for redemption have been set aside for payment, from and after the redemption date, such Series A Preferred Units called for redemption shall no longer be deemed Outstanding, and all rights of the Series A Holders thereof shall cease other than the right to receive the redemption price, without interest.

(d) Except as set forth in Sections 16.5(f) and (g), the Series A Holders shall have no right to require redemption of any Series A Preferred Units.

(e) Without limiting clause (c) of this Section 16.5, if the Partnership shall deposit, on or prior to any date fixed for redemption of Series A Preferred Units (pursuant to notice delivered in accordance with Section 16.5(b)), with any bank or trust company as a trust fund, a fund sufficient to redeem the Series A Preferred Units called for redemption, with irrevocable instructions and authority to such bank or trust company to pay on and after the date fixed for redemption or such earlier date as the General Partner may determine, to the respective Series A Holders, the redemption price thereof, then from and after the date of such deposit (although prior to the date fixed for redemption) such Series A Preferred Units so called shall be deemed to be redeemed and such deposit shall be deemed to constitute full payment of said Series A Preferred Units to the holders thereof and from and after the date of such deposit shall no longer be deemed to be Outstanding, and the holders thereof shall cease to be holders of Units with respect to such Series A Preferred Units, and shall have no rights with respect thereto except only the right to receive from said bank or trust company, on the redemption date or such earlier date as the General Partner may determine, payment of the redemption price of such Series A Preferred Units without interest.

(f) The Series A Holders have the right to require the Partnership to repurchase up to 525,000 Series A Preferred Units¹ (as may be reduced pursuant to the immediately following sentence, the "Optional Redemption Amount") on the third (3rd) anniversary of the original issuance date of the Series A Preferred Units (the "Optional Redemption Date") at a redemption price equal to the Liquidation Preference per Series A Preferred Unit plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such Series A Preferred Unit to, but excluding, the redemption date, in cash. The Optional Redemption Amount shall be reduced by the number of any Series A Preferred Units called for redemption by the Partnership (which shall be on a pro rata basis) in cash prior to the Optional Redemption Date. The General Partner shall give notice of such repurchase option to the Series A Holders at least 30 days prior to the Optional Redemption Date, which notice shall include the procedures that Series A Holders must follow to require the Partnership to repurchase their Series A Preferred Units. If Series A Holders elect to have the Partnership repurchase an aggregate number of Series A Preferred Units in excess of the Optional Redemption Amount, the Partnership shall repurchase such Series A Preferred Units on a pro rata basis (based on the relative number of Series A Preferred Units that such Series A Holders have elected to be repurchased in such optional redemption) up to the Optional Redemption Amount.

(g) If not earlier redeemed pursuant to this Section 16.5, on the date that is the ninth (9th) anniversary of the original issuance date of the Series A Preferred Units, the Partnership shall redeem all of the Series A Preferred Units at a redemption price equal to the Liquidation Preference per Series A Preferred Unit plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid distributions, if any, on such Series A Preferred Unit to, but excluding, the redemption date, in cash or in Common Units or a combination thereof, at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors.

(h) If the Partnership elects to redeem any Series A Preferred Units pursuant to this Section 16.5 in Common Units, such Units shall be valued for such purpose at the VWAP per Common Unit for the sixty (60) consecutive Trading Days immediately preceding the applicable redemption date.

SECTION 16.6. Allocations.

Before giving effect to the allocations set forth in Section 6.2(a), Gross Ordinary Income for the Fiscal Year shall be specially allocated Pro Rata to the Unitholders holding Series A Preferred Units in accordance with each Unitholder's Percentage Interest with respect to their Series A Preferred Interests in an amount equal to the sum of (i) the amount of cash distributed with respect to the Series A Preferred Units pursuant to Section 16.3 during such Fiscal Year and (ii) the excess, if any, of the amount of cash distributed with respect to the Series A Preferred Units pursuant to Section 16.3 in all prior Fiscal Years over the amount of Gross Ordinary Income allocated to the Series A Holders pursuant to this Section 16.6 in all prior Fiscal Years. For purposes of this Section 16.6, "Gross Ordinary Income" means the Partnership's gross income excluding any gross income attributable to the sale or exchange of "capital assets" as defined in Section 1221 of the Code. Allocations to Series A Holders of Gross Ordinary Income for such Fiscal Year in accordance with each Unitholder's Percentage Interest with respect to such Unitholder's Preferred Units.

¹ The Optional Redemption Amount, which represents approximately 20% of the currently outstanding Series A Preferred Units, will be amended upon the consummation of the offer so that it equals 20% of the sum of the currently outstanding Series A Preferred Units plus the number of Series A Preferred Units to be issued in the offer and the merger.



SECTION 16.7. Voting.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, and except as set forth in this Section 16.7, the Series A Preferred Units shall not have any relative, participating, optional or other voting, consent or approval rights or powers, and the vote, consent or approval of the Series A Holders shall not be required for the taking of any Partnership action or inaction. If and whenever six quarterly distributions (whether or not consecutive) payable on the Series A Preferred Units or six quarterly distributions (whether or not consecutive) payable on any series or class of Parity Units have not been declared and paid (a "Nonpayment"), the number of directors then constituting the Board of Directors automatically shall be increased by two and the Series A Holders, voting together as a single class with the holders of any other class or series of Parity Units then Outstanding upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable (any such other class or series, "Voting Preferred Units"), shall have the right to elect these two additional directors at a meeting of the Series A Holders and the holders of such Voting Preferred Units called as hereafter provided. When quarterly distributions have been declared and paid on the Series A Preferred Units for four consecutive Distribution Periods following the Nonpayment, then the right of the Series A Holders and the holders of such Voting Preferred Units called as hereafter provided. When quarterly distributions have been declared and paid on the Series A Preferred Units to elect such two additional directors shall cease and the terms of office of all directors elected by the Series A Holders and the holders of the Voting Preferred Units to elect two additional directors automatically shall be reduced by two. However, the right of the Series A Holders and the holders of the Voting Preferred Units to elect two additional directors and the holders of the Voting Preferred Units to elect two additional directors on the Board of Directors of the

(b) If a Nonpayment or a subsequent Nonpayment shall have occurred, the Secretary of the General Partner may, and upon the written request of any holder of Series A Preferred Units (addressed to the Secretary at the principal office of the Partnership) shall, call a special meeting of the Series A Holders and holders of the Voting Preferred Units for the election of the two directors to be elected by them. The directors elected at any such special meeting shall hold office until the next annual meeting or special meeting held in lieu thereof if such office shall not have previously terminated as above provided. The General Partner shall, in its sole discretion, determine a date for a special meeting applying procedures consistent with Article XIII of this Agreement in connection with the expiration of the term of the two directors elected pursuant to this Section 16.7. The Series A Holders and holders of the Voting Preferred Units, voting together as a class, may remove any director elected by the Series A Holders and holders of the Voting Preferred Units, voting together as a class, may remove any director elected by the Series A Holders and holders of the Voting Preferred Units or the Board of Directors, upon the nomination of the then-remaining director elected by the Series A Holders and holders of the Voting Preferred Units or the successor of such remaining director, to serve until the next special meeting (convened as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence) held in place thereof if such office shall not have previously terminated as above provided. Except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in this Section 16.7, any such annual or special meeting shall be called and held applying procedures consistent with Article XIII of this Agreement as if references to Limited Partners were references to Series A Holders and holders of Voting Preferred Units.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Article XIII or Article XIV, but subject to Section 16.7(d), so long as any Series A Preferred Units are Outstanding, the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the votes entitled to be cast by the Series A Holders and holders of the Voting Preferred Units, at the time Outstanding, voting as a single class regardless of series, given in person or by proxy, either in writing without a meeting or by vote at any meeting called for the purpose, shall be necessary:

(i) to amend, alter or repeal any of the provisions of this Article XVI relating to the Series A Preferred Units or any series of Voting Preferred Units, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise, to affect materially and adversely the rights, powers and preferences of the Series A Holders or holders of the Voting Preferred Units; and

(ii) to authorize, create or increase the authorized amount of, any class or series of Preferred Units having rights senior to the Series A Preferred Units with respect to the payment of distributions or distributions of amounts upon any Dissolution Event;

provided, however, that,

(x) in the case of subparagraph (i) above, no such vote of the Series A Preferred Units or the Voting Preferred Units, as the case may be, shall be required if in connection with any such amendment, alteration or repeal, by merger, consolidation or otherwise, each Series A Preferred Unit and Voting Preferred Unit remains Outstanding without the terms thereof being materially and adversely changed in any respect to the holders thereof or is converted into or exchanged for preferred equity securities of the surviving entity having the rights, powers and preferences thereof substantially similar to those of such Series A Preferred Units or the Voting Preferred Units, as the case may be;

(y) in the case of subparagraph (i) above, if such amendment affects materially and adversely the rights, powers and preferences of one or more but not all of the classes or series of Voting Preferred Units and the Series A Preferred Units at the time Outstanding, the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the votes entitled to be cast by the Unitholders of all such classes or series of Voting Preferred Units and the Series A Preferred Units so affected, voting as a single class regardless of class or series, given in person or by proxy, either in writing without a meeting or by vote at any meeting called for the purpose, shall be required in lieu of (or, if such consent is required by law, in addition to) the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the votes entitled to be cast by the Voting Preferred Units and the Series A Preferred Units otherwise entitled to vote as a single class in accordance herewith; and

(z) in the case of subparagraph (i) or (ii) above, no such vote of the Series A Holders or Unitholders of the Voting Preferred Units, as the case may be, shall be required if, at or prior to the time when such action is to take effect, provision is made for the redemption of all Series A Preferred Units or Voting Preferred Units, as the case may be, at the time Outstanding.

(d) For the purposes of this Section 16.7, neither:

(i) the amendment of provisions of this Agreement so as to authorize or create or issue, or to increase the authorized amount of, any Junior Units or any Parity Units; nor

(ii) any merger, consolidation or otherwise, in which (1) the Partnership is the surviving entity and the Series A Preferred Units remain Outstanding with the terms thereof materially unchanged in any respect adverse to the holders thereof; or (2) the resulting, surviving or transferee entity is organized under the laws of any state and substitutes or exchanges the Series A Preferred Units for other preferred equity securities having rights, powers and preferences (including with respect to redemption thereof) substantially similar to that of the Series A Preferred Units under this Agreement (except for changes that do not materially and adversely affect the Series A Preferred Units considered as a whole)

shall be deemed to materially and adversely affect the rights, powers and preferences of the Series A Preferred Units or holders of Voting Preferred Units.

(e) For purposes of the foregoing provisions of this Section 16.7 of this Agreement, each Series A Holder shall have one vote per Series A Preferred Unit, except that when any other series of Preferred Units shall have the right to vote with the Series A Preferred Units as a single class on any matter, then the Series A Holders and the holders of such other series of Preferred Units shall have with respect to such matters one vote per \$25.00 of stated liquidation preference.

(f) The General Partner may cause the Partnership to, from time to time, without notice to or consent of the Series A Holders or holders of other Parity Units, issue additional Series A Preferred Units.

SECTION 16.8. Liquidation Rights.

(a) Upon any Dissolution Event, after payment or provision for the liabilities of the Partnership (including the expenses of such Dissolution Event) and the satisfaction of all claims ranking senior to the Series A Preferred Units in accordance with Section 12.4 of this Agreement, the Series A Holders shall be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Partnership or proceeds thereof available for distribution to Unitholders, before any payment or distribution of assets is made in respect of Junior Units, distributions equal to the lesser of (x) the Series A Liquidation Value and (y) the positive balance in their Capital Accounts (to the extent such positive balance is attributable to ownership of the Series A Preferred Units and after taking into account allocations of Gross Ordinary Income to the Series A Holders pursuant to Section 16.6 of this Agreement for the taxable year in which the Dissolution Event occurs) pursuant to Section 12.4 of this Agreement, Pro Rata based on the full respective distributable amounts to which each Series A Holder is entitled pursuant to this Section 16.8(a).

(b) Upon a Dissolution Event, after each Series A Holder receives a payment equal to the positive balance in its Capital Account (to the extent such positive balance is attributable to ownership of the Series A Preferred Units and after taking into account allocations of Gross Ordinary Income to the Series A Holders pursuant to Section 16.6 of this Agreement for the taxable year in which the Dissolution Event occurs), such Series A Holder shall not be entitled to any further participation in any distribution of assets by the Partnership.

(c) If the assets of the Partnership available for distribution upon a Dissolution Event are insufficient to pay in full the aggregate amount payable to the Series A Holders and Unitholders of all other Outstanding Parity Units, if any, such assets shall be distributed to the Series A Holders and Unitholders of such Parity Units pro rata, based on the full respective distributable amounts to which each such Unitholder is entitled pursuant to this Section 16.8.

(d) Nothing in this Section 16.8 shall be understood to entitle the Series A Holders to be paid any amount upon the occurrence of a Dissolution Event until Unitholders of any classes or series of Units ranking, as to the distribution of assets upon a Dissolution Event, senior to the Series A Preferred Units have been paid all amounts to which such classes or series of Units are entitled.

(e) For the purposes of this Agreement, neither the sale, conveyance, exchange or transfer, for cash, Units, securities or other consideration, of all or substantially all of the Partnership's property or assets nor the consolidation, merger or amalgamation of the Partnership with or into any other entity or the consolidation, merger or amalgamation of any other entity with or into the Partnership shall be deemed to be a Dissolution Event, notwithstanding that for other purposes, such as for tax purposes, such an event may constitute a liquidation, dissolution or winding up. In addition, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 16.8, no payment will be made to the Series A Holders pursuant to this Section 16.8 (i) upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of any of the Partnership's Subsidiaries or upon any reorganization of the Partnership into another limited liability entity pursuant to provisions of this Agreement that allow the Partnership to convert, merge or convey its assets to another limited liability entity with or without Limited Partner approval (including a transaction pursuant to Sections 9.5 or 14.3) or (ii) if the Partnership engages in a reorganization or other transaction in which a successor to the Partnership issues equity securities to the Series A Holders that have rights, powers and preferences that are substantially similar to the rights, powers and preferences of the Series A Preferred Units pursuant to provisions of this Agreement that allow the Partnership units pursuant to provisions of this Agreement that allow the Partnership to convert is provisions of this Agreement that allow the Partnership securities to the Series A Holders that have rights, powers and preferences that are substantially similar to the rights, powers and preferences of the Series A Preferred Units pursuant to provisions of this Agreement that allow the Partnership to do so without Limited Partner approval.

SECTION 16.9. No Duties to Series A Holders.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by law, neither the General Partner nor any other Indemnitee shall have any duties or liabilities to the Series A Holders.

ARTICLE XVII

GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 17.1. Addresses and Notices.

Any notice, demand, request, report or proxy materials required or permitted to be given or made to a Partner under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given or made when delivered in person or when sent by first class United States mail or by other means of written communication to the Partner at the address described below.

Any notice, payment or report to be given or made to a Partner hereunder shall be deemed conclusively to have been given or made, and the obligation to give such notice or report or to make such payment shall be deemed conclusively to have been fully satisfied, upon sending of such notice, payment or report to the Record Holder of such Partnership Securities at his address as shown on the records of the Transfer Agent or as otherwise shown on the records of the Partnership, regardless of any claim of any Person who may have an interest in such Partnership Securities by reason of any assignment or otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) a Partner shall consent to receiving notices, demands, requests, reports or proxy materials via electronic mail or by the Internet or (ii) the rules of the Commission shall permit any report or proxy materials to be delivered electronically or made available via the Internet, any such notice, demand, request, report or proxy materials shall be deemed given or made when delivered or made available via such mode of delivery.

An affidavit or certificate of making of any notice, payment or report in accordance with the provisions of this Section 17.1 executed by the General Partner, the Transfer Agent or the mailing organization shall be prima facie evidence of the giving or making of such notice, payment or report. If any notice, payment or report given or made in accordance with the provisions of this Section 17.1 is returned marked to indicate that such notice, payment or report was unable to be delivered, such notice, payment or report and, in the case of notices, payments or reports returned by the United States Postal Service (or other physical mail delivery mail service outside the United States of America), any subsequent notices, payments and reports shall be deemed to have been duly given or made without further mailing (until such time as such Record Holder or another Person notifies the Transfer Agent or the Partnership of a change in his address) or other delivery if they are available for the Partner at the principal office of the Partnership for a period of one year from the date of the giving or making of such notice, payment or report to the other Partners. Any notice to the Partnership shall be deemed given if received by the General Partner at the principal office of the Partnership and shall be protected in relying on any notice or other document from a Partner or other Person if believed by it to be genuine.

SECTION 17.2. Further Action.

The parties shall execute and deliver all documents, provide all information and take or refrain from taking action as may be necessary or appropriate to achieve the purposes of this Agreement.

п	0	r
D	-9	U

SECTION 17.3. Binding Effect.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, legal representatives and permitted assigns. The Indemnitees and their heirs, executors, administrators and successors shall be entitled to receive the benefits of this Agreement.

SECTION 17.4. Integration.

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings pertaining thereto.

SECTION 17.5. Creditors.

None of the provisions of this Agreement shall be for the benefit of, or shall be enforceable by, any creditor of the Partnership.

SECTION 17.6. Waiver.

No failure by any party to insist upon the strict performance of any covenant, duty, agreement or condition of this Agreement or to exercise any right or remedy consequent upon a breach thereof shall constitute waiver of any such breach of any other covenant, duty, agreement or condition.

SECTION 17.7. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which together shall constitute an agreement binding on all the parties hereto, notwithstanding that all such parties are not signatories to the original or the same counterpart. Each party shall become bound by this Agreement immediately upon affixing its signature hereto or, in the case of a Person acquiring a Limited Partner Interest pursuant to Section 10.2(a), without execution hereof.

SECTION 17.8. Applicable Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.

SECTION 17.9. Invalidity of Provisions.

If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not be affected thereby.

SECTION 17.10. Consent of Partners.

Each Partner hereby expressly consents and agrees that, whenever in this Agreement it is specified that an action may be taken upon the affirmative vote or consent of less than all of the Partners, such action may be so taken upon the concurrence of less than all of the Partners and each Partner shall be bound by the results of such action.



SECTION 17.11. Facsimile Signatures.

The use of facsimile signatures affixed in the name and on behalf of the transfer agent and registrar of the Partnership on certificates representing Units is expressly permitted by this Agreement.

SECTION 17.12. Incorporation of Sections 2(a), 2(b) and 2(c) of the Incentive Unit Agreement into this Agreement.

Sections 2(a), 2(b) and 2(c) of the Incentive Unit Agreement shall be treated as part of this Agreement as described in Section 761(c) of the Code and Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(h) and 1.761-1(c) of the Treasury Regulations.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above:

GENERAL PARTNER:

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS GP INC.

By: /s/ Douglas B. Woodworth

Name:	Douglas B. Woodworth
Title:	Chief Financial Officer

LIMITED PARTNERS:

All Limited Partners now and hereafter admitted as Limited Partners of the Partnership, pursuant to powers of attorney now and hereafter executed in favor of, and granted and delivered to the General Partner or without execution hereof pursuant to Section 10.2(a).

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS GP INC.

By: /s/ Douglas B. Woodworth

Name:	Douglas B. Woodworth	
Title:	Chief Financial Officer	

EXHIBIT A to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.

Certificate Evidencing Common Units Representing Limited Partner Interests in Steel Partners Holdings L.P.

No.

Common Units

In accordance with Section 4.1 of the Agreement of Limited Partnership of Steel Partners Holdings L.P., as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time (the "*Partnership Agreement*"), Steel Partners Holdings L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the "*Partnership*"), hereby certifies that _______ (the "*Holder*") is the registered owner of _______ Common Units representing limited partner interests in the Partnership (the "*Common Units*") transferable on the books of the Partnership, in person or by duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of this Certificate properly endorsed by a duly executed assignment in the form set forth on the reverse hereof. The rights, preferences and limitations of the Common Units are set forth in, and this Certificate and the Common Units represented hereby are issued and shall in all respects be subject to the terms and provisions of, the Partnership Agreement. Copies of the Partnership Agreement are on file at, and will be furnished without charge on delivery of written request to the Partnership at, the principal office of the Partnership located at 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, NY 10022. Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meanings given them in the Partnership Agreement.

The Holder, by accepting this Certificate, is deemed to have (i) requested admission as, and agreed to become, a Limited Partner and to have agreed to comply with and be bound by and to have executed the Partnership Agreement, (ii) represented and warranted that the Holder has all right, power and authority and, if an individual, the capacity necessary to enter into the Partnership Agreement, (iii) granted the powers of attorney provided for in the Partnership Agreement and (iv) made the waivers and given the consents and approvals contained in the Partnership Agreement.

THE HOLDER OF THIS SECURITY ACKNOWLEDGES FOR THE BENEFIT OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. THAT THIS SECURITY MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IF SUCH TRANSFER WOULD (A) VIOLATE THE THEN APPLICABLE FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER SUCH TRANSFER, (B) TERMINATE THE EXISTENCE OR QUALIFICATION OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, OR (C) CAUSE STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. TO BE TREATED AS AN ASSOCIATION TAXABLE AS A CORPORATION OR OTHERWISE TO BE TAXED AS AN ENTITY FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES (TO THE EXTENT NOT ALREADY SO TREATED OR TAXED). STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS GP INC., THE GENERAL PARTNER OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P., MAY IMPOSE ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS ON THE TRANSFER OF THIS SECURITY IF IT RECEIVES AN OPINION OF COUNSEL THAT SUCH RESTRICTIONS ARE NECESSARY TO AVOID A SIGNIFICANT RISK OF STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. BECOMING TAXABLE AS A CORPORATION OR OTHERWISE BECOMING TAXABLE AS AN ENTITY FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH ABOVE SHALL NOT PRECLUDE THE SETTLEMENT OF ANY TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THIS SECURITY ENTERED INTO THROUGH THE FACILITIES OF ANY NATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE ON WHICH THIS SECURITY IS TRADED.

This Certificate shall not be valid for any purpose unless it has been countersigned and registered by the Transfer Agent and Registrar.

Dated:		Steel Pa	artners Holdings L.P.
Countersigned and Registered by:		By:	Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., its General Partner
as Transfer Agent and Registrar		By: Name:	
By: Authorized Signature		By:	Secretary
	B-95		

[Reverse of Certificate]

ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this Certificate, shall be construed as follows according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM - TEN ENT -	as tenants in common as tenants by the entireties	UNIF GIFT MIN ACT Custodian	
		(Cust)	(Minor)
JT TEN -	as joint tenants with right of	under Uniform Gifts to	
	survivorship and not as	Minors Act	
	tenants in common	(State)	

Additional abbreviations, though not in the above list, may also be used.

ASSIGNMENT OF COMMON UNITS IN STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, hereby assigns, conveys, sells and transfers unto

(Please print or typewrite name and address of Assignee)

(Please insert Social Security or other identifying number of Assignee)

Common Units representing limited partner interests evidenced by this Certificate, subject to the Partnership Agreement, and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint as its attorney-in-fact with full power of substitution to transfer the same on the books of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.

Date:

NOTE The signature to any endorsement hereon must correspond with the name as written upon the face of this Certificate in every particular, without alteration, enlargement or change.

THE SIGNATURE(S) MUST BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS, STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH MEMBERSHIP IN AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO S.E.C. RULE 17A(d)-15

(Signature)

(Signature)

No transfer of the Common Units evidenced hereby will be registered on the books of the Partnership, unless the Certificate evidencing the Common Units to be transferred is surrendered for registration and is properly endorsed by a duly executed assignment in the form set forth above.

B-97

DUFF&PHELPS

June 23, 2017

Confidential

Special Committee of the Board of Directors Handy & Harman Ltd. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, NY 10022

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Handy & Harman Ltd. (the "<u>Company</u>") has engaged Duff & Phelps, LLC ("<u>Duff & Phelps</u>") to serve as an independent financial advisor to the special committee of the board of directors (the "<u>Special Committee</u>") of the Company (solely in their capacity as members of the Special Committee) to provide an opinion (the "<u>Opinion</u>") as of the date hereof as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Minority Holders (as defined herein) of Common Stock (as defined herein) of the Company (other than Steel Partners Holdings L.P. ("<u>SPLP</u>") and its subsidiaries and affiliates) of the consideration to be received by such stockholders in the contemplated transaction described below (the "<u>Proposed Transaction</u>") (without giving effect to any impact of the Proposed Transaction on any particular stockholder other than in its capacity as a stockholder).

Description of the Proposed Transaction

It is Duff & Phelps' understanding that the Proposed Transaction involves the tender offer to purchase by SPLP, the holder of approximately 70% of the common stock of the Company (the "<u>Common Stock</u>"), of all of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company not owned by SPLP or its subsidiaries or affiliates (the holders of such shares, the "<u>Minority Holders</u>") for consideration of approximately 1.48 Series A preferred units, no par value, of SPLP (the "<u>SPLP Preferred</u>") for each share of Common Stock, such SPLP Preferred having the preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions set forth in the Sixth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of SPLP.

Scope of Analysis

In connection with this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has made such reviews, analyses and inquiries as it has deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Duff & Phelps also took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions, as well as its experience in securities and business valuation, in general, and with respect to similar transactions, in particular. Duff & Phelps' procedures, investigations, and financial analyses with respect to the preparation of its Opinion included, but were not limited to, the items summarized below:

C-1

- 1. Reviewed the following documents:
 - a. The Company's annual reports and audited financial statements on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for the years ended December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2016, and the Company's unaudited interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2017;
 - b. Unaudited segment pro forma financial information for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2016;
 - c. Other internal documents relating to the history, current operations, and probable future outlook of the Company, including financial projections provided to us by management of the Company (the "<u>Management Projections</u>");
 - d. A letter dated June 23, 2017 from the management of the Company which made certain representations as to historical financial statements, financial projections and the underlying assumptions; and
 - e. A draft Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Steel Partners Holdings, L.P., [Merger Sub], and Handy & Harman Ltd. dated June 12, 2017 (the "Merger Agreement");
- 2. Discussed the information referred to above and the background and other elements of the Proposed Transaction with the management of the Company;
- 3. Reviewed the historical trading price and trading volume of the Company's Common Stock, the SPLP Preferred, and the publicly traded securities of certain other companies that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant;
- 4. Performed certain valuation and comparative analyses using generally accepted valuation and analytical techniques including a discounted cash flow analysis, an analysis of selected public companies that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant, and an analysis of selected transactions that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant; and
- 5. Conducted such other analyses and considered such other factors as Duff & Phelps deemed appropriate.

Assumptions, Qualifications and Limiting Conditions

In performing its analyses and rendering this Opinion with respect to the Proposed Transaction, Duff & Phelps, with the Company's consent:

- 1. Relied upon the accuracy, completeness, and fair presentation of all information, data, advice, opinions and representations obtained from public sources or provided to it from private sources, including Company management and Willis Towers Watson, and did not independently verify such information;
- 2. Relied upon the fact that the Special Committee and the Company have been advised by counsel as to all legal matters with respect to the Proposed Transaction, including whether all procedures required by law to be taken in connection with the Proposed Transaction have been duly, validly and timely taken;



- 3. Assumed that any estimates, evaluations, forecasts and projections furnished to Duff & Phelps were reasonably prepared and based upon the best currently available information and good faith judgment of Company management, and Duff & Phelps expresses no opinion with respect to such projections or the underlying assumptions;
- 4. Assumed that information supplied and representations made by Company management are accurate regarding the Company and the Proposed Transaction;
- 5. Assumed that the representations and warranties of the Company made in the Merger Agreement are accurate;
- 6. Assumed that the final versions of all documents reviewed by Duff & Phelps in draft form conform in all material respects to the drafts reviewed;
- 7. Assumed that there has been no material change in the assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, business, or prospects of the Company since the date of the most recent financial statements and other information made available to Duff & Phelps, and that there is no information or facts that would make the information reviewed by Duff & Phelps incomplete or misleading;
- 8. Assumed that all of the conditions required to implement the Proposed Transaction will be satisfied and that the Proposed Transaction will be completed in accordance with the Merger Agreement without any amendments thereto or any waivers of any terms or conditions thereof; and
- 9. Assumed that all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Proposed Transaction will be obtained without any adverse effect on the Company or the contemplated benefits expected to be derived in the Proposed Transaction.

To the extent that any of the foregoing assumptions or any of the facts on which this Opinion is based prove to be untrue in any material respect, this Opinion cannot and should not be relied upon. Furthermore, in Duff & Phelps' analysis and in connection with the preparation of this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the Proposed Transaction.

Duff & Phelps has prepared this Opinion effective as of the date hereof. This Opinion is necessarily based upon market, economic, financial and other conditions as they exist and can be evaluated as of the date hereof, and Duff & Phelps disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting this Opinion which may come or be brought to the attention of Duff & Phelps after the date hereof.

Duff & Phelps did not evaluate the Company's solvency or conduct an independent appraisal or physical inspection of any specific assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise). Duff & Phelps has not been requested to, and did not, (i) initiate any discussions with, or solicit any indications of interest from, third parties with respect to the Proposed Transaction, the assets, businesses or operations of the Company, or any alternatives to the Proposed Transaction, (ii) negotiate the terms of the Proposed Transaction, and therefore, Duff & Phelps has assumed that such terms are the most beneficial terms, from the Company's perspective, that could, under the circumstances, be negotiated among the parties to the Merger Agreement and the Proposed Transaction, or (iii) advise the Special Committee or any other party with respect to alternatives to the Proposed Transaction.

C-3

Duff & Phelps is not expressing any opinion as to the market price or value of the Company's Common Stock (or anything else) after the announcement or the consummation of the Proposed Transaction. This Opinion should not be construed as a valuation opinion, credit rating, solvency opinion, an analysis of the Company's credit worthiness, as tax advice, or as accounting advice. Duff & Phelps has not made, and assumes no responsibility to make, any representation, or render any opinion, as to any legal, tax or accounting matter.

In rendering this Opinion, Duff & Phelps is not expressing any opinion with respect to the amount or nature of any compensation to any of the Company's officers, directors, or employees, or any class of such persons, relative to the consideration to be received by the holders of Common Stock of the Company in the Proposed Transaction, or with respect to the fairness of any such compensation.

This Opinion is furnished for the use and benefit of the Special Committee in connection with its consideration of the Proposed Transaction and is not intended to, and does not, confer any rights or remedies upon any other person, and is not intended to be used, and may not be used, by any other person or for any other purpose, without Duff & Phelps' express consent. This Opinion (i) does not address the merits of the underlying business decision to enter into the Proposed Transaction versus any alternative strategy or transaction; (ii) does not address any transaction related to the Proposed Transaction; (iii) is not a recommendation as to how the Special Committee or any stockholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the Proposed Transaction, or whether to proceed with the Proposed Transaction or any related transaction, and (iv) does not indicate that the consideration to be received is the best possibly attainable under any circumstances; instead, it merely states whether the consideration to be received in the Proposed Transaction may depend on an assessment of factors unrelated to the financial analyses on which this Opinion is based. This letter should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on the part of Duff & Phelps to any party.

This Opinion is solely that of Duff & Phelps, and Duff & Phelps' liability in connection with this letter shall be limited in accordance with the terms set forth in the engagement letter between Duff & Phelps and the Company dated March 23, 2017 (the "Engagement Letter"). This letter is confidential, and its use and disclosure is strictly limited in accordance with the terms set forth in the Engagement Letter.

Disclosure of Prior Relationships

Duff & Phelps has acted as financial advisor to the Special Committee and will receive a fee for its services. No portion of Duff & Phelps' fee is contingent upon either the conclusion expressed in this Opinion or whether or not the Proposed Transaction is successfully consummated. Pursuant to the terms of the Engagement Letter, a portion of Duff & Phelps' fee is payable upon Duff & Phelps' informing the Special Committee that it is prepared to deliver its Opinion. In addition to this engagement, during the two years preceding the date of this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has been engaged to provide corporate finance consulting services to affiliates of SPLP and has provided fairness opinions to affiliates of SPLP. For these prior engagements, Duff & Phelps received customary fees, expense reimbursement, and indemnification.

C-4

Conclusion

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, Duff & Phelps is of the opinion that as of the date hereof the consideration to be received by the Minority Holders of Common Stock of the Company (other than SPLP and its subsidiaries and affiliates) in the Proposed Transaction is fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders of the Company (without giving effect to any impact of the Proposed Transaction on any particular stockholder other than in its capacity as a stockholder).

This Opinion has been approved by the Opinion Review Committee of Duff & Phelps.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Duff & Phelps, LLC

ANNEX D

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF STEEL HOLDINGS GP AND MERGER SUB AND TRANSACTIONS OF THE PURCHASER GROUP IN SECURITIES OF HNH

The name, age, current principal occupation or employment and material occupations, positions, offices or employment for the past five years of each director and executive officer of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc. ("Steel Holdings GP or the "General Partner") and Handy Acquisition Co. ("Merger Sub") are set forth below. Unless otherwise indicated below, the current business address of each director and officer is 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor, New York, NY 10022. Unless otherwise indicated below, the current business telephone number of each director and officer is (212) 520-2300.

Unless otherwise indicated below, each occupation set forth opposite the name of an officer or director of Steel Holdings GP refers to a position with Steel Holdings GP and each occupation set forth opposite the name of an officer or director of Merger Sub refers to a position with Merger Sub. Each such person listed below is a citizen of the United States of America.

Directors and Executive Officers of Steel Holdings GP

	_		Present Principal Occupation or
Name	Age	Title	Employment and Five-Year Employment History
Warren G. Lichtenstein	51	Executive Chairman	Chairman of the Board of the General Partner from July 2009 to
			February 2013 and has served as Executive Chairman of the
			General Partner since February 2013. He served as the Chief
			Executive Officer of the General Partner from July 2009 until
			February 2013, at which time he became the Executive Chairman.
			Mr. Lichtenstein has served on the board of directors of over twenty
			public companies. He has served as Chairman of the Board of
			Handy & Harman Ltd. (formerly known as WHX Corporation)
			("HNH"), a NASDAQ-listed, Delaware corporation in which the
			Company has a majority ownership interest, since July 2005. Mr.
			Lichtenstein has been associated with SPLP and its predecessors
			and affiliates since 1990. Mr. Lichtenstein served as Chairman of
			the Board of ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc. ("ModusLink"), a
			NASDAQ company providing customized supply chain
			management services to the world's leading high technology
			companies from March 2013 until June 2016, at which time he was
			appointed Executive Chairman. Mr. Lichtenstein also served as
			interim Chief Executive Officer of ModusLink from March 2016 to
			June 2016. Mr. Lichtenstein has served as a director of Aerojet
			Rocketdyne Holdings, Inc., a NYSE-listed manufacturer of
			aerospace and defense products and systems with a real estate
			business segment, since March 2008, served as the Chairman of the
			Board from March 2013 through June 2016, at which time he was
			appointed as the Executive Chairman. Mr. Lichtenstein has served
			as a director (currently Chairman of the Board) of Steel Excel Inc.
			("Steel Excel"), since October 2010 and Chairman of the Board
			since May 2011. In 2011, Mr. Lichtenstein founded Steel Sports,
			Inc., a subsidiary of Steel Excel dedicated to building a network of
			participatory and experience-based sports-related businesses, with a
			particular emphasis on youth sports. He served as a director of SL
			Industries, Inc. ("SL Industries"), a company that designs,
			manufactures and markets power electronics, motion control,
			power protection, power quality electromagnetic and specialized
			communication equipment, from March 2010 to June 2016 at
			which time SL Industries was acquired by HNH. He previously
			served as a director (formerly Chairman of the Board) of SL
			Industries from January 2002 to May 2008 and served as Chief
			Executive Officer from February 2002 to August 2005.



Name	Age	Title	Present Principal Occupation or Employment and Five-Year Employment History
Jack L. Howard	55	President & Director	President of the General Partner since July 2009 and Director since October 2011. He also served as the General Partner's Assistant Secretary from July 15, 2009 until September 2011 and as the General Partner's Secretary from September 2011 until January 2012. Mr. Howard has been a registered principal of Mutual Securities, Inc., a FINRA registered broker-dealer, since 1989. Mr. Howard has been a director of HNH since July 2005, Vice Chairman of the Board since March 2012 and principal executive officer since January 2013. He is the President of SP General Services LLC, the manager of SPLP. Mr. Howard has been associated with SPLP and its predecessors and affiliates since 1993. Mr. Howard also co-founded Steel Partners II, L.P. in 1993. Mr. Howard has been a director of Steel Excel Since December 2007, serving as Vice Chairman of the Steel Excel Board since May 2012, and Principal Executive Officer of Steel Excel Since March 2013.
Douglas B. Woodworth	45	Chief Financial Officer	Chief Financial Officer of the General Partner since May 2016. Chief Financial Officer of HNH since May 2016. He served as Vice President and Controller of HNH from August 2012 to May 2016. Mr. Woodworth has over two decades of progressive responsibility in accounting and finance. Prior to joining HNH, Mr. Woodworth served as Vice President and Corporate Controller with SunEdison, Inc. (formerly MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.), from August 2011 to July 2012, and as Vice President and Corporate Controller of Globe Specialty Metals, Inc. from November 2007 to July 2011. Prior to that, Mr. Woodworth held positions of increasing responsibility with Praxair, Inc. Mr. Woodworth began his career with KPMG LLP. Mr. Woodworth is a certified public accountant.

Name	Age	Title	Present Principal Occupation or Employment and Five-Year Employment History
Anthony Bergamo	70	Director	Director of the General Partner since July 2009. Mr. Bergamo held various positions with MB Real Estate, a property development and management company based in New York City and Chicago, since April 1996, including the position of Vice Chairman since May 2003. Mr. Bergamo served as Managing Director with Milstein Hotel Group, a hotel operator, since April 1995. He has also served as the Chief Executive Officer of Niagara Falls Redevelopment, LLC, a real estate development company, since August 1998. He has served as a director of ModusLink since December 2013 and as Chair of its Audit Committee since May 2014. He has also been a director since 1995, a Trustee since 1986 and currently is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Executive and Compensation Committees of Dime Community Bancorp.
John P. McNiff	56	Director	Director of the General Partner since July 2009. He has been chairman of Discovery Capital Management, LLC, a multi-strategy hedge fund, since 2004. Mr. McNiff has served as a director of ICM Insurance, a New York corporation, since 1999. In 1993, Mr. McNiff co-founded Longwood Investment Advisors, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation, and served as President from 1993 until 2005. In 1991, Mr. McNiff also co-founded Radnor Holdings Corporation, a diversified chemical manufacturer, and served as its Senior Vice President, from 1991 until 2004. From 1988 until 1991, Mr. McNiff served as Vice President of Corporate Development of Airgas, a publicly traded New York Stock Exchange company. From 1986 until 1988, Mr. McNiff was an associate at the law firm of Davis Polk & Wardwell. Mr. McNiff has served on the boards of Colonial Penn Insurance Company, Lincoln Mortgage Company, Chartwell Investment Partners, Radnor Holdings Corporation, Insurance Capital Management, Cooke & Bieler, and Alliance Healthcare.

N	•		Present Principal Occupation or Employment
Name	Age	Title	and Five-Year Employment History
Joseph L. Mullen	71	Director	Director of the General Partner since July 2009. Mr. Mullen served
			as a director of SPLP's predecessor entity, WebFinancial
			Corporation, from 1995 until December 2008. Since January 1994,
			Mr. Mullen has served as Managing Partner of Li Moran International, Inc., a management consulting company, and has
			functioned as a senior officer overseeing the merchandise and
			marketing departments for such companies as Leewards Creative
			Crafts Inc. and Office Depot of Warsaw, Poland.
			Claits nic. and Office Depot of Walsaw, Poland.
General Richard I. Neal	75	Director	Director of the General Partner since July 2009. Since his
			retirement from the Marines Corps in 1998, General Neal has been the President of four Intellectual Property licensing companies. He
			was the Senior Mentor for the United States Marine Corps for five
			years and is a Senior Fellow for the National Defense University.
			General Neal currently serves as a director of Humanetics
			Corporation and Berkeley Springs Instruments, and is a Trustee for
			Norwich University. He was a Senior Fellow for the Institute for
			Defense and Business at the University of North Carolina. He was a
			director for United Industrial Corporation and for AgustaWestland
			Inc. Following graduation from Northeastern University in 1965, he
			was commissioned as a Second Lieutenant in the Marine Corps.
			For the next thirty-five years, General Neal commanded at every
			level within the Marine Corps; battery, battalion, brigade and as the
			Second Marine Division Commander. He served two tours in the
			Republic of Vietnam. During Operation Desert Storm, General
			Neal served as the Deputy Director of Operations for U.S. Central
			Command and was also responsible for briefing the international
			press on the war. Before his retirement in 1998, General Neal's last
			assignment was as the Assistant Commandant of the Marine Corps.
		D-4	
		D-4	

Present Principal Occupation or Employment	
and Five-Year Employment History	

			Present Principal Occupation or Employment
Name	Age	Title	and Five-Year Employment History
Allan R. Tessler	80	Director	Director of SPLP since July 2009. Mr. Tessler has served as the
			Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of International Financial
			Group, Inc., an international merchant banking firm, since
			1987. Mr. Tessler served as Chief Executive Officer of Epoch
			Holding Corporation, a NASDAQ-listed investment management
			company, from February 2000 until June 2004, and has served as
			Chairman of the Board since May 1994. Previously, he was Co-
			Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer of Interactive Data
			Corporation (formerly Data Broadcasting Corporation), a securities
			market data supplier, from June 1992 until February 2000. Mr.
			Tessler was co-founder and Chairman of the Board of Enhance
			Financial Services, Inc., a public insurance holding company, from
			1986 until 2001, and was Chairman of the Board of Great Dane
			Holdings Inc., a private diversified holding company, from 1987
			until 1996. He presently is lead director of Limited Brands, Inc.,
			director of Imperva, Inc. and director of TD Ameritrade Holding
			Corporation. He serves as Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the
			Hudson Institute and is a member of the Board of Governors of the
			Boys & Girls Clubs of America.
Directors and Executive Officer	rs of Merger Sub		

Name	Age	Title	Present Principal Occupation and Five-Year Employment History
Warren G. Lichtenstein	51	Chairman of the Board	See above.
Jack L. Howard	55	President, Secretary & Director	See above.
Douglas B. Woodworth	45	Treasurer & Director	See above.

Transactions of the Purchaser Group in Securities of HNH

The following table sets forth transactions with respect to the shares of HNH common stock during the past two years by members of the Purchaser Group and the persons listed in this Annex D. All such transactions were open market transactions, except as otherwise noted below:

Nature of Transaction	Amount of Securities	<u>Price Per</u> <u>Share(\$)</u>	<u>Date of</u> <u>Purchase/Sale</u>
	SPH GROUP HOLDINGS LLC		
Acquisition of Common Stock	1,429,407 (1)	(1)	07/31/2015
	JACK L. HOWARD		
Sale of Common Stock	5,872	23.8101	11/11/2016
Sale of Common Stock	8,744	23.7591	11/14/2016
Sale of Common Stock	3,600	23.6542	11/15/2016
Sale of Common Stock	600	23.0042	11/16/2016
Sale of Common Stock	6,184	22.2283	11/17/2016
	WARREN G. LICHTENSTEIN		
Disposition of Common Stock	3,788 ⁽²⁾	(2)	12/22/2016
	DOUGLAS WOODWORTH		
Disposition of Common Stock	312 (3)	29.60 ⁽³⁾	08/01/2015
Disposition of Common Stock	460 ⁽³⁾	24.13 ⁽³⁾	03/19/2016
Disposition of Common Stock	589 ⁽³⁾	27.10 ⁽³⁾	03/09/2017

⁽¹⁾ Represents shares of common stock of HNH received by SPHG Holdings in exchange for all of SPHG Holdings' shares of common stock of JPS Industries, Inc. pursuant to that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2015, by and between Handy & Harman Group Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of HNH and SPHG Holdings.

⁽²⁾ Represents shares of common stock disposed of in the form of a gift.

⁽³⁾ Represents shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations upon the vesting of shares of restricted stock.

PART II — INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL") empowers a Delaware corporation to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of such corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such corporation may, in advance of the final disposition of any civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding, pay the expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by any officer, director, employee or agent in defending such action, provided that the director or officer undertakes to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation. A corporation may indemnify such person against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.

A Delaware corporation may indemnify officers and directors in an action by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor under the same conditions, except that no indemnification is permitted without judicial approval if the officer or director is adjudged to be liable to the corporation. Where an officer or director is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of any action referred to above, the corporation must indemnify him or her against the expenses (including attorneys' fees) that he or she actually and reasonably incurred in connection therewith. The indemnification provided is not deemed to be exclusive of any other rights to which an officer or director may be entitled under any corporation's bylaws, agreement, vote or otherwise.

In accordance with Section 145 of the DGCL, Section 7.7 of SPLP's sixth amended and restated agreement of limited partnership (the "LP agreement"), provides that to the fullest extent permitted by law but subject to the limitations expressly provided in the LP agreement, all indemnitees under the LP agreement shall be indemnified and held harmless by SPLP from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest, settlements or other amounts arising from any and all threatened, pending or completed claims, demands, actions, suits or proceedings, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, and whether formal or informal and including appeals, in which any indemnitee under the LP agreement may be involved, or is threatened to be involved, as a party or otherwise, by reason of its status as an indemnitee under the LP agreement whether arising from acts or omissions to act occurring before or after the date of the LP agreement; provided that the indemnitee under the LP agreement will not be indemnified and held harmless if there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that, in respect of the matter for which the indemnitee under the LP agreement acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence. The indemnification provided by SPLP's LP agreement will not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which any of those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any statute, provision of the charter, bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

SPLP also maintains a directors' and officers' insurance policy pursuant to which indemnitees under the LP agreement are insured against liability for actions in their capacity as directors and officers.

Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

A list of exhibits filed with this registration statement is contained in the index to exhibits, which is incorporated by reference into this Item 21.

Item 22. Undertakings.

- (a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
 - (1) to file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
 - (i) to include any prospectus/offer to exchange required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
 - (ii) to reflect in the prospectus/offer to exchange any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus/offer to exchange filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) promulgated under the Securities Act if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and
 - (iii) to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;
 - (2) that, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof; and
 - (3) to remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(c) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to deliver or cause to be delivered with the prospectus/offer to exchange, to each person to whom the prospectus/offer to exchange is sent or given, the latest annual report to securityholders that is incorporated by reference in the offer to exchange and furnished pursuant to and meeting the requirements of Rule 14a-3 or Rule 14c-3 under the Exchange Act; and, where interim financial information required to be presented by Article 3 of Regulation S-X are not set forth in the offer to exchange, to deliver, or cause to be delivered to each person to whom the prospectus/offer to exchange is sent or given, the latest quarterly report that is specifically incorporated by reference in the prospectus/offer to exchange to provide such interim financial information.

(d)

- (1) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder through use of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of Rule 145(c), the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information called for by the applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other items of the applicable form.
- (2) That every prospectus (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (d)(1) immediately preceding, or (ii) that purports to meet the requirements of section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act and is used in connection with an offering of securities subject to Rule 415, will be filed as a part of an amendment to the registration statement and will not be used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (e) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question of whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
- (f) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that are incorporated by reference into the prospectus/offer to exchange pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the date of responding to the request.
- (g) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement when it became effective.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of New York, State of New York, on August 25, 2017.

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.

By: STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS GP INC. Its General Partner

By: /s/ Jack L. Howard Name: Jack L. Howard Title: President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
*	Executive Chairman	August 25, 2017
Warren G. Lichtenstein	(Principal Executive Officer)	
*	SVP and Chief Financial Officer	August 25, 2017
Douglas B. Woodworth	(Principal Accounting Officer)	
* Jack L. Howard	President and Director	August 25, 2017
* Anthony Bergamo	Director	August 25, 2017
* John P. McNiff	Director	August 25, 2017
* Joseph L. Mullen	Director	August 25, 2017
* General Richard I. Neal	Director	August 25, 2017
* Allan R. Tessler	Director	August 25, 2017
*By: /s/ Jack L. Howard Jack L. Howard as Attorney-in-fact		

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
2.1**	Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 26, 2017, by and among Steel Partners Holdings L.P., Handy Acquisition Co., and Handy & Harman Ltd. (incorporated by reference to the copy included as Annex A of this Registration Statement on Form S-4).
3.1	Certificate of Limited Partnership (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed December 15, 2011).
3.2	Amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership, dated April 2, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed December 15, 2011).
3.3	Amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership, dated January 20, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed December 15, 2011).
3.4	Amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership, dated October 15, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed December 15, 2011).
3.5**	Sixth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Steel Partners Holdings L.P., dated as of February 7, 2017 (incorporated by reference to the copy included as Annex B of this Registration Statement on Form S-4).
5.1*	Opinion of Olshan Frome Wolosky LLP regarding legality of the Steel Partners Holdings L.P. preferred units being registered pursuant to this Registration Statement.
8.1**	Opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP regarding certain tax matters.
12.1**	Steel Partners Holdings L.P. Computation of Unaudited Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
23.1*	Consent of Olshan Frome Wolosky LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1 of the Registration Statement).
23.2**	Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.
23.3**	Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of Handy & Harman Ltd.
23.4**	Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of SL Industries, Inc.
23.5**	Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc.
23.6**	Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc.

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
23.7**	Consent of Elliott Davis Decosimo, LLC, independent auditor of JPS Industries, Inc.
23.8**	Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of Electromagnetic Enterprise.
23.9**	Consent of Pepper Hamilton LLP (included in Exhibit 8.1 of the Registration Statement).
24.1*	Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the signature page to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on July 19, 2017).
99.1**	Consent of Duff & Phelps, LLC.
99.2 ⁺	Form of Letter of Transmittal.
99.3*	Form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.
99.4*	Form of Letter to Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees.
99.5*	Form of Letter to Clients for use by Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees.
99.6**	Consent of Corporate Fuel Securities, LLC.
99.7	Evaluation report prepared by Corporate Fuel Securities, LLC, for discussion with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., dated June 21, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (c)(2) to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO filed on July 19, 2017).

* Previously Filed.

^{**} Filed Herewith.

⁺ To be filed by amendment to the Schedule TO.



3000 Two Logan Square Eighteenth and Arch Streets Philadelphia, PA 19103-2799 215.981.4000 Fax 215.981.4750

August 25, 2017

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. 590 Madison Avenue, 32nd Floor New York, New York 10022

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to Steel Partners Holdings L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the "**Partnership**"), in connection with the Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed, on July 19, 2017, by the Partnership with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "**Commission**") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Amended Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by the Partnership with the Commission on August 25, 2017 (the amended Form S-4 referred to herein as the "**Registration Statement**"), in the case of each such Form S-4, relating to the issuance by the Partnership of an aggregate amount of 5,432,000 6.0% Series A preferred units (the "**Preferred Units**") representing limited partner interests in the Partnership pursuant to (1) the offer made pursuant to the Merger Agreement (as defined below) to exchange for each outstanding share of common stock of Handy & Harman Ltd. ("**H&H**") not already owned by the Partnership or any of its affiliated entities and which is validly tendered in the offer and not properly withdrawn, 1.484 Preferred Units (the "**Offer**") and (2) the merger of Handy Acquisition Co. ("**Merger Sub**") with and into H&H, with H&H continuing as the surviving corporation and as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Partnership (the "**Merger**") as set forth in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 26, 2017 by and among the Partnership, Merger Sub and H&H (the "**Merger Agreement**").

We have examined (i) the Registration Statement, (ii) the prospectus/offer to exchange contained in the Registration Statement (the "**Prospectus**"), (iii) the Merger Agreement, (iv) the Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. (the "**Partnership Agreement**"), among Steel Partners Holdings GP, Inc. (the "**General Partner**") and the limited partners party thereto (the "**Limited Partners**") and (v) the representation letter, dated August 25, 2017, delivered to us by the General Partner for purposes of this opinion letter (the "**Representation Letter**"). We have also examined originals or duplicates or certified or conformed copies, of such records, agreements, documents and other instruments, and have made such other and further investigations, as we have deemed relevant and necessary in connection with the opinion hereinafter set forth. As to matters of fact material to this opinion letter, we have relied upon certificates and comparable documents of public officials and of officers and representatives of the Partnership and the General Partner, including, without limitation, the Representation Letter.

Philadelphia	Boston	Washing	gton, D.C.	Los Angeles	New York	Pittsburgh
Detroit	Berwyn	Harrisburg	Orange Cou	nty Prince	eton Silicon Valley	Wilmington
				www.pepper	law.com	

Pepper Hamilton LLP

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. Page 2 August 25, 2017

In rendering the opinion set forth below, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of natural persons, the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as duplicates or certified conformed copies and the authenticity of the originals of such latter documents. We have further assumed that any documents will be executed by the parties in the forms provided to and reviewed by us and the representations made by the General Partner in the Representation Letter are true, complete and correct and will remain true, complete and correct at all times (except to the extent that the time is otherwise limited in the Representation Letter).

Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the qualifications, assumptions and limitations stated herein and in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, the opinions set forth in the Prospectus under the caption "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences" are the opinions of Pepper Hamilton LLP. We do not express any opinion herein concerning any law other than the federal tax law of the United States.

Our opinion is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service (the "**IRS**"), and the IRS, or a court of law, may disagree with the opinion contained herein. No ruling has been or will be sought from the IRS by the Partnership or the General Partner as to the United States federal income tax consequences of any aspect of the Offer or Merger.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter as Exhibit 8.1 to the Registration Statement, and to the use of our name under the caption "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences" in the Prospectus.

Very truly yours,

/s/ PEPPER HAMILTON LLP

PEPPER HAMILTON LLP

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P. COMPUTATION OF UNAUDITED RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

	Ju	nths Ended me 30,	Year Ended December 31,					
	2017		2016		2015	2014	2013	2012
		Pro Forma - All		Pro Forma - All				
(dollars in thousands)	Historical	Transactions ^(a)	Historical	Transactions ^(b)	Historical	Historical	Historical	Historical
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, equity method income								
(loss) and other investments held at fair value	\$ 23,512	18,304	\$ 22,438	\$ 13,390	\$ 23,369	\$ 25,273	\$ 16,525	\$ 31,962
Fixed Charges:								
Interest expense	9,299	15,130	11,052	27,411	8,862	11,073	10,454	14,804
Total fixed charges	9,299	15,130	11,052	27,411	8,862	11,073	10,454	14,804
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity method income (loss), other investments held at fair value and fixed charges	\$ 32,811	33,434	\$ 33,490	\$ 40,801	\$ 32,231	36,346	\$ 26,979	\$ 46,766
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges	3.53	2.21	3.03	1.49	3.64	3.28	2.58	3.16

(a) Details of the pro forma ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each transaction are as follows:

		d		
(dollars in thousands)	Steel Excel Transaction		Proposed HNH Transaction	
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, equity method income (loss) and other investments				
held at fair value	\$	23,211	\$	18,605
Fixed Charges:				
Interest expense		9,685		14,744
Total fixed charges		9,685		14,744
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity method income (loss), other investments held at fair value and fixed charges	\$	32,896	\$	33,349
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		3.40		2.26

(b) Details of the pro forma ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each transaction are as follows:

	Year Ended December 31, 2016					
(dollars in thousands)	SLI	Acquisition	Steel Excel Transaction		Proposed HNH Transaction	
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, equity method income (loss)						
and other investments held at fair value	\$	27,604	\$	19,115	\$	11,547
Fixed Charges:						
Interest expense		12,710		14,862		21,943
Total fixed charges		12,710		14,862		21,943
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity method income						
(loss), other investments held at fair value and fixed charges	\$	40,314	\$	33,977	\$	33,490
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		3.17		2.29		1.53

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. New York, New York

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectus constituting a part of this Amendment 1 to this Registration Statement of our reports dated March 14, 2017, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. and the effectiveness of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s internal control over financial reporting appearing in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

We also consent to the reference to us under the caption "Experts" in the Prospectus.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP New York, New York

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. New York, New York

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectus constituting a part of this Amendment 1 to this Registration Statement of our reports dated February 28, 2017, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Handy & Harman Ltd. and the effectiveness of Handy & Harman Ltd.'s internal control over financial reporting appearing in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

We also consent to the reference to us under the caption "Experts" in the Prospectus.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP New York, New York

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated March 15, 2016, with respect to the consolidated financial statements, schedule and internal control over financial reporting included in the Annual Report of SL Industries, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, which are incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. We consent to the incorporation by reference of the aforementioned report in this Registration Statement, and to the use of our name as it appears under the caption "Experts".

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. New York, New York

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectus constituting a part of this Amendment 1 to this Registration Statement on Form S-4 of our report dated October 14, 2016, relating to the consolidated financial statements of ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc. appearing in Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on January 9, 2017.

We also consent to the reference to us under the caption "Experts" in the Prospectus.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP Boston, Massachusetts

Handy & Harman Ltd. New York, New York

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectus constituting a part of this Amendment 1 to this Registration Statement on Form S-4 of our report dated October 14, 2016, relating to the consolidated financial statements of ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc. which appear as an exhibit in Form 10-K of Handy & Harman Ltd. being incorporated by reference in the Prospectus constituting a part of this Amendment 1 to this Registration Statement on Form S-4 for Steel Partners Holdings L.P.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP Boston, Massachusetts

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. New York, New York

We consent to the incorporation by reference in this registration statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. of our report dated January 14, 2015, relating the consolidated financial statements of JPS Industries, Inc. as of and for the years ended November 1, 2014 and November 2, 2013, appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by Steel Partners Holdings L.P. on March 14, 2017. We also consent to the reference to our firm under the heading "Experts" in such registration statement.

/s/ Elliott Davis Decosimo, LLC Greenville, South Carolina

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. New York, New York

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectus constituting a part of this Amendment 1 to this Registration Statement of our report dated December 15, 2016, relating to the financial statements of Electromagnetic Enterprise as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, appearing in the Form 8-K/A filed by Handy & Harman Ltd. on December 15, 2016.

We also consent to the reference to us under the caption "Experts" in the Prospectus.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP New York, New York

CONSENT OF DUFF & PHELPS, LLC

We hereby consent to the use in the prospectus/offer to exchange that forms a part of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. of our opinion dated June 23, 2017 appearing as Annex C to such prospectus/offer to exchange, and to the description of such opinion and to the references to our name contained therein on the cover page of such prospectus/offer to exchange and under the headings "Questions and Answers About the Offer – What will I receive for my shares of HNH common stock?"; "Summary Term Sheet – Transaction Consideration"; "Special Factors – Background of the Offer; Past Contacts or Negotiations with the Company"; "Special Factors – HNH's Reasons for the Offer and the Merger"; Recommendation of the Board of Directors of HNH"; "Special Factors – Position of the Purchaser Group Regarding Fairness of the Offer and the Merger"; "Special Factors – Opinion of the Financial Advisor to the Company Special Committee"; and "Special Factors – Certain Unaudited Projected Financial Information of HNH". In giving the foregoing consent, we do not admit that we come within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, nor do we admit that we are experts with respect to any part of such Registration Statement within the meaning of the term "experts" as used in the Securities Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

/s/ DUFF & PHELPS, LLC

CONSENT OF CORPORATE FUEL SECURITIES, LLC

We hereby consent to the use in the prospectus/offer to exchange that forms a part of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. of the summarization of our evaluation report for discussion with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc., dated June 21, 2017, included as Exhibit 99.7 to such Registration Statement, and to the description of such evaluation report and to the references to our name contained therein under the headings "Special Factors – Background of the Offer; Past Contacts or Negotiations with the Company"; "Special Factors – Evaluation Report of the Financial Advisor to Purchaser Group"; and "Special Factors – Certain Unaudited Projected Financial Information of HNH". In giving the foregoing consent, we do not admit that we come within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, nor do we admit that we are experts with respect to any part of such Registration Statement within the meaning of the term "experts" as used in the Securities Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

/s/ CORPORATE FUEL SECURITIES, LLC

August 22, 2017